

STANDABD WORKS PUBLISHED BY

New Edition [1880], with a Supplement of upwards of 4600 New Words. and Meanings,

WEBSTER'S DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE.

NOTE.-The only authorized Editions of this Dictionary are those here described : no others published in England contain the Derivations and Etymological Notes of Dr. Mahn, who devoted several years to this portion of the Work.

See page 4.

WEBSTER'S GUINEA DICTIONARY

OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE. Thoroughly revised and improved by CHAUNCEY A. GOODBICH, D.D., LL.D., and NOAH POBTER, D.D., of Yale College.

The peculiar features of this volume, which render it perhaps the most useful Dictionary for general reference extant, as it is undoubtedly one of the cheapest books ever published, are as follows :-

- words-more by 10,000 than any other Dictionary; and these are, for the most part, unusual or technical terms, for the explanation of which a Dictionary is most. wanted.
- 2. Accuracy of Definition.-In this department the labours of Dr. Webster were most valuable, in correcting the faulty and redundant definitions of Dr. Johnson, which had previously been almost universaily adopted. In the present edition all the definitions have been carefully and methodically analysed by W. G. Webster, Eeq., the Rev. Chauncey Goodrich, Prof. Lyman, Prof. Whitney, and Prof. Gilman, with the assistance and under the superintendence of Prof. Goodrich.
- Scientific and Technicel Terms.-In order to secure the utmost completeness and accuracy of definition, this department has been subdivided among eminent Scholars and Experts, including Prof. Dana, Prof. Lyman, &c.
- 4. Etymology.-The eminent philo-logist, Dr. C. F. MAHN, has devoted five years to perfecting this department.

9

- 1. Completeness.—It contains 114,000 | 5. The Orthography is based as far as words—more by 10,000 than any other | presible on Fixed Principles. In all cases of doubt an alternative spelling is given.
 - 6. Pronunciation .--- This has been entrusted to Mr. W. G. WEBSTER and Mr. WHERLER, assisted by other scholars. The pronunciation of each word is indicated by typographical signs, which are explained by reference to a KET printed at the bottom of each page.
 - 7. The Illustrative Citations.-No labour has been spared to embody such quotations from standard authors as may throw light on the definitions, or poslanguage.
 - 8. The Synonyms,-These are subjoined to the words to which they belong, and are very complete.
 - 9. The Illustrations, which exceed 3000, are inserted, not for the sake of ornament, are many to elucidate the meaning of words which cannot be satisfactorily explained without pictorial aid.

The Volume contains 1628 pages, more than 3000 Illustrations, and is sold for One Guinea. It will be found, on comparison, to be one of the cheapest Cloth, 21s.; half-bound in calf, 30s.; calf or half-russia. Volumes ever issued. 31s. 6d.; russis, £2.

To be obtained through all Booksellers.

New Edition, with a New Biographical Supplement of upwards of 9700 Names WEBSTER'S COMPLAYE DICTIONARY # OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE AND GENERAL BOOK OF LITERARY REFERENCE. Dhananjayarao Gadgil Library roughly revised and improved by . LLD, and NOAR PORTER D.D. of in one Volume, Querte, strongty bound in cloth, if GIPE-PUNE-001801. Besides the matter comprised in the WERS volume contains the following Appendices, whi been stared to make it a complete Literary Refu Tombalary of Greek A Bris! History of the English Lanrunge. By Professor JANES HADDER, This Work shows the Philotogical Kela-A Loop Pro TRACELER, of Tale College. a raw week answer the random rains those of the English Language, and trasse the progress and influence of the crasses which have brought it to its present con-An Etymological Vocabulary of Moa Riymological vocabulary or no-dern Geographical Names. By the Rev. C. H. Wazarma. Containing:-r. A List of Prefixes Terminations, and Formative Syllable to various Languages, with their meaning and derivation; II. A brief List of containing the Name Contarguage and the second هما بال Principles of Pronuncistion. B. Profesor Goodence and W. A. WEXELER, M.A. Laclading a Synopsis of Words Desning and serivation; it, a wrater of Geographical Names (not explained by the foregoing List), with their derivation and signification, all doubtful and obscure differently pronounced by different anderivations being excinded. A Short Treatise on Orthography. By Asrson W. Warder. Including a Complete List of Words that are spell in WO OF BORS WATE. A Pronouncing Vocabulary of Com-An Explanatory and Pronouncing Vocabulary of the Names of Noted Pio-titions Persons and Piaces, So. By W. A. mon English Christian Names, with their derivations, signification, and diminutives (or nick-names), and their equivalents in WERELER, M.A. This Work includes not everal other languages. only persons and places noted in Piction, whether sarraive, pectical, or dramatic, but Mythological and Mythical names, A Dictionary of Quotations Selected and translated by WILLIAM G. NEWTER, Containing all Words, Phrases, Proverba, and Colloquial Expressions from the Greek, Latin, and Modern Foreign Lanamos referring to the Angelology and Demenology of various races, and those found in the romance writers; Pacedonyms, Nick-mannes of emissint persons and parties, dc., dc. In fact, it is best uages, which are frequently met with in Suages, while and conversation described as explaining every same which to not strictly historical. A reference is A New Biographical Dictionary of upwards 9790 Names of Noted Persons, given to the originator of each name, and Ancient and Modern, including many new living-giving the Name, Pronunciation, where the origin is unknown a quotation is given to some well-known writer in Nationality, Profession, and Date of Birth which the word occurs, and Death This valuable Work may also be had A List of Abbreviations, Contracparately, post 800., 54. A Pronouncing Vocabulary of Berip-ture Proper Names. By W.A. Wamming, M.A. Including a Lies of the Variations tions, and Arbitrary Signs used in Writing and Printing. A Classified Selection of Pictorial that eccur in the Lonay version of the Illustrations (70 pages). With references to the text. Bible "The cheapert Dictionary ever published, as it is confusedly one of the best. The intro-duction of small woodout illustrations of technical and mientific terms adds greetly to the atility of the Usctionary."-- Churchman.

To be obtained through all Booksellers.

WEBSTER'S DICTIONARY.

From the QUARTERLY REVIEW, Oct. 1873.

· · · · ·

"Seventy years passed before Jonnson was followed by Webster, an American writer, who faced the task of the English Dictionary with a full appreciation of its requirements, leading to better practical resulta."

"His haborious comparison of twenty languages, though never published, hore fruit in his own mind, and his training placed him both in knowledge and judgment far in advance of Johnson as a philologist. Webster's "American Diotionary of the English Language" was published in 1828, and of course appeared as once in England, where successive re-editing has as yet kept it in the highest place as a practical Dictionary."

"The acceptance of an American Dictionary in England has itself had immanse effect in keeping up the community of speech, to break which would be a grievous harm, not to English-speaking nations alone, but to markind. The result of this has been that the common Dictionary must suit both sides of the Atlantic."...

"The good average business-like character of Webster's Dictionary, both in style and matter, made it as distinctly suited as Johnson's was distinctly unsuited to be expanded and re-edited by other hands. Professor Goodrich's edition of 1847 is not much more than enlarged and amended, but other revisions since have so much novelty of plan as to be described as distinct works."....

"The American revised Webster's Dictionary of 1864, published in America and England, is of an altogether higher order than these last [The London Imperial and Student's]. It bears on its title-page the names of Drs. Goodrich and Porter, but inasmuch as its especial improvement is in the etymological department, the care of which was committed to Dr. MARN, of Berlin, we prefer to describe it in short as the Webster-Mahn Dictionary. Many other literary men, among them Prefessors Whitney and Dana, aided in the task of compilation and revision. On consideration it seems that the editors and contributors have gone far toward improving Webster to the utmost that he will bear improvement. The vocabulary has become almost complete, as regards usual words, while the definitions keep throughout to Webster's simple careful style, and the derivations are assigned with the aid of good modern authorities."

"On the whole, the Webster-Mahn Dictionary as it stands, is most respectable, and CERTAINLY THE BEST PRACTICAL ENGLISH DICTIONARY EXTANT."

LONDON: GEOEGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

4

. . . .

SPECIAL DICTIONARIES AND WORKS OF REFERENCE.

Dr. Richardson's Philological Dictionary of the ENGLISH LANGUAGE. Combining Explanation with Etymology, and copicusly illustrated by Quotations from the Best Authorities. New Edition, with a Supplement containing additional Words and further Illustrations. In 2 vols. 440. £414s. 6d. Half-bound in Bussia, £5 15s. 6d. Russia, £6 12s .- The Supplement separately. 4to. 12s. An 8vo. edition, without the Quotations, 15s. Half-russia, 20s. Bussia, 24s.

A Supplementary English Glossary. Containing 12,000 Words or Meanings occurring in English Literature not found in any other Dictionary. With Illustrative Quotations. By T. LEWIS O. DAVIES, M.A. Demy 8vo. 16s.

Folk-Etymology. A Dictionary of Corrupted Words which have been Perverted in Form or Meaning by False Derivation or Mistaken Analogy. By the Rev. A. S. PALMER, Author of "A Word-Hunter's Note-book." Demy 8vo. 21s. "Most interesting, instructive, and valuable contribution to the study of language."-

Athenaum.

- Synonyms Discriminated. A Catalogue of Synonymous Words in the English Language, with their various Shades of Meaning, &c. Illustrated by Quotations from Standard Writers. By the late Ven. O. J. SMITH, M.A. Demy Svo. New Edition, revised and enlarged. 14s.
- A Dictionary of Quotations. From the English Poets. BY HENRY G. BOHN, F.R.A.S., F.L.S., & Ath Edition. Post Sva 6s. "Mr. Bohn's volume has the rare recommendation of being entirely free from the rubbla which is commonly thrust into similar collections. His selections have been made from a long and extensive course of reading, and it sverywhere bears evidence of a scholar's eye and taske. There must be, as we judge, nearly 8,000 quotations in the volume, ranging from Chaucer to Tennyson."-Twees.
- A Biographical Dictionary. By THOMPSON COOPER, F.S.A., Editor of "Men of the Time," and Joint Editor of "Athense Cantabrigienses." 1 vol. Svo. With Supplement to 1883. 15s. Supplement separate, 3s. 6d.

This volume is not a mere repetition of the contents of previous works, but embodies the results of many years' laborious research in rare publications and unpublished documents. Any note of omission which may be sent to the Publishers will be duly considered.

"It is an important original contribution to the literature of its class by a painstaking scholar..... It seems in every way admirable, and fully to justify the claims on its behalf put forth by its editor."-British Quarterly Review.

- Bryan's Biographical and Critical Dictionary of Painters and Engravers. With a List of Ciphers, Monograms, and Marks. Enlarged Edition, thoroughly revised by R. E. GRAVES, British Museum. In monthly parts, 5s. each. Parts 1-4 ready.
- The Cottage Gardener's Dictionary. With a Supplement, containing all the new plants and varieties to the year 1869. Edited by GEORGE W. JOHNSON, Post Syo. Oloth. 6s. 6d.

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

THE ALDINE SERIES OF THE BRITISH POETS.

CHEAP EDITION.

In Fifty-two Volumes, Bound in Oloth, at Eighteenpence each Volume.

Akenside, with Memoir by the Rev. A. Dros, and additional Letters. 1s. 6d.

Beattie, with Memoir by the Rev. A. DYCE. 1s. 6d.

Burns, with Memoir by Sir Harris NICOLAS, and additional Copyright Pieces. S vola. 4s. 6d.

Butler, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD. 2 vols. 3s.

Chaucer, edited by R. Morris, with Memoir by Sir HARRIS NICOLAS. 6 vols. 9r.

Churchill, Tooke's Edition, revised, with Memoir, by James Hawnay. 2 vols. Ss.

Collins, edited, with Memoir, by W. Mor THOMAS. 18.6d.

Cowper, including his Translations. Edited, with Memoir, and Additional Copyright Pieces, by JOHN BRUGE, F.S.A. 8 vols. 48.64.

Dryden, with Memoir by the Rev. R. HOOPER, F.S.A. Carefully revised, 5 vols. 7s. 6d.

- Falconer, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD. 18.6d.
- Goldsmith, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD. Revised. 18.6d.
- Grav, with Notes and Memoir by the Rev. JOHN MITFORD. 18. 6d.

- Kirke White, with Memoir by Sir H. NYCOLAS, and additional Notes. Carefully revised. 18.6d.
- Milton, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITTORD. S vols. 41.6d.
- Parnell, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD. 1s. 6d.
- Pope, with Memoir by the Rev. A. Dros. 3 vols. 4s. 6d.
- Prior, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD, 2 vols. 3s.

Shakespeare, with Memoir by the Rev. A. Dyos. 1s. 6d.

- Spenser, edited, with Memoir, by J. PAYNE COLLIER. 5 vols. 7s. 6d.
- Surrey, edited, with Memoir, by JAMES YEOWELL 1s. 6d.
- Swift, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD. S vols. 48.6d.
- Thomson, with Memoir by Sir H. NICOLAS, Annotated by PERER COMPUNE-HAM, F.S.A., and additional FOCMS, carefully revised, 2 vols. 3s.
- Wyatt, edited, with Memoir, by JAMES YEOWELL 18. 6d.
- Young, with Memoir by the Rev. J. MITFORD, and additional Poems. 2 vols. St.

Complete sets may be obtained, bound in half-morocco. £9 9s.

N.B.-Copies of the Fine Paper Edition, with Portraits, may still be had, price 5s. per volume (except Collins, 3s. 6d.).

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

THE ALDINE EDITION OF THE BRITISH POETS.

" SUPPLEMENTARY SERIES.

The fifty-two volumes which have hitherto formed the well-known Aldine Series, embody the works of nearly all the more popular English poetical writers, whether lyria, epic, or satiric, up to the end of the eighteenth century. But since that time the wonderful fartility of English literature has produced many writers equal, and in some cases far superior, to the majority of their predecessors; and the widely augmented roll of acknowledged English poets now contains many names not represented in the series of "Aldine Poets."

With a view of providing for this want, and of making a series which has long held a high place in public estimation a more adequate representation of the whole body of English poetry, the Publishers have determined to issue a second series, which will contain some of the older poeta, and the works of recent writers, so far as may be practicable by arrangement with the representatives of the poets whose works are still copyright.

One volume, or more, at a time will be issued at short intervals; they will be uniform in binding and style with the last fine-paper edition of the Aldine Poets, in fcap. 8vo. size, printed at the Chiswick Press. Price 5s, per volume.

Each volume will be edited with notes where necessary for elucidation of the text; a memoir will be prefixed and a portrait, where an authentic one is accessible.

The following are already published :---

THE POEMS OF WILLIAM BLAKE. With Memoir by W. M. Rossetti, and portrait by Jeens.

THE POEMS OF SAMUEL BOCKES. With Memoir by Edward Bell, and portrait by Jeens.

THE POEMS OF THOMAS CHATTERTON. 2 vols. Edited by the Bov. W. Skest, with Memoir by Edward Bell.

THE POEMS OF SIE WALTER RALEIGE, SIE HENRY WOTTON, and Selections from other Courtly Poets. With Introduction by the Rev. Dr. Hannah, and portrait of Sir W. Baleigh.

THE POEMS OF THOMAS CAMPBELL, With Memoir by W. Allingham, and portrait by Jeens,

THE PORMS OF GROEGE HERBERT. (Complete Edition.) With Memoly by the Rev. A. B. Grosert, and portrait.

THE POEMS OF JOHN KEATS. With Memoir by Lord Houghton, and portrait by Jeens.

SACRED POEMS AND PIOUS EJACULATIONS BY HENRY VAUGHAN. With Memoir by Rev. H. F. Lyte.

COLERIDGE'S PORMS. By T. Ashe. [In the Press.

L)NDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

In Ten Volumes, price 2s, 6d. each; in half-morocco, £2 10s., or, with Plates, £3 the set.

OHEAP ALDINE EDITION OF SHAKESPEARE'S DRAMATIC WORKS.

EDITED BY S. W. SINGER.

Uniform with the Cheap Edition of the Aldine Poets.

THE formation of numerous Shakespeare Beading Societies has created a damand for a cheap portable edition, with LEGINLE TIPE, that shall provide a sound text with such notes as may help to elucidate the meaning and assist in the better understanding of the anthor. The Publishers therefore determined to reprint Mr. Singer's well-known Edition, published in 10 vols., small 8vo., for some time out of print, and issue it in a cheap form, uniform with the well-known Aldine Edition of British Poets.

CONTENTS.

- Vol. L The Life of Shakespeare. The Tempest. The Two Gentlemen of Verona. The Merry Wives of Windsor. Measure for Measure.
- Vol. II. Comedy of Errors. Much Ado about Nothing. Love's Labour Lost. Midsummer Night's Dream. Merchant of Venice.
- Vol. III. As You Like It. Taming of the Shrew. All's Well that Ends Well. Twelfth Night, or What You Will.

Vol. IV. Winter's Tale, Pericles. King John, King Richard II,

Vol. V. King Henry IV., Parts L and IL. King Henry V.

Vol. VI. King Henry VL, Parts L. II. and III. King Richard III.

Vol. VII. King Henry VIII. Trollus and Cressida. Coriolanus.

Vol. VIII. Titus Andronious. Romeo and Juliet. Timon of Athens. Julius Cæsar.

Vol. IX. Macbeth. Hamlet. King Lear.

Vol. X. Othello. Antony and Cleopatra. Cymbeline.

Uniform with the above, price 2s. 6d; in half-morecce, 5s. ORITICAL ESSAYS ON THE PLAYS OF SHAKESPKARE,

BY WILLIAM WATKISS LLOYD:

Giving a succinct account of the origin and source of each play, where accertainable and careful criticisms on the subject-matter of each.

A few copies of this Work have been printed to range with the fine-paper Bilition of the Mains Posts. The price for the Bleven Volumes (not sold apparately) is 22 15c.

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

POCKET VOLUMES.

▲ Smans of Select Works of Pavourits Authors, adapted for general reading, moderate in price, compact and elegant in form, and examined in a style fitting them to be permanently preserved. Imperial Sime, cloth,

Batty's Parables from Tature. 1 70 n. 80. Marryst's Mastarman. Captain Ready, 2z. 6d. Lamb's Rina. Eliana and Last Essay

with Memoir, by BARRY CORNWALL A vola 6s.

Bacon's Essaya. 2s. 6d. Burns's Poems. 8s.

- Songs. Ss.

Celeridge's Poems. Sa.

C. Dibdin's Sea Songs and Ballads. And others. Ss.

Midshipman, The. Autobiographical Sketches of his own carly Oarcor, by Cap-tain Basst. Hats, R.N., F.R.S. Sz. 64.

Lieutenant and Commander. By Captain BASIL HALL, R.N., F.R.S. St. 64. George Herbert's Poems. 2s. 6d. Bomains 2a.

Scorge Herbert's Works. 3s. 6d.

- The Sketch Book. By WASHINGTON LEVING. 34. 6d.
- Tales of a Traveller. By WASHING-TON LEVING. 3s. 6d.
- Charles Lamb's Tales from Shakspeare. Sz.
- Longfellow's Evangeline and Voices. Sea-side, and Poems on Slavery. Sc.
- Milton's Paradise Lost. 3s.

- Regained, & other Poems, Sa. Rohin Hood Ballada 3r.

Southey's Life of Nelson, Ss.

Walton's Complete Angles. Portraits and Illustrations. 2s.

- Lives of Denne, Wotton, Hooker, &o. 84. 6d.

White's Natural History of Selborns. 38.64.

Shakspeare's Plays & Poems. KEIGHTLEY's Edition. 13 Vola in elothese, 21s.

ELZEVIR SERIES.

Small fosp. 6ve.

Trans Volumes are issued under the general title of "BLEWUE Sectors," to distinguish them from other collections. This general title has been adopted to indicate the epirit in which they are prepared; that is to say, with the greatest possible accuracy as regards taxt, and the highest degree of beauty that can be attained in the workmanship. They are printed at the Chiswick Press, on fine paper, with wide margins, and issued in a next cloth binding.

Longfellow's Evangeline, Voices, Bes-side and Fire-side, 4s. 6d. With Portrait.

- Hiswatha, and The Golden Legend. 44.4d.

-- Wayside Inn, Miles Standish, Spanisk Statuna. 44.6d.

Burns's Poetical Works. 44. 6d. With Portrait.

---- Songe and Ballads: 4a. 6d. These Bottions contain all the copyright-pices published in the Aidine Bilition.

Cowper's Postical Works. 2 vola. each 44: 64. With Pertrait.

Coleridge's Poems. 4s. 6d. With Partrait

Irving's Sketch, Book, 5a With Partmas

- Tales of a Traveller. 5s.

Milton's Paradise Lost. 4a 6d. With Portrait

- Regained. 4a. 6d.

- Shakspeare's Plays and Poems. Carefully edited by THOMAS KEEPITLEY. 5a. maab. La samen volumen.
- Southey's Life of Melson, 4s. 6d. With Portroit of NELSON.
- Walton's Angler. 4a. 6d. With a Prophispics.

- Lives of Donne, Hooker, Herbert, Sc. St. With Portrait.

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

HISTORY AND TRAVELS.

Rome and the Campagna. A Historical and Topographical Description of the Site, Buildings, and Neighbourhood of ancient Roma. By the Rev. Roamer Buzz, late Fellow and Tutor of Trinity College, Cambridge, With eighty engravings by Jawrrz, and numerous Maps and Plans, and an Appendix, bringing the Work down to 1876. Demy sto. £3 34.

- Old Rome. A Handbook of the Ruins of the Ancient City and the Campagna, for the use of Travellers. By R. BURN, M.A. With Rustra-tions, Maps, and Plans. Demy 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Ancient Athens; its History, Topography, and Re-MAINS, By THORAS HEREY DIRE, LL.D., Author of The History of the Kings of Rome." Super-royal 8vo. Illustrated, cloth. £1 55.
- The History of the Kings of Rome. By Dr. T. H. DYER, Author of the "History of the City of Rome;" "Pompeli: its History, Antiquities," Sca. with a Prefatory Dissertation on the Sources and Evidence of Early Roman History. Svo. 164.
- Modern Europe, from the Fall of Constantinople in 1453. By THOMAS HENRY DYRE, LL.D. Second Edition, Revised and Continued. In 5 vols. £2 12s, 6d.

The Decline of the Roman Republic. By the late George LONG, M.A., Editor of "Cæsar's Commentaries," "Cloero's Orations," &c. - 8vo. Vol. L. From the Destruction of Carthage to the End of the Jugurthine War. 14s. Vol. II. 'To the Death of Sertorius. 14s.

Vol. 11. 10 the Investition of Corrotros. 143.
 Vol. 111. Including the third Mithridatic War, the Catiline Conspiracy, and the Consulation of C. Julius Gessar. 144.
 Vol. IV. History of Casar's Galitic Campaigne and of contemporaneous events. 144.
 Vol. V. From the Invasion of Italy by Julius Gessar to his Death. 144.

A History of England during the Early and Middle AGES. By C. H. PEARSON, M.A., Fellow of Ordel College, Oxford, and late Lectures in History at Trinity College, Cambridge, Second Edition, revised and enlarged, 8vo. Vol. I. to the Death of Count de Lion. 16t. Vol. II. to the Death of Edward L. 14t.

Historical Maps of England. By C. H. PEARSON, M.A. Folio, Third Edition, revised. 31s. 6d. An Atlas containing Five Maps of England at different periods during the Early and

Middle Ages.

The Desert of the Exodus. Journeys on Foot in the Wildeness of the Forty Years' Wanderings, undertaken in connection with the Ordnance Survey of Sinai and the Falestine Exploration Fund. By the late B. H. PARNER, M.A., Lord Almoner's Professor of Arabic and Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge, Member of the Aslatic Society, and of the Societé de Parla. With Mapa, and numerous Illustrations from Photographs and Drawings taken on the spot by the Sinai Survey Expedition and C. F. Trawmirr Duarz. 2 vola, 6vo, 28a.

LONDON : GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN. 10

STANDARD WORKS.

Corpus Poetarum Latinorum. Edited by E. WALKER. One thick vol. 8vo. Cloth, 184.

Containing —Catalius, Lucretius, Virgilius, Tibulius, Propertius, Ovidius, Horatius, Phaedrus, Locanus, Persica, Juvenalis, Martialis, Salpicis, Statius, Silius Italicus, Valertus Flacons, Calpuraius Sicolus, Ausonius, and Claudianus.

Cruden's Concordance to the Old and New Testament, or an Alphaetical and Classified Index to the Holy Bible, specially adapted for Sunday School Teschers, containing nearly \$4,000 references. Theroughly revised and condensed by G. H. HANKAT. FCSP. 28.

Perowns (Canon). The Book of Psalms. A New Transistion, with introductions and Notes, Critical and Explanatory.' By the Very Rev. J. J. Strawart Paneowyr, Dean of Peterborough. Svo. Vol. 1, Fifth Edition, 18e.; Vol. U., Fifth-Edition, 18e.

ABRIDGED EDITION for Schools, Fourth Edition, Crown 8va, 10s. 6d.

- Adams (Dr. E.). The Elements of the English Lan-GUAGE. By Farser Anama Ph.D. Twentieth Edition. Post Svo. 44.64
- Whewell (Dr.). Elements of Morality, including Polity. By W. WHEWELL, D.D., formerly Master of Trinity College, Cambridge, Fourth Edition. In 1 vol. 8vo. 154.

BIOGRAPHIES BY THE LATE SIR ARTHUR HELPS, K.C.B.

- The Life of Hernando Cortes, and the Conquest of MEXIOD. Dedicated to Thomas Carlyle. 2 vola. Grown Svo. 15s.
 - The Life of Christopher Columbus, the Discoverer of AMERICA. Fourth Edition. Grown Svo. 66.
 - The Life of Pizarro. With Some Account of his Assoclates in the Conquest of Pera. Second Edition. Grown Svo. 62.

The Life of Las Casas, the Apostle of the Indies. Bound Edition. Crown Svo. 66.

The Life and Epistles of St. Paul. By THOMAS LEWIN, Esq. M.A., FS.A., Trinity College, Oxford, Barrister-at-Law, Author of "Fasti Sacri," "Siege of Jerusalem," "Clease's Invasion," "Treatise on Trusts," & a. With upwards of \$60 Binstrations finely engraved on Wood, Maps, Plans, & a. Fourth Edition. In 2 vols, demy sta. £2 22.

"This is one of those works which demand from critics and from the public, before stiempting to estimate its merits in detail an unqualified tribute of admiration. The first giance teils us that the book is one on which the leisure of a boxy lifetime and the whole resources of an enthusiastic author have been lavished without stint. . . . This work is a kind of British Museum for this period and subject in small compass. It is a series of galleries of status, gene, coins, documents, letters, books, and relics, through which the reader may wander at leisure, and which he may animate with his own musings and reflections. It must be remembered throughout that this delightful and instructive collection is the result of the devotion of a lifetime, and deserves as much honour and recognition as many a museum er picture-gallery which has preserved its donor's name for generations."

LONDON : GEORGE BELL & SONS, YOBK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

u

ILLUSTRATED OR POPULAR EDITIONS OF STANDARD WORKS.

Dante's Divine Comedy. Translated by the Rev. HENEY FRANCES CARY. With all the Author's Copyright Emendations. Post 8vo. 34. 64.

Shakespeare. Shakespeare's Plays and Poems. With Notes and Life by ORABLES KNIGHT, and 40 engravings on wood by HARVEY. Royal 8vo. Cloth. 102. 6d.

Fielding. Works of Henry Fielding, complete. With Memoir of the Author by Thomas Boscon, and 26 Plates by GROBER GROWER ANK. Medium Str. 143.

Fielding. The Novels separately. With Memoir by THOMAS ROSCOF, and Plates by GEOBGE CRUTKSHANK. Medium 8vo. 70. 6d.

Swift. Works of Jonathan Swift, D.D. Containing interesting and valuable passages not hitherto published. With Memoir of the Author by THOMAS ROBOOL 2 vola. Medium 8vo. 248.

Smollett. Miscellaneous Works of Tobias Smollett. Complete in 1 vol. With Memoir of the Author by THOMAS ROBOOK. 21 Plates by GEORGE CRUIKSHANE. Medium 8vo. 144.

Lamb. The Works of Charles Lamb. With a Memoir by Sir TROMAS NOON. TALFOURD. Imp. Svo. 102. 6d.

Goldsmith's Poems. Illustrated, 16mo. 2s. 6d.

Wordsworth's White Doe of Rylstone; or, the Fate of THE NORTONS. Blustrated. Jama. 3s. 5d.

Longfellow's Poetical Works. With nearly 250 Illustrations by BERKER FOSTER, THERE GODWIR, THOMAS, MR. 18 1 Nol. 28.

Longfellow's Evangeline. Illustrated. 16mo. 3s. 6d.

Longfellow's Wayside Inn. Illustrated. 16mo. 3s. 6d.

Adelaide Anne Procter's Legends and Lyrics. The Illustrated Rdition. With Additional Poema, and an Introduction by CHARLES DIGENES, & Portrait by JERNS, and 20 Illustrations by Eminent Artists, and a short Memoir by Mus. Former, Fcap. 4to. Grammental cicht. 212.

Mrs. Gatty's Parables from Nature. A Handsomely Illustrated Edition; with Notes on the Natural History, and numerous Full-page Illustrations by the most eminent Artists of the present day. New complete enhiron, with Short Memoir by J. R. Ewrse. Feap. 4to. 216.

The Book of Gems. Selections from the British FORTS. Illustrated with upwards of 150 Steel Engravings. Edited by S. C. HARL S. Vols. Handsonely bound in wainut. Site seach.

14. Haudsomely bound in wainut. 21: each. Frast String--Onalogne to Daydage. Shoond Shring--Swift to Burns. Thing Shring--Wordswork to Tranyions.

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

BOOKS FOR THE YOUNG.

CAPTAIN MARRYAT'S BOOKS FOR BOYS.

Poor Jack. With Sixteen Illustrations after Designs by CLARROW BRANTHLD, B.A. Twenty second Edition. Post Svo., 32. 64. Gilt, 42.64.

- People's Edition, Illustrated. Demy 4to., 6d.

- Cheap Edition, Fcap. 8vo., 6d.

The Mission; or, Scenes in Africa. With Illustrations by Jose Guzsar. Post Svo., 2. 6d. Gilt, 4. 6d. The Settlers in Canada. With Illustrations by Gilberr and Dalging. Post Svo., 32. 6d. Gilt, 44. 6d.

The Privateers Man. Adventures by Sea and Land IN CIVIL AND SAVAGE LIFE, ONE HUNDRED TEARS AGO. Illustrated with Eight Steel Engravings. Post Svo., 22. 64. Gilt, 42. 64.

Masterman Ready; or, the Wreck of the Pacific. Embeliebed with Ninety-Lirce Engewings on Wood, Post evo, S. ed. 611, 42, 64.

- People's Edition, Illustrated. Demy 4to., 6d.

- Cheap Edition. Fcap. 8vo., 6d.

The Pirate and Three Cutters. Illustrated with Eight Steel Engravings from Drawings by QUARRESON STRANSVERD, S.A. With a Memoir of the Author. Post Svo., 38. 6d. Gilt, 48. 6d.

A Boy's Locker. A Smaller Edition of the above Tales, in 12 volumes, anclosed in a compact shoth box. als.

Hans Christian Andersen's Tales for Children. With Forty-eight Full-page Illustrations by Wehnert, and Fifty-seven Small Engravings on Wood by W. THOMAS. A new Edition. Very handsomely bound. 68.

Hans Christian Andersen's Fairy Tales and Sketches. Translated by C. C. PRACHER, H. WARD, A. PLESSER, Sco. With 104 Illustrations by OTTO SPECETER and others. 6c.

This volume contains several tales that are in no other Edition published in this country, and with the above volume is forms the most complete English Edition.

Mrs. Alfred Gatty's Presentation Box for Young PEOPLE. Containing "Parables from Nature," "Aunt Judy's Tales," and other Popular Books, 9 volumes in all, beautifully printed, nearly sound, and enclosed in a cloth box. 318.6d. Any single volume at 38.6d.

Anecdotes of Dogs. By Edward JESSE. With Illustra-, tions. Post 8vc. Cloth, 52. With Thirty-four Steel Engravings after Cooper, LANDERER, Sc. 7s. 6d.

The Natural History of Selborne. By GILBERT WHITE, Edited by Jussa. Illustrated with Forty Engravings. Fost 8vo. 5s.; or with the Plates Coloured, 7s. 6s.

A Poetry Book for Schools, Illustrated with Thirtyseven highly-finished Engravings by C. W. COPE, R.A., HELMSLEY, PALMER, SKILL, THOMAS, and H. WEIE. Grown Sve: 14.

Select Parables from Nature. By Mrs. GATTY. For the Use of Schools. Fcap. 1a. Besides being reprinted in America, selections from Mrs. Gatty's Parables have been translated and published in the German, French, Italian, Bussian, Dariah, and Breaking horsen and published in the German, French, Italian, Bussian, Dariah, and

Swedish languages,

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET COVENT GARDEN.

¹³

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY:

Containing a Description and Life-size coloured Drawing of every Containing a Description and Life-size coloured Drawing of every British Plant. Edited and brought up to the Present Standard of Scientific Knowledge by T. Boswenz, LL.D. F.L.S., &c. With Popular Descriptions of the Uses, History, and Traditions of each Plant, by Mrs. LANKESTER, Author of "Wild Flowers Worth Notice," "The British Ferns," &c. The Figures by J. E. Sowensy, JAMES SOWERSY, F.L.S., J. DR. O. SOWERSY, F.L.S., and J. W. SALTEB, A.L.S. In Eleven Volumes, super-royal 8vo.; or in 83 Parts. 5s. each.

"Under the editorship of T. Boswell'Syme, F.L.S., assisted by Mrs. Lankester, 'Sowerby's English Botany, when finished, will be exhaustive of the subject, and worthy of the branch of science it illustrates. . . In turning over the charmingly executed hand-coloured plates of British plants which encumber these volumes with riches, the reader cannot help being struck with the beauty of many of the humblest flowering weeds we tread on with carcless step. We cannot dwell upon many of the individuals grouped in the splendid bouquet of flowers presented in these pages, and it will be sufficient to state that the work is pledged to contain a figure of every wild flower indigenous to these isles."-Times.

"Will be the most complete Flora of Great Britain ever brought out. This great work will find a place wherever botanical science is cultivated, and the study of our native

will find a place wherever botanical science is cultivated, and the study of our halve plants, with all their fascinating associations, held dear"-Athencum. "A clear, bold, distinctive type enables the reader to take in at a glance the arrangement and divisions of every page. And Mrs. Lankever has added to the technical description by the editor an extremely interesting popular aktech, which follows in amalier type. The Deglish, French, and German popular names are given, and, wharever that delicate and difficult step is at all practicable, their derivation also. Medical properties, superstitiona, and fancies, and poetic urinbutes and illusions, follow. In short there is nothing more left to be desired. --Guardian. "Without nuestion. Using it the standard work on betware and indimension to the term

"Without question, this is the standard work on Botany, and indispensable to every botanist. . . The plates are most accurate and beautiful, and the entire work cannot be too strongly recommended to all who are interested in botany."-*Hustrated News*.

Sold separately, prices as follows :												
				Bound cloth.			Half morocco.			Morocco elegant.		
			£	. 8.	d,	£	8.	đ.	£	8.	d,	
Vol. L (Seven Parts)	**		1	18	0	2	2	0	2	8	6	
II. ditto			1	18	0.	- 2	2	0	2	- 8	6	
' III. (Eight Parts)		**	2	8	0	2	7	0	2	13	6 ·	
IV. (Nine Parts)	••		2	8	0	2	12	0	2	18	6	
V. (Eight Parts)			2	8	0	2	7	0	2	13	6	
VI. (Seven Parts)			1	18	0	2	2	0	2	8	6	
VII. ditto			1	18	0	2	2	0	2	8	6	
VIII, (Ten Parts)			2	13	0	2	17	0	8	3.	8	
IX. (Seven Parts)	**		1	18	0	2	2	0	2	8	6	
X. ditto			1	18	0	2	2	0	2	8	6	
XI. (Six Parts)			1	13	0	1	17	0	2	3	6 ·	

Or, the Eleven Volumes, 221. 8s. in cloth ; 241, 12s. in half-morocco ; and 284. Se. 6d. whole morecoo.

Volume XII., by Prof. Boswell, containing ferns and other cryptogamous plants, with an Index to the whole work, is now being issued. Parts I.-IV., . with coloured plates, now ready, price 5s. each.

LONDON: GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN. 14

LIBRARY OF NATURAL HISTORY.

"Each volume is elegantly printed in royal 8vo., and illustrated with a very large sumber of well-executed engravings, printed in colours, ... They form a complete library of reference on the several subjects to which they are devoted, and nothing more complete in their way has lately appeared."—*The Bookseller*.

- BREE'S BIRDS OF EUROPE AND THEIR EGGS, not observed in the British Isles. With 252 beautifully coloured Plates. Five vols. 5/. 5/2
- COUCH'S HISTORY OF THE FISHES OF THE BRITISH ISLANDS. With 252 carefully coloured Plates. Four vols. 21. 44.
- GATTY'S (MRS. ALFRED) BRITISH SEAWEEDS. Numerous coloured Illustrations. Two vols. sl. xor.
- HIBBERD'S (SHIRLEY) NEW AND RARE BEAUTIFUL-LEAVED PLANTS. With 64 coloured Full-page Illustrations. Executed expressly for this work. One vol. z. 55.
- LOWE'S NATURAL HISTORY OF BRITISH AND EXOTIC FERNS. With 479 finely coloured Plates, Eight vols. 62, 64.
- LOWE'S OUR NATIVE FERNS. Illustrated with 79 coloured Plates and 900 Wood Engravings. Two vols. 21, 22.
- LOWE'S NATURAL HISTORY OF NEW AND RARE FERNS. Containing Species and Varieties not included in "Ferns, British and Exotic." 72 coloured Plates and Woodcuts. One vol. 21. 25.
- LOWE'S NATURAL HISTORY OF BRITISH GRASSES. With j4 finely coloured Plates. One vol. zl. zs.
- LOWE'S BEAUTIFUL-LEAVED PLANTS: being a description of the most beautiful-leaved Plants in cultivation in this country. With 60 coloured Illustrations. One vol. 17, 22.
- MAUNDS' BOTANIC GARDEN. New Edition. Edited by J. C. NIVEN, Curator of the Botanic Gardens, Hull. With 250 coloured Plates, giving 1247 figures. Six vols. 124. 124.
- MORRIS' HISTORY QF BRITISH BIRDS. With 360 finely coloured Engravings. Six vols. 6/. 60.
- MORRIS' NESTS AND EGGS OF BRITISH BIRDS. With sr3 beautifully coloured Engravings. Three vols. 37. 38.
- MORRIS' BRITISH BUTTERFLIES. With 71 beautifully coloured Plates. One vol. 2. 25.
- MORRIS' BRITISH MOTHS. With coloured Illustrations of nearly 2000 specimens. Four vols. 61. 64.
- TRIPP'S BRITISH MOSSES. With 39 coloured Plates, containing a figure of each species. Two vols. 27, 204.
- WOOSTER'S ALPINE PLANTS First Series. With 54 coloured Plates. ast.

WOOSTER'S ALPINE PLANTS. Second Series. With 54 coloured
 Plates. 252.

LONDON : GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

STANDARD WORKS

PUBLISHED BY

GEORGE BELL & SONS.

.

. For List of BOHN'S LIBRARIES see the end of the Volume.

Abitentha Paona 2 gte laarch 1865

BOHN'S STANDARD LIBRARY.

A HISTORY OF THE

THIRTY YEARS' PEACE.

VOL. III.

1801

A HISTORY

OF THE

THIRTY YEARS' PEACE.

A.D. 1816-1846.

By HARBIET MARTINEAU.

IN FOUR VOLUMES.

Vol. III. (FROM 1830-1841).

LONDON: GEORGE BELL AND SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.

1877.

V3.M4 A877.2 877.3 LONDON : . ..

PRINTED BY WILLIAM CLOWES AND SONS, STANFORD STREET AND CHARDING CROSS.

CONTENTS.

BOOK IV.-(Continued.)

CHAPTER VIII.

PAGE

Renewal of the Bank Charter--India Company's Charter--Negro Slavery-Abolition Movements-Negro Emancipation-First of August 1834

CHAPTER IX.

Irish Church—Prosecution of O'Connell—Irish Outrage—Royal Notice of Tithes—First and Second Acts of 1832—Act of 1833—Tardy Truth about Tithes—Froposed Act of 1834—Bill lost—Irish Ecclesiastical Commission—Irish Census—Reductions—Appropriation Doctrine—Delays—Appropriation refused —Irish Church Temporalities Bill passes—Official Changes— Mr. Ward's Critical Motion—King's Declaration—Commission of Inquiry—Coercion Bill—Negociation with Mr. O'Connell— Mr. Littleton's Explanation—Resignation of Lord Althorp—Of Lord Grey—Lord Grey's Farewell—His Political Character ... 18

CHAPTER X.

Religious Crisis—The Tractarians—The Evangelical Party— Death of Wilberforce—Of Hannah More—Moderate Church Party—Opening of Universities to Dissenters—The Church in Danger—Church Reform—Lord Henley—Dr. Arnold—The Dissenters—Government Circular—Perplexities of Ministers— Admission of Quakers to Parliament—Continued Exclusion of Jews—Deaths of Robert Hall—Rowland Hill—Charles Wesley—Adam Clarke—Rammohun Roy—Dr. Doyle—Schism in the Socth Church—Irving, St. Simonism—Proposed Ecclesiastical Commission

CHAPTER XL

Finance—First Budget—Statements of 1832 and 1833—Arsessed Taxes Movement—The House-tax—Statement of 1834—Westminster Election—Malt-tax—Surplus of 1834—The Corn-laws— Total Reductions—Poor-law for Ireland—Registry of Deeds— The Ballot—Military Flogging—Impresement of Seamen...

CHAPTER XII.

Popular Discontents—Trades Unions—Dorsetshire Labourers— Day of the Trades—Changes in the Cabinet—Late Intrigues— Irish Tithes—The Lord-Chancellor—Lord Durham—The Grey Banquet—Prospect of New Parties—Dissolution of the Ministry—Retirement of Lord Brougham—Lord Lyndhurst succeeds—Lord Brougham's Law Reforms—Local Courts Bill— Chancery Reform—Retirement of Lord Spencer

CHAPTER XIII.

Affairs of France—The Duke of Orleans—The Charter—Louis Philippe accepts the Crown—Disquiet—Suicide of the Duke de Bourbon—Disturbance in Paris—Constitution of the Chambers—Abolition of Hereditary Peerage—Electoral Law— Parties—Press Prosecutions—Insurrections—Fortification of Paris—Characteristics of the Reign—Death of Lafayette— Separation of Belgium and Holland—Prince Leopold King of Belgium—Brunswick—Saxony—Hesse Cassel—Baden—Swits erland —Italy — Spain—Death of the King — Don Carlos — Portugal—Death of Don Pedro—Marriage of the Queen—Her Widowhood—Egypt and Turkey—Poland—Revolt—Defeat of the Poles—Character of the Struggle.

CHAPTER XIV.

PAGE

77

93

CONTENTS.

BOOK V.

FROM THE CLOSE OF THE BEIGN OF WILLIAM IV. TO THE END OF THE FIRST PARLIAMENT OF VICTORIA.

CHAPTER I.

PAGE

The Three Parties—The Duke's Offices—Position of Sir R. Peel— New Cabinet—Dissolution of Parliament—Tamworth Manifesto —The New Parliament—Temper of the Time—Election of the Speaker—King's Speech—Debate on the Malt-tax—Lord Londonderry's Appointment—Dissenters' Marriages—Ecclesiastical Commission—Ministerial Defeats—London University Charter—Conflicts in Parliament—Appropriation Question— Besignation of the Cabinet

CHAPTER II.

CHAPTER III.

Second Great Question—Municipal Reform—Corporation Commission—Rise and History of Municipal Institutions—Report of Commissioners—Existing State of Things—Principle of the Case—Defects of the Reform—Substance of the Bill—The Bill in the Commons—In the Lords—It becomes Law ... 217

CHAPTER IV.

Ecclesiastical Commissions — Popular Ignorance — Courtenay Delusion—Results of the Commission—Non-residence Act-Abolition of Sinecures—Tithe Commutation Act—Popular Education—Lord Brougham's Scheme — Ministerial Scheme ... 236

CHAPTER V.

Conduct of the Peers – Peersge Reform – Chartism – Radical Chartists – Tory Chartists Hungering Chartists – Factious Chartists – Orangeism – Duke of Cumberland – Colonel Fairman – Orange Peers – Plot – Action of Orangeism – Detection – Committee of Inquiry – Mr. Hume's Resolutions – Address to the King – Colonel Fairman's Contumacy – Proposed Prosecution – Death of Haywood – Address to the King – Dissolution of Orangeism

CHAPTER VI.

PAGE

Ireland from 1835-1840—Various Theories—Religious Rancour— Distrust of Law—Principle of Government—Political Corruption —Municipal Deterioration—Uncertainty of Subsistence—Fundamental Difficulty—Insecurity of Title to Land—Impartiality to Sects—Ribbonmen and Orangemen—Catholics in the Jurybox—National Education—Impartiality of Law—Decrease of Crime—The Viceroy's Clemency—Thomas Drummond—Reform of Constabulary—Of Magistracy—Prevention of Crime—Repression of Crime—Government by Functionaries or by Apostles— The Queen—O'Connell—Father Mathew—Temperance Movement—The Franchise and Registration—Lord Stanley's Registration Bill—The Government Bill—Failure of both— Political Education—Municipal Reform—The Measure— Certainty of Maintenance—O'Connell on the Poor-law—Question of a Poor-law—History of the Measure—Its early Operation— Resignation of Lord Normanby—Whig Government of Ireland 286

CHAPTER VII.

CHAPTER VIII.

CHAPTER IX.

IB	ness of the l	King—His	Death-A	ccession of	' Queen	Victor	ia	
1	everance of	Hanover	from Engl	and—The	Counci	il—Will	liam	
	VHis F				procla	imed—(Con-	
1	inuance of t	he Melbou	rne Ministr	у	·		••	879

CHAPTER X.

Party Discontents-The Queen's Favour-Radical Reform Party 392

CHAPTER XI.

Portents in Europe-France-The Representation-Free Trade Inquiry-Monster Trial-Plots-Strasburg Insurrection-Press Law-Foreign Relations-Algeria-Release of State Prisoners -Marriage of the Duke of Orleans-Of the Princess Marie-Distress-Dissolution of the Chamber-Death of Talleyrand-Spain-Queen Regent-Queen Isabella-Carlist War-British Legion — Three young Queens — Portugal — The English in Portugal — Portuguese Indigence — Central Europe — Zoll Verein—Austrian Commercial Treaty—Russis—The Emperor at Warsaw-Passage of the Dardanelles-Circassia-Persia-Cracow-Death of the Emperor of Austria-Coronation of his Successor-Hanover-Proceedings of the King-Denmark-Opening of a Constitution-Sweden and Norway-Holland and Belgium—Young Germany—Switzerland—Prince Louis Napoleon—Zillerthal Protestants—Lutherans of Prussia— Mixed Marriages-The Pietists-Hungary

CHAPTER XII.

Canada-Lord Durham-Sketch of Canada as a British Colony-The Assembly of the Council-Stoppage of Official Salaries-Canada Resolutions-Rebellion-Gosford Commission-Constitution of Lower Canada suspended-Lord Durham's Offices-His Powers-Executive Council-State of the Canadas-Speedy Improvements-Scheme of Federal Union of Colonies-Disposal of Prisoners—Ordinance of the 28th of June—Approval at Home -Attacks by Opposition-Lord Brougham's Declaratory Bill-Ministers succumb-Confused Result-Disallowance of the Ordinance—Retirement of Lord Glenelg—Reception of the News in Canada—Necessity of Resignation—The Prisoners—Pro-clamation—Report—Return of the Commission—Incidents— Lord Durham's Decline and Death—His Character—Mr. Charles Buller-Lord Sydenham (Mr. C. Poulett Thomson)-Responsible Government-Union of the Canadas-Death of Lord Sydenham-His Character .. 436 .. ••

CHAPTER XIII.

Jamaica-The Planters-Imperial Agents-Lord Sligo-Sir Lionel Smith-Proposed Suspension of the Constitution-Question-Sir R. Peel summoned-Household Appointments-Restoration of the Whig Ministers—Election of a Speaker—New Jamaica Bill—Official Changes — Queen's Engagement—Her Marriage-Prince Albert's Annuity 466 •• ... •• ... VOL. III.

PAGR

.. 401

CONTENTS.

CHAPTER XIV.

PAGE

-

Dark Times-Successive Harvests-Grinding of Corn in Bond-Discontents-Trade Unions-Factory Question-Chartism -National Convention-National Petition-John Frost-Riots -Rising at Newport-Origin of the Anti-corn-law League-Delegates-The Ministers-Motion for Inquiry refused-Con-sequences-Attacks on the Queen-Dockyard Fires-Storms-Repeal Agitation-Troubles in the East-Birth of the Princess Borni 480 Royal •• .. •• •• •• •• •• ••

X

HISTORY OF THE PEACE.

BOOK IV.-(Continued.)

CHAPTER VIII.

Renewal of the Bank Charter—India Company's Charter—Negro Slavery—Abolition Movements—Negro Emancipation—First of August 1834.

THERE were two matters of great importance which must be considered at this time, whoever might be in or out of power, and whatever might be happening, at home or The two great charters, of the India Company abroad. and of the Bank of England, were to expire in 1834, and it must be timely determined whether they were to be renewed, and on what conditions. As has been notified, a parliamentary committee had already been appointed, and had begun its work of inquiring into the claims and affairs of the India Company. On the 22nd of May 1832, the chancellor of the exchequer proposed a similar inquiry in regard to the Bank of England. This last committee was, however, a secret one, for the obvious reason that disclosures on currency subjects, for a succession of months, with uncertainty at the end of it, would embarrass all commercial transactions. The committee sat, and diligently pursued its inquiry during the rest of the session, offering its report on the 11th of August. This committee was appointed on the fifth day after the return of Lord Grey and his colleagues to power; and it began its abstract and passionless work while words were running high in the other House between Lords Kenyon and Grey, and while the remnant of anti-reforming peers were undergoing

VOL. III.

B

[BOOK IV.

defeat as often as they adventured a division on the clauses of the Reform Bill. Such were the days when the bank committee sat, and when the very eminent men who were in it were preparing a report of extraordinary value. They felt the seriousness of their work; and well they might. The last renewal of the exclusive privileges of the bank had taken place in 1800, when the term assigned was a year's notice after the 1st of August 1833; and during that interval what vicissitudes and alarms had taken place !---what warnings of the disastrous nature of errors in currency matters, and of the magnitude of the interests now to be involved in an engagement for another term of years! The distresses of 1814, the crisis of 1819, and the crash of 1825-6, were fresh in the recollection of several members of the committee, and a matter of deep interest to all; and under this stimulus, they so exerted themselves that their report is considered-in connection with the evidence on which it is founded-the most important instrument towards the establishment of sound principles of banking as yet offered to the government and people of England. Among others, there were on the committee, Sir Robert Peel, Mr. Poulett Thomson, Sir Henry Parnell, Mr. John Smith, Mr. Baring, Mr. Warburton, Mr. Morrison, Mr. Bonham Carter, and the Chancellor of the Exchequer-statesmen, financiers, economists, and practical men of business. What they had to investigate was this: whether the paper-money of London should be limited to the issues of one bank, or whether a competition of issues should be allowed; whether all the exclusive privileges of the Bank of England were necessary, supposing it to be still the only bank of issue in London ; and what checks were desirable to secure the public from danger from banks of issue, and especially whether a periodical publication of accounts would be a benefit or a disadvantage. On these points, the committee gave a vast amount of information, without any imposition of decided opinions of their own. They did all that time and circumstances allowed in laying before parliament the fullest materials for a judgment, and in venturing to reveal the exact state of the affairs of the Bank of England, thereby breaking up the system of mystery which had hitherto

been one of the dangerous privileges of the bank corporation. Up to this date, the directors had preserved the most cautious secrecy about their affairs, declaring dividends, year after year, upon their own arbitrary judgment, without any sanction of publicity. Now, however, the House of Commons printed the report of the secret committee; and it was understood that darkness would never again be allowed to settle down on the transactions of the great corporation.

A new charter was granted, terminable 'at any time upon twelve months' notice to be given after the 1st of August 1855;' and the privileges of the bank might cease sooner, upon the fulfilment of certain conditions by the country; one of which was the repayment by parliament of upwards of eleven millions, owing by the public to the bank. The bank retained, under the new charter, the chief of its old privileges; and one principal new advantage in a restriction on all other banks, having more than six partners, from issuing notes or bills within sixtyfive miles of London. A great convenience was also afforded to the bank by its notes, and the notes of its branches, being made a legal tender everywhere but at the bank and its branches. By this provision, the bank was saved the expense, inconvenience, and risk of having to keep up, all over the kingdom, stocks of bullion to meet any run which might occur in any direction, at any time. There was some alarm at first among half-informed people about this provision, which was regarded as countenancing a sort of inconvertible paper-currency; but the holders were in fact in exactly the same position as before in regard to the convertibility of the notes, while new facilities were, at the same time, added for obtaining cash in any of its forms from the bank, by the establishment of new branches. All branch notes were made payable only at their place of issue. Weekly returns of bullion and of notes in circulation were to be sent in to the chancellor of the exchequer, in order to publication in the London Gazette -a provision of publicity which has worked so well as to be carefully renewed, after ten years of trial. One-fourth of the debt due from the public to the bank was immediately paid, by an assignment of stock previously held by the commissioners of the national debt. In consideration в 2

of its new privileges, the bank was to deduct £120,000 per annum from its charge for the business of conducting the national debt affairs. At the time of this inquiry, the total receipts of the bank for the year were £1,689,176; and its expenses somewhat under £500,000; leaving £1,164,235 to be divided among the proprietors. The establishment employed about 1,000 persons, and supported 193 pensioners; the average receipts of the 1,000 functionaries being £225 each, and those of the pensioners £161 Such were the state and constitution of the Bank of each. England on the granting of the new charter of 1834. It will be seen hereafter how the never-ceasing changes of commercial affairs, and the imperfection of the best knowledge on the great subject of the circulating medium, compelled in ten years a remodelling of the constitution of the bank, with a provision for another change, if necessary, in ten years more. For these further arrangements, an essential preparation was made by the new provision for publicity; by the establishment of more branches, with better security against a disastrous local drain; and by the thought and knowledge brought to bear upon the subject in the investigations and discussions of 1832 and 1833.

A more striking change than any in the constitution of the bank could be to society at large took place at the same time. For nearly two centuries and a half, the merchant-vessels of the East India Company had traversed the seas, before the eyes of the world. This magnificent association had formed the link between the barbarism of the past and distant, and the civilisation of the future in its home; and now it was to be quietly let drop as useless -the east and the west having come into a communication which should now be left free. The commerce of this corporation, which had once been altogether a facility, had become a monopoly; and the changes of centuries required that it should be broken up. So the Company remain princes, but no longer merchant-princes. About a quarter of a century before the time now under notice, a Liverpool merchant, the most honoured of his class, Mr. William Rathbone, was in London, and struck with the spectacle of the Company's shipping, he inquired of a London merchant at his elbow, why such a trade-a trade so great and so capable of unlimited expansion-was quietly left to be the property of a corporation. His friend replied by convincing him of the overwhelming power of the Company in London, under whose shadow no discontent could stir with impunity; and the two agreed that whenever any movement was made, it must be in the provinces. Mr. Rathbone was not a man to loiter over any work which he saw ought to be done. He stirred up Liverpool, Glasgow, Paisley, and Manchester, to demand an opening of the trade: and the movement had proceeded so far before 1813, when the Company's charter was to expire, that a considerable relaxation of the monopoly was then obtained. From that time British merchants were permitted to trade to the territories of the Company, and India generally, though none but the Company might traffic with China. During the next twenty years, the doctrine of free-trade had been elaborated and partially practised; the demand for tea had largely increased in England; those who had visited the United States could tell what a variety of Chinese productions they had seen in the houses of the Salem merchants, and in the shops of New York, and how much they had heard of the desire of thickly-peopled China for a supply of European and American productions ; and the demand for a complete opening of the eastern seas had become too strong to be resisted. By the charter of 1813, the Company had been bound to keep their territorial and commercial accounts separate; and on their first examination, it was clear that they could not for a moment compete with private merchants in supplying India with manufactured goods, to the advantage of both parties. In fifteen years, the Company's exports of manufactured cottons to India had dwindled to almost nothing, while these of private merchants exceeded in value a million and a half per annum, and were still on the increase. After all that the English public had been told of the immutability of Hindoo habits, and the impossibility of any great expansion of trade, it became clear that the Hindoos, like other people, would stretch out their hands to obtain good and comfortable things, if only such things were placed within their reach. Bishop Heber's journals were by this time published; and they told of the strong disposition of

both Hindoos and Mohammedans in India to imitate the English, and obtain whatever was necessary to enable them to assume an English mode of living; he tells of jackets and trousers, shoes and stockings, round hats, English furniture, French devices and mottoes on jewellery, English hardware, crockery, writing-desks, arms, and clothing-not only in and near Calcutta, but in remote provincial towns. This much having been proved, the commercial world did not attend to what the Company now said of the immutability of Chinese habits, and the impossibility of any great expansion of trade there. It was time to try. The Company took warning by their experience of the results of competition with private enterprise in India, and did not insist upon renewing the experiment in China. Their age as traders was past; and they now retired upon their territorial dignity, leaving a large section of the world open to British commerce. It was a striking event to a multitude of people at home, and to many abroad. Almost everybody reckoned on having cheap tea, and plenty of it; and some anticipated that a few houses in London and our principal ports might soon have curiosities to show like those of Salem and New York ; elegant matting, a variety of serviceable silks, extraordinary toys, and Chinese copies of English prints-a miracle of painstaking. Many, it may be hoped, thought of the blessing to the Chinese of new means and opportunities of civilisation; and some, of the effect upon the relations of the whole world of the throwing open the intercourse between the east and the west, which, whether cursed with a war at the outset or not, was certainly necessary to an ultimate condition of fraternisation and peace. In this view, one point was of eminent interest to some of the best people living in the world. In these newly opened countries of the east, there are wide regions-broad belts of soil and climate-fitted for the production of sugar and cotton. It is the limitation of the area for the production of sugar and cotton which protracts the existence of negro slavery. It is well to use all possible means of appeal to the justice and humanity of men, to induce an abolition of negro slavery ; but here was another opening for hope and enterprise. If slavery were not abolished sooner, it certainly

must be by a cheaper production of sugar and cotton in the east by free labour than can be accomplished in the west by slave labour. No such possibility existed while the India Company held the east in their hand; but now the prospect seemed to be opening; and in this view, again, the date of the expiration of the Company's charter might be one of high importance in the history of the world.

By the act of 1833, the charter was renewed for twenty years, during which time the territorial government remains in the hands of the Company. From the 22nd of April 1834, the China and tea trade of the Company was to cease, and all its commercial concerns were to be wound up, and its commercial property sold. All the restrictions which prevented the free admission of Europeans, and their free residence in India, were repealed; and equality of claim to office and employment between natives and foreigners was decreed. There was to be no distinction on account of race, colour, or religion. From that day, new hopes have been dawning upon the east; and it is now universally understood that the great work to be done in India is to raise the native population by educational methods, and by a just administration of our power, and not, as it once was, to keep them down by force—whether for their own sake or ours. As for the commercial results of the new charter, the number of ships which passed to and fro increased year by year, even before the introduction of steam-navigation into those seas. In ten years, the trade with China had doubled, and the value of British and Irish exports to India and Cevlon had increased from two millions and a half to six millions and nearly a half.

During the same period, as is observed in the commercial registers of the time, the value of the exports to the West Indies had declined. These colonies were in a disturbed and unsatisfactory state. For some years, the experiment of a gradual preparation of the slave for freedom had been going on; and with the inevitable result of failure. The slaves were informed by the arrival of successive orders in council, by the appointment of protectors of slaves, and by the trial of a few slave causes, that they had rights; and when a man of any colour once knows to a certainty that he has rights which are withheld from him by parties close at hand, he is never contented again in his wronged condition. The planters were as restless in their way as the slaves. They resented the orders in council, and everything in the shape of admonition from home, as an unwarrantable interference with their management of their property; and they refused the slave registration and other observances prescribed by government. The language in their assemblies was audaciously disrespectful and petulant; and in Trinidad there was a proposition that the inhabitants should refuse to pay taxes till the last order in council was rescinded. In December 1831, a formidable insurrection broke out in Jamaica, which occasioned suspension of business and other loss, and was put down only by martial law; and in the following April the West India merchants in London endeavoured to make government liable for the losses thus incurred, and for all, which, in the opinion of the planters, could be traced to the operation of the orders, or of other movements in behalf of the slave. When, at this meeting, the responsibility for all disorders was thrown upon the British government, and protests and claims were sent in to the colonial secretary, ' in consequence of the measures pursued by his majesty's ministers,' it was clear that a final settlement of the great question was at hand. It was now too late to desert the cause of the slaves, and hand them over to the arbitrary management of their owners. There must be a final issue; and the planters were bringing it on as fast as they could. If they had not done so, events would. In the three years from 1828, the production of sugar had so far lessened as that the imports in England had sunk from 198,400 tons to 185,660 tons. The planters believed that they could recover their ground if England would give them aid, and only leave them to manage their slaves in their own way; while England felt, not only that the negroes were fellow-subjects as well as the whites, but that no power on earth could roll back the years so as to reinstate the planters in their former position. By their present conduct, the West India merchants and proprietors hurried on the crisis at a rate not dreamed of by the friends of the negro at home.

On the 17th of April, the Earl of Harewood presented

to the House of Lords a petition from persons interested in the colonies, for a full parliamentary inquiry into the laws, usages, and condition of the West India colonies, their past improvements, and possible future ameliorations -due regard being had to 'the best interests of the slaves themselves, and the rights of private property.' The committee was granted; and the last order in council was suspended for the time. On the 24th of May, the lord chancellor presented a petition from 135,000 persons, resident in and near London, praying for the speedy abolition of slavery, and that no delay might be caused by the appointment of the West India committee. Lord Suffield followed with twenty-one petitions to the same purpose. While these were discussed in the one House, Mr. T. Fowell Buxton was moving in the other for a select committee to prepare for the extinction of slavery in the British dominions at the earliest possible moment. It is painful now to read the debate on this occasion, not only on account of the perpetual pleas which make the reader blush for the conscience of the legislature-pleas of the good food, light work, and relief from responsibility, of the slaves, and of their enjoyment of the blessings of Christianity-but on account of the timidity and supineness of many who called themselves the friends of the negroes. Mr. Buxton had a hard battle to fight; but he stood his ground. He must have been aware that he understood the matter, while his opponents, of all parties, did not. He knew that the abolition of slavery was inevitable; and that the most speedy abolition would be the safest for all parties. He knew that a gradual preparation of a slave for freedom was an impossible thing; he knew that to leave the matter in the hands of the government was to give up the cause; he knew that to revert to the resolutions of the 15th of May 1823, was to acquiesce in another nine years' delay; he knew that to mix up in the same motion the questions of emancipation and of compensation to the planters would be to expose the great moral to all the risks of the minor financial question; and he therefore stood firm, amidst the entreaties of friends, the mockery of foes, and the somewhat contemptuous displeasure of the ministers, who on this occasion could not be ranked either

with friends or foes. Lord Althorp, unaware what a work he and his colleagues were destined to do in a few short months, ' would not pledge himself to any immediate abolition of slavery, because he did not think that the slave-population was in a situation to receive that boon beneficially for themselves; but he thought that the legislature might employ itself most usefully in bringing the slaves to such a state of moral feeling as would be suitable to the proposed alteration in their condition;' and he moved an amendment on Mr. Buxton's motion, in favour of 'conformity with the resolutions of this House of the 15th of May 1823.' Thus far were our statesmen behind the time, that one of the most honest, one of the most sensitive to the claims of justice, was unaware that the only possible education for the use of rights is in the exercise of the rights themselves, and was unashamed to revert to the barren resolutions of nine years before. In that spirit of rectitude which includes the truest mercy, Mr. Buxton refused to surrender his motion, even if he should vote alone. Ninety, however, voted on his side, and 163 on the other. This majority of 73 on Lord Althorp's side was not so large as was expected; and it was probably outnumbered, a hundred times over, by the converts to Mr. Buxton's view outside the House, who could bring an effectual force to bear on the government.

This question is one which implicates not two quarters of the world only, but three-not Europe and Africa only, but America. It is necessary to survey the whole area of the operation of negro slavery, in order to give the true history of any one part. There was at this date an infant movement in the United States which was destined to signalise our century as the Reformation distinguished its own age. Some who live nearest to the cradle of this reformation are only now-five-and-twenty years after its birth-beginning to perceive with any clearness the magnitude of the event; but so it is with all the great transitions in the world. While the Reformation was going on, multitudes of ordinary people in Germany were living on as usual, in unconsciousness that anything remarkable was befalling the world; 'likewise also as it was in the days of Lot, they did eat, they drank, they

bought, they sold, they planted, they builded;' and if any stranger had inquired of them about the new prophet and his doctrine, they would have denied that such existed, till the fire-shower of Luther's denunciations came to burn up the superstitions of the age. Thus it was now in the United States, where the gibbet and the tar-kettle and the cow-hide were preparing for the patriots of the community; and the time was drawing on, when the rights of petition to congress, of the press, and of free speech, were to be suspended, in order to be restored with increased security, for the object of freeing the soil from negro slavery. Before this could happen, some noble hearts must be broken, some precious lives sacrificed, some public halls burned, and many private dwellings laid waste; but the end was decreed, and the beginning was now made. In 1830, two young men had been wont to walk across the common at Boston, and discuss the right way of setting about the abolition of slavery in America; and they and another-poor and obscure, all three of them -had met in a garret, and there, with their feet upon a wood-pile, and by the light of a single candle, they had solemnly resolved steadfastly to measure their moral force against the hideous evil. It has fallen to them and their followers to contend for a wider emancipation than that of the negroes-to be the champions, in the New World, of freedom of opinion, speech, and the press; and before their work-now secure, but not fully accomplished-is finally dismissed from their hands, it may appear that yet other kinds of freedom have been brought in and established by them. The conflict between the powers of light and darkness, of liberty and tyranny, in the United States, is now, in the middle of the century, approaching its issue. At the time when Mr. Buxton stood up in the British House of Commons, refusing to yield his point, an indomitable brother-reformer over the seas had presented his manifesto in one of the finest declarations ever given to the world. No one knew better than Mr. Buxton, and no one would have been more eager to explain the fact, that the brother-spirit over the seas had infinitely the harder lot, and the most arduous work, of the two for his portion. It was only by living on bread and water that

the confessor of this mighty cause could obtain means to publish his paper. 'When it sold particularly well,' says his partner in the sacrifice, 'we treated ourselves with a howl of milk.' In the small, shabby first sheet of The Liberator, printed with old types, we find the manifesto which will not be forgotten while the Anglo-Saxon liberties and language last. 'I am aware,' says Garrison, 'that many object to the severity of my language; but is there not cause for severity? I will be as harsh as truth, and as uncompromising as justice. I am in earnest-I will not equivocate-AND I WILL BE HEARD. The apathy of the people is enough to make every statue leap from its pedestal, and to hasten the resurrection of the dead. It is pretended that I am retarding the cause of emancipation by the coarseness of my invective, and the precipitancy of my measures. The charge is not true. On this question my influence, humble as it is, is felt at this moment to a considerable extent, and shall be felt in coming years-not perniciously, but beneficially-not as a curse, but as a blessing; and posterity will bear witness that I was right. I desire to thank God that He enables me to disregard the fear of man, and to speak His truth in its simplicity and power.' There were persons in the House of Commons who exclaimed against coarseness and precipitancy, and called out for soft words, and a mincing gait towards the object—the gaze reverting to the resolutions of nine years before. But the men who understood the case knew that events-and not any impulse of impatient minds-now called for a thundering utterance, and a tread that should shake the ground. The demand for liberty was now one which could not be neglected. The property question might be considered too; but it must not be permitted to cause the delay of the greater argument. Though defeated on the division, Mr. Buxton had made this clear; and from that day there was no more halting on either shore of the Atlantic.

A vote of relief in money to the West India colonies, on account of a destructive hurricane in Barbadoes, St. Vincent, and St. Lucia, was now made to include Jamaica, on account of the recent insurrection, and raised from £100,000 to £1,000,000. The chancellor of the exchequer declared that it would require £800,000 to rebuild the premises destroyed by the insurgent slaves. It was in this same year that the slaves in America heard of Garrison's manifesto; and from that time they ceased to rise. Till then, revolts had been frequent—several taking place every year. Since Garrison, the 'peaceman,' has arisen in their behalf, there has not been one.

By the 14th of the next May, the government had declared that they had found the pressure of public opinion on the subject of slavery too strong to be resisted; and they had brought forward, by the mouth of Mr. Stanley-who had become colonial secretary--a series of resolutions, which were to be debated on the 30th of the same month. In the speech of the secretary, introducing the resolutions, nothing is more remarkable than the narrative given of West India distress; a distress so frequently recurring, so incessantly complained of, in all conditions of war and peace, and of changing seasons, as to show that the secret of prosperity does not lie in slavery, and that there was some fatal fault in the system which the planters were so unwilling to have touched. There was nothing in this narrative to surprise the economists, in or out of the House; and the economists and the friends of the negro, and the most enlightened of the advocates of the planters, were alike sorry to see in the resolutions a clinging to the unsound method of 'gradualism' in the abolition of slavery. It was proposed that all children born after the passing of any act of emancipation, and all that should be under six years old at the time of its passage, should be declared free, that all others, then slaves, should be registered as apprenticed labourers, being considered free, except for the restriction of being compelled to labour for their present owners, under conditions, and for a space of time to be determined by parliament; that a loan, not exceeding £15,000,000 should be offered to the planters; and that parliament should provide for the expense of a local magistracy, and of means of education and religious training of the negroes.

Mr. Buxton declared at once against the compulsory apprenticeship, as a device pregnant with mischief. He was joined by one who had been a member of the govern-

ment, Lord Howick, who had resigned office from his inability to countenance this provision, and his reluctance to introduce confusion into the government by his opposition, otherwise than as an independent member of the House. This apprenticeship arrangement was one great difficulty, and the loan was another. The planters and their advocates considered the amount a mere pittance. and yet were sure they could never repay it. With a good grace, the loan of fifteen millions was converted into a gift of twenty millions; and the term of apprenticeship was reduced. Mr. Buxton was so well supported in his opposition, that government had no choice but to The field-slaves were to have been apprenticed yield. for twelve years, and the house-slaves for seven: their terms were now reduced to seven and five. As to the money part of the affair, there were many who saw and declared that, in strict principle, there could be no claim for compensation for deprivation of that which, from its very nature, never could have been property; and such opposed any payment at all to the planters, as they would have refused to purchase a slave who could be freed without. But the greater number, seeing how long the law had recognised human beings as property, and on how bare a legal basis all right to property rests, were willing to avoid subtle controversy, and to close the dispute rather with generous concession than with rigidity; and the gift of twenty millions was voted with an alacrity which must ever be considered a remarkable and honourable sign of the times. The generous acquiescence of the people under this prodigious increase of their burdens has caused the moralists of other nations to declare that the British act of emancipation stands alone for moral grandeur in the history of the world; while those of other nations who do not happen to be moralists, see in it only an inexplicable hypocrisy, or obscure process of self-interest.

On the 30th of August 1833, the Emancipation Act passed the Lords. The name, and much of the substance of slavery was to expire on the 1st of August 1834. The young children were then to be free; and the government fondly hoped, against the warnings of those who understood the second nature which overgrows the first

in the holders of irresponsible power, that the parents would, from the same hour, be morally and civilly freebound only in the salutary obligations to virtuous labour. However that might be, the day was within view when all should be wholly free. To her great honour-and not the less because the act proved to be one of true policy-Antigua surrendered the right of apprenticeship, and set her slaves wholly free on the appointed day. Elsewhere, the arrangement worked so ill-the oppression of the negroes was so gross, and to them in their transition state so intolerable-the perplexities were so many, and so difficult to deal with-that government was soon convinced that 'gradualism' was as impracticable under the name of freedom, as of slavery : in three years, the term of apprenticeship was shortened; and presently afterwards the arrangement was relinquished altogether.

The season of emancipation was dreaded by some of the slaveholders, who had spent all their lives in fear of negro risings. To others it appeared that the danger of revolt was when the negroes were suffering under tyranny, and not when they were relieved from it. On both shores of the Atlantic, however, expectation stood on tiptoe to watch the moment which should give freedom to 800.000 of the enslaved race. The Carolina planter looked well to his negro quarter, to see that his 'hands' were not abroad after dark. Garrison and his band sat waiting for tidings-with more faith in the negro temper than anybody else, but still with some anxiety for the cause. The British parliament looked benevolently forth, in the consciousness of having done an act which should stand alone in the history of the world. The British peasant thought affectionately of the black brethren whom he, as a freeman and a tax-payer, had helped to release from bondage. And when the tidings came-the narrative of how the great day had passed over-there was such joy as is seldom excited by one event among opposite interests. Garrison and his band were as much relieved as the Carolina planter; and the English peasant was as proud and pleased as the British parliament. The 1st of August fell on a Friday; and there was to be holiday from the Thursday night till Monday. The missionaries did their

duty well: and they completely succeeded in impressing the people with a sense of the solemnity of the occasion. The arrival of that midnight in the island of Antigua. where the negroes where to be wholly free at once, was an event which cannot be read of without a throbbing of the heart. It was to the negroes their passover-night. They were all collected in their chapels-the Wesleyans keeping watch-night in the chapels throughout the The pastors recommended to the people to receive island. the blessing in silence and on their knees. At the first stroke of midnight from the great cathedral-bell, all fell on their knees, and nothing was heard but the slow tolling bell, and some struggling sobs in the intervals. The silence lasted for a few moments after the final stroke, when a peal of awful thunder rattled through the sky, and the flash of lightning seemed to put out the lamps in the chapels. Then the kneeling crowd sprang to their feet, and gave voice to their passionate emotions-such voice as might be expected from this excitable people. Some tossed up their free arms, and groaned away at once the heart's burden of a life. Families and neighbours opened their arms to each other. Some prayed aloud, after the lead of their pastors, that they might be free indeed; and a voice was heard in thanksgiving for a real Sabbath now, when the wicked should cease from troubling, and the weary be at rest, and the voice of the oppressor should be no more heard, and the servant should be free from his master. In some of the chapels the noble spectacle was seen of the masters attending with their negroes, and, when the clock had struck, shaking hands with them, and wishing them joy. The rest of the holiday was spent partly in mirth, as was right, and much of it in listening to the addresses of the missionaries, who urged upon them with much force, and in the utmost detail, the duties of sobriety and diligence, and harmony with their employers. On the Monday morning, they went to work-that work which they were proud of now, as it was for wages.

Fair as was this promise, and well as the conduct of the negroes has justified the highest expectations of their most sanguine friends, no reasonable persons were so sanguine

as to suppose that all parties would be satisfied-that an act of parliament could neutralise all the evil results of an iniquity that was centuries old—that the striking of that cathedral clock was to silence all discontents for the future as well as the past. From the nature of things it could not be so. The planter could not at the striking of that clock, put off his habits of command, and his lifelong associations of inferiority with the negro race. He could not, in a moment or a year, become an economist, a practical man, carrying on his business with the close attention and care and thrifty skill held necessary in the employers of free labour elsewhere. And the negroes would certainly work in a very different way, and to a very different amount henceforth. The husband and father might, and no doubt would, accomplish much more actual work between year's end and year's end; but some of it would be for himself-on ground of his own; and the women would be almost universally withdrawn from field-labour ; and they would keep their children under their own care at home. As the possession of land was, in the eyes of negroes, the symbol of all earthly power and privilege, it was certain that their great ambition would be to buy land; and thus, again, more labour would be withdrawn from the existing estates. And these estates were in that bad state of tillage which always co-exists with slavelabour; and the conditions were thus unfavourable to a change of system. The probability seemed to many to be that there would be a decline in the production of sugar, and distress among the planters, not remediable by any kind or degree of aid from England, ending probably in a transfer of the estates from the representatives of the old system to those of the new. A tone of fretful triumph would have to be borne with for a time from the enemies of emancipation; and, perhaps, a temporary deficiency of sugar-entailing further sacrifice on the English workingclasses who had so cheerfully undertaken their share of the twenty millions of compensation; and, in some future time, every white might have sold his plantation to a black or mulatto capitalist. There would be much evil in all this, if it should happen; but after so long and grievous a sin, some retributive penalty must be expected ; VOL. III. C.

17

and there were bright points both in the near and distant The negress was now under the protection of prospects. a husband, and had a home in which to labour and rest. Christianity could now be preached, without dread and without omission. While regretting any decline in the outward fortunes of the planters, no considerate person could for a moment put those outward fortunes into the scale against the moral and material interests of the vast majority of residents in the West Indies; and as for the supply of sugar, there is a broad belt surrounding the world-here studded with South American ranchos, there feathered with African palms, and beyond, watered by the rivers of India, and strewn with the islands of the eastern archipelago-where sugar enough may be grown for the The centuries bring with them needs of the whole race. their own resources. Ours brought a rich one in the insight and impulse to extinguish a mighty sin. Necessity and justice were seen and heard to demand it; the thing was done : and necessity and justice may always be trusted to vindicate themselves.

CHAPTER IX.

THUS far the Whig ministry had wrought and prospered well. They had undertaken their great works with a clear view of what ought to be done, and a determination to do it; or, if they at any time fell short in either of these requisites, the sympathy or opposition of the liberal party soon brought them up again. Among many defi-

Irish Church—Prosecution of O'Connell—Irish outrage—Royal Notice of Tithes—First and Second Acts of 1832—Act of 1833—Tardy Truth about Tithes—Proposed Act of 1834—Bill lost—Irish Ecolesiastical Commission—Irish Census-reductions—Appropriation Doctrine—Delays—Appropriation refused—Irish Church Temporalities Bill passes—Official changes—Mr. Ward's Critical Motion—King's Declaration—Commission of Inquiry—Coercion Bill—Negotiation with Mr. O'Connell—Mr. Littleton's Explanation—Resignation of Lord Althorp—Of Lord Grey—Lord Grey's Farewell—His Political Character.

ciencies and weaknesses which they were now to exhibit, the most fatal, and one of the most inexcusable, was in regard to Ireland. It required no miraculous wisdom to see that Catholic emancipation would not tranquillise Ireland while she suffered under the burden of what the Times called 'too much Church.' In the most orderly state of society in any country, it could not be expected that between six and seven millions of inhabitants of one religious faith would pay a portion of their produce to support a Church which included only a few hundred thousands-a Church which they conscientiously disapproved, and whose funds they saw to be ample, while their own priesthood had nothing to depend on but the precarious contributions of their flocks. On the one hand was a Church numbering 853,000, with four archbishops, eighteen bishops, and a law which authorised its clergy to derive an essential part of their incomes from tithes; and this in a country where tillage was the almost universal means of subsistence, and the division of the land was so minute that the tithe-collectors seemed never to have done making their demands of shillings and half-pence. On the other hand, there was a Church including six millions and a half of members, without aid from government, without 'countenance from the law; with a multitudinous priesthood who lived with the poor and like the poor; and from these poor was the tithe extorted by perpetually recurring applications-applications backed by soldiery and armed police, who carried off the pig, or the sack of potatoes, or the money-fee which the peasant desired to offer to his own priest. It required no miraculous wisdom to see that the long-exasperated Irish must consider this management as religious persecution, and feel that Catholic emancipation was not yet complete. A very ordinary foresight would have shown that it would soon be found impossible to collect tithe in Ireland; and further, that it must soon be acknowledged by the whole world at home, as it had long been declared by the whole world abroad, that the maintenance of the establishment in Ireland was an insult and injury which no nation could be expected to endure, and which must preclude all chance of peace till it should be abolished in its form of a dominant Church. The Whig c 2

ministers were not only without the miraculous wisdom, but they were without the ordinary foresight. They. Whigs as they were, were blinded by that same superstitious dread of changing the law which had, time after time, been the destruction of their opponents. They. Whigs as they were, seemed to have forgotten that no human law can be made for eternity-that no age or generation can bind down a future age or generation to its own arrangements, or legislate in a spirit of prophecy. They whose ancestors had declared these truths in 1688, and as often since as any great reform had been neededthey, who had dissolved the laws which gave seats in parliament as a property to individuals, and the negro as a property to his white fellow-man, pleaded now, while Ireland was convulsed from end to end with the Church question, that the Church in Ireland could never be touched, because its establishment and revenues were guaranteed by law. If it was asked to whom were this establishment and these revenues guaranteed, it was necessary to dismiss the abstraction called the Church, and to reply, either the worshippers or their clergy; and the question then was, whether means of worship could not be provided for the one, and an honourable subsistence for the other, by some method less objectionable than taking by force the tenth potato and the tenth peat from the Catholic peasant, and parading the Church of the small minority before the eyes of the vast majority as the pensioned favourite of the state. If the Whig ministers had had sagacity to see the untenable nature of the Irish establishment, and courage to propose its reduction to the proper condition of a Protestant denomination, they would have gained honours even nobler than those which they won by parliamentary reform. It is highly probable that Ireland would have been by this time comparatively at ease; for the ministers might apparently have carried such a measure at the outset of their legislation for Ireland, when their power was at its height, and the question of Church reform in England was discussed with a freedom and boldness which soon disappeared. If not, however -if they had failed and gone out upon this question -they would have entitled themselves to the eternal

gratitude of the nation, and of so much of the world at large as is interested in the interior peace and prosperity of the British Empire. But they did not see nor understand their opportunity. The phantom of the impersonal Church, and its shadowy train of legal guarantees, was before them, so as to shut out the realities of the case-the substantial interests of the Protestant religion, and the weighty facts that many of the churches were empty, the numbers of Protestants stationary or decreasing, and the working clergy actually living upon alms. The administration tried this and that and the other small method of dealing with the difficulty; at what expense of delay, contention, and ultimate partial yielding, we shall hereafter see. 'Of this,' said their friends at the time, by the most calm and moderate of their organs, 'there can be no doubt-the only way to afford her [the Irish Church] the least chance of a permanent existence, is to abolish tithes entirely, and to cut down her other emoluments very low indeed; that is to say, to reduce them until they amount to no more than a fair equivalent for the services which she can render in return for them.

In 1831, the state of Ireland seemed to be growing daily worse in regard to violence. There was a conflict of forces between the lord-lieutenant and Mr. O'Connell. The lord-lieutenant issued proclamations against a certain order of public meetings. O'Connell and his friends disobeyed the proclamation, and were brought to trial. Delays and difficulties were introduced into the legal process, as is usual in Ireland; but the matter ended in O'Connell and his comrades pleading guilty to the first fourteen counts in the indictment, which charged them with holding meetings in violation of various proclamations. The attorney-general was satisfied, and withdrew the remaining counts. Mr. O'Connell denied in the newspapers that he had pleaded guilty; and declared that he had allowed judgment to go by default, in order to plead before the House of Lords, through the twelve judgesbefore which time, he hoped, the act under which he was prosecuted would expire. As it was asserted and proved in the House of Commons that he had actually pleaded guilty, and that nothing remained but for sentence to be

pronounced against him, his followers, in their amazement at such a fall, resorted to the supposition that some kind of compromise had taken place between himself and the government and that the liberator had humbled himself in order to obtain some boon for Ireland. The supposition grew to a rumour; and the rumour spread to the friends and opponents of the ministers in parliament; and, though it was promptly met, it was never again extinguished. Whether it was through indolence, carelessness, timidity, or temporary convenience, certain it was that the Whig government brought on itself, for a course of years, the charge of compromise with O'Connell, after repeated proofs of his utter unworthiness of all trust, and therefore of all countenance as the representative of his country. On the present occasion, Mr. Stanley, secretary for Ireland, was questioned in the House about the transactions of government with Mr. O'Connell; and his reply was express and clear. He would not say that Mr. O'Connell's friends had not endeavoured to make terms for him; but the reply of government had been that Mr. O'Connell's conduct had not entitled him to any consideration, and 'the law must take its course '--- 'judgment should be pressed against him :' the crown had 'procured a verdict against Mr. O'Connell, and it would, undoubtedly, call him up to receive judgment upon it.' Within a fortnight after, a ridiculous scene took place in the House. Mr. O'Connell asked the secretary for Ireland on what ground he had asserted that friends of his had endeavoured to make terms for him. 'There could be no delicacy in disclosing their names, because if they were accredited agents, he-on the supposition the principalasked for publicity; and if they were not his agents, it was but common justice to hold them up as impostors.' Again Mr. Stanley's answer was express and clear. A letter had been laid before him which proposed terms, to induce the Irish government to forego the prosecution; the letter being dictated by Mr. O'Connell himself to his sonin-law, and enclosed in one from his son. The House received this explanation with shouts of laughter; and the shouts were renewed when Mr. O'Connell said that 'he could not but admit that his question had been answered most satisfactorily by the right honourable gentleman."

The terms proposed were, as Mr. O'Connell now declared. that he should forego his agitation for the repeal of the union, which he regarded only as means to an end, if the government would, in the first place, drop the prosecution, and next propose good measures for Ireland. The answer was, 'that no such compromise would be for a moment entertained by the Irish government, and that the law must take its course.' It is difficult to account for a self-exposure so audacious as this of O'Connell, on any other supposition than that he wished to advertise his readiness to be negotiated with, and to surrender his repeal agitation on sufficient inducement. He had long before so surrendered all pretensions to honour, and shown himself so incapable of conceiving of honour, that he could go through a scene like this of the 28th of February 1831, with less embarrassment than any other man. The misfortune of the case to the government was, that it did not redeem the pledge given by Mr. Stanley. The law did not take its course; Mr. O'Connell was not brought up for judgment. Time passed on; the act under which he was convicted expired; and when it was defunct, the ministers considered that it would be ungracious to inflict the penalties it decreed.

From week to week of this session, the outrages in Ireland grew worse. Tithe-collectors were murdered in some places; in others, they were dragged from their beds, and laid in a ditch to have their ears cut off. Five of the police were shot dead at once by a party in ambush. The peasantry declared against pastures, and broke up grass-lands in broad day. Cattle were driven off, lest the owners should pay tithe upon them. A committee of Roman Catholic priests, assembled at Ennis for the promotion of order and peace, broke up with expressions of despair. O'Connell attended some of the trials in May, before a special commission issued for the purpose; and he took the opportunity of making matters worse by addressing the people in speeches, in which he told them that many of the convicted peasants would have been acquitted if fairly tried, but that the juries were afraid to acquit. He charged his hearers with-not crime, butindiscretion, and advised them to deliver up their arms,

not because the law required it, but because they might thus mollify the government, and purchase leniency for their comrades who had been caught. Towards the end of the month, there was a fight between the police and the peasants, at Castle Pollard, in Westmeath, on occasion of an attempted rescue. The chief constable was knocked down ; the police fired, and nine or ten persons were killed. The police were tried for manslaughter, on the prosecution of the government; and O'Connell found matter of complaint even in this, after the men were acquitted, alleging that the prosecutions would have been fairer, if left to be instituted by the families of the slaughtered men. If they had been so left, his complaints of the apathy of the government would have been more formidable still. In June, an affair happened at Newtownbarry, in Wexford, which shows what was the position of the Church in the Catholic districts of Ireland at that time. On the 18th of June, which was market-day, some cattle were to be sold which had been impounded for tithe-payment. The following placard was on the walls of the town : 'Inhabitants, &c., &c.-There will be an end of church plunder; your pot, blanket, and pig will not hereafter be sold by auction, to support in luxury, idleness and ease, persons who endeavour to make it appear that it is essential to the peace and prosperity of the country, and your eternal salvation, while the most of you are starving. Attend to an auction of your neighbour's cattle, seized for tithe by the Rev. Alexander M'Clintock.' The yeomanry were on the alert to assist the police. As soon as the sale began, it merged into a fight; and twelve of the Catholic mob were killed. The consequent law proceedings were baffled and rendered fruitless by trick and timidity; but the affair was never forgotten. Before the year was out, the clergy had become afraid to ask, and their flocks to pay, their dues. As the year closed, soldiery assisted the police; but this only enlarged the area of the fights, and deepened their animosity. On one occasion, five of the Catholics were shot dead by the military; and a fortnight after, when a strong body of police were escorting a tithe-collecter, they were summoned to surrender him to popular vengeance; and, on their refusal, twelve of them were slaughtered in a lane, and

more left fearfully wounded. The captain of police, and his son, ten years old, were among the slain ; and the pony which the boy rode was stabled dead. The arms of the assailants were scythes, pitchforks, and bludgeons. A country lad, who appeared about thirteen years old, went from one to another of the prostrate police, and finding that five of them still breathed, made an end of them with his scythe. Such were the things that were done in the name, and for the alleged rights, of the religion which brought ' peace on earth, and good will to men.' As for the reviled clergy-the men who were declared to be living in luxury, idleness, and case,' and whose claim to tithe the Irish secretary was advocating in the House, as 'a matter of justice between man and man'-they were living, some in fear of a prison for debt, as they had received no money for many months; many more in fear of their neighbours; and not a few in fear of seeing their children starve before their eyes. Sometimes there would come in by night a pig, or a bag of meal, or a sack of potatoes, from some pitying friend; and by day, the clergyman might be seen digging 'for bare life' in his garden, with his shoeless children about him, while his wife was trying, within the house, whether the tattered clothes would bear another and another patch. Such was the system of 'justice between man and man' which Mr. Stanley would not at this time touch, because it was legal. If this was justice, on every or any hand, what then was injustice?

Some clergymen, however, differed from Mr. Stanley about perseverance in not touching the tithe system, on account of its justice. The Archbishop of Dublin declared that he spoke the opinion of many of his clerical brethren, as well as his own, when he said, in his evidence before the Lords' committee in this year: 'As for the continuance of the tithe system, it seems to me that it must be at the point of the bayonet—that it must be through a sort of chronic civil war. The ill feelings that have so long existed against it have been embodied in so organised a combination, that I conceive there would be continually breakings out of resistance, which must be kept down by a continuance of very severe measures, such as the government might indeed resolve to have recourse to for once, if necessary, but would be very unwilling to resort to habitually, so as to keep the country under military government. And the most intelligent persons, and the most experienced I have conversed with, seem to think that nothing else will permanently secure the payment of tithes under the present system.' If this was true, tithes were condemned, in spite of their justice; for it could not be supposed that the preachers of a non-aggressive and non-resistant religion would desire to have their maintenance permanently collected at the point of the bayonet. There must, in that case, be more 'anxious thought' about meat and clothing than consisted with their profession. Already, indeed, the two faiths in Ireland seemed to have exchanged characters. It was the Protestant Church which displayed its protected, and endowed, and dominant hierarchy; and it was the Catholic faith which sent its priests from house to house, to preach glad tidings to the poor, accepting subsistence from the overflow of good-will, but demanding nothing in the name of human law.

In the royal speech, at the opening of the next session, some progress in ministerial opinion was apparent. The king requested the parliament to consider whether some improvement could not be made in the law regarding tithes In after years, there was abundant cause for in ireland. lamentation that the advance was so small. Committees of inquiry were appointed by both Houses; and the evidence adduced was so astounding as to induce, in a multitude of minds, views of the Protestant Church in Ireland, which it is lamentable that the Government did not take heed to and act upon. Many friends of Ireland. as well as the Catholics themselves, desired, if tithes were not to be abolished, that they should be so appropriated as to yield benefit to the body who paid them, by means of a recurrence to the first principles of tithes. Originally, one-fourth of the tithe was devoted to the maintenance of the poor, and another to that of the places of worship; and it was now proposed, even in petitions to parliament. that this application should be made of the proceeds of tithe and of the lands of the Church in Ireland. Lord Grey took the earliest opportunity of intimating that he should strenuously oppose any proposition which went

to deprive the Church-that ever impersonal pleader !---'of her just rights.' Perhaps the best expression of the widely awakened feeling we have adverted to may be found in the speech of Lord Ebrington, who had himself been on the committee in the Commons, ' respecting the unfortunate anomaly which the Church of Ireland presented. He should not think any plan could lead to a final settlement of the question, which attempted to exclude the consideration of a thorough reform of the Church of Ireland. When he saw the clergy of that Church receiving salaries so disproportionate to the number of Protestants under their care, and when he saw that those salaries were paid chiefly by Roman Catholics, he looked upon the system as pregnant with injury to the cause of religion. He protested, therefore, against the number of the clergy being so disproportioned to their congregations; and he should be glad to see some more just distribution of the revenues of the Church, such as would afford a more adequate provision for the working clergy; and he should also be glad to see a state of things in which no part of the revenues of the Church should be diverted from the use of the Church. He could think no settlement of the existing complaints satisfactory which, with a due regard to all existing interests-for God forbid that they should attempt to strip any man of that which of right belonged to him-did not contemplate the reduction of the Church of Ireland to a condition better proportioned to the wants of the Protes-tant inhabitants.' Such was the view brought out of committee by as thoroughgoing a friend of the Whig administration as sat in the House.

There was now no time to be lost. The Irish recusants knew to a man, that the Royal speech had recommended to parliament a consideration of the tithe system; and they took this for a Royal condemnation of tithe paying. They knew before February was out that the parliamentary committees had reported that nothing would avail short of 'a complete extinction of tithes' by commutation for a charge upon the land; and these things were considered warrant enough for a refusal to pay tithe at all, and for persecution of those who did pay. An archdeacon in the neighbourhood of Cashel hoped to establish a commutation with his parishioners; but now they refused his terms, came up to him in a field in sight of his own house—a field where several persons were ploughing, who took no notice of the transaction-and stoned him till his head was beaten to pieces. If any resident, pressed by his pastor or by conscience, or by fear of the law, paid the smallest amount of tithe in the most secret manner, his cattle were houghed in the night, or his house was burnt over his head, or his flock of sheep was hunted over a precipice, and lay a crushed heap in the morning. There was a sound of a horn, at that time, which made men's flesh creep, whether it was heard by night or day; for those who took upon them to extinguish tithes now boldly assembled their numbers by the sound of the horn; and all who heard it knew that murder or mutilation or arson was going to be perpetrated. Captures, special commissions, and trials were useless. Witnesses dared not give evidence; jurors dared not attend. Magistrates and police were multiplied; but the thing needed was a removal of the grievance, which was real enough, however atrociously avenged. On the very chapels, notices were now posted by the insurgents, and no man dared to take them down. There was indeed no time to lose.

The clergy naturally ceased to demand their dues; but even those of them who had anything to live upon, found that they were not to be left in peace. It seemed to be intended to drive them from the country. If they had cows, nobody could be found to milk them. Tradesmen who supplied articles to clergymen, found that nobody would buy of them, or even sell to them. Throughout the Catholic rural districts of Ireland, the clergy were dependent now upon the government, or upon private charity, for mere sustenance; while large county meetings in Carlow, Cork, and elsewhere, were passing resolutions, and issuing addresses which were almost alike in matter and form, and of which the following is a fair specimen : 'Resolved, that it is a glaring wrong to compel an impoverished Catholic people to support in pampered luxury the richest clergy in the world-a clergy from whom the Catholics do not experience even the return of common gratitude-a clergy who in times past opposed to the last the political freedom of the Irish people, and at

the present day are opposed to reform and a liberal scheme of education for their countrymen. That ministers of the God of charity should not, by misapplication of all the tithes to their own private uses, thus deprive the poor of their patrimony-nor should ministers of peace adhere with such desperate tenacity to a system fraught with dissension, hatred, and ill-will.' The grievance was real enough-obvious to all who were not blinded by a superstitious worship of man-made law, so as to be . insensible to those ulterior laws which it is impious to disregard. There was indeed no time to lose; but, unhappily, there was no man in power free and bold enough broadly to assert the higher laws: and thus the lower was not withdrawn, but only feebly mended; so that the change was found ineffectual. The work had to be done over again; and the chief part of it-the reduction of the Protestant Church to the needs of the Protestant population-has to be done yet, while Ireland appears as far from being tranquillised as ever.

The act, which bears date June 1, 1832, authorises the lord-lieutenant of Ireland to advance £60,000 to the Irish clergy who could prove themselves unable to collect their tithes for the year 1831. Their claims for that year thus became a debt from the Irish people to the government, recoverable by the powers of government. The claim of the clergy to any former arrears was not to be prejudiced by this act, which was designed, for temporary relief, and to interpose the government between the irritated people The government was to levy the arrears. and the clergy. Many in the House asked at once whether the government would be able to levy the arrears-defeated as it had been in endeavouring to aid the clergy to do so. The bill was proffered under a pledge from government that a tithe commutation should be instituted, which alone could justify the temporary measure of an advance to the clergy. The act passed rapidly through both Houses, and became law on the 1st of June. It was July before the further and permanent measures of government regarding tithes were brought forward; and, as the minister declared, the session was too far advanced to admit of the passage of them all. They were three. The first rendered the exist

[BOOK IV.

ing Tithe Composition Act permanent and compulsory, instead of voluntary, and for a term of twenty-one years. The second constituted the bishop and beneficed clergy of every diocese a corporation for the management of tithe business, whereby individual clergymen would be relieved from the difficulties and dissensions attendant on a prosecution of their own claims. The corporation would levy and distribute the tithe for the diocese. The third provided for the redemption of the tithe by all who might wish to buy up their freedom from the charge. Sixteen years' purchase was the amount proposed; and permission was to be given to possessors of mortgaged and entailed estates to mortgage them further, in the first case, to the extent necessary for this object-such mortgage to have precedence of all that existed before; and, in the other case, to sell as much of the entailed estates as should be necessary for the redemption of the tithe.

This last and most important of the three bills was left over to the next session. It was the wish of ministers to carry the other two; but they succeeded only with the first—the act by which the tithes composition in Ireland was made compulsory and permanent.

The Relief Act would not work. The clergy were as much hated as ever for giving in to the government an account of the arrears of 1831. A clergyman in Tipperary was shot dead on his own lawn. The son of another and his driver were left on the highway-the one dead, the other supposed to be so. The people would not permit the posting of notices of arrears; and in the affrays caused in this process, several lives were lost at different points; and this furnished occasion to O'Connell for cries for vengeance for the Irish blood that was shed-cries which told with prodigious effect. It had been clear to many from the first that this was a game at which government could not play. Defeat, and victory by force of soldiery, were equally fatal. The issue was defeat. Towards the end of the next session, the avowal of ministers in parliament was that out of a sum of £104,285 of arrears due for 1831. government had been able to levy only £12,000; and that amount 'had been collected with great difficulty, and some loss of life.' Government had decided to abandon all

processes under the existing law, and to seek reimbursement in some other form, after having paid to the clergy the arrears of 1832, and the amounts due in the present year; which, together with those of 1831, now reached the sum of about a million. This amount of a million was to be provided by an issue of exchequer bills. This sum supposed a deduction from the claims of the clergy, for the advantage of secure and immediate payment. The reimbursement was to be by means of a general land tax for • a term of years; exemption being granted to those who could prove that they had paid their tithes. These propositions were warmly debated. The Conservatives condemned all concession, and claimed for the Church and clergy the uttermost farthing of their dues. The Irish members condemned the levy of tithe in any form, declared that the government was now regarded as a great tithe-proctor, and hated accordingly; and foretold a repetition, with aggravation, of the outrages of preceding years, on every attempt to levy the land-tax. Many of the liberal party, who yet would not desert the government, complained of the issue of the million under the name of a loan, when everybody knew that it would not prove recoverable, and would be in fact a gift to the Irish Church which they had no inclination to make. The Conservatives yielded, from pity and respect for the suffering clergy; the Liberals from a dislike to embarrass the government; and the Irish members could make no head against so many adversaries. The bill for collecting the arrears of tithes therefore passed the Lords on the 28th of August 1833.

The next year, the subject had to be brought up again. There was infinite mischief in this annual debating on a topic so charged with irritation to all parties; and now, at this late day, came out some facts, which, if they had been understood earlier, as they ought to have been, would have convinced so large a majority of the insufferable irksomeness of the imposition of tithe in Ireland, as to have insured its being got rid of long ago. Mr. Littleton was pow secretary for Ireland; and he made his disclosures, and rendered his account, on the 20th of February.

On the 4th of that month, the king's speech had

recommended a consideration of 'a final adjustment of tithes' in Ireland; and in his remarks on the motion for the address, the Duke of Wellington had said, that the Irish clergy were in precisely the same miserable situation at present that they had been in before the passage of measures for their relief; and he considered that 'that most deserving race of men' was in danger of utter destruction-a statement which was not contradicted by Lord Grey in his reply to the duke's speech. After two years of experiment and debate, the Irish secretary was now compelled to call the attention of parliament to a new measure; but it was to be four years yet before this single point was settled. At the outset of his speech, Mr. Littleton made an avowal which might prudently have been taken to heart before, so as to save years of 'chronic civil war,' much misery of mind, and the loss of many lives. Mr. Littleton begged the House 'to bear in mind. that the statute-book had been loaded with enactments by the legislatures of both countries, for the purpose of giving the proprietors of tithes effectual means to enforce the law. The whole of those enactments had proved ineffectual. Many of them of the most severe description, extending even to capital punishment, had proved utterly useless. No one could wonder at this who heard the statement that followed of the vexatious incidence of the Irish tithe. Owing to the extreme subdivision of land, the amounts were small-sometimes literally beyond expression; and in such cases, the debtor was one who had no money, or ready means of payment, and to whom it was exasperating to be called on, from time to time, for a religious tax, so paltry, and yet so inconvenient and so hurting to his conscience. In a parish in Carlow, the sum owing by 222 defaulters was a farthing each. 'A return of the actual number of defaulters whose debts were under a farthing. and rise by farthings up to a shilling, would exhibit a very large proportion of the gross number. In some instances, the charge upon the land amounted to only seven parts of a farthing. When he informed the committee that many of the smaller sums were payable by three or four persons some idea might be formed of the difficulty of collecting tithes in Ireland. The highest

aggregate charge was against those who owed individually about 2d.; and he would then beg to remind the committee, that it was not so much the sum as the situation of the individual, that rendered these charges oppressive. Twopence to one might be as great an impost as £2 to another. There was another great severity connected with They were not simple. the question of tithes. One proprietor alone did not come to the poor man to demand his tithes; but many, whose interests were irreconcilable and adverse, fastened upon him. There were different kinds of tithes-the vicarial, rectorial, and impropriateall often fastening on the same individual, who was bound to meet the separate demands of each tithe-owner. The opposition to tithes, then, though it might receive an impulse from agitation, was not to be wholly traced to that source. There was a deeper source in the severity of the impost itself.' This was all very true; the disaster was, that it had not been known sooner. Such had been the state of the case during preceding years of legislation; during years when the Irish were called purely ungrateful, because the Emancipation Act did not tranquillise them. A quieter procedure on their part would have been wiser and more virtuous; but there was also little wisdom in the expectation that quietness would rise up and spread among an excitable and long-injured people, while a grievance like this was ignored by a government which called itself liberal, and friendly to Ireland. Now that the ministers had at last discovered that they had grievance. as well as agitation, to deal with, the method in which they proposed to deal with it was this-that all compositions for tithes should cease from the 1st of next November; and that the amount should be paid in the form of an annual land-tax to the king, who should cause provision to be made out of it, in land or money, for the This land-tax was to be clergy and other tithe-owners. Mr. O'Connell, and other members from redeemable. Ireland, vehemently opposed this proposal, reasonably alleging that it would merely establish the same impost under another name. They did not succeed now in delaying the introduction of the bill; but on the 30th of July when it was in committee, Mr. O'Connell had his revenge VOL. III. n

33

recommended a consideration of 'a final adjustment of tithes' in Ireland; and in his remarks on the motion for the address, the Duke of Wellington had said, that the Irish clergy were in precisely the same miserable situation at present that they had been in before the passage of measures for their relief; and he considered that 'that most deserving race of men' was in danger of utter destruction-a statement which was not contradicted by Lord Grey in his reply to the duke's speech. After two years of experiment and debate, the Irish secretary was now compelled to call the attention of parliament to a new measure; but it was to be four years yet before this single point was settled. At the outset of his speech, Mr. Littleton made an avowal which might prudently have been taken to heart before, so as to save years of 'chronic civil war,' much misery of mind, and the loss of many lives. Mr. Littleton begged the House 'to bear in mind. that the statute-book had been loaded with enactments by the legislatures of both countries, for the purpose of giving the proprietors of tithes effectual means to enforce the law. The whole of those enactments had proved ineffectual. Many of them of the most severe description, extending even to capital punishment, had proved utterly useless. No one could wonder at this who heard the statement that followed of the vexatious incidence of the Irish tithe. Owing to the extreme subdivision of land, the amounts were small-sometimes literally beyond expression; and in such cases, the debtor was one who had no money, or ready means of payment, and to whom it was exasperating to be called on, from time to time, for a religious tax, so paltry, and yet so inconvenient and so hurting to his conscience. In a parish in Carlow, the sum owing by 222 defaulters was a farthing each. 'A return of the actual number of defaulters whose debts were under a farthing. and rise by farthings up to a shilling, would exhibit a very large proportion of the gross number. In some instances, the charge upon the land amounted to only seven parts of a farthing. When he informed the committee that many of the smaller sums were payable by three or four persons some idea might be formed of the difficulty of collecting tithes in Ireland. The highest

aggregate charge was against those who owed individually about 2d.; and he would then beg to remind the committee, that it was not so much the sum as the situation of the individual, that rendered these charges oppressive. Twopence to one might be as great an impost as £2 to another. There was another great severity connected with the question of tithes. They were not simple. One proprietor alone did not come to the poor man to demand his tithes; but many, whose interests were irreconcilable and adverse, fastened upon him. There were different kinds of tithes-the vicarial, rectorial, and impropriateall often fastening on the same individual, who was bound to meet the separate demands of each tithe-owner. The opposition to tithes, then, though it might receive an impulse from agitation, was not to be wholly traced to that source. There was a deeper source in the severity of the impost itself.' This was all very true; the disaster was, that it had not been known sooner. Such had been the state of the case during preceding years of legislation; during years when the Irish were called purely ungrateful, because the Emancipation Act did not tranquillise them. A quieter procedure on their part would have been wiser and more virtuous; but there was also little wisdom in the expectation that quietness would rise up and spread among an excitable and long-injured people, while a grievance like this was ignored by a government which called itself liberal, and friendly to Ireland. Now that the ministers had at last discovered that they had grievance. as well as agitation, to deal with, the method in which they proposed to deal with it was this-that all compositions for tithes should cease from the 1st of next November; and that the amount should be paid in the form of an annual land-tax to the king, who should cause provision to be made out of it, in land or money, for the clergy and other tithe-owners. This land-tax was to be Mr. O'Connell, and other members from redeemable. Ireland, vehemently opposed this proposal, reasonably alleging that it would merely establish the same impost under another name. They did not succeed now in delaying the introduction of the bill; but on the 30th of July when it was in committee, Mr. O'Connell had his revenge VOL. III. D

for the moment. He objected to the proposal that government should recover the amount of the tithes; said that they would never succeed in taming the Irish people by pretending to throw salt on the tails of the landlords; and moved that the tithes should be made payable immediately from the landlords to the clergy, after being reduced 40 per cent. This motion was in the form of an amendment to the third clause of the bill; and it was carried by a very large majority—the numbers being 82 to 33.

After taking time to consider, the ministers determined to go on with the bill. They never would have proposed a large reduction in the incomes of the Irish clergy; but as the House of Commons had declared itself broadly in favour of such a reduction, and it would facilitate the settling of the system, they could have no objection. And they believed that the clergy-to whom individually the reduction would be only 221 per cent.-would be willing and thankful to receive that amount, in consideration of the security, punctuality, and peaceableness which would now attend the payments. The lord chancellor put it to the Peers, when the bill came before them, whether any one of them deriving a nominal income of £100,000 from his estates, would not be very glad to receive in gold, on a certain day, without a chance of disappointment, £77,500, with a release from all disputes, pains, and penalties, from bad or impoverished tenants. If their own bishops were to be believed, however, the great majority of the Irish clergy were hostile to the measure. In that case—if they were still able and disposed to stand out, under the risk of Irish outrage, for the full hire of their spiritual service---the compassion of parliament was thrown away upon them, and that of the nation must be reserved for the suffering minority of the clergy, who were ready to sacrifice something for peace, and to avoid causing their brother to offend. But even these more high-minded sufferers were not to be aided yet. On the motion for the second reading in the Lords, Lord Ellenborough moved that the bill should be read that day six months, and threw it out by a majority of 67 out of 311 votes, by proxy or present. The Bishops who were in favour of the measure were those of Derry, Chichester, and Norwich. On the other side were

the Archbishops of Canterbury and Cashel, and nineteen bishops. The division showed that the spiritual peers were quite of Lord Melbourne's opinion—which was earnestly expressed—as to the unspeakable importance of the measure; only they took an opposite view of it. It was but for a short time, for within five years they had to yield; and meanwhile, their conduct, whether attributed to pride, to greed, to enmity to the Catholic Irish, or merely to such narrowness of view as ill becomes legislators, went as far to impair the dignity and influence of the Church among those who watched the case, as their success in throwing out the Reform Bill three years before.

Thus ended in failure the endeavour of the Whig administration to deal with the Irish tithe question: a difficulty so radical as to require radical treatment, as has been since practically acknowledged. The effect of merely tampering with it was very disastrous: the government was foiled; the clergy sank into a deeper slough of popular hatred; and the Irish Church lost every year more of its dignity in the eyes of its own well-wishers.

The great question of its preservation in any form had now for some time been discussed; and so discussed that it was necessary for the administration of the time-whatever it might be-to take up the argument. Everybody knew that the chief incitement to the repeal agitation was the hope of getting rid of the Church. The Tories were disposed to defy the repeal cry, and all agitation, and to uphold the dues of the Church, even to the last penny of church-cess, and the smallest fraction of a farthing of tithe. A large number of the Liberal party were for so abating the Irish Church as to throw its maintenance upon its own members, and reduce its ministers to some proportion to their flocks. The endeavour of the administration was to keep a middle course between these extreme parties. In 1833, the government proposed to empower a board of ecclesiastical commissioners, by act of parliament, to make extensive changes in the Irish Church, which, it was hoped, would be so manifestly for the advantage of all parties as to secure a sufficient support in parliament.

It appears, by a census purposely taken in 1834, that the proportion of the numbers of the Protestant Church

35

in Ireland to that of Catholics and Dissenters was this: The Catholics were 6,436,060; the members of the Established Church were 853,160; and the Dissenters, 665,540 —that is, while the Catholics were above 80 per cent., the Church Protestants were just above 10, and the Dissenters 8, per cent. The revenues of this Church were £865,525 —above £1 per head of its members! There were nearly 1400 benefices—of which forty-one did not contain a single Protestant; twenty had under five, and 165 contained under five-and-twenty. In 157 benefices, no service was performed, the incumbent being an absentee. There were four archbishops and eighteen bishops for this little flock. It was impossible that such a Church could long be endured in a country so peopled; and the reductions now proposed by government were very considerable.

Two archbishops and ten bishops were to be the last of their name. Their dioceses were to be united with others as opportunity arose; and on the death of the primate, the income of his see was to be reduced from £14,500 to £10,000. Deans and chapters were no longer to enjoy dignity without work. They were to be abolished, or to undertake the cure of souls. Sinecure benefices were to be endured no longer; the commissioners might suspend the appointment of ministers who had not done duty for three years before. The first-fruits, which were a trouble and grievance producing little return, were to be abolished. and replaced by a tax on benefices and episcopal incomes. rising in its percentage from the smallest benefice not under £200 a year, to the vast incomes of some of the bishops; the humble livings paying 5 per cent., and any episcopal income exceeding £1,500 a year, 15 per cent. It was expected that by the sum thus raised-about £69,000 s year-a sufficient provision would be secured for the repair of churches and conducting of the service, so that the odious impost of church-cess might be abolished, its amount being estimated at £70,000 a year. The one remaining point was that which occasioned the fiercest disputes; disputes which lasted for a course of years, and are certainly destined to be renewed hereafter. In opening the scheme of government for altering-to the advantage of all other parties without injury to the clergy-the terms for letting the lands of the

Church, Lord Althorp did not conceal his opinion that any additional funds accruing from such change of management were fairly to be considered state funds, applicable to general state purposes. Supposing the Church left where she was before—deprived of nothing present or future—the profits of any improvement suggested and achieved by the government might be claimed by the government for the good of the state. The amount anticipated from this source was about, or nearly, three millions.

The government were anxious to lose no time, 'under existing circumstances,' in carrying this bill. It was brought in on the 11th of March. There was debate about the time of the second reading, and one of those mistakes to which the present ministry seemed to be doomed ; so that a delay of many weeks ensued. This was a tax-bill, and it was necessary to introduce it in a committee of the whole House; and thus, as the point had to be argued, the ministers to be convicted of error, and the whole matter gone over again, it was the 6th of May before it reached the second reading. It was then very nearly dismissed a second time, on account of an oversight of ministers in reciting a message from the king which had never been delivered to parliament; but the speaker decided that the objectors should have brought forward their point before the first reading, and must now wait till the bill was in committee, by which time the necessary message from the king might be received. The majority on this occasion was large in favour of the measure-many members, however, giving notice that they should ultimately oppose it, unless it was decided in committee that all accruing funds whatsoever should be devoted to ecclesiastical purposes. It was in vain that government explained that the fund from new church leases should be applied to educational and other objects which ought to be those of the Church. That provision was expunged from the bill in committee. It was also decreed that the tax on clerical incomes should date only from the death of the present incumbents. With these alterations, the bill passed the Lower House, on the 8th of July 1833, by a majority of 274 to 94; a proportion which shows how much stronger was the apprehension of danger from Ireland, than the cry,

loud as it was, about confiscation of the property of the Church.

The Peers were believed to intend to make a vigorous rally against this very important bill, with whose passage the existence of the ministry was understood to be bound up. On a recent occasion, when the Reform Bill had been in danger, a well-timed vote of the Commons of confidence in ministers had been found of service; and it was now proposed again to intimate to the Peers that the Commons had a very decided will in regard to the reformation of the Irish Church. Sir J. Wrottesley, after due notice, and in opposition to the entreaties of ministers, moved for a call of the House on the 17th of July—the day of the second reading in the Lords; and he was nearly successful—125 voting with him, and 160 against him.

The opposition in the Lords was strong, but not effectual. The support given to the measure was somewhat grudging; but it was sufficient-no doubt for the reason assigned, in a few remarkable words, by the Earl of Wicklow for his share in carrying the bill through. 'He could not be taken to be a supporter of ministers because he meant to vote for their present measure. He conceived that every act of theirs bore upon it the stamp of revolution-the present no less than others; but he would for that very reason vote for the present bill, because, if he did not, he might on a future occasion-like him with the books of the Sibyl-have to pay a higher price for less value.' The Duke of Wellington who had more reason than most men to know what to dread from Irish discontent, supported the bill, on condition of certain amendments; and all went well, except that ministers were outvoted on the point of the disposal of the revenues of suspended appointments. By a majority of two it was decided that such revenues should be applied to the repairs of the church and glebe-house; and then, any surplus should go into the hands of the commissioners. After consideration, Lord Grey and his colleagues determined not to throw up the bill for the sake of this one point. It passed, on the 30th of July, by a majority of 54, out of 216 votes, and in the midst of a vigorous recording of protests by alarmed peers. Of these protests, the most remarkable one

is that of the Duke of Cumberland, who reverts to the old ground—by that time forgotten by every one else—of the coronation oath, of which he declares this measure a clear violation. The commissioners appointed under the bill were the Primate of Ireland and Archbishop of Dublin, the lord chancellor and chief-justice of Ireland, and four of the Irish bishops. Their powers were great; and it was confidently hoped that they would be put to vigorous use. But no one supposed that anything that they could do would finally settle the difficulty of the Irish Church; and it would be so long before the relief of their measures could be practically feit, that much might happen meantime.

Though the state of Ireland was less disturbed, in the course of a few months, the agitation for repeal went on so vigorously that the royal speech made express reference to it at the opening of the session of 1834, and both Houses of parliament replied in a special address; it being well understood by all parties that the Church grievance supplied the whole body and spirit of the agitation. Men who agreed that the fact was so, were far from agreeing as to what should be done; and none differed more irreconcilably than the members of the cabinet, as events presently showed.

In the preceding year Mr. Stanley had ceased to be Irish secretary, having entered the cabinet as colonial secretary, when Lord Goderich became Earl of Ripon, with the office of lord privy seal. It was at that time that Mr. Littleton (since Lord Hatherton) became Irish secretary, and entered upon the warfare which his office imposed upon any one compelled daily to hold a sort of conservative ground against Mr. O'Connell and his friends in the House. Towards Mr. Stanley the Irish members had been to the last degree fierce; and he was not of a temper to keep the peace under provocation, or so made as to conceal the disgust and contempt from which he has ever appeared to suffer, as from a chronic malady, all the days of his life. What the colonies might have to say to the change would be known in due course; meantime, it was a comfort to the ministers to see a good-tempered man, who seemed to be liked by the Irish members, in the place of one who was so vehemently hated by them. The difference of opinion in

the cabinet about the power of the state over any new revenues of the Irish Church, was of less consequence, as the chief of the minority-who called such a doctrine a plan of confiscation-was now occupied with colonial The difference might for some time longer have affairs. caused nothing more serious than preparatory discussion, but for the subject of the Irish Church being brought up by Mr. Ward, member for St. Albans, on the 27th of May, in a motion for the reduction of its establishment, as it exceeded the spiritual wants of the Protestant population, and as it is the right of the state to regulate the distribution of church-property, in such manner as parliament may determine. The motion was seconded by Mr. Grote, one of the members for London, who had scarcely begun to address the House when Lord Althorp received some information which induced him, at the close of Mr. Grote's speech, to request the House to adjourn the debate from the present Tuesday to the Monday following. On this question-of the right of the state over any proceeds of church-property-the administration could not bear a touch. The news which had reached Lord Althorp was that the leaders of the minority in the cabinet-Mr. Stanley and Sir James Graham-had resigned. They had hurried on their court-dresses, and gone to the king, to surrender office. Their example was immediately followed by Lord Ripon and the Duke of Richmond. The single Tory, and two 'Canningites,' were now gone; and the ministry, being wholly Liberal-or supposed to be socould henceforth work more freely. Such was the speculation in the House of Commons, in Lombard Street, and in Ireland. Lord Auckland went to the Admiralty; Mr. Spring Rice to the Colonial Office; and the privy seal was held by Lord Carlisle. Mr. Poulett Thomson at the same time became president, instead of vice-president, of the Board of Trade ; and the Marquis of Conyngham succeeded the Duke of Richmond at the Post-office.

The opponents of a liberal policy knew what was the weakest point of the administration—of this administration, as of several that had preceded; the timidity and deficient ability of the king. They lost no time in attacking this weak point. The day after the debate had been

so strangely interrupted was the king's birthday festival; and the Irish bishops went up to the throne with an address, signed most numerously by Irish prelates and clergy, deprecating changes in the establishment. Whether the King's mind was overfull of the subject before, so as to flow out at the first touch of his feelings, or whether any circumstance at the moment tempted him away from the ordinary practice in replying to such addresses, there is no saying; but he poured out a set of sentiments, ideas, and promises, which placed himself and his government in a position of great embarrassment, and grievously aggravated the prevalent excitement. This extraordinary speech began with the words: 'I now remember you have a right to require of me to be resolute in defence of the Church.' The king went on to assure the eagerly listening clergy that the Church of England and Ireland should be preserved unimpaired by him; and that, if any of the inferior arrangements in the discipline of the Irish Church required amendment—' which, however, he greatly doubted -he hoped it would be left to the bishops to correct them, without interference on any hand. He was completing his sixty-ninth year, and must prepare to leave the world with a conscience clear in regard to the maintenance of the Church.' 'I have spoken more strongly than usual,'he said in conclusion, with tears running down his cheeks. ' because of unhappy circumstances that have forced themselves upon the observation of all. The threats of those who are enemies of the Church make it the more necessary for those who feel their duty to that Church to speak out. The words which you hear from me are, indeed, spoken by my mouth, but they flow from my heart.' He had, somewhat unnecessarily, assured his hearers that his speech was not a prepared one, got by heart, but uttered from the feeling of the moment. As such an indiscretion must be infinitely embarrassing to his ministers, the utmost pains were taken to scatter this speech through the country without the delay of an hour, that the House of Commons and the ministers might be overawed before the renewal of the debate on Mr. Ward's motion, the next Monday.

Meantime, the ministers did not resign. They had had experience before of the weakness of the king, and did not think it right to give up the country to be governed by the leaders of the minority, under a sovereign who could not help agreeing with the last speaker, and who was always impetuous on behalf of his latest impression. The ministers did not resign; but the general conviction of their insecurity in office was so strong that Mr. Ward declined to withdraw his motion, saying that the assertion of its principle was made doubly important by the probability that men would presently be in power who would need such a check from the legislature. During the week, it had become known that Lord Grey had declared that he had neither nerve nor spirits for the vigorous reconstruction of the cabinet; and that his predominant wish-to have Lord Durham there—had been overborne by the lord chancellor and Lord Lansdowne. Two addresses to the premier had been presented on the part of members of the House of Commons: the one, a declaration of confidence in Lord Grey; the other, prepared after the intrigues in the cabinet had become known, expressive of dissatisfaction at the discountenance of popular principles in the new appointments. The ministerial papers themselves openly warned the nation that the government was only 'patched up,' to get through the session ; and that, before the year was out, unless the matter were looked to in time, the nation would be at the mercy of the court, which was itself in the hands of the Church.

•Under such circumstances, Mr. Ward refused to withdraw his motion. He was probably aware that Mr. Hume was about to quote a letter from Lord Anglesea to the premier, in which he insisted on a large reform of the Church as absolutely essential to the peace of Ireland; and he could quote as a sanction to his motion the words of Lord Althorp himself, a few months before: 'If, by any act of the legislature, new value can be given to any property belonging to the Church, that new value will not properly belong to the Church, because it is an acquisition dependent on such act of the legislature, and may be appropriated immediately to the use of the state.' Mr. Ward's anxiety was to reassert this principle; and pitiable was the position of Lord Althorp, if he was really about to evade that declaration of his own. His position was

pitiable. He was wont to say, with his good-humoured smile, that it was hard upon him to force him to be a statesman, when nature had made him a grazier; and the lot was doubly hard which threw him into a cabinet where there was no power of will, no enlightened union, no combined working faculty, to sustain the efficiency and dignity of the government when the appui of popular will and popular dictation was withdrawn. Lord Grey was aged, worn, and weary; Lord Lansdowne was for taking a middle course, and evading difficulties, on all occasions whatever. Mr. Stanley had aggravated all existing difficulties, and created many new ones, by his porcupine demeanour; and the whole administration was kept in perpetual hot water by the intrigues and indiscretions of the lord chancellor. Thus disunited among themselves, struggling in a slough of difficulties, where no one could help another, and the people withdrawing from them further and further every day, they contradicted themselves and each other, gave pledges and forgot or dropped them, strove in the first place always to evade difficulties which they had not faculty or influence to overcome, had long lost their popularity, and stood a spectacle of weakness to the weak sovereign himself. Thus, Lord Althorp's position on the evening of the 2nd of June was truly a pitiable one.

By prodigious exertion, a plan for a commission of inquiry respecting the Irish Church had been framed, and commissioners found, by the Monday morning. In the afternoon, a council of the supporters of the cabinet was held in Downing Street, at which the procedure of the evening was determined on. Mr. Ward was to be outvoted at any risk, as his success would bring on a decision of the perilous question about church-property, cause the dissolution of the ministry, and, no doubt, a general election, in which the Church and State question would be the watchword. The supporters of the ministry knew that their constituents were in a mood which it would not be pleasant to encounter; and they were thankful to learn that government had provided a means of escape from either affirming or denving Mr. Ward's principle.

When they went to the House, they found it surrounded by a crowd, and so filled that it was difficult for them to

make their way to their seats. Mr Ward's speech was brief, courteous, but firm. Lord Althorp then announced the intention of the government to issue a special commission of inquiry, composed of laymen, which should visit every parish in Ireland, and report its population, under the heads of the three religions, its spiritual provisions, and its ecclesiastical revenues. The Church party regarded the measure as merely a preparation for 'confiscation;' and the Liberals saw no occasion for further evidence on a point of fact which was undisputed, while the principle which was the point of dispute was passed over in silence, and nothing gained by this device but more time for the government to shuffle on. Lord Althorp declared that the commission was in fact already issued; that he saw no necessity for parliament to pronounce on the principle of Mr. Ward's motion, and that he should move the previous question. This he did, and obtained an overwhelming majority-of 276 in a House of 516.

In the other House, the premier had to run the gauntlet between the lines of objectors to the new commission; and there really was no good answer to give to the complaint that the ecclesiastical commission of the preceding year had been agreed to on the supposition of its being a final measure, and that no one had dreamed of its being overridden by another commission, before it had had time to show how it The true answer to this would have would do its work. been, that the ministers were as far from dreaming of such a thing as anybody else, till recent perplexities had put it into their heads. From this moment, the ministers were incessantly called on for explanations of their views on this great subject of the appropriation of church revenues by the state; and on different occasions they expressed themselves with varying degrees of explicitness. On the 23rd of June, Mr. O'Connell moved an instruction to the committee on the Tithe Bill, that whatever surplus remained, after the wants of the Protestant Church were duly provided for, should be applied to purposes of general utility -which he explained to mean, not the making of roads and bridges, but purposes of charity and of education. in whose benefits the needy of all faiths should share alike. On this occasion, Lord John Russell and Lord Althorp

declared their agreement with Mr. O'Connell, if the ground were taken that these purposes were of a religious character, leaving open the question whether such funds could be applied—by not only legal right, for that was clear. but by moral and equitable right-to secular purposes. The question was thus transferred to a new ground-the shaking bog of metaphysics, on which it would be for ever impossible for any legislature to decide and act. It is no subject for legislation whether charity and education are religious or secular works; nor can it be settled whether parliament, having a clear legal right to dispose of any funds, must have a proved moral and equitable right also; nor how a moral and equitable right is provable, or even assignable, otherwise than by affirming or repealing the legal right. The only thing clear was that nothing could be actually done in the matter, for the relief of the Irish Catholics, and the satisfaction of the discontented throughout the kingdom, while the war was one of metaphysical distinctions.

The whole bearing and importance of this question in 1834 can hardly be understood without taking a view of the condition of religion and the Church in England at that date. This will presently come before us, when we shall have to show what were the views and aims of the Whig administration in this direction. The story of what they achieved during their present term of office is nearly concluded; and we see them now in a position of perplexity and weakness which it is clear they could not long maintain. They must obtain more strength or sink.

In the preceding year, a bill had been passed which conferred extraordinary powers on the lord-lieutenant of Ireland, for putting down the fearful disturbances of that country. Among the provisions of that bill were two of eminent importance; that of suspending the ordinary course of justice in favour of martial law, and of prohibiting political meetings and discussions. The bill was reported by the Irish authorities to have worked well; and to the premier's mind it was clear that it ought to be renewed on its expiration in August 1834, with the omission only of the portion relating to martial law. To others, however, the expediency was not so clear; and it appears that the same want of confidence between the members of the government, or other causes of disunion, existed in regard to this as to other measures; for it is scarcely possible to donbt, among much conflicting evidence, that up to a certain day, it was not the intention of government to renew the Coercion Bill entire, except as to martial law, but to leave out that portion relating to public meetings, which most exasperated the wrath of Mr. O'Connell. Mr. Littleton, the Irish secretary, certainly relied upon this; and he sent for Mr. O'Connell to assure him of this agreeable prospect, hoping, as Mr. Littleton himself avowed, to deter O'Connell from agitating on occasion of the pending Wexford election. The communication was made under the seal of secrecy.. It is hard to know whether to wonder most at the simplicity which supposed that O'Connell was to be trusted with a political secret, or at the folly of imagining that political secrets of such weight can be kept, except among confederates. Mr. O'Connell explained how he conceived himself relieved from obligation to secrecy, and revealed the awkward fact that Mr. Littleton had told him that the Irish government was opposed to the renewal of the Coercion Bill. The agitator had immediately caused the repeal candidate for Wexford to retire; and, when it was too late, he received a message from Mr. Littleton, that the government intended to enforce the whole Coercion Bill, except the part relating to martial law. He was naturally indignant, declared himself tricked out of the Wexford election, called upon the Irish secretary to retire, and told the whole story in the House-inciting his opponent to deliver his version first. On inquiry in the other House, the premier and the lord chancellor declared, the next evening, that they knew nothing of any negotiations between the Irish secretary and Mr. O'Connell, and that they did not believe that any such had taken place. Great must have been their astonishment when they read the secretary's own statement of the transaction, which was not so materially different from Mr. O'Connell's as to exempt him from the charge of 'gross indiscretion.' His plea for the change of the policy of the cabinet was that new circumstances became known to government, which justified a renewal of the provisions against political meetings : but, as he did not explain what those circumstances were.

the plea did not improve his case. The general impression was, that he had been sincere, but most unwise; that he ought to have resigned office, on such a conviction of indiscretion; and that the affairs of the nation could no longer be safely confided to an administration so ill combined, and whose proceedings were so desultory and immature.

To the premier, the affair must have been deeply wounding; and it proved to be fatal to his political life. He was aware, as we know by Lord Althorp's explanations, that a valuable minority in his cabinet were of the same opinion with the lord-lieutenant-namely, that the clauses. against public meetings in Ireland need not be re-enacted; and that this minority had yielded the point only to avoid breaking up the cabinet; and now that Mr. O'Connell had been admitted by the Irish secretary to a peep at this state of things-he, of all men !-what remained of dignity or efficiency to his government? When he moved the second reading of the Coercion Bill on the 4th of July, he spoke low and hurriedly. His son-in-law, Lord Durham, opposed the re-enactment of the clauses against political meetings, in words as few and moderate as his honest convictions permitted; and his opposition was received with a good grace by the minister; but it was one of the incidents which wrought against the tottering government.

This was on Friday night. On Saturday, Mr. Littleton tendered his resignation. It was not accepted-indignant as Lord Grev had declared himself about the transaction with Mr. O'Connell. It was supposed that there was little hope of filling up the vacancy, in a perilous crisis, with an able man who was sure of a seat in the House-so deep was now the unpopularity of the Whig ministry. But on Monday Lord Althorp resigned, and would not be persuaded to remain in office. High as his character stood for honesty and courage, he was aware that it would not sustain him under the odium of carrying through the Commons such a Coercion Bill as he was now universally known to have condemned in council. He persisted in retiring; and then Lord Grey saw no other course than resigning too. By Lord Althorp's retirement, he lost his best colleague; the Coercion Bill would have no authority now, if even he could pass it; and if he relinquished it, . his belief was well known to be that Ireland could not be governed without it. On Tuesday he presented his resignation to the king.

On Wednesday evening, the last act was to be done. The old statesman, now in his seventy-first year, had to take leave of power. He was worn and weakened by the toils and responsibilities of office, and he was conscious of having fallen somewhat behind the time-earnest as he was in saying that the times went too fast, and not he too The close of his term of power was mortifying, if slow. not ignoble, in its character-affording but too much incitement to the taunts and vindictiveness of adversariestaunts and triumphs which were not spared even on this occasion. Twice he rose and murmured a few words, stopped, and sank down upon his seat. The House cheered him, but he seemed unable to rise. The Duke of Wellington occupied a few minutes in presenting petitions, in order to give Lord Grey time to recover himself. When the old man rose a third time, he spoke feebly and tremulously; but he gathered strength as he proceeded, and so spoke as to interest all feelings, of friend or foe, except where, as in the cases of the Duke of Wellington and the lord chancellor, an overpowering fear for the Church and other institutions, and personal regards, hardened the heart and closed the mind against reverent emotions and clear convictions, which were shared by all others who had the privilege to hear. The duke naturally fired up at the implied charge of vacillation against his brother, the lord-lieutenant of Ireland, in regard to the Coercion Bill; and it was natural that, with a brotherly feeling for Lord Wellesley's responsibilities, he should vehemently assert that Lord Grey's resignation, being unnecessary, was a desertion of his sovereign; but the rest of the speech, in which he reviewed the measures of Lord Grey's government, was nothing short of malignant. One circumstance which could not be overlooked at the time, and cannot pass unnoticed by the reader of our day, is its perfect likeness, in conception and spirit, to Lord Grey's speech against Canning, which fixed the deepest arrow of the flight under which he sank. Lord Grey was less unhappy than Canning in being present to hear what was said of him, instead of

learning it from others and being unable to reply; and again, the duke had not power so to express himself as to wound so deeply as Lord Grey; and thus the retribution was not severe, but it must have sorely embittered the parting moment. It is bitter even to the impartial reader to witness these displays of infirmity-of that deep-seated infirmity which weakens the moral force of three such men as these-rendering them unable, not only to appreciate each other's course, but to wait with patience to see the results-asking Time to be the arbiter, who will be the arbiter in spite of them. The lord chancellor's speech drew off the hearers from the painful feelings excited by the duke, or gave others in their place. There was abundant laudation of Lord Grey-such as it required courage to offer, face to face, to such a man; but with it a clear rebuke to him for resigning; and upon this followed a sentence or two which, grave as was the occasion, caused shouts of laughter-there being few present who did not know something of the state of the king's mind towards the ministers, who were so formidably reforming the Church against his will. The lord chancellor ' felt that he should not discharge his duty if, at all sacrifice of his comfort-at all abandonment of his own ease-at the destruction, if so it might be, of his own peace of mind, he did not stand by that gracious monarch and that country whose support-whose cordial and hearty support-he had received during the three years and a half of which he had been a member of the government. After having said this, he need not add that he had not tendered his resignation.' When the laughter permitted him to be again heard, he asked : 'Did their lordships think that there was anything very peculiarly merry or amusing in being minister at the present time?' No: in the contempt into which this administration had long been falling, there was nothing that was not painful to all sound-hearted men, of every party.

Lord Grey, in his speech, requested a fair judgment from those who thought he had committed errors, and did not anticipate any charge of indifference to principle or deviation from honour. He might well feel this security. Brighter honour never shone through any statesman's life: a nobler consistency never crowned a statesman's career. VOL. III,

On this not a syllable need be said; for with him, throughout his life, the word answered to the thought; and he possessed the deep secret of high honour, in other people's feelings being to him as his own. His honour was not of the nice and sensitive character which springs from egotism, and has therefore a dash of cowardice in it: it was of the brave and healthy sort which needs no special care, but flourishes best by thinking seldom of itself. The only approach to a doubt on this part of Lord Grey's character was caused by his profuse distribution of office among his relations; and he thought, with great simplicity, that he had disposed of this complaint in his speech of this night, by asking whether these many relations did not do their work well, and declaring that the family connection generally had grown, not richer, but poorer, since they came into office. Could such a man overlook the truth that it is unfair to exclude others from office by filling departments with members of one family, and detrimental to the interests of the state to have in its departments an overruling cast of ideas and feelings? Did he not know how strong was the national response to Canning when he complained of the monopoly of government by 'a few great families?' And could such a man suppose that the complainants were thinking only of the salaries that his relations engrossed, and not of the honours, powers, occupations, and dignities of office? This was one of the 'errors' with which he anticipated that he might be charged. And it is difficult to charge him with any other; for the rest was not error but incapacity; an induced incapacity, with which he was afflicted-and the nation through him-through the evil operation of aristocratic station, uncorrected by timely political labour, and the extensive intercourses which are a privilege attendant upon it. He knew no more of the British people than he did of the Spaniards or the Germans. He did not see the scope of his own Reform Bill, and could not bear the consequences of his own greatest act-the fruition of the aim of his whole life. When he had himself taken up the House of Lords in his hand, broken its fastenings, and set it down in a lower place, he insisted that it was still where it was before; and he 'would stand by his order'

against any who declared to the contrary. He governed with a feeble and uncertain hand, because he could not freely throw his mind into the common stock with his colleagues, or induce them to do the same. He respected them-valued them-graced them-but could not make common cause with them. And he fell by insisting on coercing speech in Ireland, when the ruler of Ireland offered to govern that country without a power so stringent, and his own 'best arm' in the cabinet, and some other valuable members, were opposed to the act of despotism. It was needless to protest that he acted from his conscience. Nobody doubted his doing so, in all his political acts. The question was whether his conscience was illumined by the best lights of intelligence. When the grand inquisitor declared that he acted from conscientious love of his victims; when Francis of Austria and Metternich declared that the Spielberg prisoners were tortured, body and mind, for the sake of the nation; when the Duke of York pleaded conscience for his intended rigour towards the Catholics-nobody doubted the sincerity of the men. The question was whether their consciences could be permitted to overrule those of a multitude of other men. And so, in a much milder way, was it now in the case of Lord Grey. The question was, whether speech was to be coerced in Ireland because Lord Grey conscientiously believed it ought. Mr. Littleton expressed in the Commons, on this same night, a remorse which it was painful to witness for the act by which he had compelled the decision. It was natural that he should do so, but there were few or none who thought, in a little while, that the event was to be lamented. It was not only that the cabinet could not have stood for any length of time; it was that the manner of Lord Grey's fall, however mortifying to his friends and his party, and pathetic in all eyes, was instructive, alike as a comment on the past and a warning for the future. And for himself-his lot was not hard, though less brilliant than it had been. He was nowhere blamed for any fault but that which perhaps he had no great objection to be charged with-an excess of the aristocratic spirit. He retired, amidst universal, if not unmingled sympathy and respect, to enjoy the repose which his years required, in E 2

the bosom of a family by whom he was adored. He had had the last experience of civic glory; and he was now to find how much more he enjoyed the serene household glories of a home like his.

CHAPTER X.

Religious Crisis—The Tractarians—The Evangelical Party—Death of Wilberforce—Of Hannah More—Moderate Church Party—Opening of Universities to Dissenters—The Church in Danger—Church Reform—Lord Henley—Dr. Arnold—The Dissenters—Government Circular—Perplexities of Ministers—Admission of Quakers to Parliament—Continued Exclusion of Jews—Deaths of Robert Hall— Rowland Hill—Charles Wesley—Adam Clarke—Rammohun Roy— Dr. Doyle—Schism in the Scotch Church—Irving, St. Simonism— Proposed Ecclesiastical Commission.

THE period under review, memorable on many accounts, is for nothing more so than for the perturbations of its religious life. How long the crisis might have been deferred, and what would have been its issue, if the war had been protracted, it is impossible to divine. It was after seventeen years of peace, and with the reforms of a peace-period for its proximate cause, that it actually occurred; and sooner or later it must have occurred, under any conditions of the secular life of the nation. As it was, the perturbation was so extraordinary, and to those who were timid by constitution or by creed so fearful, that it seemed as if the fountains of the deeps of men's minds were broken up. Amidst the deluge of conflicting theologies and wills, the administration and parliament drifted helplessly and blindly; and it was clear that no good steering was to be expected from them, nor any discovery of dry land where the struggling minds of men might find a footing and rest. Such crises are, as the clear-sighted of all parties admit, an inevitable consequence of a union of Church and State. The firmest friends of that union admit this without hesitation, while declaring the advantages of such an arrangement to preponderate

over the occasional inconvenience and risk. As time passes on, and those changes are wrought which never cease, the terms of the union must be remodelled, and newly risen questions must be settled, while it is quite certain that the ministers of the state will not be able fully to enter into the views of those of the Church; and the ministers of the Church must inevitably despise and be shocked at the statesman's views of religious claims and affairs.

When the critical period of indispensable change arrives. all difficulties are aggravated-in the instance of England and her Establishment-by the perpetual existence of three parties within that Church, whose views and habit of mind differ too widely to admit of a peaceable co-existence for any length of time in a Protestant Establishment: though the Romish Church is able, in such a case, to include and occupy them all, without controversy and confusion. This weighty fact has been adverted to before, in connection with the first manifestation of the great disturbance which was now to reach its height for the time-that is, when the controversy on the Peterborough questions took place in 1821. That first instance of revived High-Church domination over faith took the nation by surprise; the oppressed clergy petitioned parliament for relief and justice: almost every voice that was raised at all was raised against the claim of the bishop; and there was one circumstance in the case that was never forgotten, and will never be forgotten-that no bishop but the one appealed against opened his lips upon the subject, though every endeavour was used in the House of Lords to make the prelates speak. Clear as it was to all that they were in parliament for the very purpose of guiding the state in such affairs as this, their constrained and ignoble silence showed that they were unprepared for the great controversy, just then opening, between the claims of the Church and the Protestant doctrine of liberty of opinion.

Twelve years elapsed between that discussion in parliament and the reduction of the Irish Church by the administration of Lord Grey. In the interval, rumours had spread of the rise of a sect within the Church, whose head-quarters were at Oxford; as there had been rumours

before of the rise of a Church sect at Cambridge. That at Cambridge had originated the movement called Evangelical, intended to revive the life of religion in the Church, and promoted by the earnest zeal and munificence of its members in filling the pulpits of the Establishment with devout Calvinistic ministers, who caused a powerful religious revival among the aristocratic and wealthy classes of society. The Oxford movement was of a widely different character, representing as it did the opposite party in the Church from that of the Simeons, Wilberforces, and Thorntons. The rumours which stole abroad told of observances which excited no little surprise, while some who heard were amused, and others seriously grieved and alarmed. It was scarcely conceivable that Laud and his ways should have risen up again among us in the nineteenth century; yet those who had seen and heard what went on within the University of Oxford told of priestly claims, and obedience of novices; of homage to the memory of Charles the Martyr; of devout reception and study of ancient tradition and the Christian fathers, and a passionate disparagement of the Reformation and Protestantism; of exclusive reliance on the sacraments of the Church; of the most frequent possible celebration of its services; of the setting up of oratories and of crosses; of scrupulosity about garments and postures and fasts; and even of auricular confession. Where so much was said, something must be true; and it was not long before the Oxford men published to the world ample evidence that some strange things indeed were true.

On occasion of the reduction of the Irish Church, the Oxford party believed the time to be come for them to preach their principles, and save, if it yet might be, the Church and the nation. They denied the rightful power of the government to touch the constitution and revenues of the Church; and they apprehended that parliament would gratify the earnest desire of a large body of Churchmen, in reforming the Book of Common Prayer, through a commission of state appointment. To avert such a desecration, and all further spoliation of the Church, and to obtain perhaps a restitution of what had been taken from her, the Oxford sect resolved to work upon the public

mind in all directions-through the press, as well as by means of the pulpit and private exhortation, and vigorous proselyting among the young. According to their own authorised statement, delivered by Mr. Perceval in a letter to the editor of the Irish Ecclesiastical Journal, their first business was to enforce their tenets through a set of tracts, which gave to the sect, for some years, the name of Tractarians. The leading doctrine of these tracts is that of apostolical succession. The only way of salvation is declared to be through the sacrament of the Lord's Supper; and the only way in which that sacrament can be administered is by the hands of the successors of the apostles, with whom is deposited this sole power of communicating the means of salvation. The necessity of Episcopacy is thus declared, and not merely its expediency : and from this follows a train of doctrines which do not need more than a slight indication. As the Scriptures do not contain any account of the institution of Episcopacy by Christ, some other and co-equal authority must be adduced; and tradition is that co-ordinate authority. Hence follows the exclusive reverence for the Christian fathers, as the historians and registrars of tradition. Hence, too, the reverence for many of the forms and observances of Romanism which, being traced to an Episcopal foundation, cannot be refused. Hence, too, the indignation and horror at the interference of government with church funds and offices; and an expressed willingness that the Church should, as soon as possible, be separated from the state. Of these tracts, Dr. Arnold wrote in April 1834: 'They are strenuously puffed by the British Magazine, and strenuously circulated among the clergy; of course, I do not suppose that any living man out of the clergy is in the slightest danger of being influenced by them, except so far as they may lead him to despise the clergy for countenancing them.' The fact did not answer to this anticipation. If the Tractarian clergy might soon be counted by hundreds, their followers, and the diligent readers of the Tracts for the Times, presently amounted to tens of thousands; and there is nothing to wonder at in this, if we remember the proneness of the human mind to rely upon authority, and to seek safety in definite obser-

vances. Far on in the nineteenth century, therefore, the zealous Protestants of the empire saw spectacles which illed them with anger and dismay-on the one hand, a striking increase of the Catholic body, from the earnestness with which noble and wealthy Catholics applied themselves to use the present crisis for the good of their Church; and on the other hand, the rise and spread of a body, within and from our own University of Oxford, who were always disparaging Protestantism, and themselves growing so like Catholics, that it was hard for the common run of men, who used Protestantism for a political cry, to make out the difference. From month to month, there were rumours of one or another Tractarian having gone over to Romanism -rumours which were highly resented, and proved in the Tracts to be necessarily false; and for a while, they were not true; but, in no long time, a conversion to Romanism began within the university, and spread so undeniably, that the kindred character of the principles of Romanism and Tractarianism has for some time ceased to be disputed. During this period, then, one of the three parties in the Church was succeeding in substituting for the previous idea of religion another whose popular spread made some good men's hearts fail them for fear. Theology in the priesthood, and unlimited obedience in the flock, were now to be the idea of a Christian Church. In many a church there was contention about wearing the surplice; about old and new or revived methods of celebrating the service; about the frequency of the administration of the communion; and other points which the bishops were as sorely perplexed as pressed to solve. As a body, the bishops showed themselves weak and still unprepared. There was no unity of view or action among them on the occurrence of this great schism in the Church; and the multitude added contempt of this weakness to their indignation at the conduct of the spiritual peers about the Reform Bill, and were at no pains to conceal their feelings. The Archbishop of Canterbury was mobbed at the doors of his own cathedral-pelted with brickbats, cabbagestalks, and opprobrious words, to his extreme consterna-The Bishop of London had a year before been tion. prevented from preaching at St. Ann's, Soho, by an intimation that when he rose in the pulpit, the larger part of the congregation would leave their seats. Much of this was political feeling; but it was aggravated, and not dispersed, by the irresolute and uncombined conduct of the prelates under the appeal of the Tractarians. The heads of the Church were evidently not ready for the crisis of the Church.

The strongest popular sympathy, in connection with this party, was with a clergyman here and there who fell a victim to his sense of duty in enforcing his rights-not from the love of lucre, but the fear of surrendering any of the prerogatives of his function. One of these, the Rev. Irvine Whitty, rector of a parish in Ireland, was shot after having brought forty-five suits for the recovery of tithes, at one sessions. Another was a clergyman in the south of England, who enforced his tithes, under a sense of duty to his Church, to a point which maddened his poor neighbours; and the general feeling was fearfully expressed by a man who shot him dead from behind a haycock in his own The popular resentment in these cases followed field. those who had instituted a false ideal of a Christian Church, rather than the weak men who had been mastered by that idea. While the pity for these victims was yet fresh, every one looked to see what would happen at the installation of the Duke of Wellington as chancellor of Oxford, at a time so critical. The proceedings there, while very amusing, were significant enough. The young men in the theatre are wont to express their partialities and dislikes, political and religious, on these occasions-thus giving notice to the world what it has to expect from the rising generation of professional men and legislators; and the watchwords and cries were never more significant than on the present occasion. There were thunders of applause when cheers were asked for the bishops, Mr. Stanley, and the Duke of Cumberland; and never-ending groans at the. Irish Church commission, the administration, and the Gower Street Company—meaning the London University. The word the 'Dissenters' was received 'with a long-protracted snuffle, and an ejaculation of "Amen," from several voices, in imitation of the nasal twang of the conventicle.' This, again, was like a restoration of the seventeenth contury. The peculiar enmity against the Dissenters on this occasion, was a piece of retribution on a movement of the Moderate-Church party to obtain admission for them to the universities; and nothing could be more offensive than two cries and their reception-'The university and her privileges,' and 'London University and her want of privileges.' The cheers for Oxford and her exclusiveness were natural and fair enough; but the virulent desire to exclude the Dissenters from privilege everywhere, was well understood to be expressed by these lads on behalf of their class and order. Such were the doings-serious and playfulof the High-Church party during this period. As for the immediately opposing party-the Low-Church or Evangelical section-they were active, but less prosperous than they had been. It appeared that the Tractarian multitude was largely increased from the ranks of the Evangelical party. There were many lowly and tender spirits, worn and anxious with the care of working out their salvation by the constant upholding of their faith at a certain pitch, and afflicted with misgivings about the sufficiency of their personal interest in Christ, and of their assurance of safety, who were glad to turn at once into the shelter of a system, where they had the protection of a priesthood, which permitted them to repose their cares upon others, on the simple condition of obedience to definite commands, and which prescribed a clear ritual duty in discharge of obligations which had hitherto weighed heavily upon their consciences. It was natural that the numbers that went over from the Low to the High Church should be considerable. Some of the brightest lights of the sect, too. were extinguished within this period. Its honoured and beloved Wilberforce was laid in his grave during this time; and to no man did the sect owe so much. His May-day nature was too genial to be clouded by the gloomiest Calvinism. While striving through life to afflict himself with self-reproach and doubts of his safety, as well as to take upon himself-which he did in the noblest sincerity of heart-the woes of all who sinned and suffered. his glorious and exquisite nature broke through all factitious restraints, and made him free, joyous, and benign, as if he had never taken upon his lips that language of his

sect which abounds at once in denunciation and terror, in slavishness and pride. He was far above fear and haughtiness alike, though he might strive to feel both; and, while exhorting to the attainment of a specific faith, as the only security for salvation, he so abounded in good works as to earn the wondering veneration of all living men, and the gratitude of unborn generations. The affectionate, confiding. cheerful old man-wise as a sage, and fresh as an infant-sank into death just after learning that the Negro Emancipation Act might be considered safe; and when he closed his eyes, the brightest light of his sect went out. The influence of the body had been materially confirmed by the writings of Hannah More, whose books are a curious reflection of a part of the spirit of her time. The reflection may be regarded as exaggerated, however; for it would be hard to impute to the sect all the spiritual pride and consoriousness, the narrowness of view, and factitious interpretation of nature, life and Scripture, which pervade her writings. But the solemnity, the self-analysis, vigilance, asceticism, and intemperance of both fear and hope, are thoroughly characteristic of the sect, and merely aggravated in Hannah More, as they were neutralised in Wilberforce, by the constitution of the individual. Her writings had a vast circulation in their day; and, as they sprang from the spirit which originated the present Evangelical movement, so they largely assisted in kindling and spreading it.

The activity of the sect was shown during this period chiefly in its own walk—of denunciation, and obstructive asceticism. It does not appear to have taken any conspicuous part either with or against the government on the questions of the time regarding the rights, liabilities, and duties of the Church. But it begged for ordinances of religious humiliation under the infliction of the cholera—in some places held up the cholera as a judgment on the nation for its spiritual levity; instituted the Sabbatarian movement which has been revived, from time to time, to this day; obstructed the publication of geological knowledge, lest Scripture should be discredited by the disagreement of the beginning of Genesis with the discoveries of modern science: and discountenanced the musical

festivals which were a feature of the time, including, as they did, sacred music, and being frequently held in churches. While the Oxford sect were encouraging art, promoting freedom and gaiety of spirits in the intervals of religious observance-as on Sunday evenings-and holding that none but the priesthood have any concern with consequences while they scrupulously fulfil conditions, the sons of the Cambridge movement were acting in a curiously opposite manner. A Sabbatarian bill, full of insufferable and impracticable provisions, was called for once a year, by aristocratic gentlemen who could not suffer under it, while bringing it to bear upon the poor in their comfortless homes, or to prevent their going abroad: a bishop employed himself in invidiously counting the boats which passed under Putney Bridge on the Sunday; dissension was risked at the early meetings of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, by clergymen who declared themselves resolved to defend the Mosaic scriptures from the inroads of scientific innovation; and certain newspapers praised the conduct of divines-and among others, the Bishop of London-for withdrawing from all appearance of countenancing the musical festival held in Westminster Abbey in 1834. The scruple was about 'employing a church as a place of sensual recreation;' and the doubt was presently extended to the use of music at all in religious worship. These differences between the two sects were practical assertions of their respective doctrines of priesthood and no priesthood; the insufficiency and the sufficiency of Scripture; and the ritual and ascetic modes of life and worship.

The action of the third party in the Church during this period is no less conspicuous than that of the first, and far more so than that of the second. This, the Moderate party, was that to which the ministry and, on the whole, parliament may be said to belong, if they could, with their diversity of view and unfixedness of theory, be said to belong to any one division. Ministers of state, and members of parliament, generally speaking, have not the training—that of the clergy on the one hand, and of the nonconformists on the other—which furnishes men with fixed principles of judgment and action on church matters; and there is therefore no subject on which legislators usually appear so weak. The surest indication of their views given by ministers was by their clerical appointments; and the appointments under Lord Grey's administration-especially that of Dr. Whately to the archbishopric of Dublin-spoke plainly enough. Amidst their infirmity of action, and backwardness of speech, they showed their conviction that the Establishment needed reform; they made a large reduction of Irish bishoprics, consented to a large reduction of Irish tithe-though the measure was not carried-and proposed to commute church rates in England, for the relief of the consciences of Dissenters. The Dissenters refused to accept anything short of a total abolition of these rates, seeing no relief to conscience, and no recognition of its rights, in a measure which would compel them to pay the same tax under another name; but the proposition showed the tendencies of ministers. Another decisive act of the same character was their favouring the petitions sent in, whether by Dissenters or members of the university, for the admission of Dissenters to degrees in the university. The exclusion of Dissenters by their being required to sign the thirty-nine articles was an innovation -declared to be so by the petitioners in the senate of the University of Cambridge-and a very injurious one to the interests of all parties. The restrictions were laid on in the reign of James I., in a manner informal and unprecedented, against the wishes of a large number of the then existing members, and in a time of extraordinary turbulence and spiritual oppression. The academical petitioners prayed for a restitution of their ancient laws and liberal usages, whereby many excellent citizens, now excluded by conscience from entering the universities, might be admitted to degrees, and thus made more available to the good of their country. When Lord Grey presented this petition in the Upper House, and Mr. Spring Rice in the Lower, both these ministers pledged themselves to use every effort in their individual capacities to carry the measure of relief proposed. Counter-petitions were sent in from both universities, much more numerously signed; and their advocates in the House and elsewhere appeared to think the question decided in equity by the prepon-

derance of opinion within the Universities ; but the government and the Houses generally thought that the opinions of parliament, the Dissenters themselves, and the public at large, were no less pertinent than those of the privileged university men; and the debate was long and ardent. The case of the exclusionists was destroyed by the existing Cambridge practice of admitting Dissenters to everything but the honours. They might enter and study, and be on an equal footing with Churchmen till their twelfth term, when the demand upon them to sign the articles barred them from degrees. This was strongly presented by Mr. Spring Rice, in the debate on the Dissenters' Bill; while others showed how fearful was the snare to consciences in such a case-how powerful a temptation was presented to a young man to sign what he did not believe; and how injurious it was to the universities themselves, and to public rectitude, to enforce regulations which, in common with all religious tests, keep out the most valuable men-the conscientious-and let in the unscrupulous. On the other side, there was some ridicule of Dissenters for 'feeling so deeply, exclusion from the empty honour of a degree,' and apprehension that, if admitted to that, they would next crave possession of office and emolument in the universities; they were too small a minority to be worth altering the plans of the institutions for; yet they were so numerous, and increasing so fast, that they would soon overthrow the Church: the subscription to articles was a mere form which no reasonable man need scruple to go through; yet it was the bulwark of the Church which must not be touched: the Dissenters would carry off so few prizes in life, compared with Churchmen. that it was folly to suppose they lost anything worth debating about by the present arrangement; yet there was no saying what would become of the connection between Church and State if the liberal professions were thrown open as freely to nonconformists as to members of the Church. Amidst these mutually destructive pleas, the ministers declared their judgment to be in favour of recurrence to the ancient liberties of the universities, and deprecated all argument from possible future consequences, not contemplated in the present measures, and

which might very well be met in their own time, if they should ever arise. The scene at the third reading of the bill was disgracefully clamorous, so that the speaker himself was scarcely able to preserve his equanimity. The mover of the measure, Mr. Wood, could not be heard in his concluding explanations for the 'jeering, shouting, coughing, and crowing;' yet he obtained a majority of 164 against 75—a proof that ministers had on this occasion, and in that House, asserted liberal principles with sufficient plainness. Nor did they fail in the other House; though there the bill was thrown out by a majority of 187 to 85.

The apprehension in this case was that the Dissenters would endeavour to obtain a separation of the Church from the State. The promoters of Mr. Wood's bill saw that to refuse what appeared to them justice to the Dissenters was more dangerous to the Church than any recognition of liberty of conscience. The Church really was at that time in great danger. The High Churchmen and Dissenters were almost equally discontented at its connection with the state : and the intermediate parties were dissatisfied with its condition, and alarmed at its prospects. 'The Church as it now stands,' wrote Dr. Arnold in 1832, 'no human power can save.' He and other Moderate Churchmen, therefore, set to work to reform it, while the High Churchmen were proposing its being put under the care of its hierarchy, and the government were striving to disarm the enmity of the Dissenters-as far as they considered that enmity reasonable-and the Dissenters were striving for relief from the liability to support a Church of which they conscientiously disapproved.

Among the proposals offered by Churchmen for a reform of the Establishment at that time, the two most conspicuous publications were put forth by Lord Henley and Dr. Arnold. Lord Henley's plan was, that ecclesiastical affairs should be managed by a convocation; that the bishops should cease to sit in parliament; and that laymen should be wholly silent about matters of Church doctrine. This was so contrary to all Dr. Arnold's views of right, that it called forth his protest in the shape of a pamphlet on Church reform which, in that season of excitement, caused much and angry controversy. 'I have one great principle which I never lose sight of,' wrote Dr. Arnold-' to insist strongly on the difference between Christian and non-Christian, and to sink into nothing the differences between Christian and Christian.' As he proceeds to say, all the world quarrelled with the one half of his principle or the other; but he succeeded in impressing his view at least upon the notice of society, if not upon its convictions. And so he did with regard to a truth, so obvious that it is difficult now to believe how lately society in general was blind to it-that the Church means not the priesthood, but the body of believers. In every possible way he reiterated thisinsisting that Christianity recognised no priesthood-that the whole body of believers were equally brethren, and the clergy no more than brethren-till the truth took firm hold of the public mind, and the Tractarian party regarded Dr. Arnold as an impious leveller, and persecuted him for years with the moral weapons which alone the advancement of intelligence has left in the power of the bigot. 'Nothing, as it seems to me,' wrote Dr. Arnold, after issuing his plan, ' can save the Church but a union with the Dissenters.' Under the conviction of extreme danger to the Establishment, and of the calamity which its overthrow would be to the whole of society, he proposed changes, which, as he afterwards said, ought to be considered in connection with the alarms of the time, as well as on their own merits-by which, however, he was prepared to abide. After offering an earnest defence of the Establishment, and a statement of its dangers, he proposed, as the only safeguard, the admission of Dissenters within its pale, an accommodation of hours and throwing open of churches, which would enable all to worship conscientiously under the shelter of the general Church; and such an alteration of the ordinary services as should admit of their being joined in by a large number of Dissenters whose differences with the Church were not radical. He not only defended the presence of the bishops in parliament, but desired in every practicable way to amalgamate religious and secular interests. While doing his utmost for the Church and people whom he loved, he had, however, little hope, from the injustice and insolence with which he saw the Dissenters treated by so-called advocates of the Church; and from the keenness with which, as he observed, the Dissenters understood and felt their principles and their position. 'If you see my pamphlet and postscript,' he wrote, 'you will see that I have kept clear of the mere secular questions of tithes and pluralities, and have argued for a comprehension on higher grounds.... But I fear that our reforms, instead of labouring to unite the Dissenters with the Church, will confirm their separate existence by relieving them from all which they now complain of as a burden. And continuing distinct from the Church, will they not labour to effect its overthrow, till they bring us quite to the American platform?'

What answer were the Dissenters giving to this question? The plain answer was, that everything depended on what was meant in this case by overthrowing the Church. If the Church was taken in Dr. Arnold's own comprehensive sense of the great body of believers, or in the more limited sense of a body of believers in any particular form of doctrine, neither the Dissenters nor any one else wished to overthrow, or in any way to interfere with such a Church. But if the meaning was an Establishment which compelled its own support from those who disapproved of its doctrine and structure, it was certainly true, throughout that period, that a multitude of the Dissenters did desire the overthrow of the taxing and excluding power. Without concerning themselves about other people's belief and management of their own concerns, many of the Dissenters did exert themselves vigorously to obtain relief of conscience for themselves. Some helped to throw out Lord Althorp's measure for the commutation of church-rates, on the ground that it was not the amount of tax that they complained of, but the obligation to support a religious institution of which they disapproved. Several went to prison, during these and succeeding years, and lay there long, rather than pay a few shillings of church-rate. Many petitioned parliament for the removal of the bishops from the legislature. Many demanded admission to the universities. Many agitated for a dissolution of the union between Church and State. And the body generally gave their support to the propositions of the ministers to reduce the Irish Church, to review the resources of the VOL. III.

Church in England, to extinguish tithes, and to abolishill pluralities.

Some curious incidents are found scattered through their registers of these years, which show the temper of the times, amidst the convulsion of religious parties. The work called Froude's Remains opens to the reader an astonishing picture of the state of mind and mode of life of the early Tractarians-with their talk of the 'detestable Reformation,' 'odious Protestantism,' the insufficiency of Scripture, and its utter destitution of assertion and evidence of the chief essential doctrines of the Christian faith; and their fastings, forms, and strong tendency to monachism. An analysis and comparison of their principles and modes of belief, their forms and organisation, present so curious and minute a resemblance to those of the Pharisees, as exhibited favourably by Josephus the Pharisee, as to make it astonishing that the parallelism could be overlooked by the members of the new sect themselves. From their great doctrines of the insufficiency of Scripture, the need of tradition, and priestly succession, to their daily religious forms, the resemblance is astonishing.

Next we come to several occasions of great amazement to members of the administration. Lord Althorp found himself worsted in an unexpected collision with refractory churchwardens, when he issued a circular to that body in England and Wales, preparatory to the institution of the ecclesiastical commission. The circular requested information as to the amount, ownership, and liabilities of church-property in their respective parishes. Some took no notice; some declined giving any information; and some wrote in a tone of which the following extract may serve as a specimen. It occurs in the midst of a lecture to the minister on the coronation oath, the sacredness of church-property, and so forth. 'It is the part of wise legislators to obtain the most accurate and authentic information, before they attempt to make enactments touching the property and vital interests of millions. Not so with the administration in which your lordship holds a prominent office: they prejudge a case-administer to the passions and vices of the mob, to obtain their concurrence and support-act in ignorance-and mar everything that

they pretend to mend. Nor are we satisfied that you and your colleagues have any more right to meddle with, so as to deteriorate, the property belonging to any clergyman, or any corporate body of the clergy, than the highwayman has to take your purse.' We are here furnished with proof that liberty of speech was unrestricted in Great Britain in 1834.

Next, we find Lord Grey, now old enough to be astonished at nothing, wholly taken by surprise by popular rebukes of his countenance of pluralities. He presented to the deanery of Down a clergyman who already held a living of £1200 a year, and gave as his reason, by the mouth of the Irish secretary, that 'it was not too much that such. preferment should be bestowed on a son of the lord chancellor of Ireland.' So open an avowal of church preferment following on political connection, was caught up with the eagerness to be expected at such a season of crisis; and so was the explanation which the premier found himself obliged to authorise, of the circumstances under which he had given a stall at Westminster to his relative the Bishop of Hereford. Amazed as he was at the censure incurred by acts till now so little liable to question, the fact was so, and he had only to acquiesce in it; as had Lord Althorp, in the Dissenters being offended instead of gratified by his proposed church-rate measure. The most striking scene of this class, however, appears to have been an interview between the prime-minister and a deputation of Nottingham Dissenters. When these delegates presented their memorial, Lord Grey supposed that its contents were the same with those of other memorials from Dissenters; to which Mr. Howitt's reply was, that the paper itself would explain that better than he could, as the memorial proceeded from persons whose object was to express their own wishes, and not to look about to see what others were doing. They had prayed for the separation of Church and State. Lord Grey, who seems throughout this crisis to have been blind to the safety of perfect openness, to have always supposed that people meant more than they said, and to have approved of that method of proceeding, declared that he was sorry that ministers would be embarrassed, and parliament alarmed. He could

not see what more Dissenters could wish than relief from disabilities as to marriage, burial, registration, and such matters. The deputation replied, that their brethren had thought it best not to stop short of the broad ground of religious liberty. Still Lord Grey was perplexed, for he did not understand the principles of religious liberty. He asked if they wanted to do away with all state establishments of religion; to which Mr. Howitt's reply was, 'Precisely; that was what they desired.' He explained that in the opinion of the body he represented, a Christian government should protect Christianity; but that this could be done only by making all bodies of Christians equal before the law. Lord Grey indicated unconsciously the spirit and the fault of his government, by setting forth what he believed it would have been politic for the petitioners to have asked; and that the gaining of that step might have led to something more. The views of the petitioners, however, were not politic, but moral; and they were not a party whose obligations and conscience the prime minister was likely to be able to expound. The simple reply of the deputation conveyed a severe rebuke. They did not think it honest to ask for less than they desired to have, with a concealed view of obtaining more hereafter. Where a principle was concerned, they thought it right to make a plain and full assertion of it. In this course there was nothing disingenuous; and it left no ground for future discontent and misunderstanding. It might have been happy for the Whig administration if it had been early familiarised with the broad principle of religious liberty, and, yet more, with the spectacle of a calm and intrepid assertion of any principle in its full scope.

It may be remembered that, at a former period, one objection to the admission of Jews to parliament was that Quakers were excluded; to which the advocates of the Jews replied that they were quite ready to admit the Quakers. This was now done. Early in the session of 1833, Mr. Pease, member for South Durham, presented himself at the table, and claimed to make affirmation, instead of taking the oaths. He was ordered to withdraw, on his refusal to take the oaths, and a committee was appointed to consider of his case. The result was that the House,

68

on the recommendation of Mr. Wynn, the chairman of the committee, resolved to admit Mr. Pease, conceiving that if he became, by his entrance, liable to penalties in any courts, the risk was his own, and no concern of theirs. The ayes were loud and multitudinous, and there were no nays; and when the Quaker member appeared to make his affirmation, clothed in a complete suit of brown, elegant from its extreme neatness, he was received with a very cordial and general cheering. If one of the objections to the admission of Jews was thus done away, they did not at present profit by it. Their cause was annually pleaded by some Christians, as unquestionably and earnestly religious as any in the House; but the same mutually contradictory arguments for their exclusion were also repeated from year to year; and the religious conflicts of the time yielded no increase of civil rights to them.

And during these conflicts in the Church, and between its members and the Dissenters, Death was putting in his cold hand, to draw away one and another of the assertors of full religious liberty, to a region of utter stillness. Where angry voices were now clamouring, their loved tones would never more charm to silence the strife of tongues; where eves were flashing in enthusiasm or passion, or congregations were met calmly to assert their rights of conscience, some grey-haired leaders were absent, and would never meet their brethren again. The Baptists had lost Robert Hall; or rather, the world had lost him. From him Sir J. Mackintosh said that he had learned more of principles than from all the books he had ever read; and while he could thus meet the strongest men on their own ground, he could charm the most ignorant, and rouse the most apathetic, by the light and glory which streamed from the fountain of the heart in floods of eloquence which it required only an open heart to receive. This great man's life was one of fearful suffering from disease-from anguish of body which, at one period, helped to overthrow his mind, and which, ever after his recovery from that insanity, kept him apparently too low and weak for duty. But duty was his strength; and in him was seen, from week to week, that marvel which has often attended a briefer martyrdom-that of the extinction of the sense of pain

under the strong workings of the nobler powers. When 'he feebly entered the pulpit, and rose feebly to speak, and spoke at first in a voice so low and husky as to make his hearers wish him at home and at rest, it was scarcely possible to believe him the Robert Hall whose vigorous championship of the rights of conscience, and broad assertion of a liberal philosophy, were before the world; but from moment to moment the file was kindling and spreading within him-his torment subsided, his eye brightened, his voice grew strong and sweet-he was in heaven for the time. and carried his hearers a long way on towards it too. Amidst the conflicts of Christian faiths at this time, he disappeared; and the voice which, the more it roused souls, spread the more a deepening calm, would never again rebuke the strife of sects, and recommend to them, as he loved to do, ' the unity of the spirit in the bond of peace.' -Another was withdrawn, too, of whom no one knew whether he ought to be called Churchman or Dissenter. Rowland Hill had received deacon's orders, and always insisted that he was an Episcopalian clergyman; but he preached any and every where-in all sorts of chapels, in private rooms, under trees in parks, and in the open fields. His mission was-or seemed to himself to be-to find fault all round, except with persons too obscure to fix the eves of men. He was the foe of John Wesley in early life, and afterwards the censor of all churches-having as vehement an intolerance of sectarianism as sects in his latter days had of each other. When the white hairs of fourscore years hung beside his brows, his rebukes had another power added to that of his strong and apt and piercing thought; and, aged as he was, he was missed at a time of conflict, when he would have proved himself almost as powerful in shaming men out of their religious contentions as Robert Hall in elevating them above them .-- His organist, Charles Wesley, whose devout soul found utterance in music, was wont to soothe the troubled and abashed hearers of the eccentric pastor by divine strains, which were only in true harmony, however, with the prayers of the old divine ; and now, the pastor being gone. the harmonist soon followed-wafted away, it might almost be said, in music. During the wanderings of his

last illness, he scarcely ceased his low singing of the airs of Handel. With him departed one more tranquillising and sanctifying influence from the religious world of the period. From four years old, when his music drew tears down the cheeks of listeners, to the age of seventy-six, he was a living harp, made resonant by every breath of thought, incident, and feeling; and a sad silence settled down upon his place when death had snapped the chords at last.-The learned Adam Clarke died during the fierceness of the sectarian conflict. In his youth, he had known and witnessed more of religious excitement than most men ; for, when only nineteen, he was one of Wesley's itinerant preachers. The quietness of the study suited him better, however; and he withdrew more and more into itdelighting himself with various antiquarian research, but devoting his best resources of every kind to his great commentary on the Bible. He educated two Buddhist priests for the function of Christian missionaries in Ceylon, and baptised them; but that part of his work afterwards appeared to himself fruitless, for they became highpriests in their own temples at home. He was immersed in his biblical studies in his last days; and we may hope that the clamours of theological strife came softened to him in his retreat, and gave as little disturbance to his peace as to his faith; but his very quietness was an admonition which could ill be spared at such a time. One other there was whose departure at this juncture can never be alluded to without clouding the countenances of all who knew his story. Rammohun Roy was the descendant of Brahmins of a high order. He was born a British subject in India; and he used all the opportunity given him by birth and position for cultivating his mind, and enlarging his knowledge. He became a Christian, and gloried-till he came to England-in the liberty and liberality secured, as he believed, by that faith. He learned the languages necessary for studying the Scriptures in the original; and from them he directly derived his views of the comprehension, charity, and fundamental liberty of the Christian religion. He arrived in England in 1831, to watch over the reconstruction of the India Company's charter. The impressible Hindoo was sufficiently excited by the merely

political movements of the time; but its religious conflicts affected him much more deeply. He could not recognise the Christianity he had learned and so dearly loved amidst the pretension of the Tractarians, and the asceticism of the Evangelicals, and the wrath of the Irish Protestants, and the tumult of the Irish Catholics, and the conflicts between the Church and the Dissenters, and the widening split in the Scotch Church, and the profane antics of the Irvingites. He went to hear all within his reach-he was ready with sympathy for all who were not angry or proud-he poured out his wonder and sorrow at what he saw-and-he wasted, day by day. Other causes of trouble he is believed to have had; but it was the painful excitement of his sojourn in England that was fatal to him. A sickly hue-not concealed by the dark skin—settled upon his cheek; the hair round the turban, once so crisp, became thin and lank; the long fingers grew thinner and thinner; the cheerful voice grew listless and hoarse; the light of the eve went out; the tall frame was bent; and an expression of ghastliness gathered about the once mobile and smiling mouth. He sank at the first touch of illness, resigning himself to the Hindoo observances desired by his attendants, and was laid--not among any of the Christians whose strifes had so chilled and wounded his hope and heart-but alone, among the trees of a private garden belonging to the mansion where he died. It is not in our time, as it once was, that the heathen say, as they look thoughtfully on: 'See how these Christians love one another!' Rammohun Roy found the religious world in England very far indeed from even the view of one of her own Churchmen-' to insist strongly on the difference between Christian and non-Christian, and to sink into nothing the differences between Christian and Christian.'

The prevalent faith in Ireland lost a champion at this time in the death of the Roman Catholic Bishop Doyle.— And in Scotland, the schism was begun, which was to end in the secession of the Free Church from the Establishment. In 1834, the General Assembly, whose constitution had been much modified by the operation of the Scotch Borough-Reform Bill, passed a law which interfered considerably with the function of patronage, increasing the difficulty to any patron of settling a minister who should be unacceptable to a congregation. Bodies of Churchmen had already seceded, and formed themselves into 'Voluntary Church Associations,' many Dissenters joining them; and now, many more Dissenters sided with the Church, on the passage of the act restraining the powers of patrons which powers had been the most important original cause of dissent in Scotland. A fierce storm was evidently driving up; and we shall hereafter have to watch its explosion.

Amidst such turbulence there must be eccentricity. The intellectually and morally infirm become excited in noisy times, and cannot be kept quiet. Irving and his fantastical worship have been mentioned before, as a natural product of such a crisis; and now came the close of that tragedy-a tragedy which, like so many others, involved with its mournfulness much of the horrible and of the ludicrous. Canning had been one of his hearers. On Sir J. Mackintosh mentioning a prayer of Irving's-"We pray for those orphans who have been deprived of their parents. and are now thrown on the fatherhood of God '-Canning 'started' at the beauty of the expression, and made Sir J. Mackintosh take him to the Scotch Church the next Sunday. There was then no one of any kind of eminence who did not go to swell the crowd at the Scotch Church. But such fashions do not last. As soon as the social and sympathetic nature of the man was roused, and his love of sympathy and approbation kindled to an irrepressible flame, 'Fashion went her idle way,' as Carlyle says, 'to gaze on Egyptian crocodiles, Iroquois hunters, or what else there might be; forgot this manwho unhappily could not in his turn forget. . . . There was now the impossibility to live neglected; to walk on the quict paths, where alone it is well with us. Singularity must henceforth succeed singularity.' By the time his church was ready, his fame had greatly sunk, and even the exhibition of the unknown tongues brought few strangers. There can be no doubt that some of his own flock, and a few more, were sincere believers in the gift of tongues; that of those who sat in that church in the grey of the wintry morning, listening for the shrill unearthly

sound from the lips of the 'gifted,' many believed that the end of the world was at hand; as indeed did some who were not usually superstitious. But Irving felt himself, for the last seven years of his life, neglected; and to him to be neglected was to be forlorn. He could not acquiesce; and he wore himself out in the effort to keep up incessant excitement in himself and his sect, and to draw in towards himself notice, wonder and sympathy from without. On the 2nd of May 1832, he was excluded from the Scotch Church, on the ground of heresy. It was after this that he betook himself to the little chapel in Newman Street, where the worst exhibitions of eccentricity took place. Through all these, he was believed by Dr. Chalmers 'to be a man of deep and devoted piety.' We have seen what he was as 'the blooming young man.' 'The last time I saw him,' says the same recorder, 'was three months ago, in London. Friendliness still beamed in his eyes, but now from amidst unquiet fire; his face was flaccid, wasted, unsound ; hoary as with extreme age ; he was trembling over the brink of the grave.' His last words were: 'In life and death I am the Lord's.' He was in his forty-third year. The body of his followers did not immediately melt away; and the name of an Irvingite may still be heard here and there; but there was no distinctive doctrine to hold them together-scarcely a bond but that of belief in Irving and the tongues; and the sect stands on record chiefly as an eccentricity-as a rebuke of the intemperance of the time.

In such a period, it is not wonderful that some, sickened with the apparent fruitlessness of the religion of unity, peace, and charity, should turn towards a profession which combined social with religious objects, and should become eccentric in their turn. The system called St. Simonism was preached in England in 1832, offering a new law of love and human equality, in the place of that Christian one which it assumed, from existing appearances, to have failed. Attempts were made to laugh it down; but the strife of the Christian world gave it a weight which could not be got rid of by mere scorn; and many listened, with new hope and a long-forgotten cheer, to the preaching of the golden rule of this new faith—that every one should

be employed according to his capacity, and rewarded according to his works. Society was to be ruled by persons of genius and virtue; and under them, all were to have a fair start-to be allowed the free use of their best powers, and reap their natural reward. The spiritual, intellectual, and industrial concerns of each and all were to be combined in a closer union than ever before; and thus, work was to be worship, and affectionate co-operation was to be piety. Amidst much that interested some of the best hearts, and engaged some of the noblest minds of the time, there were doctrines and provisions that would not stand a close ex-While it was supposed that the rulers would mination. be persons of virtue and genius, the proposed organisation offered a scheme of a hierarchy which might easily, and would probably, become an intolerable despotism—a locked framework, in which individual freedom might become impossible. Still, from the nobleness of its social rule, from its union of religious appeal with social sympathy, and from the humbling and embarrassing condition of the religious world at the time, the disciples of St. Simon were not few in England, and their quality was of no mean order. At meetings in London, the French chief of the St. Simonian Church in London presided, in the costume of the sect, and told, by the lips of English friends, the story of its propagandism : for its missionaries were abroad, from Constantinople to the Mississippi. Among the speakers, stands the name of the virtuous Rowland Detrosier, the chairman of the Manchester Political Union-as an inquirer and assistant, not an advocate; and it may be noted among the signs of the times that a system of communism, elevated, just, and spiritualised enough to engage the inquiring sympathy of men of his class, should then, amidst the haughty claims of the churches, obtain any footing in England. Rowland Detrosier died the next year, 'directing his remains to be devoted to the purposes of science;' and St. Simonism did not long survive him. There may be wardrobes where the dress of the sect is laid by in lavender, and now and then wistfully looked at; there may be times when families and friends revert to the golden rule of labour and its recompense, and speculate on when it will come into

HISTORY OF THE PEACE.

[BOOK IV.

practice; but St. Simonism has long taken its place among the religious and social eccentricities of its day.

The most evident practical result of the religious conflicts of the period was the quickening of the purposes of the government to get out the ecclesiastical commission which was to inquire into the condition of the Church in England, and redistribute its temporalities. This commission was set to work in 1835. As for the rest, it may be hoped that a multitude remembered at the time, as we do now, that noise and confusion are in their very nature superficial and fitful. Turbulence is on the surface; calmness is within the depths. Christianity in England was far from being like what this narrative of critical phenomena, taken alone, would represent it. For every conspicuous personage who was announcing or denouncing. or remonstrating or propounding, or anathematising or demanding, there were hundreds or thousands of quiet Christians at home, humbly living by their light, and religiously following peace with all men. Because the faith was, visibly, before the eyes of all men, corrupted in high places, it was not necessarily spoiled to the multitude who dwelt below. To the thousands who sat on the grass in the wilderness of life, Christ might be breaking bread, while His handful of preachers and witnesses were contending which should be greatest. If it was scarcely possible at the moment for all to help visiting some of the pain and shame of such contentions on the religion which was their ostensible theme, it would be folly and ignorance for us to do so now. The controversialists and brawlers of the time were not the British nation; and those to whom the Christian religion was dear as glad tidings of peace and good-will, lived in that sunshine, and only wondered at the far-off blackness and tempest which did not overcloud their sky.

76

FINANCE.

CHAPTER XI.

Finance-First Budget-Statements of 1832 and 1833-Assessed Taxes Movement — The House-tax-Statement of 1834 — Westminster Election-Malt-tax-Surplus of 1834 — The Corn-laws-Total Reductions-Poor-law for Ireland-Registry of Deeds-The Ballot-Military Flogging-Impressment of Scamen.

If the unreasonable expectations of the country were a hardship upon the Whig administration generally, there was no particular in which such expectations were more perplexing than that of finance. The nation ought to have known that this was a point on which the Whigs must be weak-in practice, if not in conception. There is, perhaps, no office of the government so difficult to fill well as that of chancellor of the exchequer; and certainly none in regard to which it is so impossible to anticipate correctly whether any man will fill it well or ill. He may have gone through all the preparatory offices, and be deservedly looked up to for all the qualities which all these offices can elicit; and yet, when he takes the one other step, he, for his part, may find himself in a wholly new world, for which his previous training may have done little to fit him, and everybody else may find him a very bad chancellor of the exchequer. The only certain point about the matter is, that a man who has had no training, and who is moreover a novice in executive politics altogether, cannot fill the office well. This was Lord Althorp's constant plea-urged even pathetically. He was wont to say that he was forced into the office against his will; he was wont to solicit information, as an alms, on every hand; he entreated every one to observe the tentative character of his proposals, and to believe that he was quite ready to give them up; and he conveyed the impression, every time he opened any financial subject, that he supposed the chances to be against his information being correct, and his plans feasible. Yet, with all this candour on his part, the people were slow to learn the

incapacity of Whig administrations in matters of finance. When the sayings of the Whigs in opposition were remembered-their complaints of heavy taxation, their demands of reform, their criticisms on financial measures-the multitude, including whole classes who ought to have known better, looked for a large immediate reduction of taxation -a prodigious lightening of the national burdens-as soon as a liberal minister should take the national accounts in hand. At the end of their first term, when Lord Grey went out of office, there was something ludicrous as well as humbling in looking back to see what had been done. The ministers and their friends complained of factious opposition in parliament, and of faithlessness and impertinence in their underlings: complaints which were a mere confession of weakness; for the Duke of Wellington's government had practically shown their willingness to reduce the national burdens; and there was no party, in or out of parliament, which was not ready for as much financial reform as the Whig government was able to conceive of: and, as for the underlings, this was a sort of business which it was not in their power to obstruct, if it had been pursued on any broad and clear principle, such as parliament and the country were able to understand and to sustain. But there was no principle in the case, nor the remotest conception of any; while there was a wholly gratuitous violation of principle, as Lord Althorp · himself avowed, on the very first occasion of producing his budget.

At the outset of his explanations, the chancellor of the exchequer declared that the government adopted the principles and views of Sir Henry Parnell, in his work on financial reform; a declaration which the author, who was present, would naturally wish unmade, when he heard, year after year, Lord Althorp's recommendations of his budget.

The subject was opened on the 11th of February 1831, when it was yet too early for much more than a declaration of intentions. Lord Althorp referred to the national expectation of great reductions of abuse and expense, and said that the government proposed to reduce eventually 210 places under its own appointment. The reduction

would for some time be merely of patronage, and not of expense; and of the 210, 71 were officers of the dock-yards, 60 in the Irish post-office, and 46 receivers of taxes in England, whose salaries could not be large; so that the benefit was more in the example than in any immediate relief. The surplus this year would be small-about £300,000; an amount which some of the friends of government considered too small to justify any reduction of taxation: but Lord Althorp seems to have considered himself bound to make some immediate changes. He seems to have been unaware that a mere transposition, such as he proposed, can give little relief, while any disarrangement is in itself an evil requiring relief to compensate for it; and that a partial reduction of several taxes tells far less than a total abolition of a few, because the expenses of collection and management remain, instead of being swept away. In both these points his scheme was faulty; and Sir Henry Parnell presently took occasion to deny its being formed on his principles. He approved of taking off taxes; but there was nothing in his book to sanction laying on new duties when the public service could be provided for without.

There was to be a reduction of the duties on tobacco, on newspapers, stamps and advertisements, on candles and tallow, and an abolition of duties on sea-borne coal, on printed calicoes, on glass, and on auctions. As a deficiency of above three millions would be thus caused, compensation must be found. For this end, there was to be an equalisation of the duties on foreign wines, on Baltic and Canada timber, and on large and small coal for export; and several new duties were to be laid on, of which the worst in principle-and admitted by Lord Althorp himself to be so-was that of an increase to 1d. per lb. on all raw cotton imported. The taxing of the raw material of manufactures, he declared to be an essential mischief, 'which, however, the advantages would, he hoped, counterbalance.' He pleaded its smallness in extenuation of its badness. The other new taxes were on travellers by steam-boat, on the transfer of landed property, and on the bona fide transfer of property in the funds.

The whole budget was severely treated; but the outcry

on this last item was the loudest. Lord Althorp gave it. up, and also the steam-boat tax. The duty on the transfer of real property of course went too; and to make up for the cutting off of these proposed resources, the duties on tobacco and glass must be retained. Thus the greater part of the plan was gone already; and a defeat on the timber-duties question awaited the minister. He proposed, on the 18th of March, to render the change of duties more gradual, and so involved the fiscal question with the wider one of free-trade, that the opposition required either a committee of inquiry, or time for considera-Lord Althorp declined both, and was left in a tion. minority of 46. The duty on Cape wines was again altered, and the penny cotton-duty was reduced to 5-8ths of a penny; and thus scarcely anything remained of Lord Althorp's first budget.

This compelled him to bring forward the subject again within the year; and October was the time, as parliament was sitting at that unusual season on account of the The most remarkable fact in connection Reform Bill. with this statement was the result of the reductions in the excise and customs, made by the late government within The estimated reductions had amounted to two vears. nearly four millions and a half, while the actual decrease had been little more than two millions and a half, in the last vear. Lord Althorp felt confident that he did not make any exaggerated statement when he assured the House that it might rely on a surplus for the year of 'He had examined the statements in every £493,479. way that he could, and he was sure that he was not chargeable with any exaggeration.' This was on the 3rd of October. On the 17th, the Duke of Wellington gave warning that the ministers would find themselves mistaken in their hopes of half a million of surplus, and declared that the utmost surplus could not exceed £10,000; but Lord Grey 'could not see on what principle' the statement of Lord Althorp could be disallowed, and was confident that government might have taken credit for a much larger surplus. The event was such as might make the Duke himself as much surprised as the ministers were ashamed.

From the occupation of parliament and the countrywith the Reform Bill, it was the 27th of July before-Lord Althorp could bring forward his financial statement. though he must long have been wishing the exposure well over. His delightful candour, however, smoothed his way through difficulties which would have been most galling to men less truthful or more self-seeking. 'I am quite aware,' said he, 'that my statement must be one which a chancellor of the exchequer has been unaccustomed to make of late years; and therefore I have to throw myself upon the indulgence of the House.' The surplus of last autumn had dwindled away, month by month; and instead of the half-million anticipated, there was now a deficiency of more than £600,000. Under such circumstances, no reduction of the public burdens could be proposed; and the ministers were persuaded, now that they saw things by the lights of office-which really are essential to a perfect judgment of such matters-that the vigorous reforms under the late government had carried reduction as far as it could safely go. The present ministers had cut down the estimates to the amount of $\pounds 2,000,000$, and declared that henceforth any relief to the people must come from economy in the departments, to obtain a surplus, and not from reduction of taxes. The unexpected deficiency was ascribed in part to the arrival of the cholera, and to political excitement; but there was also an oversight of Lord Althorp's, pointed out by himself: he had forgotten the expiration of the beer-duties in the spring, which made a difference of £350.000.

On the next occasion, he presented his budget for the first time to a reformed parliament. This was on the 19th of April 1833. First, he gave a good account of the reductions of official expenses by Lord Grey's government. They had abolished 1307 places, with an immediate saving of £192,000, and a prospective one of £38,000 more, on the expiration of the retired allowances; and some saving in such allowances had taken place in another direction, by bringing retired revenue-servants into active duty again, as opportunity offered. Lord Aberdeen's reductions in the diplomatic department, under the late administration, had VOL. 101. G been carried on, till they now reached nearly £100,000. There was now a surplus, and one considerable enough to do more than pay off the previous deficiency; and Lord Althorp ascribed this to the reduction in the estimates, and not to any remarkable improvement in the yield of the taxes. It enabled him to offer something in the shape of a boon to the tax-payers; and what he proposed was this: to abolish the duty on tiles, and the cotton-duty laid on two years before; and to reduce the duty on soap one half, and, in various proportions, the duties on advertisements, and on marine insurance, and several assessed taxes.

It was clear that the ministers had no ideas on the subject of taxation—no principle, no orderly plan. There was a touch here and a touch there—now a notice of a little experiment, and again a retractation of it; but nowhere a broad procedure based on sound reasons. The whole management was not only empirical, but desultory. To men who knew anything of the principles of finance, certain lessons of this year—this first year of a reformed parliament—would have been painfully impressive; only, that to men who duly felt the responsibilities of government they could not have occurred.

'When I laid the additional duty on raw cotton in 1831' -there had been an almost inappreciable ad valorem duty before—'I said that it was radically wrong in principle, Lord Althorp now declared with an unabashed air, 'and that, on the first opportunity which arrived, it ought to be reduced. That opportunity has now arrived.' It seems never to have occurred to him that there was anything wrong in thus playing fast and loose with such a power of interference as that of taxation-that there was any objection to laying on a tax one year and taking it off another, deranging the course of manufactures and commerce at each operation. Nor, on any one of the many occasions of his acknowledgment of the vicious principle of the taxes which he imposed or retained, did he show any shame in alleging the most triffing pretences of temporary convenience. Some astonished observers at last came to the conclusion that there was something behind -- that Lord Althorp himself, the most ingenuous

of men, assigned one set of reasons, and acted upon another. And in truth, there was something behind; and it was the practice of this administration, and perhaps its very worst fault, to assign bad reasons for good acts, and insufficient reasons for bad acts.

Some reference has been made before to the fatal practice of the Whig administrations of yielding to clamour whatever it chose to demand; and, after a time, to yield nothing but what was demanded by clamour. It was pointed out that this really revolutionary system began with the Tories -with the protracted refusal of the Catholic claims; but it has since become a distinguishing characteristic of what are called liberal administrations. In this particular, in which Lord Grey's cabinet as a whole was inculpated, Lord Althorp was perhaps the greatest sinner; and a clear publication of the fact was before the world during this and the succeeding session. At a public meeting, at this date, when some proposition about Dissenters' rights was made, the mover was entreated to wait and be patient, and not embarrass the ministry. 'Not embarrass the ministry!' he cried. 'Why, I never found yet that anything was to be had but by embarrassing the ministry;' and his closing words were lost amidst vociferous cheering. And of the whole administration, it was understood that the chancellor of the exchequer was the most impressible by clamour, from his good-nature, his indolence, his consciousness of unfilness for his work, and his consequent lack of selfreliance. Accordingly, he became the butt of all discontented tax-payers; and they made him so miserable that he daily sighed to be able either to repeal all taxes whatever, or to hide himself on one of his stock-farms. From the moment he could not but see that the turbulent among the taxpaying multitude had discovered how to manage him, he lost all energy; and the movement against the assessed taxes reached a point which disturbed the peace of the metropolis. And not only of the metropolis; for in several large towns there were threatenings of fiscal rebellion, and everywhere a strong disgust at the ineptitude of the finance minister.

In answer to the universal complaints of the injury and inconvenience of our methods of taxation, by which

g 2

industry was fettered, food made dear, knowledge taxed, incomes rendered uncertain, and tempers tried past endurance, the government thought it enough to say that these things could not be remedied without making 'an extensive change in the whole financial system.' But thi extensive change in the financial system of the country was one of the promises of the reform ministry-one of the labours to which a reformed parliament was pledged. It was told in the House how astonished an eminent foreigner. M. Simond, was at seeing an exciseman in a glass-house quietly permitted to interfere with the process of manufacture, and how earnestly M. Simond inquired whether the spirit of the English people could really patiently endure such an intrusion. It was asked why the English people should endure such a method of taxation-why there bould not be a complete revision and reform of our financial system—why there had not been already such a reform-why a year had been lost. The discussion of this matter, the pressing of these questions in the House, and, through the newspapers, in the country, became very urgent during this session of 1833; and Lord Althorp had nothing, as yet, to reply, but that he would take off a little here and lay on a little there, and that to do more would be 'to make an extensive change in the whole financial system.' Certain classes of tax-payers therefore took the matter into their own hands. A prodigious outcry was raised against the house and window taxes.

These two taxes were always mentioned together by those who desired to get rid of them; but many thought and among them the chancellor of the exchequer—that while the window-tax was one of the worst on the list, the house-duty was one of the best. The window-tax is a duty upon fresh air, sunshine, and health; the house-duty had the merits of being a direct tax, and of falling on a class particularly well able to pay it—that of proprietors of houses. The truth of the matter was, however, that the tenants of London houses—a numerous class of shopkeepers and others occupying large premises—paid the tax during occupancy, the amount being allowed for in their rent. By obtaining a repeal of the tax, they would pocket its amount during the remainder of their lease; and the event proved that this was motive enough for a noisy agitation. It never was general in the country; it did not spread beyond London and two or three of the large towns; but it was too much for the energy of Lord Althorp. Associations were formed to resist the payment of these taxes; no purchasers came forward for goods seized for arrears of these duties: when the levy was made, it was necessary to bring out, not only a large force of police. but of soldiery; and these were got rid of by terrified lodgers or friends of the recusants handing the money out of upper windows. Long and noisy processions of London tenants -chiefly shopkeepers of the west end-came to besiege the treasury chambers: and for some hours, it was difficult for horse or foot passengers to make their way between Parliament Street and Charing Cross. Lord Althorp was earnestly assured by those who understood the partiesand he declared that he believed it himself-that the outcry was only tentative, and the discontent partial and selfish; yet he gave way, as will be presently seen. 'What taxes would you reduce, if you were in my place?' he asked of an adviser. Certainly not the house-duty-that is nearly the best tax we have,' was the reply. 'It is,' he said--'it is a good tax; yet you would yield if you had been in Whitehall yesterday, and had heard the clamour that I had to hear.' 'It is only the west-end shopkeepers, who want to pocket a bonus.' 'I know it; but what can I do?' This was early in 1834; and it was only in the preceding May that the chancellor had obtained the sanction of parliament to the continuance of the house and window taxes by a majority of 273 to 124. On the 21st of next February. he incurred the banter of Sir Robert Peel, by his change of tone on this question. He was rather disposed to remit the house-tax, though he believed that it was not the best that he could remit-he could have put down the resistance to the tax; yet the resistance was partly the reason of his giving up the point. 'He would leave the matter open for a certain period, so that each member might present his plan to the House; and if any honourable gentleman should succeed in inducing the House to prefer any other tax for remission, he would not propose to repeal the house-tax.' This was a direct invitation to clamour against every tax on the list. 'The noble lord,' said Sir Robert Peel, 'was the last person to object to this gentle violence. There never was so clear an invitation to be ravished..... He would, for six months, give a clear stage and no favour to all those who were anxious to make him change his course.' After this, it was no matter of wonder that the house-tax figured at the head of the reductions proposed, when the budget was brought forward, in the next July. 'The first, and by much the largest,' said Lord Althorp, 'was that reduction which he had already proposed, of the house-tax, amounting to £1,200,000.' The window-tax was at the same time slightly reduced, at a cost of \$35,000-the relief being given to small farmhouses.

The excitements of the times in relation to these duties. and the difficulties of ministers, were increased by the necessity of a Westminster election, on account of them. Sir J. C. Hobhouse, one of the representatives of Westminster, and secretary for Ireland, had repeatedly condemned these taxes in his addresses to his constituents, and in his speeches in parliament. When Lord Althorp began to waver, Sir J. C. Hobhouse absented himself from divisions : and after doing so on the 30th of April, was called to account by his constituents, and resigned both his office and his seat. He presented himself again for Westminster. but was thrown out; and the election was conducted with a violence, and an enmity towards the government, which showed how far it was possible to sink in popularity in one year, by a timid or indolent omission to redeem pledges of financial reform given in days of struggle and hope. There is no doubt that this Westminster election determined much of the character of the next year's budget, though the chancellor of the exchequer was not qualified, as he himself declared, to redeem the promises of the government, by proposing a large measure of financial reform.

If the administration showed itself irresolute and imperfectly informed, it was not the House of Commons that had at this time any right to offer ridicule or reproach. On the 26th of April 1833, a reduction of the malt-tax was proposed by Sir William Ingilby—a reduction amounting

to at least as much as the relief proposed from the repeal of the house-duty. The chancellor of the exchequer remonstrated, declaring that such a reduction would compel the imposition of a property-tax. The House decided in its favour, however, by a majority of 10; and the ministers found themselves in a difficulty under which they must have time for deliberation. The only declaration made on the instant by Lord Althorp was, that he should be ashamed not to acquiesce in the expressed decision of the House. On consideration, however, it did not appear necessary so to acquiesce; and it was resolved in the cabinet to induce the Commons to rescind their vote. Lord Althorp tendered his resignation the morning after being outvoted on Sir William Ingilby's motion; but Lord Grey advised the king not to receive it. The country gentlemen were by some means made to understand that any reduction of taxation begun by them would be taken out of their hands by the manufacturing interest, with more vigour than any other party could command. Lord Althorp was persuaded that he did not stand pledged to abide by the decision of the House, as his words at the moment were taken to imply, and the Commons rescinded, on the Tuesday night, the vote of the preceding Friday on the malt-tax. It is not to be wondered at that the people were becoming dissatisfied with the way in which their financial affairs were decided on and conducted. Once more during the session of 1833, the chancellor of the exchequer was in a minority on such matters. On the 16th of July, Mr. Ruthven carried a resolution in favour of relief by the abolition of all sinecures, obtaining a majority of nine over the government. On this occasion, however, it was not necessary to act on the resolution, or to resign in consequence of it; and nothing ensued from this ministerial defeat.

Next year, affairs looked better. The estimates were reduced half a million; and Sir James Graham had been so active in his office at the admiralty, that a reduction of nearly a million and a quarter on an expenditure of six millions had taken place in three years. The surplus for the year, when the accounts were made up in July 1834, was upwards of two millions. There would be a smaller surplus next year, because the interest of the twenty millions given to the West India planters was to be payable from the ensuing 1st of August; but there would still be enough to admit of a considerable reduction of taxation--probably £1,620,000. There was no occasion now for O'Connell to renew his proposition, made in April, to attack the debt by reducing the interest arbitrarily onesixth; and then again, when wanted—a proposition which excited so much outcry as made him glad to be silent upon it henceforth, and never more to try the House of Commons with talk of the 'cant of national faith.' It was no longer necessary, the House thought this year, to repeal the maltduty; and Mr. Cobbett's motion for its abolition was voted down by an immense majority. It was not thought necessary for the House to attend to the subject of duties on food, as Mr. Hume proposed. Some members of the government voted with Mr. Hume, being previously pledged to advocate relaxations in the corn-laws. Lord Althorp, though made fully aware, long before, that the new poorlaw was framed on the supposition of the repeal of the corn-laws, declared to the House that he should meet the motion with a direct negative, 'although against his theoretical opinion;' and also, that' it was not the intention of the government, as a government, to introduce any measure for the alteration of the corn-laws, and that government, as a government, would not support any such measure, if introduced.' What remained was for the chancellor of the exchequer to say what he could propose for the relief of the tax-paying public.

By some changes in the duties on the licences of dealers in spirits and in beer, he expected to raise his surplus to £1,815,000. Out of this he proposed to repeal the housetax—as before declared—several minor assessed taxes, some small customs and excise duties which interfered with manufactures, and one of the stamp-duties—that on almanacs, which produced some popular irritation. All these together would amount to upwards of a million and a half. On this, the last occasion of Lord Althorp's responsibility to parliament as chancellor of the exchequer, he spoke cheerfully of the condition and prospects of the country. While between six and seven millions of taxes had been taken off during his term of office—immediately after large reductions by the preceding ministry—the income was reduced only £3,000,000. The reduction of the expenditure had been nearly two millions and a half; and provision would actually be made for our new obligations to the West Indies, not only without increased taxation, but at the same time with a diminution. It was certainly true that great improvements were taking place, and considerable relief granted from year to year, though the nation had yet to wait for an able administration of its financial affairs, and for anything approaching to reform, or even revision of its financial system.

Before the new English poor-law was framed, a poorlaw for Ireland was proposed in parliament by Mr. Sadler, in June 1832. For various reasons, the general feeling was strongly against it. Several members implored the House and the ministry not to subject Ireland to such a curse as the poor-law had been to England, till it should be proved that there was no better way of relieving the indigent. Ministers wished to wait to see the result of certain new arrangements in Ireland about rating for the benefit of the sick, from the success of which some hints might be derived. There was no subject on which O'Connell vacillated more than this; and there is no doubt that his irresolution was real. He had promised the poor Irish that when he came into parliament, he would never rest till he had obtained a poor-law for them; but now he opposed Mr. Sadler's resolutions, and frequently afterwards alleged that a compulsory charity was irreligious, and tended to lessen the free alms-giving which he regarded as a duty and grace enjoined and commended in Scripture. In saying this, he truly represented the Catholic portion of his countrymen, and exhibited the main difficulty of that most difficult problem-how to work a poor-law in the Catholic and most pauperised districts of Ireland. At a subsequent time, O'Connell assented to a poor-law, when in London, among reasoning men; and then again he repented, on the other side the Channel, and implored pardon of God and man for his irreligious compliance; and then, once more, he changed-not through profligacy in this case, apparently, but through a conflict between two sets of ideas and feelings which could not be made to agree.

He had time for consideration; for the commission sent out to investigate and report upon the applicability of a poor-law to Ireland did not go forth on their work till 1835; but O'Connell was no more ready with a decis on then than three years before.

The refusal of parliament during this period to entertain any proposition for a registry of deeds relating to real property, was striking and perplexing to foreigners and persons unfamiliar with the interests of the landed aristocracy in our country. Bills were brought in by Mr. Campbell and Mr. William Brougham-measures which were declared to be well framed and unobjectionable-yet the House of Commons rejected them again and again. No one openly disputed the need of such a registry. It was allowed to be a hardship that when a purchaser was buying land, he had no means of clearly ascertaining whether he had access to all the deeds which could affect the title. It was admitted that nothing could be more just, more simply convenient, than a general registry of deeds, which should put a purchaser in possession of his own case, and secure him from all risk from evidence, concealed through design or accident, which might affect his purchase after he had paid for it. Yet the House would not accept any measure of the kind; and both Mr. Campbell's and Mr. W. Brougham's were got rid of on such frivolous pretences as to convey an irresistible impression that the landed interest had unavowed reasons for what they did. When they thus set people guessing, the reason assigned was that they were afraid of their mortgages becoming known-afraid that it would no longer remain a secret how their estates were encumbered. Mr. Campbell's first announcement of his measure was in December 1830, and Mr. W. Brougham's in May 1833; and the second rejection of the latter measure took place May 7, 1834, by a majority of 161 to 45 against the second reading; and a curious social symptom this appeared to all thoughtful observers.

There was another case, far more important than this, in regard to which the whole world was aware that men's speech did not answer to their thought. There was another measure which parliament rejected, year after

year, for pretences so utterly untenable as to show that the real reasons for opposition were unavowed. This was the ballot. Of course, every man was at full liberty to dislike and deprecate the ballot. The peculiarity of the case was in the assigning of various reasons so incompatible as to make the listener look round, and wonder at the gravity with which the argument was carried on. The case to be met was simply this. The extended franchise was not fully exercised; the negligent possessors were lectured, rebuked, sounded, canvassed; but they, in large numbers, omitted to vote. Anxious as they had been for the Reform Bill, they now did not use its privileges. Their reason was that the bill did not furnish the needful safeguards of their new responsibility. Intimidation of voters ran as high as ever; and Lord Althorp, the long-declared advocate of the protecting ballot, now thought himself obliged to be mute and idle, and leave the tradesman and the farmer, and every voter who had any connection with a class above him, to the mercy of his neighbours or his patrons. Year after year did Mr. Grote bring forward his motion in favour of the ballot for the protection of voters; and year after year was he met by the same incompatible objections-that it would not work, and that it would work too well; that Britons will not be bribed, and that they would be bribed incessantly under the cover of the ballot; that the voting classes are of too high an order to be insulted with such a protection, and that broad publicity was necessary to keep them up to their duty. Thus the question was met, from year to year, till, through a singular virtual coalition between two opposite classes, the popular demand for the ballot was overpowered. The aristocracy would not surrender their influence over the dependent class of voters; and that influence was known to be so powerful, through intimidation where bribery would not avail, that the vast multitude of nonelectors took upon themselves to watch over its operation. The electors were their representatives; and this secondary representation they were resolved not to relinquish. They could send up an influence from below as powerful as that which brooded from above, and they would not, any more than the aristocracy, have it intercepted by the ballot.

Such was the issue of the painful state of the question which lasted during this period, when those who declared in favour of this protection of voters would not act; and those who did, were insulted with pleas which were understood all round to be mere disguises of real reasons which no man had courage to avow. Something would have been gained to the heart and courage of the nation, and probably nothing lost to its reputation, if the annual debate had been cut short with the declaration : 'We will not give up our power over the voting classes. By mere threats of ruin we can now make tools of our tradesmen and farmers, or keep them quiet; and no harm is done. If they were to be really free in the exercise of the franchise, there is no saying what confusion would ensue; and we only know that all control from us would be at an end.' Such was the state of things after the passage of the Reform Bill; a state of things sickening to the hearts of many thousands of husbands and fathers who would have dared anything for themselves, but could not see that their political duty required them to bring ruin on their households. Such neglected to qualify-setting a bad example therein, and in so far abrogating the Reform Act. And in the midst of a representative system like this-a system which worked imperfectly where it did not work viciously, the ministers took occasion to say, on all fair opportunities, that they considered the Reform Act final. While it was scarcely possible to exaggerate its value, and the importance of the era which it formed, it was because it opened the way to the achievement hereafter of a real representation, and not because the largest classes of the British nation were actually and immediately represented much more truly than before. As the ballot was not decreed in its own time, it only remains to be seen what stronger security for true representation will have to be accorded at a later day. That such an event is in store is an irresistible conclusion from reading the debates on the ballot during the period under review.

The question of military flogging was brought forward year by year by Mr. Hume; and by the session of 1833 it was clear that the debate was becoming more and more embarrassing to men who had always spoken with a

natural horror of the flogging of soldiers, but who had lately become aware of the weight of military authority on the other side. After the summer of 1832, every one had perceived that the abolition of military flogging was only a question of time. In May of that year, a private of the Scots Greys had been flogged under circumstances which induced a universal belief that his real offence was not a breach of discipline in the riding-school, as alleged, but his having written a political letter to a newspaper. A court of inquiry was held in July, and a sort of reprimand was adjudged to the officer in command. The publicity given to the facts greatly aided the cause advocated by Mr. Hume; and in the next division there was a majority of only eleven votes in a House of 291 members in favour of the existing system of military punishment. The other fearful tyranny which occurs to all minds in connection with this-the impressment of seamen-was now beginning to be treated in a tone of seriousness and humanity; and in August 1833, a division took place less unworthy of the eighteenth year of peace, than some that had preceded. There was a majority of only five against Mr. Buckingham's motion that it was the duty of the House to avail itself of the season of peace to inquire whether there was not some better method than that of impressment for manning ships in time of war.

CHAPTER XII.

Popular Discontents—Trades Unions—Dorsetshire Labourers—Day of the Trades—Changes in the Cabinet—Late Intrigues—Irish Tithes—The Lord-Chancellor—Lord Durbam—The Grey Banquet —Prospect of New Parties—Dissolution of the Ministry—Refirement of Lord Brougham—Lord Lyndhurst succeeds—Lord Brougham's Law Reforms—Local Courts Bill—Chancery Reform—Retirement of Lord Spencer.

A CLIMPSE is afforded us at this period of that awful interior of the history of the time of which registers and reports tell nothing. They tell nothing, because they know nothing, of those movements in some corner of the national heart and mind which are of graver moment than anything that is laid open to all eyes. Things were going on in the year 1834 which disheartened the few of the upper classes who knew of them, and whose calculations had been too sanguine as to the social effects of nineteen years of peace, and of four of liberal government. The good effects of peace and liberal government were in fact shown —not in the absence of ignorance and guilt among the people—but in the small results of their guilt and ignorance. If Sidmouth and Castlereagh had been in power, the year 1834 would have been as black a one to remember as that of the Cato-street conspiracy.

The prevalence and power of trades-unions have been referred to; and the murder of a Manchester manufacturer was mentioned at its date. The power and tyranny of the unions went on increasing, till in 1834, it became a serious question whether their existence was compatible with the organisation of society in England. Half-a-dozen uneducated men-sometimes one able but half-informed man-commanded an obedient host of tens of thousands; and, though the capitalists usually beat in the competition for victory set up by the labourers, the power of the latter over the production and commerce of the country was very great. At this time, a new combination gave an enormous increase of power into their hands. Hitherto each body had struck for an advance of wages for itself. Now, the various trades combined for the purpose of supporting one another by turns. Some were to work, and maintain others who were contending for their objects; and when these objects were gained, the good office was to be reciprocated. If the great body of labourers, or even the majority of their leaders, had been men of cultivated intelligence, and tempers disciplined accordingly, this year would probably have stood in 'our history as the date of a vast social revolution wherein capital and labour would have been brought into deadly conflict, or into some new and wonderful agreement. But though these bodies of labourers understood some momentous truths, and set some noble objects before them -making sacrifices and arrangements for the education of their children, and the elevation of their own pursuitsthey were not yet instructed and disciplined enough for permanent concert, and, therefore, for success. The tailors of London broke away from their compact, and struck work without the sanction of bodies earning smaller wages than they; and these trades refused to support the tailors. Then, some office-bearers—chosen unwisely—absconded with money, and others mismanaged the funds : and from one cause or another, continued co-operation appeared to be impossible.

In the midst of this confusion, which would have presently settled the fate of the unions for a time, some events occurred, the gravity of which was then, and is now, but little understood by any but a few who did not tell what they knew, because it would not have been believed. Hitherto, the unions had been universally spoken of as those of trades; but now it appeared that the extremely poor, ignorant, and depressed agricultural labourers of the southern counties were banded together in unions, like the trades. It was the expression of that resistance to supposed tyranny which is the glory or the disgrace-the safeguard or the peril-of a state, according as it is enlightened by knowledge or darkened by passion. In this case, it was considered dangerous, and it was found to be inconvenient. These agricultural unions must be dissolved; and a method was used which brought after it endless mischief and shame. Six labouring-men were indicted at the spring assizes at Dorchester, not for any offence which they and others had ever thought of, but under an obsolete statute, enacted to meet the case of mutiny in the navy, and which made the administering of certain oaths a transportable offence. Ignorant as these men were, they knew that they were in fact charged with one offence and punished for another; and, rapidly as they were hurried out of the country, to undergo their sentence of seven years' transportation, they had time to become aware that public sympathy was with them. Public sympathy was with them, as with men punished by a stretch of law for a nominal offence, which did not repair the mischief of their example in that particular in which it was really wrong and dangerous. As for the unionists everywhere, they were exasperated : and they declared that the time was now come for them to rise and overthrow the oppressors whose rule had hitherto disappointed their expectations, all the more bitterly for those expectations being in great part unreasonable.

By the unionists at large, it was agreed that a grand assemblage of all the trades should take place in or near London in April, to procure the recall of the Dorsetshire labourers. The day fixed on was the 21st of April, and the place Copenhagen Fields. This was all that the trades generally knew of the matter. Their leaders, however, agreed that the great unions could and should overawe the weak government of Lord Grey-now in its latter days-and obtain whatever they had set their minds upon. This was all that the leaders in general meditated; but there was a little knot of ferocious conspirators in the midst of them, who conducted a central movement, and resolved upon a violent seizure of the government, in the persons of the royal family and ministers. The trades were requested to carry their tools-those being specified which would best serve as weapons in the attack upon London. The 'glorious band,' as the handful of conspirators called themselves, were to carry arms. Accompanying the deputation to the Home Office, they were there to seize the. minister at the moment of reception, dispose of everybody else in the office, let in coadjutors, seize the other offices, take the king and queen prisoners, secure the Bank and the Tower, and so forth. Lord Melbourne had graciously consented to receive the deputation on the 21st; and this would make the first step easy. He was declared to be ' done for.' But he received warning, and attended to it; and the Duke of Wellington made ready for the occasion with his usual quietness and promptitude. The great day was a Monday. On Sunday night, twenty-nine pieces of artillery were brought in from Woolwich, and placed in the neighbourhood of Whitehall, out of sight. Some light cannon were stationed on the roofs of the government offices, so as to command the streets. Large bodies of soldiery came into town during the night, and were kept ready for instant action, though under cover. The public offices were strongly guarded; the police stations were filled with their force well armed; the magistrates were

early at their posts: the park-gates were closed, and the citizens took the hints of the newspapers to stay at home; aides-de-camp were in the streets, in plain clothes, to reconnoitre : and five thousand householders were quickly sworn in as special constables at Guildhall. As for Lord Melbourne, he was not visible. The under-secretary, Mr. Phillips, received the deputation, and told them that a petition, however respectfully worded, could not be received by the minister when brought in such a manner, nor could Lord Melbourne grant an interview to a deputation so accompanied; that is, by a procession of 30,000 men. So the petition was placed on its car-a car all blue and crimson-and carried away, to be presented again in a quiet and orderly manner, by a small deputation, five days afterwards. The whole procession repaired to Kennington Common, where Mr Phillips's reply was repeated on various parts of the ground. There was no attempt to measure their strength against the Duke of Wellington, with his troops and cannon-no attack upon the palace, the Bank or the Tower. No soldiers were seen in the streets, and scarcely a policeman: when London was again asleep, the artillery and soldiery were conveyed away; and next day the great city was as if nothing had happened. The end of the matter, as regarded the Dorsetshire labourers, was, that public opinion bore so strongly upon their case, that a free pardon was sent out to them in Van Diemen's Land; and they returned in 1837, to be escorted through the streets of London, and past the government offices, by a procession of the trades as numerous as that which had petitioned in their favour in 1834.

On the retirement of Lords Grey and Althorp, the anxiety of the nation about who was to govern the country was less eager than might have been anticipated. The cause of the comparative indifference was, that a universal persuasion was abroad that any government that could be formed out of any party must be merely temporary. The feeling in favour of a liberal ministry was still too strong to permit any hope to the Conservatives; while the unpopularity of the Whigs, and the known apprehensions of the king about Church questions, rendered it improbable vot. III. that such a cabinet as the last would keep any firm grasp of power.

It was immediately understood that the king's desire was for a coalition ministry. But this was clearly impracticable. The commons would hear of no other leader on government questions than Lord Althorp; and they earnestly desired that he should be the head of the government. His station and character would have justified the appointment; and his unsurpassed popularity in parliament-a popularity which could not be fleeting, because it was grounded on fine qualities of mind and manners--would have been a strong point in favour of his administration. But he had not ability for such a position. He said so himself, and everybody knew it. His being premier was out of the question, but he was not to be parted with from office; and he gave up with a sigh the prospect of retirement to his country business and pleasures, received a pledge that the new Coercion Bill should be framed to meet his views, and became again chancellor of the exchequer. It was Lord Melbourne, and no one else, with whom the king consulted upon the reconstruction of the cabinet. Lord Melbourne becoming premier, his place at the Home Office was taken by Lord Duncannon-made a peer; and Sir J. C. Hobhouse took the woods and forests, with a seat in the cabinet.

The first act of the reconstituted government was to carry a new Coercion Bill, in which the clauses prohibitory of political meetings were omitted. The subject of the late intrigues and follies, by which Lord Grey had been removed from office, was not allowed to drop. Repeated demands were made for the production of the lord-lieutenant's correspondence; and the son of Lord Grey pressed Mr. Littleton with close questions as to who besides himself had been the correspondent of the lord-lieutenant. Mr. Littleton had suffered too much to be indiscreet again; he positively refused to answer; but it was not denied that there was another. In the Upper House the lord chancellor astonished his hearers by declaring his dissent from Lord Grey in regard to Mr. Littleton's act of communicating with Mr. O'Connell. 'He did not know how government could be carried on if certain leading men

were to be considered as tabooed and interdicted from all communication with the government.' When after making this declaration, he proceeded to avow that he had privately corresponded with the lord-lieutenant about the Coercion Bill, men felt that no answer was needed from Mr. Littleton to Lord Howick's pressing questions. 'He was also '-after mentioning Mr. Littleton's correspondence -'in the frequent habit of corresponding with the lordlieutenant of Ireland. He had communicated with him on every subject interesting on this or the other side of the water.' The newspapers of the time pointed out the lord chancellor as the 'accomplice' of Mr. Littleton in writing the letter which changed the lord-lieutenant's opinion on the Coercion Bill, without the knowledge of the premier; and they further asked whether any cabinet could be safe with a member in it who could so perplex its. councils. The experiment proved a short one.

The liberal party believed that it had gained by the changes in the cabinet; and a more frank and genial spirit of liberalism seemed to spread itself through the government after Lord Melbourne's entrance upon his new office. He was as yet little known in official life; but those who knew him best spoke well of him: he did not suffer under any lack of warning that much had been borne with from Lord Grey that would be fatal to the power of any one else; and the new premier took such warnings in good part. The session was nearly over-a session in which a vast amount of real business had been. done, in the midst of all its mistakes and misadventures: the work of the government lay clear before it: and here was the recess just at hand, in which the measures of the next session might be prepared-for nobody dreamed of a change of ministry and of principles of government before the next session could begin. On the whole, Lord Melbourne's administration opened cheerfully; and the king's speech, on the 15th of August, was animated in its tone.

The autumn was variously occupied by the leaders of the parties and the destinies of the kingdom. Mr. O'Connell published a series of letters to the home secretary which could be of no service to any good cause from their violence of language, and in this case only aggravated the indis-

н 2

position of his Irish supporters to receive with a fair construction any measures offered by the imperial govern-The 'Slaughter of Rathcormack,' which took place ment. in November, and which was a prominent theme with O'Connell during the remainder of his life, might not perhaps have happened if he had not exhorted the people to impatience instead of patience, pending the trial of the government measures in regard to tithe. Some peasants who were opposing the collection of tithe, barred themselves into the yard of a cottage, as an escape from the military who were escorting the clergyman-Archdeacon Ryder-in his tithe-collecting excursion. The gate of the yard was forced, the soldiers fired, and thirteen men were killed, and eight wounded. Eleven of the thirteen were fathers of families. The widow paid her tithe, and the archdeacon 'proceeded to collect his tithes throughout the parish without further molestation.' He left behind him the people shutting their shops in the village, and driving every cow and pig out of sight for miles round; and bereaved fathers kneeling with clasped hands, to utter curses on the government, civil and ecclesiastical, which brought such desolation in the name of religion. O'Connell lost no time and spared no strength in exasperating the discontent, as if no healing measures had yet been entered upon.

Meantime, the lord chancellor was recreating himself, after a long stretch of arduous business, with a journey in Scotland; before the close of which some incidents occurred which deeply affected a part of the history of future years. He went from town to town, from one public reception to another, opening his mind to any hearers, on any subject; and thus the amount of egotism and indiscretion accumulated in ten days' time so as to fill the newspapers of the day, and fix universal attention. It was on this journey that he declared, at Inverness, that he should let his sovereign know by that night's post how loyal were his subjects in the north of Scotland; a promise which was found not to have been fulfilled. About such proceedings as these men might laugh and be amused; but a scene full of seriousness and significance, and pregnant with political results, took place at Edinburgh, which caused the shedding of many tears in private, and the

disappointment of much national hope at a subsequent time. Lord Grey was travelling northwards during this autumn-conveyed in a sort of triumph to his home, and beyond it, to Edinburgh, where a great banquet was given in his honour on the 15th of September. Among the members of his family who attended him was Lord Durham, at once the trusted friend of the old statesman and the beloved of the people. He was the principal framer of the Reform Bill, the consistent advocate of all genuine reforms - a man of the rarest honesty, which took the character of genius for the recognition of truth and right, and for the expression of it. When Lord Grey had earnestly desired his presence in the cabinet in the summer. he was kept out by the lord chancellor and another, and the Liberals in the Commons had expressed their sense of this act by an address to Lord Grey. Notwithstanding these circumstances, the lord chancellor appeared at the Grev banquet at Edinburgh; and nothing, as far as was known, had passed between the honoured guest of that banquet and himself, which need hinder his being present. He made a speech, the most prominent part of which consisted of rebuke to reformers who, in a fretful impatience, endangered all progress by rash attempts to go too fast. His language was so figurative that it is possible that he lost sight, in the pursuit of a succession of metaphors, of the substance of what he meant to convey. or of the impression which it would make on his hearers ; but the great body of listeners-who were nearly three thousand-certainly understood him to desire a slackening pace of reform, and less pressure of popular will on the government; and it was in this understanding that Mr. Abercromby, Mr. Ellice, and Sir J. C. Hobhouse responded to the appeal of Lord Durham, and followed up his speech -the celebrated speech of that day-of which some words passed into a proverb, which sustained the heart and hope of the people at the time, but which, in the end, cost him his life, and set back the great work of colonial reform. The most memorable words of that speech, the words which were received at the moment with an enthusiasm that spread over the whole kingdom, were these: 'My noble and learned friend, Lord Brougham, has been pleased

101

to give some advice, which I have no doubt he deems very sound, to some classes of persons-I know none such -who evince too strong a desire to get rid of ancient abuses, and fretful impatience in awaiting the remedies of them. Now I frankly confess I am one of those persons who see with regret every hour which passes over the existence of recognised and unreformed abuses.' These words were received with cheers which seemed as if they would never end; and when single voices could be heard, one member of the government after another responded heartily, and said that it was good for public men to witness such scenes and hear such truths; it kept them up to their duty. Among these voices, however, the lord chancellor's was not heard. He sat mute-mute at the moment, but not elsewhere. He travelled fast, and was presently at Salisbury, making a speech of defiance against Lord Durham, in which he challenged him to a meeting in the House of Lords. In the number of the Edinburgh *Review* which appeared immediately afterwards, there was an article whose authorship was evident enough, and was never denied by either the editor or the presumed writer. which charged Lord Durham with having opposed a thorough reform of parliament in the cabinet, and with the gravest breach of trust-with revealing the secrets of the cabinet. By the Salisbury challenge this quarrelinteresting in itself, as between two eminent liberal leaders-was made a matter of public principle; and it was inevitable that Lord Durham should be regarded as the stanch reformer that he had ever shown himself to be, while Lord Brougham offered himself as the representative of the retarding or 'drag' system of government, as it was then called. Hence it was that those words of Lord Durham at the Grey banquet passed immediately into a proverb, and were taken as a text for political discourses, and were seen on banners, and as motioes to newspapers and tracts. Hence it was, too, that the vindication of Lord Durham's honour became a public concern. It is probable that no one ever doubted his honour; but such a charge as that of betraying cabinet secrets must be metdifficult as it was to do so without a betrayal of cabinet secrets in the act of defence. The thing was done, and

well done, at a banquet given to Lord Durham at Glasgow. on the 29th of October. He there read a letter from Lord Grey which settled the question. Lord Grey declared his opinion that it was impossible for Lord Durham to reveal, for his own justification, anything that had passed in the cabinet; but he offered his own unqualified testimony to Lord Durham's fidelity to his public professions and his official duty. This testimony of the prime minister was enough; and the past was settled. As for the future, there was to be first a passage of words in the House of Lords. To this men began to look forward eagerly. They saw no further, and little dreamed what consequences of this hostility lay hid in the future. And, as a few days proved, they could not see so far as even the opening of 'He has been pleased,' said Lord Durham, of the session. his antagonist, 'to challenge me to meet him in the House of Lords. I know well the meaning of the taunt. He is aware of his infinite superiority over me in one respect; and so am I. He is a practised orator, and a powerful debater. I am not. I speak but seldom in parliament, and always with reluctance in an assembly where I meet with no sympathy from an unwilling majority. He knows full well the advantage which he has over me; and he knows, too, that in any attack which he may make on me in the House of Lords, he will be warmly and cordially supported by them. With all these manifold advantages, almost overwhelming, I fear him not, and I will meet him there, if it be unfortunately necessary to repeat what he was pleased to term my "criticisms."' Thus did the ground appear to be prepared for a new assertion of the people's cause, in regard to the reforms remaining to be achieved : but before the time came, the king had interposed-Lord Brougham had taken leave of office, and the Conservative party was in power. The king, it was understood, did not look forward with any satisfaction to the proposed controversy in the House of Lords; and his mind had long been uneasy about the treatment of the Irish Church by the Whig ministry. He seized the occasion of the death of Lord Spencer-by which Lord Althorp was raised to the peerage-to dismiss his ministers, and seek for satisfaction to his mind from the opposite party.

The surprise to the ministers themselves appears to have been great. All that had happened was that Lord Althorp could no longer be chancellor of the exchequer, from his removal to the Upper House. But Lord Melbourne had an immediate resource in Lord John Russell. He went down to Brighton on the 13th, and remained there till the Friday evening, when he returned to town, to tell his colleagues that the king had sent for the Duke of Wellington. Whether he had anything more to tell whether he understood any secret causes of a change so sudden—or whether he agreed with the general belief as to the king's apprehensions and dislikes, there is no saying. The one fact of the case avowed by Lord Melbourne was, that he was taken by surprise—the cordiality of the king towards himself having never been interrupted.

The event occasioned a prodigious sensation, abroad as well as at home. French politics were forgotten at Paris: and on the guays of New York, New Orleans, and Boston, men stood in groups to read the papers or discuss the news. Here was an experiment of a recurrence to principles of government which had been solemnly, and with much sacrifice on every hand, disavowed by the British nation. The most interesting spectacle to the world now was of the success or failure of the experiment. Those who looked at the weakness and faults of the Whig administrations of the last four years believed it would succeed. Those who looked deeper-into the mind, so lately declared, of the English people-knew that it would fail. But the suspense was exciting and painful-more exciting and painful than people could believe a year afterwards; for it was not long before the Whigs were in again, with Lord Melbourne at their head, but not with Lord Brougham on the woolsack. Lord Brougham now finally left office, after having held the great seal four years. He did not, however, acquiesce at the moment in the relinquishment of all office. The Duke of Wellington could not fill up all the appointments for some time, as Sir Robert Peel's presence was indispensable, and Sir Robert Peel was at Rome; but the lord chancellor must clearly be Lord Lyndhurst, and he was appointed at once-on the 21st of November. Lord Brougham immediately wrote to

him, to offer to take, without salary, the office of chiefbaron, actually held by Lord Lyndhurst. The application did not succeed. Lord Lyndhurst could say nothing till the return of Sir Robert Peel; and before that return, Lord Brougham had withdrawn his request. The public voice on this act was not to be mistaken. Lord Brougham pleaded that his intention was to save £12,000 a year to the country and to spare suitors the evils of a double appeal: but this last object, of the abolition of the vicechancellorship, he had not pursued during the four years when the power of chancery reform was in his hands; and as for the saving of salary, the general feeling was that it would have been no compensation for the evil of the 'political immorality' of taking office under the Conservatives, in a manner which indicated confidence in their remaining in power. Lord Brougham therefore withdrew his application ; but not before the act had affected his political reputation in foreign countries, where all preceding inconsistencies had been allowed for, or unrecognised.

In reviewing his four years of office, the most agreeable point to dwell upon is his activity in his function, and in the cause of law reform. In the summer of 1830, he had brought forward a bill for the establishment of courts of local jurisdiction in certain districts, intended to apply afterwards to the whole of the kingdom. By this measure it was hoped that justice would be rendered cheap and easy of attainment in a number of cases where it could not be had by multitudes, unless brought near their doors. As soon as he was in office-in December 1830-Lord Brougham brought forward this measure in the House of Peers, where it was laid on the table for consideration, being, as Lord Lyndhurst testified, an affair of the very highest importance-one consideration being that it would create fifty new courts, with fifty new judges and their establishments. To the great grief of its author, and of all who intelligently wished that justice should be accessible to every citizen, this, which was called, both lightly and seriously, the Poor Man's Bill, was thrown out by the Lords on the 9th of July 1833. The rejection of the measure was believed to be owing to the fear that it would draw away too much business from the higher courts, impose too much expense, and yield too much patronage. In the session of 1833, Lord Brougham brought in a bill, which was passed by the Commons on the 22nd of August, for abolishing thirteen offices in the Court of Chancery, and reducing others, effecting altogether a saving of about £70,000. Lord Eldon did not think he should be able to persuade himself to go down to parliament again-he had, as God knew, too little strength to spend on an attendance utterly hopeless; and it weighed him down more than he could endure, to observe what was going on there, and how. This was written while waiting upon the progress of this bill, 'vindicating his own conduct' the while, and objecting 'to the haste' with which parliament was abolishing thirteen sinecures which had flourished under his own eye. Alas I there was other haste to object toin the chancellor's judicial function. The clearance of business that he effected in the Court of Chancery was such as to make his predecessor feel as if the 'iron mace,' that Sydney Smith spoke of, were swinging about his ears. 'For twenty-five long years,' said Sydney Smith, just after the coming in of the Grey ministry, 'did Lord Eldon sit in that court, surrounded with misery and sorrow, which he never held up a finger to alleviate. The widow and the orphan cried to him, as vainly as the town-crier cries when he offers a small reward for a full purse; the bankrupt of the court became the lunatic of the court: estates mouldered away, and mansions fell down; but the fees came in. and all was well. But in an instant the iron mace of Brougham shivered to atoms this house of fraud and of delay.' And it is true that from that hour we have heard no more of the delays in the Court of Chancery being ruinous to property, as well as trying to the patience. It is true, also, that there was at the time. and has been since, much impugning of the quality of the judgments which were dispensed so industriously and so promptly. However this may be-whatever might be true about Lord Brougham's qualifications for such a post of judicial decision—there can be no question of the benefit to the country, after so long a rule of Lord Eldon's, of the clearance which was made by Lord Brougham. At

another period, the quality of the judge's law must be the first consideration: then, and for once, there was something more important—that racked minds should be eased, and unsettled minds certified; that a vast amount of deteriorating property should be restored to use and good management; and that the reproach of the highest court of the realm-the reproach of being a bottomless pit of perdition-should cease. In Lord Brougham's farewell to the court, on the 21st of November, he said, after lamenting the compulsion which obliged him to give up the seals in haste: 'I have the greatest satisfaction in reflecting that this court, represented by its enemies as the temple of discord, dolay, and expense, has been twice closed within the space of five months.' He went on to ascribe the merit of this to the vice-chancellor and late master of the rolls, and also to the bar; but these functionaries all existed in Lord Eldon's days, and did not save the court from its reproach. Lord Brougham was himself the spring of their activity, as Lord Eldon had been the check upon it; and Lord Brougham was doubtless entitled to the satisfaction he naturally expressed on this parting occasion. As for the rest, it is not necessary here to enter into the controversy between himself and his contemporaries as to the share he had in promoting some good measures and defeating others. 'I should be only fatiguing you,' he wrote to Mr. Bulwer, 'were I to name the other measures of large and uncompromising reform with which my name is connected.' There were, indeed, many popular interests in former years with which his name was connected; and it should not, and will not, be forgotten, amidst speculations on his short official career, that in early and unpromising days, the most conspicuous advocate of political reforms, and of education, and the most effectual denouncer of negro slavery, and of tyranny in every form, was the Henry Brougham who, in 1834, was sighing for that position among commoners in which he had won his fame. At public meetings in London, and latterly in Scotland, he earnestly put forward his regrets that he had ever quitted the scene of his triumphs, the House of Commons, and his longing to 'undo the patent' of his nobility; and there were many who lamented that he

should ever have left the ranks of opposition. Such now hailed his retirement from office, and the clear indications of circumstances that the retirement was final; for they had a lingering expectation that, though in another House, he might resume his old habits, and be again the hope of the oppressed, and a terror to tyranny in high places.

Lord Althorp, now become Lord Spencer, was thus soon at liberty to enter upon the privacy he sighed for. He never returned to office. Perhaps no man ever left the House of Commons and an official seat about whom there was so little difference of opinion among all parties. Nobody supposed him an able statesman; and nobody failed to recognise his candour, his love of justice, his simplicity of heart, and his kindliness and dignity of temper and manners.

CHAPTER XIII.

Affairs of France—the Duke of Orleans—The Charter—Louis Philippe accepts the Crown—Disquiet—Suicide of the Duke de Bourbon— Disturbance in Paris—Constitution of the Chambers—Abolition of Hereditary Peerago—Electoral Law—Parties—Press Prosecutions— Insurrections—Fortification of Paris—Characteristics of the Reign— Death of Lafayette—Separation of Belgium and Holland—Prince Lecoold King of Belgium—Brunswick—Saxony—Hesse Cassel— Baden—Switzerland—Italy—Spain—Death of the King—Don Carlos —Portugal—Death of Don Pedro—Marriage of the Queen—Her Widowhood—Egypt and Turkey—Poland—Revolt—Defcat of the Poles—Character of the Struggle.

THE affairs of France during this period were only less interesting to the English than their own; and the proceedings of England were commented on by French statesmen of every party from day to day. English Conservatives found cause for apprehension, during the whole struggle for reform, that we were proceeding *pari passu* with the revolutionists of France; and English Liberals watched with interest whether it was so, while French affairs were undecided. The eyes of the world were fixed upon Louis Philippe, Duke of Orleans, from the moment when he accepted the office of lieutenant-general of the kingdom, before Charles X. and the Dauphin sent in their abdication, and set forth for exile. This Louis Philippe, whose father had died on the scaffold in the first revolution, who had known the depths of poverty, and been long lost in obscurity, was now at the head of the French nation; and it was a spectacle of eager interest how he would conduct himself there. He had walked, almost barefooted, over the Alps, and had taught mathematics in a school in Switzerland. He had lived humbly on the banks of the Thames; he had been a modest resident in Philadelphia, where he had fallen in love with a lady whose father refused his addresses as a match too inferior for his daughter; and he was now the centre of order in France, and the hope of all who craved the continuance of monarchy, and also of those who desired a safe and firm republic. The abdication of the king was placed in his hands at eleven o'clock of the night of the 2nd of August; and the next day he opened the session of the chambers, which met punctually according to the order of the late king, given some months before.

His speech declared his disinclination to his present prominent position, but his willingness, as that position was assigned him by the will of the nation, to accept all its consequences—all the consequences of a free government. He pointed out to the chambers the subjects which it was necessary for them to consider first; and especially the fourteenth article of the charter, of which the late ninisters had availed themselves to assume that the king had a power beyond the law, when a crisis should render the observance of the law incompatible with regal rule. While delivering this speech, he stood on the platform vovered with crimson velvet, strewn over with golden *leurs-de-lis*, and with the tricolored flag waving over his head. It was observed that he left the royal chair vacant, ind took the lower seat on the right of the throne, while is second son took that on the left. His duchess and her laughters were present in a gallery provided for the purpose; and every one remarked the expression of mournul gravity in the countenance of the anxious wife-the expression which has marked that countenance to this day.

The chambers were not satisfied with considering the fourteenth article of the charter. There was much besides which must be changed; for what was needed now was not the charter with a new executive, but one declaratory of such new principles as would be a better safeguard than the last had been. The preamble, for instance, declared the charter to be a gift from the king to his people; and if this had ever been true, it was not so now. The whole It was revised; and never, perhaps, had must be revised. a work of so much importance been done so rapidly. The venerable Lafayette, commander-in-chief of the National Guard, kept watch over the deputies to prevent their being disturbed. Vast crowds outside shouted day and night for their various objects, and especially for the abolition of the hereditary peerage; but Lafayette stood between them and the legislature, and permitted no disturbing influences to penetrate to the chamber of deliberation. On the night of the 6th, the whole was prepared. The throne was declared, by the new preamble, vacant by the forfeiture of the whole elder branch of the Bourbons. By alterations in the charter, all Christian denominations of religion were ordained to be supported by the state; and in the following December, the Jewish religion was added. The censorship. of the press was abolished for ever. The king was declared to have no power to suspend the laws, or to dispense with their execution. No foreign troops were to be taken into the service of the state without an express law. The age of eligibility to the chamber was fixed at thirty. These were the alterations; and the charter, thus amended, was placed under the protection of the National Guard and. the citizens of the empire. By a special provision, the peerages conferred by the late king were annulled, and the question of a hereditary peerage was reserved for consideration in the session of 1831. Two peers degraded by this special provision were immediately reinstated—Marshal Soult and Admiral Duperre. Several peers recorded their protest against this act of the Lower Chamber which concerned them; and the whole peerage question stood over to the next session.

There was not, perhaps, a more anxious mind in France than that of Lafayette between the 3rd and the 9th of

August. He was a republican, and he could now have established a republic; but whether France, as a whole, desired it, and whether the French people were fit for it, he could not decide; and the necessity of making a decision was an occasion of great anguish to him. He afterwards believed that he had decided wrong in offering the throne to Louis Philippe; and he never again knew what it was to have an easy mind. His last words, spoken from his pillow, were: 'He is a knave; and we are the victims of his knavery'-' C'est un fourbe; et nous sommes les victimes de sa fourberie.' It was on the night of the 6th of August, as we have seen, that the deputies finished their work. Whether Lafayette hoped or feared delay in the Upper Chamber, there was none. On the 7th, the peers passed the measure—only ten being dissentient on any part but that relating to their own order. The old royalist Chateaubriand objected to the throne being declared vacant while the infant son of the Duke de Berri lived; but these were no times for a child to occupy the throne; and the exclusion of the whole of the elder branch of the Bourbons was a point on which the nation at large was determined. Lafayette's time for deliberation was past. On the 9th he had to assist in offering the constitution and the crown to Louis Philippe.

The time was so short as to place the foreign ambassadors in great difficulty. They could not receive instructions from home; and at the ceremony, while every other part of the chamber of Deputies was crowded, their gallery contained only ladies and a few attachés. The golden fleurs-de-lis had disappeared from the drapery about the throne, and four large tricolored flags were disposed behind it. Instead of the anointing of the sovereign, there was to be the solemnity of swearing to the charter. Ninety peers were present: and those absent were the seventy six of the creation of the late king, and those who had protested against the new charter. The royalist deputies were all absent. At the opening of the business, the duke was seated on a chair in front of the throne, his head covered, and his sons standing on either hand. While thus seated, he asked that the declaration of the 7th of August, as agreed to by the peers, should be read, and then delivered to him, and then said, addressing the peers and the deputies: 'I have read with great attention the declaration of the Chamber of Deputies, and the act of agreement of the Chamber of Peers. I have weighed and meditated all their expressions. I accept, without restriction or reserve, the clauses and engagements which this declaration contains, and the title of King of the French which it confers upon me; and I am ready to swear to their observance.' Here he rose, and received in his left hand the form of the oath. The whole assembly rose, in solemn emotion; and the new king, baring his head, and raising his right hand, pronounced the oath in a firm, clear, and solemn voice: 'In the presence of God, I swear to observe faithfully the constitutional charter, with the modifications expressed in the declaration; to govern only through the laws, and according to the laws; to cause good and exact justice to be rendered to every one according to his right, and to act in all things with a single view to the interest, the happiness, and the glory of the French nation.' The diversity of the cries which composed the acclamation that followed was remarked by all, and derided by some who said that the very legislature did not know what to call the new king they had been in such a hurry to make. 'Long live the king !'-'Long live Philippe the Seventh !'--' Long live Philippe the First !' were the cries, which, however, soon mingled in one great shout of 'Long live the King of the French!' Others thought it a good symbol of the absorption of ancient territorial regalities in the chieftainship of a people.

The man has lived long; the king not so long. There was a picture of this ceremonial—of Louis Philippe swearing to the charter—which men thought would remain through many ages as a historical record of a great new era in the history of France. Men thought that their posterity in distant centuries would look upon the central figure of that picture—the bared head, the raised hand, the lettered parchment—and would regard them as the insignia of a new and lofty chieftainship, under which liberty and peace should be established in France. But already that picture has been torn from its frame in the royal palace, and carried out to be draggled in the dust, and cut to shreds. The act which it represented had rottenness in it; and one characteristic of the time which had set in was, as indeed it is of all times since the dark ages, that nothing abides that is not sound and true.

Four marshals of France now brought the Crown and sceptre, and other insignia of royalty, with which they invested the new king. As he returned with his family to the Palais Royal, escorted by the National Guard, the multitude extended to the remotest points within view; and, of that sea of heads, all eyes were fixed upon the citizen king. At the same moment, the displaced family were taking their way, neglected and forlorn, to the coast --the very peasants on the road scarcely looking up at them as they passed.

For a while—a very little while—all looked gay and bright about the new royal family-except the countenance of the mournful queen. She and her daughters visited in the hospitals the wounded of the days of July. The king invited to his table members of the deputations which came to congratulate him on his courage in accepting the crown. Sometimes there were officers of the National Guard, sometimes students from the colleges. sometimes municipal dignitaries from the provinces, sitting down to dinner with the king and his many children, like a large family-party. These children were idolised. Together with caricatures of the exiled family were handed about prints of the Orleans group, each member of which was made beautiful, noble, or graceful. All this was very natural. A fearful oppression had been removed; the revolution had been nobly conducted, and now there was a bright new hope to gladden many hearts. But under all this there were the elements of future trouble; and distress was already existing to a fearful extent. The pains and penalties of revolution were upon the people, and amidst all the rejoicing, there was stagnation of trade, depression of commercial credit, and hunger among the operative classes. Higher in society, there was a beginning of that conflict between the parties of movement and resistance which is a necessary consequence of political convulsion. Before the end of the year, two administrations had been in power; the first VOL. III.

containing originally but one member of the movement party, but being presently rendered a coalition government; and the second being perpetually in collision with the Chamber of Deputies. The executive was kept in continual anxiety by seditious movements which took place, in capital or country, at short intervals. The royal family, besides its share in all these interests, had to endure a great shock in the suicide of the Duke de Bourbon, the last of the Condés. He had been one of the Bourbon exiles. and retained the prejudices of his party; and whether his suicide was owing to his grief at the revolution, or to domestic miseries, it was most painful to the family of the new king, to one of whose sons he bequeathed the greater part of his wealth, under domestic influences of a dishonourable character. Thus, amidst much gloom and apprehension, closed the year of the revolution, leaving much to be done and endured during the next.

In February, a most alarming disturbance took place in Paris, which ended in the sacking of a church, and the destruction of the Archbishop's palace. The anniversary of the assassination of the Duke de Berri was kept by a religious service, notwithstanding a warning from the Archbishop of Paris of the danger of such an appeal to political passions. Some one fastened a print of the little Duke de Bourdeaux on the drapery of the funeral-car in the church, and placed over it a crown of everlastings. The crown was pulled to pieces by royalists who were anxious to wear its blossoms next their hearts. Murmurs spread, and the excitement was presently such as to call for the clearance of the church by the National Guard. But the people outside turned their indignation against the priest and the archbishop who might have prevented this royalist scandal; and the mob rose against the church and the palace, and destroyed also the archbishop's countryhouse. One consequence of this riot was that the fleur-delis now disappeared altogether. It had been twined round the crosses in the churches and elsewhere, to symbolise the union of devotion and lovalty; and now it was found that if they were not separated, the cross would be made to share the fate of the 'flowers of kings.' The

government charged itself 'with stripping the crosses of their lilies; the seal of state was altered, and the fleur-delis was proscribed thus soon after those who had worn it. Before the year was out, the chambers had decreed the perpetual banishment of the elder branch of the Bourbons, and the sale of all their effects within six months. The same measure was dealt out to the family of Napoleon.

As for the other measures of the parliament, the most important regarded the constitution of the two chambers. The hereditary peerage was abolished: and the power of the king to nominate peers was restricted within certain defined classes of persons, under declared conditions of fortune and length of service. It is difficult to see what remained after this to make a peerage desirable-at least, without a change of name. To sit in an Upper House, and be graced by the sovereign, might be an honour; but it is one altogether apart from all former ideas of peerage. It was easy to carry this bill through the Chamber of Deputies; but what was to be done next? There was no doubt of a majority in the Upper House against the abolition of the hereditary principle. It was necessary to create peers for the occasion; and there was a creation of thirty-six. The liberals were as angry as the peers at this proceeding, which they considered illegal and tyran-The plea of the government was the singular nical. nature of the emergency. The peers showed their wrath in sullen silonce; the liberals in clamour. During the whole proceeding, scarcely a sound was heard in the Upper Chamber. The voting was conducted, as nearly as possible, as it would have been in an assembly of the The majority by which the hereditary peerage dumb. was abolished in France was thirty-three. One touching incident which followed upon this act was that thirteen peers sent in to the president of their chamber, a week or two afterwards, their abdication of their rank and privileges. In their letters they assigned as their reason the abolition of the hereditary principle. The president received the letters, but refused to read them aloud. In considering the conduct of the British House of Lords with regard to the Reform Bill, it should be borne in mind what was passing in France. When there was a

threat of a large creation of peers to carry the bill, it was by a natural association of ideas that British noblemen, seeing what was doing at Paris, apprehended the abolition of their hereditary dignities, and looked upon their eldest sons as too likely to become commoners, while the family titles and honours would either expire, or be given to some stranger, as the reward of public service, to pass at his death to some other stranger. That such were the apprehensions of some nobles at home, while the thing was actually done in France, there can be no doubt; nor ought there to be much wonder.

The new electoral law, the French Reform Bill, was the most important subject of all that had occurred since the days of July. The number of electors to the Chamber of Deputies had hitherto been about 94,000 for the whole kingdom; and their qualification had consisted in the payment of yearly taxes to the amount of 300 francs (£12). The ministers proposed to double the number, taking the electors from the largest tax-payers. The project was not approved; and, after much debate, the bill that was carried provided a constituency somewhat exceeding 200,000, in a population of 30,000,000; the qualification being lowered to the payment of £9 per annum in taxes. That a constituency so small should have satisfied a people who had achieved a revolution for the sake of it, indicates that the principle of a representative system of government was little understood as yet in France. There was one, however, who understood it but too well; and that was the king. He now sanctioned the law: and from this first year of his reign to its last day, he was employed in virtually narrowing the constituency, and extending his own power over it by means of patronage, till, in the imminent peril that the representation would become as mere a mockery as in the time of his predecessor, his strong hand of power was snatched away from the institution which he had grasped for his own purposes. In 1831, however, he accepted the new electoral law, and congratulated his people on the enlargement of their representative rights.

Nothing in the record of this period is more interesting to us now than to read the declarations on the principles of

the politics of the day made by two men, conspicuous in that and in a later revolution-the king and M. Guizot. Guizot was a member of the king's first administration, and of his last. We find on record the opinions of both, in this first year of the revolution, on the character of the two great parties-of the movement and of resistance. On the opening of the new chamber in July of this year, M. Guizot declared himself to be, where it was the business of the government to be, between these two parties. After declaring that the resistance-the conservative-party would be gradually won upon by the blessings of good government, he said to the chamber: 'The other is the party that you have to deal with. That party, which I will not call the republican, but the bad revolutionary party, weakened and exhausted, is, at this time, thank God, incapable of repentance and amendment. The revolution of July is all that there was good, sound, and national in our first revolution ; and the whole converted into a government. This is the struggle which you have to maintain, between the revolution of July-that is, between all that is good, sound, and national, from 1789 to 1830; and the bad revolutionary party-that is, the rump of our first revolution, or, all that there was of bad, unsound, and anti-national, from 1789 to 1830. The king, in a speech in answer to a provincial address, in the early part of the year, had given his view of this matter, in terms familiar at this day to all who have ears: 'We endeavour to preserve the just medium (juste milieu), equally distant from the excesses of popular power on the one hand, and the abuses of royal power on the other.' This phrase, un juste milieu, thus creditable in its origin, became discredited by subsequent events. It was from this moment indissolubly associated with the policy of the king and his cabinet; and it presently came to share their disgraces. After having for years heard it used as the nickname of a tampering and hypocritical despotism, it is interesting to revert to the origin of this familiar term.

From this time a cursory view of the politics of France presents little but a painful spectacle of a disguised conflict between the king and his people. In 1832, the king began his prosecutions of the press, which were carried on for the rest of his reign to such an extent as makes the

historical reader wonder that they were endured so long as they were. It was not only that newspapers were watched over and punished for their political articles, but that paragraphs in ridicule or censure of the king himself were laid hold of, and the authors subjected to cruel imprisonment. It required no small courage to brave such hatred as the king incurred when, for a libel against himself, he snatched a young man from his bride and his home, and shut him up for a term of years-the victim fainting three times while his head was shaved on his entering his prison after sentence. When such punishments were inflicted by tens, by fifties, the king could not expect to be beloved, even by those to whom the name of public order was most sacred. And he showed no sign of a desire to be beloved, but only to preserve order by the means which seemed to him best. The excuse of his libellers was, that he merged his function of king in that of minister; that he did not reign, but govern; and that he had therefore no right to complain of the same amount of criticism and comment which would be put up with by any one of his ministers. He chose, however, to be both minister and king, and he compelled others, as well as himself, to take the consequences. Within three years of the accession of Louis Philippe, the number of prosecutions of the press on the part of the government was 411. Out of this number there were 143 condemnations. This was not exactly the method of government that the nation had hoped to obtain by their revolution; but they bore with more than could previously have been expected. They were weary of changes and tumults, and thankful to be spared the expense and burden of war. In the hope that the resources of the country would improve under a peace policy, like that of Louis Philippe, the great middle classes of France were willing to bear with much, in order to gain time, and wait for natural change. The discontents of the injured therefore showed themselves in acts without concert—in attacks on the king's life, and libels against his character: and in occasional insurrections. Among the most formidable of these were two in 1832-one in Paris, on occasion of the funeral of General Lamarque, and supposed to be the work of the republican party: and the other in La

Vendée, for the purpose of restoring the old branch of the Bourbons in the person of the Duc de Bourdeaux, whose mother conducted the insurrection. During the revolt in Paris, the capital was declared in a state of siege; on the legality of which there were endless discussions afterwards -hurtful to the influence of the government. The provincial insurrection was put down, and the Duchess de Berri taken prisoner. The affair ended in a manner most mortifying to the exiled family, and ludicrous in all other The devoted mother, the widow of the murdered eves. prince, the pathetic symbol in her own person of the woes of the banished line, gave birth to an infant in prison, and was thereby compelled to avow a private marriage in Italy. Everybody laughed at this proof of a divided devotion, and the heroine was allowed on her recovery to go where she would. She did not go to Holyrood, to meet the reproaches of the sufferers whom she had made ridiculous.

It was after these revolts that the vigilant among French patriots observed with uneasiness the stealthy progress of measures for fortifying Paris. Strong works were rising in commanding positions round the capital; and when inquiry was made, the name of Napoleon was put forth by Marshal Soult. Napoleon had resolved to fortify Paris, and had fixed on these very positions. But then, it was answered, that was during the hundred days, when he had reason to apprehend attacks from all the world. France was not now in apparent danger of invasion from any quarter; and the vigilant intimated their suspicion that these fortifications were intended to be held, not for, but against Paris. In 1833 the minister required from the chamber, when he brought in his budget, a grant of 2,000,000 francs (above £83,000) for carrying on the works. The deputies protested against a series of detached forts, and demanded that, if there were any fortifications at all, they should be in the form of circuit-walls, which might be manned, against a foreign enemy, by the National Guard or the citizens. The government held to its right to fortify the towns of the kingdom in its own way, without being called to account about the method; and the chamber refused the amount by a large majority. The works, however, proceeded; the vigilance of the

citizens increased; there was reason to apprehend a forcible demolition of these works—raised by invisible funds; and at length the workmen were dismissed, and all was quiet for a time.

In the affairs of government, however, there was no quiet. There were several changes of ministry during the year 1834; more suppression of journals and political societies: more riots in Paris and Lyon: and at one time. some danger of a war with the United States, about a money-claim which France at last hastened to satisfy, to avoid war. The king made more and more advances towards being the sole ruler of the country, with mere servants under him in the name of ministers. The substantial middle class grew more and more afraid of disturbance, the longer they enjoyed the blessings of external They escaped the qualms of a consciousness of order. their having bartered freedom for quiet, by endeavouring, as much as possible, to avoid the whole subject of politics. Those who felt the despotism, in their consciences, intellects, and affections, became disheartened under this apathy and contentedness of the middle classes, and stirred less and less under the incubus. It was no wonder that the king himself, and large classes of his people, and almost all foreigners, believed that his system was completely succeeding; that he had found out the way to govern the French; and that his reign would be memorable in history as the close of a long period of disturbance -memorable for its strengthening success from the beginning onwards, and for its peaceful close. Yet there were men in England at that date-sensible and moderate men-who said that Louis Philippe might possibly, though not probably, die a king; but that, if he did, he would be the last: and that no son of his would ever be King of the French. At the close of this period, however, he seems himself to have been satisfied with his progress, and sincerely believing that he was doing what was best for the people under his care. By a rapid and perpetual extension of functionarism—by planting officials all over the country to do the work of central departments seated in Paris-he was casting a net over France, by means of which he could draw the representation into his own

hands, and govern with ever-improving unity of planstill and always for the nation's own good. Thus it seems to have been with France at the close of 1834.

In the course of this year, a silent censor was removed -a witness of old times whose presence was a perpetual rebuke to a citizen-king engaged in fortifying Paris. Lafayette died in May, and was laid in the ground without commotion-owing partly to the strong force of soldiery sent to the spot on the pretext of military honours to the deceased, and partly to the timidity and apathy which had grown on the middle classes. A vast multitude, orderly and silent, attended the funeral; and there was no discourse at the grave. It was left to other countries to pronounce his funeral discourse; and it was done, as by one impulse, by all whom he had assisted to political freedom, from the western boundaries of America to the depths of Germany. The reputation of Lafayette, both in its nature and extent, is as striking a tribute to virtue as can be furnished by any age. In him were collected all virtues but those which require high intellectual power for their development; and he was at least as much adored as any such idols of the time as had more intellectual power and less virtue. It was a misfortune to the world that his magnanimity had not as much of strength as it had of purity; for he was repeatedly placed in those critical positions when an individual will, put forth at a moment's warning, decides the destiny of a nation. On such occasions he showed himself weak; and through the same irresolution, such services as he rendered to his country were of a somewhat desultory nature, and seldom fully successful. But the love in which he was held showed that, for once, a man was estimated by the true rule-by what he was, and not by what he did. He could not achieve great enterprises; but he could meet danger anywhere, endure loathsome imprisonment at Olmütz, protest against wrong in the French Convention, fight under Washington for American independence, decline the headship of the republic in France, in order to put the crown on the head of Louis Philippe; and when he found that he had therein committed an error, retire to his farm, to end his life in humility and silence. He could pass

through a life of seventy-six years without showing a sign of selfish ambition, or any other kind of cupidity. He traversed a purgatory of human passions without a singe from any flame, or a single flutter of fear in his heart; the angel of compassion walking with him as his guard in that furnace. His goodness so clothes his whole image to men's eyes, that they forget his rank, and do not inquire for his talents; and in our age and state of society, this is the strongest possible testimony to the nobleness of his character. Lafayette was born of a noble family in Auvergne, in 1757, and early married a lady of rank equal to his own. He died, in his seventy-seventh year, on the 20th of May 1834.

At the very first revolutionary stir in Europe, Belgium began to move. The arbitrary union of Holland and Belgium had never answered; and Belgium was now bent on its being dissolved. There was no power of compulsion existing which could enforce a longer union against the will of a nation, however small, which was unanimous in a desire to live by itself, and after its own manner; so, after much marching and counter-marching of the Prince of Orange and his troops, and the rising of an insurgent army, and messages from the king, and consultations of the states-general, and a grand concluding bombardment of Antwerp, which called in the allies to interfere, the independence of Belgium was declared at Brussels, in November 1830; a monarchical government was decided on. and a vote of exclusion passed against the House of Orange. The Dutch people showed no particular reluctance to the separation; and there was therefore nothing to be done but to give up Antwerp to the Belgians, and leave them to settle their own affairs. It is somewhat amusing at this day to the English traveller to hear at Rotterdam the carping statement of Dutch merchants, and to witness their eagerness to disparage the trade of Antwerp; and at Antwerp to see the efforts made to exhibit its small commerce to the best advantage. It is, on a large scale, the spectacle of a village shop-partnership dissolved in a quarrel, where each party keeps a watch over his neighbour's custom, and is sure he cannot live by it, while neither wishes that the two concerns

should come together again. The rest of the world hopes that there may be business enough for both ; and in the separation of Holland and Belgium, both had the good wishes of England. The Dutch heir-apparent had been educated by an English archbishop, and had been a suitor for the hand of the Princess Charlotte-a suitor refused only by herself, and not from any ill-will in other quarters ; and the prince finally chosen by the Belgians to be their new king was the husband of the Princess Charlotte, and the uncle of the presumptive heiress of the British throne. Thus was England in amity with both countries when Prince Leopold became King of the Belgians. There was trouble for some time afterwards, from the difficulty that was naturally found in bringing the Dutch government to acquiesce in the new arrangements, and from some fear that France and England might have to sustain the cause of Belgium against Holland, supported by the other allied powers. It was by French arms at last that the citadel of Antwerp was compelled to evacuate its Dutch garrison. France was by this time closely united to the interests of Belgium. The King of the French refused the sovereignty for his son, the Duke de Nemours, to whom it was offered at the beginning of the struggle; but he gave his eldest daughter to share the throne of Belgium with Leopold. the marriage taking place in the autumn of 1832.

It was in the autumn of 1830 that the little duchy of Brunswick threw off the annovance of its turbulent young ruler. By advice of the British and other sovereigns. the brother of the absconding duke assumed his place and government, according to the invitation of his subjects .---In Saxony, the cry for various reforms was so strong that the king, an indolent devotee, associated his nephew with him in the government, as joint-regent, the young man's father, Duke Maximilian, passing over in his favour his own right of succession to the throne. Duke Frederick Augustus thus became the virtual ruler of Saxony.--In Hesse Cassel, the people were up, demanding and obtaining, a constitution.-There was a dispute about the succession at Baden .- In Switzerland, the governments of the respective cantons, threatened by the stir within and beyond their country, hastened to propitiate popular feeling by a

reform of abuses, and amelioration of institutions, and a grant of stronger guarantees of liberty.—In the next vear there were insurrections in several of the Italian states; but the troops of Austria marched down, presently restored order, and precluded all ameliorations in the government.-In Spain, the king died in 1833, of apoplexy, His little daughter, then occasioned by over-eating. three years old, was declared queen, under the regency of her mother, that Christina of whom France and England have since had occasion to know so much. These two governments were the first to acknowledge the young Queen of Spain. The other governments of Europe kept aloof till it could be seen what would become of Don Carlos, the pretender, who had now been driven from the soil of Spain, and had taken refuge in Portugal. This pretender was, for a course of years after this, of some consequence to England; for he served as a last refuge for the sympathies and hopes of the extreme Tories, when disappointed of all that they desired and hoped at home. It is necessary for such sympathies, and for that royalist imagination which has in it much that is venerable and beautiful, to have some object on which to exercise themselves; and the world is seldom without some fugitive prince, devoutly persuaded of his own right to some throne, who leads brave men with him, and is cheered on by romantic admirers from afar. There were now no more Stuarts; and Don Miguel, of Portugal, was too bad even for romance to advocate; but here was Don Carlos of Spain, whose case actually bore a dispute, who had lived among mountain fastnesses, and was now in exile, but likely to return; and here was the Whig administration espousing without hesitation, and in conjunction with revolutionary France, the cause of the infant queen, and hastening to acknowledge her sovereignty. It was no wonder that a peer here and there, and a few rich commoners, seeing all going to wreck at home in the passage of the Reform Bill, retired to their estates, and there studied the map of Spain, and thence wrote to the Spanish pretender accounts of the progress of revolution in England, and offers of sympathy, service, and hospitality, in case of need.-In Portugal, Don Pedro conducted the

war against his guilty brother in person-amidst much hardship and many reverses, till, in 1834, having been assisted by British ships and a Spanish army, he drove the usurper from the peninsula, assembled the cortes, was appointed to the regency on the 28th of August, and died on the 22nd of September. Two days before his death, . the queen was declared of age by a decree of the cortes. who feared to commit the powers of government to any other hand. Some steps had been already taken in regard to her marriage, and on the 1st of December she married the Duke de Leuchtenberg, the son of Eugene Beauharnois, and already a family connection by marriage. The union seemed to promise well, as far as the character of the young man was concerned; but it was presently dissolved. The marriage had taken place by proxy; the prince arrived in Portugal in February, and in March died of sore throat occasioned by cold.

These events in the west of Europe were interesting; but less so than what was going on in the east. The Pacha of Egypt was acquiring the possessions of Turkey almost as fast as his forces could march over them. Under the command of his adopted son and avowed heir. Ibrahim Pacha, his army had taken possession of the whole of Syria—perhaps not much to the discontent of the Syrians themselves-and by the end of 1832 the Egyptian general had passed the Taurus, on his way to Constantinople. The abasement of Turkey was extreme. It was this Egyptian vassal whose aid had supported her in her struggle with the three powers; and now, what could she do but appeal to Russia for assistance against her own vassal? The next year, she did so appeal, to the great annoyance of France and England, whose object was to keep Turkey out of the grasp of Russia. Mohammed Ali was remonstrated with; and he showed great moderation in the midst of some anger. He had made war only when the Porte had interfered with what he considered his right to conduct a quarrel of his own with a brothervassal-the governor of Acre. He made no difficulty about stopping the march of his army; but, before Ibrahim turned back, he had obtained from the Porte all that he chose to demand. Early in the summer of 1833, Mohammed Ali found himself master of all the provinces from the borders of Asia Minor to the unknown retreats of the infant Nile; and he had himself learned, and had shown the world, how easy it was to march upon Constantinople, and knock at the doors of the sultan's seraglio. It was of his own free pleasure that Ibrahim turned back now. He was soon seen in every part of the Syria he had won for his father, taking barbarous vengeance on his enemies, when so inclined; but, at the same time, building hospitals, repairing mosques, promoting agriculture, taking an interest in manufactures, and everywhere securing, with the whole force of his authority, toleration and good treatment of the Christians.

Russia had answered promptly and gladly to the appeal of the Porte for protection; but she had some engrossing affairs on her hands elsewhere. It was during the revolutionary autumn of 1830-that season of political earthquake-that the oppressions of the Russian Grandduke Constantine at Warsaw became so intolerable, that it may be questioned whether they would not have produced the same results, whether the rest of Europe were on the stir or in a dead sleep. Some students of the military school had drunk to the memory of Kosciuszko and other heroes. The grand-duke caused two successive commissions to sit on this offence; and the decision being, in each case, that there was no ground for punishment, the grand-duke took the affair into his own hands, and, without warrant of law, ordered some of the youths to be flogged and others imprisoned. The young men rose; the Polish part of the garrison joined them; and then the townspeople began to act. They helped themselves with arms from the arsenal, and aided in driving out the Russian soldiery, amidst fearful bloodshed, from the streets of Warsaw. It was on the 29th of November that the students rose; and on the 3rd of December, Constantine was travelling towards the frontier, having recommended all establishments, persons, and property, to the protection of the Polish nation.

In this short interval, six Polish nobles had taken the place of some obnoxious members in the administrative council, and had presented to the grand-duke their pro-

positions for various reforms, and their demand for the fulfilment of the constitution. Everything was still done in the name of the emperor. When Constantine set out on his journey home, it was thought at Warsaw so doubtful how the emperor would receive the tidings of what had happened, that it would be as well to provide for defence, if he should be very angry. The Poles did not yet know Nicholas, and the character and power of his wrath. The day was coming when fierce torture of the heart and mind was to show what it was. It was nothing uncommon to be forming and exercising a force, as the Poles now were. They were a military people, and their organisation had been kept up by Russia. The worst feature in their case was the absence of any port. They had no command of the sea, either for the arrival of aid, or for facility of escape. At the close of the year their prospect was an anxious one. If Russia should be incensed, Prussia and Austria would join her to put down the nuisance of Poland. But the die was cast. News must soon arrive. Meantime, the commander-in-chief, Klopicki, was made dictator, in case of its being necessary to prosecute the rebellion. It was necessary. The first news from St. Petersburg was, that the emperor promised to inflict signal vengeance for the 'horrid treason' of the Poles.

And the emperor kept his word. At the beginning of the year 1831, his wrath was announced to the Polish nation; and at the beginning of February, his armies began to pass over the frontier. When it had become clear that Poland must declare for independence, the dictatorship had been exchanged for a council of state, consisting of a few of the most eminent patriots. Before the end of the year, all was over; the constitution of Poland was withdrawn; she was declared an integral part of Russia :' her nobles were on the way to Siberia; her high-born ladies were delivered over for wives to the common soldiers on the frontier; her tenderly reared infants were carried away in waggon-loads to be made Russians, and trained to worship the czar. Polish law was abolished; the Polish language was prohibited; and the emperor uttered his declaration to listening Europe: "Order reigns in Warsaw."

The spectacle of the conflict had been one of intense interest to the world outside. The struggle had been a brave, an able, and, under the circumstances, a long one; and there were times when the most anxious observers had some hope that the Poles might succeed. The word 'hope' may be used here without reserve, because the sympathy was almost all on one side. The highest conservatives might and did sympathise with the Polish rebels; for there were no higher conservatives in the world than these Polish rebels themselves. If their deep-rooted conservatism, their intensely aristocratic spirit, had been understood by the liberals of Europe and America from the beginning, there would perhaps have been less sympathy in their efforts, and certainly less hope of their success. It was not till long afterwards that the discovery was made that the Poles had been fighting-for nationality, it is true-but not for national freedom: that they had not the remotest idea of giving any liberty to the middle and lower classes of their people; and that they carried their proud oligarchical spirit with them into the mines of Siberia, the drawingrooms of London and Paris, and the retreats of the Mississippi valley. This is not mentioned as a matter of censure, but of plain fact, which it is necessary to know. in order to the understanding of their case. They strove for all that they understood; and they did, for he rescue of their nationality, all that bravery and devotedness could do. To contend for popular freedom was another kind of enterprise, of which they had no conception, and for not understanding which, therefore, they cannot be blamed. But it is to this inability that their utter destruction is now, at last, seen or believed to be owing. They themselves impute their latter disasters to dissensions among themselves; and there were dissensions enough to account for any degree of failure. But it also seems clear that their cause was doomed from the beginning, from the absence of any basis of popular sympathy. The great masses were indifferent, or rather disposed in favour of Russian than of Polish rule. They did not know that they should be better off under a change, and they might be worse; so they let the armies pass their

fields, and scarcely looked up as they went by. No cause could prosper under such a dead weight as this. This view, now generally taken, is borne out by the impressions left by the exiles in the countries where they have taken refuge. Everywhere, all homes, all hearts, all purses, have been open to them-for hard and narrow must be the hearts and homes that would not welcome and receive strangers so cruelly afflicted, and so insufferably oppressed; and everywhere the impression left seems to be the same-that the Poles undertook an enterprise for which they were not morally prepared. They could sacrifice their lives and fortunes; and they could fight bravely and most skilfully for any cause to which they would give the lustre of their arms. But something more than these things, fine as they are, is required to entitle men to the honour of the last contention for nationality : an humble industry must be united to the magnanimous courage of the battle-field; aristocratic pride must be laid down when its insignia are thrown into the common cause; and the most intense hatred of tyranny is an insufficient qualification, if it be not accompanied by an answering enthusiasm for human liberties wherever there are human hearts to be ennobled by the aspiration, Many of the Polish exiles have caught something of this enthusiasm in the countries over which they have been scattered by their revolution; but it does not appear to have been the moving force of their struggle for nationality in 1831.

129

VOL. III.

K

CHAPTER XIV.

Rovalty in England—The Coronation of William IV.—The Princess Victoria—Assault on the King—Popular Ignorance—Riots—Anatomy Bill—Medical Education—Criminal Trials—Steam in the East —Conveyance of Mails—Diving to Wrecks—The Drummond Light —Polar Discovery—Islington Cattle Market—Peterborough Cathedral—New London Bridge—Education—British Association Meetings—Statistics of Suicide—Duelling—Loss of the Rothersuy Castle— Fire at the Dublin Custom-house—Burning of Houses of Parliament —Necrology—Political Deaths—Men of Science—Scamen and Travellers — Actors—Musicians — Architects — Antiquarians — Artists — Authors—Philanthropists.

THE accession of William IV. was really enjoyed by his people, as affording exercise to their loyal feelings, and giving them the opportunity so dear to Englishmen of talking about royal doings, and obtaining an occasional glimpse of regality itself. Through the illness of George III. and the morbid fancies of his successor, royalty had for many years lived so retired as to be known only in its burdens and its perplexities. Now it came forth again, not only on Windsor Terrace, but into the very streets, and sometimes on foot-with friendly face and cordial Amusing stories - amusing to most people, but manners. shocking to Lord Eldon-were soon abroad of the curious liberties taken by forward and zealous people, in their delight at finding themselves not afraid of royalty. On one of the first occasions of their majesties' going to the theatres in tate, there was an exhibition of placards in gallery and pit, evidently by concert-placards bearing the words 'Reform' and 'Glorious King.' At a word from a policeman, the placards were withdrawn; but here was a 'revolutionary symptom' for the timid to exercise their apprehensions upon. The coronation, which took place on the 8th of September 1831, was a quiet affair, befitting the accession of a sovereign who was humbly and reasonably aware that his reign must be short, and undistinguished by any energetic personal action. There was no banquet, and the royal procession returned through the streets at

three o'clock. The king and his ministers gave great dinners at home, and London was illuminated in the evening. There was one person present in all minds, who was absent from the ceremony—she who was, in all probability, to fill the principal place at the next. It was given out that the state of the Princess Victoria's health made it desirable that she should remain in retirement in the Isle of Wight; and perhaps it was best, considering her tender age, and her peculiar position, that she should. She was only twelve years old; and, if certain authorities are to be trusted, had only within a year become fully aware that a regal destiny was before her.

It was now time that overt preparation for that destiny should be made, if it was to be done, as it ought to be done, gradually. In the next year, we see her beginning a series of tours, wherein were embraced all the good objects of health, of her becoming acquainted with the principal institutions, monuments, and scenes of the country of which she was to be sovereign, and of her being inured to move in public. In 1831, the journey comprehended the singular old city of Chester, several cathedrals, some noblemen's seats, where the royal party were entertained, and ending with the University of Oxford. During these tours, the young princess, who at home was wont to walk out in thick shoes and a warm cloak, in all weathers, on a common or through fields and lanes, was familiarised with the gaze of a multitude, and with processions, addresses, and observances, such as she must hereafter be accustomed to for her whole life. The management was good; and we may suppose the recreation was pleasant, for it has been kept up. Of all royal recreations, there can be none more unquestionably good than that of an annual tour. If there is more dulness and constraint, and less intellectual freedom and stir, in royal life than in any other, this is a natural safeguard and remedy, as far as it goes. A large accession of ideas must accrue from annual travel; and there is no other method by which the distance between sovereign and people can be so much and so naturally diminished as by the sovereign going forth from the palace among universities, and towns, and villages, and scattered dwellers on wild heaths and the sea-shore. To those that

к 2

hope that the practice and its pleasures may be renewed for many, many years, it is interesting to mark its formal beginning, in the autumn of 1832.

Amidst all the alarms talked about by the anti-reformers during the 'revolutionary period' under our notice, there was less danger and even disrespect to majesty than has been common in much quieter times. It was impossible for a sovereign to incur the consequences of a change of mind about a course of policy to which he stood pledged without suffering more or less; but William IV. was gently dealt with, considering the circumstances. The utmost suspicion could not make out that his life was in danger from political discontents; and on the two occasions when his life was threatened, the ill-conditioned wretches who threw the stone and wrote the letter gave their private wrongs and wants as their excuse. On the first occasion, a depraved old pensioner, five times turned out of Greenwich Hospital for misconduct, thought he 'would have a shy at the king,' and put stones in his pocket for the purpose. At the first 'shy,' he struck the king on the forehead, as his majesty was looking out of the window at Ascot races. But that he wore his hat, the king might have been seriously hurt. As it was he was somewhat stunned, but presented himself again at the window before there was time for alarm. Though this happened at so critical a season as June 1832, it was impossible for the most ingenious alarmist to connect it with politics.

There is little in this period to yield comfort as to the state of popular enlightenment. The proceedings of the Dorsetshire labourers were marked by an astonishing barbarism. In introducing agricultural labourers into their union, they used death's heads, and hobgoblin mysteries, the very mention of which carries back the imagination five hundred years.—During the years 1831 and 1832, we find records of enclosure riots, of a formidable kind. In one place, the poor people fancied that fencing in boggy land was against the law altogether; and in another, that the law expired in twenty-one years from the first inclosure in 1808; and in both these instances, the levelling of fences went on, night after night, till nothing was left; and the soldiers were pelted, and ex-

asperated proprietors were wounded, and a world of mischief done, because the poor people knew no better than to suppose they were struggling for their rights .---Then we have more combination horrors-more ferocity towards capitalists, and tyranny over operatives, exercised by a very few worthless meddlers, who feasted on the earnings of the honest but unenlightened men whom they made their tools. We find the leaders of strikes cutting pieces out of the looms, and thrashing and stabbing men who were content with their wages, and only anxious to be left free to maintain their families by their own industry .-- One of the most formidable riots of the time took place on the day appointed for a general fast, on account of the cholera-the 21st of March 1832. An ignorant and violent association, which called itself the Political Union of the Working-classes, and which subsisted for only a short time, failing in all its aims, raised a fearful mob-power by offering to feed the hungry with bread and meat, in Finsbury Square, instead of observing the fast. Alarmed at their prospect when it was too late, they failed to appear; and no bread and meat were forthcoming. It is said that the assemblage of the hungry that day-amidst a season of deep distress-was enough to appal the stoutest heart. The emaciated frames and haggard faces were sad to see; but far worse was the wrath in their eyes at the mockery, as they conceived it, of an order to fast to avert the cholera, when here were above 20,000 poor creatures in danger of cholera from fasting and other evils of destitution. As their wrath and their hunger increased, and the women among them grew excited, conflicts with the police began; and before the multitude were dispersed to their wretched lurking-places. more hungry than they came, there had been some severe fighting. More than twenty of the police were wounded, and many of the crowd.-The incitements to rick-burning, machine-breaking, and seizure of corn, addressed to the agricultural population in 1831 by Carlile and Cobbett, were so gross as would not have been dreamed of in any country where the barbarous ignorance of the rural labourers might not be confidently reckoned on. Whether it was wise in the government to prosecute these two

profligate writers, affording thereby an effectual advertisement of their sedition, may be a question; but the trials stand out as an exposition of the popular barbarism, and the low demagogism of the time.-The murders for the sake of selling bodies for dissection did not cease after the retribution on Burke and Hare, but rather increased-as it is usual for fantastic or ferocious crimes to do, while the public mind is strongly excited about them. The disappearance and proved murder of Italian boys and other homeless and defenceless beings was hastening the day when the law should be so altered as to permit anatomy to find its own resources in a legal and recognised manner; and the settlement of the matter was further accelerated by an incident which fixed a good deal of attention in 1832. A woman who knew herself to be likely to die, and believed that her disease was an unusual one, desired her brother to deliver over her corpse to a public hospital, and to spend in charity what her funeral would have cost. The brother obeyed the directions. As it appeared that the law rendered interment necessary, the remains were buried from the hospital. The brother was brought before the Hatton Garden magistrate under a vague notion of his having done something shocking and illegal. On a full hearing on a subsequent day, it appeared that he and the officers of the hospital were entirely blameless; the magistrate closing the business by informing the prisoner ' that he had not violated the laws of the country, but, on the other hand, had acted in strict accordance with them." As far as the public were concerned, the sister's memory was not left without its share of admiring gratitude. In the next session, Mr. Warburton introduced and carried a bill, by which the provision for the dissection of bodies of murderers was repealed, and the association of disgrace with dissection thereby extinguished; and by which facilities were offered for anatomists to avail themselves of the wish or permission of dying persons and survivors, while abuse was excluded by a machinery of certificates and registration.

By this time the imperfect character of medical education was beginning to be seen and admitted; and in 1830, we find great improvements in course of introduction by the

Society of Apothecaries' Hall, and prescribed to students as regulations. In 1828, the student was not obliged to attend more than six courses of lectures; in 1829, it must be ten courses; in 1830, fourteen. There must be more hospital practice, and a more extended examination, before candidates could be admitted to the profession. The subject of medical qualification was kept painfully before the public mind, in this and two succeeding years, by the results of the quack-practice of a young man, once a portrait-painter, named St. John Long, who believed that he had discovered an infallible ointment, and method of treating the sores that it caused. While mourning over the ignorance of the populace, we must not lose sight of that of the educated classes, as they are called. Long's patients were of the moneyed classes—and his rooms were besieged by ladies and gentlemen who supposed that one particular ointment would cure all their various complaints: they adhered to their young doctor, in the face of all the deaths that were taking place under his treatment; and when he died in 1834, the 'secret' of his ointment was sold for several thousand pounds. In September 1830, an inquest was held on the body of a young lady who was one of the victims of his quackery; and in consequence of the verdict, Long was brought to trial, and convicted of manslaughter. Not the less for this do we find him, the next February, on his trial again for the death of a healthy person, who had applied to him on account of a slight and common ailment, and who died in torture under his treatment in a month's time. On this trial the fact came out that Long was making £12,000 a year. His plea in the present case was, the malice of his enemies, by which he was kept away from his patient in her last moments, when he should have recovered her. The jury, evidently not enlightened enough to see the ignorance shown in the principle of Long's practice, and naturally impressed by the array of gentry of 'the highest respectability, who came forward to vindicate his qualifications, returned, after some delay, a verdict of Not Guilty: whereupon 'several elegantly dressed ladies went to the prisoner, and shook him cordially by the hand.' The young man, who may have believed in his own specific,

had only three years more in which to torture his patients and let their flatteries and their guineas flow in upon him; but the spirit of quackery did not die with him, nor the propensity to it in his admirers, the ignorant of the 'educated classes.' Just at the time when Long was laid in his grave, an innkeeper at York was sentenced to six months' imprisonment for manslaughter of an invalid, by administering the Morrison's Pills which have since sent so many to the churchyard before their time. The thing wanted evidently is such an advance of physiological and medical knowledge as shall exalt that knowledge into real science. While the best medical practice is yet but empirical, there will be unqualified as well as educated science. empirics; and portrait-painters and innkeepers, if they can but lay hold of a specific, may number their patients by thousands.

In the midst of the incendiarism of the Carliles and Cobbetts of the time, the popular respect for and trust in the law was enhanced by some incidents, otherwise purely painful, wherein justice was made to visit persons of 'property and standing,' as if they had had neither property nor The never-ceasing and too just complaint, that standing. the friendless and over-tempted are punished with hardness and indifference, while the well-friended and educated. whose intelligence aggravates their offences, are, somehow or other, almost always let off, had been prevalent, as usual, when Captain Moir-' William Moir, gentleman'-was tried in 1830 for the murder of a man whom he had shot for trespass, very wantonly, and after repeated threats of mischief to his victim. Captain Moir was hanged, as simply as his victim would have been if the act of aggression had been reversed. In the same year, a lady was convicted for shoplifting, who actually carried on her person, at the moment of the theft, the sum of £8000 in bank-notes and India bonds. She underwent her punishment. In this case, if insanity had existed, it must have been proved. All parties would have been too happy to admit the plea. It was no doubt one of those cases of strong propensity for which neither our education, law, nor justice makes provision. It is a case which makes the heart bleed; but if such are not allowed for among the

poor, who have so little advantage of discipline, they cannot be among the rich, whose sin is in outrage of all restraining influences. The wretched woman of wealth suffered as if she had been a hungry mother, snatching a loaf for famishing children at home. In the next year, a Scotch clergyman, 'minister of a Gothic chapel in Edinburgh, in high repute for his evangelical preaching,' was tried on an extensive indictment for book-stealing, found guilty of eleven acts of theft, and transported for fourteen years. To set against these acts of justice-in common phrase-were a few which went as far to weaken popular trust in the law as these to strengthen it. In a very gross case of shoplifting in the autumn of 1832, by 'two young ladies of high respectability,' there was such collusion as caused the escape of the culprits: the father was forewarned of the warrant, 'that he might not be taken by surprise;' and so much time was given, that the minds of all the prosecuting parties had changed, and no one would attempt to identify the thieves. Far worse, however, were two cases, which happened near together, of erroneous verdicts and hasty sentences-cases so gross as must have made all the poor in the neighbourhood believe that a criminal trial was a sort of lottery, as they had long concluded the punishment of transportation to be. A man was convicted at Salisbury of threatening a neighbour by letter with a fire on his farm; the judge telling him with severity, that his crime was certainly not mitigated by his denial after such evidence-' evidence which must satisfy every reasonable man'-and passing on him a sentence of transportation for life. Presently, the prisoner's son came forward, and owned himself the writer of the letter, of which his father had no knowledge whatever. As more letters had been sent to neighbours, the sentenced man was tried on another accusation, which enabled him to bring forward the new evidence of his innocence. He was 'pardoned,' as the insulting phrase is; and the son, a mere youth, transported for seven years. The other case occurred only a few weeks afterwards, and was a very serious one. A receiver of stolen goods was convicted of having stolen them by an act of burglary, and sentenced to death, from which he was saved only by great exertions.

It was the manifest insufficiency of the evidence which occasioned the efforts of those who saved him; and the whole affair was a disgrace. While such a transaction as this was stimulating the growing disapprobation of capital punishments, on the ground of the tremendous risk to the innocent which they involve, the worthy magistrates of Inverness were taking another ground, in an application to the lord advocate. They exhibited their case: that they had discharged their executioner; and that they would be subjected to very serious expense, if a man at present in custody on a charge of murder should be sentenced to be hanged. If this memorial had but been made sufficiently public at the time, who knows but that the abolition of capital punishments might have been much hastened by a general discharge of executioners?

A Chinese advertisement was translated and sent to England at this time which excited a good deal of attention. The steamer King-fa, running between Canton and a northern port, carried cows, a surgeon, a band of music, and had rooms elegantly fitted up for opium-smoking. It was now clear that the eastern seas were to become steamhighways; and it was time that the English were assuming the lead, in this as in other enterprises of world-wide interest. We find therefore trial made at Blackwall, in 1834, of an iron steam-boat, to be used as a towing-vessel on the Ganges; and in the same year, an application from the India merchants to government to establish a regular communication from Malta to Alexandria, in order to facilitate their correspondence with India. In the course of the negotiation, we find that a steamer or a man-of-war was sent from Bombay up the Red Sea 'about once a year;' and their lordships of the Admiralty could not think of going to any expense unless something more was done on the Bombay side. The face of things has changed in the Mediterranean and the eastern seas since that date.

A passion of admiration at the marvels and privileges of railway conveyance runs through the records of this period. We are told of the coaches superseded, of the number of passengers and weight of parcels carried—the speed, the ease, the safety; 'but one fatal accident in

eighteen months;' and of a railway opened between Leeds and Selby, in 1834. A singularly interesting passage is found, under the date 1832, in Mr. Babbage's Economy of Machinery and Manufactures, wherein we see shadowed forth in one suggestion two of the mightiest enterprises of our time. After indicating the vast increase which might be looked for in epistolary correspondence, if the time and cost of letter-carrying could be reduced, Mr. Babbage invites us to imagine a series of high pillars, erected at frequent intervals as nearly as possible in a straight line between two post-towns-a wire being carried from post to post, and so fixed as that it might be traversed by a tin cylinder which should carry the letters. The cylinder was to be moved by being attached to a smaller wire-an endless wire which would be wound round a drum by a man placed at each station. We have an anticipation of the convenience of two or three deliveries of letters per day in country-places; of the vast increase of correspondence that would ensue, from the lessening of the cost of conveyance, both in money and time; an exposure of the clumsiness of the then existing method of conveying the mails; and a conception, remarkably expressed, of a possibility of shooting thought through long spaces by wires stretched above the roadside. 'Nor is it impossible, concludes Mr. Babbage, 'that the stretched wire might itself be available for a species of telegraphic communication yet more rapid.' This was a near approach to the machinery, though not glancing at the principle, of the electric telegraph; and it would at that time have startled even Mr. Babbage's alert imagination to have known that in fifteen years there would be established, in the broad territories of the United States, a means of communication so rapid as even to invert the order of time, to set at defiance the terrestrial conditions of space and duration ; so that, by an electric telegraph between New York and Cincinnati, news is sent of an event which, happening at noon in the one place, is known at five minutes before noon at the other.

One use early made of the invention of waterproof cloth was for diving purposes. In 1832, some expert divers at Yarmouth, the crew of a small cutter there, discovered for

themselves, and to their great amazement, that they could carry enormous weights under water, almost without being sensible of them, and perform feats of what would be strength in an atmospheric medium, which they could themselves hardly believe. The diver went down in three dresses, the uppermost one being of India-rubber cloth, with a tube inserted at the back of the neck, through which air was pumped from above to meet the consumption by his lungs. The copper helmet he wore, with its three glass windows, pressed with a weight of 50 lbs. upon his shoulders; and he carried down in bags 120 lbs. of lead; yet he felt perfectly unencumbered as he walked under the green water, and leisurely surveyed the wreck which he had come to pillage. There he discovered that the large iron crow-bar which he took down with him-a tough instrument enough on board the cutter-could be bent by him, on board the wreck, till its ends met. By a set of signals he obtained what he wanted from his comrades overhead; and when they sent him down baskets, he returned them full of wine.—A diver at Portsmouth was, during the same summer, exploring the wreck of the Boyne, which had sunk thirty-seven years before. He was to deliver over the copper he found to the dockyard, and to keep everything else. One part of his treasure was wine-twenty-one bottles of port and claret, from the captain's store. As the bottles, crusted with large barnacles, came up from the deep where they had lain for thirty-seven years, persons were eager to purchase; but the owner refused twenty shillings a bottle, which was offered on deck. The Portsmouth diver wore a lighter dress than the Yarmouth crew. When his simple leather hood and Mackintosh dress were seen, men of enterprise began to think of walking round the coasts of our islands, under the waves, to measure the inequalities of the submarine hills and valleys, picking up, as they roved over hill and dale in the dim green light, the treasures of the wrecks which lie strewn there, from the days of Julius Cæsar to our own time.

Before these adventurers descended into the depths, a philosopher had been on certain heights of our islands, whence he had brought down a discovery which dazzled

men's eyes, both literally and metaphorically. Lieutenant Drummond has since been known and honoured in the world of politics; but when he became Lord Althorp's secretary, at the urgent desire of the whole cabinet, he said decidedly and repeatedly that his true vocation was the pursuit of physical science in connection with his profession, and that he should return to it after a certain term of service in political life. He did not live to return to the pursuit of science, but died worn out in devotedness to Ireland. Before accepting any political office, he was engaged in a trigonometrical survey in Ireland; and, being anxious to obtain as large a base for his triangle as possible, he pondered means of establishing signals between two distant mountain summits. This desire led him to the discovery and use of the brightest light at that time ever known-the Drummond-light, as it was then called. It was obtained by directing a stream of oxygen, and another of hydrogen, under certain conditions, upon lime. The doubt was whether steadiness and permanence could be insured. No time was lost, however, in attempting practical applications of it to purposes the most vast and the most minute. We find records of trials of new lenses with this light, by which the mariner's star, the beacon, would brighten to an ever-increasing magnitude; and of microscopic application of a light penetrating enough to show the whole interior organisation of a flea, and of animalcules of the ditch, which presented themselves as transparent monsters of the deep.

Captain Ross and his comrades returned from the North Pole, and landed at Hull in 1833. They had discovered the Gulf of Boothia, and the continent and isthmus of Boothia Felix, and many islands, rivers, and lakes. They brought home also a store of valuable observations, particularly on the magnet. What remained to be discovered in connection with the North-west Passage was now brought within such compass that no one doubted that a few years would witness the completion of the survey.

In the last month of 1833, we find an announcement of an enterprise of a spirited individual, named Perkins, who had expended £100,000 in erecting a cattle-market at Islington, covering 22 acres of ground, and ready to receive

4000 beasts, 40,000 sheep, and calves and pigs in proportion. The projector, and many other persons, were simple enough to believe that the nuisance of Smithfield Market would now be abated; that there would soon be an end of the danger to passengers in London streets from overdriven cattle; and of the pollution of the cattle-market in a crowded district; and of the inevitable cruelty used towards the animals in a space so crowded and inconvenient, and of the badness of the meat, in consequence of the suffering condition of the animals. All this had been true for many years; and it had been represented again and again, and with great urgency, to parliament; but the trustees of various trusts, the inhabitants of Smithfield, and the cattle-salesmen, had always hitherto been too strong to permit a change; and they have been so to this day. It should not be forgotten, however, that as early as 1833, an opportunity was afforded for abating the nuisance of Smithfield Market.

A new choir, of great beauty, was erected in Peterborough Cathedral during this period, and the church was made once more what it was before it was devastated by the Puritans. The expense was defrayed by a subscription within the diocese, and the work was superintended by the dean, Dr. Monk, who had become Bishop of Gloucester before it was finished.

The opening of the new London Bridge by their majesties in August of 1831 was kept as a holiday throughout London; and the occasion was truly a great one. This was a farewell to the old bridge, with its memories of a thousand years; and here was a far-surpassing work, which might carry on the mind to a thousand years more. Here it was, in its strength and grace, bestriding the flood with its five wide elliptical arches, without obstructing the stream; and here it was likely to stand, perhaps, till bridges should be wanted no more. The king was in an enthusiasm; so exhilarating did he find the grandeur of the scene and the beauty of the day. He told the gentlemen of the bridge committee, as he stepped out of his barge, that he was most happy to see them on London Bridge; that it was certainly a most beautiful edifice; and that the spectacle was in every way the grandest and the

most delightful that he ever had the pleasure to witness. It was towards the end of 1832 that the last stone of the last arch of old London Bridge dropped into the river; and as the circles on the water were effaced, a historical scroll of many centuries seemed to be closed for ever.

London University was by this time advancing to a condition to receive its charter; and King's College, London, was in a prospe ous state, as to credit, funds, students, and the number of schools in London—now seven—in connection with it. A university being clearly wanted in the north of England, that of Durham was projected, and its plan made known in 1831.

In 1831 took place the first meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science-an institution of the time which, though not involving all the benefit which the sanguine expected from it at first, has yet been the occasion of too many advantages not to be noted in its origin. In a few years it became evident that while the less-qualified members of the scientific world were delighted to run to these meetings, with their notions and their self-importance, and their admiration of the eminent, many of the greatest found it inconvenient, and, from the throng of the idle and unscientific, even irksome to attend; and that a great deal of mere talk, and boast, and quackery, must be put up with; and especially that once a year was much too often for the convenience of real hard students to leave home for such meetings. But yet it was a noble thing for the wise in various departments of human knowledge to congregate and compare their discoveries and their views, and unite their efforts, and support one another's undertakings, and indicate to governments the scientific aims which it rests with the rulers of the globe to see fulfilled. At a later period it will fall in our way to note the influences and enterprises of this association. Here it is necessary only to record that its origin is referrible to this period.

A statement of suicides in Westminster was drawn up from official documents in 1833, from which some instructive results were obtained. It appeared that the number of men who destroyed themselves were nearly three to one in comparison with women; a fact which was accounted

[BOOK IV.

for by another of great importance-that a very large proportion of suicides was occasioned by that state of the brain induced by intoxication. Some surprise was felt at the proof that the smallest number of suicides occurred in the month of November, which had hitherto borne the opprobrium of this kind of slaughter.-A sensible check was, from this time, given to the practice of duelling, by the disgust excited at a fatal duel between Sir John Jeffcott, chief-justice of Sierra Leone, and Dr. Hennis of Exeter. Sir J. Jeffcott had received his appointment and knighthood, and was on the eve of embarking for Africa, when some tattling took place at night, over brandy-andwater and cigars, which occasioned a challenge to Dr. Hennis. He denied the words imputed to him, but was called by his antagonist 'a calumniating scoundrel,' forced out to fight, in spite of strenuous efforts on the part of friends, and shot dead, at the moment before the departure of his antagonist. Sir J. Jeffcott was tried in his unavoidable absence, and acquitted, as gentlemen always are in duelling cases; but he was necessarily displaced from his judicial post. He was drowned a few months afterwards by the upsetting of a boat off the coast of Africa. The vulgar, brawling character of the whole transaction, and the force put upon Dr. Hennis, sickened a multitude with the barbarous character of the ordeal of the duel, who had before regarded it in the light of an older time.

Another transaction between two men, who had not even the ground of friendship for their generosity, deeply touched those hearts which felt most the horror of the Exeter duel. In no crisis of human life are men put more severely to the proof than in shipwreck. The most awful shipwreck of this period, or that which was most generally impressive, was that of the *Rothesay Castle*, in August 1831. The *Rothesay Castle* was a battered, leaky old steamer, which plied between Liverpool and Beaumaris; and at this time she had a captain who appears to have been unworthy of the command of any vessel. He started in rough weather, and silenced the remonstrances of all on board who implored him to put into a port of safety. She drifted and went to pieces in the night, from the failure of the coal through her excessive leakage; and all her pleasure-

parties, her groups of tourists, her band of music, and her crew, were plunged into the deep at midnight. The captain denied that she was aground, when her cabins were filling with water-swore that there was no danger -hung out no lights-refused to fire a gun, though the lights of Beaumaris were visible in the distance-and was himself one of the first to perish. Only twenty-two persons were saved out of nearly a hundred and fifty who left Liverpool. Two men, strangers to each other, found themselves holding on to the same plank, which it soon appeared, could support only one. Each desired the other to hold on-the one, because his companion was old; theother, because his companion was young-and they quitted their grasp at the same moment. By extraordinary accidents both were saved, without the knowledge of either, and they met on shore in great surprise. Few greetings in the course of human life can be so sweet and moving as must have been that of these two herces. Its contrast with that on the Exeter race-course shows like a glimpse into heaven and hell.

In the summer of 1833, a terrific fire consumed the bonded stores connected with the Dublin custom-house, and occasioned a vast destruction of property; though little in comparison with what might have been, if, as was for some time apprehended, the quays and the shipping had been involved in the conflagration, and if much valuable merchandise had not been stored in fire-proof vaults. The sugar-puncheons flared up like great torches in quick succession; the tallow sent columns of flame up into the night; while fiery floods of whisky rushed over the quay, pouring over the wall into the Liffey, which presented a sheet of blue flame over half its breadth, threatening the coal vessels that were drawn to the other side. The origin of the fire was never discovered; though large rewards were offered by government and the magistrates, from a suspicion of incendiarism. Men thought that they had now witnessed the most remarkable fire that would be seen in their generation; but they were mistaken; for in the next year, a conflagration occurred in which that of the Dublin custom-house stores was forgotten.

In course of centuries, the power of the Commons had vor. III.

145

increased till their House had become a dignified spectacle in the eyes of the world; yet the members sat, a closely packed assembly of business-like men, in the old St. Stephen's Chapel-a dingy, contracted apartment, whose sides had been drawn in by wainscoting, to hide the pictures of the old Catholic times, and whose height was lessened by a floor above, and a ceiling below, the old ones. In such a chamber as this were the British Commons found by wondering strangers till the end of the year 1834. At that time, the tally-room of the exchequer was wanted for the temporary accommodation of the Court of Bankruptcy; and it was necessary to get rid of an accumulation of the old exchequer tallies-about two cart-loads in quantity. These tallies were used for firewood, but this method of clearance was too slow; and there had once been a bonfire of them in Tothill Fields. There was some talk now of burning them in the open air; but the plan was given up, in the fear of alarming the neighbours. The burning was ordered to be done carefully and gradually in the stoves of the House of Lords; but the common workmen, to whom the business was intrusted, did it in rashness and hurry, nearly filling the furnaces, and creating a vast blaze, which overheated the flues. Many times in the course of that day-Thursday, October 16th-the housekeeper of the House of Lords sent to the men, to complain of the smoke and heat; but they believed in no danger. At four in the afternoon two strangers were admitted to view the House. At that time, the throne could not be seen from the bar: the visitors had to feel the tapestry, to know that it was tapestry-found the heat so stifling in one corner as to be led to examine the floor. when it appeared that the floor-cloth was 'sweating underneath, and too hot to be borne by the hand. In answer to the surprise and doubts of the strangers, the housekeeper replied that the floor was stone; and that that corner was so hot that its occupants sometimes fainted on full nights. Within two hours after the perplexed strangers were gone, with their disappointed notions of the House of Lords, the mischief broke out. Flames burst from the windows of a neighbouring apartment, and the alarm was spread all over London. The ministers were presently on

CHAP. XIV.] HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT BURNT.

the spot, and the king's sons, and such members of both Houses as were in town. Little could be done; and of that little, much was left undone from want of concert and discipline. Mr. Hume saved a portion of the library of the House of Commons; and many hands helped to throw out of the windows, and carry away, the papers of the law-courts. These law-courts were saved, at the expense of their roofs being stripped off, and the interior deluged with water. The most painful apprehension was for Westminster Hall: but engines were taken into the Hall, and kept at play so abundantly as to prevent any part being caught by the flames. Many valuable things were lost; and among others, the original death-warrant of Charles L, and the registration and qualification roll signed by members of the Commons after taking the ouths. The destruction comprehended the two Houses of Parliament, the Commons' Library, the Lords' Painted Chamber, many of the committee-rooms; the clerk's house, and part of the speaker's, with all the habitations between; the rooms of the Lord Chancellor, and other lawofficers; and the kitchens and eating-rooms. The comments of the crowd on such occasions show something of the spirit of the time. Mr. Hume, who was busy before all eyes, seems to have been the butt of the night, from his perseverance, for a long time past, in endeavouring to obtain a better house for the Commons to meet in. In one place some gentlemen cried, 'Mr. Hume's motion carried without a division;' and in another, poor men were saying that Mr. Hume could never get over this; the fire was certainly not accidental; and everybody knew how he had said he would not bear the old House any longer, he was so uncomfortable in it. There was a shout about Lord Althorp's disrespect for the People's House when he was heard to cry out 'D-n the House of Commons! save, oh, save the Hall!'-which last words the French newspapers changed to 'the House of Lords;' thus showing what an anti-reformer he was at heart. The Climbing Boys' Act was unacceptable to the sweeps of London; and now one of them was in high glee because the 'hact' was destroyed, and, in the joy of his heart, set up, above all the roar, the cry of 'Sweep!'

147

г 2

There was nothing unseemly in this joking; for, really, the occasion could not possibly be considered a very melancholy one by those who were aware how seriously. the public interests were injured by the unfitness of the parliament-houses for the transaction of business, and their hurtfulness to the health of members. 'Mr. Hume's motion was now carried without a division;' whereas, it would have been years, under ordinary circumstances, before any move would have been practically made towards a better housing of the legislature. The antiquarian interests concerned were not very strong-the relic most mourned at first, the tapestry of the Spanish Armada, was afterwards found; no lives were lost; no poor men were ruined; and, on the whole, the impression was that this compulsion to build new houses of parliament was not to be lamented.

In the morning, the king sent to offer Buckingham Palace for the use of the Legislature. Some suggested St. James's Palace; but it was determined to fit up rooms on the old sites as speedily as possible. On the whole, this was found the least expensive and most convenient plan. The House of Lords was to be made habitable for the Commons, and the Painted Chamber for the Lords, at an expense of £30,000; and not a day was lost in beginning the preparation for the next session. It was a week or more, however, before the fire was out. It smouldered among the coals in the vaults; and the play of the engines within the boarded avenues was heard, and puffs of steam were seen to ascend, till after the privy-council had closed their careful and protracted inquiry into the origin of the fire. This origin, as has been said, was decided to be rashness and carelessness in burning the exchequer tallies.

The last memorials, in the form of living witnesses, of the strong government at the latter part of the eighteenth century, were now slipping away. Thomas Hardy died in 1832, in very old age, and his comrade, John Thelwall, two years later. These men were made, by the passions of their time, the herces of the liberal party. They invaded the convenience and composure of authorities and men in high places by an intemperate assertion of somewhat crude views of liberty and political aims; and the

authorities did something worse in invading the rights of these men, and of all other citizens in their persons, by endeavouring, by a harsh construction of law and facts, to convict them of high treason. The attempt was unsuccessful; and the men remained a sort of heroes, with a slight martyr-glory round their heads, as long as they lived. Their prosecution and acquittal, in company with Horne Tooke, were annually celebrated in London by a festival of the friends of civil and religious liberty, till the deaths of Hardy and Thelwall brought the observance to a natural close.—Another hero of the same period, Archibald Hamilton Rowan, died in 1834, in extreme old age. He escaped the penalties of high treason only by slipping out of prison, and putting off from the Irish coast in an open boat, in which he was long tossed about before he reached Brest. The charge against him was of treasonable correspondence with the French government. He was a gentleman of education and fortune; and in his old age, when time and change had mellowed his mind, his conversation and manners were full of charm. Forty years of a useful and benign life would have been wasted and foregone, if the gallows noose had caught him in that cruel season, when extreme men of all parties hated each other with a hatred far too unphilosophical and impolitic to beseem philanthropists and statesmen.

It was a day to be remembered by the whole Roman Catholic body in our islands, when a member of the body was, for the first time after their long depression, called to the rank of king's counsel. The first who was so called was the distinguished Charles Butler, author of a whole library of books, the dread of bishops and other clergy for his religious writings, and the supporter of O'Connell in claiming his seat in parliament for Clare without re-election. Mr. Butler was in his eightieth year at that time, and he lived three years longer.-An aged man died in the next year, 1833, who was not less beloved by the Catholics, and not less a friend to them, while himself a good Protestant-the venerable Earl Fitzwilliam, who, in the harsh times at the close of the last century, was recalled from Ireland after a viceroyalty of two months, on account of his countenance of the Catholic claims. On the day of

his departure from Dublin, all the shops were closed, and the inhabitants appeared in mourning. He was a member of the Grenville administration for a year before its fall; and his only public connection with politics afterwards was one as honourable to him as his Irish failure. He took part in a public meeting convened to discuss and rebuke the conduct of the Manchester Yeomanry in 1819: and for this he was dismissed from the lieutenancy of the West Riding of Yorkshire. Earl Fitzwilliam died in February 1833, in his eighty-fifth year.-He was soon followed, within a few months, by his old friend. Lord Grenville-another staunch champion of Catholic rights. and one who had a long course of years in which to advocate all causes that seemed to him good. Lord Grenville had been speaker of the Commons, and found himself secretary of state at thirty years of age; and this appeared nothing remarkable to him-his friend William Pitt having held place and power when ten years younger still. In our days, a politician of thirty is regarded as a youth of promise. But whenever a great political genius arises, it is probable that rules and customs about age, as about everything else, will give way. Lord Grenville reached the age of seventy-four, and died childless, so that the barony became extinct.-Another aged minister of state died in the same year-Earl Bathurst, who was esteemed by his party as a good man of business, and one of their soundest members .- Lord Spencer, who also died in the same year, aged seventy-six, had not been a stable politician; having entered life as a Whig, afterwards become a supporter of Mr. Pitt, holding office at the admiralty during the period of Nelson's victories, and going into power with Grenville and Fox, in 1806. His tastes were more literary than political, and he was the collector of the finest private library in England, the bulk of which was deposited in a suite of ground-floor rooms at Althorp, nearly 250 feet in length. The political influence of Lord Spencer's death was greater than that of his life. in his decease being the occasion of the dismissal of the Whig government, and the return of the Conservatives to power.

Another nobleman, who died in the same year, was more

fond of literature than of statesmanship; yet his name must have honourable mention among statesmen. Lord Teignmouth began life as John Shore, son of a plain country-gentleman. He entered the civil service of the India Company, and rose to the office of governor-general of India. Lord Cornwallis's settlement, and other great measures of that ruler, were mainly attributable to Lord Teignmouth. Yet his heart was more in literature than in statesmanship. He was the bosom-friend of Sir William Jones, whose life he wrote, and whose works he edited. In his old age he was the president of the Bible Society, and died in his eighty-third year.-Another statesman, who cared more for philosophy and literature than politics, was lost to the world in 1833, mourned by all with compassionate grief-Earl Dudley. He was only fifty-two, and his powers had died before him; for his brain gave way, after many threatenings and much suffering from a morbid temperament, two or three years before his death. He was an intimate of Horne Tooke, the friend of Canning, and a cabinet minister in 1827; a man of fine tastes and accomplishments, and of independent thought. After much repugnance, he had determined to support the Reform Bill, as a better alternative than withstanding the will of the nation; but when the time came, he was too ill to take his place in the legislature, and he never knew how the great question had issued .-- Sir John Leach, master of the rolls, and a privy-councillor, died in 1834. He began his studies as an engineer; but a discerning friend perceived in time his aptitude for the legal profession, and induced him to follow it; and England thus obtained one of the best judges of modern times. His defence of the Duke of York, in 1809, obtained for him the good-will and confidence of the prince-regent; and his way was then clear to the eminence which he reached. He opposed the creation of the Vice-chancellor's Court; but yet became vice-chancellor after Sir Thomas Plomer, and master of the rolls after Sir J. Copley (now Lord Lyndhurst). His clearness of apprehension in the reception of evidence, and his decision of judgment in determining and delivering the results, were his most remarkable professional characteristics; and in private life he

[BOOK IV.

won respect by a singular calmness and simplicity in the endurance of a long course of bodily suffering of great intensity. Most men would have died untimely under such pain as he endured; but his indomitable mind bore him up, and he reached the age of seventy-four.-The interest of the whole political world of Europe was engaged by one death which took place at this period. The young son of Napoleon, the Duke de Reichstadt, died at Vienna in 1832, at the age of twenty-one. The birth of the little King of Rome, as he was called in his cradle, had been regarded, in the short-sightedness of men, as a mighty event; and the eyes of the world were fixed upon the child. But before he was old enough to be conscious of human destiny, his rights were gone, his father was borne away over the sea, and he became a landless German prince, under the care of his grandfather, the Emperor of Austria. His attendants adored him for his personal qualities; and from a distance many hopes waited upon him; but he was withdrawn from any possible struggle for thrones and dominations by early sickness and death. By the age of sixteen he had outgrown his strength; and consumptive tendencies encroached upon him, till he sank thus in early manhood. As he lay in state in the palace, those who passed by the bier received the most affecting lesson of the time as to the deceitfulness of worldly hopes.

In science, one of the most interesting names of the times is that of Sir John Leslie, born of an humble farmer and miller in Fifeshire, who died professor of natural philosophy in the, University of Edinburgh. He was a sickly child, averse to books and lessons, but always delighting himself in calculations, and following out mathematical inquiries. This peculiarity fixed the attention of the parochial minister, and was the occasion of his being sent to St. Andrews, to study for the church. He and Ivory went to Edinburgh together, neither of them probably anticipating the eminence to which both were to raise themselves. Leslie was aware that the church was not his true destination; and he declined it, becoming tutor to a nephew of Adam Smith's, and to two of the Randolphs of Virginia, with whom he went to the United States. On his return, he intended to lecture on natural

philosophy, but found, to use his own words, that 'rational lectures would not succeed.' A disgraceful controversy took place between the magistrates and clergy of Edinburgh respecting his nomination to the mathematical chair in their university, in 1805; the clergy objecting to him on the ground of his having irreligiously declared Hume's Theory of Causation 'a model of clear and accurate reasoning.' The magistrates appointed Leslie, in disregard of the clerical opposition; and the clergy brought the affair before the General Assembly. After a discussion of two days, the assembly decided not to subordinate science and liberty of opinion to dogma propounded on an occasion of mere inference, and dismissed the appeal of the clerical objectors as 'vexatious.' Mr. Leslie filled that chair till he was called to succeed Playfair in the professorship of natural philosophy, which he held till his death, in November 1832. He invented or revived the differential thermometer, and aided science in many ways by a vigorous exercise of his bold inventive and conjectural faculty, which was more remarkable in him, mathematician as he was, than his powers of reasoning and research. His pupils complained of a want of simplicity in his style, and of clearness in his arrangement; while more advanced students believed that the difficulty lay also in his overrating the powers and experience of those to whom he addressed himself. The highest order of his hearers were continually charmed with the life and vigour of his views, and the rich illustration he cast over his scientific subjects from the stores of his general reading. His experimental processes were exquisite from their ingenuity and refinements. His last production is to be found prefixed to the seventh edition of the Encyclopædia Britannica-a discourse on the history of mathematical and physical science during the eighteenth century. He died in his sixty-seventh year.

In the next year died a mathematician who put his science to a practical use which all could understand. William Morgan, who was for fifty-six years actuary to the Equitable Assurance Society, was a nephew of Dr. Price; and it was Dr. Price who withdrew him from the medical profession to which he was destined, and caused him to be fitted to the function in which he did so much for the practical application of the science of probabilities, and for the elucidation of national finance. He published much that was useful; but it was as a standing authority always ready for reference, that he rendered his most important services; and all the while, the Equitable office was rising, under his management, from being a small society, with a capital of a few thousands, into an institution of national importance.

The hurricane at the Mauritius, in 1834, killed a man whose name is destined to live in connection with nautical science-Captain David Thompson-whose computation and production of the lunar and horary tables, and invention of the longitude scale, were emphatically acknowledged by the Board of Longitude. He did much to fence in with safety the broad highway of nations; and thus his services so lie on the verge between science and the arts as to lead us to consider him as a comrade of the great man who opened so many roads to us on the firm land, and whose engineering achievements come under the head of the arts.-Thomas Telford was president of the Society of Civil Engineers at the time of his death, which happened in the autumn of 1834, when he was seventyseven years of age. Telford was a poet in his youth; and surely we may say that he was a poet in action in afterlife; for where are lofty ideas and a stimulus to the imagination to be found, if not in such spectacles as the Menai Bridge, and the Caledonian Canal, and his great Welsh aqueduct, and St. Katherine's Docks, and the water communication that he made through the pine hills of Sweden, from the North Sea to the Baltic? It was thus that he regarded his works, and in this spirit that he wrought them; for he had the loftiness of mind, the bright integrity, and benign candour, which are the characteristics of genius that has found its element. There is hardly a county in England, Wales, or Scotland, which is not strewn with monuments of him, in the best form of monument-beneficent works. There is no day of any year in which thousands are not the better for the labours of this man.-Two years before his own death, Telford had been called to mourn that of a pupil and a friend whom

he had introduced into a career which promised success something like his own. Alexander Nimmo was, when very young, recommended by Telford to the parliamentary counties; and again to the commissioners for reclaiming the Irish bogs. All round the coast of Ireland his works are found—harbours, docks, piers, and fishing stations; and his chart of the whole coast is held to be a guide of great value. He died at Dublin in 1832, aged forty-nine.

During the same period we lost Richard Hall Gower, the author of various improvements in naval architecture which were gradually, though slowly, brought into practice before his death in 1833; and Henry Bell, who, so early as the 2nd of August 1812, launched the first steam-vessel, called the *Comet*, on the Clyde; and the aged Lionel Lukin, who was the inventor of the safety boat. The Norway yawl, on which he first experimented, was bought by him with his earnings in his coach-building business in 1784; and his patent bears date the next year. Though his boat was established for the time by the approbation of Sir Sydney Smith, who found that it could be neither overset nor sunk, the invention of safety-boats was afterwards claimed by other parties, and Mr. Lukin was deprived of much of the honour and emolument which were his due. He contributed in other ways to the public safety and convenience, as by his raft for the rescue of persons carried under the ice, by a bedstead for invalids, and several improvements in the construction of carriages. He was ninety-two when he died, in 1834 .- Some now living remember the introduction of the Camellia japonica into this country. We owe the luxury to Archibald Thomson, a kinsman of the poet of the Seasons, and chief gardener at the Marquis of Bute's estate in Bedfordshire. The superb Magnolia Thomsonia was raised from seed by Archibald Thomson; and he saw the plant reach a height of eighteen feet, and a circumference of twenty-four. Like most of the hardy and well-employed race of Scotch gardeners, he attained a great age, dying in his eighty-first year, in 1832.-The eccentric Abernethy died in 1831, after having made himself so talked about for his oddities as hardly to have justice done him for his important services.

He raised the reputation of English surgery all over Europe by indicating and performing an operation, in certain cases of aneurism, which was before supposed impracticable; and by its connection with him, St. Bartholomew's Hospital rose to be the first in London. Mr. Abernethy did not at all approve our following, in any degree, the ancient Egyptian practice of parting off the human body among dozens of classes of doctors-so that one was to have charge of the limbs, and another of the lungs, and another of the stomach, and others of the eye, the ear, the mouth, and so on. Mr. Abernethy did not like to hear of oculists and aurists, but insisted upon it that no man was fit to undertake the charge of any member without being fit for the charge of the whole, as no function of the frame is isolated. In this, the sense of society went with him; the only wonder being that, since the days of the old Egyptians, there should have been any doubt about it. Mr. Abernethy did not know where he was born, but only that his parents removed to London in his early infancy. He was sixty-six years old when he died.

Among the rovers of their time, we find two names of great interest in the list of the deaths of the period. Two midshipmen, it will be remembered, remained with the mutineers of the Bounty, in 1788, when the other officers were set adrift in an open boat on the Pacific. One of these midshipmen, Peter Heywood, died in 1831; and Mr. Purcell, who was one of those in the open boat, followed in 1834. Peter Heywood was only fifteen at the time of the mutiny; and before he was much older, he led a party of sixteen of the mutineers to settle in Otaheite, in order to meet the vessel which it was certain would be sent after them from England. The Bounty was given up to Christian and his eight comrades, who had no wish to stir from where they were, or to meet any English vessel. When the Pandora arrived in Otaheite, the two youths rowed out to her, and made themselves known, when they were put in irons, and treated with extreme rigour. After a most disastrous voyage home, young Heywood met his trial-showed that his case was one for pity rather than punishment-was found guilty, but freely pardoned by the king. He afterwards became an able and trusted

officer. One of his last services was with Lord Exmouth in the Mediterranean, in 1815 and 1816.-And Lord Exmouth died soon after him-in February 1833. As Lord Exmouth lay on his painful death-bed, we may hope it cheered him to think of the Christian captives whom he had released from their Algerine slavery. He reached his soventy-sixth year .-- Captain Sir Murray Maxwell, who commanded the unfortunate Alceste at the time of her loss. died in 1831. He passed, with spirit, fortitude, and in the finest temper, as dreary a period as can well occur in any man's life-the fortnight which elapsed between Lord Amherst and his forty-six companions leaving the captain and crew on their desert island, and the arrival of the cruiser from Batavia which relieved them. During this fortnight. the little party of British seamen were besieged by Malay pirates, in fifty or sixty boats, who burned the Alceste to the water's edge, and allowed her crew no rest from selfdefence, while they had no alternative before them but Captain Maxwell's command, under these starvation. circumstances, and the discipline of his crew, have obtained a world-wide fame, as they truly deserve.—One other rover, Richard Lander, in whose discoveries the nation took an unwonted interest, was cut off untimely, by an attack of the pirates of the Niger in 1834. Lander had attended Captain Clapperton into the interior of Africa, and had witnessed and reported the discoveries made in Clapperton's final expedition; and he had afterwards, when accompanied by his brother, solved the great problem of the termination of the Niger, by following it down from Boussa to the sea. His ears had drunk in the sound of the surf upon the beach, and his eyes had seen the sea-line, dressed all in the more than tropical light of triumph, and of solemn achievement; and this wonderful happiness—as much as is yielded by the whole life of some men-was to be enough for him; for in three years afterwards he was dead, at the age of thirty. He had bought an island off Attah, and meant to establish a tradingstation there; but the piratical natives attacked him at a disadvantageous moment, and shot him in the hip, and he died of the wound.

In the department of art there were great losses during

this period. In 1831 died Mrs. Siddons, in her seventysixth year. There are few living now who remember her in the fulness of her power; but there are few who have not witnessed the enthusiasm of their fathers and grandparents at the mention of her name, and who are not aware that the enthusiasm was justified as much by the purity of her character as by the glory of the genius which derived its exaltation from that purity. A yet more ancient favourite, the favourite of George III., Quick. the actor, died in the same year, aged eighty-three; and also the monarchical Elliston-and in a few months after, the comic Munden; and in 1833, Edmund Kean, the last of the stars of the first magnitude. Kean was a study as interesting to the mental philosopher as to the playgoer, so extraordinary was his possession of his 'single gift.' It would appear beforehand that to be such an actor as Kean must require a large variety, as well as a high degree of intellectual ability; yet he never manifested any power of mind at all above the average-hardly indeed up to the average-anywhere but on the stage. His mode of life was not such as to husband his powers; and he died at the age of forty-five, worn out by excess and exhaustion of body and mind. His first appearance was at four years of age, riding the elephant in Bluebeard ; when his beauty, and especially the grandeur of his eyes, fixed the attention of some who afterwards saw him at the summit of his fame. His last appearance was in March 1833, in the character of Othello, when his performance, begun languidly, was broken off in the third act by the utter failure of his strength; and in the ensuing May he was carried to his grave. The prospects of the stage were further darkened by Mr. Young having retired in the preceding year, during which an attempt was made to retrieve the failing fortunes of the drama, by the appointment of a parliamentary committee on dramatic representations, for the purpose of ascertaining what changes could be made in the licensing laws, which could relax the monopoly of the two great theatres, and afford a better opening for authors, actors, and the playgoing Amidst all the reasons alleged for the decline public. of the drama-such as the late dinners of the aristocracy, the absence of royal patronage, and the spreading objection of certain religious bodies to dramatic representations-it was clear that the main cause of that decline was the decay of the public taste for this kind of amusement, without which the other causes alleged would not have been operative. The committee, however, recommended a large invasion of the existing monopoly of the two great theatres, for their own sake, as well as justice to others; a revision of the system of fees to the censor of plays; and an extension of the same protection to dramatic authors as was enjoyed by authors in other departments of literature. The rising passion for the Italian Opera afforded at the same time a hint to parties concerned to try whether the popular taste for the spoken drama was or was not merging into that for the musical drama; and the New English Opera-house was opened in the summer of 1834.

Two eminent planists died during 1832-one at the end of a very long career, the other at the beginning of one which promised great marvels-Clementi, who reached his eighty-first year, and George Aspull, who died in his nineteenth.-Augustus Pugin, a Frenchman, spent the last forty years of his life among us, and revived in England the study of ecclesiastical architecture, which has since spread and flourished under the favouring influences of the Tractarian party in the church. He died in 1832. in his sixty-fourth year. In the department of vertù, we lost Christie, who, being intended for the church, became an auctioneer: but such an auctioneer as was never dreamed of before. He raised his business to the rank of a profession, and lived in a world of artistical and philosophical ideas which the poet might covet. He explored the nature of the Greek game invented by Palamedes before the siege of Troy, and believed that he had traced it down, through old ages and countries, to our own firesides, where it bears the name of chess. He wrought among the old idolatries and their symbols, till he penetrated into some curious secrets of art. He was the first authority in the kingdom in pictures, sculptures, and vertù. He made the world understand the value of Mr. Hope's collection of vases; and these friends, after having solaced themselves with the delights of art and antiquarianism, left the world together. Mr. Christie died on the 2nd, and Mr. Hope on the 3rd of February 1831.-Mr. Hope's name is distinguished on so many grounds, that it is rather difficult to assign his place among our benefactors. From our insular position, and our being kept at home by the long war, and also from our English habit of ridiculing what we do not understand, we were at first guilty of treating Mr. Hope with contempt when he endeavoured to improve our taste in decorative art; and an article in the Edinburgh Review, on his folio volume on Household Furniture and Decorations, stands as a monument of our shame. But Mr. Hope triumphed; and we have gained, among other things, a lesson in modesty. It was he who first sustained Thorwaldsen, and brought the young Chantrey to light, and stimulated the mature genius of Flaxman. His town and country houses were a paradise of delights to lovers of antiquities and art. He is perhaps most generally known as the author of Anastasius, a romance in which the author gives evidence of, among other things, the thoughtful spirit in which he went through his early travels in the east.-To another hunter after antiquities we find ourselves more deeply indebted now than any one was aware of during his life; for John Thomas Smith, keeper of the prints and drawings at the British Museum, died the year before the burning of the houses of parliament. Mr. Smith had published in the closing years of the last century, Antiquities of London; and when, in 1800, the accession of members on account of the Irish Union compelled the enlargement of the House of Commons, and the wainscoting of St. Stephen's Chapel was taken down, revealing the old paintings that were behind, Mr. Smith determined on following up his former work with the Antiquities of Westminster. He made haste, as the workmen were always at his heels; and in the August mornings he was at work as soon as there was light enough, and painted diligently till the workmen arrived at nine o'clock, when he sometimes saw them destroy the very paintings he had just been copying. He made memoranda, matched the tints carefully, and took all pains to perfect his work, both with regard to the

paintings which were disappearing, and others which it was supposed might last for centuries. Many of the prints, coloured and gilt by his wife and himself, were lost by a fire at the printing-office where they lay; and the loss was severe; but the place given him at the British Museum provided comfortably for his latter days. He is remembered chiefly as the preserver of the antiquities of Westminster; but this was not one of the seven great things by which he used to tell that his life had been distinguished. He delighted to say: 'I received a kiss when a boy from the beautiful Mrs. Robinson-was patted on the head by Dr. Johnson-have frequently held Sir Joshua Reynolds's spectacles-partook of a pot of porter with an elephant-saved Lady Hamilton from falling, when the melancholy news arrived of Lord Nelson's death -three times conversed with George III.-and was shut up in a room with Mr. Kean's lion.' It seems a pity that he did not live a few months longer, to see the flames swallowing up the houses of parliament, and exult in the thought of what he had saved from their ravages.-Cooke, the engraver, who presented such a world of scenery to stayers at home, died in 1834, from brain fever, at the age of fifty-three; and a few weeks after him the aged Thomas Stothard, who began life as the apprentice of a patterndesigner for brocaded silks. Brocaded silks went out of fashion; and Stothard had, as the fruits of his apprenticeship, his nicety of eye and hand, and elegance of taste in designing small embellishments; and he used them in illustrating, with exquisite little designs, Bell's British Poets, and the Novelists' Magazine. These caught Flaxman's eye, and brought him that good man's friendship. He passed easily from such small works as these to painting figures seven feet high, on the staircase at Burghley House. His latest designs are seen among the illustrations of Rogers's Poems, bearing date 1833-some months before his death.-Peter Nasmyth, called 'the English Hobbema,' died in middle life, in 1831, with the love of his art so strong upon him, that when he was dying, and a thunder storm was sweeping by, he asked his sisters to draw aside the curtain, and lift him up, that he might watch the effects of the stormy lights.-And then went the young Liverseedge, VOL. III. м

just when his fame was rapidly rising, and before he had reached his thirtieth year. He lived in the world of Shakspeare. Cervantes, and Scott; and it was his picture of Adam Woodcock that was kindling his fame when the cold hand of death was laid on his life.-Jackson, the portrait-painter-not so strong as Raeburn, nor so graceful as Lawrence, but with a clear style of his own, distinguished by its fine colouring-died in 1831: and in 1833 we lost, by a sad accident, Robson, whose landscapes were amongst the most eagerly looked for at the Watercolour Exhibition, every year. The cause of his death was the bursting of a blood-vessel in sea-sickness. His life was happy from that devotedness in the study of nature which is not subject to the disappointment to which most human pursuits are liable. His eagerness about his first earnings was that they might carry him into the Scotch Highlands, where, with his plaid about his shoulders, and the Lay of the Last Minstrel in his pocket, and the dusky fells and rolling mists before his eyes, he was happy to his heart's content. The spirit of those early seen Scotch mountains is in his pictures to the last. The frequenters of the Water-colour Exhibition must have been struck by the frequent appearance of Durham and its cathedral. It was because Durham was Robson's native city. He took care that its fine aspect should be nearly as familiar to others as to himself, though they had not, as he had, feasted their eyes upon it from four years old, and crept to the shoulder of every wandering artist who sat down to sketch anywhere in the environs. One of Robson's last pictures was judged to be one of his best -' London from the Bridge, before Sunrise.'

There are, in the province of literature and learning, some names of the departed during this period which we would not let pass without some grateful mention; and there are others which excite a deeper emotion. Among the humbler benefactors in this department was Priscilla Wakefield, whose books for children were usually found in a thumbed and tattered condition on nursery shelves intensely moral as they were, and fine in the phraseology of their dialogue. In those days, when there were scarcely any children's books in existence, her efforts were as

welcome as they were praiseworthy. Mrs. Wakefield died, very aged, in September 1832 .- An excellent man was removed in the same year, before he was forty, who had given his life to such good works that it is sad that his years were not doubled. Richard Evans, himself a scholar, and the conservator of the ancient Welsh manuscripts of the Cambrian Society, took to heart the ignorance of the poor Welsh in London who were not at home in the English tongue. Mr. Evans collected and superintended a little colony of Welsh families-about twenty-in the neighbourhood of one of his warehouses. He instituted weekly lectures on mechanics in Welsh, for all of that people in London who chose to attend; and he spent much money and time in diffusing the means of knowledge among them. -In Hazlitt we lost the prince of critics at this time; and after he was gone, there were many who could never look at a picture, or see a tragedy, or ponder a point of morals, or take a survey of any public character, without a melancholy sense of loss in Hazlitt's absence and silence. There can scarcely be a stronger gratification of the critical faculties than in reading Hazlitt's essays. He was born in 1778, and died of cholera in 1830. He was not an amiable and happy, but he was a strong and courageousminded man. His constitutional irritability was too restless to be soothed by the influences of literature and art, and his friends suffered from his temper almost as much as himself. Yet he was regarded with respect for his ingenuous courage in saying what was true about many important things and persons of his time, of whom it was fitting that the truth should be told. Hazlitt would have passed his life as an artist, but that he could not satisfy his own critical taste, and had no patience with any position but the first in any department in which he worked. The greater part of his life, therefore, was spent in a province of literature in which he was supreme in his own day, if not alone. As an essayist he had rivals: as a critical essayist, he had none.-Two popular dramatists, O'Keefe and Prince Hoare, died in 1833 and 1834. The name of O'Keefe carries us back some way into the last century, his popular farce, Tony Lumpkin, having been acted at the Haymarket Theatre in 1778. After writing fifty м 2

dramatic pieces, he subsided into the quiet befitting his blindness and old age, and lived till his eighty-sixth year. Prince Hoare was very aged too-eighty when he died. In 1788 his comic opera, No Song, no Supper, won him his first fame. In more advanced life, he became secretary to the Royal Academy, and from his scholarship in art and literature he was a member of several societies. He was esteemed and beloved for the most engaging moral qualities: and his parting act was a beneficent one : he bequeathed his library to the Royal Society of Literature.-The venerable William Roscoe, of Liverpool, died in 1831venerable for the benignity of his character and the purity of his tastes, and especially for the gentle steadiness with which, through long seasons of trial, he upheld the cause of the negro against the slaveholding spirit of Liverpool in his day. On this matter, he never, with all his love of peace and social good-will, gave way for a moment. It is for this, rather than his literary acts, that Mr. Roscoe is and will be remembered. His principal work was the Life of Lorenzo de' Medici, which obtained great reputation at once, from the character of the times, which, impeding research of the kind required, rendered such works scarce and extremely superficial. Mr. Roscoe reached his eightyfirst year.

Some of the most affectionate and solemn associations relating to this period are called up by the name of Mackintosh. Sir James Mackintosh died, unexpectedly, in 1832, at the age of sixty-seven; and the word 'untimely' was applied to his death, through a sort of general expectation that a man of such powers would yet do something which would make his great name live after him. In early life, when he published his Vindicise Gallicse, his name had been in every mouth; and in his latest years, the House of Commons listened, heart and soul, whenever he spoke. But he was not destined to effect much during his life, or to make a monument for himself. He had stores of knowledge, remarkable powers of subtle thought, and an unsurpassed facility of expression; but a fatal indolence, which extended to the interaction of his faculties, scattered his resources, and vitiated much of the work which he actually did. His Dissertation, containing

CHAP. XIV.]

AUTHORS.

a General View of the Progress of Ethical Philosophy-prefixed to the Encylopeedia Britannica-is the work on which his reputation is commonly supposed to rest; but it is a more frail support than the memories of those who knew him, and than the records of his speeches in parliament. It will not bear the test of advancing science, any more than the kindred writings of Dugald Stewart. In parliament, his heart and voice were always on the side of justice and humanity, as justice and humanity appeared to him. In print and in private, though there might be much that was superficial and unsound in his views, as well as subtle and profound, the spirit of earnestness and reverence was never absent. He held the office of recorder of Bombay for some years; and was in parliament for several sessions; and had a way to any eminence opened to him by the pioneering influence of general expectation -yet he died amidst a celebrity which had still more of anticipation than of acknowledgment in it. His life had been a swaying between contemplation and action; and, though he might by this have obtained some enlargement for his own mind, the indecision was fatal to his leaving any substantial memorial of himself in either region. He enjoyed the friendship and homage of most of the leading men of his time; and there was no one living who did not share his placid good-will. His integrity in political life was in accordance with the simple unworldliness of his mind.

Henry Mackenzie, who wrote The Man of Feeling, died at the age of eighty-five in 1831. A mistake of his own affords as good a eulogium as his worshippers could desire. From the unbounded success of his beautiful story, The Man of Feeling, he was induced to offer a companion novel, The Man of the World, which shows unmistakably the unsophisticated character of the author, and his inability to understand the ways and thoughts of worldly men. Those who were amazed at the badness of the second tale should have felt rebuked for their disappointment by the beauty of the first.—Anna Maria Porter, the novelist, died in 1832, just three months before him whose marvellous works had swallowed up the fame of all contemporary writers of fiction. While Scott was yet but a boy, how-

ever-while he was lying on the heathery hillside, nourishing and playing with his powers of conception and narration, Miss Porter's novels-Thaddeus of Warsaw, the Recluse of Norway, and others-were giving great pleasure, and preparing the multitude of lovers of fiction for the treat to come .--- Of Scott, it is impossible, as it is needless, to speak at length in this place. Every trait of his life is in all memories ; every character of his long-drawn pageant is vivid before all eyes. Any attempt to estimate his share in modifying the mind of his time would be in vain; and if it were not, the materials for an estimate lie equally open to all. Every one can inquire of himself what the writings of Scott have been to himself and to those whom he knows best; and from that recognition, let him form his estimate. As for the man himself, every one knows all that can be told, and sees that he was not so happy or so wise as such a genius as his should have made him; that he did not honour his genius, and repose upon it as it would have been bliss to do; but looked down to lower objects, and so was deprived of his repose by that very genius, avenging itself. In a mood of respectful compassion, the nation had seen him sinking under toil to which a common-place ambition had subjected him, and which it would have been cruelty to compel him to forego. For some time before his death, his mind had sunk utterly; and at last the day of repose for the feeble body camebrightly and mildly. It was in the noon of one of those autumn days which are so sweet in Scotland, when the window at Abbotsford was open, and the ripple of the Tweed over the stones was heard by those who were around the death-bed, that the eyes closed and the breath-The life which had gone out had been ing ceased. crowded with toils; the world was full of these rich gifts, and the national heart was sad at the thought that there could be no more. The gifts remain, however, a boon for each coming generation as it rises; and thus the fame of Scott may well be committed to the general charge. -There was a sad sweep among his connections afterwards. Within half a year, his confidant, partner, friend, and printer, James Ballantyne, without whose co-operation the whole of his enterprise must have borne a different

character, died in middle age. And in the next June, the daughter Ann, who had tended Scott in his long decline, drooped and sank. And since that time all his other children have died—in these few years—and no descendants but two grandchildren are left to inherit the glory for which he cared so little, and the estate for which he sacrificed so much. Such are the caprices of the human mind and the human lot!

Of poets, we lost, during this period, some of great note. The elegant, scholarly Sotheby was not one to be popular; but he gave much pleasure to his own circle of admirers, and his life was happy in a serene course of literary exertion. He made many elegant translations, and wrote tragedies, masques, and epics; none of them containing elements of grandeur, but all of them full of purity and grace. He lived to seventy-six, and died at the close of 1833.—The venerable George Crabbe died, in old age, in 1832, leaving behind him memories which any one might covet. It is one of Burke's titles to honour that he saved this pure genius from extinction under the pressure of poverty, from no lower impulse than a generous humanity. Crabbe was starving, when he made a simple and straight appeal to the great man, and was met in the spirit in which brother should meet brother in our perplexed human life. From that hour, all went well with Crabbe; and his long life was passed in virtuous clerical duty, in domestic peace, and in giving a charming utterance to his experience of the heart, and his observation of the various human lot. His poems are full of minute details, ennobled by a genial spirit, and made touching by the pathos of truth and love. His poems, besides finding their way at once to a million of hearts and homes, remain a quiet, but living picture of English life in his time, which may probably kindle the heart of a remote antiquarianism in ages when English life, always the same in spirit, may have changed most of its forms.—S. T. Coleridge may perhaps be best placed among the poets, rather than the philosophers of his time, because the finest characteristics of his philosophy give an immortal substance to his poetry, while they leave his philosophy without base or permanent substance. A genius so lofty and so various has rarely

distinguished man; but the absence of one essential element brought it down to a lower level than that of a crowd of otherwise inferior minds. With an imagination which soared above the stars, a subtlety which would have enabled him to hold his place in a council in pandemonium, a power of abstraction which should have strengthened him to put the sensuous world beneath his feet, and an eloquence which might have enslaved the human race, he had no power of will-of that virtuous will without which every man, be he who he may, is himself a slave. Coleridge it was a constitutional defect, early marked, and fatal to his life. It was a constitutional deficiency, to be allowed for as such; but it must not be disguised that it rendered him incapable of duty-of fidelity in friendship, in citizenship, and in domestic life. And it vitiated his philosophy by eating out of it its reality and substantive truth. Thus, his theology was anything but the gospelthe religion which men prize, because it is equally the treasure of the lowly and the exalted in intellect; it was an airy fabric of the argumentative faculties and the imagination, and baseless sentiment, and not a deep concern of the understanding and the heart. And thus it was with his philosophy; for true philosophy absolutely requires a broad foundation of science, and the vital element which can be supplied only from the affections. This said, which in conscience must be said, the rest remains wonderful-even awful in its wonder. And the consolation of the case lies in the virtue which the power and the deficiency together called out in other men. The forbearance, the tenderness, the reverence, with which Coleridge was regarded, in the face of his vitiated life, are more than a compensation for what was wanting in himself. From the days when awestruck schoolmates gathered round 'the inspired boy' in the cloisters at Christ's Hospital, to the present moment, when his worshippers turn away from a sound of censure, as from a desecration of his grave, he has met with that magnanimous justice which it requires some of the loftiest qualifications to command; and in this influence lay one of the chief benefits of his life. Others were the sublime faculty by which he opened to us new worlds of thought. and made the oldest new; the subtlety of analysis by

which he displayed the inner workings of what was before our eyes, before closed and impenetrable; the instinct by which he discerned relations among things which before were isolated; and the thrilling sense of beauty which he awakened by bringing all the appearances of nature into illustration of ideas before wholly abstract. Thus, his discourses on the laws and facts of thought, his dramatic criticisms, and his own poems, are full of lights and charms. which hardly need the magic of his utterance to make them intoxicate the young thinker, and stimulate the faculties of the more mature. He was the wonder of his time. If he had not been subject to one great deficiency, he would have been its miracle. As it is, his fame is not likely to grow-less because his magical voice is silenced. than because his enchantment itself must be broken up by the touch of science. Even then, glorious will be the fragments that will remain. They will be truly the traces of old idolatries-not of one, but of many; for he spent his life in the worship of a succession of idols-those idols being ideas, which he called opinions, and which he was for ever changing. S. T. Coleridge was born in a Devonshire vicarage, in 1772; and he died at Highgate, on the 25th of July 1834.

A man of great benevolence, who indirectly contributed much to the great work of national education, which yet remains, for the most part, to be achieved, ought to be mentioned at the close of this period. Dr. Bell, a prebendary of Westminster, was once a chaplain in India, and there conceived the idea of extending the benefits of education by setting pupils to instruct each other. He reported his method; and it was soon adopted in England to such an extent, that he saw 10,000 schools established, attended by 600,000 children. He believed that the object of general education was gained; and so did many others. It required some years to show that nothing like education can be obtained by the ignorant teaching the ignorant. The results have been such as to disabuse the most sanguine. But public attention was turned to the instruction of the childhood and youth of the nation; and, in this sense, we may be said to be still benefiting by the introduction of the Bell and Lancaster system. Dr. Bell

HISTORY OF THE PEACE. •

BOOK IV.

employed his large fortune in acts of beneficence, devoting £50,000 to the establishment of a college in his native city of St. Andrews. He died in January 1831. Having now recorded the acts, and buried the treasures,

Having now recorded the acts, and buried the treasures, of an important period of our history, we must proceed to learn what further blessings have been brought home to our country and people by the life-giving hand of peace.

170

BOOK V.

CHAPTER I.

The three Parties—The Duke's Offices—Position of Sir R. Peel—New Cabinet—Dissolution of Parliament—Tamworth Manifesto—The New Parliament—Temper of the Time—Election of the Speaker— King's Speech—Debate on the Malt-tax—Lord Londonderry's Appointment—Dissenters' Marriages—Ecclesiastical Commission— Ministerial Defeats—London University Charter—Conflicts in Parliament—Appropriation Question—Resignation of the Cabinet.

FROM the time of the passage of the Reform Bill, the three parties in the state-kindred with those which exist in every free state-began to accept one another's new titles. and the professions included in those titles. The Tories. Whigs, and Radicals wished to be called Conservatives, Reformers, and Badical Reformers; and the easy civility of calling people by the name they like best, spread through public manners till the word Tory was seldom heard except among old-fashioned people, or in the heat of political argument. The Whig title has since revived-inevitably-from the Whigs having ceased even to pretend to the character of Reformers; and the Radical Reformers were not numerous or powerful enough in parliament to establish for themselves a title which should become traditional. There was some dispute, and a good deal of recrimination, at the outset, about the assumption by each party of its own title; the Tories declaring that they were as reforming, in intention and in fact, as the Whigs, only in a preservative way; the Whigs declaring that the only true conservatism was through reforms like theirs; and the Radicals, who were called Destructives by both the others,

declaring that a renovation of old institutions-a regeneration on occasion-was the only way to avoid that ultimate revolution which the Tories would invite and the Whigs permit. While the titles were changing, the parties were as yet essentially the same as ever; as usual, they consisted mainly of the representatives of those who had much to lose, those who had much to gain, and the umpire party, disliked by both, whose function is to interpose in times of crisis, and whose fate it is to exhaust the credit acquired in such seasons during long intervals of indolence and vacillation. Such was, as usual, the constitution of the three political parties, after the passage of the Reform Bill, and when the changes in their titles actually took place; but there were clear-sighted men at that time who perceived that the change of names was but the first sign of an approaching disintegration of the parties themselves; a disintegration which must be succeeded by more or less fusion-that fusion being introductory to a new exhibition of products. The old parties, notwithstanding their new names, were about to disappear. They could not be annihilated; but they would reappear so transmuted that none but the philosopher would know them againwith new members, a new language, a new task, and a whole set of new aims. As much of this prevision has come true as time has yet allowed for. The disintegration and fusion have taken place; and all thoughtful people see that a new formation of parties must be at hand. One limit of the transition period of parties remains still future: the other must be laid down at the date of Sir Robert Peel's accession to power, in December 1834. Here we have the old Eldon oracle speaking againspeaking 'in the spirit of fear,' and not 'in that of power, and of love, and of a sound mind,' and therefore giving out its truth in a dismal disguise; but still giving out more truth than anybody could use at the time. Here we have Lord Eldon's party view of the future, while the Wellingtons and Rodens, and Knatchbulls and Lyndhursts, and Wharncliffes and Ellenboroughs, were in power, at the opening of the year 1835: 'The new ministers certainly have the credit, if that be creditable, of being inclined to get as much popularity by what are called

reforms as their predecessors; and if they do not, at present, go to the full length to which the others were going, they will at least make so many important changes in Church and State, that nobody can guess how far the precedents they establish may lead to changes of a very formidable kind hereafter.' Though Lord Eldon could see no other reason for Tories making changes than a hankering after popularity, we can discern in the facts, and his statement of them, the beginning of that wasting away of parties which he did not live to see.

The new Conservative rule began with a joke. Some. who could not take the joke easily, were very angry; but most people laughed; and among them, the person most nearly concerned—the Duke of Wellington—laughed as cheerfully as anybody. Sir Robert Peel was at Rome; it must be a fortnight before he could arrive; and nothing could be done about the distribution of office in his absence; so the duke took the business of the empire upon himself during the interval. This he called not deserting his sovereign : and he was as well satisfied with himself in this singular way of getting over the crisis, as on all the other occasions when he refused to desert his sovereign. His devotion was such, that for the interval he undertook eight offices-five principal, and three subordinate. 'The Irish hold it impossible.' wrote a contemporary. ' for a man to be in two places at once, " like a bird." The duke has proved this no joke-he is in five places at once. At last, then, we have a united government. The cabinet council sits in the duke's head, and the ministers are all of one mind.' The angry among the Liberals treated the spectacle as they would have done if the duke had proposed to carry on the government permanently in this manner. Condemnations passed at public meetings were forwarded to him with emphatic assurances that the condemnation was unanimous; an orator here and there drew out in array all the consequences that could ever arise from the temporary shift being made a precedent; and Lord Campbell condescended to talk, at a public meeting at Edinburgh, of impeaching the multifarious minister. At all this, and at a myriad of jokes, the duke laughed, while he worked like a clerk from day to day, till the welcome sound of Sir Robert Peel's carriagewheels was heard.

It is a strong proof of the virulence of the party-spirit of the time, that even generous-minded men, experienced in the vicissitudes of politics, could not at first-nor till after the lapse of months or years-appreciate the position of Sir Robert Peel. Everybody saw it at last; and there were many who, during that hard probation, watched him and sympathised with him with daily increasing interest and admiration; but there were too many who turned his difficulties against him, and who were insensible till too late to the rebuke involved in the fine temper which became nobler, and the brilliant statesmanship which became more masterly, as difficulties which he had not voluntarily encountered pressed upon him with a daily accumulating His being at Rome proved how little he had antiforce. cipated being called to office. He had no option about accepting it-his sovereign sent for him, and he must come; and when he arrived, he found there was no possibility of declining a task which he believed to be hopeless. Unpopular as the Whig ministry had become; the Conservatives were not the better for it, but the worse; for the cry for reform was growing stronger every day; and he could have no hope of gratifying the majority of his own party, as he could not attempt to repeal the Reform Bill, or to get back to the old ways. There was nothing before him but failure, with discredit, on every hand; but while he would certainly never have chosen to fill a position so hard and so hopeless, he had a spirit whose nature it was to rise under difficulties, and to feel the greatest alacrity under desperate conditions.

One of the desperate conditions was, that he could not form the cabinet which his intentions and the necessities of the times required. He arrived in London early on Tuesday, the 9th of December, and went at once to the king; yet on the next Saturday nothing was known but that he would himself be chancellor of the exchequer, as well as first lord of the treasury. Lord Stanley and Sir James Graham had declined being of his corps; and he did not accept the ultra-Tory adherents of the duke whom he found hanging about on his return. In his ministry

are found, naturally, but unfortunately for its chances, four men whose political steadiness could never again be counted upon-Lords Lyndhurst and Rosslyn, Sir James Scarlett, now made Lord Abinger, and Mr. Alexander Baring, afterwards Lord Ashburton. The rest were of such politics as to discredit at once all professions of the duke and his friends, in Sir R. Peel's absence, of the desire of the government to promote all rational reforms. The duke himself went to the foreign office ; Mr. Goulburn, to the home; Mr. Herries, to the war; and Lord Aberdeen, to the colonial office. Sir Henry Hardinge was Irish secretary; Lord Wharncliffe, lord privy seal; and Lord Rosslyn, president of the council. Lord Lyndhurst was on the woolsack, and Lord Abinger became chief-baron. Some of the king's sons-in-law, who were Whigs, resigned their offices in the household, and were succeeded by Conservatives of a very pure water. .

Another of the desperate conditions was the state of parties in the Commons. From the moment there was a rumour of a difficulty between the king and Lord Melbourne, the Whigs and Radicals in the House began to incline towards each other, lest the reformers of England should lose any of the ground they had so hardly gained. From the moment it became known that Lord Melbourne had declined the earldom and the garter, which the poor king had the bad taste to offer as a compensation for unreasonable treatment, all differences were sunk for the season, and the two parties united as one; so that it was believed on every hand that little more than a fourth -certainly less than a third-of the existing House of Commons would support the new ministry. Though the people might not, at that juncture, return a much more favourable House, the experiment must be tried. Parliament was prorogued on the 18th of December; and on the 30th it was dissolved by proclamation, and a new one was convoked, to meet on the 19th of February.

Before taking the sense of the country, it was necessary for the minister to put forth some declaration of what the country had to expect from him; and this he did in the form of an address to his Tamworth constituents, avowing that he was at the same time addressing the whole middle classes of the nation. It is observable that while he speaks undoubtingly of his obligation to take office, and heartily of his intention to toil and persevere, there is scarcely an expression in the address which indicates hope of permanence and success. Its tone is cheerful, but no one could call it sanguine; and, in indicating the principles on which he means to act, he speaks for himself alone, and makes no reference to a cabinet policy, or to administrative co-operation in any way, merely declaring, in a parenthetical manner, that the sentiments of his colleagues are in entire concurrence with his own.

First, he declares himself a reformer of abuses, and points to his own great measures in regard to the currency, to criminal law, to jury trial, and other matters, in proof of his disposition to remove abuses and facilitate improvements. In the same spirit, he would accept and make operative any reform actually accomplished, whether he originally approved of it or not: and he would therefore accept the Reform Bill, considering it a 'final and irrevocable settlement of a great constitutional question;' and he would carry out its intentions, supposing those to imply a careful review of old institutions, undertaken in a friendly spirit, and with a purpose of improve-Coming down to particulars, he would not interfere ment. with the inquiry of the corporation commissioners, of which he had shown his approbation by being voluntarily a member of the parliamentary committee upon it. He had voted with government on Lord Althorp's church-rate measure, and was still willing to relieve the Dissenters from the grievance of paying church-rates, and of a celebration of marriage in terms to which they conscientiously objected. He would not admit the right of Dissenters to admission to the universities; but he would recommend an alteration of the regulations which prevented any of the king's subjects from being on a perfect equality with others in respect to any civil privilege. He would not countenance any retrospective inquiry into the pension list-filled, as it had been, under circumstances that had passed away; but he would advocate more care in future in the conferring of pensions. About church reform in Ireland, again, his mind was not changed : he

was in favour of the best distribution, be it ever so new. of ecclesiastical property for ecclesiastical purposes; but he could not sanction its application to any other than strictly ecclesiastical objects. He wished to see a commutation of tithe in England; and with regard to deeper matters-the laws which govern the Church-he desired time for further thought, and opportunity for new light. The somewhat deprecatory tone of the conclusion of this address is striking now, and must have been strongly felt by all the many classes of readers who thronged to get a sight of it on the morning of its appearance. 'I enter upon the arduous duties assigned to me with the deepest sense of the responsibility they involve, with great distrust of my own qualifications for their adequate discharge, but at the same time with a resolution to persevere which nothing could inspire but the strong impulse of public duty, the consciousness of upright motives, and the firm belief that the people of this country will so far maintain the prerogative of the king as to give to the ministers of his choice, not an implicit confidence, but a fair trial.

Such was the text on which the popular comment of the elections was to proceed. It was much more liberal than the Liberals had expected; but when they looked at the group of colleagues behind, they distrusted the minister and his manifesto, and set vigorously to work to elect a House which should bring all his counsels to nought, and frustrate all his efforts. He could not have said that they, as Liberals, were wrong; and neither he nor they could anticipate how their opposition would rouse his faculties and exalt his fame. This address appeared in one paper as a mere advertisement, in small type. In another, it was conspicuous as the leading article. It was immediately reprinted, throughout the country; and it is strange now to see it standing under the heading of 'the Tory manifesto.' If this was its true title, Toryism had indeed changed its character, much and rapidly.

The first reformed parliament had not satisfied its constituents: it had done some wrong things, and omitted many right ones; but it had had the great virtue of being in advance of the ill-compacted, desultory, unvol. III. businesslike Whig cabinet. It would have done more and better but for the drag of the administration, which was always put on when there was up-hill work to be attempted. If the same parliament had been allowed to remain, its great reform party no longer impeded by the Whigs, but aided by them, great things might be hoped. As it was not to remain it was parted with more respectfully and good-humouredly than could have been supposed possible three months before, under a prevailing sense that much allowance must be made for the disadvantage of the reform ministry having so soon fallen so far below all rational expectation. Everything might be hoped from the next House of Commons. The first object of every class of reformers was clear enough-to depose the Conservatives, and reinstate a reforming ministry; and it would be perfectly easy to do this by union between the Whig and Radical parties, though, as every one knew, there would be more Conservatives returned under a Peel, than under a Grey ministry. More Conservatives were returned, but the reformers had still an overwhelming majority; and from the hour when the members assembled, it was only a question of time-a consideration of sense and temper-when and how Sir Robert Peel should be compelled to retire. The popular power being thus clearly able to do what it would, it now appears strange that the virulence of the time was what it was. The minister seems to have been almost the only man who preserved temper and cheerfulness, though his position was incomparably the hardest-placed, as he was, in that hopeless position, without any choice of his own. It is not necessary to record the ill-humour of the time by anecdotes which would now convey more disgrace than the parties deserved; but it may be said that the kingdom was covered with altercation, from the House of Lords, where the late ministers spoke with extreme bitterness of late events, down to the street-corners and police-courts, where fretful men complained of each other, and of the police, and the bill-stickers, and all officers concerned in all elections. The Conservatives quarrelled among themselves quite as virulently as either party with the other. The old Tories put out a caricature of the search of

178·

Diogenes, who lights upon Lord Eldon as the only honest man. The Times lectured the party on its slowness and apathy; and other Conservative papers denounced all compromise with reform, now that the opportunity was present of putting down the Papists and the Radicals by the powers of government, under the countenance of the king. As soon as it was clear that the reformers had a very large majority, and when the Times retreated so far as to discuss the possibility of a coalition between the Grey and Peel parties, the other leading paper, the Standard, intimated that the new parliament would be immediately dissolved, in order to afford the people an opportunity of reconsidering their duty, and returning a House more agreeable to the other ruling powers. This intimation caused such an outcry about a return of the time of the Stuarts, that the paper softened its menace immediately; but it could not recall the hint it had given to the constituencies to keep up their organisation, in readiness for a new election, at any hour. Accusations of bribery all round were profuse, and, on the whole, too well deserved; for the occasion was indeed a most critical one, when the corrupt, as well as the honourable, felt called on to put forth all their resources. Then, there was incessant quarrelling about the waverers, or doubtful men, who were just sufficient to make it difficult to calculate. and easy to dispute, what the Conservative minority would in reality be. Then, again, it was certain that, from the losses to the reform party in the English boroughs where corporation reform was most wanted, the two parties were run so close that any effectual parliamentary majority must be yielded by Scotland and Ireland; and this gave occasion for a fierce renewed cry about Papist supremacy. When the last election returns came in, it appeared to the most careful calculators that the reformers were secure of a majority of above 130; and, if all the doubtfuls were given to the ministerial party, the Conservatives would still be in a minority of 82. Thus the fate of the new ministry was decided, and known to be so, before the premier met parliamentknown at least by the Liberals, though the premier himself appears to have gained confidence as time went on,

179

N 2

from finding how much reform it was practicable for him to effect. At a dinner at Tamworth, he intimated that the ominous predictions of his being unable to carry on the government might not, perhaps, be necessarily true: parliament might give him a fair trial; and he could not but think that many who were classed as reformers held views very like his own.

The reformers, however, felt that this was no time for a comparison of views on any particular subjects, but rather an occasion for deciding between opposite principles of government in the large. In this there can now be no question that they were right; and the more the late Whig government had fallen short of fidelity to reform principles, the more important it was now to reassert them, and to put aside any minister, be his personal merits what they might, and his policy ever so promising, who stood forth as the representative of the Tory party with a group of Tories at his back. 'Public principle'however the words might be ridiculed by the newspapers of the day as meaning private interests and jealous tempers-did require that the distinction of parties should at that crisis be made as conspicuous as possible; and if anger, and disappointment, and jealousy among ministerial men on the Whig side did make sad havoc with temper and manners, such incidents did not alter the duty of the Those reformers who were much of Sir Robert time. Peel's mind about many things, and might have supported him in a tranquil organic season, were now bound to set him aside if they could, because the first duty of the critical period was to choose decidedly between an unregenerate and a regenerate system of government. There was not, therefore, necessarily any spirit of faction in the determination of the reformers to begin the campaign by requiring a speaker of their own party. Whether or not they had been right hitherto in maintaining Sir Charles Manners Sutton in the chair, it was clear that it would not be right now. Times were altered; and the man was visibly altered by the change in the He had been unable-as everybody else was times. unable-to resist the temptation to active partisanship; and he was so far less qualified for the chair than

formerly, even if no 'great public principle' had become involved in the question of his reappointment.

Mr. Abercromby was the man on whom the wishes of the reformers settled; but Mr. Abercromby objected to the nomination, and he resisted the honour till nearly the last hour. He yielded, however, and immediately left town; while it was universally known that on the other side even urgent personal canvassing was practised. This difference, and the inclination of many quiet or lukewarm reformers to have a speaker of such proved qualifications as Sir C. Manners Sutton in so troubled a session as was before them, rendered it doubtful, to the last moment, which way the election would turn. There was an extremely full House on the critical 19th of February: only a few of the doubtfuls and six Tories were absent; almost all the rest of the waverers and thirty-five reformers voted for the ministerial speaker; and yet Mr. Abercromby was chosen by a majority of ten. The reformers from this time knew that the session was theirs, if they were active and united. Sir Charles Manners Sutton at once received the peerage which his long services truly merited, being called to the Upper House by the title of Viscount Canterbury.

On the 24th, the king came down to open parliament in His speech declared the rising prosperity of person. manufactures and commerce, but deplored the depression of agriculture, and recommended to parliament the consideration of reducing the burdens upon land. Wearisome as it is to record and to read of the depression of agriculture, almost from year to year, it becomes the more necessary to do so as we approach the period when a free-trade in corn was demanded by a majority of the people. It is necessary to see, as we proceed, what the state of things was which the opponents of change would have perpetuated-what the good old times were, which they were unwilling to abandon. This year, the farmers' cry came up so pitcously that it was echoed in the king's speech; and it was left for the multitude below to wonder how it was that there were any farmers in England-so losing a business as farming evidently was. Another series or two of farmers had to be impoverished yet before the withering system of protection was put an end to; but every complaint to government, and every mention by the sovereign, of agricultural distress, now went to remind the thoughtful that there must be something radically wrong in the existing system, whatever might be the difficulty of agreeing about a better. The king also requested the attention of parliament to the tithe questions in Ireland and England; to ecclesiastical reform in regard to discipline and the administration of justice; to the best way of relieving Dissenters from a form of the celebration of marriage to which they conscientiously objected; to the municipal corporation question; to the operations of the ecclesiastical commission; and to the condition of the Church of Scotland.

The conflict of parties began at once, in the House of Lords, about the address. According to Lord Eldon's report, there was a serious dread, some days before, of a large majority against ministers, even in the Upper House; and the Conservatives made a solemn call upon each other to muster strongly, for the last chance of preserving their dignities and their property, lest their children, like those of the French nobility, should be doomed to become commoners. The feeble old man was himself in his place, almost for the last time. 'I sat,' he says, 'last night in the House of Lords till between twelve and one-till all in that House was over. I certainly would much rather have sat by my fireside, quietly, and enjoying the comforts of conversation.' But he was resolved, as long as he lived, to do his part in saving the monarchy. The debate was deformed by much anger and mutual unfairness. In both Houses the recrimination was unworthy of so great an occasion-the late ministry unreasonably finding fault with the dissolution of parliament, and with the Duke of Wellington's way of conducting the business of the state during the premier's return from Rome; and the Conservatives unwisely dwelling on an anecdote of the time which has never ceased to be vividly remembered. It had actually happened that before the king could have sent to the Duke of Wellington, and before Lord Melbourne could have officially communicated to his colleagues the state of the king's mind, an ostentatious statement appeared in a morning paper-a statement

which must have been derived from a cabinet minister, and which was universally attributed to Lord Brougham -that Lord Melbourne's administration was dismissed, and that 'the queen had done it all.' Though the speech made no allusion to the change of ministry, and Lord Melbourne's proposed amendment was also silent about it. the anecdotage of the crisis formed the chief part of the debates on the address in both Houses. The amendments insisted on carrying out the principles of reform in regard to the projects contemplated by the late parliament, and lamented its unnecessary dissolution before those reforms were completed. In the Lords' House, the amendment was simply negatived. In the Commons it was carried by a majority of seven. And here, at the outset, the premier had to consider what was to be done. He took time to consider, in order, as he frankly avowed, to guard himself against any misleading from mortification, and to ascertain whether the vote conveyed the real sense of the House. When satisfied that it did so, he did not oppose the amendment of the address; and it was carried up to the king, therefore, with the unusual feature conspicuous in it of the discontent of the Commons with the late dissolution of their House. The king was sorry, of course. that the Commons did not concur with him in regard to that act, and declared that he exercised his prerogatives with the sole view of promoting the welfare of his people.

The restlessness of the opposition was increased by the two majorities they had already obtained; and, through one opening or another, inquiries were incessantly conveyed to the minister whether he meant to resign. His answer was that the two votes did not convey a declaration of want of confidence in the government, and he therefore thought it his duty to proceed. These inquiries naturally caused rumours out of doors; and then again, these rumours were reproduced in the House, to elicit further explanations from ministers. On the 2nd of March, Lord John Russell made a statement of two reports which were prevalent—that parliament was again to be discolved, on the first ministerial reverse; and that, if this should happen before the Mutiny Act could be discussed, the army was to be kept up, on the responsibility of the administration, without the assent of parliament. That such a project should have been imputed to one political leader by another, in our day, is a remarkable indication of the disturbance of the general mind. Lord John Russell declared that he should avoid putting the direct question whether these things were true; but that he intended to test the disposition of the cabinet by bringing forward, at a time of which he gave notice, the appropriation question, and that of municipal reform. The premier's reply was clear and frank. He had never discussed or proposed anywhere a speedy dissolution of parliament; but it was not his business to place in abeyance, by any declaration of his, the royal prerogative of dissolving parliament: and this, as he observed, was a fuller reply than Lord Grey had given to the well-remembered question of Lord Wharncliffe on the same subject. As to the Irish Church question, he and his colleagues were anxious that the commission should prosecute their labours, as yet only half-finished; and when they had furnished the requisite information, government and the country would see what ought to be done-the present government adhering to its principle that the property of the Church ought to be applied only to strictly ecclesiastical purposes, but being ready to amend the distribution of that property, when the requisite evidence should be complete. There was no objection on the part of the government to any needful reform of corporation abuses; but neither they, nor anybody else, could declare what such reforms should be till the commissioners should have offered their report. As for the rumour about the maintenance of the army without the sanction of parliament, he had never heard the subject mentioned till that night. The same kind of suspicious inquiry was made of Lord Aberdeen in the Upper House about the carrying out of the Emancipation Act in the West Indies, when the colonial secretary declared that no one could be more anxious than himself—whose first vote had been against slavery-that the act should be completely carried out; and he had written to Lord Sligo to entreat him to remain in his office of governor of Jamaica, and complete his work, without any misgiving on account of the change of administration at home.

On the next great subject of discussion, men of all parties united on either side. Lord Chandos proposed, to the embarrassment of the government which he usually supported, the repeal of the malt-duty-the promise of which boon to the farmers was believed to have greatly influenced the elections. Many Whig and Radical members agreed with the premier that such a proposition could not be entertained before the financial condition of the country was known; that there was no reason to suppose that the surplus in the treasury could meet such a demand; that it was not the barley-growers whose distress now called for attention, as the price of barley had been rising for a considerable period; and that it was extremely doubtful whether the farmers would be peculiarly benefited by the repeal of the duty. On the division, Mr. Grote and Mr. Hume were found voting on opposite sides; and three members of the late government spoke in support of Sir Robert Peel against the motion of his own adherent: the strife of party was visible only in the sarcasms thrown out in the course of debate; and the majority against the repeal of the malt-tax was 158.

On the next occasion of defeat, the administration had little sympathy from any quarter. They had made an indefensible appointment to an office of high importance. and they had to take the consequences; and the premier among others, not only because his was the first responsibility in such cases-however his opinion might be overruled in private-but because he attempted a lamentable defence in parliament of an appointment which could in no view be justified. Early in January, the following paragraph appeared in the Times newspaper: 'We notice, merely to discountenance, an absurd report, that Lord Londonderry has been, or is to be, named ambassador to St. Petersburg. The rumour is a sorry joke.' It was no joke. If all England had been searched for a man whose politics were most like those of the Emperor of Russia, Lord Londonderry might well have been chosen; and he was now to be sent to represent the mind of England to the Emperor of Russia-now, when the affairs of Turkey were in a state to require the most accurate representation of the opinion of Great Britain-now, when Poland was

commanding the sympathies of the whole world, but when Lord Londonderry was in the habit of speaking decisively of the Poles as 'the rebellious subjects of the Emperor of Russia;' and when he professed himself a sympathiser with Don Carlos and Don Miguel. His lordship's notions about a fair personal interest in public service were also too well known throughout the country to dispose the people of England to place him again in their service. It could never be forgotten that he had, a few years before, brought disgrace upon himself by declaring, in the House of Lords, that he had been calumniated and injured by the foreign office, and challenging Lord Dudley, then foreign secretary, to produce a certain correspondence which would explain the case. In the course of explanation it appeared that Lord Londonderry had been importunate for a pension, in consideration of his diplomatic services; and that the calm and moderate Lord Liverpool had written in pencil on the back of the letter, 'This is too bad.' These things, before well known, were now repeated in parliament, and the portrait of the rank Tory nobleman, with his rashness, his obtuseness his narrowness, his ingenuous conclusions that the people and their purses were created for the benefit of the aristocracy, was held up before the public eve in a way infinitely damaging to the administration. Sir Robert Peel held up, on the other side, his manliness and his military qualifications-qualities which, with some other very good ones, nobody denied, but which did not constitute him a fitting representative of the mind of the British nation at the court of Russia. The appointment was not actually made out; but Sir R. Peel declared himself ready to maintain the nomination. The difficulty, however, was ended by Lord Londonderry immediately withdrawing. The debate in the Commons was published on Saturday; and on Monday, the marguis declared, with his characteristic manliness, that he saw it to be impossible that he could act with advantage at a foreign court, while disowned as a representative by any considerable portion of the political body at home; and therefore, while scorning all scoffs and imputations, and heedless of invidious censure, he should for the sake of his sovereign decline the service proposed. The Whig Lords were anxious to

explain that their disapprobation was grounded on the speeches he had made in that House, which had manifested his dismay and anger at the expulsion of the Bourbons, his rancour against the Poles, and his sympathies with Don Miguel and Don Carlos; which state of opinion seemed to qualify him rather for the post of Russian ambassador in England than British ambassador in Russia. The ministers were as severely judged by their own party on this occasion as by any other. They had humbled the king, and rendered his prerogative ineffective; if it had before been true that the sovereign could not practically carry out any such appointment without the approbation of parliament, express or implied, the truth had not been exhibited; and decent appointments had made all easy. In this case, the king had been first misled and then humbled; and the Conservatives had little more mercy on the ministers than anybody else.

In the preceding year, Lord John Russell had brought forward a measure for the relief of Dissenters in regard to the marriage ceremony. It was well meant; but the Dissenters could not possibly accept it. All proposed legislation on this subject, thus far, had been kind in its spirit, and earnest in the desire to give relief; but it had unconsciously carried an air of condescension-a supposition of respective superiority and inferiority not admissible in affairs of conscience. No one could be further than Lord John Russell from sympathising in the sayings of the Eldons and the Wynfords, and others, who could not conceive of a Dissenter as a man whose rights were as precious, and whose conscience was to be as much considered, as their own. Nobody could be further than Lord John Russell from the insolence of asking what harm it could do a Dissenter to be blessed in a form of words offensive to his religious feelings, as long as he was not required himself to repeat those words. Lord John Russell was disposed to relieve the Dissenter from the pain and humiliation of being a party to a religious service which he conscientiously disapproved ; and he proposed to open their own chapels freely to the body for the performance of the ceremony of marriage. But he did not see, till the rejection of his measure by the Dissenters

pointed out the fact to him, that it was an infringement of religious liberty to render the Dissenters dependent on the Church for the publication of their banns, and the declaration of that procedure by the clergyman. He did not see that it was an encroachment on liberty of conscience to permit marriages to be celebrated only in places of worship, thus perpetuating the modern innovation, injurious to many consciences, of absolutely connecting the civil contract with the religious celebration. On these grounds, and also because they objected to the necessity of affixing the licence in some conspicuous part of their chapels, the Dissenters had rejected Lord John Russell's measure of the session of 1834. Many whose occasions have not led them to a very close study of the application of the principles of religious liberty, called them, as usual, captious. Others, who, like Lord Holland, knew the nonconformists, and recognised their function in the state. received their petitions and statements with respect, and considered them with deference. 'Take care,' said Lord Holland to a brother peer, a few years later, on another question of Dissenters' rights-' take care how you conclude against the nonconformists on any question of religious liberty. I have seen more of them than most men; and I never differed from them without finding myself in the wrong.' In such a temper of honest respect did Sir Robert Peel now look into this case of Dissenters' marriages. He went down to the principle of the matter at once, in which he was as well supported by the lawyers in the House as by the Dissenters out of it. On the principle that the civil contract is the first consideration before the law, and that, even in churches where marriage is regarded as a sacrament, the religious ceremony only arises out of the civil contract, the minister now proposed to establish at once the broad principle of the validity of marriage by purely civil contract. He also offered full liberty to all denominations of Dissenters to marry in their own chapels. It was honourable to the House of Commons that it received this broad measure as it deserved, recognising the truth of its principle. So did the Dissenters also receive it: but amidst their satisfaction and gratitude, they did not forget their fidelity to their function. They pointed

out that even this bill would not establish equality before the law for men of differing faiths; it still provided one method of marriage for Churchmen and another for Dissenters, and they required liberty of marriage by civil contract to be extended to the whole of society. They also objected, on their own account, to being dependent on the clergy for the registration of their marriages. Lord Eldon's remark on this is: 'The Dissenters are pleased, but they seem not to disguise that they are not satisfied. I take it that the true friends of the Church are neither pleased nor satisfied. As to the Dissenters, it is their nature not to be satisfied, as I can judge from very long experience.' These haughty gentlemen, who regarded the nonconformists as a separate breed, and talked of 'their nature,' seem never to have asked themselves whether they would themselves ever be 'satisfied' to be compelled to marry nowhere but in a Roman Catholic church, or to depend on the Catholic priesthood for the celebration and registration of their marriages. The minister received the representation of the Dissenters with respect and good-will, and saw the force of the objection about the registration by the clergy; or, in case of the civil-contract celebration, by a magistrate who was usually a clergyman. He had it in his mind to bring forward a registration measure of large scope; but he could not do everything at once. and at present could only announce it. On going out of office, shortly after, he committed the whole business to Lord John Russell, by whom that ultimate measure was brought forward the next year, which has happily settled the marriage question. This ultimate measure was brought in together with one for a registration of births, marriages, and deaths; by it, the civil contract becomes all that the state has to do with the celebration of marriage; and it is accomplished through the registration office, while all persons are left free to conduct the religious celebration of marriage according to their own views.

During this extraordinary session, the minister seemed to be inexhaustible—in purposes, in resources, in energy, and, it may be added, in temper. By this time, his political antagonists had begun to admire; and the country was awake. Success and permanence in office were evidently out of the question still; but all that man could do the minister did to lessen the rancour of parties by uniting them in good objects. His speech upon the malt-tax had manifested great care, knowledge, and industrious research; and now his introduction of a measure for the commutation of tithes impressed his hearers yet more with a sense of these qualities. He hoped to induce a pretty general commutation of tithes, by offering facilities and inducements to such a settlement. His antagonists believed that none but a compulsory commutation would take full effect; and many pronounced any settlement at all of that question an achievement not to be expected of any statesman whatever. This was no occasion of party strife, while it evidently improved the minister's position. He had caused the reappointment of all the committees of the preceding session, which had for their object the investigation into needs and abuses; and it was clear to all by this time that he had no intention of meddling with any questions on which the mind of parliament had been declared, and its legislation settled. With regard to other matters, as well as education in Ireland, and the incipient plan for England and Wales, he declared his principle to be to acquiesce in what had been deliberately decided on, and to endeavour faithfully to carry out the purposes of the legislature.

One of the first acts of the ministry had been to issue a commission to inquire into the evils which had arisen from the old ecclesiastical arrangements, now outgrown, about the territorial divisions, income, and patronage of the Church. Already the commission were in waiting with their report, which was presented on the 19th of March. A new arrangement of dioceses was proposed, and the erection of two new bishoprics-those of Manchester and Ripon; while, on the other hand, the sees of Bangor and St. Asaph might be united, and also those of Llandaff and Bristol. An equalisation of great church incomes. and a fairer distribution of work and salaries, were also About the same time, the attorney-general proposed. gave notice of a bill to amend the discipline of the Church of England; and he also renewed a measure for the improvement of the administration of ecclesiastical law,

which had been originated under the Duke of Wellington's former ministry, and adopted by the Whigs in their act of issuing a commission. There was much disputation as to which party ought to enjoy the credit of these proceedings; for it was not yet clear to all who were in high places that a time was come when, by a law of necessity, men must make a common stock of statesmanship-must unite their wisdom for the general good-and be satisfied with the honour and blessing of having originated, or of having carried through, good measures, with all procurable assistance from every quarter, without insisting on that glory of a more ancient statesmanship, in which the people had little or no part-of being responsible for the whole conception, preparation, and execution of a new act of policy. Our successive ministers and their parties were, for a series of years, incessantly complaining of each other for taking up and carrying good measures which they did not originate; but what would they deserve as ministers if they avoided taking up and carrying good measures because they did not originate them ? Ours are not times when men can say : 'That is my bit of truth, and you shall not have it '---' That is my bit of usefulness, and you shall not touch it.' The truth and the usefulness become, under a faithful representative system, as free as the light and the air. The real glory is in effectually dispensing them-a work in which every political benefactor we have is more or less concerned with some predecessor; and if, in the midst of such work, any man's heart is really set upon his due of praise for his precise share in the suggestion and management, it might be easy to ascertain that precise share. The difficulty would be to make anybody care to know what it was. Amidst the prevalence of the charges all round of borrowing or stealing political measures, the people are quietly drawing their inferences; surely distinguishing the makeshift politician who catches at a popular cry, takes up in a slovenly way what is suggested to him, and offers it without improvement or adaptation, from the true statesman, who, amidst many mistakes of his opponents, sees here and there a good embryo measure, reflects upon and expands it, collects all needful knowledge about it, imbues

it with originality and life, clothes it with a proper organisation, and produces it in his day of power, acknowledging whence he derived it, but secretly conscious that but for him it would never have been thus matured. Such has been the process, so repeatedly and so conspicuously of late years, on our platform of government, that men in high places have begun to understand it like the crowd below; and we hear less complaint with every change of government, of a borrowing or stealing of the thoughts of rivals; but, during the short Peel administration of 1835, such complaints were abundant, and very bitter.

This short administration was now approaching its close. On the twenty-fourth of March, the minister was outvoted about the functions of a committee to inquire into a charge of intimidation at the late Chatham election, by an officer in command there. On the 26th, another defeat was sustained on the question of the London University charter. The grounds of proceeding about this charter had been examined by the privy-council; and, during the period of Whig government, nothing had been done about it : while Oxford and Cambridge had petitioned against any permission to the London University to grant degrees of the same denominations as those of the ancient universitiesnot objecting, as they declared, to the grant of a charter, or the power of conferring academical honours, but desiring to keep appropriate to themselves the titles of honour which should prove that those who bore them belonged to the Established Church, and had graduated at Oxford or The motion on the present occasion was for Cambridge. an address to the king, beseeching him to grant such a charter to the London University as was approved by the law-officers of the crown in 1831, and containing no other restriction than against conferring degrees in divinity and in medicine. The proposers declared, on being questioned. that the reason why they brought forward this motion now was that they had no longer the hope which existed in the days of a Liberal government, of the admission of Dissenters to the old universities; and if such admission could not be obtained, they must seek for justice in the social career by acquiring such privileges as could be had

for the one university which was open to them. The government amendment was one which did no credit to anybody concerned in it, and was, perhaps, the most damaging act of Sir Robert Peel's short term of office. It was of an obstructive character which could not be mistaken -addressing the king for copies of the memorials presented against the project of a charter, together with an account of the proceedings before the privy-council. This was practically a reverting to the old wrong of considering the Dissenters an inferior and disgraced body, and excluding them from any fair chance in professional life; and the wrong was too flagrant for the times, strong as was the spirit of bigotry, and the habit of prejudice among the classes from which the legislature is selected. The time was come when either the old universities must throw their gates wide to Dissenters, or they must abstain from interference with that honourable and conscientious body -withheld by honour and conscience from winning university privileges-in obtaining justice by another mode. The government was left in a minority of 136 to 246. The king's reply to the address was gracious; but for several months after the return of the Whigs to power, nothing more was heard of the matter. By the next August, the pressure of the government by the council had become such as to procure a proposal which was at once accepted by all the parties concerned in the university-that a body of men of science and scholarship should be incorporated by charter in London, for the purpose of examining candidates and conferring degrees in arts, medicine, and laws on not only students educated in the one college in question, but in others in London, now specified, and also some in the country to be afterwards recognised. This satisfied all reasonable persons. The Dissenters desired justice, and not a monopoly; and the proposed extension conferred dignity, while securing enlarged usefulness. On the 28th of November 1836, two charters were granted-one to constitute the University of London, hitherto so called, 'University College, London,' for 'the general advancement of literature and science, by affording to young men adequate opportunities of obtaining literary and scientific education at a moderate expense '--- the other charter creat-VOL. UI.

ing the 'University of London.' The proceeding, however, bore the ordinary character of the executive acts of the Whigs; it was imperfect, if not illegal-the instrument bearing the words, without qualification, 'during royal will and pleasure.' These words doomed the charter to expire within six months after the death of William IV. Queen Victoria, as advised, revoked it, and granted a new one on a better tenure, which received the great seal on the 27th of December 1837. In this charter the object is declared to be to hold out the encouragements of the institution 'without any distinction whatsoever;' a declaration so clear as deeply to discredit an attempt made in the next year to introduce, in the form of optional discipline, a test which should establish 'distinctions' on account of differing modes of faith. It was Dr. Arnold who tried the unhappy experiment; and he failed, as the best-intentioned man must do who attempts to force his personal convictions on a public institution, in opposition to its leading principle, and the express terms of its charter. The university remains equal in its operations to all, on the broad ground of the equal rights of all, without fear or favour, to liberty of opinion.

To return to the last nights of the Peel administration. There was a recurrence of party conflict at every practicable interval-the opposition leaders reproaching Sir R. Peel with perilling the prerogatives of the crown, and troubling the course of legislation, by attempting to govern without a majority in the Commons; and Sir R. Peel inviting a vote of want of confidence as a ground, and as the only ground, on which he would be willing to retire before having laid all his measures before the House. Lord John Russell replied that such a vote could not be called for before the production of the ministerial measures, without subjecting the opposition to the charge of unfairness; the obvious reply to which was, that if the opposition intended to wait for the ministerial measures before voting want of confidence, they ought to abstain from invidious remark and construction in the meantime. The opposition-those among them who were not leadersacknowledged the truth of this, but gave an intimation that the opposition would choose their own time. After

two or three weeks of such antagonism as this, the Whigs chose their opportunity. Their topic was the appropriation question; their time, the 30th of March.

On the 2nd of March, Lord John Russell had intimated that he should bring forward the whole subject of the Irish Church in the latter part of the month, in order to test the position of the ministry with regard to the country. He waited till then for the reports of the commission. A fortnight later, he had doubts of receiving the reports, and declared them not necessary to his argument, but desirable for the satisfaction of members. On the 18th, he suggested that it would be well to wait for a partial report, which would soon be in the hands of members; on the 19th, he fixed his motion, with notice of a call of the House, for the 30th; and on the 20th, he formally relinquished every kind of demand of reports, because none would be ready, and he must proceed without them. The 30th, now, was to be the great day of assertion of the distinctive principle of the Whig government, which was to serve as a test of the power of the existing administration, and as the instrument of their overthrow-the distinctive principle at that period, but not for long; for it was dropped presently after the return. of the Whigs to power, and has never been heard of from them since. The conflict now under notice cannot be judged of without the retrospective light cast on it by this fact.

There had been an introductory debate on the ministerial resolutions which proposed to convert Irish tithe into a rent-charge, redeemable under such conditions as should secure the redemption; and in this debate the opposition were divided—some objecting to the measure, and others complaining that it was a more reproduction of the last Whig measure on the same subject; some desiring to proceed, and others thinking it essential to have the decision of the House on the appropriation question first. In consequence of these differences, the ministers carried their resolution. On the 30th, Lord John Russell repeated his proposition that the House should resolve itself into a committee for the purpose of considering the state of the Irish Church, with a view to applying any surplus left over from spiritual objects to the education of the people at large, without distinction of religious persuasion. He declared himself friendly to the principle of an establishment; adopted the ground of utility laid down by Paley; showed that the Irish Church did not fulfil the condition, and must therefore be reformed; that, in this case, reform involved reduction, and a reduction involved a surplus; and that, as to the application of this surplus, no distinct line of religious appropriation could be drawn between making additions to the incomes of individual clergymen, and developing the mental and moral capacities of the inhabitants of the country. It was necessary to advert to the difficulty which the opposition leaders found themselves in through the delay of the commissioners' report. Last year, they had voted down the appropriation question, on the ground that the requisite information could be obtained only by the inquiry of the commissioners. and yet they were now bringing up the question again, without waiting for the results of the inquiry. The facts on which the question was based were indeed patent enough; and so had they been the year before, and every year of the century ; but Lord J. Russell rested his excuse for his inconsistency on the broad declaration of the premier, that under no circumstances would he consent to the appropriation of ecclesiastical funds to any but strictly ecclesiastical purposes. Such a declaration, prior to the reception of the reports, justified the opposition, in their own opinion, in declaring their principle in a manner equally broad. Another consideration, adverse to delay, was, that it was highly desirable to come to some vote, or other decision, which should show whether or not the administration enjoyed the confidence of the House.

Lord Howick's speech was perhaps the most interesting, on the side of the reformers, delivered during the four nights of this important debate. He lamented that this question was made the test of the stability of the administration, because he believed that the abrupt overthrow of the ministry would be extremely disastrous to Ireland, as protracting the unsettlement of the tithe question, and causing a confusion which no succeeding government could remedy. For his own part, he would have been glad to CHAP. I.]

have been spared the necessity of declaring his views at such a juncture; but, being called upon to avow his opinion on the one side or the other, he was compelled to declare himself in favour of the principle of appropriation; and this he did in the most thorough and manly manner. Sir Robert Peel's speech was what might have been expected from the training of his life, though far from what could be desired from the prime-minister of the empire. He dwelt upon the compact with the Church in the Act of Union with Ireland; admitted that there were circumstances under which all compacts must be broken, as there were circumstances under which constitutions themselves must be dissolved; but he insisted on proof to demonstration that such moral sacrifices were inevitable before they could be deliberated upon ; he denied that any proof of the kind had been offered in the present case, and declared his disbelief that any such could be produced. He insisted that before any convulsive proceeding could be honestly proposed, the innovators should be prepared with a comprehensive and complete new policy to supersede the existing compact; he was justified in asserting, after repeated challenges to his opponents, that no such scheme was prepared; and therefore, though he might be compelled to succumb to an adverse vote, he should ever condemn the procedure of procuring that vote at the expense of the Irish Church, rather than by means of a direct motion of want of confidence in the government. He believed that, on this question, the House was not an expression of national opinion; he believed that his view was that of the large majority of the people; and he therefore felt strong to meet the decision that might ensue from his adherence to his view of duty to the Irish Church. The whole speech proceeded on the assumption that the motion involved the virtual overthrow of the Irish Church and a consequent convulsion; an assumption which the reformers reasonably denied; but an analysis of the division seems to show that, with regard to the state of national opinion, the minister was right. Sound as was the appropriation principle, in the view of the soundest thinkers of the time, it was not one which interested the general mind; and it was not long before the Whig leaders

had to make bitter complaints of the indifference of the people to it. It is much to be wished that the continued existence of the Peel administration of 1835 had been put upon some other issue. The resolutions in favour of appropriation, proposed by Lord J. Russell, were carried by the Scotch and Irish members; the English leaving the motion in a minority of nine. Of the Scotch membere, 32 were in favour of it, and 17 against it. Of the Irish members, 64 voted with the opposition, and 37 with the government. The majority against ministers was 33, in a House of 611 members. The division took place at three o'clock in the morning of the 3rd of April.

In committee, Lord J. Russell moved a resolution, that no measure on the subject of tithes in Ireland could succeed which did not embody the appropriation principle; and he obtained a majority of 27. This was on the 7th of April. On the 8th, Sir R. Peel announced the resignation of the cabinet. He avowed that it was with great reluctance that he retired, because his government, supported by the full confidence of the king, and by great moral strength in the country, could, as he and his colleagues believed, have speedily settled some public questions, especially that of Irish tithes, which required immediate adjustment, but must now be cast adrift. But they considered that, on the whole, it would be more hurtful still to the public service to continue the attempt to govern the country, unsupported by the confidence of the House of Commons; a confidence which, as was shown by four impressive defeats, they did not possess. There was, as Sir Robert Peel must have known, no need of protestations of personal disinterestedness; for the whole temper and conduct of the minister during the last five months had been a consistent silent assertion of right feelings, as well as of the most eminent ability. Every one knew that he had had no option about undertaking office; and every one felt and said that he had failed only because parties had been, as yet, too strong for him. The opposition had gained nothing, during the interval, in general estimation, while he had gained as much as was possible in the time. At this day, there are many who avow that thick mists of prejudice dissolved from before their minds in the course

198

of these five months; and that they now for the first time began to apprehend the character and appreciate the powers of Sir Robert Peel—a character so peculiar as to require a long observation to obtain a true view of it; and powers which had not, even yet, fully revealed themselves to those who knew him best.

The cheering of the whole House at the conclusion of his speech was long in subsiding. When anything else could be heard, Lord J. Russell said that 'he did not wish to make any comment on what had fallen from the right honourable gentleman, except to express his opinion that the right honourable gentleman had acted entirely in the spirit of the constitution.'

Now, then, the reformers were to have another trial with the king and the country.

CHAPTER II.

Difficulties—The Melbourne Administration—Lord Melbourne—Mr. Charles Grant—Lord John Russell—Irish Administration—Two Great Questions—The Irish Church—Appropriation Question— Church Rates—Surrender of the Appropriation Principle.

THERE was an interval of ten days before the king and country could feel that there was a government to rely on. It was a season of anxious expectation to all; but few were aware how many and how serious were the causes of anxiety.

The king sent first for Lord Grey, who declined office, but gave his best advice—which was to send for Lord Melbourne. Thus, the character of the administration might certainly be anticipated; but what were they to do? By choosing the Irish Church question for the overthrow of the Peel administration, the Whigs had pledged themselves to carry the appropriation principle into practice without delay—even in connection with the pressing affair of the tithes; whereas the king was not only understood to be opposed to any innovations upon the privileges of the Church, but was remembered to have spontaneously and eagerly pledged himself to the bishops to resist all such innovations. Again, their present victory had been gained by means of the Irish members, who might and would fairly presume upon the fact and who must be specially considered in the impending legislation for Ireland; whereas O'Connell had recently been pledging himself, in the hearing of all the world, to obtain organic changes of the greatest importance; and, in the first place, a reform of the House of Lords as sweeping as that of the Commons; and, as usual, he promised a speedy repeal of the union. Again, the Whigs had not among them any man of very eminent ability in statesmanship, while many were sufficiently distinguished for talent to be entitled each to set up for himself in regard to the work of his own department. In such a case, the absence of any controlling or harmonising mind-of any mind which could be truly called that of a statesman-was fatal to all chance of firm and effec-Thus it appeared to the most thoughtful people tive rule. throughout the country, who, remembering how the last Whig administration had disappointed expectation, considered the present prospect to be anything but exhilarating, The king could not have forgotten these facts, either; nor his alarm at the promised passage of political arms between Lords Brougham and Durham in the winter, from which, but for the intervention of the Peel ministry, might have arisen a new struggle between the halting and the advancing reformers. Such a struggle might now probably be expected; for the whole country was aware that the radical reform party must become of importance, both as stimulus and support to the Whigs, who were almost powerless without them. It was believed to be an earnest wish of the king's that such a conflict of liberal parties and leaders should be avoided; and that it was a positive stipulation of his that Lord Brougham should not return to the woolsack. Lord Durham's health did not permit of his taking office at home, though it did not interfere with his filling a diplomatic function abroad. So we soon find him in the honourable post of ambassador to Russia. The great seal was for some time in commission, either from the difficulty of finding a chancellor, or from the danger of making an enemy of Lord Brougham, who was one of the perplexities of the crisis. It had been found impossible to act with him; but it was dangerous and painful to have him for an enemy. If there was any alternative besides these, it was not found. He presently came out broadly in the character of an enemy; and even Lord Melbourne's good humour and indifference were insufficient to bear up his temper, courage, and spirits, under the hostility of his former colleague—unremitting and bitter as it was, and protracted from session to session not a little affecting, as we shall see, the political action of the time.

The country was aware of this complication of difficulties; the king felt it keenly-the new ministers alone seemed undismayed by it. It was their way to be confident; and now they were exulting and gay, though the embarrassment of forming themselves into a government was great. It was the 8th of April when Sir R. Peel and the Duke of Wellington announced their relinquishment of office; and it was not till the 18th, after repeated adjournments of the Commons, that the new administration was declared to be completed. Lord Melbourne was the premier; and in his announcement to the Lords, he spoke of the difficulties of the government as 'great and arduous-many, indeed, of a peculiar and severe kind.' Lord Molbourne, however, was understood to be more teased than dismayed by difficulties. He felt more than he chose to show: for it was his chief fault to affect a poco-curante character of mind, unworthy of his sound sense, his actual diligence, and his disinterested love of his country. His patriotism took the form of a love of peace and quiet for society; and that love of peace and quiet proceeded, in a great degree, from the speculative character of his intellect. His views were too comprehensive and too abstract to permit him to perceive the importance of particular questions and particular acts, or to engage his sympathies in temporary occasions, when other men were ardent and resolute. He was not one who would ever stimulate the public mind, or concentrate its energies on prominent ideas or definite enterprises. When occasions arose, he regarded them with philosophy, with sincerity, and with much of the

ripe wisdom of the scholar and the gentleman: and if compelled to act. he acted with diligence and decision: but he waited for them to arise, and conceived that it was He was out of his place as the head his business to do so. of a reforming administration. from his inability to originate, and his indisposition to guide. In his function at the home office, he had done extremely well. His benign contempt and philosophical compassion for the ignorant herd had made him a calm and merciful ruler of the restless and untoward: while his good sense and sincerity, with his love of public tranquillity, had madey him diligent and watchful in anticipation of disturbance.d His conduct at the time of the demonstration of the unions on behalf of the Dorsetshire labourers was admirable: and 7 it is understood that this passage of his political life so recommended and endeared him to the king as to make the present transition of power easier than it could oth Mr. wise have been. There had not yet been opportunitment the world to become fully acquainted with his great sident fatal fault-fatal at such a crisis of the national mind d exfortunes-his affectation of scepticism and poco-curante him. At a time when earnestness was the first requisite in/hould chef of a reforming administration, the want of it we cornhave been a deadly sin; and the affectation of the nent of Lord was a moral offence. Unapt for combination, in of effective organisation, as his colleagues were. demonsumed indolence and indifference went to increas engage evil, and may be considered one of the causes of Irish; failure to govern the country well. He might consieth, as amusing to perplex and astonish deputations and sinderapplicants by his extraordinary manners during interce, views; but his pranks were of more serious consequenced than he supposed, at a time when the people were inte earnest, and believed that they had a government to which t they might refer their cause. It was very well for him ter look philosophically from a window of the home officeat upon the 30,000 unionists who came to intimidate him-a and some few, as he was aware, with the idea of taking f his life; but it was a different thing to appear absorbed in blowing a feather, or nursing a sofa-cushion, when giving audience about the abolition of the punishment of

death, or receiving a report on criminal law reform, in preparation for the debate of the night. It was a serious thing to send for a philosopher, to offer him a pension, and begin the interview with the remark that he thought such pensions a great humbug. And it did not mend the matter that, on one occasion which leaves the deepest blot upon his name-one occasion which forms an exception to the general kindliness and philosophy of his temper and demeanour-he showed that he really could and did feel in an intensity of party-feeling. In the next reign, he had mournful occasion to write two letters to the mother of Lady Flora Hastings; and then he was hard and ungentlemanly, even cruel, to a degree which deprived him of that reputation for superiority to emotion for which he strove by the affectation of a life. As yet, when he assumed the premiership in 1835, neither his failings nor his sterling merits were fully known. He was held in general respect and trust, without exciting any high expectation; but it was not long afterwards that the good-humoured and scarcely burlesque character of him given by Sydney Smith, in his second letter to Archdeacon Singleton, was laughingly recognised as a capital likeness. The subject and the caricaturist are both gone now, and a solemnity is cast over the mirth of the time; but there is enough of truth and of serious appreciation in the sketch to make it valuable as a permanent illustration. 'Viscount Melbourne,' says Sydney Smith, 'declared himself quite satisfied with the Church as it is; but if the public had any desire to alter it, they might do as they pleased. He might have said the same thing of the monarchy, or of any other of our institutions; and there is in the declaration a permissiveness and good-humour which in public men has seldom been exceeded. Carelessness, however, is but a poor imitation of genius; and the formation of a wise and well-reflected plan of reform conduces more to the lasting fame of a minister than that affected contempt of duty which every man sees to be more vanity, and a vanity of no very high description. But, if the truth must be told. our viscount is somewhat of an impostor. Everything about him seems to betoken careless desolation; any one would suppose from his manner that he was playing at

chuck-farthing with human happiness; that he was always on the heel of pastime; that he would giggle away the great charter, and decide by the method of teetotum whether my lords the bishops should or should not retain their seats in the House of Lords. All this is the mere vanity of surprising, and making us believe that he can play with kingdoms as other men can with ninepins. Instead of this lofty nebulo, this miracle of moral and intellectual felicities, he is nothing more than a sensible honest man, who means to do his duty to the sovereign and to the country. Instead of being the ignorant man he pretends to be, before he meets the deputation of tallowchandlers in the morning, he sits up half the night talking with Thomas Young about melting and skimming, and then, though he has acquired knowledge enough to work off a whole vat of prime Leicester tallow, he pretends next morning not to know the difference between a dip and a mould. In the same way, when he has been employed in reading acts of parliament, he would persuade you that he has been reading Cleghorn on the Beatitudes, or Pickler on the Nine Difficult Points. Neither can I allow to this minister, however he may be irritated by the denial, the extreme merit of indifference to the consequences of his measures. I believe him to be conscientiously alive to the good or evil that he is doing, and that his caution has more than once arrested the gigantic projects of the Lycurgus of the Lower House. I am sorry to hurt any man's feelings, and to brush away the magnificent fabric of levity and gaiety he has reared; but I accuse our minister of honesty and diligence: I deny that he is careless or rash; he is nothing more than a man of good understanding, and good principle, disguised in the eternal and somewhat wearisome affectation of a political roué."

There was another *poco-curante* minister in the cabinet, though it might be felt that one was enough. Mr. Charles Grant, afterwards Lord Glenelg, was colonial secretary; and events were at hand which made his post as important as any in the cabinet. He was regarded with universal good-will for his quiet steadiness in the advocacy of liberal principles; and he was respected as a man of large information and clear sagacity. But his indolence was

extreme; an indolence which was so thoroughly constitutional as to be inveterate; and he naturally failed in an office which requires the powers of more than one man to fulfil its duties, be his energy what it may. To make up for these lovers of ease, there were half a dozen men whose activity, in one form or another, nobody could question-Lord Palmerston, Lord John Russell, Lord Howick, Mr. Spring Rice, Lord Duncannon, and Mr. Poulett Thomson. As for Lord Palmerston, 'the world was all before him where to choose' to make England felt and talked about, for good or for evil. 'Perfidious Albion' was sure to be the world's topic while he was in power. Lord John Russell was now to show-and the nation was truly anxious to learn-whether his activity would now be measured and sustained under the responsibility of having wrested the government out of the hands of other men, and taken it into the grasp of himself and his friends, instead of requiring, as before, to be kept up by the pressure of deputations, and demands from without. He had to show whether he could originate as well as persist, and whether his persistence could hold out to the point of success. He had to show whether he could keep in check his rash courage and self-confidence, learn to abstain from prophecy and pledge, perceive that he could be, and often was mistaken, and leave off making declarations during the parliamentary recess which the next session compelled him to stultify. No one doubted his readiness to undertake: the question was what he could accomplish. No one doubted his courage: the question was of his ultimate efficiency. No one doubted his patriotism: the question was of its scope and enlightenment. No one doubted his cleverness: the question was whether he had enough of philosophy, candour, and sustained energy, to raise his cleverness into statesmanship. No one looked to him for originality-for the genius of statesmanship: if he had had it, it must have appeared before this time; but of the secondary order of statesmanship, the ability which can appropriate, and organise, and vivify the floating wisdom of the political world, and make it a ruling power, he might yet show himself capable. He had now a fair field; and that his own expectations were sanguine was shown

by his determination to obtain power, and his exultation in having obtained it. Lord Howick went to the war office, with a high reputation for honesty, diligence, and courage, and a fair one for ability, to begin with. Mr. Spring Rice, smart and good-humoured, but not yet distinguished for financial wisdom, became chancellor of the exchequer; an appointment which the critical Sydney Smith thought somewhat rash. 'If,' said he, 'Mr. Spring Rice were to go into holy orders, great would be the joy of the three per cents.' But, as was said before, there is no knowing what kind of chancellor of the exchequer any man will make till he is tried. The merits of Lord Duncannon were not fully appreciated till he went to Ireland, some years afterwards; but the few who now took an interest in the management of the woods and forests department saw that its work was thoroughly well done, with quiet wisdom and strenuous diligence. Mr. Poulett Thomson was the only member of the government admitted from the radical reform party. He was president of the Board of Trade, for which his knowledge and experience and sound economical principles well fitted him. He entered the cabinet on the stipulation that he should have perfect freedom in advocating the repeal of the cornlaws. Ireland was well treated in the apportionment of office. The good-humoured and accomplished Lord Mulgrave, afterwards Lord Normanby, with his demonstrative character and manners, was just the man to engage the admiration and good-will of the impressible Irish; while the benevolent and chivalrous Lord Morpeth, as secretary, and the no less chivalrous Drummond. as undersecretary, with his wisdom, his highly principled diligence, and excellent habits of business, took care that the hard and serious work of the government of Ireland should be duly performed. As the case of Ireland was not yet understood, and the true and permanent principle of her rule had not yet been found, any policy attempted at that time could be but of temporary effect; and it was but a few years before her rulers avowed that their policy-of conciliation-was 'exhausted;' but, as a preparation for a higher system of statesmanship, and a means of getting over the transition from a bad old system to an indeterminate new one, it was true, as was said at the time, that Ireland had never been so well governed as during the viceroyalty of Lord Mulgrave. As for the rest-Lord Lansdowne was president of the council; Lord Auckland went to the admiralty; Lord Holland was chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster; and Sir J. C. Hobhouse was at the head of the India Board.

The new ministers pledged themselves to two great measures as the principal work of the remainder of the session----municipal reform, and the settlement of the Irish Church. The Irish Church question was, at the moment and on principle, the most important of any question of the time, not only because it had broken up two administrations, but because it involved the principle for whose sake the Whigs now possessed themselves of office, and by which, therefore, they were pledged to stand or fall.

On the 26th of June, Lord Morpeth brought forward the ministerial measure. He avowed that if the question now were whether or not to establish the Protestant Church in Ireland, no sane man would dream of such an act. But the Church was there, with all its long preor excription, and its implication with the civil polity of the uppire; and it was not proposed to touch its foundation, it multisturb its framework. If it were to endure, however, to the st be made a less exasperating spectacle than it was measure i bulk of the people among whom it stood. The was present which he brought forward actually consisted, as though the fully pointed out by the opposition, of two parts; connected thimbly pointed out by the opposition of intimately connected th/mblaramers considered the two so intimately separate therefat it was an act of opposition in itself to tithe into a to non. The first provided for the conversion of last two more rent-charge, in much the same way as in the appropriaticonsitesures proposed-the other provided for the moral inst essen on of the accruing surplus to the religious and distinction spok ruction of all classes of the community, without the propos over the formation of an ensuasions. After two readings, of July, wthey of tongious permittee was made on the 21st second parand hen Sir R. Peel renewed his opposition to the there wowinquirt of the measure, on the two grounds-that ^{Vol}ild be no surplus; and that, if there were, it

would be a breach of faith to the Irish Church to apply its funds out of its own pale, and for any but strictly ecclesiastical purposes. The chancellor of the exchequer stated that the House had decided, after long debates, that the question of appropriation was connected with the concession to the tithe-owners of the £1,000,000 advanced to them in preceding years: he conceived that this precluded the division of the measure into two parts; and he declared the purpose of this partition to be to get rid of the appropriation clause—which was undoubtedly true. Lord Morpeth warned the legislature of the consequences of drawing back from the resolutions recently passed in that House. The Irish were now aware that parliament knew of the parishes vacant of Protestants-of the churches without flocks-of the incomes paid for no service-of the provision for the extension of that Protestantism which was not extending-of the desperate poverty and ignorance of the Catholic peasantry who had hitherto been called upon to pay, instead of to benefit by these funds; and now that these things were admitted-now that the principle of appropriation had been sanctioned by that House -it was too late to recede. On a division, the ministers had a majority of 37-the number being made up, not only by Irish members, but by a majority of 8 among the English and Scotch members. The bill was now safe in the Lower House; and the ministers proceeded to add, in committee, a clause providing for the advance of £50,000, from the consolidated fund, in anticipation of the surplus to accrue, for purposes of general education in Ireland. The reason for this was that there was said to be much exasperation in some Irish parishes, where the new arrangements were not to take effect during the life of the present incumbents; and it was believed that the safety and tranquillity of these clergymen would be promoted by a beginning of the educational expenditure being made at once. The radical reform members opposed the concession of the £1,000,000 advanced as a loan; and the ministers admitted the encroachment on the intentions of the legislature, but pleaded the much more serious evil which would ensue from attempts to recover what was irrecoverable. The bill passed the Commons on the 12th

of August, and was read a second time in the Lords on the 20th. In committee, the Lords struck out all the appropriation clauses, by a majority of 97, in a House of 179. The ministers abandoned the whole bill; and thus the matter stood over till the next year. It was a great evil, in the existing state of the Irish Church ; but it was felt to be worth enduring for the sake of the essential principle involved in the measure-a principle by which not only the Whig administration, but the connection of England and Ireland, and the religious liberties of a nation, must ultimately stand or fall. If, three years later, the Whig administration drew back from their obligation to stand or fall by this principle, neither they nor any other human power could alter its relation to the political connection of Ireland, and to the religious liberties of a nation.

The struggle was renewed the next spring. On the 25th of April, Lord Morpeth brought forward the tithe measure, about which the two parties in both Houses would have agreed, if it had stood without the appropriation provision. This last was not brought forward in the express and conspicuous manner of preceding years; but Lord Morpeth gave notice that it was involved inextricably in the bill. As yet, ministers were evidently resolved to stand or fall by it. He was now able to declare that there would certainly be a surplus-he believed of nearly £100,000; but it would not be available for a considerable time. Lord Stanley moved an amendment, consisting of a proposal of the tithe measure, without reference to appropriation. Amidst the general resemblance of the debates in successive years, there are interesting divergences of topic, and changes of views to This year, there were three at least that be noticed. were remarkable. The opposition had certainly advanced considerably in their estimate of the reforms that were essential to the maintenance of the Irish Church. They spoke more freely of the disgrace of the spectacle of an overpaid and an underpaid clergy within the same area; they were more earnest about equalisation of incomes, and more bold about the prosecution of the needful inquiries. Another most pregnant fact was that Lord VOL. III.

Stanley complained of the cause of disagreement as not practical. What the government stood out for was a mere abstract principle-'a shadow' which they had better give up for 'the substance' of his plan of details; and he implored them to relinquish the pursuit of what was so ineffectual-such a mere idea-and unite with their opponents in coming to practical business. Often as we are compelled to mourn the moral scepticism, the destitution of faith, which is prevalent in the political world, and which is the just ground of the deep disrepute of legislative assemblies, almost universally, it is not often that we meet in Hansard or elsewhere, with so open an avowal as this-that principles are 'the shadow,' and arrangements 'the substance'-that it is not practical for the legislature to resolve, by clear implication, that there is a world of morals above and beyond the law, to which mankind must occasionally resort for the regeneration of their laws. To admit this solemnly and deliberately, in full conclave, with a spectacle of murder and famine before the eyes, and the curses and groans and wailings of a suffering people filling the air, is an unpractical thing for a legislature to do, while they might be busy in ordering a plan of distribution of moneysome more here and something less there, the suffering of the multitude remaining untouched. Lord Stanley was so far from understanding that a principle is the most substantial and enduring of realities, that he evidently thought he was speaking loftily and patriotically in making his unphilosophical and degrading appeal. He was sure there would be no surplus; and he supposed that settled the matter of the 'principle' being unpractical.

The third noticeable incident was that the debate turned, for a little while, upon the important point: What is the object of a church establishment—to propagate doctrine, or to enlighten the people by instruction and training? Sir James Graham thought the former; Lord J. Russell, the latter. It was for the former object that the Protestant Church was established in Ireland; and it was to the latter that ministers now desired to overrule it. It was truly a controversy for whose principle any government might be proud to struggle to the death; but, till now, no express discussion of the principle of a religious establishment seems to have been entered into during the debates of the last few years. The historical fact of the case in question seems to be that the Church in Ireland was established for proselyting purposes; that these purposes failed; that at the date before us, many were unwilling to give up the hope of yet converting the Irish to Protestantism, while, on the other hand, those who saw the hopelessness of such an aspiration, and who neither dared to touch the foundations of the Church in Ireland, nor to let her remain as she was, believed that the only chance for Church and nation was in connecting the Establishment with large and beneficent general objects. The case might have been simplified, and the strife softened, if all parties had spoken out-some admitting the disappointment of their missionary aims, and others acknowledging that they were supplying a wholly new foundation for the Church; but no nearer approach to such frankness was made than by the slight and superficial controversy during the present debate. On this occasion, the ministerial majority was 39-and the bill passed the Commons on the 15th of July.

The lords again threw out the appropriation clauses, passing the rest of the bill, with slight alterations in some clauses regarding stipends. These last gave occasion to Lord J. Russell, and, as he believed, justification, to refuse the amended bill, as sent down, through a breach of privilege—the Lords having interfered with a money bill. The question was one difficult of decision—the question whether this was a breach of privilege or not; and the speaker himself avowed the nicety of the point. At length, the motion for rejecting the altered bill was carried by a majority of 29—and once more, the controversy was adjourned to another year.

In the royal speech, at the opening of the session of 1837, we find a recommendation of the subject of tithes, among others, to the attention of parliament; but the discussion of the topic was intercepted by the death of the king. The argument on the principle of appropriation may, however, be observed proceeding, under other terms,

р2

throughout the discussion on the measure of the chancellor of the exchequer for the solution of the question of churchrates. The temper of parties interested in church questions was at this time bitter in the extreme. Lord Lyndhurst had made use of an expression about the Irish Catholics, haughty, hard, and unpatriotic, but still by no means conveying, when taken with its context, the full import which was attributed to it. He called the Irish Catholics 'aliens in blood, in language, and in religion.', This language was naturally seized upon by the Irish agitators, and reprobated by the English Liberals who were authenticating, in every possible way, a conciliatory policy in Ireland. A striking scene took place in the House of Commons, late one February night, when Lord Lyndhurst was seen sitting under the gallery, and Mr. Sheil was speaking. On Mr. Sheil's use of the word 'alien,' uttered with the strongest emphasis, the cheering from the Liberal side of the House broke forth, and continued till it rose almost to a confusion of yells. The members appear to have had no compassion for a man sitting by to hear such reprobation, while prevented from explaining Never was man more abundantly and remonstrating. punished for an insolent expression; and the worst part of the punishment must have been the seeing daily, in all companies and in every newspaper, the words assumed to mean much more than he had intended them to convey, both from the temper in which they were quoted, and from their being separated from his argument. Then there was O'Connell's National Association, threatening and boastful; then there were the bishops meeting at Lambeth, on the first announcement of the ministerial church-rate measure, to prepare a declaration against it before it was brought before them as legislators; and there were the ministers vehemently resenting this method of opposition; and there were legislators and constituencies debating the question of the exclusion of the bishops from parliament. The times were indeed bitter and angry; and the appropriation question was hardly likely to fare better than in preceding years.

The chancellor of the exchequer showed that something must be done to amend the unquiet and disgraceful state

of things that existed in relation to the payment of church-While the rate was voted by the vestries, and the rates. vestries were composed of persons of every variety of faith, it was clear that the obtaining of a rate at all depended on the agreement of parties who had for a long time been disagreeing more and more. If the rate were refused, there were no means of obtaining it; and, in point of fact, church-rates had ceased in Sheffield since 1818; and in Manchester, none had been levied since the beginning of the contest in 1833. It was not for a member of the government to give a full report of the reasons of the Dissenters for refusing to pay church-rates; and Mr. Spring Rice did not attempt it; but there was nobody in the House who was not aware that opulent men, to whom time and trouble were of more account than money, had undergone toil and vexation to a great extent rather than pay very small sums for church-rates; and that several persons of high respectability had gone to prison in the cause. Many who paid tithes, without dispute, though unwillingly-paid tithes because the payment was a charge involved in the purchase of their land-refused to pay church rates, having good legal assurance that they were not a legal charge, and being conscientiously reluctant to contribute, except under a clear legal obligation, to the maintenance of the places and forms of a worship which they disapproved. The proposal of the government was to place church lands under management which should cause them to yield more than at present; and from the improved income to pay church-rates, and then hand over the surplus to the ecclesiastical commissioners. The Church and Conservatism smelt a savour of the appropriation principle in this plan, and they resisted it They could not say, indeed, that the surplus accordingly. was to be appropriated to other than ecclesiastical purposes ; but they complained that it would intercept the Dissenters' money; and declared that the Church was entitled to all increase of income from her own possessions, and to the Dissenters' contributions too. Therefore it was that fifteen bishops assembled at Lambeth, and the Archbishop of Canterbury delivered his protest against the ministerial measure before it had left the Commons; and the chan-

cellor of the exchequer carried his measure in the Lower House by a majority of only five. This was a virtual defeat, and the ministers dropped the bill, which they had put forth as the leading measure of the session. On the 12th of June, Lord John Russell moved for a committee to inquire into the management of church lands, with a view to the improvement of their revenues. He declared that this had no connection whatever with the principle of appropriation; but the Church and the Conservatives believed that it had, and they exerted themselves against it accordingly. Three divisions took place on this occasion which show the temper of the House on the question of Church property. A direct proposal on the part of a radical reform member, Mr. Harvey, for the abolition of church-rates, was voted down by a majority of 431-only 58 members voting for the motion. Lord J. Russell's motion obtained a majority of 86 in favour of an inquiry into the management of church lands. Mr. Goulburn proposed an addition of a pledge from parliament that any new funds accruing from improved management should be applied to the extension of religious instruction by the clergy to the members of the Established Church alone: and the ministerial majority against the motion was now only 26. From this it appeared that the Church would accept of any improvement of her own revenues, but would neither forego funds derived from the Dissenters, nor extend her expenditure beyond her own members.

Thus stood the matter when the elections took place, after the death of the king. The Church question was the leading one on the hustings; and, though the appropriation question was that by which the ministers had turned out their predecessors, and by which they were pledged to stand or fall, the ministerial majority in parliament was sensibly lessened in the new House. The government were discouraged accordingly, and they began to draw back from their pledge—no doubt, from relaxing in their sense of being pledged on behalf of the appropriation principle; and the result was seen in the next session, in a way fatal to their political honour.

On the 27th of March 1838, Sir R. Peel inquired of Lord J. Russell what course he meant to pursue with regard to Irish tithe; and whether he intended to bring forward the appropriation question again, in accordance with the resolutions of 1835. The reply was that the ministers intended to place the tithe question 'on a ground altogether new,' as it appeared useless and irritating, after a conflict of four years, to prolong an argument which produced no result. This announcement, unaccompanied by any hint now of standing or falling by the great principle by which the government had come into office, prepared Sir R. Peel and the Church party for their approaching triumph over the honour of their opponents -the most mournful of triumphs. The estimate of that honour was already so low that men of every party in the House declared, a few weeks afterwards, that they perceived-some with fear and some with hope-that they saw the appropriation principle lurking amidst the ambiguities of Lord J. Russell's new resolutions on the tithe question ; ambiguities which were themselves discreditable on an occasion which was professed to be a decisive one.

On the 14th of May, Sir Thomas Acland moved the rescinding of the celebrated resolutions of the House, of April 1835, in favour of the appropriation question; and then broke out Sir R. Peel's emotions of triumph. He told the whole story: how he offered to carry a tithe measure like the present, and was taunted with having derived it from the preceding government; how he was compelled to retire, because such a measure must, on principle, as his opponents said, be connected with appropriation clauses; how those opponents staked their political existence on such a connection; and how they were now proposing to carry the tithe measure, after all, without the appropriation; introducing it by resolutions so ambiguously worded that no one could be sure of what they meant. The true reply would have been that the ministers, finding that they could not stand by their principle, were ready to fall by it; that they had been mistaken about the interest of the public mind in the question, and would accept the consequences of their mistake; and that, having faith in their principle, the only thing impossible to them was to surrender it. Their actual reply was that their convictions on the question were unaltered ; but that they surrendered

the principle. Sir Thomas Acland's motion for rescinding the memorable resolutions was lost by a majority of only 19. When the time arrived for the tithe debate-the 2nd of July-the appropriation question was once more brought forward by one who had never wavered upon it. and who was universally admitted to be, from his early action and steady advocacy, the highest authority on the subject-Mr. Ward. He, too, told the old story over again : and the effect was withering upon the reputation of the ministers. Referring to a pamphlet which, in 1835, had foretold that Sir R. Peel must go out upon this question, he said: 'The right honourable baronet adhered to his opinions, sacrificed place and power to his opinions, and ceased to be a minister; but they must have a new edition of the pamphlet to tell them how those who rose into power upon the right honourable baronet's fall could now adopt his opinions, and make them their rule upon this occasion, and do so without the sacrifice of character and station.' The only minister who offered any reply to Mr. Ward was Lord Morpeth; and he made no reference to the main point of the difficulty. He dwelt upon the courage and perseverance of ministers in having three times asserted their principle, and on their prudence and love of peace shown in dropping it now; but he said nothing of any obligation to resign. Mr. Ward's motion was, of course, lost by a large majority-the ministers themselves voting against it. But his speech was not lost; and it has probably not yet fulfilled all its purposes. A principle may be trodden down; but it can never be extinguished. When the one in question revives, and men turn back to the history of the struggle, they may take warning and guidance from the record. While studying it, they will pause upon the words of another highly principled member, Mr. Grote, who said, in regard to this transaction, that it afforded melancholy proof of the way in which great principles were made subservient to party purposes; and that he believed history would note this as one of the most discreditable instances of tergiversation on record. The Whig government now evinced a moral scepticism equal to that of Sir James Graham on the same subject. They praised their own 'wisdom'

in not sacrificing the substance to the shadow, and their devotion to the general good in surrendering a principle which was found not to be generally appreciated.

It is true, the principle was not generally appreciated; and government was not duly supported in upholding it; but not the less for this were the ministers lowered in the estimation of the nation at large. It might be only the thoughtful, and those familiarised with the philosophy of society, who saw the whole scope of the controversy, and were interested in it accordingly; but all could see—and most did see—that the Whig ministry did not govern the people, but was governed by them, and took, not merely suggestion and stimulus from the popular will, but guidance and control. There was less demonstration of disapprobation at the moment than earnest men hoped, and perhaps than the ministers feared; but they never recovered a high position in the respect and confidence of the country.

Such is the history of the appropriation question which determined the return of the Whigs to power in 1835.

CHAPTER III.

Second Great Question—Municipal Reform—Corporation Commission —Rise and History of Municipal Institutions—Report of Commissioners—Existing State of Things—Principle of the Case—Defects of the Reform—Substance of the Bill—The Bill in the Commons —In the Lords—it becomes Law.

On their return to power, in April 1835, the Whig ministers had, as we have seen, promised two leading measures during the session. We have pursued the history of one. The other is the large and just measure which, next to reform of parliament, is their chief title to honourable remembrance. It was during the session of 1835 that the Municipal Reform Bill was carried.

This measure could not precede parliamentary reform; but it was sure to follow it. It could not precede parliamentary reform, because a large proportion of members were sent by the corrupt boroughs, where corporation abuses were the most flagrant; and to attack those abuses was to attack parliamentary corruption itself, in the presence of the delegates of that corruption. Every borough proprietor and delegate would stand up for his own borough corporation, aided by others to whom he would render a similar service in their hour of need. And the people would not have borne to see the most insignificant boroughs -those which had no parliamentary representationcalled to account and laid under discipline, while the great parliamentary towns were passed over. So it was necessary to purge parliament first of the close-borough class of members before the corporations could be exposed, though the evil of municipal corruption had become wellnigh intolerable for a long course of years. It was not merely the corruption of the old municipal bodies which made their reform a necessary consequence of the regeneration of parliament; it was also that the people were resolved to possess and use the rights of the franchise provided for them by the Reform Bill, but intercepted by the oppressive maladministration of the borough corporations. The franchise was of little use in a town where the corporate officers elected and re-elected themselves and each other for ever, and employed the trust-funds which should have healed the sick, and sheltered the old, and instructed the young, in bribing a depraved class of electors; where the town-clerks were nominated by the patrons of boroughs, to countenance electoral subserviency. and do the dirty work of venal electioneering; and where the efforts of honest electors might be neutralised through the public-houses alone, if there were no other way-the publicans being dependent for their licences upon justices of the peace, who had, as a body, no relish whatever for freedom of parliament. Such a state of things could not be tolerated by the men who had won the Reform Bill, with the intention of using it; and the authors of the Reform Bill were gratefully supported by the majority of the middle classes in their first movement in 1833, and their prosecution of the enterprise on their return to power in 1835.

The first move was the appointment of a commission under the great seal to twenty gentlemen, whose charge was 'to proceed with the utmost despatch to inquire as to the existing state of the municipal corporations in England and Wales, and to collect information respecting the defects in their constitution: to make inquiry into their jurisdiction and powers, and the administration of justice, and in all other respects; and also into the mode of electing and appointing the members and officers of such corporations, and into the privileges of the freemen and other members thereof, and into the nature and management of the income, revenues, and funds of the said corporations.'

While these twenty gentlemen were about their work, pairing off among the districts into which they had divided England and Wales, how busy were many minds! some with dread of exposure and of loss of perquisites; some with calculations how best to make their fortunes by claims for compensation for offices which they saw would be taken from them; some with planning how best to evade or mislead the inquiries of the commissioners, and others how best to stimulate and aid these inquiries; some with the hope of seeing at length a chance allowed for the culture of public and private virtue, through the extinction of borough corruption; others rejoicing to see that the principle of centralisation was not to be extended beyond institutions where it was absolutely indispensable; and many, very many, looking back into history with a new interest, whether hopeful or melancholy, now that the time had come for an essential modification of an institution which forms a part of the body of that history from end to end !

First, they saw groups of Romans sitting down here and there in the land, and arranging their own local affairs, while living under the general law of Rome. Then, there were the Saxons, who, on arriving, found the town communities fitted, by their municipal practice, for adaptation to their own more general system of selfgovernment, which extended equally over town and country. They put their borough-reeve at the head of the town government—by popular election—as they

placed their shire-reeves over the shires, to collect the revenues of the state. And then came the Normans, who no longer permitted the borough-reeve to be elected by his neighbours, but put in his place a bailiff appointed by the king, as the shire-reeve was superseded by the viscount. Then appears in the history, the way of escape from the oppressions of the bailiff found by the citizens; the offer to the king of a larger sum, to be transmitted direct to his exchequer, than could be collected by the bailiff, who, besides, absorbed some by the way; and next, there is the ready acceptance of these terms, and the grant of a long succession of charters, granting the boroughs to the burgesses in fee-farm; that is, to be their own, as long as they should punctually pay to the royal exchequer the crown-rent agreed upon. And here, when the relieved inhabitants were returning to their habits of municipal freedom, does the familiar name of mayor first present The Saxon townsmen had no cause to love the itself. title of bailiff; and they took, instead, the Norman name which signified the chief municipal officer of a town. At this time, the burgesses or townsmen were those who had a settled abode in the town, were members of some one trade-company, and shared in the liberties and free customs of the town. This was, in fact, a household qualification, distinguishing the citizens from temporary residents-for trade or other purposes-who neither paid taxes nor enjoyed the privileges of citizenship. The means of obtaining the franchise seem to have arisen simply out of the conveniences of the case. A man's settled residence was most easily ascertained through the circumstances of his birth, apprenticeship, and marriage. A man who obtained trading advantages by a settlement in a particular town would gladly obtain citizenship by purchase. As for obtaining the freedom of any borough through the gift of the inhabitants, it was obviously a substantial advantage in those days, as well as the honour that it is, by traditional associations, in ours. In the time of Edward III., we find an authorisation of the residence in towns of men who were not free of the borough-the citizens being empowered to make them contribute to the public expenditure; and hence it is easily seen how those

guilds or trade-companies became important, which verified the position and rights of every resident within the townwalls, and were the settled method of access to the privileges of citizenship. We can see these men and times with the mind's eve; the great middle class, of which history has told so little, busy within their towns-busy about their private affairs, their manufactures, and their commercebusy about their local affairs, their magistracy, their criminals, the defences of their walls, and the amount and management of their funds; and all idle and indifferent about those wars, those struggles among princes and nobles, of which history tells so much. The chroniclers of the time saw the great movements of the country-the march of armies, the gatherings of the great barons and their retainers, and the exterminating conflicts on noted fields of battle: but they knew little of the conclaves of townsmen within their walls, to take measures of defence against the threats and exactions of neighbouring nobles, for the protection of their ever-expanding commerce, and for the choice of their annual delegate-their mayorwho was to be answerable to the king for the payment of the duties to the crown. In course of time, the citizens obtained release from the necessity of sending their chiefmagistrate to London, and had permission by charter to take the oaths of their own officers, or to tender them to the constable of the nearest royal castle. Thus far, the functions of the town magistracy were executive only. The making of local laws was a separate affair, and had been managed by general assemblies, weekly or other, which agreed upon regulations binding upon all. As numbers increased, and trade extended, this became inconvenient; and a representative system grew up; and with it a distinction of classes, which originated a town aristocracy, and the danger-which became an abuse, increasing from century to century-of that mutual election and self-election which ripened into our modern and intolerable grievance of close corporations. In Henry III.'s reign, an attempt was made in London by 'the more discreet of the city ' to elect a mayor in opposition to the popular voice: but the citizens met at St. Paul's Cross, and showed that the innovators were less 'discreet' than they

The discreet of the city were had thought themselves. happily defeated in their aim. Among the charters of Henry VII., there is one establishing a self-elective council of aldermen in Bristol. But the great contest - the greatest recorded in the history of English municipal institutions-took place after the Reformation, when the question of a parliament disposed in favour of a Catholic or Protestant occupant of the throne became allimportant to government. Then it rested with the sheriffs to declare which were parliamentary and which non-parliamentary boroughs. The parliamentary could not be put down, but less important ones might be raised up; and in the three reigns succeeding Henry VIII.'s, we find sixty-three places sending members to parliament which were before, or of late, unrepresented. There was little or no enlargement of popular freedom in this proceeding: for the crown took care that the accession should tell in its own favour. It assumed the right of giving governing charters, by which it controlled municipal operations: most of the new order of charters giving to small councils-of express royal appointment, and indissoluble self-elective powers-the privilege of local government, and even, in many cases, of election of parliamentary representatives.

Hence was derived the pernicious power of the Stuarts; and from this period we may date the subjugation of British political independence. The royal and aristocratic power over the commonalty was not overthrown even by the Revolution; for subsequent charters were framed upon the model of those of the Charleses and Jameses; and, as the corporation commissioners tell us in their report, 'the charters of George III. do not differ in this respect from those granted in the worst period of the history of these boroughs.'

To those who felt, as well as said, that the welfare of a nation depends on its public and private virtue, who saw that the private vice of a community was found to be in substantial accordance with its municipal corruption, and who looked back through this avenue of history so as to perceive how low our people had sunk from the municipal freedom and purity of long preceding ages, it was con-

solatory to read the bold exposure of the case by the cor poration commissioners, in their report of 1835. From this report, two commissioners dissented, on grounds which had no influence on subsequent proceedings; and the following statement bears the signatures of sixteen: 'Even where these institutions exist in their least imperfect form, and are most rightfully administered, they are inadequate to the wants of the present state of society. In their actual condition, where not productive of evil, they exist, in a great majority of instances, for no purpose of general utility. The perversion of municipal institutions to political ends has occasioned the sacrifice of local interests to party purposes, which have been frequently pursued through the corruption and demoralisation of the electoral bodies. In conclusion, we report to your majesty that there prevails among the inhabitants of a great majority of the incorporated towns a general, and, in our opinion, a just dissatisfaction with their municipal institutions, a distrust of the self-elected municipal councils, whose powers are subjected to no popular control, and whose acts and proceedings, being secret, are unchecked by the influence of public opinion-a distrust of the municipal magistracy, tainting with suspicion the local administration of justice, and often accompanied with contempt of the persons by whom the law is administered-a discontent under the burdens of local taxation, while revenues that ought to be applied for the public advantage are diverted from their legitimate use, and are sometimes wastefully. bestowed for the benefit of individuals, sometimes squandered for purposes injurious to the character and morals of the people. We therefore feel it to be our duty to represent to your majesty that the existing municipal corporations of England and Wales neither possess nor deserve the confidence and respect of your majesty's subjects; and that a thorough reform must be effected before they can become, what we humbly submit to your majesty they ought to be, useful and efficient instruments of local government.'

It is evident at a glance that a thorough reform must meet with a vehement opposition. The means of getting up such opposition lay mainly in the hands of those whose corruption was to be exposed, and whose gains were to be abolished. In the worst towns, there was the strongest body of corrupt or bigoted officials who held the worst portion of the inhabitants under their control, while those who most desired reform were precisely those who were least in a position to make themselves heard. The nobleminded operative who had refused £50 for his vote was borne down by the noisy, tipsy freeman, whose 'loyalty' was very profitable to him. The benevolent and painstaking quiet citizen who strongly suspected that the funds of an orphan girls' school went to support a brothel, or who could never obtain admission to a charity trust because it was supposed that he would remonstrate against the frequent banquets at the expense of the trust-the peaceable Dissenter who found himself put aside in times of public danger, because the loyal corporation charged him with wishing to burn down the cathedral-the unexceptionable tradesman, who found himself cut out by the idle and unskilful, because they had corporation connection -such men as these had no chance of being heard against the sharp and unscrupulous lawyers, the pompous aldermen, the rabble of venal voters, and the compact body of town-contractors, who clamoured, as for life, for the maintenance of things as they were. Then there were the thoughtless and ignorant who loved the city showsthe mayor's feast, the election processions, the fun and riot of the ward-elections-the antique pageantry of some old towns, with their grim dragon carried about the streets, and the prancing St. George, and the Whifflers in pink and blue, with their wooden swords; an antique pageantry which wiser people than themselves would be sorry to see no more. And again, there were the anxious Conservatives and the positive old Tories, who believed that the world would come to an end if long-standing institutions were meddled with. What could the plaints of the sick and the aged and the orphan, and the indignation of the disinterested, and the protest of the excluded, and the appeal of the obscure, do amidst the hubbub of desperate wrongdoers and exasperated haters of change? Hitherto they could do nothing but complain; but now they might hope, and they could speak. In every corporate town sat men

sent on purpose to hear all that could be told. Great was the consternation at first; and fiercer grew the threats and clamour, every day, from the highest to the lowest of those who dreaded change. No one can forget what he saw of the action of opposition in any part of that scale. At the lowest end were the insolent and profligate freemen. who earned bread, and the drink in which they rolled about the streets, by selling their votes, and who would never want a market while the corporate funds remained untouched, and the account-books kept secret. These swaggerers swore to put the Duke of Cumberland on the throne if any ministry dared to look into their resources. At the end of the scale sat he in whom was embodied the rank old Toryism which was only waiting to depart with him from our social life of England. Lord Eldon fitly headed the scale of the angry and the alarmed. 'He protested loudly in private,' we learn from a contemporary sketch of him, 'with foverish alarm,' against the measure, 'as leading directly to confusion. Its interference with vested rights shocked his sonse of equity even more than the sweeping clauses of the Reform Act. To set at nought ancient charters as so many bits of decayed parchment, and destroy the archives of town-halls, seemed in the eyes of the old magistrate, for so many years the guardian of corporate rights, a crowning iniquity. Pale as a marble statue, and confined to his house in Hamilton Place by infirmity, he would deprecate equally the temerity of ministers and the madness of the people; and his vaticinations, like the prophet's scroll, were full to overflowing with lamentation and woe. His correspondence, for some years previously, had borne marks of the troubled gloom with which he viewed the changes gradually darkening over all he had loved and venerated, till he felt almost a stranger to the institutions of his native land.'

The opposition was incalculable, and might have been supposed unmanageable; yet, so flagrant were the abuses, that at last it required less than half of one session of parliament—from June to September—to carry into law a thorough reform of the municipal institutions of England and Wales.

The abolition of abuses, flagrant as they might be, was vol. III.

225

not, however, the most weighty consideration with the advocates of municipal reform. They had a higher aim and hope-to train the people to self-government, without which parliamentary reform could be little more than a name. A representative system is worse than a despotism for a nation which has no ideas to represent-no clear conception of its political duties, rights and privilegesno intellect and no conscience in regard to social affairs. The opponents of both parliamentary and municipal reform feared the ignorance and the self-will of the mass of the people; and not without reason; since the corruption of the representation in both departments had caused the ignorance and aggravated the self-will which were now sure to be displayed. The evil was unquestionable; the question was how to deal with it. Either the people must be governed without participation from themselves-that is, England must go back into a despotism ; or the people must be educated into a capacity for being governed by themselves, through the principle of representation. The only possible education for political, as for all other moral duty, is by the exercise of the duty itself. It was high time to begin the training anew; and those who most charly saw the necessity were most thoroughly aware of the imperfections which would immediately appear. They knew that the mass of the municipal electors would show much folly, much ignorance, much selfishness, much anger, in the first exercise of new rights; they knew that much nonsense would be talked in the town-councils, and that party wrangling would be violent at first; and they no more regarded this as an objection to a reformed system than they looked to school-boys for the discretion and steady conscientiousness of disciplined men. They knew also that time would do its work, in instructing the raw, and giving the wise and disinterested their natural ascendancy over the violent and the corrupt. They were aware that this measure was of the highest importance to the virtue and the liberties of the nation-the most necessary preparation for all future good-the seed-field of hope for the future political life of Great Britain; and they gave their efforts to the cause accordingly, with a seriousness and energy which they could never have commanded for the mere abolition of abuses of any enormity. The great virtue of the Reform Bill was its extinction of corruption, and its clearing the ground for a true representation. The Municipal Reform Bill had all that merit, and, besides, the greater one of pressing every man's public duty home to him, and engaging him in its exercise, in his own street, and amidst a community where every face was familiar to him. The work was of the highest order: its scope was fully perceived by the Whig administration; and it was done by them in the most admirable manner that the times and their position admitted. Great as were some of their objects and achievements during the early years of their rule, it is probable that this reform will, in far future centuries, stand out to view above the rest as the highest, from its connection with the deepest principles of political virtue, and therefore the most lasting system of political liberties.

The most radical imperfection of the scheme, and that which must subject it to a future reform as sweeping as the last, is its protraction of the severance of the interests of town and country. The Romans, as we have seen, conferred their municipal quality-capacity for civil rights through liability to civil duties - prominently on the inhabitants of towns, where alone institutions of citizenship were established by them during their occupation of Britain. The Saxon system was scarcely cognisant of towns at all; but when the Saxons came to Britain, they found a system existing in the towns to which theirs was easily adapted; and they did not subvert it. During the feudal ages, all civil rights were concentrated in the towns; so that the very word municipal is to us applicable only to a town system. As civil war subsided, agriculture rose to the point of superseding mere territorial dignity; and before the great rise of manufactures, it was the unquestioned leading interest of the commonalty, while closely connected with the territorial dignity of the aristocracy. With the rise of manufactures, a new political era opened in England. For half a century before the reign of William IV., the manufacturing population had been gaining upon the agricultural, at a perpetually increasing rate; and if the country gentlemen in parlia-

Q 2

ment who opposed the Municipal Reform Bill had understood their own case, they would rather have striven for some possible inclusion of the rural population in the scheme than have opposed a reform in the towns. It is an evil all round that the nation should be divided into two populations, the urban and the rural, whose interests are supposed to be antagonistic; and the vehement cries of agricultural distress which had pained the ears of the nation almost without intermission since the peace, seemed to tell that the agricultural interest was certainly not that which was gaining the ascendency at present. It would have been a vast benefit to all if the two populations could have been united under a system of local government whose objects are of absolutely universal importance, instead of being separated as peremptorily as ever by the reform of town government, while rural administration remained as before. But neither the Whig ministers, if they had wished it, nor any others, could have effected this in 1835, when the mere mention of such a scheme would have been received as a proposal to subordinate the country to the towns. So the rural population remain in a backward and unfavourable condition-subject to the jurisdiction of justices of the peace of counties and divisions of counties, while the town population is in the enjoyment of a representative system which, by improving their intelligence and independence, could not but widen the severance between the two populations, to the disadvantage of the rural, if other influences were not operating, at perhaps an equal rate, on behalf of the latter. The extension of free-trade to agricultural produce, and the consequent improvement of agricultural science and skill which may with certainty be looked for, are likely to raise the mind and the condition of the rural population. till they may become capable of desiring and requiring for themselves a system of local government as favourable as that obtained by the men of the towns; and then some future government will have to grant to the producers and sellers of food, and the capitalists of their class, the same political scope and privilege which the bill of 1835 secured to the producers and sellers of all other articles, and the capitalists of their multifarious class.

The other great imperfection of the measure was one only temporary in its character, but of pernicious operation during the critical years when the citizens required every aid, and no hindrance, in learning to discharge their new duties and exercise their new rights - the privileges of the old freemen were preserved, and with them a large measure of corruption. This was not the work of the administration, but an amendment insisted on by the Lords. The preservation of the parliamentary franchise and corporation property of this depraved body has been the greatest impediment to the purifying operation of the measure; but care was taken by the ministers and the House of Commons that, while existing property and privilege of an objectionable character were tenderly dealt with, no new interests of a similar kind should be permitted to arise; and thus, beneficial as have been the effects of corporate reform from the day that the bill became law, its best results have yet to be realised.

The substance of the measure, as passed, is this:

The points for review are four: the area in the state occupied by the system—the objects of municipal government—the municipal constituency—the municipal functionaries.

The number of boroughs included under the bill was 178, and the collective population about 2,000,000 at that time. Of these boroughs 128 of the most important had a commission of the peace assigned to them; while the other 50 might obtain such a commission on a representation to the crown, by the town-council, that the borough needs the appointment of one or more salaried police magistrates. London is not included under the act. a special measure being promised for the metropolis; towards which, however, nothing has yet been done. Of the 178 boroughs, 93 were parliamentary boroughs, and their limits were taken as settled by the Reform Bill. The boundaries of the remaining 85 stood as they were before, until parliament should direct an alteration. Each borough was divided into electoral wards-Liverpool into 16; others into 12, 10, or fewer, till the smallest were reached, which needed no division at all. The boundaries of the wards and the number of town-councillors to be returned by each, were settled after the passing of the act, by barristers appointed for the purpose.

The objects of municipal government were briefly set forth in the king's speech at the close of the session of 1833, in the sentence which recommends parliament to mature some measures which may seem best fitted to place the internal government of corporate cities and towns upon a solid foundation, in respect to their finances, their judicature, and their police.' The new act left the old objects untouched, for the most part, except in regard to the administration of justice and of charity trusts. The administration of charity trust-funds was now placed in the hands of trustees appointed by the lord chancellor; and justice was made more accessible, and its functionaries more responsible, by various new provisions. As to the appointment and management of the constabulary, the paying and lighting of the towns, and other duties of the local government, they were not dictated, nor local acts interfered with, by express enactment. The thing to be done was to procure a practical amendment by giving a true constituency to the towns, by which the local authorities should be elected in a genuine manner.

Hitherto, the functionaries made the constituency, and the constituency in return appointed the functionaries; so that if a sufficient number of corrupt and indolent men could be got into league, they could do what they pleased with the powers and the funds of the boroughs. This was now amended. The first class considered was that of the existing freemen, whose privilege, having been hitherto much restricted, was supposed to have been valuable, and of proportionate original cost. It was therefore preserved to them, their wives and widows, sons, daughters, and apprentices, who were to enjoy the same privileges in land and property, shares in common lands and public stock of the borough or corporation, as if the new act had never been passed; but henceforward, the debts of the corporation were to be paid before, and not after as hitherto, the claims of such persons were satisfied. The parliamentary franchise was also, as we have said, preserved to the old freemen. But the way to further abuse was stopped, not only by creating an honest constituency which should

swamp the corrupt old one, but by a provision that no rights of borough freedom should henceforth be acquired by gift or purchase, or in any other modes than those now enacted. The act prescribes a property qualification, on the understood ground that the municipal funds are provided by the propertied classes, who ought therefore to have the disposal of them. The condition of a three years' residence was much objected to, by men here and there of all parties: but it was believed to be necessary to obviate sudden and large creations of voters for party purposesan evil of which government had had recent and inconvenient experience, the admissions of freemen in certain towns in England having been six times as many in 1830 as in the preceding year. If a necessity, however, the restriction is a bad necessity; and it will probably be repealed when the purification of municipal government has become assured. To be a municipal constituent, a man must be of full age; must, on the last day of the preceding August, have occupied premises within the borough continuously for the three previous years; must have been for those three years an inhabitant householder within seven miles of the borough; and must have been rated to the poor, and have paid those and all boroughrates during the same three years. Such was the constituency ordained by the new act; a narrow one, but good as far as it goes, and understood to be so restricted on account of previous abuses.

The registration of the constituency was to be managed by an organisation resembling that under the Reform Bill, with the variations rendered necessary by difference of circumstances. The overseers of parishes make the lists; the town-clerk corrects and publishes them; and, since the first year, the mayor and the assessors appointed for the purpose have revised them.

The functionaries of town corporations and their constituents had hitherto borne a strange variety of titles in different places. Henceforth they were everywhere to be called 'the mayor, aldermen, and burgesses.' This body was henceforth a constituted corporation, empowered to do all legal acts as a body, and not as individuals; to sue and be sued by the corporate name; and to transmit their

corporate rights to their corporate successors. The town council is the great ruling body of the borough. The wards elect the councillors, whose number was, as has been said, apportioned after the passing of the act by parristers who visited the boroughs for the purpose. The council administers, by its committees, all the local business -the constabulary appointments, and the paving and lighting; and the body in conclave appoint their own officers, decree the expenditure of the borough fund, and the leasing of land and buildings; and they have the power of making bye-laws for the prevention and suppression of nuisances, and other objects of minor legislation. All needful safeguards against corruption are provided by making committees responsible to the whole council, by the appointment of auditors of accounts, who shall not themselves be councillors at the time, and by the regulations that all town accounts shall be published; that twothirds of the council shall be present at the passing of any bye-law, and that forty days shall be allowed to the secretary of state to object to such bye-law, and procure its disallowance by the sovereign. A property qualification for the office of councillor is requisite. One-third of the council go out, and are supplied by annual election on the 1st of November.

The mayor is chosen from among the councillors; and he must serve, or pay a fine of £100. He presides over the public acts of the borough during his year of office; is for that time and the next year a justice of the peace; revises the registration with the assessors, and sanctions the lists by his signature in open court; and is made returning-officer on occasion of election to parliament.

The function of alderman is somewhat anomalous under the new act, into which it was introduced by the Lords, more, as it appears, from a clinging to old names and forms than from any clear idea of what there was for aldermen to do. By their remaining in office six years, and half going out every three years, while their body includes one-third of the whole council, the regulation for replenishing the council by new members to the number of one-third annually is set aside. They are little more

232

than councillors having precedence of others, and being removable at the end of six years instead of three.

The town-clerk and treasurer are appointed by the council. The first has to keep in safety the charterdeeds and records of the borough; to make out the registration lists; keep the minutes of the council, and be subject to their direction. The treasurer is responsible for his accounts to the auditors, to whom he is to submit them half-yearly. The auditors are annually elected by the burgesses on the 1st of March. The assessors are elected in like manner.

The power was reserved to the crown of appointing such justices of the peace as government may think proper, also such salaried police-magistrates as the borough may apply for; and again, a recorder for a single borough, or for two or more in conjunction, provided the councillors of such town or towns desire to have a recorder, show cause for such an appointment, and prove that they can pay his salary. Boroughs having a recorder have separate courts of quarter-sessions of the peace, such courts being co-equal in powers with similar courts for counties.

All church property in the hands of the old corporations was required to be sold under the direction of the ecclosiastical commissioners, the proceeds to be invested in government securities, and the annual interest to form a part of the borough fund. Towns not at that time incorporated might obtain a charter of incorporation by petition to the privy-council. Some of the largest towns in England obtained charters by this method within a few years after the passing of the act.

It was on the 5th of June that Lord John Russell introduced the Municipal Reform Bill to the House of Commons. By the cordial union of the Whig and Radical parties, it was passed rapidly and safely through the Lower House. The difficulty was with the peers, who carried one amendment after another against ministers; and among others, a decision to hear counsel for the existing corporations, which delayed the progress of the measure for some time. The opposition was, as might be expected, about the rights of property—the property of poor men, it was insisted, and therefore to be the more carefully regarded; and about the overthrow of ancient practices and observances. But the case was too bad for a destructive opposition. As for the rights of property of the poor-in the city of Norwich, there were 3225 resident freemen, of whom 315 were paupers; 808 more were not In Lincoln, nearly four-fifths of the population rated. were excluded from the corporation; and of the corporate body, three-fourths paid no rates. At Cambridge, out of 20,000 inhabitants, there were only 118 freemen. At Ipswich, of 2000 rate-payers, only 187 belonged to the corporation. In the face of these facts, it was a mockery to talk of the rights of property being disregarded by the bill. As to the ancient practices and observances, it was only necessary to look back into history to see that the existing state of things was in fact a mass of modern innovation and corruption, and that the bill was a restoration of ancient rights-a recurrence to the true old municipal principle. From a conviction that the fact was so, and that the true old principle would, in a generation or two, work itself clear of the mischief of the Lords' amendments, the ministers after due consideration, adopted those amendments rather than lose the measure. So they preserved the existing race of poor freemen, who must die out in a few years; let in the anomalous aldermen, in the hope that their uselessness and the evil of breaking in on the rotation of the town-councillors would be ascertained before long; yielded some points in regard to qualification, and induced the Lords to yield some of their points; and finally passed the bill on the 7th of September. On the 9th, it became law.

The passage of the bill was a severe and unexpected blow to the high Tory party, who had confidently reckoned on its being rejected by the Commons when returned from the Upper House. After all that they had done, they found that their staff of magistracy was swept away, to be succeeded by responsible officials returned by a genuine principle of election. The corrupt office holders under the old system saw with dismay that the church and charity funds which had given them so much power and profit were now to be publicly administered for the general good, and that borough property would be hence-

CHAP. III.] THE BILL BECOMES LAW.

forth the property of the borough, and the police the servants of the public and not theirs. As Colonel Sibthorp expressed it, these exclusive privileges were gone 'at one fell swoop'-as O'Connell expressed it, 'tag-rag and bobtail was swept away.' The rejoicing among the honest and enlightened townsmen of the kingdom was naturally great. Yet, perhaps, there were few, even of the most joyous, who did not feel more or less regret at some of the adjuncts of the change; at the extinction, for instance, of antique municipal observances and shows. It was a great thing to see ancient charities renovated, schools and asylums rising again, and coffers filling with money restored to the purposes of the needy. It was a great thing to see our country planted over with little republics, where the citizens would henceforth be trained to political thought and public virtue; but it seemed a pity that the city feasts must go-the processions be seen no more-the gorgeous dresses be laid by-the banners be folded upthe dragon be shelved, and St. George never allowed to wear his armour again; and the gay runners, in their pink and blue jerkins, their peaked shoes and rosettes, and their fearful wooden swords, turned into mere weavers, tiamen, and shoemakers. Already, some of us may find ourselves discoursing eagerly to children, as Englishmen used to do to wondering Americans, of the sights we once saw on great corporation days; and when we are dead, a future generation may turn over the municipal wardrobes before their colours are faded, and cast a glance over the mayors' bills of fare, and ask whether such things could have belonged to common life in the nineteenth century. These things, from being once solemn and significant. may have become child's play, of which we of the nineteenth century ought to have been ashamed; yet there are perhaps few of us that were not sorry to see them go. For once, Lord Eldon was not without general sympathy.

235

CHAPTER IV.

Ecclesiastical Commissions—Popular Ignorance—Courtenay Delusion —Results of the Commission—Non-residence Act—Abolition of Sinecures—Tithe Commutation Act—Popular Education—Lord-Brougham's Scheme—Ministerial Scheme,

AMIDST the existing state of feeling with regard to the Church, its wealth and its inefficiency for the religious instruction and guidance of the people, it was impossible for any government to feel or assume indifference to its condition. We find, therefore, both the administrations of 1835 issuing an ecclesiastical commission, for the purpose of inquiring into and reporting upon the changes which might be effected in regard to church territory, income, and patronage, so as to render remuneration and labour more commensurate with each other, to enforce residence, and destroy the necessity of pluralities, by providing for all a sufficient revenue. Both commissions-the one issued by Sir R. Peel in February, and the other by Lord Melbourne in June-were publicly objected to by parties within the Church, ranging from Dr. Pusey to Sydney Smith; while those outside the Church, constituting nearly half the population between the Land's End and John o' Groat's, regarded the matter with no great interest, because with little hope. Dr. Pusey and his High-Church party denied the right of the government to meddle with the distribution of church offices and funds; and Sydney Smith, in a series of published letters, complained of the commission being composed chiefly of the high dignitaries of the Church, whose judgment might, he thought, have been beneficially aided by information and suggestion from a lower order of clergy, more conversant with the minds and the needs of the people. Those outside the pale of the Establishment, knowing that the appropriation principle was not to be named, expected little from a mere redistribution of office and funds, made by the highest holders of office and income, and to the

people at large, the most interesting part of the whole matter was the conspicuous fact that the Church was at last compelled to undertake its own reform-or what its dignitaries conceived to be so. Startling evidences of popular ignorance and the blindest fanaticism were forcing themselves on universal attention, just at the time when the publication of the revenues of the Church was prompting the question how it was possible that an Establishment so rich in men and money could exist beside a population in a state of such heathen blindness. The ecclesiastical commission of 1831 had declared the gross revenues of the Established Church in England and Wales to amount to £3,792,885; and the net revenue to £3,490,497. During the ensuing years of inquiry and legislation, men did not forget that the net revenue of the English Church amounted to three millions and a half: and while they were waiting to see how these funds would be dealt with, events were continually occurring to show what ought to be done with them.

Without going over again the sickening record, found in the register of almost every year, of ignorance and fanaticism shown in disturbances requiring repression by soldiery and punishment by the law, we may refer to one event which seemed to occur, as was said in parliament, for the shaming of the Church. We find too much besides -we find a rector of Lockington tithing the wages of a poor labourer, named Dodsworth, and throwing him into jail for the sum of four shillings and fourpence. We find church-rate riots abounding-the panelling of pews broken in, and men exchanging blows in the church with fists and cudgels. We find revivals of religion taking place here and there-scenes worthy only of a frantic heathenismscenes of raving, of blasphemous prayer, of panic-struck egotism, followed by burial processions to lay in the ground the victims of apoplexy or nervous exhaustion. We find men selling their wives in the market-places, with halters round their necks-none of the parties having the remotest conception of what marriage is in the eye of the law or of the Christian religion. We find crowds, in such a place as Sheffield, gutting, and repeatedly firing, the Medical School, through the old prejudices against

dissection. But all these incidents, and many others of like nature with them, wrought less on the public mind, to the shame of the Church, than an event which happened in 1838, almost under the shadow of Canterbury Cathedral. That in such a neighbourhood a large body of the common people should believe a lunatic to be the Messiah, and follow him to death through such a series of observances as only a lunatic could have imposed, was a shock to the clergy, it was believed, and was certainly a subject of painful amazement to the rest of the world, which was not at all solicitous to keep its opinion to itself. From the House of Commons to the wayside inn, men were asking what the Church was for, and what the clergy could be about, if the population of a district near Canterbury could worship the wounds in the hands and side of a raving lunatic; see him fire a pistol at a star, and bring it down; believe him invulnerable, and themselves through him; expect to see him sail away, as he declared he came, on clouds of glory through the heavens; and, when he was shot dead, be quite happy in the certainty that he would rise again in a month.

This poor wretch, named Thom, had been confined in a lunatic asylum for four years, and was then delivered over to his friends on the supposition of his being harmless. He then called himself Sir William Courtenay, fancying himself a man of high family, as well as large estates-in the same breath claiming to be the Messiah, and threatening hell-fire against all who would not follow him to obtain his estates, and get rich themselves. He did not want for followers; for, as the people said about his knowledge of the Scriptures, 'no unlarned person could stand before Sir William.' He fired a pistol against himself. and was not wounded-there being no bullet. He put a lighted lucifer-match under a bean-stack, which did not burn ; and these things were regarded as true miracles by his followers. They believed that nothing could hurt them while following him; and when a mother could not refuse to recognise the wounds of her son, she comforted herself that he was 'fighting for his Saviour.' They kissed the madman's feet, and worshipped him. A woman followed him on the last day of his life, wherever he went,

with a pail of water, because he had said that if he died and if she put water between his lips, he would rise again in a month. He administered the sacrament to his followers in bread and water. As he lay dead, his blouse was torn up, that his followers might carry away the shreds as relics. The strongest rebuke to the Church, however, was at the funeral. From the fear of attack, and rescue of the body, there was a race to the churchyard --- a trial of speed between the funeral-van and the attendant gigs and carts : but, far worse, the clergyman felt it necessary to omit those parts of the burial-service which relate to the resurrection of the dead. Many stolid and miserable wretches were watching the interment from the railing-some ghastly from wounds received in the fight; and the clergyman feared that any promise of a resurrection would make them watch for the return of their prophet, to reign in the Powderham estates, float in the clouds, and give to each of his true followers a farm of forty acres. It was long before the clergy of Canterbury heard the last of this. In the affair of this madman and his pretensions, ten lives were lost in a few moments, and many persons were wounded. The party of fanatics had strolled about the country for four days, praying, obtaining recruits, and looking for the millennium. A farmer, whose men had been seduced from their work, gave information to the police. The first constable who presented himself was shot, by Thom himself, who then took his sword, and hacked the body, crying out: 'Now am I not your Saviour?' A party of military was brought from Canterbury, whose officer, Lieutenant Bennett, was deliberately shot dead by the same hand. The lunatic himself was the next to fall, crying with his last breath : 'I have Jesus in my heart.' The local jails were filled with his followers, who were too ignorant to wonder at what they had done, even after the discovery that their leader and companions could be wounded and die. Some were transported for life, or for terms, and the rest imprisoned for different periods. They were now at last brought, under such circumstances as these, under the care of the Church, by which they should have been instructed and guided from their youth up; and at the end

of a year's imprisonment some of them signed a paper declaratory of their shame and sorrow at their impious delusion, and at the acts to which it had led them. Some who could not sign their names, declared the same thing among their old neighbours. Very few of the band could read and write.

It was not likely that such evils as were indicated by this event would be reached by a commission of Church dignitaries inquiring into property and income, and unpractised in dealing with the popular mind; but, small as was the expectation of all parties, the result in eight years disappointed even that. The number of benefices and churches whose incomes had been augmented by the ecclesiastical commissioners for England was, in that time 469; and the augmentation amounted, in the whole, to the sum of £25,779. The church would certainly not save the people or itself in this way; and it was well that other measures were attempted.

The ecclesiastical commissioners were incorporated by act of parliament in 1836, their number then consisting of thirteen, and including several members of the government. One of their first operations was a rearrangement Two new sees-those of Ripon and of episcopal sees. Manchester-were created; and four of the old ones were consolidated into two-Gloucester being united to Bristol, and St. Asaph to Bangor. After this, the chief work of the commissioners was making the redistribution, whose result, after eight years, has been mentioned. It was felt by most reasonable people that the less they expected the better, after hearing that the commissioners did not find that any process of redistribution could render the income of the bishoprics sufficient for the wants of the bishopsthe number of bishops being twenty-six, and the amount of income nearly £150,000 per annum. Church reformers who made such a declaration as this were not the kind of reformers who would secure the peasantry of England against seduction by future maniacs and blasphemers. Something more than this must be done.

In 1838 an act passed, the object of which was to correct the abuse of non-residence—to render it impossible henceforth for the beneficed clergyman to be absent, at his own

pleasure, from the field of his duties, while enjoying the proceeds of his living. If absent for between three months and six, for other than professional purposes, without a licence, he must forfeit a third of the income from his benefice; if between six and eight months, half the income; if twelve months, three-fourths of the income. These requisitions were not new; but they were to be fenced about with strong securities. Before granting the licence, the bishop must be satisfied that the intended absentee has provided a proper substitute, duly salaried. Other regulations came in with this-methods by which the bishop can keep himself informed of the condition of the parishes under the care of his clergy, and not only check the tempting practice of non-residence, but form some idea of the state of the relation between the pastors and their flocks. This was a great improvement, not only as securing to the flocks the presence of their pastors, but as discouraging the entrance into the service of the Church of men who have no taste for its duties, but come in merely for a maintenance. The condition of residence is as terrible or disgusting to such a class of clergy as it is welcome to those who are worthy of their function. Great as this improvement was, much more was wanted; and two years after, another considerable step was taken.

In 1840, an act was passed which made a great sweep of abuses, and applied the accruing funds to good purposes. It abolished many ecclesiastical sinecures, or deprived the holders of their emoluments; it abolished the old selfelected dcans and chapters, decreeing that deans should beappointed by the crown, and canons by the bishops; it. authorised the purchase and suppression of sinecure rectories in private patronage, and the devotion of the proceeds. to the spiritual wants of the people at hand or elsewhere. All the profits arising from these proceedings were to form a fund at the disposal of the commissioners, for the supply of the most pressing spiritual needs which came to their knowledge. There was a good deal of outcry, from theclergy as well as others, about granting such powers as. this bill conveyed to such a body of functionaries-placed so high above the level of popular feeling-as constituted the ecclesiastical commission. Pages might be filled with YOL. III.

the remonstrances, serious and jocose, of Sydney Smith upon the occasion; and there was much truth in the objections which he made; but it was so great a thing to get rid of so much scandal, to sweep away so much abuse, and administer a stern rebuke to the sinecurists of the Church and their patrons, that the act was, on the whole, regarded as the most considerable advance yet made by the commission towards a reform of the Church. As far as it went, it was a clearing of the ground. But this, after all, was a small matter; and more must be done.

The Tithe Commutation Act, for England and Wales. which passed in 1837, was a great promoter of peace and good-will between the Church and the people at large. From year to year, the irritation on both sides on the subject of tithes had become more and more intolerable ; and, as we have seen, in one place a peasant was shooting his rector, and in another, a rector was tithing the peasant's wages, and throwing him into jail for the sum of 4s. 4d. Such things have not been heard of since; for the admirable measure of 1837 has put an end to the quarrelling which was discreditable enough to the nation, and perfectly Tithe, not scandalous in connection with the Church. being a tax paid to government, nor to any institution. but to almost as many lay as clerical individuals, could not be swept away, or repealed like an ordinary tax. It had become so mixed up with a mass of interests and affairs, that its abolition could not have been effected but by a confiscation which would have put the gain into the pockets of men who had no business with it. The true method was to convert tithe into a rent-charge; and this was done in a very effective manner. The charge, payable in money, was determined by the average price of corn for the seven preceding years; and all kinds of tithe were to come under this arrangement. Every facility was given for a voluntary agreement between the tithe-owner and payer; and both were, in a large number of cases, glad to settle their disputes upon this basis; but if, after the lapse of a sufficient time, no such agreement was made, the tithe commissioners had power to enforce it. In eight years from the passing of the act, about half the business of assigning and apportioning rent-charges throughout the

242

kingdom was completed; and a very large proportion of the agreements was voluntary. Provision was made for a redemption of the tithe-charge, where desired; the payer being authorised to make over land to the owner, not exceeding twenty acres in one parish, in purchase of his release from tithe-charges for ever. This power of redemption, though good, was less valuable than it would have been thought at an earlier date. Formerly, men would have sacrificed much to free themselves from the perplexing and galling uncertainty of tithe-charges, which prevented them from undertaking improvements, or deprived them of all the profit. But now the uncertainty and malicious incidence of the tax were removed by its conversion into a rent-charge, on a broad and ascertainable basis. Here, again, was a great clearing of the ground for improvement of the relation between the Church and the people. But it was not enough. The worst evils remained ; and there were some at the time who expressed their sense of these evils in the words of Milton, which tell how the poor 'sit at the foot of a pulpited divine to as little purpose of benefiting, as the sheep in their pens at Smithfield."

The desideratum was a system of education. Everybody knew this. That is, everybody knew that the great mass of the working-classes, and all the vast pauper class of England, were deplorably ignorant. But who could say what was to be done, while the Church did not educate its own body, and yet rose up in opposition at every mention of a plan which did not give the control and administration of education to the clergy, and the Dissenters could not possibly agree to any such condition? The Dissenters exerted themselves much more than the Church to educate the children within their respective bodies; but, besides that the instruction they could give was desultory, partial, and superficial, those bodies did not comprehend the most ignorant and destitute classesthe very poor agricultural labourers and the abandoned of the towns, who belonged to no religious denomination at The majority of all denominations objected to secular all education: and on any system of religious instruction they could not agree. In various parts of the Continent the spectacle might be seen of children sitting on the R 2

same bench, Catholics, Protestants, and Jews, having their understandings opened, their consciences awakened, and their affections flowing out upon one another, with a prospect before them of co-operation in their future lives of schooldays, and purged from the sectarian taint that renders English society an aggregate of bodies which distrust and dislike each other through prejudices sent down from generation to generation. But among us such a spectacle could not be hoped for; for no subject is less understood by our nation at large than that of religious liberty. Religious liberty could not become understood but by improved general education; and general education could not be had for want of religious liberty. It was truly a desperate case. We have seen how fruitlessly efforts had been made by Mr. Brougham and others, to extinguish this fatality; and while such efforts resulted only in increased positiveness and bitterness on every hand, thousands and tens of thousands of children had been passing off into a condition of hopeless ignorance and depravity, amidst which the most erroneous views of the Christian religion would have been as the dayspring from on high to those who sit in darkness. Combined with what else they would have learned, there were no views of Christianity which could have been imparted in England that would not have been salvation to the host of children in the Durham coal-pits, and the wilds of Wales, and the hovels of Dorsetshire, and the cellars of Liverpool, and the precincts of Canterbury, and the rookeries of London, who have sunk, the while, into abysses of guilt and misery, through the neglect of the state of which they were the helpless and unconscious members. The high honour of being the first to lay a hand on the barrier of exclusion belongs to the Whig administrations of this period. It was little that they could do; and that little could not expand into an effective system. From the nature of the case, their plan could be but of temporary duration, as well as most restricted operation; for they could only help those who could, more or less, help themselves; whereas the aid was needed especially by those who were unconscious of their own need: but, if they

could drive in only a little wedge which must be thrown away, it was they who found the crevice, and struck the first blow.

It was the fashion of the time to laugh at the Whig administrations for their resort to special commissions-a resort, however, for which the country is much indebted to them. That they did not employ this method, in the early days of their rule, as a preparation for an educational system, while they used it with eminent success in their poor-law and municipal reforms, is an indication of their hopelessness about establishing a system at all. Without a full and protracted inquiry, the results of which should be offered in a comprehensive report, no measure could be framed which had a chance of working well. The question of endowments was under investigation; and nothing could be proposed about funds till the results of that inquiry were known. The actual state of education was not ascertained; nor had the legislature any definite notions as to the kind and degree of education which should be desired or attempted for the people at large. It was a rare thing to meet with an English gentleman, in or out of parliament, who had any clear views on the question of state or voluntary education-which was best for us in itself-which was most procurable for us-and whether they should, could, or might be in any degree united. Such a 'Whig commission' as it was the fashion of the day to laugh at, would have brought knowledge to legislators, and made them think and discuss, till their minds had attained some clearness. The public attention would have been fixed, and its interest aroused, by the same means; and in a few years-perhaps two or threethe matter would have been ripe for legislation. But it was clear that ministers dared not employ this method. Parliament, being yet blind to the importance of the project, would have complained of the expense; the Church would have risen up to oppose an invasion of what she considered her province; and the Dissenters would, as we see by the light of a later time, have attacked with fury any proposal to modify their operations among the young of their own sects. So, nothing was said about any broad plan of an extensive commission,

with a view to future legislation; and ministers and parliament could learn only from such information as came in through the factory inspectors, the charity and poor law commissioners, and the witnesses who gave testimony before an education committee of the House of Commons in 1834-5.

Lord Brougham ventured to proceed upon the partial and most imperfect information thus obtained, to form and propose to parliament a scheme of national education in the session of 1837; and the result was what might have been anticipated-a plan too crude for adoption. His plan would have placed the school-system under the control of the administration of the day, while leaving it subject to the worst evils of voluntaryism; and thus it could never have commanded general confidence, while it left unsolved the sectarian difficulties which have been the chief embarrassment throughout. There were yet other objections, so evident to those who knew most on the subject of which all knew but too little, that the measure, introduced in two succeeding years, was dropped without a contest. What the ministers did was very modest in comparison with this; and, modest as their effort was, it cost them so much trouble and opposition, that no one will venture to say they could have done more.

As we have seen, a committee of the Commons sat during two sessions, to receive and report upon evidence as to the condition of education. This is a subject quite unmanageable by a parliamentary committee, by its vastness, and the impossibility of securing an average-a true representation -of witnesses. The committee, therefore, was of little use, except as an evidence that the great subject of education was becoming really interesting to the legislature. In 1834, the government obtained from parliament the first grant in aid of education. It was only £20,000; but it was a beginning, and it went on through subsequent years till 1839, when a vote of £30,000 was asked for The grant was distributed in different proportions through the National School Association, which was in strict con nection with the Church of England, and the British and Foreign School Society, which admitted children of all Christian denominations, without imposing upon them

sectarian teaching. The method of distribution was by giving aid to applicants in proportion to the amounts which those applicants could prove themselves able to raise for the building of school-houses. It is obvious at a glance that on this principle aid is given precisely where it is least wanted-to districts which can raise funds for educational purposes, while the poorest and most neglected could proffer no claim. After a few years, the educational committee of the privy-council resolved that the principle of giving most where most could be raised on the spot should not be invariably adhered to, if applications should be made from very poor and populous districts, where subscriptions could not be obtained to a sufficient amount. As to the desolate districts where there was no one to stir at all amidst the deadness of ignorance and poverty-there was no provision made for them. To those that had much, more was to be given; and to those that had less, was less to be given; and to those who had nothing-nothing. One beneficent work which the annual parliamentary grant-still annually disputed, however, and therefore uncertain-enabled the ministers to effect, was the establishment and organisation of a model school, from which might descend long generations of schools for the training of teachers. In 1835, £10,000 was expressly voted by parliament for this object; and in 1839, the committee of privy-council expressed their regret that, owing to the sectarian difficulties of the case, they could not propose a plan for the establishment of a normal school under the care of the state, instead of that of a voluntary association.

Opposition was made at every step. Lord Stanley even declared, in 1839, that the grant of $\pm 10,000$ for a normal school, in 1835, was made at a late period of the session, when members were not duly vigilant. When, in 1839, an order in council vested the management of the education fund in a committee of privy council, instead of the lords of the treasury, in whose hands it had hitherto been, the sharpest debate, and that which most clearly revealed the difficulties of the case, took place in both Houses, and led to a severe retort from the government. On Lord John Russell moving for the grant, Lord Stanley moved an amendment proposing an address to the sovereign to

rescind the order in council for the appointment of the board of privy-council. A debate which was renewed at intervals for some weeks brought out the views of a variety of members on the whole education question; and the reader sees, with a sort of amazement, that a member here and there set himself to prove that in France there was least crime where ignorance was most dense, and desired the House to infer that the innocence of the masses was in proportion to their inability to read and write. In the Commons, the ministers obtained their grant by a majority of only two; and in the Lords, an address to the sovereign, like that proposed by Lord Stanley, moved by the Archbishop of Canterbury, was carried by a majority of 111. The Lords carried up the address, sincerely believing, no doubt, that they were rescuing their young queen and the state from the guilt and danger of countenancing dissent by permitting any portion of the parliamentary grants to reach the schools of the British and Foreign Society through the hands of members of the privy-council. But they received their rebuke from the clear voice of their young queen, who saw, under the guidance of her ministers, the full enormity of the claim of the Church to engross the education of the nation. There was nothing in the present condition of the people-about Canterbury, for instance, as people were saying—or of the National Schools, to induce a belief that the Church was fulfilling well the function which it claimed : but if it had-if the education in those schools had been as good as it then was proved to be bad, and if the Church had been really educating all who did not expressly belong to dissenting bodies, the claim of the Church, that the government should not countenance and aid the efforts of Dissenters, by sending help through the hands of the privy-council committee, was too monstrous not to be rebuked as it was by the royal reply. The queen was sensible of their Lordships' zeal for religion and the Church; was always happy to have their advice; yet thought it a matter of regret that they should have thought it necessary to offer it now; was deeply aware of her duties to the Church, in sanctioning the very measure in question; reminded their Lordships that by annual reports they would always know what was done by the

committee, and have opportunity for objection or control; and finally, hoped that it would appear that the grants had been expended with strict fidelity to the purposes of parliament, to the rights of conscience, and the security of the Established Church.

The clergy, with few exceptions, henceforth refused to permit participation in these grants; and the quarrel between the Church and the government, in regard to the principles of administration of the grants for education, has been revived, from time to time, and is not settled at this day. One good result of the proceedings of the session of 1839 was that a strong effort was made to extend, and also to improve, the National Schools. The Church party wished to test and bring out the strength of its own body; and also to compensate the clergy who had conscientiously refused participation in the government grants. The chief solace to the observer of these melancholy contentions of bigotry with the needs of the time was in seeing how the Church became roused to some sense of her duty towards the ignorant and the poor, and how the great subject of popular education was at last making its way to the front on the platform of public The struggle with which each step was interests. attended showed, in a stronger light than any one had anticipated, the utter blindness of a large number of educated Protestants, in or outside of the British parliament, to the rights of the universal mind and conscience ---of the mind to knowledge, and of the conscience to equal liberty : but the more this blindness was exhibited. the less mischief there was in it, and the more likely were the friends of popular enlightenment to understand and agree how to proceed.

Among these friends of popular enlightenment must certainly be considered the Melbourne administration and that which succeeded it. The Whig ministers made the beginning which has been detailed; and their successors carried out their plan with a zeal and fidelity for which they merited and obtained high honour. By this scheme, the Church was offered the opportunity which she seemed to need for regaining some of the honour she had lost, and retrieving some of the disgrace under which she lay at

this particular period; but she could not accept the opportunity; and while torn more fiercely every year by ' the conflicts of parties within her own pale-her very bishops being by this time arrayed against each other as favourers or repressors of 'Tractarianism'-she was dissolving the traditional associations of respect and awe in the minds of the nation at large by her practical opposition to popular enlightenment. Such reforms, however, as she permitted in the working of her own affairs were already operating for good; and it is the recorded opinion of some of her highest dignitaries that the preservation of the very existence of the Church of England is owing to the Melbourne administration. Those who may not agree in such an opinion yet, may and do now see that that administration was really most friendly to the Church, precisely in insisting on those measures which the Church most vehemently opposed. If, for one instant, they had yielded to the control of the Church the parliamentary grant for education, they would have done as much for her speedy destruction, as they could have done for her stability and prosperity if they had been able to carry their appropriation principle.

CHAPTER V.

Conductof the Peers—Peerage Reform—Chartism—Radical Chartists— Tory Chartists—Hungering Chartists—Factions Chartists—Orangeism—Duke of Cumberland—Colonel Fairman—Orange Peers—Plot —Action of Orangeism—Detection—Committee of Inquiry—Mr. Hume's Resolutions—Address to the King—Colonel Fairman's Contumacy—Proposed Prosecution—Death of Haywood—Address to the King—Dissolution of Orangeism.

To the contemplative philosopher, nothing is more striking, throughout the whole range of human life, than the universal tendency of men to overrate the relative importance of the business under their hand. It would be unreasonable to quarrel with this tendency—evidence though it be of human fallibility and blindness; it would be unreasonable to quarrel with it, while human faculties CHAP. V.]

are what they are-able to work, but slowly, and within a very limited range; because the stimulus of hope and confidence is necessary to impel men to do all that they can; whereas they would sink down in the inaction of discouragement if they could see at the moment the actual proportion that their deeds bear to their needs. Children would never learn to read first, and then would never learn the grammar of a new language, if they were aware beforehand what a language is, and what a work it is to master its structure and its signs; it is by seeing only the page before them, by not looking beyond the task of the hour, that they accomplish the business at last; and it is not till they have become men that they apprehend the philosophy of their achievement, and learn to be grateful that they did not recognise it sconer. Thus it is in the great sphere of politics, where the wisest men are but children, working their way to achievement with more or less of the confidence of simplicity; a simplicity which the ordinary life of man is too short to convert into a power of philosophical retrospect. In the longer life of a nation, this power of philosophical retrospect belongs to a future generation; and it is very interesting to the thoughtful of each generation to contemplate the confident satisfaction of their forefathers in the belief that they had set things straight as they went, and compassed the whole of the business which was under their hand. How complete did the Reformation appear to those who wrought it! How confident were they that Romanism was subordinated to Protestanism for ever! whereas our own time has taught us that the work was not only incomplete, but certainly insecure, and possibly transient. How complete did the Revolution of 1688 appear to those who wrought and witnessed it! How confident were they that good principles of government were firmly established by it! Yet we see how not only those principles might be evaded, but how the most important part of the work, the government of the towns, was left in a state of corruption as dire as all the Stuarts had made it. How complete did the work of Catholic Emancipation appear to those who emancipated the Catholics; and how confidently did they, and their supporters of the liberal party, conclude that

the tranquillisation of Ireland was achieved! Yet the mere use of the terms 'tranquillisation of Ireland' now appears a mockery. To a future generation, the most astonishing part of the whole business will be that the men of 1829 could be such children as thus to overrate the importance of a single act, great as the act might be. Again, how confident were the Whigs of 1832 of the finality of the reform measure; and those who were less childish than this were themselves as childish in supposing that the nation was settled and satisfied for a time -safe at least from revolution; and that further reforms might proceed with regularity, in the midst of security. In a spirit of security, the intelligence of the kingdom prosecuted its work-the government achieving political and social reforms-the Church carrying on ecclesiastical reforms; and the liberal parties, in and out of parliament. proposing and maturing schemes for the orderly and regular removal of abuses and obstructions, as if the deposits of the corruptions and miseries of centuries were not still present in their midst, working towards explosions which might shatter our polity to fragments in a day. Already we begin to see-what will be seen much more clearly a hundred years hence-that those who lived in . the years succeeding 1832 were living in times perhaps as perilous as the history of England has to show—amidst a romance of peril as striking, when fully understood, as any of the times of the Plantagenets and the Stuarts. If this statement appears extravagant, it must be because the greater number of quiet Englishmen have not yet contemplated the history of their own time as they would that of another. This is certainly the case with the greater number of us; while some few regard the story of this chapter with a sort of incredulity-a dread of giving way to romance-which disturbs their judgment, and obstructs their perception of the wonder and interest of the too unquestionable tale. It was not that the facts were any secret. They were published in newspapers, in reviews, and in the reports of parliamentary committees and debates. It was that few, in the midst of the pressing business of the time, saw the full significance, or felt the full enormity, of the case; and the few who did, used a

CHAP. V.]

reserve and prudence so uncommon in them as to indicate the depth and force of their own impressions.

It was a time of revolutionary conspiracies; conspiracies to which those of the Castlereagh and Sidmouth times were trifles; conspiracies at both extremes of society one under the steps of the throne, the other under the shadow of the workhouse. Of them we shall speak presently; but we must first show the reflex agitation of both as apparent in a remarkable movement in an intermediate portion of society.

It is unnecessary to present again the conduct of the majority of the peers during the reform struggle. It is, and ever will be, fresh in men's minds; the disgrace of the bishops above all; and next, the insolence and rancour of the least enlightened of the lay peers. From year to year they protracted the provocation they gave to the people at large, by obstructing and damaging measures of improvement which they could not wholly get rid of. They did this with a rashness which appeared unaccountable, till revelations were made that showed how the most violent of the obstructive peers had reckoned on political changes which should give them justification for the past. and their own way for the future. We have seen how they came to yield the point of parliamentary reform; but it was not known at the time how confidently they expected soon to repeal the Reform Bill. We have seen how they repeatedly extinguished the Irish Church bills sent up by large majorities of the Commons; how fifteen bishops assembled at Lambeth to concert measures for intimidating the ministry; and how the primate began his agitation in the Upper House before the measure was introduced there. We have seen how materially they injured the Municipal Reform Bill, in its principles as well as its details; and how they went up in a crowd to address the sovereign in opposition to a liberal, though extremely small, educational measure, and received their due rebuke. If it were necessary to follow their action, step by step, through the legislation of the time, we should see that these were but a small part of the obstructions opposed by the majority of the Lords to necessary or desirable reforms.

the tranquillisation of Ireland was achieved! Yet the mere use of the terms 'tranquillisation of Ireland' now appears a mockery. To a future generation, the most astonishing part of the whole business will be that the men of 1829 could be such children as thus to overrate the importance of a single act, great as the act might be. Again, how confident were the Whigs of 1832 of the finality of the reform measure; and those who were less childish than this were themselves as childish in supposing that the nation was settled and satisfied for a time -safe at least from revolution; and that further reforms might proceed with regularity, in the midst of security. In a spirit of security, the intelligence of the kingdom prosecuted its work-the government achieving political and social reforms-the Church carrying on ecclesiastical reforms; and the liberal parties, in and out of parliament, proposing and maturing schemes for the orderly and regular removal of abuses and obstructions, as if the deposits of the corruptions and miseries of centuries were not still present in their midst, working towards explosions which might shatter our polity to fragments in a day. Already we begin to see-what will be seen much more clearly a hundred years hence-that those who lived in . the years succeeding 1832 were living in times perhaps as perilous as the history of England has to show-amidst a romance of peril as striking, when fully understood, as any of the times of the Plantagenets and the Stuarts. If this statement appears extravagant, it must be because the greater number of quiet Englishmen have not yet contemplated the history of their own time as they would that of another. This is certainly the case with the greater number of us; while some few regard the story of this chapter with a sort of incredulity-a dread of giving way to romance-which disturbs their judgment, and obstructs their perception of the wonder and interest of the too unquestionable tale. It was not that the facts were any secret. They were published in newspapers, in reviews, and in the reports of parliamentary committees and debates. It was that few, in the midst of the pressing business of the time, saw the full significance, or felt the full enormity, of the case; and the few who did, used a

reserve and prudence so uncommon in them as to indicate the depth and force of their own impressions.

It was a time of revolutionary conspiracies; conspiracies to which those of the Castlereagh and Sidmouth times were trifles; conspiracies at both extremes of society one under the steps of the throne, the other under the shadow of the workhouse. Of them we shall speak presently; but we must first show the reflex agitation of both as apparent in a remarkable movement in an intermediate portion of society.

It is unnecessary to present again the conduct of the majority of the peers during the reform struggle. It is, and ever will be, fresh in men's minds; the disgrace of the bishops above all; and next, the insolence and rancour of the least enlightened of the lay peers. From year to year they protracted the provocation they gave to the people at large, by obstructing and damaging measures of improvement which they could not wholly get rid of. They did this with a rashness which appeared unaccountable, till revelations were made that showed how the most violent of the obstructive peers had reckoned on political changes which should give them justification for the past. and their own way for the future. We have seen how they came to yield the point of parliamentary reform; but it was not known at the time how confidently they expected soon to repeal the Reform Bill. We have seen how they repeatedly extinguished the Irish Church bills sent up by large majorities of the Commons; how fifteen Lishops assembled at Lambeth to concert measures for intimidating the ministry; and how the primate began his agitation in the Upper House before the measure waintroduced there. We have seen how materially, the injured the Municipal Reform Bill, in its princilitical well as its details; and how they went up in a in this address the sovereign in opposition to a lin his own extremely small, educational measure, and r-one House due rebuke. If it were necessary to foying this he was step by step, through the legislationow too well the should see that these were but a smalt to support two tions opposed by the majority of the popular control; desirable reforms. - masters, of the people.

It was not to be expected that the nation would bear The question, 'What must be done with the Lords?' this. so familiar in 1830-32, was not dropped; and a succession of replies to this question was proffered in the other House. Various members there proposed a reform of the House of Lords as a fitting sequel to the reform of their own; and the seriousness with which the question was discussed during the years 1835-37 is rather startling to the reader of the present day, till he remembers the then recent abolition of the hereditary peerage in France, the triumphant reform of our own Lower House, and the insolent attitude of defiance assumed at the time by the Kenyons, Rodens, Wynfords, and Newcastles, who were secretly expecting a speedy restoration of their domination in the state. The most favourable circumstance, perhaps, for them was, that Mr. O'Connell early pledged himself to procure a reform of the House of Lords. On Irish questions, Mr. O'Connell was supremely to be feared by his opponents, but not on questions which must be agitated elsewhere than in Ireland. At the close of the session of 1835, he went on what he called 'a mission' to the north of England and Scotland, to rouse the people to require an elective peerage-the election of a peer, for a term of years, by every 200,000 electors; which would yield a House of 130 peers for the 170 then sitting. He was received and feasted, with acclamations, by large numbers of people at Manchester, Newcastle, Edinburgh, and Glasgow. Yet no visible effect was produced-at least, none to the injury of the cause of the peers ; for O'Connell's oratory, so powerful in Ireland, seemed to astonish or tnuse, rather than persuade, his English and Scotch greathces. The following seems a fair specimen of his this charof incitement; and no Englishman or Scotchman way to rot that it did not assist the subversion of so timeobstructs the institution as the British House of Peers. the too unquesEdinburgh trades, he said : 'We achieved were any secret. ure this last session ; but that was not reviews, and in the70 tyrants of the country prevented and debates. It was to. Ancient Athens was degraded business of the time, say tyrants: modern Athens will full enormity, of the case to rule over her. . . . It was

stated in one of the clubs, that at one time a dog had bitten the bishop; whereupon a noble lord, who was present, said: "I will lay any wager that the bishop began the quarrel." Now, really the House of Lords began the quarrel with me. They may treat me as a mad dog if they please; I won't fight them; but I will treat them as the Quaker treated the dog which had attacked him. "Heaven forbid," said he, "that I should do thee the slightest injury; I am a man of peace, and I will not hurt thee;" but when the dog went away, he cried out; "Mad dog! mad dog!" and all the people set upon him. Now, that is my remedy with the House of Lords. I am more honest than the Quaker was; for the dog that attacked me is really mad. Bills were rejected in the House of Lords simply because Daniel O'Connell supported them; and I do say, that if I had any twelve men on a jury on a question of lunacy, I would put it to such jury to say if such men were not confirmed madmen. So you perceive the dog is really mad-and accordingly I have started on this mission to rouse the public mind to the necessity of reforming the House of Lords; and I have had 50,000 cheering me at Manchester, and 100,000 cheering me in Newcastle; and I heard one simultaneous cry: "Down with the mad dogs, and up with common sense!" The same cry has resounded through Auld Reekie. The Calton Hill and Arthur's Seat re-echoed with the sound; and all Scotland has expressed the same determination to use every legitimate effort to remove the House of Lords. Though the Commons are with us, yet the House of Lords are against us; and they have determined that they will not concede a portion of freedom which they can possibly keep back. Sir Robert Peel, the greatest humbug that ever lived, and as full of political and religious cant as any man that ever canted in this canting world-feeling himself quite safe on his own dunghill, says that we want but one chamber-one House of radical reformers. He knew that in saying this he was saying what was not true. We know too well the advantage of double deliberation not to support two Houses; but they must be subject to popular control; they must be the servants, not the masters, of the people.

It was true that Auld Reekie caught up the sound, and that the Calton Hill and Arthur's Seat re-echoed with the cry. O'Connell had a magnificent reception by the Edinburgh trades and the United Irishmen; and the Calton Hill was covered with a dense mass of the welldressed inhabitants of the city. 'The reception of O'Connell by the immense assembly,' we are told, 'combined solemnity with enthusiasm.' But the enthusiasm melted away, and the cry died out, without producing any effect on the constitution of the Lords' House. O'Connell could not lead a political reform anywhere but in Ireland, even where, as now, he began with every advantage.

Much more effectual was the action within the walls of the House of Commons, on the ground of the petitions sent up during the mutilation of the Municipal Bill by the peers. On the 2nd of September, Mr. Roebuck declared his intention of moving for leave to bring forward, in the next session, a bill for the removal of the veto possessed by the House of Lords, substituting for this veto a suspensive power which should cause the reconsideration of any measure which the peers should object to, but which suspensive power should not intercept the royal assent to any bill after its second passage through the Commons. Mr. Hume gave notice the same night, that he should move, early in the next session, for a select committee to inquire into the constitution and condition of the House of Peers-who the peers were, how qualified, and how they discharged their duties. Some amusement was caused by Mr. Hume's courageous repudiation of all poetical feeling, and all antiquarian associations, when he complained of 'the farce' of the forms of conference between the Lords and Commons, when the peers were seated and covered, and the Commons standing and bareheaded-'to exchange two bits of paper,' as Mr. Hume said. He saw nothing of the old days which his words. called up before the mind's eye of those who heard him; the days when the peers were like princes, each with a little army at his call; and when the unwarlike burgessrepresentatives really did half worship or tremble before the valorous nobles of the land. It might be time as Mr. Hume thought, to give up forms which had ceased to

contain any truth; but Mr. Hume's way of setting about it amused some people, and shocked others, with the sense that he did not know what he was about. But, before that day twelvemonths, Mr. Hume stood higher than any other man in the House or in the kingdom, in connection with the people's quarrel with the House of Lords. By him, the Lords had, by that time, been humbled, awed, brought to their senses; and this by no vulgar clamour or extreme devices, but by industry, and sagacity, and courage applied in ascertaining and revealing facts which placed the most insolent of the peers at the mercy of the crown and the Commons. Of this matter, however, the members were not generally aware on this 2nd of September 1835; and a third notice of motion was added to those of Mr. Roebuck and Mr. Hume. Mr. Cuthbert Rippon gave notice that, next session, he should ask leave to bring in a bill to relieve the archbishops and bishops from their attendance in the House of Lords.

After the prorogation, the various political parties and leaders were watched with anxiety by the enlightened Liberals of the country, who saw that something must be done to remove the obstructive quality of the peers, if the legislation of the country was to proceed at all, in pursuance of the purposes of the Reform Bill. The ministers were watched. Some of them used strong language on public occasions respecting the recent conduct of the obstructive peers; and on Mr. O'Connell's return to Ireland, after his 'mission' was concluded, he was invited to dine with the lord-lieutenant-an incident which was regarded by the Tory peers as a declaration of war on the part of the viceroy. On the other hand, Lord John Russell made a public and emphatic avowal that he was opposed to all further organic change; and the government newspapers declared, now without comment, and now with expressions of regret, that no views of any important modification of the structure of the Upper House were at present held by the administration. Few of any party doubted that Lord John Russell would learn to see the necessity of reform, by some means or other. There was a strong party in parliament, and a large body of the nation occupied in thinking of what should be VOL. III.

done; and, on the whole, the conclusion, in the autumn of 1835, was that the subject was ripe for discussion; but that it must take more than one session to bring the matter to a practical issue. There were few who imagined how prodigiously the inflation of the insolent section of the peers would have subsided, without danger of organic change, before the close of the next session.

On the 26th of April 1836, Mr. Rippon made his promised motion to release the spiritual peers from their attendance in parliament. It was opposed by Lord John Russell on the plea that it would lead to no practical result. On a division, 53 members voted with Mr. Rippon, and 180 against him. In May, Mr. O'Connell gave notice of his intention to introduce his proposal to make the Upper House elective. Some laughed-laughed in loud shouts; and others were very grave, thinking the matter too serious, in the existing state of affairs, for laughter, One member, Mr. G. Price, wished to move that the notice should be expunged from the notice-book; but here Lord John Russell interposed in defence of the right of the Commons to entertain any proposition for what any member might consider a reform in any branch of the legislature, even if it should extend to regulating the succession of the throne; in which he was clearly supported by historical precedent. Mr. Price withdrew The question, however, was not brought on, his motion. the events of the close of the session rendering any further humiliation of the obstructive peers unnecessary. Sir. W. Molesworth, who knew more of the singular history than almost any one, quietly dropped the motion for peerage reform of which he had given notice for 1837. But the bishops were not yet to be left in peace. Mr. Charles Lushington moved, on the 16th of February, for the exclusion of the spiritual peers from the Upper House, and was ably supported by Mr. Charles Buller, whose opinion was that the bishops had abundant employment elsewhere; that they were seldom prepared to enlighten legislation on subjects which lay peculiarly within their province; and that they were invariably found voting with the minister who gave them their sees. Lord John Russell opposed the motion with the question;

Where, if parliament once began to modify the constitution of the country, would they stop?-How far would they go ?-- a question which Mr. Buller declared to be easily answered. They would go only as far as the door of the House of Lords, to show the bishops out, and then leave them to go where they pleased. He, who had a great respect for the bishops, thought them most honourably seated in their own dioceses, where they had as much business to do as would quite engross them. On this occasion, 92 members voted with the reforming mover, and 197 against him. One more attack was made on the functions of the peers in May of the same session, when Mr. Duncombe proposed the abolition of the Lords' privilege of voting by proxy. The resolution was thus worded : 'That the practice of any deliberative assembly deciding by proxy upon the rejection or adoption of legislative enactments, is so incompatible with every principle of justice and reason, that its continuance is daily becoming a source of serious and well-founded complaint among all classes of his majesty's subjects.' It was shown that when the practice of voting by proxy began, in the time of Edward L, the proxies were men of lower rank, sent as messengers by the nobles who could not attend in person; and that it was not till the reign of Henry VIIL that the abuse crept in of allowing one peer to represent others. When, in the time of Charles I., the Duke of Buckingham held fourteen proxies, the evil was so evident as to cause an order to be passed that no peer should henceforth hold more than two proxies. In modern days, when legislation has become immediately interesting and important to the great mass of the people, the practice of proxy-voting has become more indefensible than ever; and yet the safeguard was withdrawn of the king's licence being a condition of a peer's absence. Lord Stanley and Sir R. Peel met the argument by likening proxy-voting to the custom of pairing in the Commons. The analogy was shown not to be a true one; and if it had been, the obvious reply would have been: 'Then abolish the custom of pairing, except on individual occasions.' The majority of 48 against the motion was formed by the official Whigs and their dependents, so that

s 2

the state of the question appeared by no means desperate. But again, events were occurring which deferred the controversy to a future time.

Such was the course of the mildest of the three 'revolutionary' movements of the period—that in which the sober and educated classes of the community reflected the far more serious agitation which was going forward on either hand.

It was at this period that men who went among the working-classes of the great towns first began to speak of Chartism, Chartists, and the charter. Some in higher ranks now and then asked what the words meant; but too many in every station-especially, too many in the ranks of government-did not look closely into it, but dismissed the matter as a thing low and disagreeable, and sure to come to nothing, from its extreme foolishness. It is the year 1838 before we find the word 'Chartism' in the Annual Register; yet, long before that, Chartism had become the chief object in life to a not inconsiderable portion of the English nation. And when it came to be a word in the index of the Annual Register, government and their friends regarded it as a 'topic of the day.' When the great national petition, bound with iron hoops, was carried, like a coffin, by four men from its waggon into the House of Commons, ministers and their friends looked upon the show as upon an incident of that vulgar excitement which poor Radicals like or need, as the tippler likes or needs his dram. Reckoning on the fickleness of the multitude, they pronounced that Chartism would soon be extinct; and then, that it was extinct. Their attorneygeneral, Sir John Campbell, in a sort of declaratory ministerial speech at a public breakfast at Edinburgh, declared Chartism to be 'extinct,' shortly before the Monmouth The chief law-officer of the government gloried rebellion. in the supremacy of loyalty, law, and order, immediately before the breaking out of a long-planned rebellion, of which every possible warning had been given, in the form of preceding riots! The newspapers agreed with the government, and government took its information from the newspapers; and thus, from year to year, was Chartism declared to be extinct, while we, in the present day, have

CHARTISM.

the amplest evidence that it is as much alive as ever. And, as it is living so long after the announcement that it was dead, so was it living long before it was declared to be born. When government and London were at last obliged to take heed to it, they found that their tares were ready for harvest, and that long ago the enemy had been sowing them while they slept. While they slept, literally as well as metaphorically; for the gatherings and speechifyings had been by torchlight on the northern moors and the Welsh hillsides. There were stirrings certainly as early as the date before us—the years 1835-36.

And what were these stirrings? What was it all about? The difficulty of understanding and telling the story is from its comprehending so vast a variety of things and persons. Those who have not looked into Chartism think that it means one thing-a revolution. Some who talk as if they assumed to understand it, explain that Chartism is of two kinds-physical-force Chartism, and moral-force Chartisin-as if this were not merely an intimation of two ways of pursuing an object yet undescribed! Those who look deeper-who go out upon the moors by torchlight, who talk with a suffering brother under the hedge or beside the loom, who listen to the groups outside the union workhouse, or in the public-house among the Durham coal-pits, will long feel bewildered as to what Chartism is, and will conclude at last that it is another name for popular discontent-a comprehensive general term under which are included all protests against social suffering. And thus it was at the date before us, whether or not it be so now.

There were men among the working-classes, soundheaded and sound-hearted, wanting nothing but a wider social knowledge and experience to make them fit and safe guides of their order—some few of them not deficient even in these—who saw that the Reform Bill was, if not a failure in itself, a failure in regard to the popular expectation from it. If it was all that its framers meant it to be, they must give a supplement. A vast proportion of the people—the very part of the nation whose representation was most important to the welfare of the state—were not represented at all. As a sage expressed the matter for

them not long afterwards: 'A reformed parliament, one would think, should inquire into popular discontents before they get the length of pikes and torches! For what end at all are men, honourable members and reform members, sent to St. Stephen's with clamour and effort; kept talking, struggling, motioning and counter-motioning? The condition of the great body of people in a country is the condition of the country itself: this you would say is a truism in all times; a truism rather pressing to get recognised as a truth now, and be acted upon, in these times. Yet read Hansard's debates, or the morning papers. if you have nothing to do! The old grand question, whether A is to be in office or B, with the innumerable subsidiary questions growing out of that, courting paragraphs and suffrages for a blessed solution of that-Canada question, Irish appropriation question, West India question, queen's bedchamber question; game-laws, usury-laws; African blacks, hill coolies, Smithfield cattle, and dogcarts-all manner of questions and subjects, except simply this, the alpha and omega of all! Surely honourable members ought to speak of the condition-of-England question too-Radical members, above all; friends of the people; chosen with effort, by the people, to interpret and articulate the dumb, deep want of the people! To a remote observer they seem oblivious of their duty. Are they not there, by trade, mission, and express appointment of themselves and others, to speak for the good of the British nation? Whatsoever great British interest can the least speak for itself, for that beyond all they are called to speak. They are either speakers for that great dumb toiling class which cannot speak, or they are nothing that one can well specify. Alas, the remote observer knows not the nature of parliaments; how parliaments, extant there for the British nation's sake, find that they are extant withal for their own sake; how parliaments travel so naturally in their deep-rutted routine, commonplace worn into ruts axle-deep, from which only strength, insight, and courageous generous exertion can lift any parliament or vehicle; how in parliament, reformed or unreformed, there may chance to be a strong man, an original, clear-sighted, great-hearted, patient and valiant

man, or to be none such.' The men we have spoken ofsoon confounded in the group of Chartist leaders-felt and knew such things as Carlyle has here set down for them; felt that parliament had not done what was needed --- that the people's story had not been told there--- that the 'strong man' had not yet appeared there; and their conclusion was, that they might try and get the duty of parliament better done. They might possibly expect too much from the means they proposed-extension of the suffrage, shortening of parliaments, protected voting, and establishing a control over representatives, and opening a wider field of choice of such, by paying the expenses of their function; they might possibly expect too much from these aims; but it is a libel upon the best class of Chartist leaders to say that they expected from these aims all that they wanted. These men were the heartiest and truest advocates in the country of universal education. They saw more clearly than anybody else, and lamented more deeply, the miseries arising from popular ignorance. They mourned over the murders and vitriol-throwing of the operatives who were enslaved by mercenary delegates ; they mourned over the fate of the followers of 'Messiah Thom:' they mourned over the nightly drillings on the heath, with pike and bludgeon; they mourned over the nature of the opposition to the new poor-law, when crowds of thousands of men, who could never be called together egain to be disabused, were assured by orators whom they took for educated men, that under the new poor-law every poor man's fourth child was strangled, and that none but the rich were henceforth to have more than three children. They did more than mourn—they spent their hard earnings, their spare hours, their sleeping hours, their health, their repose, to promote the education which the state did not give. By wonderful efforts, they established schools, institutes, lecture and reading rooms, and circulated knowledge among their class in every way they could think of. Such were some of the body soon to be called Chartists—as soon as their political ideas had resolved themselves into the form of a charter which the people might demand. These men were all radical reformers. They saw little to choose between the Tories and the

Whigs. As we again find their ideas expressed for them : ⁶ Why all this struggle for the *name* of a reform ministry ? Let the Tories be ministry, if they will; let at least some living reality be ministry! A rearing horse that will only run backward, he is not the horse one would choose to travel on; yet of all conceivable horses the worst is the dead horse. Mounted on a rearing horse, you may back him, spur him, check him, make a little way even backwards; but scated astride of your dead horse, what chance is there for you in the chapter of possibilities? These men wanted a strong, steady-going progression; and they would have therefore neither the pomp and prancings of Toryism, nor the incapacity of Whiggism. They were radical reformers.

Another set were Tories-Tory agitators who went about to raise the people against the new poor-law, and divert them from the aim of repealing the corn-laws. These men, guilty or stupid, according as they were or were not really the reverends and esquires that the mob believed them to be, were the orators on the moors by torchlight. These were the men who taught in those thronged meetings that the poor-law was a system of wholesale murder; and that no one could blame a poor man who carried a knife in his bosom for the workhouse official who should attempt to part him from his wife. These were the men who represented the whole class of manufacturers as devils who caused children to be tortured in factories for their own amusement; and too often the declamation ended with a hint that the hearers evidently knew how to get torches, and that factories would burn. These were the men who warned their hearers against a repeal of the corn-laws, because these laws were the last restraint on the power of the mill-owners. These rabid and ranting Tories were another class of Chartists.

There were thousands who knew little about themselves except that they were very hungry and miserable. A landed proprietor now and then, here and there, said in the House pretty things about the sun of Christ's natalday gilding the humble thatch of the labourer at the same moment with the spire of the church and the windows of the mansion—intending to convey that the joyousness of Christmas was shared by all ranks; while, the very next Christmas, in the very county, the very parish of these orators, the labourers were shivering without fire —cowering under a corner of the decaying thatch which let in snow and rain upon their straw litters—and hungering over the scantiest morsels of dry bread; one neighbour in four or eight, perhaps, having a slice of bacon, and a fire whereon to cook it. Such parishes as these furnished a contingent to the Chartist force haggard wretches, ready to be called by any political name which might serve as a ticket to better cheer in life than they had found.

Largest of all was the number of those who ought not to have felt themselves under any immediate pressure of wrong at all. There were many thousands of factory operatives, of Welsh, Durham, and Cumberland colliers. and others, who were far from poor, if only they had been wise enough to see their condition as it was. But they were not wise enough; and that they were not, was their social wrong. Of these, great numbers had a larger annual income than very many clergymen, half-pay officers, educators, and fundholders, who are called gentlemen; but they did not know how to regard and manage their own case: they reckoned their income by the week instead of by the year, and spent it within the week; had nothing to reply when asked, in a time of prosperity, why they who worked so hard had not mansions and parks like people who did nothing; and, in a pinching time, when hungry and idle at once, with hungry children crying in their cold homes, were too ready to believe, as desired, that every other man's fire, and food, and cheerfulness were so much out of their pockets. By no act of the state could these men have been blessed with higher wages; but if the state would have educated them, they might have found themselves abundantly blessed in their present gains; they might have sat, in their school-days, on the same bench with the curate, and the seaman, and the schoolmaster, and the tradesman, whom they were now envying and hating; and might now have been content, like them, with the position which was 'neither poverty nor riches.' But the state had left them ignorant;

and here they were, drilling on a hillside, and plotting to burn, slay, and overthrow. They had an indistinct but fixed idea that there was unbounded wealth everywhere for everybody, if only there were no tyrants to intercept it: and there can be no wonder in any sympathising mind and heart, that a man in a desolate home, without occupation, and suffering under that peculiar state of brain caused by insufficiency of food, becomes a torch-bearing Chartist, or anything else, however clear it may be that the money he had earned might, if wisely managed, have made him a ten-pound householder, exercising the suffrage, and a capitalist, giving education to his children.

It was but lately that the king's speech had intimated the prosperity of commerce and manufactures, while agriculture was grievously depressed. But already there was some sense abroad of evil to come. Trade slackened and became irregular, and the most sagacious men of business began to apprehend that a new term of commercial distress was setting in. They were right; only their apprehensions did not compass anything like the truth. It is well that they did not; for a mere glimpse of the horrors of the seven years to come would have been too much for the courage of any but the boldest of the enterprising classes of British merchants and manufacturers. Though they saw little, they soon began to feel uneasy, with an uneasiness far transcending any reason that they could give for it. As yet, wages were scarcely lowered, though profits were sensibly sinking; but the employed assumed a new air to their employers, in many a town and factory district in England-a sauciness that seemed to say they felt themselves injured, and were not going to put up with it long. This was the temper which was fast growing into the Chartism of 1839. But that seven years' distress brought out an opposite

class of facts of the most cheering nature, as we shall see under their date. We shall see, hereafter, something of the marvellous and sublime patience of the working-classes under a trial which might well be thought too sore for human endurance. This patience was in precise proportion, and in the clearest connection, with the knowledge by this time gained by the working-class most

concerned-that there is no such thing as an inexhaustible fund of wealth, and that no tyrants were standing between them and comfort. The patient class knew that they had had their share-as shares are at present naturally apportioned; they could and did live for a long series of months on the savings they had made; and when at last they were left bare, they knew that the richest capitalists were sinking too. Of this class many hundreds were Chartists; but they did not carry pikes and torches, to avenge discontents of their own. The people's charter was then in existence; and their aim was to carry that. It would give them, as they believed, a parliament which would understand their case, and cure many evils under which they were suffering. And some had visions of an association of small capitalists, who might defy the fickleness of fortune; and som dreamed of buying a field and being safe and in harbour there, through some wonderful skill and simple arrangements of Chartist leaders. But these were not the revolutionary Chartists who were at work, burrowing in the foundations of society at the date before us. The better class came in later-after the promulgation of the charter-as, indeed, did many of the worst; but, in 1835 and 1836, the boring was begun, and the train was laying, which produced, for one result among many, the explosion at Monmouth in 1839.

The revolutionary movement referred to as occurring at the other end of society was one which it would be scarcely possible to credit now, but for the body of documentary evidence which leaves no shadow of doubt on any of the principal features of the conspiracy. The whole affair appears so unsuited to our own time, and the condition of our monarchy—so like a plunge back into a former century—that all the superiority of documentary evidence of which we have the advantage is needed to make the story credible to quiet people who do not dream of treason-plots and civil war in England in our day.

A month before Sir R. Peel's resignation in the spring of 1835, the Liberal party throughout the country were surprised by the appearance of a sudden fit of captiousness and pertinacity in some of their representatives, in teasing the ministers about the reception of addresses from Orange

societies to the king. From the temper of the time in the House, and especially among the opposition, any captiousness must have been great indeed which could have struck everybody as remarkable. Member after member rose to cross-examine the ministers-who themselves could have hardly understood the proceeding-as to whether the addresses purported to be from Orange societies: whether the king could or ought to receive addresses from associations of declared illegality; whether the replies given had really, as the newspapers said, been avowedly gracious; whether the graciousness had been connected with a recognition of the parties as Orangemen; and finally, and very seriously, whether Mr. Goulburn, as minister of the crown, considered an Orange lodge to be legal or illegal, and whether he was prepared to justify the presentation of an address from such a society to the sovereign. The ministers were probably surprised and perplexed, beginning to see that this was a matter of high importance, but hardly understanding why or how; for no one of them rose for a considerable time. After the dead silence in which the question had been listened to, and the rising of the minister looked for, vociferous cheers from the opposition filled the House when he did not rise. At length Mr. Goulburn made his answer. The reply to the addresses was intended as an acknowledgment of their receipt, and not as any recognition of the legality of the party name by which the signers might designate themselves. Cheering no less loud followed the reply. Perhaps no cheers given in that House-not even those which signalised the passage of the Reform Bill-ever carried such anxiety and pain to the hearts of certain of the Tory peers, and especially of the highest prince of the blood, the eldest of the king's brothers. He and some others of the peers could very well understand what all this might mean, while it was a singular mystery to the country at large.

The country at large knew little about Orange societies, except that the Orangemen in Ireland were proud of their loyalty, and made conspicuous processions on great Protestant occasions, and were ever and anon coming to blows with the Catholics. Orangeism belonged excluСилр. V.]

ORANGEISM.

sively to Ireland, in the general mind. People generally would have stared to hear that Orangeism was in England. Scotland, and the colonies, and that it constituted an army of itself, in the midst of the military forces of the Orangeism was exclusively Irish at first-in empire. 1795, when it was first heard of. Before that time, the Protestants who patrolled the country, to prevent the scizure of arms by the Catholics in the night, in preparation for their insurrection, bore the name of 'Peep-o'day Boys.' The Catholics, who organised themselves against these patrolling bands, called themselves 'Defenders,' and soon extended the term to include the defence of 'the united nations of France and Ireland.' As soon as the aim of a union with France was avowed, and a descent of the French upon the coasts of Ireland was expected, the Protestants began to improve and extend their organisation, in the hope of preserving the union with England. They would have taken the title of 'Defenders,' but that their adversaries already bore it. They reverted to the period of the bringing in of a Protestant sovereign over the head of the Catholic James II., and called themselves Orangemen. Such, at least, is the traditionary account in the district where Orangeism sprang up. The Diamond-a little hamlet, about five miles from Armagh, where a conflict took place in 1795, which is called the battle of the Diamond-is assigned as the birthplace of Orangeism. A few yeomen and farmers joined for mutual defence and the assertion of British rights, after the battle of the Diamond; and this was the first Orange lodge. The gentry saw what this might grow to, and encouraged the formation of lodges, and the promulgation of rules. As Presbyterians abounded in that part of the country, they formed the main element of the societies; and it is said that the religious observances of the Orange lodges, which afterwards degenerated into a subject of scandal when Dissenters were no longer admitted, were introduced originally by them. The Orangemen of Ireland were the deadly foes of the 'United Irishmen,' and the most effective check upon them, and they have even claimed the credit of having preserved Ireland to England.

Perhaps it was through the connection of some English noblemen with Irish property that Orange institutions were introduced into England. Lodges were at first held in England under Irish warrants; but in 1808, a lodge was founded in Manchester, and warrants were issued for the holding of lodges under the English authority. On the death of the grand-master at Manchester, the lodge was removed to London, in 1821, and the meetings were held at the house of Lord Kenyon, who was deputygrand-master. The Duke of York was to have been grand-master; but he found that the law-officers of the crown considered the institution an illegal one. The rules were modified so as to meet the terms of the law. The act which prohibited political societies in Ireland from 1825 to 1828, appeared to dissolve Orangeism there for the time; but lodges were held under English warrants; and in 1828, the whole organisation sprang up, as vigorous as ever, on the expiration of the act. At this time, the entire institution, in Great Britain and Ireland, came under the direction of the Duke of Cumberland, as grand-master. The critical part of the history, as regards England, lies between the years 1828 and 1836. In 1829, when the Duke of York was gone, and the king had given the royal assent to the Emancipation Act, the Orangemen seem to have lost their senses, as they certainly lost their loyalty. The proofs of this which came out in 1835, when the Orangemen on our side the Irish Channel numbered 140,000-40,000 of whom were in Londonbewildered the nation with amazement.

In 1828, on the accession of the Duke of Cumberland to the throne of Orangeism, he sent forth, under a commission of the great seal--'given under my seal, at St. James's, this 13th day of August 1828. Ernest, G.M.'-a certain person, chosen 'from a knowledge of his experience, and a confidence in his integrity,' the 'trusty, well-beloved, and right-worshipful brother, Lieutenant-Colonel Fairman.' This person, thus chosen and confided in by the Duke of Cumberland, had a plenary authority, declared in the commission under the great seal of the order, to establish Orangeism wherever he could, and by whatever means he thought proper. He went to Dublin, in order to bring

the Irish and English lodges into one perfect system of secret signs and passwords; and he made two extensive tours in England and Scotland, to visit and establish lodges in all the large towns and populous neighbourhoods where he believed he could bring the people to 'rally round the throne and the Church'-to use the language of the party and the time. The nation at large saw no particular occasion for rallying round the throne, as it seemed to them that the House of Brunswick never was safer. But the Orange leaders, apparently driven frantic by the reforms of the time, were of a different opinion. They actually got it into their heads, at the time when the Duke of Wellington was carrying the Catholic Emancipation Act, and George IV. was evidently sinking, that the Duke of Wellington himself meant to seize the crown. Men laughed when they first heard this, and men will always laugh whenever they hear it; but that such were the apprehensions of the Orange leaders is shown by correspondence in Colonel Fairman's handwriting, which was brought before the parliamentary committee of 1835. The following is an extract from a letter evidently designed for the Grand-master Ernest himself, and written during the last illness of George IV .: 'Should an indisposition, which has agitated the whole country for a fortnight, take a favourable turn-should the Almighty in His mercy give ear unto the supplications that to His heavenly throne are offered up daily, to prolong the existence of one deservedly dear to the nation at largea divulgement I have expressed a willingness to furnish would be deprived of no small portion of its value. Even in this case, an event, for the consummation of which, in common with all good subjects, I obtest the Deity, it might be as well your royal highness should be put in possession of the rash design in embryo, the better to enable you to devise measures for its frustration; at any rate, you would not then be taken by surprise, as the nation was last year, but might have an opportunity of rallying your forces and of organising your plans for the defeat of such machinations as might be hostile to your paramount claims. Hence, should the experiment be made, and its expediency be established, your royal high-

ness would be in a situation to contend for the exercise in your own person of that office at which the wild ambition of another may prompt him to aspire.' Who this 'other' was is plainly expressed in two subsequent letters. It was Wellington !- the devoted Wellington, who perilled his reputation for consistency, and what his party call political honour, over and over again, rather than 'desert his sovereign.' Wellington lived to have this said of him by a man claiming to be a colonel in his own 'perfect machine' of an army. In a letter from Fairman to Sir James Cockburn, in which he gives a most imposing account of the numbers and discipline of the Orange forces in Ireland and Great Britain, he speaks of grovelling worms who dare to vie with the omnipotence of Heaven; and of one among them he writes thus: 'One, moreover, of whom it might ill become me to speak but in terms of reverence. has nevertheless been weak enough to ape the coarseness of a Cromwell, thus recalling the recollection to what would have been far better left in oblivion. His seizure of the diadem, with his planting it upon his brow, was a precocious sort of self-inauguration.' This seems a subject for fun-for a caricature of the day-so admirably is the charge in opposition to all the Duke of Wellington's tendencies; but there were some things in connection with this matter too serious to be laughed at. At the first hint of treason, men were roused to indignation on behalf of the good-natured King William, of whom it had been in contemplation to dispose so easily; and much more strongly did their affections spring to guard from insult and injury the fatherless young princess whose rights were thus dealt with by that trusty and well-beloved brother Fairman, whom the Duke of Cumberland sent forth as his representative. On this letter being published, people began to understand the strange proceedings, and the violence of the debate about a regency, after the accession of William IV. And on this letter being published, people began to remember how, from one occasion to another, rumours of the insanity of King William came floating abroad from the recesses of Toryism, till exploded by contact with free air and daylight. The letter is dated April 6, 1830-during the last illness of

George IV.—and it is addressed to the editor of the Morning Herald:

DEAR SIR-From those who may be supposed to have opportunities of knowing "the secrets of the castle," the king is stated to be by no manner in so alarming a state as many folks would have it imagined. His majesty is likewise said to dictate the bulletins of his own state of health. Some whisperings have also gone abroad, that in the event of the demise of the crown, a regency would probably be established, for reasons which occasioned the removal of the next in succession from the office of highadmiral. That a maritime government might not prove consonant to the views of a military chieftain of the most unbounded ambition, may admit of easy belief; and as the second heir-presumptive is not alone a female, but a minor, in addition to the argument which might be applied to the present, that in the ordinary course of nature it was not to be expected that his reign could be of long duration, in these disjointed times it is by no means unlikely a vicarious form of government may be attempted. The effort would be a bold one, but after the measures we have seen, what new violations should surprise us? Besides, the popular plea of economy and expedience might be urged as the pretext, while aggrandisement and usurpation might be the latent sole motive. It would only be necessary to make out a plausible case, which, from the facts on record, there could be no difficulty in doing, to the satisfaction of a pliable and obsequious set of ministers, as also to the success of such an experiment.-Most truly yours, W. B. F.

There is nothing to wonder at now in the pertinacity with which the opposition questioned the Peel ministry about Orange addresses. Mr. Hume had got hold of these letters of 1830-31, and the members who cheered so loudly on the perplexity of the ministers, were aware how the loyal Orangemen nad listened to suggestions for making the Duke of Cumberland king, to prevent the usurpation of the crown by the Duke of Wellington—for expecting that William IV. would be superseded on an allegation of insanity, and the Princess Victoria because she was a vol. 11.

woman and probably still a minor. If the Orangemen, with all their importance of rank, wealth and numberswith their array of British peers, and their army of 140,000 men, avowedly ready for action-could have shown that they did not listen to such suggestions, and that Colonel Fairman was a crack-brained adventurer, with whose wild notions they had no concern, they would assuredly have done so. But it was impossible: the proof was too strong the other way. The letters cited above were written in 1830-31; and a long array of correspondence shows that the trusted and beloved William Blennerhassett Fairman lost no ground with the heads of the party by his speculations. Some of the most offensive suggestions were set forth in 'a series of essays.' written at the request of a noble lord, for that noble lord's information-that noble lord being Lord Kenyon; and these essays were handed over to the Duke of Cumberland, who kept them by him. In December 1831, and in January 1832, Colonel Fairman had long and confidential conversations with the Duke of Cumberland at Kew; and there were more such interviews in February. On the 19th of the next April. Colonel Fairman was unanimously elected to the most important office in the society-that of deputy-grandthe present Duke of Buckingham being secretary: Colonel Fairman was nominated by the Duke secretary. of Cumberland, seconded by Lord Kenyon, and supported by the Duke of Gordon. In June, Colonel Fairman went forth on his mission among the lodges, furnished by the Duke of Cumberland with powers so extensive as to render it a serious and difficult matter to draw up his commission.

It is under this date that Lord Londonderry appears on the scene. Before leaving London on this mission, Colonel Fairman learned from the lips of the Duke of Cumberland, as he declared, that he had written to Lord Londonderry on Orange affairs, and Colonel Fairman therefore wrote with more explicitness, he says, than he should otherwise have done. The subject is establishing Orange clubs among the pitmen on the estates of the marquis; and his lordship's agent and Colonel Fairman had already been consulting about it. Considering the 'popish cabinet and democratical ministry,' with which the country was oppressed, Colonel Fairman thought fit to suggest in this letter: 'By a rapid augmentation of our physical force, we might be able to assume a boldness of attitude which should command the respect of our Jacobinical rulers. . . . If we prove not too strong for such a government as the present is, such a government will soon prove too strong for us; some arbitrary step would be taken in this case, for the suspension of our meetings. Hence the necessity for our laying aside that non-resistance, that passive obedience, which has hitherto been religiously enforced, to our own discomfiture.' He further relates how he was reproached by Lord Longford, in a long conversation, the day before, for the tameness of the British Orangemen, while the Irish were resolved to resist all attempts to put them. down. In a short letter, a few days afterwards, he says he writes to supply an omission-he had forgotten to say that the Orange leaders had the military with them : 'We have the military with us, as far as they are at liberty to avow their principles and sentiments; but since the lamented death of the Duke of York, every impediment has been thrown in the way of their holding a lodge.' It will be remembered that the Duke of York withdrew from his intended position of grand-master on being assured of the illegality of the association. We have the answer of the Marquis of Londonderry to the above letters; the purport of which is that he had consulted Lord Kenyon. who hoped to convince the Duke of Cumberland that ' the moment had not arrived,' owing to the refractory state of the pitmen, and the Whig temper of the county ; but, says the last sentence, 'I will lose no opportunity of embracing any opening that may arise.' Lord Londonderry admitted in the House of Lords all the facts of this correspondence. only explaining that the Duke of Cumberland's wishes were made known to him through Lord Kenyon, and not by interview or letter. In the same month of August in which his commission bears date, there is a letter of Fairman's to the Duke of Gordon, in answer to an invitation to Gordon Castle, in which he anticipates that 'we shall be assuming, I think, such an attitude of boldness as will strike the foe with awe; but we inculcate the doc-

т 2

trine of passive obedience and of non-resistance too religiously by far.' He has letters, he says, written 'in the highest spirits,' from Lords Kenyon and Londonderry, Longford and Cole; and he declares his expectation of an approaching crisis. It was after all this that he still went to Kew. and 'was closeted three hours' with his royal highness. It was after these things-namely, on October 24 of the same year-that Lord Wynford wrote to Colonel Fairman in praise of the Duke of Cumberland, and that 'the Tories have not been sufficiently grateful to him :' winding up with the following words: 'As you are so obliging in your last letter as to ask my advice as to whether you should pursue the course you have so ably begun, I can only say that you must exercise your discretion as to the company in which you make such appeals as that which I have seen reported. When you meet only sure Tories, you may well make them feel what they owe to one who is the constant, unflinching champion of the party, and who, by his steady course, has brought on himself all the obloquy that a base, malignant faction can Colonel Fairman quoted Lord Wynford and invent.' Lord Kenyon to each other as consulted by him, 'on the propriety of my continuing to introduce the duke's name in the prominent shape I had previously done.' 'If he [the duke] would but make a tour into these parts,' continues the colonel, 'for which I have prepared the way, he would be idolised.' By 'these parts 'he means Doncaster. whose maudlin loyalty-such loyalty as he sawthe tears of the gentlemen, which made him 'play the woman'-the enthusiasm of the 'noble dames,' whom he compliments with the title of 'the blue belles of Yorkshire'--- is described in a letter too absurd to have been penned by the confidential agent of princes and lords on the gravest political matters. It was a grave affair to the private interests of some of the brethren, if we may judge by a letter of Lord Kenyon's to Colonel Fairman, in January 1833. 'The good cause,' writes his lordship, 'is worth all the help that man can give it, but our only trust must be in God. In the last two years and a half I shall have spent, I suspect, in its behalf nearer £20,000 than £10,000.' We find the Orange peers continuing

their confidence to Colonel Fairman up to the time of the demand of a parliamentary committee. Lord Roden writes to him about 'our cause.' Lord Kenyon confides to him his views of the comparative influence of some Scotch peers, and observes: 'It is a great pity, too, that the amiable Duke of Buccleuch does not see the immense importance of his sanctioning such a cause as the Orange cause.' Lord Thomond writes to him about his subscription in England and Ireland. Lord Wynford reports to him, in April 1834, a private consultation between the Duke of Cumberland, Lord Kenyon, and himself, about the purchase of a newspaper, and declares it highly probable that something would soon be done about it by the Carlton Club. Another 'sound paper, as well as the Morning Post,' was wanted; and the Age had previously been thought of; its 'scurrility' and 'looseness of principle' being admitted, but Lord Kenyon not admitting, 'as some do, that the private characters of public men ought to be considered sacred against all attack.' This newspaper, the Age, was at that precise date occupying itself, week by week, with exhibiting the personal infirmities and peculiarities of the Whig ministers-the baldness, the lameness, the nervous twitchings, the shortsightedness, and so on. Lord Kenyon seems to have considered these things as belonging to private character-'not to be considered sacred against all attack.' But the subject of the moralities of the Orange leaders is too large a one to be entered upon here. The gleanings which might be made from the evidence of the report would afford material for a curious inquiry into the theory of Christianity, held by men whose boast-by the mouth of Lord Kenyon-was: 'Ours is the cause of all friends of Christianity;' and whose most Christian hope was of ' the arrival of a day of reckoning,' when certain ' hell-hounds' would 'be called on to pay the full penalty of their cold-blooded tergiversations.' So late as July 27, 1834, we find the Duke of Gordon confiding to Colonel Fairman his gladness 'that the unprincipled ministers remain to do more mischief; as yet we are not ready for a change.' It is clear that there could be no attempt on the part of the Orange leaders to repudiate Colonel Fairman as their confidential agent; and when all this correspondence, and much more, was laid before the parliamentary committee, it became a matter of serious consideration how to proceed.

There was much more behind. It was important to know what was 'the prominent shape' that the agent gave to the name of the Duke of Cumberland, in his assemblages of Orangemen, throughout his tour. It was charged upon Fairman, by an Orangeman of the name of Haywood, that he had sounded his hearers at Sheffield and elsewhere on their willingness to support the Duke of Cumberland as their sovereign, if, as was probable, William IV. should be deposed for his assent to the Reform Bill. Colonel Fairman denied this; but his word did not go for much with those who had read his correspondence, nor with any who knew that it had been proved in a court of justice that he had given a false address to get rid of a troublesome creditor.

Again, it was discovered that of the 381 lodges existing in Great Britain, 30 were in the army; and that lodges existed among the troops at Bermuda, Gibraltar, Malta, Corfu, New South Wales, Van Diemen's Land, and our The Duke of Cumberland and North American colonies. Lord Kenyon positively asserted that they were ignorant of the fact of the existence of an Orange organisation at all in the army. But in the correspondence we find Lord Kenyon writing to the colonel: 'His royal highness promises being in England a fortnight before parliament assembles. To him, privately, you had better address yourself about your military proposition, which to me appears very judicious.' Again, 'The statement you made to me before, and respecting which I have now before me particulars from Portsmouth, should be referred to his royal highness, as military matters of great delicacy. At the same time, private intimation, I submit, should be made to the military correspondents, letting them know how highly we esteem them as brethren.' Again, 'If you hear anything further from the military districts, let his royal highness know all particulars fit to be communicated.' So much for Lord Kenyon's ignorance of Orangeism in the army! But there was, as regarded the duke, more direct evidence in the records of the lodge-meetings at CHAP. V]

DETECTION.

which he presided, and himself granted new warrants to soldiers present, some of which are actually entitled 'military warrants.' The military lodges were entered in the books, noticed by the circular-reports of the meetings where the Duke of Cumberland presided; and the laws and ordinances, containing provisions for attracting soldiers and sailors by a remission of the fees, are declared to have been inspected and approved by the duke, and handed over to Lord Kenyon for final supervision. Thus it is not wonderful that the committee reported : 'That they find it most difficult to reconcile statements in evidence before them, with ignorance of these proceedings on the part of Lord Kenyon, and by His Royal Highness the Duke of Cumberland.'

Such was the dealing of these loyal leaders with the army. As for the Church, they had the bishop of Salisbury for lord prelate and grand-chaplain of the order; and there were twelve or thirteen deputy grand-chaplains, and clergymen as masters of lodges and managers of their Not a single minister of religion out of the affairs. Establishment belonged to the order in England. The religious observances, conducted by the clergymen, bore but too close a resemblance to the mummeries of the poor Dorsetshire labourers; as did the proceedings altogether, in their illegality. In one of the circulars, the clergy are invited to come in, and take appointments, with the notification that no salary was attached to office, but that it might lead to patronage. In one of these circulars, the position of the Church, in the eyes of Orangemen of the period, is described in language too indecent for quotation. As for the rest, the grand lodge declared itself possessed of 'the facility of knowing the principles of every man in the country:' the institution excluded Roman Catholics and Dissenters, and included the most violent and unscrupulous of the peers; it numbered 140,000 actual members in Great Britian, and 175,000 in Ireland; it expelled members who voted for liberal candidates; it proposed the employment of physical force within a proximate time, to overthrow the liberal institutions which had just been gained; it was beginning to interfere with the common duties and rights of men-as when a lodge of pitmen in Scotland expelled a body of Catholics 'who had before lived and worked with them in peace and harmony;' and, at the latest date, it was found holding out threats to the half-pay of the army and navy, to draw them to itself in preference to other political unions. 'It is the bounden duty of such [pensioners and disbanded soldiers], in a crisis of danger like the present [February 1835], to enlist under the banners of a loyal association, instead of repairing to factious unions, no less hostile to sound policy than to true religion, at the imminent risk of incurring a just forfeiture of their hard-earned remunerations, of which a scrupulous government would not hesitate to deprive them. Of this intelligible hint the half-pay of the army and navy might do well to profit, in a prospective sense.'

Such was the institution—the great conspiracy against the national will and national interests—the conspiracy against the rights of all, from the king on the throne to the humblest voter, or soldier, or sailor, or Dissenter, cr 'atholic—which was discovered by the energy and diligence of Mr. Hume in 1835. Such as has been related was the information of which minds were full, on the opposition side of the House, when that scene of pertinacity was transacted which perplexed all who did not yet understand the case. The simple-minded king had been receiving, with studied graciousness, addresses from these illegal societies, in which the question of his deposition had certainly been agitated. The question was now, what should be done?

The seriousness of the question, and of the whole case, was relieved by the certainty, speedily obtained, that the institution, with its political objects, its signs and passwords, and its caths, was illegal. There was some reluctance, here and there, to admit the illegality; but the opinion of the most eminent lawyers soon settled the matter. It might be fortunate, too, that the seriousness of the case was relieved by the touches of the comic which we have encountered—the Duke of Wellington, of all people, crowning himself with the diadem; and the Doncaster loyalists—the 'blue belles of Yorkshire' smilling, and their fathers and brothers weeping, over that hero of romance, the Duke of Cumberland; and the style, both of letters and circulars, which must come in among the comic incidents of the case. The extreme silliness of the conspirators—a fair set-off, as it appears to us, against the ignorance of the Dorsetshire labourers—was another fortunate alleviation of the seriousness of the case; though it is no light matter to see so great a number of men some powerful through rank and wealth—playing the fool, and compelled virtually to petition to be thought fools, as the only alternative from the reputation of traitors. With all its nonsense, and looked at from any pinnacle of superiority, this was a very serious matter. How was it to be dealt with?

The first thing done was obtaining a committee of inquiry in the Commons, within three weeks after the scene of pertinacious questioning with which the revelations began. Before the committee had reported, portions of the evidence were published in the newspapers; and several people, besides Mr. Hume, thought that no time was to be lost in exposing and annihilating the illegal practice of maintaining political societies in the army. Amidst many complaints of his proceeding before the committee had reported, Mr. Hume moved eleven resolutions, on the 4th of August, declaratory of the facts of Orangeism, of its illegality in the army, according to the general orders issued by the commander-in-chief, in 1822 and 1829; and ending with a proposal of an address to the king, calling his attention to the whole subject, and especially to the Duke of Cumberland's share in the illegal transactions complained of. Mr. Hume's opponents alleged that the military warrants must have been misapplied without the knowledge of the chief officers of the association, whose signatures were given to blank warrants, in order to their being sent out in parcels of a hundred or two, in the confidence that they would be properly employed; and also, they declared that Orangeism in the army was a purely defensive measure, against Ribbon societies, and other secret associations, whose suppression they required, if Orange lodges were put down. To this there could be no objection in any quarter. The last of Mr. Hume's resolutions was objected to as conveying, inevitably, more or less censure on the Duke of Cumberland-a proceeding

which could not be justified before the delivery of the com-• mittee's report and evidence. Lord John Russell, who had to act and speak for the government in the Lower House, went through this affair with eminent prudence, courage, and moderation. The Whig administrations had been blamed by some parties in the House for supineness in permitting the pranks of the Orangemen for so long; and it was alleged that they had thought the organisation too formidable to be meddled with, during a season of political transition. It might be so. Certainly, the prudence, quietness, and guarded moderation of Lord John Russell throughout the whole transaction conveyed an impression that the affair was, in his view, one of extreme gravity, though he did not say so, but rather made as light of it. as circumstances would permit. He now moved that the debate should be adjourned to the 11th of August-that is, for a week-giving a broad hint to the Duke of Cumberland to use the time in withdrawing himself from all connection with the Orange Association.

The duke did not take the hint. He merely wrote and published a letter to the chairman of the committee, in which he denied having ever issued warrants to soldiers, or known of such being issued-declared that he had declined sending out military warrants, on the ground of their violation of the general orders of 1822 and 1829and intimated that all warrants inconsistent with those orders should be annulled. How the duke's denial was regarded by the committee, we have already seen, in a sentence of their report. Lord J. Russell had shown his prudence in the debate of the 4th; now, on the 11th, he showed his courage. He declared his impression that the duke had not done what the House had a right to expect from him. If the duke had merely signed blank warrants, and his Orange brethren had betrayed his confidence in filling them up in a manner which he was known to disapprove, the least he could have done would be to withdraw himself at once, and in a conspicuous manner, from persons who had so deceived him; but the duke appeared to have no intention of so withdrawing. Mr. Hume's last. resolution was therefore agreed to, with the omission of the assertion at the end that the warrants were designed for

282

the establishment of Orange lodges in the army. On the 15th, the king's reply was read to the House. It promised the utmost vigilance and vigour in suppressing political societies in the army. On the 19th, the House was informed that Colonel Fairman had refused to produce to the committee a letter-book which he acknowledged to be in his possession, and which was essential to the purposes of the committee. He was called before the House, where he repeated his refusal; was advised by some of the Orange members to yield up the book; persisted in his refusal; and was admonished by the speaker that he must obey the orders of the House. On the 20th, as it appeared that he was still contumacious, it was ordered that he should be committed to Newgate, for a breach of privilege; but by this time he had disappeared. The book was really much wanted. It was known to contain replies to letters in the hands of the committee on the establishment of Orange lodges in certain regiments at Gibraltar and elsewhere, and must afford information on the proceedings of the Orange missionary, named Uccalli, who had complained of the difficulty of establishing Orange lodges among the troops in the Ionian Islands, from the vigilant resistance of Lord Nugent and the other authorities. The committee earnestly desired to have the book; and it was moved that the House should order Colonel Fairman's papers to be searched. It was believed that the house had this power ; but, considering the odium of exercising it, and the probability that where Colonel Fairman was secreted, there were all his important papers likewise, it was thought best not to issue the order.

Next, it was ascertained, by certain parties determined to carry this matter through, that the case of the Orange leaders was analogous to that of the Dorsetshire labourers. They had become liable under the same law; and it was now resolved that, if evidence could be obtained, the Duke of Cumberland, Lord Kenyon, the Bishop of Salisbury, and others, and Colonel Fairman, should be brought to trial before the Central Criminal Court. The prosecutors got hold of Haywood, the Orangeman who had taken fright at Fairman's incitements to treason, had made them known, and was prosecuted for libel in consequence. It was clear to the committee that the evidence bore out Haywood's statements; and those who were about to prosecute the Orange leaders appointed counsel for Haywood's defence the counsel retained being Serjeant Wilde, Mr. Charles Austin, and Mr. Charles Buller. For the prosecution, the most eminent counsel were retained: the indictments were drawn, notwithstanding the difficulty of assigning the exact title of the Duke of Cumberland; the evidence was marshalled; the original letters were arranged; and all was prepared, when two events happened which rendered further proceedings unnecessary.

Poor Haywood died through apprehension. He felt himself the probable victim of the great association whose power he well knew, and whose wrath he had brought upon himself; and he was not yet aware of the powerful protection to be extended over him, when he broke a bloodvessel, through agitation of mind. It was then too late to save him; and he died a few days before the trial was to have come on. The other cause of delay was a request from Mr. Hume that all proceedings should be stayed till after the debate which he was to bring on in the Commons. It was all important that that debate should take place; and the House would refuse the opportunity, if the subject was at the same time in course of inquiry in a criminal court.

On the 23rd of February 1836, Mr. Hume, to whom the country owed more than to any other man in regard to the exposure and annihilation of this great conspiracy, made a complete revelation of the whole matter, ending with a tremendous resolution. 'This resolution declared the abhorrence of parliament of all such secret political associations, and proposed an address to the king, requesting him to cause the discharge of all Orangemen, and members of any other secret political associations, from all offices, civil and military, unless they should retire from such societies within one month from the publication of a proclamation to that effect. Lord John Russell, in a speech of as much prudence as manliness, proposed a somewhat milder proceeding-an address to the king, praying that his majesty would take such measures as should bo ' effectual for the suppression of the societies in question. The Orangemen in the House were prudent, and offered

no opposition. Lord John Russell's resolution was unanimously agreed to. Two days afterwards, the royal reply, echoing the resolution, was received. The home secretary transmitted a copy of it to the Duke of Cumberland, as grand-master of the Orange Association. The Duke of Cumberland immediately sent a reply, intimating that, before the last debate in the Commons, he had recommended the dissolution of Orange societies in Ireland, and that he would immediately proceed to dissolve all such societies elsewhere. In a few days the thing was done; and Orangeism became a matter of history.

The quietness with which it was done at last is one of the most striking features of the case. The prudence of all parties now appears something unsurpassed in our history. It is the strongest possible evidence of the universal sense of danger in the leaders of all parties. The Orange chiefs had at last become aware of what they had subjected themselves to. Yet their forces were so greattheir physical force, restrained by no principle, no knowledge, and no sense, on the part of the chiefs-that it was not safe to drive them to resentment or despair; and the government had also to consider Ireland, and the supreme importance of leaving a fair field there for trial of their new policy of conciliation under Lord Mulgrave and his coadjutors. The radical reformers in parliament felt this as strongly as the ministers. The great point of the dissolution of Orange societies was gained; and the chiefs of the radical reform party contented themselves with holding out emphatic warnings to the humbled conspirators whom they held in their power. They let these revolutionary peers know that there were rumours afloat of the reconstitution of Orangeism under another name: that the Orangemen were watched; that the evidence against the leaders was held in readiness for use; that the law which had transported the Dorsetshire labourers could any day be brought to bear upon them; and that no mercy was to be expected if the public safety should require it to be put in operation.

As for the people at large, the greatness of the affair was little understood among them, from the quietness with which it was brought to a close. A multitude scarcely heard of it, except as of the ordinary party conflicts of the day. Many more did not, and could not, fully believe what was before their eyes. It was like a story of a longpast century; and now, such persons look upon it, when the facts are revived, as at a new disclosure which fills them with wonder. There were enough, however, sensible and awake to what the kingdom had escaped, to understand the comparative smoothness with which affairs proceeded henceforth in the House of Lords, the sudden silence about reform of that House, and the intense satisfaction with which the departure of the Duke of Cumberland was witnessed, when, in the next year, the accession of a female sovereign to the throne of England sent him away to be King of Hanover.

CHAPTER VI.

Ireland from 1835-1840—Various Theories—Religious Bancour— Distrust of Law—Principle of Government—Political Corruption— Municipal Deterioration—Uncertainty of Subsistence—Fundamental Difficulty—Insecurity of Title to Land—Impartiality to Sects— Ribbonmen and Orangemen—Catholics in the Jury-box—National Education—Impartiality of Law—Decrease of Crime—The Viceroy's Clemency—Thomas Drummond—Reform of Constabulary—Of Magistracy—Prevention of Crime—Repression of Crime—Government by Functionaries or by Apostles—The Queen—O'Connell—Father Mathew—Temperance Movement—The Franchise and Registration —Lord Stanley's Registration Bill—The Government Bill—Failure of both—Political Education—Municipal Reform—The Measure— Certainty of Maintenance—O'Connell on the Poor-law—Question of a Poor-law—History of the Measure—Its early Operation—Resignation of Lord Normanby—Whig Government of Ireland.

It is natural to shrink from the task now before us, of contemplating Ireland at the commencement and during the term of Lord Mulgrave's (presently Lord Normanby's) administration. It is natural now to turn away in heartsickness when the records under the eye bring up again the high hopes, and the no less flattering fears, of the time; when the ear catches again the echoes of the strife

and tumult of those few years when bigotry was in terror or despair, when the oppressed were uttering blessings, and the advent of hope was like the awakening of the thousand voices of the spring after wintry tempests wcre gone, and when the loud, clear master-tone of justice made itself heard over all. It is natural to recoil from the thought of that critical period, when all, of every party, believed that a new age had set in for Ireland, and that she was henceforth to grow into the likeness of England from century to century. Under the hourly pressing sense of what Ireland is now-under the bitter and humbling disappointment of all hopes, and the visitation of new fears which are but too like despair-it is natural to look into the past with shrinking and pain. But there is something in the spirit of history as cordial and cheering under passages of humiliation and disappointment as there is admonitory and chastening in times of hope and triumph. Stern as is the spirit of history in rebuking presumption, and showing up the worthless character of transient victories, and pointing out the inevitable recurrence of human passion and folly, in high places and in low, with all the mournful consequences of such frailty -exactly in the same proportion is she genial and consoling in an adverse season-pointing out the good that underlies all evil, shedding hope upon the most ghastly perplexities, and cheerfully teaching us how to store up all our past experience as material for a deeper knowledge and a wiser action than we were qualified for in our time of highest confidence. As a matter of curiosity or recreation, no one would revert to Ireland, between the years 1835 and 1840; but when, in the course of historical survey, it becomes necessary to contemplate this province of our experience, it is found that far healthier and happier feelings arise to succeed and modify those of disappointment and distress. It is true that we look back upon the wisest and most earnest men then active in that field as upon children planting and watering, and setting their gardens to rights in a new burst of sunshine, while we, from the summit of futurity, perceive how the waterspout is hurrying on which is to tear up everything, and leave all waste; but we see also that the more complete is

the waste, the more thorough will be the renovation; and that perhaps the giddy and wrangling children may come back to their work with a better knowledge, and a more rational expectation.

When it appeared that Catholic emancipation had not tranquillised Ireland, the opponents of that emancipation were occupied with their triumph, and with their preparations to keep down the Catholics by all means, political and social, yet left in their power; but the advocates of the emancipation were driven to consider why it was that the measure appeared to have done so little. Presently might be seen a number of men, and of sets of men, each of whom had an idea about the true Irish woe and its remedy. There was much truth in almost every one of these ideas; and great wisdom and virtue in many of the men who acted upon them. But none of them had got to the bottom of the matter; and of the very few men in the kingdom who had insight into the real state of the case, there appears to have been no one who dared openly and emphatically to speak his thought.

Some thought that Ireland could never prosper while religious rancour prevailed as it did; and that all would be well if this rancour could be gradually discharged from the Irish mind. These advocated the extinction of tithe, the reduction of the Church, the impartial distribution of office among Catholics and Protestants, the discountenance of Orangeism, and the establishment of the government plan of national education. There was weighty truth in all this; but when its advocates looked for the redemption of Ireland by these means, they were wrong.

Some thought that the fatal mischief was the distrust and dislike of the law among the Irish people; and these believed the true remedy to lie in winning over O'Connell from his pernicious teachings of illegality and chicanery, and in appointing a viceroy and staff of officials, whoso first care should be to administer with the strictest justice the ordinary powers of the law; who should reform the justiciary of all Ireland, and institute that practical education in simple legality in which the Irish people were conspicuously deficient. There was weighty truth in this; but when its advocat: s looked to such a policy for the redemption of Ireland, they were wrong.

Some dwelt on the undisputed difference between the Irish and the English character; and especially on the constitutional tendency to illegality which they believed they recognised in the Celtic race; and urged that the true method of governing the Irish was not by the English method, but by an affectionate despotism. They pointed to O'Connell, as the virtual sovereign of Ireland, and asked what might not be hoped from sending over a popular viceroy, whose love of the Irish should make his relation to them that of a chieftain to his retainers; whose empire, in short, should be like that of O'Connell in kind while the safeguards of sincerity and honour should be added to the popular qualifications of the great demagogue. There might be much truth in this, valuable if urged antecedently to the annexation of Ireland, but of no practical avail towards her immediate redemption.

Some believed gross political corruption to be the chief curse, and proposed a registration of voters as a means for the discouragement of political profigacy. The men of this one idea pursued it with such energy as to show that they really did expect, from the restriction, and regulation, and ascertainment of the franchise, the redemption of Ireland.

Others believed that political principle and knowledge were to be obtained only through political training, and that the reform of municipal institutions was even more important for Ireland than for England and Scotland. They dwelt upon the great truths involved in the recommendation of municipal over central government; and quoted De Tocqueville, where he says, as if he were describing the Irish people: 'In certain countries of Europe the natives consider themselves as a kind of settlers-the greatest changes are effected without their concurrence, and without their knowledge; nav, more, the citizen is unconcerned as to the condition of his village, the police of his street, the repairs of the church, or of the parsonage; for he looks upon all these things as unconnected with himself, and as the property of a powerful stranger whom he calls the government. He has VOL. III.

only a life-interest in these possessions, and he entertains no notions of ownership or of improvement. This want of interest in his own affairs goes so far, that if his own safety or that of his children is endangered, instead of trying to avert the peril, he will fold his arms, and wait till the nation comes to his assistance. This same individual, who has so completely sacrificed his own freewill, had no natural propensity to obedience: he cowers, it is true, before the pettiest officer, but he braves the law with the spirit of a conquered foe, as soon as its superior force is removed; his oscillations between servitude and licence are perpetual. When a nation has arrived at this state, it must either change its customs and its laws, or perish; the source of public virtue is dry; and though it may contain subjects, the race of citizens is extinct. . . How can a populace, unaccustomed to freedom in small concerns, learn to use it temperately in great affairs? What resistance can be offered to tyranny in a country where every private individual is impotent, and where the citizens are united by no common fie? Those who dread the licence of the mob, and those who fear the rule of absolute power, ought alike to desire the progressive growth of provincial liberties. . . Local assemblies of citizens constitute the strength of free nations. Town meetings are to liberty what primary schools are to science they bring it within the people's reach; they teach men how to use and enjoy it. A nation may establish a system of free government; but without the spirit of municipal institutions, it cannot have the spirit of liberty.' 'Here,' said the advocates of municipal reform in Ireland-'here we have before us the straight road to the redemption of Ireland. Every one knows that her natural resources are abundant for the wants of her inhabitants, if only her inhabitants knew how to use them. This is the way to teach them—this is the way to call out and increase such public virtue as exists. It is not by an affectionate despotism, but by a training to self-government, that the Irish must be redeemed. Their own affectionate despot himself says, that purified municipal institutions will become "normal schools of peaceful agitation;" we shall

200

find them normal schools of political and social intelligence and virtue, and by them Ireland may at last be redeemed.' In this faith—to a considerable extent justifiablo—the advocates of municipal reform worked diligently for the five years which ran their course between the introduction of the question and the passage of the mutilated bill for Irish corporate reform. There was weighty truth in their doctrine; but when they looked for the redemption of Ireland by this means, they were wrong.

Others saw a necessity underlying even the deepest that have been pointed out; and they thought it might be met by giving every man in Ireland a right to subsistence. The uncertainty of food, and consequent recklessness of temper and habits among the labouring-classes; the carelessness or rapacity of bad landlords; the unprofitable management of the land; the depraving prevalence of mendicity, and almost all the worst evils of life in Ireland, might, it was said, be met, and in time corrected, by a good poor-law. This was the one great measure which would operate beneficially in all directons-would feed the hungry and clothe the naked, and settle the roving, and restrain the encroaching, and employ the idle -would bring the unscrupulous landowner to reflection and retribution, enable the good occupier to understand and control his own position-and would, in short, establish natural relations throughout the disorganised society of Ireland. There was weighty truth in all thisso much truth, and held by so many of the best minds among philosophers, statesmen, and men of business, that few dared to qualify the general expectation excited by their confidence; but there were persons who felt and said at the time that all who looked for the redemption of Ireland through an extension of the English poor-law were wrong.

Who, then, were right? Among these many who were wrong, was there no one right? It is surely not to be expected that any one should be wholly right. The proof of the insufficiency of any or all of the above-mentioned theories was not yet extant. The materials for a right judgment were scattered abroad—one person here and another there obtained a glimpse of true insight; and u 2 some declared what they thought and saw. It was a common thing to be told that 'the land' was at the bottom of the Irish difficulty; but this might mean, and did mean, several different things. It might mean 'any one of a dozen prevalent vices and faults in the tenure, or distribution, or cultivation of land; or in the social circumstances which gave land a peculiar value in Those who came nearest to the truth consciously Ireland. or unconsciously, were perhaps the lawyers, who told a friend, here and there, in an undertone by the fireside, that there was not a title to land in Ireland that would bear looking into; that this was a secret known to all who were concerned in it; that it accounted for the dispute about the value of the existing registry of deeds; the sorest impediment to improvement; the natural cause of the singular recklessness of Irish landlords; the sufficient explanation of the silence and apparent apathy of mortgagees and others concerned in the enriching of estates, about all methods of improvement and convenience; and a powerful instigation to men of various classes to take the law into their own hands, and to nourish those social feuds which might strengthen and protract the local dominion of men, whose title to their land was, or might be found, insecure.

The greater part of Irish landed property had been granted three times over at least, during the long sequence The descendants of of troubles in that unhappy country. old Irish chieftains still looked on those estates as properly their own which had been the homes of their fathers; and the posterity of all other dispossessed parties looked on with the same jealous eyes. As for those in actual possession, too many of them conducted themselves and their property in the way which has made the Irish landlord a by-word and reproach. The virtuous administration of their estates was not to such the great duty and object in life that it is usually seen to be in countries where the property is secure, as a matter of course; where the tenantry and labourers are regarded by the proprietor as persons to whom he owes serious duties; and where the improvement of the estate for the benefit of heirs is the first consideration in connection with it. Such is the

natural state of things-however set aside in special cases by the vices of bad lundlords-under the main condition of security of property. The opposite state of affairs was that which naturally appeared in Ireland. The sole object too often was to make the most of the present time, leaving the future to take care of itself. The smallness of the proprietary body is in itself a serious and portentous evil in Ireland, where the number of holders of land in fee is said not to exceed 8000. The very large estates held by these few persons sink lower in productiveness, in proportion to the lapse of time which, instead of giving security, reveals embarrassments which are evidently insurmountable. Instead of investing capital in the land, for its improvement, the proprietors had split it into small freeholds, before the disfranchisement of 'the forties :' and the system was not changed after that disfranchisement, because more immediate profit was supposed obtainable from the high rents promised by the numerous tenantry than by improved cultivation. A proprietor, doubtful whether he could sell his land, on account of its questionable title, embarrassed by settlements and mortgages. hopeless of freeing the estate by any effort of his own, naturally does as his father did before him, and as he supposes his son will do after him-he gets what he can from year to year, and hopes the sky will not fall in his The insecurity extends to the tenantry, who are time. more numerous than the unimproved land can support. They got their land by bidding against each other; and they know that they cannot have it long-having promised rents which they cannot pay; so they snatch what they can from the ground and from fate, and make themselves as comfortable as they can till the sky falls. Such was the state of things, and the cause of that state, known to a few before the experiment of impartial government was tried in Ireland; and if only it had been more widely and thoroughly understood, it seems impossible that men should have expected so much as they did from reforms which did not touch the radical evil-the insecurity of landed property in Ireland. As we shall see, the remedies referred to above were all tried; and there is no need to inform any reader that Ireland is not yet redeemed.

1. First: various efforts were made to abate the religious rancour of Irish society. That little could be done through the reduction of the Church and the commutation of tithe. has been shown. We have seen how hard and protracted was the labour of getting anything done about titheowing to the very rancour which it was the great object to moderate. We have seen something, too, of the annihilation of Orangeism, as an organisation; but it would occupy a volume to tell all that happened between the Irish government and the Orangemen before the royal grand-master dissolved the association. The avowed principle of Lord Mulgrave's government was impartiality; and it appears to have been firmly adhered to: but so unused was Ireland to impartiality in the government, that both Protestants and Catholics interpreted the acts of the viceroy as favour to the Catholics. Investigation was made into the condition of Ribbonism, against which the Protestants declared themselves obliged to organise their Orangeism in self-defence; and, to the surprise of the government no less than others, it was found that scarcely anything but the name existed. Frequently as the world had been, and still was, alarmed by intimations in the newspapers of dreadful Ribbon plots, they were found, on the most searching inquiry, to be mere bugbears. As there was nothing to lay hold of, government could do no more than proscribe Ribbonism with all other secret societies, while it was compelled to inflict open shame upon Orangeism. The Orangemen began their demonstrations early after the arrival of Lord Mulgrave. consequence of the recorder of Dublin having denounced the Melbourne administration as 'infidels in religion.' a public meeting was called in Dublin, to consider of this libel; and Orangemen attended in large bodies-a fight being, as usual, the close of the business. In consequence of a government prohibition of Orange processions in the north, a pamphlet was widely circulated which called on Orangemen to break the law, because government did not punish such breaches of the law as the swarming of Jesuits through the land, and the rearing of the un-hallowed heads of monasteries. When the viceroy had returned from his southern journey, and was about to set

294

out for the north, the Orangemen of Londonderry threatened him through the newspapers with even personal violence. 'If he should come among us, he shall see such a display of Orange banners as shall put him into the horrors.' They would take care to give such notice of his approach as should secure him a reception which he had better not encounter; and so forth. While the viceroy was thus threatened by one party; and affectionately hailed by the other, it was difficult to keep the public mind fixed on the ruling government principle of impartiality. At the same time, intimation was officially given throughout the constabulary force that a subconstable in Wexford had been dismissed on proof of his having attended an Orange lodge; and a drum-major was tried by court-martial, and reduced to the ranks, for The having played party-tunes in the streets of Belfast. vicercy disallowed the election of the master of an Orange lodge to the mayoralty of Cork, and of two other Orangemen as sheriffs, in September 1835. These instances looked like partiality while no Ribbonmen were dismissed or otherwise punished. If Ribbonmen could have been found, in office or out of it, they would have been punished; but all endeavours to detect and punish Ribbonism were in vain. A Catholic policeman endeavoured to join, in order to obtain information; and an inspector of police was sent to England to learn from an Irish soldier in a place of safety what he would not have told among his acquaintances at home; but all that could be discovered by all the powers of government and the police in five years, supplied ground for only one prosecution; and that broke down. Thus all the penalties devolved on one party; but it could not be said that that party only met with severity. As soon as the intention of the leaders to dissolve the Orange societies was known, the viceroy liberated all the Orangemen who were under arrest for joining prohibited party processions on the 12th July preceding.

The Irish Crangemen were, however, less obedient to their chiefs than the English and Scotch. The Dublin grand-committee met and decided that 'the mere will ot the king was not law,' and that their watchword should be 'No surrender.' Sir Harcourt Lees addressed a letter to the brethren, the last paragraph of which was adopted as the Tory text or watchword from that day forward: 'Orangemen, increase and multiply-be tranquil-be vigilant. Put your trust in God-still revere your king -and keep your powder dry.' This letter was dated February 27, 1836. On the 7th of April following, the Orange idol was rent to pieces in its shrine; the statue of William III. was blown up on its pedestal in College Green, Dublin. Here was a Catholic outrage-an act of Ribbon sedition at last. But almost before this was said, men began to smell some of the 'dry powder' above referred to in the train which blew up the statue. Government offered a large reward for the detection of the offender; and the Dublin corporation offered as much The perpetrator was never discovered; but some again. incidents of the time caused a general impression that the hand employed was that of a wrathful Orangeman.

Meantime, the viceroy and his coadjutors in the government persevered in bestowing office without regard to religious persuasion. They selected the fittest men; and if they inquired whether they were Protestant or Catholic, it was for the purpose of holding the balance as evenly as they could. The practice of setting aside Roman Catholics as jurors was broken through; and throughout the island, the Protestants, who had always regarded their neighbours of another faith as idolaters and rebels; saw with amazement and horror that they were trusted to try the accused, to administer the laws, and transact the business of society, as freely as if they hated the pope and cursed the Jesuits.

All this was very well; but a more effectual method of ultimately extinguishing religious rancour was supposed to be by the system of national education established in Ireland.

In October 1831, the first announcement of this scheme was made in a letter from the then Secretary for Ireland, Mr. Stanley, to the Duke of Leinster. The object was not new—the object of diminishing the violence of religious animosities by bringing together the children of Catholic and Protestant daily—to sit on the same bench, take an

interest in the same ideas, and find by constant experience and sympathy how much they had in common. This object had been aimed at through the organisation of the Kildare Street schools; but the machinery was not of the right kind, though conscientiously worked. In 1828, a committee of the House of Commons had recommended the adoption of a system 'which should afford, if possible, a combined literary, and separate religious education, and should be capable of being so far adapted to the views of the religious persuasions which prevail in Ireland, as to render it, in truth, a system of national education for the poorer classes of the community.' In order to meet the religious wants and wishes of all parties, certain days in each week are set apart for the religious instruction of the children by their respective clergy; and every encouragement was given to the communication of such instruction daily, before and after school-hours. The great difficulty was about the method of giving any religious sanction to the secular teaching in the schools. All desired some such sanction; but the Protestants contended for the whole Bible, spurning the idea of selections being made from it for school reading, as the rankest blasphemy, while the Catholics are not, as every one knows, allowed the free use of the Scriptures. Selections from the Bible were made, to the satisfaction of many clergy, both Protestant and Catholic; and these have been in use to this day. A brief remark dropped by the Archbishop of Dublin in the debate (February 28, 1837) on the appointment of a committee of inquiry into the Irish school-system, conveyed a significant hint and warning to those who heard him, and to many out of doors, that nothing could be more perilous than to circulate among the people exaggerated notions of the differences between the several versions of the records of their salvation. Yet, from the Bishop of Exeter in the Lords, down to the idlest clergyman without a flock in Ireland, the opposition to the Education Board and its acts, on the ground of the mutilation of the Scriptures, was virulent to a degree incredible in men who call themselves They could not, however, overthrow the Christians. board, or stop its good works. They could not even

hinder Protestants in Ireland from accepting the benefit of the schools, though hundreds and thousands of children were kept away, to be lost in ignorance and superstition. who would otherwise have been rational and enlightened citizens of a country whose main want is of good citizens. The Archbishop of Dublin said, on this 28th of February 1837, that 'he had ascertained, by examination, that in these schools [in a particular district] extending to between 300 and 400, in which it was said there were no Protestants, that about 22,000 Roman Catholic children and 16,000 Protestants had been educated.' In the face of every kind of opposition, even of atrocious slanders without any foundation whatever, slanders such as bigotry, and religion, and party-spirit in politics could alone generate, the national school-system in Ireland continued to expand and flourish during the whole period of the Melbourne administration, tending to humanise every district where it was planted, and preparing, as it was fondly hoped, a brightening prospect of social peace for a future generation. During the eight years from the establishment of the system to the going out of the Whig administration in 1841, we find an annual advance in the number of schools and scholars, in an accelerating ratio, till, since 1834, the number of schools in operation had increased from 789 to 2337, and the number of scholars from 107,042 to 281,849. And the board was then about to aid 382 additional schools, which would add 48,000 to the number of pupils on the rolls. When hundreds of thousands of children were thus reared in security from sectarian rancour, it seemed to many that such rancour might, and must in time, be discharged from the mind of the Irish people; but good as was the work, and bright as were the hopes which it yielded, it is not the less clear that those were wrong who looked to this institution for the redemption of Ireland.

2. Next, we must glance at the policy desired by those who would have won over O'Connell from his practice of teaching dislike and distrust of the law, believing this dislike and distrust of the law to be the one impediment to the redemption of the Irish people. At the same time that O'Connell was won over to silence, the Irish government was to rule conspicuously by the ordinary powers of the law, to exercise the strictest impartiality, and to compel a similar recognition of equality before the law throughout the country, by a reform of the justiciary.

The characterising virtue of Lord Mulgrave's administration in Ireland was its reliance on the ordinary powers of the law, and the impartial exercise of them. Extreme as was the consternation of the Church and Tory portion of Irish society at seeing Catholic gentlemen admitted to the magistracy, and Catholic lawyers to office in Dublin. and Catholic juries sitting to try offenders, either Protestant or Catholic, and loud as was the outery about the return of the times of James II., and the domination of the pope in Ireland, the improvement in social life, and the decrease of crime, soon became unquestionable facts. It was an affecting sight to those who happened to be in Ireland in 1837, to see the awakening of the Catholic . population to a sense of what law and justice were, and to a hope that they might share in the benefit. The Catholic priesthood led the way in trusting the government; and the people followed. It was a touching sight-that of the melting down of the popular spirit of pride and cunning into gratitude and trust. Hitherto, the pride of the Irish peasant had nourished itself in defiance first, and then evasion of the law, as in defiance and circumvention of an enemy. The chief ground of the popular admiration of O'Connell was his success in defying and evading the law; and every follower of the agitator gloried in emulating him, as far as opportunity allowed. Now, for the first time, the idea dawned upon the general Irish mind, that law and justice might possibly be a benefit, and not an oppression ; and when fostered by the priests, and justified by the whole course of the government, this idea grew clear and strong, the revulsion of feeling was a truly affecting sight. Criminals became odious, instead of endcared, by their crimes; they were informed against, instead of harboured; and the fiercest wrong-doers felt ashamed of outrages against the public peace, instead of glorying in them. If the cause of Irish misery had not lain deeper than was then dreamed of-if all collateral improvements had not been swept away through the absence of the only effectual remedy-the training of the

Catholic Irish to legality and order in Lord Mulgrave's time might have proved their permanent redemption from one of their worst national faults. As it was, the remarkable and steady subsidence of crime, during the whole term of the Whig administration in Ireland, is a sufficient testimony to the wisdom and humanity of the characterising principle of its rule.

Sir R. Peel reminded parliament, in 1829, that 'for scarcely one year during the period that has elapsed since the union, has Ireland been governed by the ordinary course of law.' Insurrection Acts, Suspension of the Habeas Corpus, and martial law, were all familiarly associated in men's minds with the very name of Ireland; and all had been in vain-so vain, that parliament itself became uneasy and remorseful; and Lord Grey's government fell on the question of a Coercion Bill. Now, for a term of years, the experiment was tried of putting the ordinary law in force without fear or favour; and the result was, that at the close of the viceroy's term of government, twenty-seven out of thirty-two counties in Ireland were perfectly tranquil, or eminently tranquillised, while the remaining five were not worse than they had always been before; that, while the decrease of crimes proceeded from year to year, the proportion of convictions to committals, and of committals to offences, was always on the increase-showing that at length the people were taking their part in the administration of justice, for the public good; that wherever the influence and example of the government could act freely, crime had almost disappeared-as in the instance of the celebrated factionfights, which were now seldom heard of; while the crimes which did continue were those which arose from agrarian discontents-from that great underlying grievance which every government has left untouched; and, finally that the decrease of crime, on comparison of the three years ending in 1838 with the three years ending in 1828, was no less than 10 per cent. of murder and manslaughter, 46 per cent. of shooting and stabbing, 29 per cent. of conspiracy to murder, 56 per cent. of burglary, and 86 per cent, of housebreaking for arms in the night.

The alarmed Protestants in parliament, however, com-

plained that Lord Mulgrave desecrated and annulled the law by his clemency. He had made a circuit through the south first, and then through the north of Ireland, and had visited the jails, and most establishments supported by the public funds. In visiting the jails, he had inquired of three parties concerning the prisoners whose pardon might be desirable-of the resident officers about their conduct in prison; of the medical officers about their health; and of neighbouring gentlemen about their previous character, and the probability of their good conduct henceforth. Where necessary, application was made to the judges for guidance. Of 800 petitions for pardon, about half had been entertained; of these, only 100 had been favourably answered, on certificates from medical men and others. These-whatever had been said to the contrary-were Protestants or Catholics, as might happen; while the rest, the only class to whom the prison-doors had been thrown open freely, were Orangemen convicted of joining illegal processions. The small proportion of recommitments among the offenders thus pardoned testified to the discretion of the mercy which had released them at the commencement of a new period in the government of Ireland; yet the political Protestants, perplexed and dismayed by the new doctrine and practice of equity before the law, persisted in calling the viceroy's journeys of inspection ' jaildelivery circuits,' and concluded that pardon was granted for the sake of the Catholics.

There was another doctrine, propounded by a member of the government at this time, which was offensive to the political 'Protestants,' as they called themselves, who opposed the acts of the Mulgrave administration. There is no survivor of that administration who will not eagerly assent to the avowal, that that one member, Mr. Drummond, was the mind and soul of it. Mr. Drummond, the military surveyor, the discoverer of the light known by his name, the private secretary of Lord Althorp, by the nuited wish of Lord Grey's cabinet, and the Irish under-secretary under Lords Mulgrave and Morpeth, was a man of great external calmness, of eminent prudence in the ordinary affairs of life, and, till of late years, apparently devoted altogether to scientific pursuits. His acquaintances

were wont to rally him for his Scotch prudence and caution, and to describe the pleasures and pains of enthusiasm to him, as things that he could not possibly know anything about. It was his function in Ireland which revealed him to his friends, if not to himself. His subdued enthusiasm now manifested itself in a moral force, as lofty and sustained as it was powerful. The cool man of science came out the philanthropist, the philosopher, the statesman, the virtual preacher-carrying the loftiest spirit of devotedness into each function. He put wisdom into the counsels of the Irish government, and moderation into its demeanour. He put enthusiasm into the justice which he gave impartially to the Irish people; and he called for justice in the enthusiasms which the observant people paid back to the government. It was he who repressed crime throughout the nation, and rebuked its passions, and stilled its turbulence, and encouraged its hopes, and stimulated its industry, and soothed its sorrows. His sobriety of judgment and calmness of manner never gave way; but a fervour, like that of renewed youth, latterly pervaded his whole mind, animated all his faculties, and deepened his habitual composure, while he was consciously meeting the martyr's doom. He lived too fast, knowingly and willingly. during these few years which he believed to be so critical for Ireland. Under his work, his responsibilities, his thronging ideas, his working emotions, his frame could not hold out long; and he was prostrated at once by an attack of illness in the spring of 1840. 'I am dying for Ireland.' he said, just at the last. He died for Ireland; and in the contemplation of his death, how do other deaths which bear more of the external marks of martyrdom for Ireland shrink, by comparison, in our estimate! Here was no passion-no insulting speech-no underhand or defiant action-no collision of duties-no forfeiture of good faith -no implication of the helpless in danger-no disturbance of society-no imperiling of any life but his own. No man who courted the bullet or the gibbet ever dared more. No man who organised rebellion in consultations by day and drillings at night ever wrought harder. No man who cast his all into the revolutionary balance was ever more disinterested and devoted. He, a soldier of a sensitive

spirit, brought upon himself unmeasured insult, which would elsewhere have been intolerable; but for Ireland's sake he bore it all. He went through endless toils which nobody knew of, who could give him any return of honour. He felt himself sinking, before he had attained the rewards which might once have been alluring to him-before he had attained wealth, or rank, or a post in the world's eye, or the fame of statesmanship; but he toiled on, too busy on Ireland's behalf to have a regret to spare for such things as these. If there are any who cannot reconcile themselves to such an issue, let them remember how noble a way remains to do him honour. Let them name his name when Ireland wants his example. When boasts of martyrdom abound, and blustering patriots would rouse the ignorant and suffering to rash enterprises, and men who will not work for Ireland talk of fighting for her, and those who cannot deny their own vanity, or indolence, or worldly care, claim the glory of patriotic agitation, let the name of Thomas Drummond be quietly spoken, and human nature has lost its rectitude and its sensibility if the arrogance be not shamed, and the vaunt silenced.

He was a man whom few things could astonish. One of the few things which did astonish him was the effect of certain words of his own which appeared to him as simple and commonplace as anything he ever uttered. It is certainly true, however, that the most commonplace sayings have an effect proportioned to the moral force of those who utter them; and in this case the words appear -even now to us-instinct with the just and brave spirit of the man. The story was this. In the course of the debate in the Upper House on Lord Roden's motion, towards the close of 1837, it was mentioned by Lord Mulgrave (then become Marquis of Normanby), and by other speakers on the same side, that all inquiry led to the conclusion that the murders and manslaughter in Ireland were not owing to religious differences or political discontents, but almost exclusively to agrarian grievances. This opinion, far from acceptable to listening Orangemen and Irish landlords, was vehemently protested against, not only by Lord Roden, but by the Duke of Wellington, who quoted the Marquis Wellesley as an indisputable

authority, who had said that the agrarian disturbances themselves were ascribable to political agitation. \mathbf{From} that time, the Irish landlords and political chiefs on the Tory side seem to have taken for granted that the government was a company of declared foes, who would keep watch on the management of their private affairs, and cast upon them the responsibility of all outrages perpetrated on Irish estates. On the 1st of January 1839, Lord Norbury was shot in his own shrubbery, in broad daylight, while pointing out to his steward some trees which he destined for removal. The cause of the deed was shrouded in mystery. Lord Norbury was on good terms with his Catholic neighbours and tenants; and he did not concern himself about politics. The question was naturally asked by everybody whether this was another agrarian outrage. The very words fired the passions of the landlords-before jealous, and now panic-stricken. At a meeting which they held, in the name of the magistrates of King's County at Tullamore, to consider the circumstances of this murder and of the country, they reverted to those few words of Mr. Drummond's which their vehement wrath at once raised into a proverb. These words were found in a letter of Mr. Drummond's, in reply to a request from the magistrates of Tipperary for an increase of military or police force. The under-secretary refused the assistance requested, and gave reasons which induced the receivers of the letter to keep it secret, lest the common people should hear about it, ' and be led to think ill of the landlords.' The letter was asked for in parliament, however, and necessarily produced; and it actually became a parliamentary document before the magistrates of Tipperary had been generally permitted to see it. In this much canvassed letter occurred the words: Property has its duties as well as its rights.' In their fear and grief at the murder of Lord Norbury, possibly through some discontent among his tenantry, though he was a kind landlord, the King's County magistrates reverted to Mr. ί. Drummond's proposition, as a subject on which to vent their passion; and it shows how wild and desperate must have been their wrath that they could fall out with a proposition so simply indisputable. It was declared that in

that letter, the Tipperary magistrates were 'bearded and insulted' by Mr. Drummond. A resolution was carried without a division, 'that it appears to this meeting that the answer conveyed to the magistrates of Tipperary from Mr. Under-secretary Drummond has had the unfortunate effect of increasing the animosities entertained against the owners of the soil by the occupants, who now constitute themselves the sole arbiters of the rights as well as the duties of property.' Lord Charleville ventured to declare, in moving this resolution, that the saying about property having duties as well as rights, though innocent enough in itself, was felt to be little less than a deliberate and unfeeling insult in the circumstances under which it was When the plainest truths of morals are felt to be offered. personal insults, all men see how the matter stands; and all men know that those plain truths are then made vital. And so it was in this case. The Tory landlords of Ireland have never forgotten that property has its duties as well as its rights. But the annunciation of this truth was fatal to all perception on their part of the impartiality of government rule.

One instance of the impartiality-of the want of respect of persons-exasperated the 'ascendency' leaders extremely. It was not only poor men-sub-constables and the like-who were dismissed from the government service for Orangeism, but great men also, with equal speed and certainty. Colonel Verner, who represented the Orangemen of the empire in the Commons, during the investigation of the Fairman plot, gave at an election dinner, as a party toast, 'the battle of the Diamond.' Mr. Drummond wrote to inquire whether it could be possible that Colonel Verner was thus a party to the commemoration of a lawless and disgraceful conflict. Colonel Verner's reply first supposed that he could not be expected to condescend to reply, and requested that any future question which the secretary might be desired to ask, should 'be expressed in terms better qualified to invite an answer;' and then refused to answer the inquiry at all. The chiefsecretary, Lord Morpeth, now wrote himself, and assigning reasons at length for the step taken by the government signified to Colonel Verner his removal from the commis-VOL. III. х

sion of the peace, and from the office of deputy-lieutenant of the county of Tyrone. Colonel Verner brought the matter before parliament, and thereby did an unintentional service to the government by publishing, in the most effectual manner, the evidence of its principles and methods of rule. Among the ignorant and passionate poor, meantime, the repressive and equalising rule of the government was extending, without its being felt as pressure. The police force of Dublin, and the constabulary throughout the country, were renovated and organised till they became as fine a body of police as exists in any country. Where the justices could not be relied on for repressing political demonstrations, stipendiary magistrates were planted, to direct the constabulary; and the quiet which followed surprised even the authors of it. Many causes of breach of the law were removed by the Tithe Act, and by new provisions and arrangements in relation to the collection of rents and the serving of the processes of the inferior local courts. Collisions between the people and rent-collectors and process-servers were thus almost entirely obviated. But provision was at the same time made for the more certain and effectual punishment of all who still offended. Government undertook the prosecution of several classes of offences which before must be pursued by private parties, who might be accessible to fear or favour. Crown prosecutors appeared at the quarter-sessions-one for each county-and obtained convictions for a great number of offences which would otherwise, though well known, have gone unpunished-to the disgrace of justice, and the demoralisation of the people. Witnesses were protected by government, before and after the trials, and publicly recognised as citizens who were doing their duty to society. By a steady use of these methods, more was done to enlighten the Irish as to the true function of law, and to convince them of its being a blessing to every man of them all, than could have been supposed possible in so short a term of years. But the underlying mischief was not removed nor touched; and those who looked to the admirable administration of law and justice by Lord Normanby's government for the redemption of Ireland were wrong,

CHAP. VI.]

3. The idea that an affectionate despotism---a govern-ment by apostles---is the only government that will suit the Irish people, unfit as they are thought to have shown themselves for a share in a representative system, seems almost too romantic and unpractical for an express mention in our age. But it happens, curiously enough, that we have evidence before our eyes that, suitable as a government by apostles may be to the Irish mind and temper, it could not avail for the redemption of the country. There has been no want of apostles or of idols in our own time: and little permanent good has accrued from the action of the very best. Lord Normanby and his coadjutors were truly apostles. on a mission of justice and mercy; yet after how short a course of years were they compelled to avow that their 'policy of conciliation was exhausted!' In the latter years of their term, too, they had the advantage of speaking in the name of the queen, who was perfectly idolised throughout the length and breadth of the land. We are assured by those who have explored the repository of Irish songs, and collected the political ballads which abound among the peasantry, that in O'Connell's most triumphant days, his simplest admirers did not dream of his title of king interfering with that of the queen. Her. majesty, we are told, had a perfect host of volunteer poetlaureates; and the publishers of the popular literature declared that the most favourite old national ballads would not sell unless some lines in praise of Victoria were added. In the religious ballads, her majesty is even more prominent still. The prophecies of this beloved order of poetry, whose tone is prophetic throughout, all point to the restoration of the true Church, and of Irish prosperity in consequence. Always favourites of the Catholic peasantry, from Queen Elizabeth's days to Queen Victoria's, they circulate most diligently in times of discontent and approaching revolt; and they now, for the first time since the Revolution, expressed trust in a lawful ruler. In Elizabeth's days, the retriever was to be the King of Spain; then the O'Neill; then the Stuarts, regnant and exiled; then Dan. O'Connell; and, at the time under our notice, Queen Victoria. She is to build up the old Munster Cathedral, and the Catholic Church generally; and to

x 2

remedy every evil, great and small, that afflicts humanity in her Irish dominions. And there is, in the eyes of the singers of these ballads, no unreasonableness in expecting such things from 'our noble young queen :' on the contrary, it would be impious to expect less-Victoria being especially watched over by the Virgin, and aided by St. Francis; and having as supporters Lord Mulgrave on the one hand, and Dan. O'Connell on the other. While the Orangemen of the north were striving to outdo everybody in protestations of devotion to the queen, and she was thus adored by the Catholic peasantry of the south, her representative and ministers had no permanent success in their efforts to 'tranquillise Ireland.' Nor, as it appears, would they have succeeded better if the great apostle of all had been at the antipodes. In governing by an affectionate despotism, it would always be a difficulty to make sure of having but one despot at a time. O'Connell, however, though he might at any moment interfere with the course of the Mulgrave or any other administration, was not, in fact, at this period interfering with it. For a short time, he left off calling the government 'the base, bloody, and brutal Whigs,' and mentioned repeal only now and then, to keep up the government to its business, as he thought. Нe heard with delighted ears, and repeated with an untiring tongue, the declaration of Lord John Russell, in February, 1837, of the principles which the Whigs consulted in their theory of Irish government; a declaration which he interpreted as a manifesto in favour of ruling Ireland by an affectionate despotism. 'I will take leave,' said Lord John Russell, in introducing the Irish Municipal Reform Bill, to quote the principle of our conduct from the recorded words of a very great man. . . . Mr. Fox stated, in a very eloquent speech which he delivered in 1797, the principles upon which he conceived the government of Ireland should be conducted. He stated in his usual frank-it might be said incautious manner, that he conceived that concessions should be made to the people of Ireland; he said, if he found he had not conceded enough, he would concede more; he said that he thought the only way of governing Ireland was to please the people of Irelandthat he knew no better source of strength to this country;

and he declared in one sentence which I will read to the House, his wish with respect to the government of Ireland. "My wish is," said Mr. Fox, "that the whole people of Ireland should have the same principles, the same system, the same operation of government: and though it may be a subordinate consideration, that all classes should have an equal chance of emolument in other words, I would have the whole Irish government regulated by Irish notions and Irish prejudices; and I firmly believe, according to another Irish expression, the more she is under Irish government, the more will she be bound to English interests."' This would have been all very well, if the only danger of antagonism had been between Ireland and England; but the theory was vitiated, fatally, by the antagonism of parties within Ireland herself. However, its enunciation gave sufficient satisfaction to O'Connell to secure his temporary co-operation. He praised the Whigs, dined with the viceroy, railed at the opposition in the House of Commons with a coarseness of language and demeanour which confounded the speaker himself; called upon every peasant in every village to regard himself as a supporter of the government; but withal kept up his General Association-the successor of the Catholic Association-and gave it the name of the Precursor Society, as a broad hint of the repeal agitation that would follow, if the government fell below his mark.

It was in 1836, when the Lords were throwing out their Municipal Reform Bill, that the organisation was restored, for the 'rousing of the millions of Ireland,' as Mr. Sheil said, 'and a development of the might which slumbers in her arm.' 'The association, the old associatiou, with its millions for its sustainment, is what we want, and what we needs must have again.' And they had it, at its old place of meeting, the Corn Exchange, with its old chair, presented to it by O'Connell; its tribute, under the new name of the justice-rent; its machinery of appeals and of regulation, and of registration, and its old assumption of dictatorial power. It was an affectionate despotism, corroborative for a time of British government, but ready for opposition at any moment. Its change of title from the General to the Precursor Association, was ominous; and it sounded somewhat like a bull when O'Connell, in 1839, at the time of the fiercest parliamentary opposition to the Normanby administration, called upon his 'two millions of Precursors' to rally in defence of the Saxon government of the day. How far the mission of the great apostle of all tended to the tranquillisation of Ireland, it would be a mere mockery to pretend to point out.

As if to meet the objection that the failure of such a mission is ascribable to the vices of the apostle, another affectionate despotism, exercised by a blameless apostle, was now extending in Ireland. In 1829, Ireland spent £6,000,000 on proof-spirits; and there was not a town where men 'beastly drunk' with whisky were not staggering about the streets, ready for a fight on any pretence or none; and not a hamlet in the country where the hovel of the sot might not be seen, bare of comfort and teeming with disease. In the summer of that year, an American gentleman visited a friend at Belfast; and some must have afterwards thought of that blessing on the hospitable, that they 'may entertain angels unawares.' Dr. Penny from America found his host, Dr. Edgar, of Belfast, meditating the means of securing the better observance of the Sabbath, and a purer social conduct altogether, in the city of his abode. Just before this, all good men in the cities of the United States had taken alarm at the spread of intemperance in their prosperous country, and were glad to embrace any method which might promise even a temporary check. The wisest of them were far from supposing that moral restraint can be effectually and permanently secured by any mechanical organisation; and there were many who seriously dreaded the consequences of imposing an artificial check which, if it gave way, would plunge the victim into the worse sin of perjury, and utterly degrade him in his own eyes. If the dispossessed devil should return, he would inevitably bring with him others worse than himself. And the testimony of physicians soon proved but too plainly that there were frequent violations of the pledge, and hopeless relapses into intemperance, now made doubly foul by having become secret and wrapped up in lies. Still, it was so

absolutely necessary that something should be done, that the wisest, with trembling tread, followed where the rash rushed in upon the sacred precincts of conscience, and lent a hand to work the machinery by which its free action was to be superseded. They thought they must take their chance with the adults for the sake of the young. They must run the risk of betraying the mature sinner into deeper guilt, to save the rising generation from overpowering temptation. They must shut up the spirit-shops and distilleries, and clear the streets of drunken men, and cleanse the private houses of the smell of rum; they must put the sin and its means and incentives out of sight-out of the reach of every sense-that it might occur as little as possible to any mind, and that children might not be infected into the destruction which had overtaken their fathers. Those who were most clearly sensible of the unsoundness of the principle of societies for individual moral restraint, yet dared not refuse to join this movement in a crisis which, to use the words of an American clergyman, 'threatened to overthrow society, and humanity itself, in the United States.' The work was in progress in that summer when Dr. Penny visited Dr. Edgar at Belfast. From what he heard, Dr. Edgar resolved that his efforts should be made in this direction; and he published his first appeal on behalf of temperance societies, in August 1829. In the course of a year, four travelling agents dispersed his tracts all over the island. By keeping the subject constantly before the public eye, he caused knowledge, as well as interest, to spring up in every direction : and it was not long before thoughtful men in all parts of Ireland had become aware that four-fifths of the crime brought up for justice, three-fourths of the hopeless beggary at that period, and an immeasurable amount of disease and mental suffering, proceeded from the practice of spirit-drinking. The Surgeon-general for Ireland testified that, in Dublin, nearly one-fourth of the deaths of adults were caused by spirit-drinking; a county magistrate of Antrim furnished a list of forty-eight persons who had perished from the same cause, within two miles of his house and within his own recollection; and there was abundant proof that in extensive neighbourhoods not one

dwelling was pure from the vice. Here was scope for the operations of an affectionate despotism. A fitting apostle came, and the experiment was tried.

From that summer of 1829, temperance societies had been formed here and there—the first being in New Ross, proposed and opened by the Rev. George Carr, a clergyman of the Established Church. In course of time some inhabitants of Cork—a clergyman, a Quaker, a slater, and a tailor—anxious to accomplish a similar object in their city, commended the enterprise to a man, popular above every one in the place, and liberal enough to be on good terms with men of all opinions—a Capuchin friar, and superior of the order, by name Theobald Mathew. It was some years after the first movement that he gave his mind and heart to the work, and thereby became the great moral, as O'Connell was the political, apostle of Ireland.

It must be allowed that something beyond the morality of the case might probably be in the minds of the followers of Father Mathew. Of the two millions whom he had in a few months pledged to temperance, there were, no doubt, many who supposed that some great crisis was at hand which required this act of self-denial from all true Irishmen; that they might be up and awake, have their wits about them, and be ready for action-whether Victoria should come to restore the Catholic Church, or the liberator to be king of Ireland, or repeal should make every man's plot of ground fruitful in potatoes. It was a prevalent belief among the peasantry that Father Mathew could work miracles; and some even declared that he had raised a person from the dead. The terrific zeal with which the people rushed into a condition of temperance, shows an extraordinary strength of expectation, whatever the object of it might be; and there is no question of the fact, that the political leaders in Ireland considered it of importance to organise and train the water-drinkers of Ireland into a force, with its marching companies, its brass bands, and its community of sentiment. These things show, not only the blessing that it was to the Irish to have for an apostle a man so disinterested as Father Mathew, but also how insecure and dangerous is government by affectionate despotism, which may always be liable to be appro-

priated by the most artful and unscrupulous agitator for his own purposes. After a year or two from the crowding of the country people into Limerick to take the pledge, in such multitudes as to break down iron railings, and cause deaths from trampling and pressure-within a year or two of the time when Father Mathew found it necessary to travel among his hundreds of thousands of disciples, because their thronging to him was dangerous to life and limb, it was noticed that the Irish character appeared to have sensibly changed. If, as has been said, the rebellion of 1798 was put down by force of whisky, and not of arms, it had now evidently become of first-rate importance that the hosts of sober, grave-faced men, who came marching to the temperance field, without fun and frolic, and with no noise but that of their practised bands of music, should not be driven or led into rebellion; for it was clear that whisky would not now put them down. It must be hoped that the evil disposed would find it less easy now than formerly to lead or drive them into rebellion, for assuredly rebellion would henceforth be a more formidable thing than it had hitherto been. Here were two millions of men, of a passionate nature-suddenly debarred from an accustomed outlet of passion and animal spirits, and by the same change, left with a large amount of time on their hands, and with heads cool for thought and device. If they had had more knowledge and a sufficiency of good leaders, this would have been the opportunity---the finest ever offered in the history of their country-for attaching them to the English connection, by showing to them the benefits of that connection under the Normanby government, and the far greater blessings which must accrue upon their being merely deserved. Now was the golden opportunity for beginning a sound political education if only the great political apostle had been worthy of the honour of his post. This could not have redeemed Ireland, directly or immediately, for the great underlying mischief was still untouched; but it might have somewhat softened the horrors of the impending doom of Ireland; and it would at least have mitigated the pain on every hand if that doom had overtaken a nation of thoughtful rational men, striving with courageous prudence and energy against their fate, amidst the respect of a sympathising world. instead of a mass of helpless and heart-wrung sufferers, betrayed by selfish or senseless agitators, and beguiled to the last by visions conceived in nonsense and vanishing in Father Mathew did his work---did it in purity of W00. heart and devotedness of soul. O'Connell perverted it, as we shall hereafter see. He seized upon the new gravity and critical leisure which Father Mathew had evokedhe seized upon the minds all alive with wonder, and the hearts all glowing with gratitude at the blessed change wrought by a general temperance in health and home, and turned them full into the channel of his repeal agitation. He called, and probably believed, his rule over the Catholic Irish an affectionate despotism ; but we can hardly conceive of his influence being more fatal to his trusting countrymen, if he had laid waste their fields with actual firebrands instead of with those of the tongue, and driven them from their homes with curses, instead of unsettling their lives with cruel promises of fabulous good. Ireland has been abundantly cursed with barbarous despots; but it may be doubted whether any one of them, in the long course of centuries, has perpetrated such effectual cruelty as the despot whom his victims called their liberator, and hoped to see their king.

Father Mathew did his work, on the whole, wellunquestionably with as much singleness of aim as devotion of soul. Wherever he had been, blessings sprang up, as if he had indeed been the heaven-sent friend that he was taken to be. The water-springs gave out health and refreshment, and the daily food had a new relish. The dull eye grew bright: the mad pulse subsided; the staggering gait became a manly tread. The cabin roof kept out the rain; the decent table, with decent seats round it, appeared again in the middle of the lately empty There was a bed now, inviting to a sleep which room. had become light and sweet. The chest gradually filled with clothes, and the stocking in the thatch grew heavy with money. The wrangling voice, roaring curses or tipsy songs, grew gentle and cheerful. The very echoes -at least the celebrated ones-of Killarney, and the mountain-passes sought by strangers, had changed their

314

tone and theme, and now promised coffee instead of whisky to the guides on their return. The distilleries were shut up by dozens; and the little suspicious clouds of blue smoke which used to curl away over the heathery knolls in the wilds, seemed to have whiffed away altogether. The grog-shops were changed into coffee-kitchens, and men laid their wits together in speculations about the tactics of O'Connell and the fate of Ireland, instead of breaking one another's heads in drunken frays. There was a large increase, in the very first year, in the number of depositors, in savings-banks; at the end of two years, when the number of the pledged exceeded two millions and a half. no one of the whole host had appeared before judge or iurv. Ireland had before paid away six millions in one year for proof-spirit : now, in two years, the consumption, for all purposes whatever, had lessened to little more than one half. The drawback on the satisfaction of all this was, that the principle on which the reform proceeded was not altogether sound, and the reform itself could not therefore be permanent in all its entireness. When the superstitious disciple kneeled down before the heaven-sent friar, spoke the oath, received the sign of the cross and the uniform blessing, and then had the medal and card put into his hand, it was in a firm belief that some tremendous plague would come upon him if he broke his pledge; that Father Mathew knew men's thoughts, and had a divine power to heal and to save; and that some divine virtue resided in the medal and card. Father Mathew did not originate the superstitions; but he thought it hopeless to contend with them. 'If I could prevent them,' he said in a letter, without impeding the glorious cause, they should not have been permitted; but both are so closely entwined, that the tares cannot be pulled out without plucking up the wheat also. The evil will correct itself: and the good, with the divine assistance, will remain and be permanent.' It needs no showing that the temperance movement of Father Mathew is thus reduced from a secure moral reform to a temporary enthusiasm, in as far as the superstitious are included within its scope. It is a rational hope that much seed may have fallen into good ground; but the sower has grievously erred in consigning some to soil where

it cannot take root, but must wither away. It is, however, a most impressive fact that, by one of the affectionate despotisms coexisting with Lord Mulgrave's eminently constitutional rule, two millions and a half of gay or brutal drunkards were turned into a corps of the most thoughtful and emotional men in Ireland.

4. There were persons and parties who believed that Ireland would be best redeemed by a cure of her notorious political corruption; and that that cure might be best wrought by such a machinery of supervision as would, in fact, restrict the franchise within what were called safe limits. When men related to each other how landlords in Ireland had cut up their estates to make small freeholds: what droves of ignorant serfs were carried to the pollingbooths to vote in a mass as their landlord bade them; how these freeholders suddenly passed over from the dominion of their landlords to that of their priests, and how this led to the disfranchisement of the forties-they were apt to agree that a state of things so bad as to have caused that disfranchisement must be most radically cured by an extension of the same process, or of an equivalent safeguard. From such views and consultations issued Lord Stanley's Registration Bill for Ireland of 1840.

There was no dispute about the enormity of the abuses of the franchise in Ireland. Lord Melbourne's government waited only for a further settlement of the registration machinery of England and Scotland to take in hand the reform of such corruption in Ireland as was practised by means of registration certificates. It was not difficult for a man to get registered three or four times over, obtaining a certificate each time; and, of course, it was easy enough to make these certificates passports for fictitious votes. In order to guard against this and other abuses, Lord Stanley's measure proposed a method and machinery of registration so onerous and irksome as would, in the opinion of government and of a majority in parliament, act as a virtual disfranchisement. If every vote might be annually revised, and an appeal on the part of the voter must be made to the judge once a year, it could not be believed that voters circumstanced as multitudes of the Irish tenantry were, would or could undergo such a discipline

for the sake of the privilege of the franchise. Lord J. Russell thought this bill the most formidable attack yet made on the principles of the Reform Act. The aim of the reform legislation was to extend and facilitate the exercise of the franchise, while this proposed method of registration threw every possible difficulty and discouragement in the way. As the case was, however, one which could not be neglected, and a bad measure would be carried if a good one were not proposed, the ministers bestirred themselves to prepare an Irish Registration Bill which should drive out Lord Stanley's. The ministers did not disguise their apprehensions of the effect of the opposition measure, if carried, nor that they conceived its operation, if not its intent, to be to counteract the emancipation measure of 1829, by rendering it difficult or impossible for the poorer -that is, the Catholic portion of Ireland-to send their fair share of representatives to parliament. Lord John Russell pointed to the much-dreaded power of O'Connell in Ireland as little formidable while the Irish should have faith in the justice and good-will of the British parliament. 'That,' said he, 'I believe to be the state of things now. But let this bill pass; show that you are determined, step by step, to take away the franchise from the people of Ireland, to disable them from sending Roman Catholics as members of this House; obtain that supremacy, if you can, which you have not had for many years; indulge in the triumph which the minority would then indulge in over the majority; insult, vilify, and abuse the Roman Catholics; tell them that the people are ignorant, degraded, and priest-ridden, and speak of those priests in a tone of contumely and contempt : do all this, and you will have done more for repeal than anything the honourable and learned gentleman has been able to effect by his speeches upon this subject.' Such language as this from a member of the cabinet indicates what was felt of the extremity of the risk. Lord Stanley and his friends naturally protested against the charge of insidiously contriving to narrow the franchise, and to keep the Catholic representatives out of parliament. Sir R. Peel was among those who thus protested. It is most probable that they meant, as men in parliament always do mean, only what they considered it cannot take root, but must wither away. It is, however, a most impressive fact that, by one of the affectionate despotisms coexisting with Lord Mulgrave's eminently constitutional rule, two millions and a half of gay or brutal drunkards were turned into a corps of the most thoughtful and emotional men in Ireland.

4. There were persons and parties who believed that Ireland would be best redeemed by a cure of her notorious political corruption; and that that cure might be best wrought by such a machinery of supervision as would, in fact, restrict the franchise within what were called safe limits. When men related to each other how landlords in Ireland had cut up their estates to make small freeholds; what droves of ignorant serfs were carried to the pollingbooths to vote in a mass as their landlord bade them; how these freeholders suddenly passed over from the dominion of their landlords to that of their priests, and how this led to the disfranchisement of the forties-they were apt to agree that a state of things so bad as to have caused that disfranchisement must be most radically cured by an extension of the same process, or of an equivalent safeguard. From such views and consultations issued Lord Stanley's Registration Bill for Ireland of 1840.

There was no dispute about the enormity of the abuses of the franchise in Ireland. Lord Melbourne's government waited only for a further settlement of the registration machinery of England and Scotland to take in hand the reform of such corruption in Ireland as was practised by means of registration certificates. It was not difficult for a man to get registered three or four times over, obtaining a certificate each time; and, of course, it was easy enough to make these certificates passports for fictitious votes. In order to guard against this and other abuses, Lord Stanley's measure proposed a method and machinery of registration so onerous and irksome as would, in the opinion of government and of a majority in parliament, act as a virtual disfranchisement. If every vote might be annually revised, and an appeal on the part of the voter must be made to the judge once a year, it could not be believed that voters circumstanced as multitudes of the Irish tenantry were, would or could undergo such a discipline

for the sake of the privilege of the franchise. Lord J. Russell thought this bill the most formidable attack yet made on the principles of the Reform Act. The aim of the reform legislation was to extend and facilitate the exercise of the franchise, while this proposed method of registration threw every possible difficulty and discouragement in the way. As the case was, however, one which could not be neglected, and a bad measure would be carried if a good one were not proposed, the ministers bestirred themselves to prepare an Irish Registration Bill which should drive out Lord Stanley's. The ministers did not disguise their apprehensions of the effect of the opposition measure, if carried, nor that they conceived its operation, if not its intent, to be to counteract the emancipation measure of 1829, by rendering it difficult or impossible for the poorer -that is, the Catholic portion of Ireland-to send their fair share of representatives to parliament. Lord John Russell pointed to the much-dreaded power of O'Connell in Ireland as little formidable while the Irish should have faith in the justice and good-will of the British parliament. 'That,' said he, 'I believe to be the state of things now. But let this bill pass; show that you are determined, step by step, to take away the franchise from the people of Ireland, to disable them from sending Roman Catholics as members of this House; obtain that supremacy, if you can, which you have not had for many years; indulge in the triumph which the minority would then indulge in over the majority; insult, vilify, and abuse the Roman Catholics; tell them that the people are ignorant, degraded, and priest-ridden, and speak of those priests in a tone of contumely and contempt: do all this, and you will have done more for repeal than anything the honourable and learned gentleman has been able to effect by his speeches upon this subject.' Such language as this from a member of the cabinet indicates what was felt of the extremity of the risk. Lord Stanley and his friends naturally protested against the charge of insidiously contriving to narrow the franchise, and to keep the Catholic representatives out of parliament. Sir R. Peel was among those who thus protested. It is most probable that they meant, as men in parliament always do mean, only what they considered good—to cut off abuses, and leave the franchise sound; and if that operation should issue in giving less power than before to the ignorant Catholic population, they could not pretend to think that consequence any great evil. But they, by their very vindication of their intentions, exposed themselves to the charge of not understanding the conditions of the suffrage in the country-districts of Ireland, where, whether they knew it or not, this bill would act as a sweeping disfranchisement. If they knew this, they could not quarrel with the charges of their opponents; if they did not know it, they ought to have known it.

The danger was from this state of things being little understood by the greater number of members in the House. If the ministers were alarmed at the outset of Lord Stanley's enterprise, they might well be in a panic as the summer drew on. The second reading of the bill was carried by a majority of 16 on the 26th of March. On the question of going into committee on the 20th of May, there was a majority of three against ministers. They were beaten in every attempt to throw out their opponents on any point whatever. O'Connell grew savage; and the more violent supporters of the bill exasperated his passion by insults which no man of flesh and blood could be expected to endure. When, on this first night in committee, he said that this was a bill for trampling on the liberties of the people of Ireland, several members shouted in his face—whistled in his face—laughed full in his face. At each insult he repeated the words-the inattention of the chairman allowing the scene to go onand after the third repetition of the assertion, in his most emphatic manner, Mr. O'Connell brought matters to a crisis by exclaiming: 'If you were ten times as beastly in your uproar and bellowing, I should still feel it to be my duty to interpose to prevent this injustice.' On being called to account some of his humour peeped out in his appeal to natural history. 'Bellowing' was certainly the right word, he said; and what creatures but beasts were able to bellow? The uproar showed the extremity of the hope and fear of parties in one way; and then, the obstructions and struggles in committee showed the same

thing in another way. No means and devices were spared to delay the progress of the bill; and on the 6th of July, Lord Stanley gave in, for this session. His tone was, reasonably enough, one of triumph, while acknowledging the certainty of defeat by delay, if he did not withdraw his measure. He repudiated the censure most prominently put forward about his bill—that it did not raise any question about the franchise—avowing that the reform of the registration was the aim of the measure. He pointed with pride to the 300 members who had sustained an opposition bill against the whole power of the government through ten divisions, in nine of which the ministers were beaten; and he promised a renewal of the struggle early in the next session.

In the interval, an association was formed in Ulster, for the object of procuring a reform of the registration: and Lord Stanley made some few and not very important changes in his bill, on their information. He introduced his measure on the 2nd of February; and the government brought in their rival bill two days afterwards. There is something painful in the retrospect of this whole transaction. It was now several years since the Reform Bill had passed, and nothing had been done for electoral improvement in Ireland. The Whig government offered reasons and excuses in plenty; but nothing that they could say obviated the general impression that that must be a government too weak to rule which cannot get its proper business done till it is roused into a spirit of rivalship with the opposition. Lord Howick had voted steadily with Lord Stanley on his registration measure, from the conviction that some reform of the kind was imperatively needed. The ministers promised a rival measure; the Ulster association, and their nine defeats on Lord Stanley's move, quickened their speed; and their bill was ready to run a race with Lord Stanley's through the next session. But they brought dislike and some contempt on their bill and themselves, by the unstatesmanlike and somewhat petty method which they adopted' now, as too often before, of tacking to their measure-as a sort of postscript-a proposal of vast importance, which seemed to demand previous announcement, and a special

and well-prepared discussion. It was one of the most painful signs of the weakness of the successive Whig ministries, that they had recourse to the vulgar expedient of surprises, almost as often as they had any serious work to do. For the moment, it appeared to give them some advantage, by depriving the opposition of all opportunity for immediate concert, and by exciting afresh an emotion of hope and gratitude among the dissatisfied Liberal party throughout the country; but such emotions grow weaker and less responsive under a series of surprises; and the opposition learned by experience how to act in such cases. In the instance of the Reform Bill, when all the world knew that the men came into power for the purpose of doing a particular work, it was prudent and eminently beneficial to keep secret to the last moment the scope and details of the measure on which every man, in and out of parliament, was speculating. But the perpetual repetition of secrecy and surprising announcements took, after a time, the appearance of a trick; and especially when, as in the case before us, an essential and wholly unlooked-for change was arbitrarily connected with a bill which professed something quite different. The government bill, after treating of the registration of voters in Ireland, went on to propose a radical change in the franchise-its establishment on 'a basis distinct and independent,' and entirely new. The so-called Registration Bill was in fact an unannounced new Reform Bill for Ireland. The valuation under the poor law-of which we shall presently speak—was to be the entirely new basis; and an occupier of a tenement of the yearly value of £5, under a term of not less than fourteen years, was to enter upon the rights of suffrage hitherto enjoyed by persons having a beneficial interest to the amount of £10.

Those who most seriously desired the extension of the franchise in Ireland were perhaps the most concerned at this method of proposing it. They felt that a question so great was injured by such treatment of it. The ministers had no reason to feel elated by the reception of their measure. Lord Howick, and others who had acted with him in the preceding session, now, when they saw the matter really taken in hand, joined the government party

again: the debate was full and earnest, extending over four nights; yet the ministerial majority for the second reading was only five. Their opponents took for granted that they always knew that they could not carry their bill. There is no need to attribute to them such guilt as would be implied in sporting with the expectations of the disfranchised thousands in Ireland for party purposes; but they cannot be acquitted of the levity or miscalculation-to say the least of it-of bringing forward a measure of such tantalising promise, under circumstances eminently unfavourable to its success. Lord J. Russell's next course was not one which could command the respect of any party. After the division, he announced the desire of the government to lose no time with the bill, and that he should therefore bring it forward again the next Monday. When Monday came, however, he proposed to defer the discussion till after Easter, as he found many members impressed by the proposal of the new franchise, and he wished to obtain more full and accurate information before the matter was further discussed. It is not to be wondered at that this awkward explanation was received with 'shouts of laughter;' nor that the opposition taunted ministers with having never entertained any expectation of passing the all-important provision of their bill. They had had the recess in which to prepare for what they knew must be a critical struggle; and now, after the second stage of the business, and after many protestations of a desire to lose no time, they asked for a pause, in order to procure information enough to proceed upon in the dis-cussion of their own measure. The postponement proposed was to the 23rd of April; and from Lord Stanley himself down to the lowest Irish newspapers in the repeal interest, there was one loud protestation of belief that the real aim of the ministers was to drive Lord Stanley's measure to the end of the session, and not to carry their own. Lord Stanley, meantime, gave early notice that he should contest to the last the proposal of a £5 qualification. The immediate consequence was, that, prior to all discussion, the ministers raised the qualification from £5 to £8.

When the House went into committee on the 26th of April, Lord Howick moved an amendment on the first VOL. 111. Y clause, designed for the better ascertainment of that ' beneficial interest' of the occupier, which was practically a constant difficulty in the determining of rating and electoral qualification. The amendment, in fact, brought before the committee the question whether the amount of poor-rate paid should be the sole qualification of a voter, whether he had a beneficial interest in his holding or not: or whether a beneficial interest should be maintained as a test of the right to vote. Sir R. Peel and others saw that the fate of the amendment would decide that of the bill. But, when Lord Howick's amendment was carried by a majority of 21, Lord J. Russell proposed delay, to consider whether ministers must withdraw their measure. They concluded not to withdraw it, as Lord Howick declared that his amendment proposed a merely supplementary qualification, and not one which should supersede that provided in the bill. From this time, the scene in committee was painful and humbling-every Liberal member who came forward had something essential to propose about the franchise, different from what any one else had thought of; the government were irresolute and changeable; the opposition laughed and triumphed. The final division took place on the qualification clause, when there was a majority of 11 against ministers, supported as they were by O'Connell and his influence. If all elso had been favourable, the vacillation of ministers among the propositions of their own supporters was enough to insure the loss of their bill. They seemed to be influenced by the last speaker, after the manner of persons ignorant of their business; and they shifted the amount of rating again and again, as if they did not know that, with every such change, they were proposing to admit or to exclude half or two-thirds of a constituency with a stroke of the pen. Here, however, was a close of the unhappy business. It was impossible to go on; and Lord J. Russell moved that the chairman should quit the chair. Nor could Lord Stanley's bill be proceeded with during that session. The whole transaction ended without other results than aggravated provocation of the Irish, who had been tantalised to no purpose-great loss of the time and patience of parliament-and an irrecoverable decline of the Whig administration in the esteem and good-will of their supporters, and the estimation of the nation at large. Here was an end, too—and this was perhaps no bad result—of all speculation about the cure of political corruption being the true means of the redemption of Ireland. If Ireland was to wait for this, it would be too late to redeem her at all; for it was clear that electoral renovation would not be granted to her while there were two parties in the British parliament.

5. Some of the most earnest and thoughtful of the friends of Ireland were among the many who looked for her redemption at the other end of the scale from the advocates of an affectionate despotism. Instead of desiring that the people should have everything done for them, and be kept out of sight of the law which they hated and distrusted, these friends of the Irish proposed to induce a knowledge and love of the function and prevalence of law by making the inhabitants of Ireland learn self-government by the discipline of good municipal institutions. England was now sprinkled all over with little republics, where her citizens would receive the best political education in the best manner; and it was thought that a similar system would do for Ireland all that she needed, by improving her people socially and politically, and bringing her into a relation with England which would silence for ever the cry of repeal. The proposal was a good and great one; and, but for the deep underlying mischief, it might have largely availed, in course of years. But this mischief was exactly in the way, in the present case. It must precisely intercept the beneficial results of municipal reform; for, among all the curses attributable to the insecurity of title to the possession of land in Ireland, none is more fatal than its prevention of the growth of a middle class.

There was no question on which the passions of the two great parties in parliament became more fierce, as the debate was renewed from year to year, than on this—of municipal reform in Ireland. There was hardly a man, in or out of parliament, who did not take a side, with all the decision and certainty, and all the wonder and wrath at his opponents, which attend upon the discussion of vital

¥ 2

political questions. It was not only that Lord John Russell declared in his place that this was a 'vital question to the present administration;' it was also known to be vital to the fate of Ireland-whether she was to be governed on one set of principles or the opposite; and again, it was felt to be vital to the fate of Great Britain too, as determining whether she was to halt between two. opinions, or to decide finally for that principle of renovation and progress of which the policy of her latest years had been the exponent. Considering these things, the strife could not but be fierce-it was hardly possible for individual opponents to be just to each other; and for the respective parties it was quite impossible. We, however, at the distance of ten or twelve years, can see things more plainly than any one saw them then. We have had grave admonition and mournful rebuke about our confident judgment, our positiveness, our presumptuous and shallow censures of public men and of our own antagonists in argument. While still only half-seeing about Irelandstill 'sounding on a dim and perilous way' in investigating the sources of her woes, we are not so dark and insensible as we were ten years ago-and we are now able to perceive that, if both parties and almost all individual men were wrong, both parties and all leading men were also right.

The views of the respective parties, as declared by their spokesmen, were these:

The Whig ministers and the Liberal party generally regarded municipal reform in Ireland as an essential part of the scheme of institutional renovation which the nation had deliberately adopted. It was the proper and necessary finish of parliamentary reform in all the three kingdoms, and borough-reform in England, Wales and Scotland. They considered it especially indispensable in regard to Ireland, because Ireland needed, above every other part of the empire, an identification with England in her political privileges and fortunes. They regarded municipal reform as more necessary in Ireland than elsewhere, because an abuse existed in Ireland, remediable by these means, perfectly singular in its mischief and intolerableness—the injurious distinction of creeds established by the existing corporation system. In the time of James I., municipal

officers who would not enforce Protestant modes of worship in their respective towns were ejected, and creatures of the government put in their places; and the new holders of office surrendered the rights and privileges of their townsmen into the king's hands, and accepted fresh charters which allowed scarcely any powers to the local residents, and left the nomination to all important offices to the government. The government nominees had power to appoint their successors; and thus, the exclusion of the Catholic majority from local power and privilege was as complete as the Protestant minority chose. In 1672, some relaxation of the Protestant monopoly took place in virtue of the 'new rules' issued by the Irish government. But the Revolution, sixteen years afterwards, annihilated the virtue of these rules, and all social advantage derivable from municipal institutions was again monopolised by Protestants. Within this monopoly, smaller monopolies arose, till, in many Irish towns, the corporate bodies had become mere family parties-all offices being held by relations and dependents of the chief member, or of a great Protestant landlord in the neighbourhood; and even the parliamentary member being merely a nominee of these nominees. These usurped powers became actually subjects of proprietorship-being transmitted by inheritance, openly sold to competitors, and recognised as a ground of compensation by the national government when the union interfered with the right of these 'patrons' or proprietors to send members to parliament. Under such a holding of municipal power and privilege, there could of course be no impartial administration of justice. No one can wonder at the prevalent distrust and hatred of the law in Ireland, when it is considered how hopeless was the chance of the Catholic and the man of liberal politics in a locality where justice must be sought, if at all, from magistrates, juries, and minor officials, who were chosen for their zeal in an adverse religious and political faith. Then again, a large number-in some cases almost the whole body-of burgesses were non-residents, patronised by the officials, and introduced to borough privileges in swarms, while the inhabitants were left helpless, to be victimised by their impertinent oppressors. The charity

funds, the lands, the borough houses, the water-worksall the property which should have made their towns healthful and handsome, and have relieved their poor, and educated the young, and raised the condition of the whole local population-went into the pockets of half-a-dozen men, or into utter waste and loss. The commissioners' reports tell of thousands of acres of land which would, at that date (1833), have readily brought in £1 an acre, being let, on leases of ninety-nine years, for 1s. an acre, or less; of tolls and customs being pocketed, as a matter of course, by the mayor and aldermen, while the streets were unpaved, dark, and never cleaned; of the noble waterworks of Archbishop Bolton at Cashel being destroyed from utter neglect-miles of underground conduits being choked up, and the water turned off for the convenience of a miller-the whole being recoverable by an outlay of £500, while the corporate officers were making presents to one another of many thousands annually, by iniquitous leases and bargains. Here was a case as strong as need be. In desiring to reform it, and in stating the inestimable value of free municipal institutions, the Whig government and the Liberal party were eminently right. Where they were wrong was in assuming too easily that free municipal institutions would answer in Ireland, as in England; in concluding that the true reason for the opposition of their antagonists was a fear for the Protestant Church in Ireland, which overpowered all consideration for the good of the majority; and in unscrupulously charging their adversaries with a predilection for tyranny, in their advocacy of a centralising principle of government for Ireland, and with rapacity and corruption in desiring to retain the profits of the old system for their local partisans.

The Conservatives, on the other hand, seem to have been right in perceiving that the peculiar condition of society in Ireland must prevent the full and free working of popular institutions. They seem to have laid hold of the fearful truth recently expressed by one who loves Ireland too well to be of any party, in regard to her interests. 'A government based on popular institutions,' says Mr. Pim, 'fails to secure order, unless it have the

support of the people. Ireland appears to labour under the difficulty of having aristocratic social institutions without an aristocracy; and the mechanism of a popular government, inapplicable to its present social condition, because it does not possess an educated middle class, by whom these popular institutions might be worked.' The aim of the conservatives was to prevent the assignment to Ireland of 'the mechanism of a popular government, inapplicable to its present social condition.' They had a perfect right to prefer a centralising principle of government for a country in so peculiar a condition; and the question of their credit should have depended altogether on the merits or demerits of their centralising scheme. From this point of view, they appear to have been more clear-sighted than the Whigs; while from another, they seem to have committed the grossest error belonging to the time and occasion. They adhered, consciously or unconsciously, to the hope and expectation which founded the Church in Ireland, and has kept it there, vi et armis, as a missionary establishment. 'For the last three centuries,' said a contemporary writer, 'Ireland has only had a provisional government, constituted for a state of things dependent on the duration of popery, which was supposed to be a temporary evil.' To this fatally foolish supposition, the Conservatives adhered, in their opposition to municipal reform-not avowedly, and probably not consciously; but all that they proposed, and every step when they opposed, was vitiated by a tacit assumption that, while the Catholics were to be cared for, it was as a suffering multitude who were to be Protestants ere long. This gave a provisional air to the proposals of the Conservatives, and disabled them from appreciating the Whig aim of settling matters on a basis which would endure. Again, it was natural for the Conservatives to remonstrate against the rashness-as they thought it-of encouraging the unhappy disposition of the Irish to hanker after some vague political remedy for miseries purely social or moral. It was natural that they should look upon the Whigs, when holding out unreasonable hopes to the Irish from municipal reform, as too much resembling O'Connell in his promises of repeal and its blessings. But they were felt to be quite as wrong as their adversaries ever were in charging those adversaries with vulgar popularity-hunting, with hiding a fear of O'Connell under a mask of political action, and with treating Ireland with a stupid and insulting good-will, like that of a man who gives a clever child a watch that will not go—moreover, at the end of an explanation of the beauty and value of watches.

Both parties desired, earnestly and perhaps equally, the sweeping away of the intolerable abuse of the existing corporations. They differed, broadly and passionately, as to what the substitute should be; and they resembled one another but too much in the pertinacity with which they affixed discreditable imputations upon each other.

The history of the five years' struggle to establish 'normal schools' of political education in seventy-one towns of Ireland, where 900,000 inhabitants might begin their training in free citizenship, was briefly this:---

In 1833, the Irish corporation commissioners began their work of inquiry. In 1836, the royal speech at the opening of the session expressed a hope that parliament would be able to apply a remedy to the abuses of the Irish corporations, 'founded upon the same principles' as the Municipal Reform Acts for England and Scotland. The Irish attorney-general, Mr O'Loghlen, early introduced the ministerial bill, which was allowed to be read without opposition, a second time, on the 29th of February, as a sort of pledge that all parties were disposed to abolish the existing system, whatever they might do towards establishing a better. After this, Sir R. Peel explained his views, which were, in their main points. that, in the existing condition of Ireland, it was hopeless that free institutions would work, for want of the class specially needed to work them; that therefore the place of the old corporations, now to be abolished, should not be filled by new corporate bodies, which would only introduce new dissension and corruption, but that the sheriffs and recorders should be appointed by the crown, the local affairs of the inhabitants being managed by commissioners, chosen by popular election. He did not conceive it possible to deprive the body of existing freemen

of their rights, because they had long ago become proprietary and hereditary; and he believed, finally, that the only way to preserve any impartiality in the administration of provincial affairs in Ireland was to vest the principal appointments in the crown, as from the great preponderance of Catholics, the exclusion of Protestants now, under a system of popular election, would be as complete and unfair as the exclusion of Catholics had hitherto been, under a system of self-election in the corporations. This last reason was not one which increased the popular opinion of Sir R. Peel's wisdom; as it was clear that it begged the question of the impartiality of the crown, and it could proceed only upon the supposition that the Catholics would have the same confidence as Sir R. Peel himself in that impartiality. Lord F. Egerton moved, in accordance with the views of Sir R. Peel, the abolition of the old corporations, without the creation of any new; decreeing the government of towns by officers appointed by the crown. He would even have the commissioners for the administration of borough property provided in the same manner. This motion was thrown out by a large majority. But its theory met with better success in the Lords. There, the bill was 'amended' by cutting out of it all the clauses relating to the constitution of new corporate bodies. Out of 140 clauses, 106 had been in substance omitted, while 18 had been added; and, while the 'amended bill' abolished corporate institutions entirely, it actually preserved to many of the officials who profited by the old system the power and emolument of their situations. Of course, this was not to be endured. The Commons rejected the amendments, and sent back the bill to the Lords in nearly its original state. Lord Melbourne was outvoted by a majority of 97 in an attempt to get the bill reconsidered. It was sent down to the Commons, with a statement of their Lordships' reasons for adhering to their amendments. On the 30th of June, Lord John Russell moved that the amendments should be considered that day three months: the House agreed; and thus the bill was lost for that session.

In introducing the bill again in the next February, Lord J. Russell was understood to intimate that the Melbourne administration would stand or fall by it. It was, he said, 'a vital question to the present administration;' so the opposition knew what they had to expect and to do, and the contention was very fierce. Lord F. Egerton repeated his motion of the preceding year. The debate lasted over three nights, and was of great interest from the clear grounds taken by both parties. The reformers dwelt upon the sacrifice of all other interests to that of the Church, which they charged upon the Conservatives, urging home upon them their fear of the Catholic majority of Ireland—a fear which was by no means unreasonable, considering the oppression under which the Catholics had suffered, and the possible effects of reaction. Lord Stanley avowed, in committee, that if he saw the Church in a more secure position, some of his strongest objections to the bill would be removed; but it was not candid to represent this as the only ground of the opposition. Their highest and principal ground was the dissimilarity of Irish and English character and circumstances, which rendered it impossible that the same institutions should work alike in the two countries. It was remarked that some of the opposition speakers, who had done their utmost in debate, were absent from the division. The ministers had a majority of 80. On the third reading, their majority fell to 55.

The day before the second reading in the House of Lords, a gathering of peers took place at Apsley House, to agree upon what should be done. A considerable number were for throwing out the bill at once, but the Duke of Wellington overruled them, with advice which, by their account, was highly characteristic. He willed that the bill should go into committee; and when asked how he would then have it dealt with, he said it would be time enough to think of that when it was there. Before this, a report had got abroad, which was now believed-that the Conservative leaders would pass a Municipal Reform Bill, if complete security was at the same time afforded to the Church; though it was not easy to see how this could be done, to the satisfaction of the Conservatives, but by still subordinating the Catholic majority to a favoured Protestant minority. The next move of the Duke of

OPPOSITION.

Wellington confirmed the rumour. On the 5th of May, he proposed a postponement of the discussion, on the ground of wishing to see what would be done in the other House about the tithe and poor-law questions: and he obtained a majority over ministers of 77. The House of Commons proceeded slowly; and when the 9th of June arrived, the Lords again postponed their debate, leaving the premier helpless under their majority of 86. The speedy dissolution of parliament, in consequence of the death of the king, stopped the progress of the measure; and thus again, at the risk of great irritation in the Irish against the peers, it once more stood over to another session.

This was the date of the famous compromise before related, when Lord J. Russell consented to the sacrifice of the appropriation principle for the sake of Sir R. Peel's surrender of his opposition to the Irish Municipal Reform Bill. All went smoothly for some time-the Conservatives fully admitting that, if there were to be corporations at all, they should be appointed by popular election. But then came the question of the franchise; and the parties found it impossible to agree on the qualification. Sir R. Peel desired a £10 qualification, with the test of rating. Lord J. Russell would admit either the parliamentary qualification of £10, or the test of rating with a £5 qualification. Sir R. Peel would not yield. The ministers assembled their supporters at one of the government offices, to consult whether they could concede anything further, for the sake of getting the bill passed. It was decided that there should be no further compromise; and on the 11th of June, they carried their point of the qualification by a majority of 20. The bill passed the Commons by a majority of 35. But in the Lords, a modified £10 qualification was substituted immediately. Other amendments were introduced which it was wholly impossible for the authors of the measure to sanction. The bill was bandied between the Houses, as it had been two years before, and dropped in exactly the same manner.

In 1839, the royal speech declared the reform and amendment of the municipal corporations of Ireland to be essential to the interests of that country; and in eight days afterwards-on the 14th of February-Lord Morpeth brought forward the subject again-for the fourth year in succession. By this time, the leaders of both parties were ready for further concession. The ministers proposed an £8 qualification, with the test of rating to the poor-law. In towns where the poor-law should have been in operation for three years, the franchise was to be assimilated to the English. Sir R. Peel and Lord Stanley agreed to this proposal, and rebuked the inveteracy of opposition manifested by some of their own party. This opposition was carried into committee; but the bill passed the Commons on the 15th of July. The premier pointed out to the opposition Lords that by this time the bill was almost their own, it being made up of a series of amendments in the parts which had been the subject of argument; but Lord Lyndhurst, in his apprehension that, 'except in the northern province of Ireland, there would be in every town a Radical and Roman Catholic mayor, a Radical and Roman Catholic town-council, Radical and Roman Catholic magistrates,' moved and carried an amendment about the franchise, with several others, which, again, it was impossible for the authors of the measure to submit to. Thus fruitlessly closed the fourth year of the debate. Lord Lyndhurst could not wonder if he was more unpopular in Ireland than any other man in the empire.

In 1840, the bill passed rapidly through the Lower House, being supported by Sir R. Peel. Lord Lyndhurst was again ready for opposition; and his amendments were so many and so injurious to the measure, that it required much command of temper on every hand to bear quietly with so audacious a resistance to the conviction and will of the majority-of the majority, that is, everywhere but in the House of Lords. There he carried all before himcarried his provisions for the patronage of the old freemen, his £10 qualification, his frustration of the appointment of candidates for the shrievalty by the town-councils, and several other points. When the bill was sent down to the Commons, they demurred at the amendments, held conferences, argued, and finally yielded; and the deteriorated and corrupted bill became law on the 10th of August, 1840.

The main provisions of the bill were these. Ten corporate towns were continued as corporations under the provisions of the act-being constituted of mayor, aldermen, and burgesses. Thirty-seven smaller corporations were dissolved-nineteen of which possessed corporate funds to the amount of £100 a year and upwards, and eighteen which had corporate funds to a smaller amount. Any of these boroughs which had a population exceeding 3000 might have a charter on petition of the majority to the queen in council. As for the others, their corporate funds were to be vested in commissioners, to be applied to public objects. Some towns were already supplied with commissioners, under a former act. Those which had not any commissioners were divided into two classes; in the first of which were towns empowered to elect a board of commissioners, in the proportion of one commissioner to every 500 inhabitants; and in the second were the smaller towns whose corporate funds were to be administered by the poor-law guardians of the locality. The way was left open for the smaller towns to rise to the faculty of having commissioners, and of obtaining a charter of incorporation, when ready for the privilege. The franchise was a household suffrage, with a £10 qualification. In other points, the bill closely resembled the English act.

There is no doubt about the beneficial operation of this measure, spoiled as it was. The sweeping away of the old corporations was a great blessing; and this, and the exclusion of the centralising principle, reconciled the Liberal party to the passage of the bill, in preference to waiting longer. How it might have fared with Ireland at this day under the undisturbed operation of the measure, many may dispute, but none can affirm; for the great underlying mischief was about to stir and heave, and overthrow all hope that by municipal reform, or any other measure yet attempted, the redemption of Ireland was to be achieved.

6. As for those who acknowledged a deeper necessity than any of these, from having obtained a glimpse of the great underlying mischief, they desired a poor-law for Ireland, and had more to say in favour of their specific than sincere men were willing to controvert. Whether

Ireland should have a poor-law of the nature of the English one was perhaps, of all the political questions of our time, the most difficult of decision. O'Connell himself, who was undoubtedly in earnest on this question, unmingled as it was with any party feelings and devices, vacillated for years between the perplexities on either hand. He, for once, took pains to learn and consider the economical considerations of the case; and when they were fresh in his mind, was full of hope and joy for Ireland, and of gratitude, in which he called on all his countrymen to join, to the Whig ministry which proposed the effectual boon. Then, again, his doubts would recurdoubts whether the pauperism of Ireland could be ascertained so far as to justify an invocation to it to come and be fed; doubts whether it might not peril the souls, or at \cdot least injure the spiritual interests of the Catholics, to interfere with their private alms-giving; doubts whether the mendicancy of the poor had not something holy in it with which it was impious to meddle; doubts whether the glory and grace of the Irish character would not disappear under the operation of sound economical principles and methods; and, finally, doubts whether the ordinary run of Irish landlords could or would support the poor of their own districts. Up to the year 1836, he had constantly opposed the introduction of any poor-law system into Ireland; and it is possible that some of the personal motives ascribed to him at the time-the dread of weakening the popular dependence upon himself, and of losing his influence by the assimilation of Ireland to England-might have been more or less the cause of his opposition; but if so, all such considerations gave way before the disclosures of the commission of inquiry in 1836. It appears probable that the agitator himself was unaware of the misery of the Irish poor-the abiding, unintermitting misery which they had come to regard as the condition of their life. This appears probable from the considerations that his own tenantry were in a very wretched condition under the management of middle-men, over whom he exercised no supervision; and that he met his countrymen only in the aspect of adorers of himselfin worshipping crowds, on days of political business, or

groups of watchers on holidays, who cheered on his beagles, and echoed the huntsman's cry, and laughed with delight at seeing the great liberator enjoying his sport. It is probable that the exposures of the commissioners' report were as new and terrific to O'Connell himself as to any member of the government; and that they overpowered for a time his worst tendencies, and made him, for a short interval, a single-hearted patriot. The period was very short. Under the impression of the dreadful anecdotes of the report-of men lying for weeks on damp straw in a mud hovel, because they were too weak from hunger to rise and go in search of a better fate; of the feeding on 'yellow weed' and unripe potatoes; of the artificial spasms and vomitings induced for the sake of getting warmth and shelter in the cholera hospitals: while these things were fresh in his imagination, O'Connell wrote to the electors of Kilkenny on the absolute necessity of a poor-law for Ireland. He added to his reasons of necessity an offer of one more chance to England of escaping a repeal of the union. If she did not give Ireland a good poor-law, she must undergo repeal. He still feared mischief from the poor-law, because he could not, at least he did not, separate the abuses and fatal operation of the corrupted poor-law of Elizabeth from its principle; and he pointed to the economical and moral devastation it had caused in England as consequences certain to occur in Ireland : yet, so fearful was the existing wretchedness, that it scared him from all speculation for the future, and compelled him to call for a system of legal charity, without a moment's delay. While it was preparing, he fell back somewhat from his new convictions; told the trades-unions that it was had government that had made beggars; that good government was the best poor-law; that a poor-law would keep down wages, and increase pauperism; and that the House of Lords would make this law a means of subjecting the people to the great landlords. He should prefer a tax on absentees, to be applied in promoting emigration, and in maintaining asylums for the aged, the infant, and the sick.

In the session of 1837, when the Irish Poor-law Bill was introduced by the government, Mr. O'Connell declared that, seeing its necessity, he should not oppose it; but he assailed every important part of the measure, separately, while he declared himself a supporter of the whole. His pleas were curiously contradictory. The Irish would never enter workhouses; yet these houses would maintain men in idleness who ought to be at work upon the land. The land could not maintain the poorthe production being only one-fourth that of England, and one-half what, considering the inferiority of the soil, it ought to be; yet, this bill would make the people the slaves of the landlords. The natural poor-law-of sympathy—was the best; and Ireland's charity hitherto the glory of Ireland, would be extinguished by the imposition of a legal charity; yet, he would support asylums, and no other charitable institutions willingly, because asylums for the infirm and sick could not encourage fraud and mendicancy. He declared that a poor-law would only swell the numbers-then amounting to nearly two millions and a half-of persons absolutely destitute for a large portion of every year; yet he ridiculed the notion of union-houses, because they would hold only 80,000, and claimed equal assistance for the two millions and a half. While protesting his belief that the measure would aggravate pauperism, and suddenly extinguish private charity, he protested against the gradual introduction and extension of the institution, and claimed immediate and full rescue by means of it for the starving millions of his countrymen. Thus shifting were his views while he declared himself a supporter of the government, and voted for the bill. He deserved, by his previous conduct, the imputation, that he was taking what could be got from England, while industriously providing for the failure of the measure by disgusting his countrymen with it beforehand; but the impression derived by an impartial reader from his speeches in parliament is, that he really was perplexed by the difficulties of the case. His intellect had, in fact, by this time, become so injured by his habits of partiality and exaggeration, and tampering with truth for patriotic purposes, that it had really become irksome and difficult to him to entertain any question so serious in his own

336

view as to compel him to balance the evidence of its. respective sides. With all his astuteness in the conduct of intrigues, and the management of the Irish mind, he had become incapable of apprehending distinctions which were all-important in the consideration of measures founded on any principle; as, for instance, in his declaration of the next session, that the 'strange distinction' between 'poverty' and 'destitution' was not practical-was too nice for Ireland-and so forth; whereas this distinction -the ground-work of the whole poor-law reform in England, and institution in Ireland-is as broad and palpable as the distinction between a householder and a vagrant. In that next session, of 1838, Mr. O'Connell took his stand decidedly-he said finally-against the measure. He declared that he had before wanted moral courage to oppose it; but now he had grown older and somewhat firmer. The fact probably was, that the first agonising impression of the misery of Ireland had worn off, and his natural prepossessions, as an adventurer, as a man of reckless passions, and as a Catholic, impressed with the blessedness and holiness of spontaneous almsgiving, now recovered their sway, and led him to oppose the introduction of an institution which was too regular and exact, too legal and impartial, too repressive of wrong, and favourable to homely good, to be otherwise than distasteful and alarming to him. In the final period of legislation, therefore, O'Connell went against the bill, with all his forces; and among those forces he enlisted every truth of political economy which he could apply against a compulsory charity in general, and such treatment of the misery of Ireland in particular. His last appearance on this question in parliament was in the character of a rigid political economist.

The case was indeed perplexing enough to sounder thinkers than O'Connell; and his conduct may be regarded as a mere exaggeration of the thought of the time on this question. The very officials themselves were divided as to whether Ireland should have a poor-law or not. Some of the commissioners were in favour of it, and others against it : their third report was against it—the secretary for it. The greater number of political economists in

VOL. III.

i -

337

England were for it; but a few of the most eminent were against it.

In an abstract view, the case was clear enough. The unbounded spontaneous charity of the Irish, which makes the family that have potatoes for the day take in and feed the family that have none, is a fatal encourager of recklessness, as the givers expect to be destitute and thus fed, in their turn. A legal charity would act as a check here. The imposition of rates upon the holders of the land would act as a regulator upon the fatal system of landletting which prevailed in the south and west of Ireland; a system from which individuals could extricate themselves only by means of such an arrangement as this. The landlords must be brought to reason, and thought, and principle, by the obligation to support their own poor. The occupiers would be benefited-their expenses being shared more equally with the landlord; whereas the true incidence of the prevalent almsgiving was at present upon them. Instead of this indefinite expenditure the occupier would now have one which he could estimate; and he would no doubt prefer laying out his money in improving his land to supporting men in idleness; and thus further means of prosperity would be continually growing. If Mr. O'Connell was right in saying that the Irish, with their love of uncontrolled freedom, would never enter the workhouses, well and good; since they could keep out of it only by maintaining themselves. If they did enter the workhouses, and idly stay there-well and good too; for this would relieve the immediate pressure of competition for potato grounds, and would afford opportunity for nominal rents to come down to the level of real ones, and some honesty might be introduced into transactions between landlord and tenant. A middle class might thus be growing up; a class of improving small farmers, interposed between the landlord and the cottier, for whom there had hitherto appeared no alternative between a precarious and transient occupation of land and mendicancy. With the class of farmers must grow up a class of bona-fide labourers. Thus would land and men improve together. There would be increased production from the land-classes of rising men upon ita check upon the reckless increase of population—an influx of capital, which would cause further production and improvement; and so on. Such was the expectation of the advocates of an extension of the English poor-law to Ireland; and they added that no country ever afforded such favourable circumstances for the establishment of a poor-law as Ireland did at that time.

As for the opponents of the measure-they dwelt upon the peculiarities of the Irish mind, religion, and social state. This was their ground. They would have had Ireland assisted by a legal charity in regard to the sick and infirm, and to a large scheme of emigration. Further than this they believed the system would not work : and they declared their expectation that the legal charity would be found not to supersede at all the pious almsgiving which had become the religious habit of the Catholic districts. No one seems to have spoken out about the deep underlying mischief which might too probably frustrate all efforts and mortify all expectations. The land was the broad basis on which this great structure was to be founded; and while the title to, and possession of, that land was insecure, this foundation was no better than a shaking bog. In some districts in the west of Ireland, nine-tenths of the population were without means of living in winter. The expectation was that a poor-law would force the landowners to employ the people, in order to escape so enormous a charge as the poor-rate. Landowners elsewhere, whose past and future were ascertained and secure, might venture upon such a work, in the strength of unquestionable possession; but not so men who had grown up in the recklessness of insecurity, and to whom the future was merely a scene of chance. It was fearful enough that the proportion of paupers to the rest of society was twice as large as in England, while the pauper maintenance fund was, in proportion, little more than one-third ; and when to this grave fact is added the consideration of the insecurity of the landed property itself which is the basis of the whole, the wisest men, and most philosophical economists, may be excused for doubting whether the English poor-law would work in Ireland.

When the board of commissioners of inquiry recomz 2 mended, in their report of 1836, a legal charity for the support of the sick and infirm, and for the promotion of emigration, the British parliament and statesmen were not disposed to agree to the suggestion. To take off the weight of the able-bodied from the fund of voluntary charity was the first object; and while the land was so badly tilled, it might prove no kindness to Ireland to remove her strong men to the colonies-if even arrangements for the purpose could have been, at that time, made. It was determined by the ministers to send Mr. Nicholls, one of the poor-law commissioners, to Ireland, as the man fitted above all others to view the state of Irish society with the eye of science as well as of compassion. Mr. Nicholls's commission bore date the 22nd of August 1836; and, after an inquiry of little more than six weeks, he prepared a very able report, which favoured the introduction of the English poor-law into Ireland. It is well known that inquiry is immeasurably facilitated by such science and practical habits as Mr. Nicholls carried with him; and less objection was made to his report, on account of the haste with which it was produced, than might have been expected. But it is also understood how partial and technical may be the observation and inferences of a man so devoted to a great and successful enterprise as Mr. Nicholls was to the administration of the reformed poor-law in England; and it was a charge of the day against his report, that it showed him to have carried his conclusions with him, ready for use, if he found them applicable, and that his observation amounted to not much more than seeing what he was looking for. His report, able as it would have been on an abstract case. able as it was on a partial case, was felt not to make sufficient allowance for so much of the peculiarity of the Irish character as depends on religious faith and guidance, nor to appreciate the haphazard character of the propriotorship of Irish estates. His view is derivable from one paragraph of his report: 'Ireland is now suffering under a circle of evils, producing and reproducing each other: want of capital produces want of employmentwant of employment, turbulence and misery-turbulence and misery, insecurity-insecurity prevents the intro-

duction and accumulation of capital-and so on. Until this circle is broken, the evils must continue, and probably augment.' The largest omission here is of the notification that the insecurity is owing to other causes than those specified. The unhinging of society which results from a long course of precarious holding of land, is of a kind not to be rectified by a poor-law, which proceeds on the supposition that the landlords are the secure owners of the soil, and therefore able, as well as liable. to support its burdens. Considering the habit of mendicancy in the country, begging was no test of destitution; and the workhouse test was recommended to be strictly enforced. On a calculation that from eighty to a hundred workhouses would supply the requisite accommodation, the expense was estimated at from £700,000, to £800,000. If this amount were advanced as a loan from the imperial treasury, it might be repaid in annual instalments of 5 per cent. from the rates, with the interest-without any greater burden to the landlords and occupiers than was now imposed by the voluntary charity which came mainly out of their pockets at last. The payment of rates was proposed to be divided equally between the landlord and the occupier, by which it was believed and hoped that the landlord would find his burden heavier, and the occupier lighter than hitherto. The new right of supervision over its members, which would arise in society by the establishment of a right to maintenance, was to be first manifested in the appointment of a warden or head-borough, who would keep watch against the increase of destitution through fault, and the spread of mendicancy. Precautions were to be taken against a preponderance of magistrates at the boards of guardians, and no clergyman, of any denomination, was to be concerned in poor-law administration during the prevalence of religious rancour in the country. It was thought best that the English board of commissioners should extend their administration to Ireland, rather than that a separate board should be established in Dublin; that the evils of inexperience and party suspicion might be avoided, and this new link in the union of England and Ireland be made as complete and sound as possible.

The royal speech of 1837 recommended to parliament. in regard to Ireland, the consideration of "the difficult, but pressing question, of establishing some legal provision for the poor; and on the 13th of February, Lord J. Russell brought forward the Irish Poor-law Bill. It was founded on Mr. Nicholls's report; and it was sustained as very few measures of consequence are in the House of Commons. Sir R. Peel and Lord Stanley supported it, in its general provisions, and scarcely any one was found to object to it as a whole. It was proceeding favourably through committee when the death of the king deferred its passage for another session. By that time, some change of opinion had taken place, and much more opposition than before was offered by many persons besides Mr. O'Connell Some had fears about the patronage of the board, in a country so sensitive and on the watch for injury as Ireland now was. Some desired a voluntary assessment by the clergy, for purposes of outdoor relief, in addition to the provisions of the act. And some brought forward their estimates of the population and of the rental, and of the proportion of these in certain districts; and, disbelieving that voluntary charity would cease, showed plainly, as they thought, that Ireland could not support a poor-law of this nature. The minorities were, however, small. Mr. O'Connell's question, Whether English gentlemen would force on the country a measure which the people rejected?' was answered by a majority of 175 in favour of the bill. In the Lords, the opposition was strong-in speeches, at least, if not in With people outside, this told rather in favour of votes. the measure than against it, as it seemed to show dread of increased burdens by the landlords. Besides the Londonderrys, Rodens, and Lyndhursts, whose opposition had been expected, there were Lords Fitzwilliam, Clanricarde, and Brougham, who declared their expectations of entire failure in the working of the bill. The ministerial majorities were, however, large; and the bill became law in July 1838.

In August the commission met, and appointed Mr. Nicholls to carry out the act in Ireland. He went to Dublin, with sufficient assistance for beginning his arduous work. By the 9th of October, the assistant commissioners

342

had returned from their circuits in the provinces, and were joined by more assistants from England. They went into deliberation, and arranged their system in all its details. By the 25th of March following, twenty-two unions were declared; and in eighteen of these, guardians were appointed. Preparations for others were in great forwardness; and something more important still was effected. By the spread of the information furnished by the commissioners, much of the local unpopularity of the measure was converted into support; and where support was not given, there was usually acquiescence. In the course of the next year, 127 unions were declared, and only three remained to be formed. Fourteen workhouses were already opened for the reception of paupers; and the commissioners declared their confidence that the great scheme would work well for the redemption of Ireland. The reception of it by the beggars was curious, as might have been expected by those acquainted with Irish mendicancy in its prosperous days, when it was not, as now, the outward sign of insufferable misery, but rather bore a gay and convivial character. One beggar proudly told a commissioner that he would have little business but for the like of them; another, unwilling to surrender a poor idiot to legal charity, and fearing to be 'lonesome without him,' though finding him 'mighty teasing,' thought it a good thing to be an idiot, to enjoy the roving freedom of the class; another, who hated the 'new jail,' as she persisted in calling the union-house, found her business of mendicancy destroyed by the new agency-would have gone into the house if she could have enjoyed there her tea, and whisky, and tobacco; but, as she could not, took upon her to despise the house, and declared that she would work rather than enter it. The great consolation of this class was in finding ' the hard man' compelled to contribute to the support of the poor; while they felt grief and shame at what they considered the demoralisation of the charitable, who now began to inquire into the case of mendicants, and ask why they did not go into the house. There was a perceptible diminution in the crowds of beggars on the roads, and in the villages; and in the towns, the avowal was made that the workhouses had weeded them of very destitute cases. When the 'starving seasons' came round —the interval between the complete consumption of one potato crop and the harvest of another—it was evident that more work had been done, and more providence exercised. The early operation of the Irish poor-law was pronounced to be decidedly successful. But it was too soon yet for the warmest advocates of the measure to pledge themselves that it would work the redemption of Ireland.

The immediate consequence of the debates on the virtues or vices of the Whig administration of Ireland was the resignation of Lord Normanby on the first convenient occasion-in the spring of 1839, when he became colonial secretary for a few weeks, and then went to the home department. His policy was continued by his coadjutors, and by Lord Ebrington (soon after Earl Fortescue), who succeeded him in the viceroyalty. His retreat from Ireland did not pacify the opposition. In the session of 1839, the attacks on his government were renewed in both Houses of parliament. In the Commons, Lord J. Russell met them by moving a resolution, on the 15th of April, that it was expedient to adhere to the principles of government which had been of great recent benefit to Sir R. Peel moved antagonist resolutions, that it Ireland. was inexpedient so to pronounce while the Lords' committee of inquiry was still engaged upon its work. These last resolutions were voted down by a majority of 22. In the Upper House, Lord Brougham moved, on the 6th of August, and triumphantly carried, a set of resolutions condemnatory of the Normanby policy-particularly as regarded the administration of justice and the extension of mercy. The ministers were left in a minority of 34, in a House of 138.

The opinion of the country, however, sustained the Irish administration; at least, in its general principles. The prevalent impression, throughout the nation, was, at the time, that the country had never before been so well governed; and there were many who believed that the redemption of Ireland had at length been entered upon. If this has been disproved by the lights of painful experience—if it now appears that the deep underlying

mischief was unrecognised as a fatal obstruction-the Whig administration of Ireland may nevertheless have been an inestimable boon.-It is the way with human affairs that enterprises often fail of their express aims, but never of producing important collateral effects. The Normanby administration did not redeem Ireland; but it proved before the eyes of all men a truth which must be understood before Ireland can be redeemed. It proved that no political government-the justest, the wisest, the most considerate-can rectify evils which are social, and not primarily political. The friendly rulers of Ireland, between the years 1835 and 1840, were not to have the privilege of redeeming her; but they did much to prepare the way; and they removed a great obstruction in extinguishing all just complaint of English misgovernment. Many other obstructions remained which rendered the work of effectual renovation impossible till a higher power than lies in human hands had cleared the way in a manner which it makes the stoutest heart tremble merely to contemplate. It is because this has happened-because the wide sweep of misery has left it clear that the maladies of Ireland are social, and not political-because the great underlying mischief has been heaved up to the surface by the convulsion-because everyone now sees what must be done before Ireland can be redeemed—that we may speak of the hopefulness and cheerful composure with which the spirit of history may review the scenes and struggles of the past. The work now lies open; and the national gaze is beginning to contemplate it. A great work never waits long for the workman; and a greater work than this never presented itself to the human heart and hand. In an advanced age of the world-in the day of high civilisation-here is a nation, full of noble qualities, however corrupted, to be taught how to live-taught from the beginning; led up from a condition of passionate and suffering immaturity into the strength of self-disciplined, industriations, healthful, and prosperous manhood. If it be true that a great work never waits long for the workman, the day of the redemption of Ireland cannot be far off. When it comes, the nation will not altogether forget 'the things that are behind,' in 'pressing forwards to those that any before O It will not

forget that the experiment of a strenuous administration of justice and mercy was once tried; and that it afforded the needed proof that any political 'administration was a means too small for the redemption of Ireland.

CHAPTER VII.

Church and State—Church of Scotland—Severance not Dissent— Patronage—Dissent—Resort to Church Extension—Commission of Inquiry—Teinds—Bishops' Teinds—Reports of Commission—Election Struggles—Impotence of the Church—Government favours Church Extension—Incompetence of Parliament and Ministers.

DURING the political changes and struggles of the period under review, few may have perceived the close connection which is now clear to us, between the disturbed state of the Church and the transitional character of the state. The difficulties that successive governments had in dealing with the religious bodies of the empire, appeared to many a mere coincidence with the death-struggles of parties, and not, as they truly were, another aspect of the same conflict. The ecclesiastical disturbance visible at once in England, Ireland, and Scotland, was as inevitable a sign of the times as the passage of the Reform Bill, or municipal renovation. It was a misfortune to all parties concerned, that the rulers of the state-too ill-prepared for action on the subjects most prominent in their own eyes -were absolutely incapable of intelligent government on ecclesiastical affairs. Their want of knowledge, their inability to comprehend or apply the principles concerned in the ecclesiastical disturbances of the time, were clear enough in the cases which have been already before us; but the complete exhibition of their incapacity took place in reference to the Church of Scotland.

As a preparation for the great scene of the disruption of the Church of Scotland, which will come before us in the final period of this history, we must look into the transactions of Lord Melbourne's government with that Church. We shall see how unaware the ministers were of

what they had to do, and what they were doing; how little they understood the true importance and real bearings of the case. They took no warning by the refusal of the English Tractarians to acknowledge the control of the government in church matters; they took no warning from the united cry of the High Churchmen and Dissenters for a dissolution of the union between Church and State. As Lord Grey had stared with amazement at the Nottingham deputation, so now Lord Melbourne scarcely took pains to observe whether it was the Church or the Dissenters in Scotland who wanted more accommodation and instruction; and neither of these ministers, and no one of the coadjutors of either, seems to have had the remotest idea of its being his business to understand, and decide, and act on a question as important as any that had risen up since the Reformation. And the English public knew and felt no more than their rulers. They did not recognise the struggle that now set in, north of the Tweed, as one which will be conspicuous in all future histories of the progress of opinion-which now means nothing less than the history of human liberties. Even now the greater number of readers and listeners turn away at the first mention of the Scotch Church, in hopelessness of understanding the controversy, or caring about the parties engaged in it. Those who have, from any cause, been interested in the case, believe that its principal features may be clearly and rapidly sketched. At all events, the attempt must be made in a history of the period.

The Scotch Church appears to be the best in which to contemplate the rise and progress of the conflict between the principles of the connection or disconnection of religion with the state, because it has ever been peculiarly hard to Scotch Churchmen to admit the idea of dissent, and to undergo the process of severance from the Establishment. The Scotch Church was designed to be a spiritual republic, whose four judicatories, rising one above the other in gradations of power and authority, were still all elective. The session, the presbytery, the synod, the General Assembly, were all of a representative character, and were assumed to be chosen by the popular voice. This popular election was for a very short time, if ever, a truth; and

the same may be said of the unity of faith presumed to be secured by the Establishment. While the elders and landed proprietors were in fact managing the appointments to office in the Church, many pastors were preaching doctrines which would not bear a comparison with the standards of the Establishment. The General Assembly wished for quiet-dealt gently with heresies-and would have been pleased to hear nothing of that great question of patronage which was, in little more than a hundred years, to explode the Church as a national Establishment. But the people found themselves under a despotism, from the unresisted nomination of the clergy by the patrons. The clergy nominated the elders ; and the flocks had really no part whatever in the spiritual republic, where all were declared to be members of one body. The Assembly would not hear of a word of discontent, even from their own members; so the natural consequence followed—the discontented took other measures to make themselves heard. One of them, the courageous Erskine, preached out the state of things from the pulpit-was censured, first by the local synod, and then by the General-Assembly-offered a remonstrance, and was expelled from his pulpit, as were three other clergymen, who had supported his remonstrance. In a century after, these four ministers had become four hundred. But they and their flocks were not Dissenters. They were compelled to separate from the organisation of the Establishment; but they held all its principles-claimed the honour of being the real Churchparty in the case, and imitated the proceedings of the Establishment wherever they possibly could, without falling into its corruptions. In our own time these claims have been allowed; and the Secession has been declared eminently conservative of the veritable Church of Scotland.

Another body of seceders, who were driven out also by tyranny, were equally far from being Dissenters. When a patron nominated for minister a man unacceptable to the great body of the congregation, the presbytery refused to ordain him. This happened so often as to le embarrassing to the General Assembly. The Assembly appointed the celebrated 'Galloping Committees,' as they were nick-

named ; committees who went about doing the work which the presbyteries refused. Fired by the ridicule cast upon these committees, and by the taunt that the highest power could not control the presbyteries, the Assembly determined to try its hand at coercion. The Assembly enjoined obedience; a member of a presbytery, Mr. Gillespie, evaded it: he was deposed; and he gathered together, outside the walls of the church from which he was driven, a body of men opposed to the existing despotism in the appointment of ministers, and, after 100 years, was recorded as the founder of 120 congregations, constituting the Relief body, as it was called-a body claiming relief from the despotism of patronage. , These men also were thus not Dissenters. They had no fault to find with the Church, but only with the perversion of one of her arrangements. At the end of a century, however, from the secession of 1734, the two bodies were called by others, and called themselves, Dissenters; their ministers having, for the most part, adopted the voluntary principle. The Establishment at this time had between 1100 and 1200 churches; a clergy of whom the moderator of the Assembly at that date said that the whole were of Tory politics, except about six; and for supporters, it had the great body of the affluent and powerful throughout Scotland. The Dissenters had 700 churches, a clergy of liberal political opinions, and for supporters a great body of the labouring and some of the middle classes of society in Scotland. When Scotch borough reform removed the oppressions under which this great body had lain, and opened to them a career of civil equality with the Church and Tory party, they bestirred themselves to extend their principles and increase their numbers; and the newspapers of the time tell of the formation of many associations for the promotion and support of voluntaryism in religion.

Thus was the ground of controversy wholly changed. The Secession and Relief bodies had complained of tyranny within the pale of the Church. Now, become Dissenters, they pronounced against the union of the Church and the State. The Church had once ejected discontented members from her own household. Now she felt called upon to wage war with a vast body of Dissenters; and the time was coming when she must sustain such another secession as must reduce her to a state of forlorn inferiority which she could not at present conceive of.

What did she do while the Dissenters were associating for the promotion of the voluntary principle? There was no time to lose; for a petition was sent up to parliament. in 1837, in favour of a total separation of Church and State, signed in Glasgow by 41,000 people. The Church resolved on church extension, and that as much of the plan as bore on its opposition to the Dissenters should be kept in its own hands. It was necessary to request and obtain the assistance of the state, or a troublesome reference might hereafter be made to the sufficiency of voluntary effort on the present occasion ; yet, if the matter were left to government, new churches would be built in far away places, in country districts yet unprovided, and last of all, or never, in streets of towns where Dissenters' chapels existed already; whereas, it was the very thing wanted to plant a church beside every chapel, in order to put down dissent. Dr. Chalmers avowed that his demand should not stop short of a church for every 1000 inhabitants, sooner or later; and he did not promise to stop short of a church for every 700. On this estimate, and by virtue of ignoring dissenting chapels altogether, and reckoning the Dissenters among the inhabitants destitute of religious guidance, a strong case of spiritual destitution was made out, while nothing more was asked of government than to endow the churches which the Establishment was willing to build. The consequence of the demand was that the government was at first favourable, partly from ignorance of the state of the case, and partly through dread of the evident extension of the doctrine of voluntaryism; the Dissenters guitted that question for a time, to unite their forces against the imposition of burdens for a church which they disapproved; and the Church grew prouder than ever in the prospect of success. Her own subscriptions for new churches, subscriptions paid in by all manner of members-from the purely benevolent who desired the spiritual benefit of the poor and forsaken, to the haughtiest who could not tolerate the Dissenters-in two years amounted to upwards of £200,000.

The successive ministries of Sir R. Peel and Lord Melbourne saw nothing in the application, till the excitement they caused all over Scotland told them to the contrary, but a proposal to provide religious guidance for the destitute; an object which naturally appeared to them unquestionable. In the king's speech prepared by the Peel cabinet, in February 1835, we find this paragraph: 'I feel it also incumbent upon me to call your earnest attention to the condition of the Church of Scotland, and to the means by which it may be enabled to increase the opportunities of religious worship for the poorer classes of society in that part of the United Kingdom.' For two years before this, Lords Melbourne and Brougham, then lord chancellor, had given deputations from Scotland to understand that they were favourable to the object of the Church-no question had been raised in the debate on the address in answer to the royal speech-and the Dissenters found it necessary to bestir themselves to make known the opinion of a vast proportion of Scotchmen that such a grant was needless and dangerous. By the month of May, the Melbourne ministry had learned that the question involved more than people in London had supposed; the lord advocate of Scotland moved for a commission of inquiry into the need; and on the 1st of July, Lord J. Russell appended a proposal to inquire what funds might exist in connection with the Church of Scotland which might be rendered available, so as to obviate a donation from the public purse for objects which a large body of the contributors to the public purse conscientiously disapproved. In the proposal of a commission Sir R. Peel acquiesced, on the ground that the session was too far advanced for a parliamentary committee to effect anything that year.

The commission was sent forth to its work without delay; and great was the clamour about its constitution. All its members but one were Churchmen; and that one was as obnoxious to the Church party as the others were to the Dissenters. The high officials of the Church doubted the fealty of some of the Church members in the commission; and on the last day of July, the Assembly, by their committee, addressed a remonstrance to the government on the constitution of the commission. No answer was returned; and on the 13th of August, 90 out of 93 members of the Assembly met for the purpose, renewed the remonstrance. When questioned in the House of Lords, Lord Melbourne answered, with his wonted speculative optimism, that a commission which pleased nobody must be a very good one, in times when party-spirit ran high; and that it was a fine thing for men of extreme opinions, like one of the commissioners, who had written a book against Establishments, to be put upon such work as this, as he was pretty sure of growing wiser, and learning to take more moderate views; and then, the vigorous talents which such men ordinarily possess would come into action for the public service. The deepest offence to the Church was-after the proposal to inquire at all-the direction to the commissioners to inquire into the amount of 'unexhausted teinds;' that is, of tithes possessed by landowners, over and above the amount actually expended in their respective neighbourhoods for the support of the Church. In 1707, it had been settled, after much controversy, that the officials who administered church affairs might enlarge stipends, but not erect or endow any new parish without the consent of three-fourths, in value, of the landowners. This arrangement was seen at the time to be so far questionable as to cause a provision to be made that parliament might alter it at pleasure. It was now reasonable to inquire into the working of this arrangement, if there really was a deficiency of church accommodation throughout the country. But a cry about the intended spoliation of private property was made; a cry so loud as to induce Lord J. Russell to publish, in a letter to the head-commissioner, Lord Minto, a disclaimer, in the form of an instruction, not to give occasion for any charge of meddling with private property. Still, the unexhausted teinds had been regarded since 1707, and longer, as private property guaranteed by an express law, the holders foresaw the proposal to repeal the act of 1707, and exclaimed against the devouring rapacity of the Church: the Dissenters protested loudly against any further endowments from the state, under any pretence whatever; and denied, in this case, any pretence of necessity at all: the Churchmen were offended that parliament had not made them a grant at once, without dispute ; and they protested against all inquiry into the workings of their church organisation, and the amount of their funds. There was yet another cause of offence. The class of tithes called bishops' teinds must be dealt with separately. . They were appropriated by the crown at the Reformation-bestowed on the bishops while Episcopacy existed in Scotland-and resumed by the crown on its abolition. When stipends fell short, from the parochial teinds being exhausted, the deficiency was made up from the bishops' teinds; but in no other way had the Church of Scotland any claim upon that fund. It had now become the property of parliament, together with the other patrimonial property of the crown surrendered by William IV; and the general public, as well as the Scotch Dissenters, protested against any appropriation of this national fund to purposes of church extension in Scotland -even before it was ascertained whether such extension was needed. Thus, the commission was as unpopular on every hand as any commission could well be.

In his official letter, Lord John Russell expressed a hope that the greater part of the business would be completed within six months-that is, in readiness for the session of 1836; but this was not possible. In 1837 and 1838, three reports were before the government-on the religious instruction provided for Edinburgh, and for Glasgow, and on teinds. They relate that Dissenters were more numerous than Church members in Edinburgh and Glasgow-and especially the most earnest and steadfast class, the communicants; that the less opulent Dissenters had provided much larger accommodation than the more opulent Establishment; that the church accommodation in Edinburgh exceeded the legal standard; that it fell short of that standard in Glasgow, but still went far beyond the existing need, as there were, as in Edinburgh, 20,000 unlet seats-for the most part of the cheapest order. As for the teinds, some of the unexhausted ones were held by land-owners who were Dissenters; and it must require great consideration before these could be taken from the holders for purposes of church extension. As for the VOL. III. 2 🔺

353

amount, it fell but little below the sum of the actual stipends; and it was evidently a very serious matter to think of nearly doubling the revenues of the Church by taking funds out of the hands of private holders, some being Dissenters, to whom they had descended as property guaranteed by law for more than a century.

When the excitement caused by this inquiry was at the height, the elections of 1837 occurred. The Church party, animated by the clergy, strained every nerve to drive out the ministerial candidates, in hope of giving a finishing blow to the weak and unpopular Whig government, and bringing in men who would give them church extension and a triumph over the Dissenters. The Dissenters strove as earnestly on the other side; not from any call of trust and gratitude for what the Whig government had done. but in the hope that their timely aid now, in conjunction with the information of the report-so strongly in their favour-would procure serious attention to their case. But for the Dissenters, the Whig candidates would have been excluded from all the principal places in Scotland. It was hoped now that the prodigious excitement manifested during the elections would give the ministers some hint of the importance of the next move they might make. The evidence was before their eyes that the Scotch Church was a failure in its character of a missionary church, and therefore not entitled on that ground to aid from the community generally, or at the expense of the Dissenters, who were doing her missionary work without aid from any quarter. The worst district in Edinburgh had, at that date, six times as many ministers as the average of Scotch towns; and yet, out of a population of 25,000, only 1070 church seats were let to the inhabitants of the district. The report of the city mission also disclosed appalling facts of the vice and wretchedness of whole districts where the Church was a mere name, and the whole work was left to the zeal and charity of voluntaries. Yet, in the face of these facts—in full view of the extraordinary excitement which pervaded all Scotlandthe vast public meetings, the gatherings of synods and societies for the protection of religious liberty-in the full hearing of warnings from all England and from

Ireland of the serious consequences of a government pledging itself to church extension at a period when the final struggle of our Established Churches for existence had manifestly begun-in the midst of circumstances as serious as these, Lord J. Russell confirmed the agitating rumour which had been abroad since the elections, that the government was going to pledge itself to church extension in Scotland. Subsequent events proved-what, indeed, few ever doubted-that the ministers did not know what they were doing. The universal excitement on ecclesiastical subjects was inexplicable to them. Their training and position did not enable them to enter into the importance of the question of Church Establishments to the great middle class in both England and Scotland, who understand the principle of it perhaps better than any other which ever comes before the government. The ministers did not see that a second Reformation might be the consequence of even a single ministerial act at such a juncture; and so they went intrepidly on, plunging into a matter which they did not understand-to the amazement of men on both sides in the quarrel. Such inability of statesmen to enter fully into religious questions, while not surprising, is a strong argument on the side of the opponents of the union of Church and State; and it was so used, at this date, by the Tractarians on the one hand and the Dissenters on the other; and there was nothing in the condition of any of the three Establishments to shame the plea. In the English Church, the prelates, the clergy generally, and the popular body in the Church, were parting asunder, with mutual reproaches of tendency to schism and unseemly disturbance. The dreadful position and reputation of the Protestant Church in Ireland was a subject so familiar as to have become wearisome; and now, the Scotch Church had challenged her adversaries to a conflict which was to end in her hopeless humiliation. Yet the ministers remained unconscious of the gravity of the occasion. Lord Melbourne and Lord J. Russell said irreconcilable things on the same night in the two Houses; and when they had compared notes, and come to an agreement what to state, it was that they proposed to extend the endowments of the Scotch Church. For this 2 4 2

object, they intended to repeal the act of 1707, with regard to the unexhausted parochial teinds, permitting certain authorities to divide the parishes, and give the teinds to church purposes. At the same time, large parishes in the Highlands or elsewhere were to be endowed, from the bishops' teinds or some other dues of the crown. These teinds were now, as has been explained, national property, at the disposal of parliament. On the avowal of the ministerial intention of giving them to the Scotch Church, a general cry arose—a question of where government would stop. If such aid was given to a Church which had proved a failure wherever its work should have been most vigorous, and whose need of aid was denied by a great majority of its own countrymen, what should not be done for England, whose metropolis exhibited more spiritual destitution than all Scotland together? Every one knew that if equal measure were dealt to the English Church, or any proposal of the kind mentioned, the destruction of the Church was inevitable.

There was not much in the aspect of parliament to gratify such Scotchmen as might be present at debates on the great subject. When Lord Aberdeen brought the matter forward, on the 30th of March 1838, we find one speaker after another referring to the extreme thinness of the House; and Lord Aberdeen actually declaring himself wholly unable to comprehend what the excitement of the Scotch Dissenters was about. They were not divided from the Church by any disagreement in doctrine, but only by a hair-breadth, as it were, about matters of arrangement, in which he could not see that this question was concerned. 'He assured their Lordships that not only had he never known anything like the interest which existed on this subject, but he verily believed that never had any question of domestic policy so much agitated the people of Scotland since the union of the two kingdoms.' Lord Aberdeen did not see the meaning of the movement, any more than the ministers. The debate was a melancholy and humbling one-a natural consequence of the hesitating mind and tentative action which the ministry had manifested on this most serious subject. Lord Aberdeen's motion was for certain returns relative to the Church of Scotland. He

stated the expensiveness of the commission, assumed the duty of the government to afford supplies, through Church Establishments, to spiritual destitution, wherever it was pointed out; protested against the appropriations announced by the government, and declared them to be spoliations; and, finally, taxed Lord Melbourne with breach of faith in first inducing the Church to build places of worship on a pledge that government would endow them, and then refusing such endowment. Lord Melbourne's reply was indignant: 'I deny, in the strongest manner, in the most decisive terms, and in the most explicit language in which one gentleman can speak to another, that I ever entered into such an undertaking.' And Lord Melbourne was clearly right. The churches were built or intended before any commission was issued; and the commission was one of inquiry into facts. But it was also clear that the ministers had entered rashly upon a course which pledged them to the principles of church extension; and this, in a case of eminently dubious claims; and that Lord Melbourne's speech of this night showed a considerable change and enlargement of view, which came too late.

This question here merged into the yet more essential one which, in a few years, determined the fate of the Scotch Church-the question of patronage. When we arrive at the date of that story, more will be seen of the disastrous effects of the unconsciousness of statesmen of the vital importance of church conflicts, when the principles of religious liberty are in question. If the case is intricate-as in this instance of the patronage questionit may be said that statesmen cannot be expected to enter into all its niceties. If so, it is a misfortune that the determination rests with them; for it is precisely upon the niceties of a question of principle that the decision ought to depend. Meantime, as early as June 1835, Lord J. Russell committed a grave mistake which showed how little he understood of what was involved in the question of patronage.

In May, the landowners of East Kilbride agreed to petition government to allow a trial of candidates for their pulpit. On the 14th, and again on the 21st, Lord J. Russell promised to consult the wishes of the petitioners.

357

On the 6th of June, it appeared that the candidates were six; and this, as was immediately notified to Lord J. Russell, called for an interval of six Sundays before the choice was made. But on the 16th, the appointment of one of the candidates was gazetted; and it had been previously known in Glasgow. The remark of the reforming journal which relates the fact is: 'Lord John, like most Englishmen, is ignorant of the peculiar position of the Scottish Church, and the feelings of Scotchmen towards it.' The time was, however, approaching when the English, if they did not comprehend the church questions of Scotland, were impressively instructed as to the feelings of Scotchmen towards it.

CHAPTER VIII.

Agricultural Distress—Committee of Inquiry—Result—Finance— Duties—Budget—Distress—Joint-stock Banks—Committee of Inquiry—Acts—National Registration—Marriage—Births and Deaths —First Operation—Imprisonment for Debt—Counsel for Felons— Coroners' Powers—New Houses of Parliament—Admission of Ladies to Debates—Privilege of Parliament—Weakness of the Administration.

THE great questions whose history has been detailed left little leisure to parliament for debates on subjects of more ordinary interest. The session of 1835 was declared at its close to be ingloriously remarkable for the small amount of business transacted; and during the next two, the topics which are usually brought forward every year, in the expectation that they will be amply debated, were either omitted, or dismissed with brief notice. The subject of agricultural distress is rarely absent from the records of any session; and we find it here, as usual. In May 1835, the Marquis of Chandos moved for a repeal of the taxes which bore upon the agricultural interest. Every one admitted the distress—the low or fluctuating prices of produce—the uncertainty of the farmer's gains while his expenses were fixed, and, under some heads, increased;

but the majority of the House agreed with Sir R. Peel. who doubted whether the best way of assisting the farmer was by reducing direct taxation; and unless this were certain, he thought it wrong to excite hopes which would The motion was therefore probably be disappointed. voted down by a large majority. At the beginning of the next session, the complaints continuing, Lord J. Russell moved for a committee of inquiry, declaring that the longcontinued or permanent distress of any interest was a proper subject of investigation; but he guarded himself from being supposed to promise or to expect relief to the agriculturists from anything that could be done or proposed through such a committee. During its sitting, parliament was relieved from the discussion of the subjects usually introduced as the causes of agricultural distressthe currency, local burdens, and the corn-laws. Mr. Cayley had rest from the labour of showing how it was the bill of 1819 which occasioned agricultural distress, and how all would be right if we resorted to 'a silver standard, or conjoined standard of silver and gold.' The House would not agree to this the year before; and now the committee would preclude its being brought forward again. The Marquis of Chandos would be spared his annual speech on the burdens on land; and the enemies of the corn-laws could not do better than trust the cause of free-trade to the evidence brought before the committee. The continued pressure of agricultural distress was a stronger argument in favour of a repeal of the corn-laws than any which could be uttered by the voice of any man: and it was certain to be corroborated by all the evidence which the committee could call for. The result was re-The committee 'ended in nothing,' as the markable. disappointed said; that is, it presented the evidence, without any report whatever. A report had been prepared; and it was discussed at a meeting of twenty-five of the committee, eighteen of whom called themselves emphatically the farmers' friends. These eighteen objected altogether to the report, as certain to injure the cause of the suffering party, and insisted upon its suppression. They could not have done better for the objects of the free-traders. The reasons for their venturing thus to

disappoint the expectations of the landed interest were looked for in the evidence, and easily found. The labourer was one part, and the largest, of the agricultural interest; and he was found to be in a state no worse than formerly, but considerably better than of late years. The other two classes, less numerous, united, than that of the labourers, were shown to be victims, not of the pressure of local burdens, but of fluctuations in the price of produce, which kept the farmer in perpetual uncertainty about his profits, and the landowner about his rents. The report would have stated these results; but its suppression, and the publication of the evidence on which it was founded, answered every purpose equally well. Familiar and wearisome as the subject is, it becomes more, instead of less, necessary to record complaints of agricultural distress as every year brings us nearer to the great settlement of the principle of agricultural commerce, that it may be clear how that settlement was both occasioned and justified by the sufferings of the landed interest, who might, according to their own annual complaints, gain by a change of system, but could hardly lose.

The cry for the reduction of taxation was not on behalf of the agriculturists alone. Every year it was demanded ; and every year the chancellor of the exchequer replied that government was reducing taxation as fast as it could, without needing the intervention of parliamentary committees, or other stimulus or assistance. In 1835, there was no surplus, though considerable evidence of prosperity. The great fires in London and Dublin-the destruction of the houses of parliament, and injury to the Dublin customhouse-occasioned unforeseen expense; and there were other unexpected charges; but the aspect of affairs was favourable enough to justify the reduction or repeal of a few small taxes; namely, the duty on flint-glass, now reduced from 6d. to 2d. per lb.; the reduction of the duty on spirit-licences, within a certain limit; and the repeal of the duty on awards in Ireland, whereby inducement might be offered to the poorer classes to settle their disputes in a cheaper manner than by going to law. It was found necessary to make an alteration in the tea-duty, as well as in that on spirit-licences. Lord Althorp's methods

rarely worked well; and in this case it was found necessary very soon to alter the tax on tea. Before the China trade was thrown open, there was a scale of ad valorem tea duties, charged according to the prices given at the sales at the India House. When teas might be sold in any shop, government fixed three rates of duty, corresponding with the qualities of teas, in the hope of thus subjecting the purchasers of low-priced teas to a low duty. Besides the temptation to fraud, and the infinite trouble sure to be caused by this arrangement, it was soon found that the qualities of teas are not often distinct and distinguishable enough to afford an unquestionable basis for separate taxation. Teas of different value paid the same duty, and teas of the same value paid a different duty; the custom-house officers had in their hands, not only an irksome task, but a greater power of oppression than any tax could justify. The House agreed to the proposal of government; and it was resolved that, from the 31st of July 1836, the discriminatory duty should cease, and be succeeded by one of 2s. 1d. on all teas for home consumption.

In 1835, an effort was made by Mr. Bulwer to obtain a repeal of the stamp-duty on newspapers. The chancellor of the exchequer did not defend the tax, which he admitted to be bad in principle and policy; but he must satisfy himself with pledging his testimony against the tax, and wait for a further surplus before he could undertake to repeal it. This was received as a promise to repeal the duty the next year. Between two-thirds and three-fourths of the duty was in fact remitted the next year. The 4d. stamp with discount was exchanged for 1d. stamp without discount. The reason why the remission was not complete was that a postage rate must in that case have been imposed; and it was thought more convenient to all parties to retain a small stamp-duty. This was a remission of taxation truly honourable to government, and beneficial to the people. A vast quantity of trash was immediately driven out of the market, and its place supplied by good newspapers. The lowest order of readers will always prefer what is superior to what is inferior, in political and social literature, as in everything else, if both are made equally attainable; and it presently appeared that unstamped newspapers, got up by adventurers in defiance of lawhowever faulty the law might be-had no chance with the least informed class of readers in the presence of more intelligent journals, now legally made cheap.

The report of the chancellor of the exchequer was prosperous this year-1836-for the last time for several years; for before the next session, the memorable seven years' distress of the manufacturing-classes had given tokens of approach which were not to be mistaken. In 1836, the surplus would have been two millions, but for the payments to the West India planters. As it was, there was a surplus of £662,000, destined in the first place to the reduction of the paper-duties, which were pernicious in many ways, and especially as affording incitement and occasion to extensive frauds. Writing-paper had been paying a duty of 25 per cent.; printing paper, from 50 to 60 per cent.; and coarse paper, from 70 to 200 per cent. There was now to be a general duty of $1\frac{1}{2}d$. per lb. on all sorts; and, as all paper paid duty, the secondary tax on stained paper was remitted altogether. Lord Althorp had repealed the duty on the insurance of farming-stock; and it was now proposed to extend the repeal to the insuranceduty on farm-buildings. Some smaller taxes went also, as it was anticipated that there would be a large increase in the consumption of paper, and in the spread of newspapers so as to obviate any ultimate loss to the revenue from the repeal of their respective duties. In 1837, the surplus was less than £400,000; and the chancellor of the exchequer could only declare his own disappointment to be as great as other people's-show that his former reductions of duty had answered well-declare that the present adversity was owing to the commercial panic which had lately prevailed-and express his confident hope that the worst was past, and that he should have a more cheering story to tell next year.

There was something irritating in the constantly hopeful and satisfied tone of the chancellor of the exchequer, whom nothing could discourage or depress, so far as to make him evince, at any time, the solicitude which seemed naturally to belong to his position, in a season of adversity. His poco-curanteism, joined with Lord Melbourne's, • was too much for the patience of the suffering people during the terrible vinter of 1836 and 1837. The harvest had not been a very good one; and in America it was so much worse, that there was a large demand for wheat from England, exactly at the time when the money relations of the two countries were in a fearful state. The potato crop had failed at home; and just when the cold of a severe winter was setting in, there was a complication of distresses which it might appal any minister to face. By the extraordinary action of the American president, General Jackson, upon the banks, there was a drain for gold from every country that could send away; and the stock in the Bank of England was lower than at any time since the passing of the bill of 1819, except during the worst of the crisis of 1825. The prices of all articles but food were so low that manufactures seemed likely to stop for the winter; while, from the insufficient supply of food, and the drain from abroad for what there was, the price of corn and other provisions was rising from week to week. When the bank took fright, and 'put on the screw,' the dismay was extreme, and nothing better was looked for than such a winter as that of ten years before.

During the preceding prosperity-during the three years of fine seasons, abundant harvests at home, and increased production of food in Ireland-speculation had revived and shown itself especially in the direction of banking. Now the time had come for looking into the matter-now, when the Bank of England had restricted her issues, and made the pain or numbress of the operation felt through every nerve of the commercial and manufacturing body of the nation. In the first seven years from the institution of joint-stock banking, thirty-four joint-stock banks were established. Nearly the same number rose up in the three following years, extending to the end of 1835. The average thus was, for the ten years, three new banks per annum. But in 1836, there were forty-two new ones set up, with branches which increased the number to nearly 200. During that year, the issues of joint-stock banks had increased nearly a million and a half. The branches in connection with the joint-stock banks existing in 1836 were 670 in number; and the number of partners was upwards

Of these banks, more than three-fourths issued of 37.000. their own notes; and those that issued the notes of the Bank of England, in exchange for facilities in the way of discounts, were bound not to send up less than a certain amount of bills for discount, so that the local issues were thus put by the bank out of its own power of control. During the three years of fine harvests, the price of wheat had fallen from 55s. 5d. to 36s.; the abundance of food more than compensated to the working-classes for the rising prices of other articles; and their condition was one of unusual prosperity. During the latter part of this period, the Bank of England increased its issues by a million, and other banks-in England, Wales, and Ireland -by three millions; and speculation became almost as mad as it had been ten years before. It was not till April 1836 that the bank began to contract its issues; and the drain of gold had already set in so as to induce the directors to raise the rate of interest on discount to 41 per cent. in July and 5 in August. The joint-stock banks did not take the hint, as had been hoped, but actually increased their issues above 50 per cent. in the course of the year, during the greater part of which the bank had been striving to stop the drain of gold which had reduced the stock of bullion The panic which must come was foreseen to five millions. by men of business through the summer. Its first manifestation was the failure of a great joint-stock bank in Ireland -the Agricultural and Commercial-which, with its thirty branches, came to a stop in November. A general run upon joint-stock banks had begun, and in the north of England there seemed reason to fear a repetition of the miseries of 1826. To avoid this, and in fear for its own low stock of bullion, the Bank of England gave ample and rapid assistance-saving first the great Manchester Jointstock Bank-'the Northern and Central,' and its forty branches-and in that, and by subsequent efforts, many others. An untoward accident presently afterwards increased the public distrust in the state of commercial When the Bank of England raised the rate of affairs. interest on discounts, and had to lend to money-dealers who employed the loans in the discount of goods bills, there was much surprise at the quantity of American paper that

came in, disclosing the existence of an unsound system of oredits carried on by six houses in London and one in Liverpool, which made advances on American account to an amount of not less than fifteen or sixteen millions at one time, while the means of meeting their liabilities did not altogether amount to so much as one-sixth of the whole. The bank directors sent orders to their agent at Liverpool to refuse the paper of certain American houses. By some strange indiscretion the names of these firms got abroad. Though they fell into immediate discredit, these firms contrived to struggle on till the next March, when three of them, whose outstanding acceptances amounted to five millions and a half, suspended payment. The danger now was that other American houses must stop, whose liabilities. added to those just mentioned, would have amounted to nearly twelve millions. To avert so fatal a shock, the bank sustained the three great houses till they had considerably lessened the amount of their liabilities. But such transactions did not confirm public confidence in England, and occasioned a further embarrassing reaction from America, where the consequence was nothing less than the knocking up of all the banks which had escaped the operations of President Jackson.

Amidst such a state of affairs it was not to be wondered at that renewed parliamentary inquiry into the principles and practice of banking was desired. A committee of inquiry into the operation of joint-stock banks had sat, with Mr. Clay as chairman in the session of 1836, and had resolved at the close to present such evidence as had come before them, without declaring any doctrine or recommendation till the subject should have been prosecuted further. The royal speech of the 31st of January 1837 emphatically recommended the subject to the earnest attention of the House of Commons, declaring that, while the best security against the mismanagement of banking must always be found in the integrity and ability of the managers, no legislative regulation should be omitted which can confirm the security.

On the 6th of February, the chancellor of the exchequer moved for the renewal of the late committee; to which the majority of the House eagerly assented. In the course of

the debate, there seemed to be an almost universal agreement to express confidence in joint-stock banks, to praise their management under late difficulties, and to blame the bank for various faults of conduct. The committee, however, found occasion to recommend large alterations in the arrangements of joint-stock banks, and these were embodied in an act which became law on the 17th of July 1837. By this act, shareholders became liable for only the amount of their shares; and there could no longer be an unrestricted nominal capital, or an imperfect registration of the names of shareholders. A further regulation was carried out in 1844, by an act which may be referred to here, as concluding the subject. By this act, every new company is required to present a petition to the queen in council, signed by at least seven of the shareholders, praying for a patent of institution, and offering all the necessary details of the persons, the capital, the method of management, the locality proposed, and so on. The petition is then examined by the Board of Trade, and certified to be in compliance with the law. The deed of partnership is superintended by the Board of Trade. An unauthorised partner can now no longer bind the rest of the partners to any act; but only an authorised director. Joint-stock banks have now the right of suing and being The difficulties and dangers of banking are not sued. removed by these acts; nor can be by any means whatever till the intricate subject of currency-which includes many others-is absolutely understood by a few, and comparatively well by all parties immediately concerned. Meantime, we see in the records of the time a melancholy picture of popular ignorance extending to high places, while the consequent misery spread down to the lowest. One member of parliament thought that a silver standard would set all right; another declared, in allusion to the cheerfulness of the chancellor of the exchequer, that ministers were fiddling while the state was burning; that the distress of 1825-6 was not a millionth part of what existed at present; and that a paper-currency, regulated by the demand, was the only cure: one was for requiring incessant and minute returns from every banking establishment, for the sake of control by the Bank of England

or the government; and another was opposed to all inquiry whatever till the 'infant' joint-stock banks could show what they could do; some were for making the Bank of England the only bank of issue; others were for allowing no issues but by a national bank, which should be responsible to the crown and to parliament; and others, again, were for perfect free-trade in money. Amidst these differences, men might be advancing towards knowledge; and parliament did something in improving the securities of joint-stock banks; but there was something melancholy and alarming in the sense and evidence of general ignorance which was pressed upon the thoughtful by the incidents of the time. It was within the period mentioned above, that a currency discussion took place at the Political Economy Club, at which three cabinet ministers attended as hearers, and where three or more chiefs of the science propounded their respective doctrines. The matter was gone into with all possible ability, earnestness, and temper; and no one complained of want of opportunity to state his doctrine fully. No one of these chiefs converted another ; only one, if any, gave a general impression of being fully master of his subject; and no one could be declared to have settled the mind of any hearer. The three cabinet ministers listened in earnest silence, and committed themselves to no opinion. It is probable that they thought, like other hearers, that the subject, certainly fathomable, is as yet as far from being fathomed as any on which society is under the fate of proceeding from day to day, without being able to pause for wisdom to choose a path which might guide her clear of some terrible abyss ahead, instead of straight into it. We now know, only too feelingly, that the monetary crisis of 1836-7 was not to be the last.

One of the most useful and beneficial acts of legislation of this reign was that which gave the nation a registration of births, marriages, and deaths; and the year 1836 was that which introduced it. In noting the year of its origin, the mind is carried on to contemplate the spread of its consequences, which may indeed be fairly considered incalculable. The most obvious, though the lowest, consideration is the security of property given by the existence of an authentic and accessible record of the family events which govern the transmission of real property. Another consideration, deeply felt by a large section of the people, was the removal of a tacit disgrace and disability from the Dissenters; a disgrace and disability never designed, but growing out of the fact that whatever registration existed was ecclesiastical and not civil. Not births, but baptisms, were, up to this time, registered; no marriages but those which took place at the church of the Establishment, from which Quakers and Jews were therefore excluded; no deaths but of persons who were buried by the clergy of the Establishment. Again, here was a means of exploration into the whole of society, which might answer many beneficent purposes, while it had nothing in it obtrusive or despotic. The numbers of the people would be known; their proportion to the means of education; their worldly condition, as indicated by the proportion of marriages; their sanitary condition, as indicated by the proportion of mortality, and the nature of the maladies which carried them off; and, finally, here would be, always at hand, a vast body of statistical facts, out of which social reforms might be constructed, according to the speculations of the most thoughtful, and perhaps beyond the dreams of the most imaginative. In old times, the registration, being exclusively ecclesiastical, was one of the duties appointed expressly to the clergyman, on his entrance into his function; but it was used for civil purposes, which caused it to be disliked, and consequently evaded, where possible. It was used for taxing purposes, as in the Act of 6 and 7 William III., c. 6, when duties were levied 'on births, marriages, and burials, and upon bachelors and widowers, for the term of five years, for carrying on the war against France with vigour.' The most recent legislation upon the subject had chiefly provided for the security of the records-ordaining that the books should be made of parchment or strong paper, and kept in dry and wellpainted iron chests. No conception of the importance of such a measure as a complete civil registration of the life, death, and domestic condition of the whole people seems to have entered the mind of the nation till our own century; and that century will hereafter be regarded as honourable in which it was done.

The improvement in the marriage law connected with this measure has been specified before. Sir R. Peel introduced the sound principle of rendering marriage a civil contract, only so far obligatory by law, because the civil contract is all that the state has to do with ; and the religious celebration is a matter of private conscience altogether. From the time of the passage of this act, the business lay, as far as the state was concerned, between the registrar and the parties intending to marry. The marriage might take place at the office of the superintendent-registrar, or at any church or chapel registered for the purpose, without publication of banns, and in virtue of the registrar's certificate that the provisions of the law had been complied with-the registrar being present, and the certificate being delivered to the officiating clergyman, or the registering officer in any dissenting chapel or synagogue. If the parties are married at the superintendent-registrar's office, that officer must be present, and another registrar and two witnesses; the hours and open doors must be the same as in other cases, and also the declarations as to the absence of legal impediment. In the place of the former publication of banns, there was now to be a sufficient previous residence and length of notice-the publication of banns being henceforth confined to the case of members of the Establishment. By this act, the Dissenters obtained a relief which it will hereafter be astonishing that they could have waited for so long; and the state began to practise the virtuous prudence of making marriage as accessible as it at present knew how, and consonant to the principles and feelings of the conscientious of every way of thinking.

This marriage business occupied one of the two bills brought forward by Lord John Russell on the 12th of February. The other provided for the registration of births and deaths. The guardians of the poor were to divide the parishes into districts which should be supplied with a sufficiency of registrars. The occupiers of houses were encouraged to give notice, within a certain time, of every birth and death that happened therein, with such particulars as the officers were authorised to ask. A fee on registration must be paid, after the lapse of the shortest

VOL. III.

2в

term specified; and a heavier fee after further delay. Births and deaths happening at sea were to be registered by the captain of the vessel. Those two gave information of deaths were encouraged to present a declaration of the cause of death, in the handwriting of the attendant medical man. The registers were to be transmitted to London, to be kept in a central office, where access might be had to them, on payment of a small fee. It may be seen at a glance what a broad ground for sanitary improvement was afforded by this measure; how immediately the prevalence of certain diseases in particular localities must be made apparent; and how easy it must become in time to ascertain the most important conditions of life and health from a body of facts so large and so unquestionable as is afforded by a general register.

In the first year, the number of deaths registered amounted almost exactly to that which Mr. Finlaison, the actuary, previously said it ought to be. The marriages registered were fewer than could have taken place; and the births fewer still. The prejudices against the registration of births have been giving way ever since, and the returns are less unsatisfactory every year; but they are still defective, the births unregistered cortainly amounting to some thousands every year. This is likely to be the last portion of the scheme which will work as it ought. By the end of 1838, the number of registrars amounted to about 2200; nearly half of whom were officers in poor-law unions. Of these, above 400 registered marriages, as well as births and deaths; and 400 more registered marriages only. The superintendent-registrars were about 600. The total expense was estimated by the ministers, when Lord John Russell introduced the measure, at about £80,000 per annum; and surely he was right in thinking that the money could not be better spent. This great institution, as it may be called, was one result of the reform of the poor-law; and if from it should arise a thoroughly effective scheme of sanitary administration, we may see in the new poor-law a cure for other than 'the great political gangrene of England.'

In the session of 1835, a bill to abolish imprisonment for debt had passed the Commons, but had reached the peers too late for any chance of becoming law that year. In 1836 the lord chapcellor introduced a similar measure on the 30th of June; but, before the middle of July, when the vote for the second reading was to be taken, the Duke of Wellington settled, for himself and the House, that it was too late to proceed with a matter of such importance; and though the premier thought there was plenty of time, the bill was dropped. Some success was now, at last, obtained by those who had, for several sessions, attempted to obtain the benefit of counsel for prisoners on trial for felony. Twice had a bill to this effect passed the Commons and been obstructed or dropped in the Lords; but now the criminal law commissioners had unanimously recommended that prisoners charged with felony should be allowed the advantage of counsel to address the jury in their defence; and the proposal came before parliament with a new sanction. The marvel of the case now is that there could have been any doubt about the matter; but there were still persons who were misled by the saying that the judge was the prisoner's counsel-not considering how much there might be in the case which could never come to the knowledge of the judge. Lawyers of all politics said this; some knew cases where innocent men had been sacrificed for want of legal aid; and all seemed to approve the principle of the bill, while a few, as Lord Lyndhurst, objected to certain of the details. In treason trials, at one end of the scale of crime, and in trials for misdemeanour, at the other, prisoners had the benefit of counsel, but not in the intermediate range. No one among the peers disputed the absurdity of this; and in committee, only one amendment was made to which the Commons did not at once agree. But that amendment was of great consequence; and it seemed at one time likely to throw out the bill for that year. The bill gave the prisoner the last word. His counsel was to reply to the address for the prosecution, after the evidence was done with. Lord Abinger declared that he would oppose the bill if this was in all cases allowed. The lord chancellor defended the provision, but was outvoted. The Commons were disturbed, and requested a conference: the Lords would not yield their amendments; and, sooner than lose the bill altogether,

371

2 в 2

Mr. Ewart, who brought it in, took what he could get, announcing that he should try for the rest another year.

A new statute was passed this session which repealed the obligation to execute murderers the next day but one after conviction, unless the day should happen to be Sunday. The same discretion was now left as to the day of execution, as in other cases of capital conviction. The powers of coroners were enlarged, in the same session, by means of a provision for paying the expenses of medical witnesses, and enabling the coroner to call for additional medical evidence, when required.

An interesting item in the business of parliament, since the great fire, had been the consideration how to provide a new house for the great council of the nation to meet and work in. On request from parliament, a royal commission had been appointed in 1835, to receive plans by open competition for the rebuilding of the houses. Out of more than ninety plans, four had been selected for further examination; and to choose among these was the business of the renewed committee of 1836. A debate was raised by Mr. Hume as to whether the site should not be exchanged for a spot more open and elevated—as, perhaps, St. James's Palace and Marlborough House; but, besides that certain conveniences were connected with the old site, much property had been bought, and many houses pulled down, for the purpose of rebuilding on the same spot.

The opinion of the committees of both Houses as to the choice of plan and architect, was made apparent in March by their proposal of an address to the king, to petition him to institute inquiries as to the probable expense of executing the plan of Mr. Barry. It was considered a great day for art in England when such a work as this was thrown open to competition. Here was no despotism of rank or fame, in king or architect, to settle a matter in which the nation should have a share through its representatives; but, while the tribunal was as good a one as could have been found to meet all the needs of the case, its nature was a sort of invitation to the people to look upon the enterprise as business of their own, and learn from it, as we all do from enterprises of our own. It was worth the inconvenience and loss from the fire to give the nation

such an exercise in art and the love of it as the erection of the palace of parliament. The cost has far exceeded expecta-tion, and is still heavy; and it has occurred during a long period of distress; but it is hard to say how the money could have been better spent than on an object so noble, so truly expedient, so plainly extending its benefits into a far future, as the erection of a building which will be to a future age what our old abbeys and cathedrals are to us now. Mr. Barry's plan appears to have put all others out of sight at once-admirable as some of them were declared to be. One of its excellences was that there was a largeness and unity about its exterior plan which admitted of great modifications, according to circumstances and experience, of interior arrangements; but this advantage was not regarded as a merit by disappointed competitors and their advocates, but rather as a ground of complaint about changes and improvements, and departure from original proposals. If it required the courage of a hero to offer such a plan to a body so notoriously utilitarian as the British House of Commons; it required further the patience of a saint to endure being 'hunted and pursued' as Mr. Barry was from the moment of the preference of the committees being avowed, and with more or less intermission through succeeding years. But a man who works for ten thousand generations cannot expect perfect sympathy from the existing one. He ought to be satisfied with so much as enables him to do his work; and Mr. Barry has had much more than this. He might be satisfied with looking forward to future centuries, when men of an advanced order of civilisation will pass through his imposing corridors and pictured halls, and pause before his magnificent tower, and swell with admiration, without any more dreaming of criticism than we do in pacing a cathedral aisle. The criticism appears to be of a more temporary character even than usual in this case; the most vehement being connected with the process of competition-presently done with-and much of the rest being about the proportions of unfinished work. All this will die away in a few years; and then the general appreciation of the achievement will begin. Meantime, the architect has been well sustained by admiration and sympathy.

The principle of competition is admitted also in regard to the sculpture and paintings to be deposited within. The present will be ever regarded as a memorable period for British sculptors and painters, as well as architects. They have been invited to open competition, so conducted as that every artist can show, before worthy judges, how far he is capable of conceiving and presenting the ideas and facts of the destiny and story of his nation. If there is genius among us undeveloped, it will be brought out; and that which has already made itself known cannot but be animated by such an incitement. We may hope to see, in the new houses of parliament, the mind of our time stamped for the contemplation of the future, in the form of a history of the past; and if this is not done, it must be because we are not able to do it; for the opportunity lies open. Niches and pedestals are waiting for statues, and panels for paintings; and all our artists are invited to come and try who is most worthy to supply both. If there are men to do it, it will be done; and that the case is such, is a noble feature of the time. A beginning of the great enterprise was made in 1837, by the formation of the embankment along the river-side. It was three years more before anything of the character of the work could show itself; and then, when the east end appeared to the height of the first floor, every one was astonished to find how far the apparition transcended all expectation of it that could be caused by descriptions and drawings.

In connection with this building, an innovation on the proceedings of parliament was proposed in two successive sessions, and discussed at more length, and in a less creditable tone, than could have been expected. In July 1835, it was proposed in the House of Commons that accommodation should be provided in the new edifice for the presence of women at the debates. The proposal was made in a spirit and in language which went far to place every sensible woman on the same side of the question with Lord J. Russell, when he declared his disinclination to debate the matter, and his intention to oppose the motion. Lord J. Russell was outvoted, however, and a committee was appointed to consider the subject. The whole proceeding had much the air of an ill-bred joke—

CHAP. VIII.] ADMISSION OF LADIES TO DEBATES. 375

the speech of the mover, the ostentatious eagerness to second it, the coarse mirth, and the large majority. On the next occasion, May 3, 1836, matters were worse-the speeches more indecent, the mirth more flippant and unmanly, the majority larger in proportion. It seemed likely that the women of England might indeed be invited to be present at the deliberations of legislators whose method of invitation was an insult in itself, and who professed to wish for the presence of ladies, among other reasons, as a check upon intoxication and indecency of language. But the affair was happily put an end to by means chiefly of a serious and sensible reply from the speaker, when asked for his opinion on occasion of a grant for a ladies' gallery being proposed. The grant was refused by a majority of 42 against 28. As for the merits of the question, when considered seriously, there was little difference of opinion. Those who advocated the admission of women in the gallery did not pretend tc. be thinking of the improvement of the women's knowledge, and the cultivation of their interest in subjects which concern every member of society-those who are waiting for political participation, as well as those who have it. Every one knew that serious objects like these are best accomplished at home, as the speeches of legislators are certainly much better in the newspapers than as they are spoken. If the proposition of a ladies' gallery had been carried, the place would have been found to be occupied almost exclusively by giddy and frivolous women, fond of novelty, and with plenty of time to lose; a nuisance to the legislature, and a serious disadvantage to the wiser of their own sex-inasmuch as these triflers would be understood, from their very presence, to be representatives of the Englishwomen who take an interest in politics; while in reality, the latter class would be precisely those who would be reading and thinking at home. Whenever the time shall arrive when the legal position of woman in England comes fairly under the eye of the legislature—a position so injurious as to extract from Lord Brougham the confession, in 1838, that the whole of the law was so atrocious as regards woman, that there is nothing to be done but to leave it alone, and keep

it out of sight as long as possible—it would be a serious disadvantage to Englishwomen to be judged of, as they inevitably would be, by such a sample as would have attended the debates on such an invitation as that of Mr. Grantley Berkeley and Mr. Villiers. As it was, the women of England gained something-in the way of warning how far they were from being respected by those who professed most regard for their political improvement; and the House of Commons lost much in the way of character for sense and refinement. It had often exposed itself by the boyish passion and pot-house manners which had occasioned confusion within its walls; but it now outbid all former disgraces, and excited a disgust which was not likely to be forgotten. The simple-minded now knew something of the way in which some gentry talk when they get together-like to like. The simple-minded were shocked; but they were glad to know the truth, and resolved to bear it in mind.

Every one admits, as a general declaration, that no subject can be more important, in the deliberations of parliament, than the defence of its own privileges; yet the whole nation dislikes the subject, and is too apt to despise it. A troublesome and protracted and very serious conflict about the privileges of the Commons began in 1837. On the 6th of February, a petition was presented from Messrs. Hansard, the printers to the House, who stated that, in course of the ordinary authorised sale of parliamentary reports and papers to the public, a prison report had been sold, in which was contained a statement given in evidence, that certain prisoners were found reading obscene works, issued by a certain publisher. whose name was given-J. J. Stockdale; that Stockdale had brought an action for libel against Messrs Hansard in the Court of King's Bench, laying his damages at £20,000; that Messrs. Hansard had pleaded in justification the sanction and authority of the House of Commons; that the Court of King's Bench had ordered the plea to be struck off the record; and that Messrs. Hansard prayed the protection of the House.

The privilege of parliament was not involved in the act of disallowing the Hansards' plea, the disallowance

being merely on the ground that the plea was unnecessary for technical reasons; and, on this opening occasion, no one dreamed that the privilege of parliament was in . question at all. It was on occasion of the trial, the next day, that the controversy was raised. It was raised by Chief-justice Denman, who said that he was not aware that the authority of the House of Commons could justify the publication of a libel. In his charge to the jury, he repeated his opinion with strong emphasis; and the jury accordingly found, that though the book referred to was obscene and disgusting, the defendants were guilty of libel on the publisher. Within a week the House took up the matter, and appointed a committee to investigate the question of privilege. On the 30th of May, Lord Howick moved resolutions framed on the report of the committee, affirming that the House had full power to publish what it chose; that to bring the privileges of parliament into discussion before any tribunal but parliament itself, is a high breach of privilege; and that for any court or tribunal to assume to decide on the privileges of parliament, otherwise than as carrying out the decisions of either House thereon, is contrary to the law of parliament, and a breach and contempt of its privileges. Sir R. Peel supported these resolutions. against a set, of a contrary purport, proposed by Sir R. Inglis; and those supported by the two parliamentary leaders were carried by a majority of 90 in a House of 162.

Here was the Court of King's Bench placed in direct and irreconcilable opposition to the House of Commons; Lord Chief-justice Denman to the assembled representatives of the nation. It was no trifle, such a quarrel as this; and its issue was awaited with great anxiety by all who understood its bearings.

There is nothing more to be said of the action of parliament during the reign. The Whig ministers were not men of business. They conveyed the impression of doubt about the quality and practicability of their own measures; and this was, in fact, inviting the obstruction or demolition of those measures. Every' session became, to the sensations of those concerned in it, more and more liko a troubled dream, wherein the sufferer is for ever struggling to get on, and for ever in vain. By this time, the ministers themselves had arrived at complaining that they, could not carry their measures; and this provoked an inquiry, by no means spoken sotto boce, whether, in that case, they were fit for the very office whose business is to " pass measures. They were obliged to endure, on occasion of the close of the reign, a speech of scornful reproach from Lord Lyndhurst, which they could not repel with answering scorn, because the Houses and the country knew that the taunts, though severely expressed, were mainly true. After showing that, at the end of a session of five months, only two measures of original importance had been passed, while seventy-five public bills were depending in the Commons, he declared : 'Never was the state of business in the other House of parliament in the situation in which it was at present; never did a government so neglect so important a part of its duty-that which it had to discharge in parliament-as the government had done during the last five months. The noble viscount and his colleagues were utterly powerless. They were powerless alike in that and in the other House; they were utterly inefficient and incompetent as servants to the crown; and he must add also, they were equally powerless, incapable, and inefficient as regarded the people. . . . He could only say that almost every feasible and reasonable man had but one opinion; but one idea was entertained regarding their conduct. It elicited the pity of their friends, and excited the scorn and derision of the enemies of their country. He gave them a picture of the presenthe had also given them a picture of the past. What, then, were their hopes for the future?'

There is no need to accept the vaticinations of an enemy as to the future of the Whig ministry, as events will presently show us what it was. As for Lord Lyndhurst's pictures of the past and present, they were hailed by some, excited a smile in others, and were openly resented by very few. They were too nearly true to be strongly impugned. The premier protested vaguely against them, and went home placidly conscious that he was no nearer going out of office for anything that Lord Lyndhurst could say. A new period, affording fresh chances, was now setting in, during which they might show what they could do. The premier might now have less leisure and licence than hitherto for blowing feathers, and nursing sofa-cushions, and serenely swearing in the face of deputations; but he was entering on a new term of power, and was safe for the present—whatever sarcastic enemies, and wearied friends, and the indignant people might say about the incapacity of the Melbourne ministry to carry on the business of the country.

CHAPTER IX.

Illness of the King—His Death—Accession of Queen Victoria—Severance of Hanover from England—The Council—William IV,—His Funeral—Queen Victoria—Queen proclaimed—Continuance of the Melbourne Ministry.

THE history of our Whig administrations is almost made up of obstruction on the part of their adversaries, and powerlessness on their own; but never were the Whig rulers reduced to more desperate straits than in the spring of 1837. They were supposed to have staked their existence on carrying their measures for Ireland; but they could not carry them. In the House of Lords the Tories cried out that the country was without a government; and the Radical members in the other House repeated the cry. The ministers were believed to desire earnestly the dissolution of the parliament formed during the short Peel administration; but the king would not hear of it. The king was believed to desire earnestly the resignation of the ministers; but the ministers did not appear to think of giving up. It was a state of things which could not endure long. When the change came, it was not exactly in the way that had been looked for.

The king's health had been better for the seven years since his accession than for a long previous period; and he enjoyed a remarkable exemption from the annual attack of hay-fever—as it is called—which had before regularly come on in June. At the beginning of 1837, his family had observed that his strength was not what it had been; but he was upwards of seventy, and some decline might be looked for. When May came in, he appeared to be aging rapidly. On the 17th, he was seated at the levee, for the first time, and looked worn and feeble. On returning to Windsor, he had difficulty in mounting the stairs, and sat down on the first sofa. He held a drawing-room the next day, was again seated, and observed to look still worse; but he was less fatigued in the evening, and was in high spirits the next daywhich was the anniversary of the battle of La Hogue. He talked a great deal about our naval warfare, and was carried away by the favourite subject of our victories at sea during the last century. He was stopped two or three times by difficulty of breathing, but went on again. The next morning, Saturday the 20th, he was much the worse for the exertion-could take no breakfast, and fell back fainting at lunch-time, and again at dinner. It was clear that evening that he could not go to town in the morning, to be present at the reopening of the Chapel Royal. It was ten at night before he gave it up, and he then left the drawing-room, never to enter it again. On Monday and Tuesday, he saw the ministers. On Wednesday there was a grand ball at St. James's, given by the king in celebration of the Princess Victoria attaining her majority. The ball was none of the merriest, from the absence of the king and queen; but the king sent tokens of his kindly sympathy. He presented the princess with a magnificent pianoforte, as his birthday-offering. He held a council on the Saturday; but was wheeled in a chair into the council-room, as he could no longer walk. When June arrived, he and those about him called his illness the old hay-fever. Whatever it was, it disappointed him of meeting the great parties he had invited for the Eton regatta on the 5th, and Ascot races afterwards. As he sat in his easy-chair, breathing with difficulty and sinking in weakness, the kind-hearted old man thought of various things which might add to the pleasure and comfort of the Eton lads, and others of his guests below; and many were the orders he gave. He insisted on the queen's going to Ascot on the race-day, that there might be as little disappointment to the public as possible. She was not gone long; and when she returned, she observed a considerable change for the worse, in those two hours. The dinner in St. George's Hall the next day was dull and sad; but there was talk of the king being removed to Brighton in the morning, when perhaps the sca-air might revive him. When the morning came, he was too ill to stir; and the guests at the castle all went away after breakfast. An extraordinary stillness prevailed; and now, the king's danger was freely spoken of there and in London. The danger was supposed to be extreme; but he revived a little, and transacted some business with Sir Herbert Taylor the next day (the 9th), signing papers with much difficulty, but showing all necessary clearness of mind.

A bulletin was now first issued; but on the morrow, the king was so much better as to lead even his own attendants to think that the attack might be got over for the time. The improvement was, however, merely owing to medicines which temporarily relieved the breathing. During his severest suffering he was eminently patient, thankful for kind offices, and ever cheerful; and when he was relieved, it became evident how great had been the suffering which he had borne so quietly. His spirits rose, and he was full of thanksgiving. He was fully conscious of his danger throughout, and sincerely believing that, from the youth of the Princess Victoria, it was desirable that he should live some years longer, he prayed for life-not for his own sake, but for that of the country. He had prayers read very frequently; and they always revived him. On the 13th, he chose to see the Hanoverian minister on business; and on the 14th, the Duke of Cumberland-he and they, no doubt, being fully aware that the connection between the kingdoms of Hanover and England was hourly dissolving with his failing breath. Possibly, his desire to live ten years longer for the public good might have as much reference to Hanover as to Great Britain. For a few days more he fluctuated between life and death-now appearing to be breathing his last, and then signing a paper or two as he could rally his strength for the effort. His last act of sovereignty was signing the pardon of a condemned criminal. On the Sunday, he received the sacrament from the hands of the Archbishop of Canterbury and he appeared to derive so much solace from the mere presence of the primate, though unable to speak or to listen much, that the archbishop remained in the room till late into the The anniversary of Waterloo was always a great night. day with the king. The Duke of Wellington would not have held his usual banquet without complete assurance of the queen's wishes; but the good old king's thoughtfulness settled the matter the day before. He sent a message to the duke, to desire that the dinner might take place as usual, and to wish the host and guests a pleasant day. On the 19th, he saw all his children, and let them understand how fully aware he was that his death was just at hand. His last distinct and deliberate words appear to have been those which he addressed to the primate at the moment of their final parting: 'Believe me, I am a religious man.' He sank during the night, and died soon after two in the morning.

And then took place that immediate opposite action that sudden revulsion of feeling—which the demise of royalty seems to necessitate, but which can never, under any circumstances, fail to be painful to every reflective person. Three carriages instantly drove up; and into those carriages went the primate, the Earl of Albemarle, and Sir Henry Halford, the royal physician. It was not five o'clock when they arrived at Kensington Palace. The doors were thrown open before them; in the morning sunshine stood the young queen and her mother, expecting the news, and ready for that day's impressive business —that birth to regality which, like the natural birth, can take place but once. Having delivered their news, the messengers proceeded to London, to wake up the government and the nation with tidings of the accession of their queen.

How widely were those tidings to extend? In a few hours they would spread in all directions to the sea. in a few days the Irish on their wild western coast, and the fishermen in the straits of the Orkneys, would be wondering how the young girl looked, and what she said when told that she held the highest rank and the largest power on earth. In a few weeks, her subjects in the furthest Canadian provinces of her dominions would be assembling in the clearings of the forest under the summer night, or in the broad moonlight on the prairie, to ask if any one knew how the queen looked, and what she said when told the news. In a few months, turbaned messengers would be posting over the plains of India with the tidings; and, in shaded rooms, or under the shelter of tents, people would be speculating in like manner on the first feelings of a young queen, and soldiers would swear to themselves and to each other to fight and die in her service. Somewhat later, the solitary shepherd on the Australian plains would be musing on the news dropped by a passenger from the coast, and would, if an exile through poverty, or through crime, speculate on whether want or temptation could still oppress men so cruelly, now that a young queen, with a heart full of mercy, and power in her hands to do what she would, was to rule over a devoted people. It was an occasion which appealed to all hearts -a time when romantic expectation took possession of many who never knew romance before, and some who had believed that they should never know expectation again. What every one most wanted to learn was whether such exaltation and such hope were in the bosom of the young sovereign herself. Every movement, every tone, was eagerly and lovingly watched, on this extraordinary day of her life, and for some time afterwards; and on this day, her demeanour was all that could be wished.

By nine o'clock Lord Melbourne was at Kensington, was instantly admitted, and stayed half-an-hour, arranging for the assembling of the privy-council at eleven. Before noon came the lord mayor, with aldermen and other members of the corporation, to offer their duty on behalf of the city of London. Next arrived the King of Hanover —the Ernest, Duke of Cumberland, whose confidential agent had propounded to the loyal Orangemen the scheme of setting aside this young girl from her inheritance, because she was a girl and young. Lord Lyndhurst lent him his carriage, that no time might be lost; but he left the palace in his own state-coach—to start as soon as possible, for his new kingdom, which had presently cause to mourn his arrival much more than England did his departure. There was no word of regret, even in newspapers, for the loss of a collateral kingdom which had formed a part of the British Empire for a century and a quarter; and if this arose in part from the indifference of the nation to the possession of profitless foreign territory, it must be ascribed in part also to the general satisfaction at the departure of the Duke of Cumberland, and at the sceptre having passed down to a new generation, from which more might be hoped than could ever have been derived from that which had given the nation much to bear in many ways since the opening of the century.

On the meeting of the princes, peers, and other councillors, they signed the oath of allegiance; and the first name on the list was that of 'Ernest,' King of Hanover. The queen caused them all to be sworn in members of her council, and then addressed them ; after which they issued orders for the proclamation of her majesty. If the millions who longed to know how the young sovereign looked and felt could have heard her first address, it would have gone far to satisfy them. The address was, of course, prepared for her; but the manner and voice were her own, and they told much. Her manner was composed, modest, and dignified; her voice, firm and sweet; her reading, as usual, beautiful. She took the necessary oaths, and received the eager homage of the thronging nobility, without agitation or any kind of awkwardness. Her declaration contained an affectionate reference to the deceased king; an assertion of her attachment to the constitution of the country, and of her intention to rule in accordance with it; a grateful allusion to her mother's educational care of her; an avowal that under circumstances of such eminent responsibility as hers, she relied for support and guidance on Divine Providence; and a pledge that her life should be devoted to the happiness of her people. The ministers returned into her hands, and received again, the seals of their respective offices; the stamps in official use were ordered to be altered, and also the prayers of the Church which related to the royal family; the proclamation was prepared, and signed by

the privy-councillors; and the queen appointed the next day, Wednesday, for the ceremony. The first use of the great seal under the³ new reign was to authenticate the official proclamation, which was gazetted the same evening. During the whole morning, carriages were driving up rapidly, bringing visitors eager to offer their homage. What a day of whirl and fatigue for one in a position so lonely, at such tender years! How welcome must have been the night, and the quiet of her pillow, whatever might be the thoughts that rested upon it! The next morning, she appeared 'extremely pale and fatigued;' and no wonder; for she had passed through a day which could never be paralleled.

While the eagerness of homage and duty was thus suddenly gathering about the Kensington Palace, all was very still at Windsor. While the niece was receiving needful and most cordial assurances and offers of duty and support, the uncle was past all such needs. He had received all kind and dutiful offices with gratitude to the last; and now no one could do anything more for him, or receive his thanks. An attached wife, and daughters who were long in recovering from the grief of his loss, were at hand; and everything else was very still. Perhaps there might be, amidst the grief, a calmer sleep in the twilight of sovereignty here than in the bright dawn of it which was kindling in the other palace. And how different was the review of the life which had gone out from the anticipation of that which was just setting forth on a new career!

William Henry, the third son of George III., was born in August, 1765, and was therefore in his seventy-second year at the time of his death. He was destined for the sea, and became a midshipman at the age of fourteen. It is amusing to read, at this distance of time, of the distresses of the Admiralty at the insubordination to rules shown by Prince William, when he had risen high enough in the service to have a ship of his own to play his pranks with. When he was two or three and twenty, he twice left a foreign station without leave, thus setting an example which might ruin the discipline of the navy, if left unpunished. But how adequately to punish a prince yot. III. 2 c of the blood was the perplexity of the Admiralty. They ordered him to remain in harbour at Plymouth for as long a time as he had absented himself from his proper post. and then to return to his foreign station. This was not enough, but it was thought to be all that could be done in such a case; and the prince was withdrawn from the active exercise of his profession -from that time ascending through the gradations of naval rank as a mere matter of form. For twenty years, he continued thus to rise in naval rank, besides being made Duke of Clarence, with an allowance from parliament of £12,000 a year. During those twenty years, when he should have been active in his profession, he was living idly on shore, endeavouring after that enjoyment of domestic life for which he was eminently fitted, and from which our princes are so cruelly debarred by the operation of the Royal Marriage Act. The Duke of Clarence was the virtual husband of Mrs. Jordan, the most bewitching of actresses, and the queen of his heart during the best part of his life. They had ten children-five sons and five daughters. It is averred by those who understand the matter well, that the conduct of the Duke of Clarence in his unfortunate position was as good as the circumstances permitted; that he was as faithful and generous to Mrs. Jordan as some parties declared him to be otherwise. When men place themselves in such a position, they are bound to bear all its consequences without complaint; and it is understood that the Duke of Clarence endured much complaint and undeserved imputation with a patience and silence which were truly respectable. His children, the Fitzclarence family, were received in society with a freedom very unusual in England under such circumstances; and certainly, the strict English people appeared to be pleased rather than offended that the affectionate-hearted prince, to whom no real liberty of marriage had been left, should be surrounded in his old age by children who repaid his affection by exemplary duty and care. If this was a spectacle unfit -by the very mixture of goodness in it-for the court of England, the harm that there was in it was ascribed to the position of royalty, rather than the fault of the prince, while all believed that no reparation to the

purity of society could be effectually made by depriving the old man of the comfort of his children's society. Some of the family had occasion to find that forbearance could go even further than this; for they were left unhurt, except by universal censure, after their improper and foolish exertion of domestic influences against the The king's Reform Bill and the Grey administration. relatives were ready to be as good-humoured towards the Fitzclarences as the public were; and one of the early acts of the young queen was continuing to them the allowance of £500 a year each which had been granted to them by their father. Most people thought there was a wide difference between their accepting this sum from a father who chanced to be the sovereign, and from a sovereign who was under no domestic obligation towards them at all: but the Fitzclarences appeared not to perceive this; and when one of them soon after deliberately destroyed himself, he left a letter to the queen, requesting that this income might be continued to his children-a request of which it was thought right to take no notice. After the death of the Princess Charlotte, when many royal marriages took place, in competition for the succession, the Duke of Clarence married the eldest daughter of the Duke of Saxe-Meiningen. No issue from this marriage survived, though two infants were born only to die. For a few months, as we have seen, the Duke of Clarence bore the dignity of lord high-admiral; and he had previously performed a few holiday services on the sea by escorting and conveying royal visitors and adventurers across the Channel, and up and down in it. In politics, he had through life shown the same changeableness as in his conduct on the throne. On scarcely any subject was he firm but in his opposition to the abolition of slavery. He had not mind enough to grasp a great principle and hold to it; and, as he had not the obstinacy of his father and elder brothers, he was necessarily infirm of purpose, and as difficult to deal with in state matters as any of his family. What the difficulty amounted to, the history of the reform movement shows. In other respects, there was no comparison between the comfort of intercourse with him and with the two preceding sovereigns. He had not the stupid self-will and

387

2 c 2

self-sufficiency of George III., nor the vulgar and libertine selfishness of George IV. He was too harebrained to be relied on with regard to particular measures and opinions : but his benevolent concern for his people, his confiding courtesy to the ministers who were with him, whoever they might be, and his absence of self-regards, except where his timidity came into play, made him truly respectable and dear, in comparison with his predecessors. When his weakness was made conspicuous by incidents of the time, it seemed a pity that he should have been accidentally made a king; but then again some trait of benignity or patience or native humility would change the aspect of the case, and make it a subject of rejoicing, that virtues of that class were seen upon the throne, to convince such of the people as might well doubt it that a king may have a heart, and that some of its overflow might be for them.

The funeral took place at night on the 8th of July, the Duke of Sussex being chief mourner. For the last time, the royal crown of Hanover was placed beside the imperial crown on the coffin of a King of England. The wife who had so well performed her duties was present. Queen Adelaide, now queen-dowager, was in the royal closet. When the coffin had been lowered, dust thrown upon it, the blessing pronounced, and the rocket sent up from the portal which was to cause the lowering of the flag on the Round Tower, the royal widow left the place, and was followed by the mourners, as soon as the style and titles of the new sovereign had been recited. There were no January night-fogs here, to peril the lives of the mourners ; but, instead, a heat so stifling as to make the crowd glad to disperse at the first possible moment. On the 13th, the queen, accompanied by her mother, left the old home at Kensington, to take possession of Buckingham Palace. It was the middle of the day; and crowds were waiting to cheer her on her passage to her regal home. She accepted the homage, but she was pale and grave; and there were none of her subjects who would not rather have seen this paleness and gravity than tokens of a gayer mood.

To some, it was not very far to look back to the May in

which she was born, and the month-so soon afterwards -when the newspapers told of the Duke of Kent's illness; how he had come in with wet boots, and, 'beguiled by the smiles of his infant princess,' had played with the baby instead of changing his boots till it was too late, and he had caught the cold of which he died. The course of years now seemed very short during which they had watched the growth and training of the princess; and here she wasout of her minority the other day, and now sovereign. What they had heard was favourable. If there had been omissions in her education, there had been no misguidance and no corruption. If the intellect had not been made the most of, the morals were pure, and the habits correct. From an early age, the princess had been seen walking in all weathers; sometimes in winter, with thick shoes and a warm cloak on a windy common. She kept early hours, and was active and scrupulously punctual-apologising for being half a minute late for an appointment, when that extraordinary circumstance happened once in her life. She had her allowance of money from an early age; herway of spending much of it was known at Tunbridge Wells, and other places of summer sojourn; but nobody ever heard of her being sixpence in debt for an hour. On the contrary, when her childish fancy was taken with some article which she wished to buy for a present to a cousin, she was seen to conclude at once that she must give it up, because she had not money enough till quarter-day to pay for it. And when it was put by for her-to her great satisfaction-it was as early as seven in the morning of quarter-day that she came down, on her donkey, to secure her purchase. These things are no trifles. The energy and conscientiousness brought out by such training are blessings to a whole people; and a multitude of her more elderly subjects, to this day, feel a sort of delighted surprise as every year goes by without any irritation on any hand about regal extravagance, without any whispered stories of loans to the sovereign, without any mournful tales of ruined tradesmen and exasperated creditors. At first, the queen was very rich-many persons thought, much too rich, for a maiden-queen, whose calls could as yet be nothing. But in the first year she paid her father's

heavy debts—debts contracted before she was born. Next, she paid her mother's debts—debts which she knew to be contracted on her account. We have seen what she did for the family of the late sovereign. Next, she married; and, properly enough, nothing was said about any increase of income. Now, she has a large family of children, and such claims and liabilities as grow up out of twelve years of sovereignty; and still we hear nothing of any royal needs or debts. She lives on her income, and pays as she goes; and perhaps she can never know how much she gains of the respect and affection of her subjects, by a prudence and conscientiousness so unusual in royalty, but as graceful there as in any other station.

As for the domestic respectability in more important respects which might now be looked for, it was really refreshing to the heart and soul of the nation. A new generation was now on the throne; and there was no scandal as yet, nor any reason to suppose there ever would be any. Here was no corruption bred of the royal marriage-law, nothing illicit, nothing questionable ; but instead, a young girl, reared in health and simplicity, who might be expected to marry soon-making her choice for herself, so that there was every hope that she might love her husband, and be a good and happy wife. Thus far, all was sound and rational; and the event has proved it so. The unsound and irrational part of the popular joy and expectation was that for which she herself was in no way responsible, and for the injustice of which towards herself her most truly loyal subjects were the most grieved. She was taken to be, not only more able and wise than she was, but more wise and able than any person of her years is ever seen to be-not only more powerful than she was, but more so than any English sovereign, under our present constitution, can ever be; and there was every risk that when disappointment came, as come it must, the innocent sovereign would be punished for the unreasonableness of her adoring subjects. The wise protested against any expectation that a second English queen would have the genius of Elizabeth, without her despotic tendencies; or her royal maternity of feeling towards her people, in an age when the function itself is destroyed by the growth of

the representative system, and the sovereign is no longer the political ruler of England. The wise might protest; but the people, up to the most enlightened rank of them. expected from Queen Victoria things almost as wonderful as that she should go to the Rock of Cashel, accompanied by the Virgin, St. Francis, Daniel O'Connell, and Lord Normanby, and build up the old Munster Cathedral and the Catholic faith. Now that we had a virtuous sovereign strong in the energies of youth, all was to go well; the Lords were to work well with the Commons, the people were to be educated, everybody was to have employment and food, all reforms were to be carried through, and she herself would never do anything wrong or make any mistakes. The few who pointed out that she was human, and royal, and only eighteen; that it was an infinite blessing that she was pure and conscientious, and eminently truthful and sincere ; that it was enough to expect, further, that she would be seriously willing to learn, careful in the choice of her advisers, and candid in recognising her own mistakes: and that it was a cruel injustice to require of her what she could never perform, and then visit the disappointment upon her-these few were thought cold and grudging in their loyalty, and the gust of national joy swept them out of sight. In truth, they themselves felt the danger of being carried adrift from their justice and prudence when they met their queen face to face at her proclamation. As she stood at the window of St. James's Palace, on the morning after her accession-at a window where few people knew that she was to appear-her pale face wet with tears, but calm and simply grave-her plain black dress and bands of brown hair giving an air of Quaker-like neatness, which enhanced the gravity-it was scarcely possible not to form wild hopes from such an aspect of sedateness; not to forget that, even if imperfection in the sovereign herself were out of the question, there were limitations in her position which must make her powerless for the redemption of her people, except through a wise choice of advisers, and the incalculable influence of a virtuous example shining abroad from the pinnacle of society. The comfort was at the moment, and has been more eminently so since, that there is a corresponding security in the powerlessness of British sove-Whenever the 'war of opinion,' of which the reigns. world had been now and then reminded since Canning's time, should overrun Europe, the danger would be for kings who govern as well as reign; or for those who really reign instead of occupying the throne through a political fiction. If such an outbreak should occur in the time of Queen Victoria, she would, if personally blameless, be perfectly secure-secure alike in her political sinecurism and her personal blamelessness. This truth, perceived and expressed at the time, has been confirmed by events sooner than some expected. While revolutions have come like whirlwinds to sweep kings from their continental thrones, our sovereign has sat safe in her island, with not a hair of the royal ermine raised by the blast. If, on the one hand, she has been wholly and necessarily unable to do many things that were expected from her by the unreasonable, who worshipped an idea and not herself---on the other hand, we have her safe, and need fear no harm to the lightest of her royal sensibilities. If it is no longer the privilege it once was to be a sovereign, it is something of a blessing to have some power of kingly beneficence and influence still remaining, without the fearful responsibility for a ruling power which is mainly transferred to the people, and for which they must be responsible to each other.

As we have seen, the queen returned to the late ministers their seals of office; and it was presently known throughout the country that Lord Melbourne and his coadjutors were to be allowed another trial whether or not they could govern the country.

CHAPTER X.

Party Discontents-The Queen's Favour-Radical Reform Party.

In his speech of reprobation against the ministers, before quoted, Lord Lyndhurst said he saw 'but one ray of comfort shining upon 'the prospects of the country; he augured much from the character of the new sovereign. His party generally saw something brighter in the future—more rays of comfort than que.

The Melbourne ministry was reduced to its lowest point of weakness and shame. After the elections of 1831, only six county seats had been held by Tory members, and the Whig government had a majority of 300. That majority had declined to 26; and after the elections on the demise of the crown it sank again to 12. The Tories thought that a vigorous effort at the beginning of a new reign might give them everything; and they were evidently resolved to spare no exertions to unseat six reformers at least, and thus obtain a majority in the House. The case of the Whigs was desperate; and there is a tone in the political pamphlets of the time which shows this. The people were weary of the eternal disputes and party conflicts about Irish questions and Church questions, while the great interests that were dear to the Liberals of England and Scotland stood over for discussion in a future time which seemed further off every session. When a ministry knows what it is about, and sets well about its work, the opposition helps to govern the country, and does it almost as effectually, by testing and purifying government measures, as the responsible party itself; but the Melbourne administration was so weak and unskilful as to render the opposition purely destructive; and this was more than the country would or could bear. No small number of the Radical party themselves, and multitudes of the moderates throughout the country, began to declare that they hoped the Tories would get into office, so that the Whigs might recover vigour in opposition, and that the two reforming parties might once more come into union, and the country be, in one way or another, really governed once more. In such a condition of affairs, it was natural that the Conservatives should suppose themselves about to step into the seats of power. They were already making declarations, or dropping hints of what they should do in such a case; they should not repeal the poor-law, nor interfere with any expressed and fulfilled decision of parliament on any subject; but should preserve the Church from further spoliation; and so forth.

The alarm of the Whigs in office and their supporters is very evident now, to the reader of the election speeches and political pamphlets of 1837. The first thing they did was to assume full and exclusive possession of the young queen's favour, and to use to the utmost the advantage of her name in the elections. There is no doubt that the queen was ready to bestow her favour at once, on the pleasantest set of gentlemen she had ever known. She had seen little society before. Her life was necessarily some-Now, she was suddenly introduced what monotonous. into daily official intercourse with half-a-dozen of the most intelligent and accomplished gentlemen of the aristocracy, who felt a sort of chivalrous interest in her position, who admired her spirit, and were gratified by her confidence, whose instruction and guidance were necessary to her at every turn of her new and important life, and whose wives, sisters, and daughters were planted about her, to worship while they served her. It is no matter of surprise that she allowed the coterie to take complete possession of her confidence and favour, while she yet needed hourly support and guidance, and knew no one beyond themselves. Τo the thoughtless, and to those inexperienced in political life, it appeared natural enough that the offices about the queen's person should be filled by ladies of the ministers' families; but the ministers were early warned of the inevitable consequences of such an arrangement; and they should have known them without being warned. If their own position had been less desperate, they might perhaps have paid more attention than they did to the future comfort and dignity of their royal mistress. They were timely warned that the wives, daughters, and sisters of the present ministers could not remain about the queen if the opposition leaders should come into power; and reminded that it would be hard upon the queen to be obliged to dismiss her personal attendants on the first occasion of a change of ministry. This was openly set forth thus early in the Quarterly Review, and in various newspapers; yet Lord Melbourne took no heed to the warning; and he and his coadjutors must bear the reproach of whatever unpopularity the queen incurred during the first two or three years of her reign, and of the perilous mistake in which

Снар. Х.]

she found herself in the spring of 1839. They had their own share of punishment in the disgust excited by their selfish use of the power they so eagerly grasped. There was not a child in England, old enough to look at a newspaper, who did not see the unfairness of exclusively appropriating an inexperienced sovereign as the support of a party in the government which had no other support; and there was not a fine lady, or a footman, or an electioneering partisan, that did not feel the vulgarity of trumpeting the queen's name on the Whig hustings, and using her favour for the chance of obtaining a majority in parliament, which was otherwise hopeless. It is easy to enter into the feelings of these ministers and their families-to conceive of the interest to a sated man like Lord Melbourne of a fresh and singular object of observation and study-to one who was wont to despise women as he did, to find a young creature, truthful, conscientious, willing and eager to learn, and naturally led to learn of him, as a tutor or a father, as well as her first minister. We can easily sympathise with the excitement and enjoyment to all the rest of affectionately watching over and serving her who was then, perhaps, the most interesting person in the world. We can conceive of the dismay and heart-sorrow with which they would contemplate such a thing as being severed from her, and yielding up their places to antagonists who were strangers to her, and who would be a complete barrier between them and her. Such feelings were perfectly natural; so natural that everybody knew they must exist, and looked to see how they would be disciplined and controlled by a sense of duty to the sovereign and the country. They were not so disciplined and controlled; and no one else had it in his power to do the queen so much harm as she suffered from these devoted servants of hers. Lord Melbourne, always ostentatiously careless about business, was now for many hours daily at the palace. From the public and private talk of the coterie and their adherents, it was understood that the queen had her partialities among parties at the elections. In a painful and unfortunate mistake made by the young sovereign-a hasty suspicion touching the reputation of Lady Flora Hastings-two of the matron ladies of the household exercised their influence so incautiously, and the prime-minister supported the consequent proceedings with so little delicacy to a wounded spirit, that public feeling was deeply offended. Their exclusive possession of the palace enabled the impure and disloyal to conceive of scandal, and send forth rumours, which would never have been dreamed of if the royal household had been constituted on the ordinary principle of bringing together persons so impartial in political affairs, or so well balanced against each other, as to be able to retain their places, and give their sovereign the comfort of their customary attendance, through any changes in the cabinet. It was very well to be prompt in calling the Bradshaws and the Robys to account, from the home office and the Horse Guards, for slandering the queen at public dinners. but members of parliament and officers of the army would never have uttered or listened to such slanderers if the guardianship of the queen's domestic life had not been appropriated by a coterie. Yet, with all that their use of the queen's name at the elections could do, the Whigs found themselves left with a majority of only twelve. A paragraph from a pamphlet of the day shows with what agonising earnestness they were driven to sue the radical reformers for aid. 'All parties,' says the writer, understood to be official, ' those for the ballot, those for extended suffrage, those for the abolition of church-rates, those for grand plans of public education, those for the appropriation clause, those for municipal institutions in Ireland, those for vielding to Canada a more democratic form of government than at present exists there, should one and all enter the new session with this conviction thoroughly impressed upon their minds, that there is not one of these questions, no, not one, which is not secondary to the great object of maintaining Lord Melbourne's cabinet, as the great agent of future improvement, free from every species of present embarrassment.'

It was impossible to read this without amusement. Even the most devoted adherents of Lord Melbourne could not read gravely such an imitation of his easy assurance. The writer might have been Lord Melbourne himself for the impudence—there is no other word—with which he counceted ideas of 'improvement' and 'freedom from

embarrassment' with the Melbourne administration. The reply of the radical reformers to this appeal was characteristic. They showed how the existence of the Melbourne ministry depended on the prosecution of the very questions which it was proposed to put aside for the sake of it. They were willing to uphold the existing administration with all their forces, if it would mend its ways; and without that it could not be helped by anybody. They pointed out that, throughout the country, the moderate Whigs, wearied out, were becoming Radicals every day; and intimated that if the government would follow the example of these converts, it might be saved from ruin, but not otherwise. It might become Radical, or yield its place to the Conservatives; the one thing certain was that it could not remain what it was; and that a Tory rule would be better for the country, by rousing its energies, and testing its condition, than a continuance of a Whig government, which was merely a name.

From the beginning of the reform struggle, the number of radical reformers in the House had never been less than 70 or 80; and in the last parliament they had been 150. It was strange that they had not yet been a powerful party; and it would be stranger still if they did not become so now. Now was the time for them to show what they could do, when the Whigs were humbly asking alms of thempetitioning them for ideas and measures, and the support without which they must sink. These radical reform members were men of conscience, of enlightenment, of intellectual ability, and moral earnestness, of good station, and, generally speaking, independent fortune. They were so unlike the vulgar Tory representation of them-so far from being destructives and demagogues-that the soberminded of the community might more reasonably trust them for the conservation of property than either the Conservatives or the Whigs. Whig government under Lord Melbourne was a lottery; and all propositions of the time for shaving the fundholder, for tampering with the debt, for perilling the land by a return to poor-law abuses. for interfering with the rights of property in its public investments and private operations-all such destructive schemes proceeded from the rankest Conservatives, and

were exhibited in Quarterly Reviews, Tory newspaper articles. Tory speeches on hustings. Not only in this sense were the Radicals no demagogues, and therefore fit to be the guides of the sober middle classes they were also no popular orators. They were as far removed from influence over the mob by the philosophical steadiness of their individual aims, as from influence over the aristocracy, by the philosophical depth and comprehensiveness of their views. They were as far from sharing the passion of the ignorant, as the selfish and shallow nonchalance of the aristocratic. They perceived principles which the untaught could not be made to see; and they had faith in principles when Lord Grey preached in his place that no one should hold to the impossible; and thus they were cut off from sympathy and its correlative power above and below. The aristocracy called them Destructives; and the non-electors knew nothing about them. All this should have been another form of appeal to them to make themselves felt in this gloomy time of crisis, when the fortunes of the nation were sinking at home, and storms seemed to be driving up from abroad, and the political virtue of Great Britain was in peril from a selfish powerlessness in high places, and despair in the lowest, and alternate apathy and passion in the regions which lay between. But there were reasons which prevented their making themselves felt. They were not properly a party, nor ever had been. There was not among them any one man who could merge the differences of the rest, and combine their working power, in deference to his own supremacy; and neither had they the other requisite-experience in party organisation. They might try for it, and now they probably would; but it was not a thing to be attained in a day, or in a session. It was never attained at all, during this period of our political history. The chiefs moved and spoke; but they neither regenerated nor superseded the Whigs, nor could keep out the Conservatives, when at last public necessity overcame Whig tenacity of office, and the queen's natural adherence to her first set of ministers, and brought in a new period marked by a complete dissolution and fresh fusion of parties. There was no other party which, in 1837, was known to include such men as Grote, and

Molesworth, and Roebuck-and Colonel Thompson, and Joseph Hume, and William Ewart-and Charles Buller, and Ward, and Villiers, and Bulwer, and Strutt; such a phalanx of strength as these men, with their philosophy, their science, their reading, their experience-the acuteness of some, the doggedness of others-the seriousness of most, and the mirth of a few-might have become, if they could have become a phalanx at all. But nothing was more remarkable about these men than their individuality. Colonel Thompson and Mr. Roebuck could never be conceived of as combining with any number of persons, for any object whatever; and they have so much to do, each in his individual function, that it would perhaps be an injury to the public service to withdraw them from that function; and when we look at the names of the rest, reasons seem to rise up why they too could not enter into a party organisation. Whether they could or not, they did not, conspicuously and effectively. They were called upon, before the opening of the new parliament, to prove betimes that they were not single-subject men-as reformers are pretty sure to be considered before they are compacted into a party; but to show that the principles which animated their prosecution of single reforms were applicable to the whole of legislation. If Mr. Hume still took charge of finance, and Mr. Grote of the ballot, and Mr. Roebuck of Canada, and Sir W. Molesworth of colonisation, and Mr. Ward of the appropriation principle, they must show that they were as competent to the enterprises of their friends, and of their enemies, as to their own. Many of them did this, but the association of their names with their particular measures might be too strong. They were never more regarded as a party during the period under our notice; and it may be observed now, though it was not then, that their failing to become a party in such a crisis as the last struggles of the Melbourne ministry, was a prophecy of the disintegration of parties which was at hand, and which is, in its turn, a prophecy of a new age in the political history of England.

What the Whig estimate of 'the crisis' was in the autumn of 1837, we have seen. What the Tory view was appears in the insulting speech of Lord Lyndhurst. Here

HISTORY OF THE PEACE.

[Book V

is the declaration of the radical reformers: 'To the people, at the present moment, we have but one exhortation to give-let them hold themselves in readiness. No one knows what times may be coming; no one knows how soon, or in what cause, his most strenuous exertions may be required. Ireland is already organised. Let England and Scotland be prepared at the first summons to start into political unions. Let the House of Commons be inundated with petitions on every subject on which reformers are able to agree. Let reformers meet, combine, and, above all, register. The time may be close at hand when the man who has lost a vote, which he might have given for the ballot, or for some other question of the first magnitude, will have cause bitterly to repent the negligence and supineness which have deprived him of his part in the struggle. All else may be left till the hour of need; but to secure a vote is a duty for which there is no postponement. This let the reformers do; and let them then stand at their arms, and wait their opportunity.'

This was but a lowering dayspring of regality for the young queen. Her servants were weak, assailed by vehement foes, and pitied by the supporters of whom they implored help. Everybody seemed aware that something fearful was impending; and the wise uttered cautions, and sent out admonitions, while the sovereign was launching into the pleasures of freedom and supremacy. As yet, smiles were on her face, and joy was in her movements, whenever she was seen in public; and the most serious and severe of those who watched her, hoped that she would not be officiously and too soon alarmed by tidings of the storms that were driving up from afar, and the gloom of distress which was deepening over the people at home.

400

3

CHAPTER XI.

Portents in Europe-France-The Representation-Free Trade Inquiry-Monster Trial-Plots-Strasburg Insurrection-Press Law -Foreign Relations-Algeria-Release of State Prisoners-Marriage of the Duke of Orleans-Of the Princess Marie-Distress-Dissoluof the Duke of Orleans of the Finters Marto Distress Disorder -Queen Isabella — Carlist War — British Legion — Three young Queens — Portugal — The English in Portugal — Portuguese Indi-gence — Central Europe — Zoll Verein — Austrian Commercial Treaty — Russia — The Emperor at Warsaw — Passage of the Dardanelles-Circassia-Persia-Cracow-Death of the Emperor of Austria-Coronation of his Successor-Hanover-Proceedings of the King-Denmark-Opening of a Constitution-Sweden and Norway-Holland and Belgium-Young Germany-Switzerland-Prince Louis Napoleon - Zillerthal Protestants - Lutherans of Prussia-Mixed Marriages-The Pietists-Hungary.

As for the state of affairs abroad, on the accession of Victoria to the British throne, it was a subject of anxious contemplation to persons who looked beneath the surface of royal speeches and official summaries, with the prophecy of a war of opinion in Europe full in their minds. As yet, there was no threat from any quarter of a dissolution of the great continental peace; and sovereigns congratulated themselves each on his good understanding with other sovereigns: but there were movements in several countries which showed to the observant that the opposition of the principles of despotism and liberty-of government for the people and government by the people-was working in the heart of society throughout western Europe, while the process was keenly watched from the great throne of despotism in the east. Of all the countries in which the preparation for a decisive war of opinion was going on, France was, for various reasons, the most interesting to England.

The obvious domestic politics of France might have appeared dull and tiresome enough to those who did not know what they signified. It is truly wearisome to look over the debates of the French chambers, and see how VOL. III. 2 D

the members were perpetually growing vehement about nothing at all; and pertinacious about the wording of a phrase, as if it had been the transfer of a crown: and obstructive in so many ways that there was no keeping any ministry in office. We read of new and newly arranged cabinets, till it is impossible to remember their succession, or to report the causes of their changes. As our concern with France on this page is only in her relation to England, there is no need to enter into any detail of her official fluctuations; but only to point to the conclusion, from the parliamentary records of France during these years, that they include more than meets the eye. In truth, there was no real parliamentary representation in France : an uneasy consciousness of the fact was growing daily in the general mind; and the king was resolved to repress the conviction, and prevent its being communicated. His whole reign was a concealed conflict with the representative system which he had sworn to maintain. Not only did he choose to rule instead of reigning ; he chose to rule alone. His ministers must be his rivals if they were not his tools; and he 'knew how'-using the French phrase-to reduce the representative system to a mere show. While it was thus with him and the nation, much that appeared triffing in the debates of the chambers might be anything but trifling-might be symbolical of some great question, or prophetic of some great event. Leaving on one side, therefore, the manœuvres of cabinets and chambers, as giving us little knowledge but of that which may be better learned from events, we have only to take a rapid review of the transactions of the king with the French people, or with those of them who were brought into collision with him.

In 1835, a large number of petitions was presented to the Chamber of Deputies, exposing the deterioration of the representative system, and praying for a reform. As has been shown before, a change in the amount of qualification had raised the number of electors from 100,000 or less to 280,000; a number so small, in a population of above 30,000,000 as to make Englishmen wonder how itcould afford any pretence of a popular representation at all. Yet it was to complain of the narrowing of even

this constituency, that the petitions of 1835 were sent in. The cause of that narrowing was declared to be the law of inheritance, which by continually lowering the incomes of individuals below the qualification point had already reduced the constituency to 180,000. Whether the cause was correctly stated or not, the fact was clear. And there were other facts well understood by the constituency, but not of a nature to be petitioned against at the momentthat by means of the centralising principle on which French administration proceeds, an amount of official patronage was in the hands of the government, by which it could subordinate the electoral colleges to almost any The result of the present petitioning was satisextent. factory to the king at the moment; and he seems to have been as unable to look forward as Charles X. himself, and never to have heard or conceived of a possible war of opinion in Europe. He had in the chamber, in this very session, 200 members wholly at his disposal as functionaries of his government: two-thirds of them removable at pleasure, and the other third in a position of expectation of the rewards of obedience. The majority of the chamber found a pretext, without any difficulty, for ignoring the whole mass of petitions. Some petitioners desired such audacious changes as direct election, or universal suffrage in the primary electors, or abolition of the money qualification, or payment to the deputies; and because of these. the whole question was put aside. The king thought he was governing firmly and wisely. As for what the people thought-they remembered that after five years' rule of the citizen-king, they found their constituency reduced more than a third, and the remainder lying within the royal grasp; and their thoughts of this citizen-king were none of the kindest.

One victory was gained by the opposition in the chamber -much to the chagrin of the government, which was merely punished for driving too far a profitable monopoly of its own. The government succeeded in obtaining a renewal for five years of its tobacco monopoly; but the chamber decided by a large majority, that a committee of its members should sit to inquire into the operation of the monopoly. The introduction of parliamentary committees

2 D 2

was an annoyance to a government like that of France. M. Salvandy could see no good in it; and he deprecated such an adoption of the barbarisms of the English constitution.

One other reference to England at this time is amusing. The financial affairs of France presented a worse aspect every year. Every year there was a new deficit instead of a reparation of the last. Something must be done for the revival of commerce. The minister of commerce invited the merchants and manufacturers to enter with him into an inquiry into the principles of free-trade, and the operation of the existing restrictions, under which affairs were proceeding so badly. The merchants and manufacturers of France seem to have had at that time as little knowledge and independence as our farmers of the same date. They would not have their system touched. Every corps stood up for the protection of its own article, as a valiant M.P. from the glass districts stood up against Mr. Huskisson in the British House of Commons for the duty on green glass bottles. Whatever, in the changes of human affairs, might occur-whatever that was hurtful or foolish might be swept away-he owed it to his constituents to stand up to the last for the duty on green glass bottles. With equal valour did a corps of twenty-nine eminent manufacturers of plated goods in France contend for the continuance of the existing prohibitory duty on import: declaring, among other reasons, that the English government paid a large bounty on the exportation of plated goods; and that the men of Birmingham could supplant other manufacturers all over the world, because it was common for English lords to be sleeping partners in the Birmingham establishments for the manufacture of plated goods. It is both melancholy and amusing to look over the records of the proceedings of government and the chamber about customs-duties during the present and two succeeding years. They wanted to improve the revenue, and yet to keep the old duties; they were afraid to change their system at all, and yet could not go on with it as it was: they talked of removing prohibitions, but laid on prohibitory duties, as, for instance, a duty of £70 on a Turkey carpet fifteen feet square-which they called a

relaxation from prohibition. The government found that it would take half the people to control the smuggling propensities of the other half; and it used its power of lessening duties during the weeks or months when the chambers were not sitting; and sometimes the chambers were induced to render such relaxations permanent. But no government is a good man-of-business about commercial matters. When relief was given in one place, it usually happened to be at the expense of hardship in another; and a temporary lowering of duties by royal ordinance affords little inducement to careful merchants to send goods which may not be sold before a recurrence to the old duties takes place. It did not mend the condition of the people that a tax was laid on sugar of home production, as soon as it was found that the beet-root sugar of France supplied one-third of the national consumption. It was a matter of some deliberation whether to relieve from duty the sugar of the colonies, or to tax that of the home producer. The latter course was resolved on, together with some reduction of the colonial duty; and the condition of the people was not to be improved in this The national poverty, previously great, had direction. been deepening since the revolution of 1830. While he had before his eyes an annual deficiency in the revenue, a spreading poverty among the people, and a narrowing of the constituency by which alone they could speak their grievances, and hope to amend their affairs, the citizenking thought he was governing firmly and well, and bringing the nation into order. He was hoping to keep the kettle bright and undimmed over the fire by stopping the spout after fastening down the lid.

The king was bent on bringing to trial some bendreds of his subjects accused of republicanism. The opposition desired an amnesty, and his ministers were so opposed to his dangerous and foolish design, that they laid down their offices; and for three weeks France was without a government. The king had his way at last : the ministers returned under a new head; and the Chamber of Peers was appointed to conduct the 'monster trial,' as it was called at the time. They examined the case of 1000 prisoners, and selected 164 for trial. Then followed scandal upon scandal. The government and the bar fell out about the defence of the prisoners; and a sort of compromise was entered into at last, for the sake of safety-a compromise which left both parties discontented. Then the prisoners would not be defended as proposed-would not acknowledge the jurisdiction of the court-would not hear the accusation, and after a time, would not come to the bar-would not leave their beds, would not rise from the floor of their cells, where some chose to lie without any clothing whatever. Never was such a scene witnessed in any court of justice as the demeanour of these prisoners -the whole mob of them jumping, waving their hats, screaming, and defying the court and all its officers. Then followed the disposal of them in batches, as there was no other way of managing them; and by that method, the grand plea of the prosecution-of conspiracy among the prisoners generally to establish a republic-was in fact surrendered. One of the accused, in complaining of the method of trial, called Louis Philippe a tyrant, and threatened him with the tyrant's fate of exile; and for this offence, so excusable, as many thought, under the circumstances, the man, already on trial for a more serious offence, was condemned to a heavy fine, and to an imprisonment of five years, with loss of civil rights for that time. Of the Lyon batch of fifty-eight, nine were acquitted, and the rest condemned to terms of imprisonment. rising from three years to imprisonment for life. As for the Paris batch-they made a hole through the wall of their wine-cellar, and walked out into the garden of a neighbour, and thence, many of them, out of the kingdom. Twenty-eight fugitives from the cellar published a threat that they would come back and compel the peers to try them when the conditions of a fair trial had been secured for them. Only thirteen were stopped, or afterwards caught. It was naturally said that the escape was probably connived at, to rid the peers and the country of the scandal and perplexity into which the self-will of the king had brought his government.

It was now no longer possible for the people to think the government of the citizen-king as good as he thought it himself. If he had been right in supposing that such CHAP. XI.]

a method of rule as his was the only one suitable to the French people, they could not be expected to agree with him; and, while the virtuous and sober-minded were grieving over their having been deceived and betrayed — finding themselves now, after five years, without a free press, without popular representation, with an administration of royal tools, with a failing exchequer, and surrounded by a distressed people-it was no wonder that men who were not virtuous, and not sober-minded, should ponder the shortest way of getting rid of such a state of things, and decide upon the murder of the king. There seemed to be no end to the attacks upon his life. Fieschi fired his infernal machine, as the royal procession passed, killing and wounding between twenty and thirty persons, but not the king, who was saved by the moment of time required by the assassin for withdrawing the Persian win-dow-blind from before his gun-barrels. Marshal Mortier, late president of the council, was killed on the spot. Next, Alibaud made his attempt-coming up to the carriage-door, and resting his weapon on the window while he fired-the wife and sister of the king being in the This time, the king was saved by the act of carriage. bowing to some National Guards at the other window. Next, Meunier made his attempt, shooting at the royal head as the carriage ploughed its way slowly through the snow. The king was untouched; but his eldest son was cut on the ear by the shivered glass. 'I know not,' said the king, 'how I escaped, as, at the moment, I had my head very much advanced towards the door of the carriage. Nemours, who was also leaning forwards, had his head against the glass.' Within two months -- in February 1837-Champion and his accomplices were finishing another infernal machine, which they resolved should not fail; but the police found them out, and Champion hung himself in prison. In the next May there was a review of the National Guards-gloomy enough. Every house that commanded the ground was searched by the police, and the inhabitants examined; all the approaches were blockaded, and the ground well selected. Before the year was out, Hubert and Steuble were engaged on a third infernal machine-'sixteen gun-barrels, in two

rows of eight each'-from which the king could by no means escape. But again the police found it all out. The public were weary of such stories by this time, and it seemed that the king could be taken good care of by the police · so there was an apathy among respectable citizens on this last occasion which somewhat shocked the government, and which was not dispersed even when the traitors became riotous on receiving sentence, and were sustained by the sympathy of the people in court, who hissed, groaned, and cried 'murder,' till the guards were called in to clear the place.

A military insurrection was interposed among these attempts at assassination. Napoleon and Josephine planned a marriage between Josephine's daughter Hortense and Napoleon's third brother, Louis, for a time King of Holland; and this marriage was forced on, in defiance of the mutual disinclination of the parties most concerned. The union was a wretched one-the husband and wife rarely meeting, and being quite unable to continue together. The only surviving issue of this marriage, at the date before us, was Prince Louis Napoleon Bonaparte. then a captain of artillery in the Swiss service. He obtained a footing in the garrison of Strasburg; and on the morning of the 30th of October 1836, showed himself there, in a dress resembling his uncle's, and proposed to call France to arms, to place him on the throne. Some of the men shouted for Napoleon II.; but presently, while the prince and some attendants were addressing a few soldiers in a barrack, the gates were shut upon them, and they were arrested. By the end of November, the prince was half-way over the Atlantic, being banished to the United States. His accomplices were actually acquitted, in the face of indisputable evidence of their treason. The crowd, the garrison, and the general population of Strasburg rejoiced without control, and spent the day as a fête; and the gloom of the ministers and dismay of the king were in proportion. The mother of Prince Louis Napoleon died in the next October, her failing health being broken up by anxiety for her only son.

Such events as these, bringing after them evidences of an unpopularity of the sovereign extending far beyond

the mad conspirators themselves, seem to have merely exasperated the self-will and folly of the king; and the most conspicuous proof of this, and of his unfitness for the office of citizen-king, appears in his insufferable repression of the press. Before the end of 1835, he was actually holding the position of Charles X. against the press. The prosecution of journals, and fining and imprisonment of editors, had gone on till some of the liberal newspapers were ruined. The Tribune gave up, after having been prosecuted 112 times. But this was found insufficient; and new laws were proposed to protect the prosperity of France-'a prosperity of five years intermingled with danger'---by shielding 'the king of her choice' against attacks. 'Order was not yet completely established;' neither a Carlist press nor a republican press could be permitted to exist; and the law proposed for putting them down equals any Carlist despotism which could be conceived of by a Polignac. Fine and imprisonment were to be the consequence of introducing the king, either directly or indirectly, or by any allusion, into any discussion of the acts of the government; also of expressing any wish, hope, or threat in relation to either Carlism or republicanism. The bill, with a long list of atrocious provisions, was carried by the power of the crown and its functionaries; the heart-stricken opposition, who now saw their country and themselves under a precisely similar oppression to that which they had thrown off five years before, giving solemn warning that 'laws like the present might afflict, but could not terrify, good men;' and that the matter could not end here. The condition of the French nation, in regard to its liberties, was even worse than it had been in 1830; for now the blow at freedom of speech was struck not only by king and ministers, but with the aid of the chambers. The king had got but too much of the representation into his own grasp; and the state of the nation was so much worse than it had been in 1830, that good men thought it their duty rather to endure than to resist under circumstances so perilous to order and freedom. The king followed up this law with prosecutions of editors for assertions in their newspapers, that the ministers wished to show that they could now do what the ministers of Charles X. attempted in 1830; and that the army was not favourable to the administration. and might be found inclined to a republic, if asked. There was also a creation of thirty new peers, in the king's interest, immediately after the passage of the law which brought offences of the press under the jurisdiction of the Chamber of Peers. It is merely sickening to go into the details of the press-prosecutions of the period. The government was evidently nervous under the perpetual echoing of its own fears in the popular newspapers -at the Carlist hints and demonstrations which followed on the death of Charles X. in 1836, and the speculations on the disaffection of the army which formed the commentary on the Strasburg affair: they had gone too far to recede; and now they found the objectionable matter which formed the material of the prosecutions reproduced in court, under circumstances of emphasis which made it ten times as pernicious as if it had been let alone. There were multitudes who recalled, and repeated to each other. the dying words of Lafayette about their dreadful mistake in regard to their citizen-king; while the few who looked ahead and afar saw how France was daily losing her chance of assuming her proper place in the array of nations, whenever the war of opinion in Europe should arise.

Meantime, the one cheering topic in the king's speeches, in successive years, was his good understanding with England. There had been a narrow escape from a war with America-an escape purchased by a somewhat ignominious concession-by a swallowing of some big, hard words, while paying money due to America which ought to have been paid long before. There was a 'momentary misunderstanding with Switzerland,' threatening immediate collision-turning upon the question whether an incendiary of the name of Conseil was or was not a spy of the French government. There had been 'painful losses in Africa,' which had 'deeply afflicted' the king's heart. Algiers was a perpetual and a growing trouble, from its expensiveness and unprofitableness; and there were terrible reverses there at this period-the indomitable Abd-el-Kader and the Emperor of Morocco having inflicted rout

and disaster which could not be disguised or palliated, even in the king's speech. The fact was, the French held merely their own fortified settlements in that which they called their colony of Algeria. Beyond the defences nothing could be done; for a vigilant enemy, native to the soil, and animated by the fiercest love of country and religion, was always at hand to cut off stragglers, and destroy the processes of industry. From Algeria, nothing was heard of at this time but 'painful losses,' dismal. anticipations, and warnings that the African foe was covertly supported by Turkey. The princes of the blood repaired to Africa, to command and fight; large reinforcements of men and money were sent; and there was new food for discontent at home, in the alleged misdirection of the civil and military affairs of Algeria, and that profitless expense of the settlement, which made it 'an affliction to France.' There was more unpopularity yet to be incurred by the king. He does not appear to have suffered by his clemency to the ministers of Charles X., whom he released on the death of their master, and permitted to reside on their own estates, on parole-except Polignac, who was exiled for twenty years. His own constituent subjects had perhaps lost much of their indignant feeling towards the Polignacs and Peyronnets, now that a stronger indignation had been incurred by the successor of the old Bourbon king; and the sickly prisoners were allowed quietly to come forth from their captivity, and go home, to live there in obscurity. If the king lost nothing by this, neither did he gain much by an act of amnesty which accompanied it. By royal ordinance, issued in October 1836, sixty-two political offenders were discharged from further punishment, being merely placed under the surveillance of the police. It was thought that the consequences of political persecution were beginning to be apparent to the king, and that his prudence had taken the alarm; but his warfare with the press did not intermit or slacken, as we have seen. In his speech for 1837, he spoke of the finances as being ' in a most prosperous state '-that is, promising a small surplus, in the place of the usual deficit; and he intimated that a great mass of public works would be undertaken, to give employment to the

There was some surprise at this tone being taken people. during a period of grievous commercial and agricultural distress : but the surprise ceased when it presently appeared that the king meant to ask the chambers for money, for family purposes. His children were growing up and marrying; and he now wanted a provision for the Duc de Nemours, his second son, for whom he asked a gift of two estates, and a marriage-portion for his eldest daughter, the Queen of the Belgians. The latter was obtained, after much angry debating, and many protests against enriching from the public purse the children of a king who was considered very wealthy in the possession of the property of the crown, the estates of the House of Orleans, and, in the name of one of his sons, the wealth of the House of Condé. The other demand was withdrawn for the present, with much mortification on the part of the government; but the times were not such as made the people, or the chambers, willing to endow the Duc de Nemours from the public purse. Another reason was that a fresh call was to be made, on behalf of the eldest son-the Duke of Orleans-who was about to marry the Princess Helena of Mecklenburg-Schwerin. The chamber doubled the prince's allowance, hitherto £40,000-made a present of £40,000 to the bride for her outfit-and fixed her jointure at £12,000. The marriage took place in May 1837; and in August of the next year was born the infant who was hailed as the heir of the throne of France. There were many who doubted whether such would ever be his position; for it had long been said by impartial observers that no son of the citizen-king would ever be permitted to succeed him; but there was probably no one who anticipated the full melancholy of that marriage-the domestic uneasiness-the sudden violent death of the prince in the vigour of his years, and the expulsion of his widow and child from the kingdom and from all hope of a throne. The superstition which is so easily excited in the French mind had, however, scope on occasion of the marriage-as at the bridal of the Dauphin and Marie Antoinette in the last century, and of Napoleon and Marie Louise-when fearful accidents happened. When the Duke and Duchess of Orleans entered Paris, a few days

after their marriage, a sudden panic seized the crowds that were closely packed in the Champ de Mars. In the rush towards the outlets, nearly thirty persons were trampled to death; and many more were injured. Another child of the Orleans House was married in the autumn of the same year-the beloved Princess Marie-the darling of her parents' hearts-she who sculptured the Joan of Arc which is seen in many a house in England, and is carried on the heads of Italian boys, through all the streets of Europe. This richly endowed young creature became the bride of Prince Alexander of Würtemberg; but his happiness was not to last long. He laid his young wife in her grave within fifteen months. Her constitution had been much shaken from her constant alarms for her father's life. She gave birth to a son in the autumn of 1838. became consumptive, and died on the 2nd of January 1839. The day after her death became known in Paris, the Chamber of Deputies rose, as by an impulse, to go and address the king; and this was the most numerous and the most cordial attendance of deputies that he had ever been greeted with.

We find no records of financial prosperity elsewhere than in the king's speech. Every other register tells of distress, embarrassment, fear, and local tumults. It was observed by the government, and told in the chamber, that the number of foreign refugees in France was large, and continually on the increase. The Poles were treated with great favour-being admitted free of cost to educational privileges, and trusted with office under government; it was not therefore surprising that there were then nearly 6,000 Poles in France. In this fact, perhaps, lay the most hopeful indication that, in case of a war of opinion in Europe, France would be found in front of the western combination which must oppose the incursion of despotism from the east. Amidst such gloom as has been described-gloom over which the royal weddings of the year shed but a dim and partial light-the Chamber of Deputies was dissolved, and men were left in expectation as to what the citizen-king would do with a new parliament, and whether the parliament would prove itself most worthy of king or people.

A man of an older time-a man of various times, and of a flexibility which adapted him to them all-Prince Talleyrand-was about to close his eyes on this new phase of French destiny. He was eighty-four, and it was time for him to be going. There was no further honour for him in the future; he had had his good things in his lifetime; whether they had made him happy or not, he must be satisfied with them now; for there was nothing more for him-not a trace of true honour-not a fragment of esteem-not a movement of affection. He was the marvel of his age for suppleness and prosperity; and he will stand in history as a specimen-dry and curious-but in no way as a vital being, noble, beautiful, or interesting. He knew everybody for eighty years-made use of everybodyconsorted with everybody-flattered everybody-served anybody when there was no politic objection to doing so -and cared for nobody. He preserved to the last his most conspicuous talents, being capable of flattery while almost incapable of speech. On the entrance of the king and his sister, a few hours before the old courtier's death, he exclaimed: 'This is a great day for our house!' It is possible that, in virtue of his long training in worldliness, he might consider the day as more important to his house from a king's visit than from his own death. However that might be, he died at four, the same afternoon, the 17th of May 1838. The tidings of his death spread like a whiff of fresh air among those whom he had parched by the atmosphere of his worldliness. Yet the citizen-king is said to have left his chamber in tears.

In Spain, nothing passed during the period under review that it is either pleasant or profitable to dwell on. The two interests which absorbed the Spanish nation were the Carlist war and the government of the queen-regent. The liberal party throughout the west of Europe—both governments and individuals—were pledged to the maintenance of the infant queen, Isabella II., upon the throne; and therefore, the queen-regent, her mother, was to govern under a profession of liberalism. It is well known now that she is not a woman who can conceive of the benefits of liberal institutions, or who could be trusted to rule at all. Hard, selfish, intriguing, hopelessly ignorant—she CHAP. XI.]

was equally a misfortune, as mother of the little queen, and regent of the country. Her daughter received no training which could fit her for her regal function; and the country could learn no other lesson under Christina than to despise its rulers. The young Isabella had but a poor chance at best for health, sense, knowledge, and integrity. As it was, she became a spoiled child of the lowest order-alternately humoured and tyrannised over -flattered and mortified. She appeared before the eyes of her subjects as a sickly, fretful, and wilful childeternally eating sweetmeats, and concocting caprices, and wholly incapable of intellectual entertainment or moral devotedness. The public news that reached her was of innumerable insurrections, in half the towns of her kingdom; street-fights, up to her palace doors; attacks on convents, and the murder of ten monks in one place, and twelve in another; seizure of plate from the altar; delivering up of ringleaders by their comrades; and the shooting of scores of citizens in a row. Then, there were changes of ministry for ever; swearings to constitutions, one after another, each of which was to last for ever; pledges of reforms, pompously announced, and never carried out; professions of patriotism and universal benevolence, which were met by imputations of the vilest political profligacy. Amidst the manifold misfortunes of the young queens of Spain and Portugal, none can be greater than the fearful hollowness by which they have been surrounded since their birth. They had better have been daughters of herdsmen on Etna-out with their distaffs upon the slopes, and feeling the vibration under their feet, and seeing the sulphurous chasms open wherever they tread, and flying from clouds of poisonous ashes-better have lived in honest apprehension like this, than have had their ears filled with talk of virtue which, from its staleness, fell dead upon the soul, and have been constantly in the reception of homage so false as to drive them to intrigue or self-will in mere pursuit of a welfare which they could not intrust to anybody else. What the young Isabella heard of was valour, devotedness, martyrdom for freedom, sublime disinterestedness; what she knew to be fact was treachery cruelty, rapacity, selfish ambition, fickleness, and incapacity. As for the reforms proposed from time to time, and discussed by the cortes, there was no leisure for their prosecution, amidst the perpetual alarms of war, and occurrence of insurrections; and the state of the finances was too desperate to afford hope of any really good government which did not begin by their rectification.

As for the other department of Spanish interests-the war between the queen and her uncle. Don Carlos-it is too disgusting and terrible to be needlessly contemplated. In 1835, the Carlists encouraged the discontents of the most extravagant of the liberal party, in the hope of profiting by the embarrassment of the government; and they succeeded. They obtained many advantages in the north of Spain, where the warfare chiefly lay. The cruelty on both sides became so atrocious, that the Duke of Wellington sent out Lord Eliot, during the short Peel administration of that year, to endeavour to bring the hostile leaders to an agreement to spare the lives of their prisoners. For a short time, this did good ; but in the next year, a circumstance happened which seemed to turn the combatants on both sides into devils; and it was from that time impossible for human power to soften the diabolism of the war. The mother of Cabrera, the Carlist leader of the hour, had been accused of some traitorous meddling, and, as the queen's general declared in his own defence, sentenced to death. But she was a poor old woman of seventy, whose example, or whose life, could be of no public importance. The governor of Tortosa was required by the queen's officer to deliver her up for execution in retaliation for some slaughterous deeds of her son's. The governor refused ; and application was made to General Mina, the queen's commander-in-chief, who actually enforced the order, and had the poor creature shot in the public square of Tortosa. Cabrera was driven frantic by this act, being 'romantically attached' to his mother. He declared that thirty women should suffer a similar fate, as his tribute to his mother's memory. He immediately executed four ladies-wives of officers-whom he had captured, and several more afterwards. This is enough. We see here all that is necessary to our review

of the time, and to our appreciation of the part taken in the war by Englishmen. It is not pleasant to have to record that Englishmen had any share whatever in a war so barbarons as to shed more or less disgrace on all who voluntarily aided either side; and so ill conducted as to cast no reflex glory on the act. There is something repugnant to the feelings of Englishmen, in our present age and state of advancement, in our countrymen going forth as mercenaries, by their own choice, to fight in a quarrel of succession in any foreign country; and our inclination leads us to be as cursory as possible in our notice of the British Legion which went to Spain under General Evans in 1835.

When the queen's government became alarmed by the successes of the Carlists in that year, the cabinet applied for aid to the three powers in alliance with Spain-Britain, France, and Portugal. Britain declined to send troops. though she would not object to France doing so; and the arms and ammunition already furnished to the amount of £200,000, were considered sufficient. France followed the example of England-promising, however, that the Pyrenean frontier should be watched, that no assistance might reach the Carlists by that way. Portugal was bound by a recent treaty to send 6,000 troops when required; but it was found inconvenient and dangerous to do so, and the queen broke her engagement-breaking up her cabinet, and one or two succeeding ones on the occasion. Failing thus far, the Spanish cabinet next desired of the King of England that he would suspend the Foreign Enlistment Act, that the Spanish government might raise in England a body of 11,000 mercenaries. This was done in June 1835; and during the summer months, the strange spectacle was seen of recruiting through the towns and villages of Great Britain. It is impossible that the merits of the case could have been understood by all those who enlisted. They went out to war as a trade or an adventure, without even the name of a great popular cause to inscribe upon their banners. We have an account of the affair from a volunteer who owns that he anticipated but little fighting, but hoped that the mere showing themselves would put force into VOL. III. 2 E

the queen's troops, and annihilate the Carlists; and then he intended to write a book about Spain, and publish it when ne came home at the end of a year. A melancholy picture might be given from his pages of the exasperating and humiliating sufferings undergone by the British Legion in Spain, and the insulting ingratitude with which they were treated; but this is needless, as the whole affair ought to be regarded as a private speculation-no more claiming a place in history than any unfortunate commercial or agricultural adventure, by sea or land. The soldiers of the legion were starved, frozen, shot, distrusted, deceived, forsaken, and finally left unpaid. In the midst of all this an order issued by General Evans cast a fearful light on the nature of the enterprise which he led. He issued a proclamation in June 1836, declaring that, as the legion was now in junction with the British Marines, every Englishman found fighting on the side of Don Carlos would be put to death as a traitor to the King of England. A commander of mercenaries could with an ill grace so threaten mercenaries on the other side-be the Royal Marines present or absent. If the Foreign Enlistment Act was suspended, it was unreasonable to quarrel with men for using their freedom of enlistment in aid of any cause which might seem good in their eyes. Either way, it appeared that Englishmen were to slay Englishmen in a cause for which none of them cared. During these years, the Carlists now and then swept through Spain and back again to their mountains, as if to prove that they were not unacceptable to the nation who let them pass, without hindrance and without loss. Now we see them down in the extreme south-west-on the very coast-often hemmed \$1, but always getting out, and dragging two or three royal armies helplessly after them; and again, at the gates of Madrid-the queen quaking in her palace, or flying by night. In the year 1838, the Carlists received some checks, in alternation with their victories. Don Carlos married in that year-his sister-in-law, the widow of Don Pedro, having crossed France privately to become his bride, under a dispensation from the pope. It was hoped that this lady might bring some humanising influences into his camp, and relieve the horror with which it was regarded by the world. As for the royal cause—the queen-regent spoke in strong terms of the friendship of the Queen of England, and of hope from various sources; but her voice and manner were faint and faltering, and no one wondered; for the state was bankrupt in fact, while pompous in professions; and the forlorn condition of her little daughter must have struck the regent more forcibly than ever while she was exhibiting the value of the friendship of the Queen of England.

It seemed somewhat like a mockery of the monarchical system from one point of view, or an emphatic tribute to it from another, that there should have been at one time three queens in Europe who came to the throne between the ages of three and eighteen; a mockery, if the mental and moral qualities of two out of the three were regarded, and a tribute to the power of the theory and ideal when it was seen how all were supported in their kingly seatwhether in consequence or in spite of their personal qualities. The spoiled child in Spain, and the wilful girl in Portugal, were queens still, in the midst of state poverty, turbulence, and popular discontents without end-as truly as the intelligent and conscientious Victoria, who had reached womanhood before she became queen. Isabella was not yet old enough to cause trouble to her ministers by her own qualities; but her neighbour at Lisbon was. The Queen of Portugal was seventeen when she married again in 1835; and she had been for some time out of her minority. She left her ministers no peace. A serious quarrel at this time was about making her new husband commander-in-chief. She was resolved that it should be so, and had agreed expressly to the arrangement as a part of the marriage stipulations, though her ministers and parliament were pledged by a late decision, made to meet the case, not to permit any foreigner to hold that most responsible office. Ministry and parliament were broken up in consequence; and in the midst of the confusion, before the new cortes met, there was a revolution: the queen was compelled to accept the constitution of 1820, and to deprive her husband of his office, because it was incompatible with the working of that constitution. The assent of the queen and her friends to the instrument was

2 E 2

obtained by mere force—by the military surrounding the palace. From that time incessant fluctuations were taking place-risings, fallings, successes, reverses, of the different political parties in the state, till the mind of the reader becomes confused, and gives up all hope of understanding the politics of Portugal. Two matters, however, stand out clear. An heir to the throne was born in September 1837, and another son in October 1838. And the great commercial treaty with Great Britain, the Methuen Treaty, expired, on notice from the Portuguese government. Efforts were made for the renewal of the treaty; but the disturbed state of public affairs prevented any settlement. This might be of less consequence to England than oldfashioned statesmen might easily suppose. Mr. Clay said to an English traveller at Washington, in 1835: 'I cannot but wonder at the anxiety of your ministers about the Methuen Treaty, while they think so little of free-trade with growing nations. In Portugal you never had, and never will have, anything but two millions of priests and beggars for customers; while here you might have sixteen millions at once-likely to double their number in a quarter of a century.' Those who saw the matter from Mr. Clay's point of view cared little for the renewal of any commercial treaty with Portugal, except from a natural tendency to hold to 'our old and faithful ally;' a description which imports more to an English ear than an American can be expected to understand.

There were other points only too clear in the condition and temper of Portugal. Our 'old and faithful ally' was The very unhappy, and therefore very ill-tempered. English were treated with an insolence and malignity which could not have been endured but through a proud compassion. The British auxiliaries were unpaid; and they received nothing but insult when they applied for their So outrageous was the spirit against the English. dues. that their admiral on the station thought it necessary to issue a general order to his captains not to visit the palace, or hold any communication with persons in authority, lest the intention of England should be misunderstood. The British were above taking offence-so low was their poor ally sunk; but they endeavoured to avoid all occasion of quarrel. At this time, Portugal was bankrupt, and was in danger of a public announcement of the fact. In the summer of 1838, there was a run on the banks of Lisbon and Oporto; and the cortes proposed to declare a national bankruptcy. The Bank of Lisbon and a mercantile company offered a loan to avert this catastrophe; and after some hesitation and debate, it was accepted. For some time past, there had been no paper and printing allowed for the acts of the cortes, from the positive beggary of the treasury. It was clear that the British auxiliaries need not expect their pay. It was also very clear that, if a war of opinion in Europe should arise, the western element of constitutional freedom could hardly be reinforced by either Spain or Portugal.

As for the central countries of Europe, they yielded ample evidence to those who were on the watch that the storm was daily gathering which must burst before a genuine peace could be relied on for Europe. Those conflicts of opinion were going forward which would lead to war, sooner or later; and in this short period the advance towards a crisis is perceptible enough. The debated questions during the time were religious, political, and commercial—the commercial being of importance chiefly as being in fact political. Another token of preparation for a future general conflict was that political affinities, and no longer territorial relations, began to determine the classification of European parties. The despots of the east and old-fashioned diplomatists talked of geographical alliances as an ordination of nature-as the safe old principle to which the world would return, as soon as demagogues could be silenced; but not the less did men of a higher sagacity perceive that all geographical alliances must give way before the force of political affinities; that Poland and Hungary could not be kept down, if they chose to be free, however surrounded by the despotism of the eastern section of Europe; and that Portugal could not enjoy rational liberty at all the more for her position, unless she became capable of freedom within herself.

This period is remarkable for the formation of the great commercial league of Germany. The states of Germany had hitherto gone to work, each in its own way, about its customs-duties-about fixing their amount, and levying Each little state had its own complete fence of them. custom-houses, and its own scale of duties; and the inconvenience, injury, and ill-humour caused by such a plan were clear to everybody. It was the King of Prussia who exerted himself to substitute a better system; and his ultimate success was an excellent test of the temper and commercial philosophy of Englishmen. Many made an outery that it was the Emperor of Russia who was really the mover-instigating his Prussian friend to an achievement by which he hoped to humble the manufacturing and commercial consequence of Great Britain; but the true free-traders of England saw the matter in a happier light. They saw that England must make haste to remove what restrictions remained on any branch of her commerce : but. that done, it would be cause of mere rejoicing when restrictions on commerce were done away in any part of the world, since the natural prosperity of any one part is more or less good for every other. Such observers looked on with deep interest, unmixed with fear, while state after state joined the great league-one being at length persuaded to lower its duties, and another to raise them, till the desired equalisation was established, and the countries of Germany ceased to be foreign to each other. Baden held out long, on account of her nearness to France; but she joined in 1835. Nassau held out one year longer. The free city of Frankfort was kept back by an existing treaty with England which was incompatible with the new arrangement; but the British government saw how Frankfort would be injured by exclusion from the league, and, with her, such British commerce as went forward there; and the treaty was given up. In January 1836, Frankfort entered the league, and the King of Prussia saw his great work complete, though no one called it faultless. Some of its provisions were seen to be unwise, and others might turn out so in practice; but here was a commercial union, extending from the Baltic and the Niemen to the Alps and the Lake of Constance. Old-fashioned politicians regarded with satisfaction what they took for a return to a natural state of territorial sympathy; while men of the new school saw in the arrangement an important aid in the preservaCHAP. XI.]

tion of peace, in times of political irritation. A commercial treaty between Austria and England was concluded in 1838, by which the Danube was freely opened to British vessels, as far as Galatz, and all British ports, with Malta and Gibraltar, as freely to Austrian vessels. Under the dread of Bussia which at this period afflicted a great number of Englishmen to a point beyond all reason and all dignity, this treaty was regarded as a Bussian work, as much as the Prussian league; and it was predicted that, by a quiet neglect of shoals and sandbars near the outlets of the Danube, Bussia would obtain almost exclusive control over the pulsations of that great artery of the life of despotism.

Exaggerated and malignant as were the fears of some of our countrymen about Russia, there were few sensible men who thought them wholly baseless. No one who looked forward to an ultimate war of opinion in Europe could fail to see that Russia herself occupied nearly one-half of the speculation. She might be poor, in proportion to her bulk--ill-compacted, corrupt, slavish, possessed of few of the modern elements of power; but she had the ancient, and they would tell for much in a struggle to establish ancient principles of domination. She was military throughout her whole organisation-as completely formed for foreign invasion as incapable of domestic prosperity and peace. She sits looking abroad over Europe-the representative there of Asiatic despotism; and her character does not change as years pass on. While modification proceeds everywhere else-while Denmark and Prussia were talking of having parliaments, and Austria was penetrated by new ideas, Russia has remained what she waspossessed of the ancient elements of power, and aniversally supposed to be inclined to use them for the destruction of the modern, which are in her eyes purely a nuisance. She was not inactive, while thus unchangeable. She has her feelers out in all extremities of the earth and bounds of the sea, and everywhere she silently plants her force while men are looking another way. Wherever people of any nation go, they find that Russia has been before them. If they go fur-hunting in the northern wilds of America, they come upon a Russian fort. If they wander to an

inland sea in Asia, on some commanding promontory they find a Russian fort. Among the swamps of an African delta, or the sands at the mouth of the Red River, they find a Russian fort. If these are not hints of a project of a future universal empire, they are at least a fact which should go for what it is worth, on the face of it. \rightarrow It may be absurd enough to allege—as some wild terrorists have done-that a British statesman has, in our day, been found purchasable by Russian gold; it may be fanciful to imagine the voice of Russia to be whispering the terms of every treaty, and the hand of Russia conducting every transaction throughout the length and breadth of Europe; but it would be mere carelessness not to watch her movements, and a treachery to the cause of freedom to forget that from Russia will proceed, sooner or later, the most perilous attacks she has yet to sustain.

Putting aside the surmises of alarmists, we find the Emperor of Russia laying a heavy hand, here and there, on the destinies of nations. In the autumn of 1835, he met the King of Prussia and the Emperor of Austria, in the course of a journey; but whether the despots had any purpose in meeting beyond reviewing their troops, no one knew. On his return, the Emperor of Russia stopped at Warsaw; and the violence of his imperial wrath there expressed went so much beyond what appeared prudent to everybody but himself, that it was widely believed that he was mad. He told the authorities of Warsaw that he was calm, and spoke without rancour; and he assured them that if they cherished any illusion of the nationality of Poland, it should be the worse for them; if they manifested in any way such an idea, he would level Warsaw with the ground. He desired that what he said might be fixed in their memories; and truly, it was not likely to be forgotten. The speech found its way into a French newspaper; and thence it spread over the world, greatly reviving popular sympathy with the Polish cause. This was increased by his audacious act of raising a loan in the name of Poland, which caused the Polish refugees in all countries to warn the world publicly that Poland disclaimed the loan, and considered every man the enemy of that country who contributed by this mode to the increase of its burdens. As

CHAP. XI.]

CIRCASSIA.

for Turkey, she was wholly in the power of Russia, now that Russia had saved her from Egypt; and she obeyed, when required to promise that no armed vessel should pass from the Mediterranean into the Black Sea, without the express permission of Russia. In the Treaty of Adrianople, Circassia had been made over to Russia; but the Circassians did not acquiesce, and fought a noble battle, from year to year, in resistance to the annexation. The best rulers and soldiers of the east in our time have come from Circassia: and no one wonders at this who watches the conflict between the exasperation of Russia and the patriotism of Circassia. During the period before us, the Russians made little or no progress-the climate and structure of the country being as fatal to them as favourable to the inhabitants. This war brought England into apparent danger of a collision with Russia. An English vessel, the Vixen, landed salt on the coast, at a port which the Circassians had recovered from their foe. A Russian cruiser seized the Vixen on the plea that she had transgressed some customs regulations, and also that she had landed ammunition for the benefit of the Circassians. The last allegation was positively denied; and, as for the first, it was declared that Russia had no right to impose customs regulations at that part of the coast. The legality of the seizure was discussed in parliament and the newspapers, till most people were convinced that the affair was a mere plot of a few factious men to embroil the two countries; and the subject was dropped at last, without any distinct claim of release being made by the British government. The tone of Russia towards the people who were successfully resisting her may be judged of by the wording of a letter from the invading general, Williamineff, to the patriot chiefs. Copies were taken, and the letter was read with a painful kind of amusement throughout Europe: 'Are you not aware that, if the heavens should fall, Russia could prop them with her bayonets? The English may be good mechanics and artisans, but power dwells only with Russia. No country ever waged successful war against her. Russia is the most powerful of all nations. If you desire peace, you must be convinced that there are but two powers in existence-God in heaven, and

the emperor upon earth.' Meantime, the emperor began to see his way into Persian politics. He was appointed arbiter about a question of succession to the Persian throne; and though the decision was in this case made prematurely by death—the intended heir having died before his father—the idea of Russian intervention was introduced, and thus—as the enemies of Russia did not fail to observe —a step was gained in the advance upon British India.

Nowhere did the despot's hand press more heavily than upon Cracow. By the Vienna Congress, Cracow, with its small territory, had been declared a free state, under the protection of Russia, Austria, and Prussia, who were bound by the strongest terms to respect its independence, while stipulating that deserters and outlaws from their respective countries should be delivered up on demand of the governments. Some Poles and other refugees had settled in Cracow; some were married, and had lived there for several years. On the emperor's saint's day, expressions were uttered which, reaching his ear, did not please him, His wrath, into which he drew Austria and Prussia, fell like a thunderbolt upon the city. A complete clearance of Cracow from all liberal refugees within eight days was ordered; and cruel as was the order, it was enforced by the troops of the three powers taking possession of the city which they had guaranteed from the entrance of any armed force. The scene of the expulsion was dreadful: when it was over, 2000 of the Austrian troops remained; and presently, the exemplary and religious guardians of the liberty of Cracow began to remodel its institutions. according to their own notions. They dismissed the militia; excluded foreigners and foreign publications; established a truly Russian censorship of the press: ordained the support of the Greek Church by the state : and dismissed the diet-postponing indefinitely its next meeting. It is difficult to write these facts without comment, but any comment would weaken their operation. It is difficult to endure the sight, through the eve of the mind, of the anguish and rage of the citizens under this oppression of unsurpassed profligacy, without some endeavour to express their feelings for them ; but, in the sobriety of the spirit of history, we must let facts speak for themselves

that can speak as these do, and thus appoint Nicholas of Russia his own historian.

It was not the Emperor Francis I. of Austria who acted with Nicholas in this hatter. The Emperor Francis-the good, the paternal, who stroked the heads of children in the streets, and shut up the noblest men of his dominions at Spielberg, and prayed for them while there, and starved them with cold and hunger, and tortured their feelings, and turned their brains, and was so good as to let this be known by permitting Silvio Pellico to tell his story through the press, in order that foolish and troublesome people might be deterred from a rebellion which would cost them so dear-this 'gospel' ruler died in March 1835, after a reign of forty-three years. It was said that he left his empire as safe and prosperous as he found it. It might be as prosperous, but time alone could show whether it was as safe. Time has shown that it was not so. The astute Metternich remained at the helm of the state; and it was thought that the notorious imbecility of the new emperor would not matter, while his minister's ability was available. But Metternich was old, and though able, he was not wise. The wisdom of despots is never more than a temporary shift; and temporary shifts are of very short date indeed in our age of the world, and in prospect of a Before three years were over, war of opinion in Europe. we find Metternich threatening war with Switzerland on account of the refugees harboured in her free states, and provoking a religious quarrel which a really wise statesman would have gone a long way round to avoid. But of that we shall have to speak briefly under our next head. Meantime, it may be recorded that the helpless Austrian emperor, Ferdinand I., was crowned at Milar? in September 1838-the iron crown being placed upon his wretched head, on which sat the fate which mocked at the temporary shift. There was an astonishing environment of barbaric splendour, such as might catch the eye of the foolish sovereign, and the foolish among his people, and of the Italians, who were not truly his people; but in the midst sat the fate which decreed that the puppet emperor should be released from his vain show of sovereignty in a few years, when a sovereignty must be either nothing, or

something better than a vain show. There is nothing more to tell of his or any rule in Italy during this period. It was elsewhere that the patriots of Italy were preparing for their part in the European war of opinion; and on her soil there was nothing more remarkable than the ravages of cholera, and the horrors which grew out of the ignorant consternation of the people, who believed that the plague was the work, or rather the malignant sport, of the doctors and their tools among the tradesmen.

The new king, Ernest of Hanover, lost no time in proving himself a true brother of the craft of statesmanship of which Nicholas of Russia was the present head. He fulfilled all the expectations of Colonel Fairman and the Orange peers of England and Scotland. During the reigns of his two brothers, it had become a common story in England how well the Hanoverians had gone on under the Duke of Cambridge and others who presided, and how suddenly everything was tumult when the Duke of Cumberland arrived. And so it was now. In his pure and pathetic love for his people-of which he spoke with tender earnestness on every occasion of oppression-he set them by the ears together in the shortest possible time. He arrived in his capital on the 28th of June 1837, and on the 8th of July announced in his letters-patent his intention of setting aside the constitution of Hanover. He had prorogued the Assembly of Estates-the Hanoverian parliament-immediately on his arrival. In November he dissolved it, and annulled the constitution, of his own will and pleasure, declaring that it had never been valid. It was not to be expected that everybody would agree in this. Among others, seven professors of the University of Göttingen refused to proceed with the election of a representative, while the constitution was suspended. All the seven were immediately displaced by the king, and three of them Then followed riots at Göttingen, as might be banished. The students left the lecture-rooms, and esexpected. corted their exiled professors over the frontier. The king wanted to make out that the seven recusants were condemned by the other authorities of the university; and immediately six more professors came forward to declare their sympathy with the exiles. The military scoured the

CHAP. XI.]

streets; but when they had made all quiet for the moment. the business was not over. The smaller states of Germany were alarmed and angry at the king's proceedings. Baden first protested against them, as in violation of the federal league of Germany; and Bavaria and Saxony followed the example of Baden. The Hanoverians are understood to have agreed to use no violence, and to keep their tempers while guarding their liberties. The king was old, and too bad to mend ; they would keep him in check, and wait for a new reign. So the adverse parties blundered on, the king making no progress with his new constitution, while his people declared the old one to be in force. In June 1838, the assembly voted down the new constitution, and the king prorogued the assembly. The affair now came before the Germanic Diet at Frankfort, and was discussed, as a matter affecting every one of them, by various states; and Würtemberg declared that the act of the King of Hanover affected the legal condition of all Germany. In the next year, King Ernest declared that he had withdrawn his proposed constitution, and that that of 1819 continued in force : but the chambers voted down the constitution of 1819, and were prorogued for two months. The Germanic Diet. however, voted the validity of that constitution; and thus satisfied all parties as to the soundness of the basis on which affairs rested, while all were deliberating as to what should be done next. In 1840, the king offered a constitution which contained almost everything specified by the chambers. A deputation from the assembly waited on him to express gratitude and joy; and he declared that their kind words made him feel as if a stone were taken from his heart. He had by this time found that governing people who had their own ideas, as he had his, was a less easy and smooth affair than he and his adherents had imagined, when Colonel Fairman proposed to include the British Isles under his sovereignty.

He must have wondered greatly at the King of Denmark for having spontaneously offered to his people something in the shape of a parliament. The Danes had suffered so much, in ancient times, from the oppressions of the aristocracy, that they had, two centuries before, besough their king, Frederick III., to take all power into his own hands; and Denmark had been under despotic government ever since. Now, in 1835, the king had declared his desire to be assisted by the co-operation of his subjects, and enlightened by a knowledge of their wishes. He did not propose to alter the constitution with which the nation appeared to have been satisfied for nearly two centuries; but he proposed to add to it some regulations for the advancement of popular interests. The people were to elect representatives, who should meet at stated periods to discuss affairs, and declare an opinion, for the king's guidance, preparatory to the framing of his decrees. The elections were to be direct, and the electoral terms were liberal. This movement of the King of Denmark may be regarded as one of the most remarkable signs of the times.

There was a good deal of disputing, during this period, between the ill-assorted pair-Sweden and Norway. The feudal, aristocratic Sweden was haughty, and treated sturdy, democratic Norway in a way she did not choose to put up with. The dispute was about the Norwegian flag, and the commerce which should be conducted under it-Sweden so acting as to give the world to understand that there was no Norwegian flag and commerce except as included under those of Sweden. In 1838, Norway obtained much of what she desired by a concession of the king's-that her vessels should carry the Norwegian instead of the union flag, when south of Cape Finisterre, and in other remote parts. The unfortunate prince, through whose conduct and misfortunes Sweden had lost her provinces of Pomerania and Finland, and gained her new constitution and peace with Russia-the deposed Gustavus Adolphus IV.-died in Switzerland, in February 1837. Another of the determined enemies of Napoleon's person and policy was thus withdrawn; and the great soldier's reign seemed thrown back yet further into the past. It was the horror of Gustavus IV. at the murder of the Duke d'Enghien which mainly determined his own fate and that of the kingdom of Sweden. His latter days were passed in poverty, as well as exile, from his resolute determination to accept of no assistance from any quarter.

The disputes between Holland and Belgium, sometimes

430

suspended for a term, were renewed with great vehemence, from the king of Holland having cut some wood in the territory of Luxembourg-the possession of which was now the main cause of dispute. In 1832, Belgium agreed to the terms proposed by arbitrators; but Holland stood out. Now, in 1838, Holland was willing to agree; but Belgium refused-declaring that a delay of six years justified a rejection of terms which were agreed to only for the sake of immediate peace. It was evident, however, that Belgium would have to yield; and meantime, it was both amusing and painful to travellers to see how the village tone of spite and rivalry subsisted, unsoftened by time, among the merchants of Rotterdam and Antwerp. In 1835, the Belgian government found itself driven, by popular fears and discontents, to an act of great impolicy. whose utter fruitlessness was presently apparent. The duties on foreign cottons were raised, on the demand of the operatives of Ghent, to a point which encouraged smuggling to a destructive extent. In the next year, an act was passed establishing municipal institutions for all the towns and districts. This was nothing new; such institutions having subsisted before, but, since the separation from Holland, in a state which required regulation. The new act gave more power to the government in the appointment of officers than it had before; but this loss of some popular rights was felt to be more than compensated for by the provisions for the better ascertainment and working of the rest.

The remaining class of troubles and prognostics is that in which religious liberties are concerned, either alone or in complication with political questions. The new cluster of associates called, in 1835, 'Young Germany,' o2 'Young Literature,' was the especial horror of the old-fashioned rulers of Europe. Its members—who were denounced in the established language of reprobation, as deists, atheists, democrats, debauchees—men bent on destroying religion, morality, and society—but who might, if asked, have given a somewhat different account of their views and objects—had withdrawn into France and Belgium, and thence sent forth their writings. All the governments presently agreed to use all the means in their power to prevent the publication and circulation of the works of Young Germany; but, as long experience has proved, it is not in the power of governments to coerce the press effectually; and the proscribed works continued to be written, printed, and read. The next attempt, in 1336, was to prevent the writers passing from one state into another; and the Germanic Diet adopted resolutions for this object which brought them into collision with the legislatures of the respective states, as unwisely as their previous action against the liberty of the press. The Swiss Directory was peremptorily required to deliver up the members of the Young Germany Clubs, or to coerce them · and a disagreement among the cantons as to how far they would admit these demands of foreign governments was one cause of the trouble and dissensions which agitated Switzerland during this period.

The troubles of Switzerland were too many and too intricate to be followed out here. We can do little more than remark that religion was implicated with most of them. One serious quarrel with France was on account of the conduct of the grand-council of Basel in breaking through a contract, on the ground of the religion of the purchaser of an estate. A French banker had purchased an estate, and paid for it; but when the Basel authorities heard that he was a Jew, they annulled the contract. France considered this a breach of treaty, and threatened war. Out of this grew more bigotry, and further disputes; and several times it appeared impossible that peace could be preserved. The Catholic and Protestant cantons were also becoming discontented with each other, and the Protestant and Catholic parties within the particular cantons. When it became clear that something must be done, opinions were taken as to the policy of revising the federal settlement; a measure which was favoured by some and opposed by others. While this was under discussion, Prince Louis Napoleon returned from America, and pursued other objects than attending the death-bed of his mother. With a selfishness as remarkable as his folly, he at once embroiled Switzerland with France. He had obtained citizenship in Thurgau; and the inhabitants were therefore implicated in his

quarrel, as they could not admit that a citizen of their state could be ordered away on the command of a foreign government. The prince allowed the passions of both parties to become erasperated on his account, and even permitted the affair to proceed so far as that the French ambassador was ordered to demand his passports, before he withdrew himself from the hospitality which he was enjoying at the expense of the peace of nations. It remains inexplicable what this prince imagined he had to give that could compensate to the French people and their neighbours for the mischiefs that he was perpetually devising, and the tumults that he was endeavouring to draw them into.

The Austrian government in the same year committed a more daring outrage on the rights of conscience than could have been supposed possible in the age in which we live. In the Ziller Valley, in the Tyrol, lived some people-under 500 in number-who had become Protestants some dozen years before, and who practised their religion in peace and quiet in their mountain retreat. They were warned by government that they must not stay there, unless they joined the Catholic Church, but they might repair to any Protestant part of the empire. They clung to their mountain-home; and a denial of civil rights was next resorted to. They were persecuted with every kind of social vexation that could be inflicted. and forbidden to practise their religion. Their churches were closed, and their every act watched and made painful; till, worn out at length, they prayed for permis-sion to emigrate into Prussia; which was exactly what Metternich wanted. The Prussian government invited. them to settle in Silesia; and there they went, the exhausted and indignant victims of a religious persecution which has disgraced our age.

The Prussian government was meantime a sinner in the same direction. The King of Prussia actually attempted to bring together the two fiercely opposed parties in Silesia—the Lutherans and the Reformed—by amalgamating their modes of worship. The Lutherans objected, and opposed some of their clergy who would have enforced the union. The government insisted that the vot. III. 2 F

union was voluntary; but the people did not find it so in practice. They soon saw their pastors deprived; and they refused to admit successors. Then ensued a struggle for the pulpits, and the calling in of the soldiery to quell disturbance; and all the other painful experience of rulers who try to coerce consciences, ending with an extensive emigration of the Lutherans to Australia and elsewhere. Then, there was the quarrel between the Prussian government and the Catholic Church-the grave dispute whether, under the concordat of 1821, the Church was or was not independent of the government. The occasions which were sure to arise presented themselves in 1837, and related to marriages between Catholics and Protestants, and to the doctrines of Professor Hermes. The Catholic clergy were beginning to object to the mixed marriages which they had hitherto sanctioned; and they revived a forgotten decree of the Council of Trent as their authority. The Prussian government obtained from Pope Pius VIII. a dispensation from this decree; but so ambiguously worded as to be of little use. The Archbishop of Cologne made use of this to set aside the brief, and required a pledge from the parties married that the children should be brought up in the Catholic The government arrested the archbishop; the faith. existing pope, Gregory XVI., supported him; the clergy supported the archbishop; and the soldiery fulfilled the commands of the king; and Protestants and Catholics went on intermarrying-some Protestants pledging themselves that the children should be brought up in the Catholic faith, and others relying on the royal promise of protection against the displeasure of pope and priest. The other affair was old-fashioned enough-the prescription and persecution of a book and its author. The archbishop required of the clergy to refuse absolution to all who attended the lectures of Professor Hermes and his followers at the University of Bonn; and the king, who thought this was going too far, required the prelate to abdicate, which he refused to do. He therefore remained a prisoner of state, and the King of Prussia was left in the midst of an open guarrel with the pope and the clergy

434

In Hesse-Cassel there was a religious disturbance too. The multitude were told that the sect of the Pietists were not only opposed to human learning for themselves, but were trying to keep knowledge from the people; and they forthwith broke the windows of the Pietists, and made so much disturbance as to cause the muster of all the forces of the state. It was plain enough that they were in want of more knowledge—whether the Pietists desired or not to keep it from them.

The Hungarians, whose lot has since become so interesting, were already astir. In 1837, district diets were meeting, to consult about reforms, among which they demanded of the Austrian government the substitution of the Hungarian for the Latin language, in all public acts; and the removal of the Jesuits from the direction of public instruction. Since that day the Hungarian nation has been industriously preparing itself for that liberty—that independence of Austria—for which it appealed to arms in 1848.

It appears from this review that the European war of opinion had already begun in some slight skirmishes, which showed that the forces of the east and the west were mustering on the field, or hastening towards it. The young Queen Victoria and her people might be quiet at home; for no despotism threatened them, and for them liberty was achieved to that point which rendered certain the attainment of more, as it should be wanted. With them, all was as safe as social affairs can be in an age when they are but imperfectly understood; and if the sovereign and nation looked abroad over the great future battle-field, it was for instruction and from sympathy, and not from any reasons of personal hope or fear.

2 F 2

CHAPTER XII.

Canada—Lord Durham—Sketch of Canada as a British Colony—The Assembly of the Council—Stoppage of Official Salaries—Canada Resolutions — Rebellion — Gosford Commission — Constitution of Lower Canada suspended—Lord Durham's Offices—His Powers— Executive Council—State of the Canadas—Speedy Improvements— Scheme of Federal Union of Colonies—Disposal of Prisoners— Ordinance of the 28th of June—Approval at Home—Attacks by Opposition—Lord Brougham's Declaratory Bill—Ministers succumb —Confused Result—Disallowance of the Ordinance—Retirement of Lord Glenelg—Reception of the News in Canada—Necessity of Resignation—The Prisoners—Proclamation—Report—Return of the Commission—Incidents—Lord Durham's Decline and Death—His Character—Mr. Charles Buller—Lord Sydenham (Mr. C. Poulett Thomson)—Responsible Government—Union of the Canadas— Death of Lord Sydenham—His Character.

It is necessary now to review a portion of our history which all parties might be too happy to pass over, if only it were possible. But it is impossible; not only because the stern spirit of history will have everything told that is known, but because the retribution for the incapacity, the presumption, the disregard of constitutional principle, the ignorance, the passion, the cowardice, which were brought out on the one hand or the other, in relation to the affairs of Canada, is not yet exhausted. That the Whig ministers and some members of the opposition of that time never have recovered, and never can recover, from the disgrace of that group of transactions, is merely a minor consequence of what they did. It is a more serious matter that our colonial relations received a deeper injury than a long course of excellent government could repair. For various reasons, the story must be told as briefly and as nearly without comment as possible.

It will be remembered that circumstances arose at the Grey banquet, at Edinburgh, in the autumn of 1834, that. gave hope to the weary and disappointed reform party of a revival of their cause. Lord Brougham there was under-

stood to preach a halting reform doctrine, bringing out Lord Durham to assert a doctrine of unhalting reform, amidst the cheers of the assemblage, and the thanks and sympathy of such official men as were present. It will be remembered that, according to the challenge given by Lord Brougham, the controversy was to be renewed in the House of Lords, and that the prospect of this debate and antagonism was understood to be displeasing, if not alarming, to the king; and the supposition was confirmed by the determined exclusion of Lord Brougham from office. first, by the re-establishment of a Conservative ministry, and then, on the return of the Whigs, by the putting the great seal in commission-while Lord Durham was sent ambassador to Russia in time to prevent the proposed encounter, and remained there till the spring of 1837. It will be remembered also with how much difficulty the radical reform members in the House of Commons continued their support to the Melbourne ministry, through its never-ending and most humbling displays of incapacity and unfitness for the time. We have seen how. so late as the accession of the queen, in the summer of 1837 -so late as the termination of the elections consequent on that event, in October of the same year-there was every desire to support any administration which made any profession of reform, if only the government would show enough sincerity to preserve its own existence. The difficult and doubtful alliance was preserved chiefly by the knowledge that such a man as Lord Durham was connected with the government -a man who had shown something of what he could do in his construction of the Reform Bill, and whose declaration against allowing an hour to pass over recognized abuses without an endeavour to reform them, was still sounding in the ears of all true reformers. Some additional vigour was given to the hope of the reformers by the treatment of Lord Durham's name, both by the Whigs in power and those dismissed from power. The first spoke of him as 'imprudent' and 'impracticable'-supporting the charge only by anecdotes which told simply of frankness, honesty, earnestness, and a thorough understanding of principles; and the others, Lord Brougham and his adherents, spoke of Lord Durham

with a rancour and vehemently affected contempt which betrayed both fear and jealousy. It was reasonably supposed by those who heard this kind of detraction. that so perpetual a misconstruction of Lord Durham's words and actions, and so virulent a ridicule of his actual foibles. must proceed from some expectation that Lord Durham was likely to become a man of high importance to that political party which had given up all hope from Lord Brougham. The difficult and doubtful alliance of parties which was, in a manner, preserved over the elections of the autumn of 1837, was, however, dissolved before the expiration of the year. The chief organ of the radical reformers declared, in January 1838: 'The ministers are The alliance between them and the now understood. Radicals is broken, never more to be reunited.' The reason of this was that the affairs of Canada had come to a crisis; that that all-important colony was now to be lost or won; and that the ministers were treating the question with an ignorance, and indifference to the rights of the colonists, and to the principles of political liberty, which drove into opposition all who at once cared for political liberties and understood the circumstances of the case. The case was briefly this :---

Canada became a British possession in 1763. Its population then was about 70,000. It was governed under old French law, which disappeared in France at the Revolution; and the enjoyment of their customs, as well as their rights, was guaranteed to the people on their becoming British subjects. They fell into some British notions and ways, however, amidst their entire content under British rule; and by 1774 they were ready for a more regular organisation of government. This was effected by the Quebec Act of that year, by which a council was appointed, to assist the governor, and to have. with him, legislative powers in all matters except faxation. But, ready as the Canadians were to grow into British ways of thinking and acting, the happy process was stopped by the statesmen at home, who thought that by being kept as French as possible, they might be preserved from striving after that independence for which the American colonies south of the St. Lawrence were

struggling. By the Quebec Act, the French civil law was re-established, and the English criminal law alone remained. For several years after this, English merchants and others became residents in Quebec and Montreal, and, towards the end of the century, those emigrants obtained-what the French residents had not thought about-a legislature like that at home. There was a house of representatives, elected by forty-shilling freeholders: and a council appointed by the crown, wherein office was held for life, and might be made The French hereditary, at the pleasure of the crown. inhabitants were alarmed at the idea of the power that would thus be given to the British residents; and they declared themselves perfectly happy under the Quebec Act, and averse to any change. The dangers that they pointed out-dangers to their religion and to the public peace, in case of the British getting the upper hand-appeared so probable, that government decided to divide the province, drawing the line along the boundary of the French settlements. The country to the west was to be purely British, while the French were to keep themselves as unchanged as they pleased. The government had no misgiving about this in 1791, when the thing was done; but Mr. Fox foresaw the mischief that might arise, and gave emphatic warning of it. For many years, his warnings went for nothing, for the colony was contented, and the scheme of division appeared to work well. The French took little interest in politics, and did not even watch over the liberties given them by their own institutions. Both races were extremely loyal, and they fought well for Britain in the second American war.

It was the era which brought peace to us that introduced the elements of strife into Canada. After the peace of 1815, there was a great emigration into Canada. Many thousands of men disengaged from the war having now to settle down in a home, a considerable number went to Canada; and among these were some who were disappointed at finding a less fair field for exertion than they had expected. In Lower Canada, French laws and customs were in their way; and in the Upper Province, there was a sort of aristocracy of the strong loyalists who

with a rancour and vehemently affected contempt which betrayed both fear and jealousy. It was reasonably supposed by those who heard this kind of detraction, that so perpetual a misconstruction of Lord (Durham's words and actions, and so virulent a ridicule of his actual foibles. must proceed from some expectation that Lord Durham was likely to become a man of high importance to that political party which had given up all hope from Lord Brougham. The difficult and doubtful alliance of parties which was, in a manner, preserved over the elections of the autumn of 1837, was, however, dissolved before the expiration of the year. The chief organ of the radical reformers declared, in January 1838: The ministers are The alliance between them and the now understood. Radicals is broken, never more to be reunited." The reason of this was that the affairs of Canada had come to a crisis; that that all-important colony was now to be lost or won; and that the ministers were treating the question with an ignorance, and indifference to the rights of the colonists, and to the principles of political liberty, which drove into opposition all who at once cared for political liberties and understood the circumstances of the case. The case was briefly this :---

Canada became a British possession in 1763. Its population then was about 70,000. It was governed under old French law, which disappeared in France at the Revolution; and the enjoyment of their customs, as well as their rights, was guaranteed to the people on their becoming British subjects. They fell into some British notions and ways, however, amidst their entire content under British rule; and by 1774 they were ready for a more regular organisation of government. This was effected by the Quebec Act of that year, by which a council was appointed, to assist the governor, and to have, with him, legislative powers in all matters except taxation. But, ready as the Canadians were to grow into British ways of thinking and acting, the happy process was stopped by the statesmen at home, who thought that by being kept as French as possible, they might be preserved from striving after that independence for which the American colonies south of the St. Lawrence were

By the Cge majority of the inhabitants of struggling. was re-established, o found themselves not only excluded For ruffuence, but unable to get any good remained. chants and othei-as every popular measure was, as a treal, and, towrse, thrown out by the council. Under grants obtainstances, the assembly of the Lower Province thought abo supplies for the payment of official salaries in was a hour the Upper Province followed the example in freeholde. The demands which they thus enforced were whereinit in the two provinces-the Upper requiring that herediscoutive council should be made responsible to the inhalmbly-and the Lower, that the legislative council would be made elective. This last demand was in acdecldance with the opinion of Mr. Fox, given forty years Actfore, in a speech which had prophesied the evils that in poset had arisen; but it was solemnly refused by the impeerial legislature in the form of an assent, by an overpoowering majority, to the resolutions proposed by Lord pJohn Russell on the 6th of March 1837. The division Fook place on the 14th of April, when the minister was supported by a majority of 269 to 46.

The Lower Canadians were only roused by this. They supposed the British government to be ignorant of the state of the case; and this ignorance might be dispelled by a troublesome perseverance in demands. At any rate, whatever had been obtained from the government during a long course of years, had been gained by means of incessant demands, and of dogged refusal of everything that it was in their power to refuse till their demands were granted. Those rulers have much to answer for who teach any people such a lesson as this; yet Lord John Russell saw so little into the culpability of the government as to declare, in the speech which alienated his best supporters, that the government of Canada had been one long course of concessions. The government of a growing colony ought always to be a long course of concessions; and if the government be bad, the difference is that the concessions are less advantageous, from being extorted, than they would have been if made for better reasons.

The rage excited in Canada by the news of the decision

Threats of armed of the House of Commons was extreme. resistance flew abroad over the country; and with them newspapers filled with seditious articles, expressed with the vehemence common in the political literature of all colonies. Government did not venture to bring the authors to trial, knowing that the juries would acquit. As far as anybody knew, nothing was done, from month to month, to redress the grievances complained of by the assembly; and the people were exasperated beyond control. Two persons arrested for sedition were rescued, on the impulse of the moment, by some armed peasants. The spark was struck among the gunpowder, and the explosion immediately followed. The French population rose as one man, and in December 1837, the news arrived in London that Canada was in a state of rebellion.

The government insisted that means of redress had been afforded by the sending out, in 1835, of Lord Gosford, with commissioners, to inquire into the grievances of the Canadians; but that commission had made matters worse instead of better, by baulking the hopes of the people-by promising great things, and hinting of liberal instructions which came to nothing but causing imputations of deception, if not of treachery, against Lord Glenelg, the colonial minister. Lord Gosford now, on the breaking out of the rebellion, came home, resigning the government into the hands of Sir J. Colborne, as a military governor, best suited to the exigency of the time. Here, then, was the state of things; the governor and his council in close union with each other, and in hopeless hostility to the popular branch of the legislature; the legislature retaliating its wrongs, and seeking redress, by refusing the official salaries, and demanding from the imperial government a necessary amendment of the constitution; and the imperial government refusing the amendment, and merely proposing to improve the quality of the obnoxious council, without touching its principle. Such was the state of affairs in " Lower Canada. In the Upper Province it was much the same; only, instead of a parliamentary refusal of the popular demand, the same end was gained by the putting forth of such government patronage as made the assembly its own -a temporary and most dangerous device of procrastination.

The numbers in the legislature had before been forty reformers and twenty Tories • after the elections of June 1836, when the governor put forth all his power and patronage, the numbers were forty-one Tories to twenty reformers—a change which, occurring in a time of vehement popular discontent, tells its own tale.

In this state of affairs, what the ministers did was to propose to parliament a suspension of the constitution of Lower Canada. They had suspended the constitution before, in the preceding April, by taking the disposal of their funds out of the hands of the assembly. This was all they had done: and now they were for suspending more of the constitution, when some of the wisest people of every political party in the country considered the cause of the Canadians to be just: their demands such as could not be triffed with; and even the war they were now levying to be defensible as regarded England, though unjustifiable as regarded the neighbours of the insurgents, from its hopelessness and unprepared character. When, in such a state of things, a member of the house of Russell stood forth, as a minister of the crown, to coerce instead of aiding the injured-to call that treason in them which he lauded as patriotism in analogous instances, the thorough reformers in parliament and the country felt that it was time to part company with the nominal reformers who had been practising a Stuart policy, and were now taking a Stuart view of affairs. Upon this occasion it was that the organ of the reformers declared : 'The ministers are now understood. The alliance between them and the Radicals is broken, never more to be reunited.'

As for the revolt—it was put down at once, and with little difficulty. In three weeks, all was quiet. It was not long before the friends of good government, and the advocates of the preservation of our colonial dominion, began to be glad that the rebellion had happened, as it had certainly roused the government to a sense that something must be done. The tone of Lord John Russell, who led in the Commons, was hard, prejudiced, despotic—full of the arrogance which those are most apt to parade who have brought on a crisis by ignorance or carelessness. He spoke as if the Canadians were purely wilful and ungrateful, and not at all as if they were suffering under protracted misgovernment which they could not get rectified; but he now saw that something must be done He had suspended a part of their constitution before, in defiance, and as a punishment; and he suspended the rest now, but it was with a view to something beyond. A full inquiry was to be made into Canadian affairs on the spot, with a view to practical measures. Under the stimulus of rebellion, it was probable that something would be done. Whether something good would be done, must mainly depend on the choice of the man who was sent.

It was on the 16th of January that Lord John Russell told the House of Commons who it was that was to be sen 'I think it is most important,' he said, 'that the person to be sent from this country should be one whose conduct and character should be beyond exception-a person conversant not solely with matters of administration, but with the most important affairs which are from time to time brought before the parliament of this country. I think he should be conversant also with the affairs of the various states of Europe; and, moreover, that it should be implied by his nomination that he was not at all adverse to opinions the most liberal, and that he was favourable to popular feelings and popular rights. Having said this much, I know not why I should refrain from adding that her majesty has been pleased to intrust the conduct of this affair and these high powers to one whom her advisers think in every respect fitted for the charge-namely, the Earl of Durham.' Lord Durham felt 'inexpressible reluctance' to the charge. His health was not good; and no post ever filled by any man more absolutely required the unflinching energy and strong caracity for labour which cannot be permanently commanded in a state of uncertain health. With his wellknown pride of family and high spirit, there was united a genuine modesty, which prevented his ever overrating his own powers, and a good sense which disclosed to him all the real difficulties of any task which he undertook. It was no wonder, therefore, that he went reluctantly into a work like this - so critical, so arduous, so incalculably important. The work was nothing less than reorganising society in Canada, and mainly determining the colonial

The numbers in the reformers and twent- for all time to come. His spirit reformers and twent- for all time to come. His spirit 1836, when the gr^{μ} upon the significance of the effort he patronage, the r^{-1} ; and before he left England he was able reformers—a coverful faith to some who saw but too much popular discipation of the spirate the patronage and the part to the patronage of the spirate to the spirate patronage.

In this friends and foes, on the announcement to the propose of his acceptance of the mission—an appeal which Lowest be more than affecting to both friends and foes to beformber now. 'I feel,' he said, 'that I can accomplish theiraly by the cordial and energetic support—a support thrich I am sure I shall obtain—of my noble friends the of embers of her majesty's cabinet, by the co-operation of che imperial parliament, and, permit me to say, by the generous forbearance of the noble Lords opposite, to whom I have always been politically opposed.' He alluded to the 'candour and generosity' of the Duke of Wellington, and on these he knew he might rely; but, as for 'cordial and energetic support' from his friends in the cabinet, and 'generous forbearance' from some who sat opposite, it was more worthy of his confiding temper to depend upon them than consistent with their conduct in political affairs to grant them.

Lord Durham's appointment was twofold. He went out as governor-general of the five British colonies in North America, and also as lord high-commissioner, to inquire into, and, if possible, adjust, all questions about civil government pending in Upper and Lower Canada. His powers were understood to be unlimited; and that of granting a general amnesty, being expressly mentioned by ministers in parliament, was eagerly discussed in Canada, from the first moment that the news could arrive. By a letter from the colonial secretary, dated April 21, Lord Durham was informed that her majesty's government were anxious above everything that the prisoners concerned in the insurrection, who could not be tried in the ordinary courts of law, because it was certain that juries would not convict, should be treated with the utmost possible lenity, compatible with the public safety; and, to secure the immediate settlement of the question which the whole government saw to be 'by far the most difficult and dangerous'-that of the disposal of the prisoners-the unusual power was given to Lord Durham to bestow absolute pardon, in treason cases as in others, without waiting for the ascertainment of the royal pleasure. When these powers were bestowed, and sympathy and cordial support promised, no doubt the ministers meant what they said. They were as little able as others to imagine how soon they could be scared into desertion and betrayal of the comrade whom they had entreated to undertake 'the most difficult and dangerous' part of their business.

Before he sailed, Lord Durham had warning how much he had to expect from the 'generous forbearance' of political opponents. Owing to some unfortunate delays in the going forth of the expedition, time was given for factious opponents to find means of annoyance. Ridicule was cast on Lord Durham's preparations-even to the packing of his plate, and the number of his grooms; and jocose warning was conveyed to relatives of gentlemen going out, that the ship-of-war, the Hastings, would be sunk by the weight of the governor-general's plate: and so much noise did this nonsense make, that the Marquis of Chandos nearly succeeded in throwing over the whole enterprise, by moving an objection to the expense-the governor-general being himself unsalaried. A serious mistake, made by Lord Durham and the ministers, afforded advantage to their enemies, both now and hereafter. Two objectionable persons-convicted of crime, one in a court of justice, and the other at the bar of the Lords, some years before-went out with the expedition; one with an appointment, and the other without, but with a full understanding that he was to be employed for the purposes of the mission. The ministers acquiesced in Mr. Turton's appointment, before Lord Durham's departure, though they were afterwards forward in censuring him for it. The appointment was, in truth, a bad one; and no eminence of legal ability should have been allowed to cancel the moral disability.

The voyage was long; and its leisure was employed by the governor-general and his official companions in diligent study of Canadian questions, and in discussions on the mass of papers relating to those questions that they had brought from the colonial office. The Quebec papers

which were sent on board at the mouth of the St. Lawrence contained bad news. There were faction and fury in the towns, and an outcry against any despotic governorgeneral: the French population were believed to be planning mischief; and the American 'sympathisers' on the borders were giving more and more trouble. The first step was to prepare a proclamation, which was done on board. The next was so characteristic as to be worth mentioning. It was the custom, on the arrival of a new governor, to swear in the old executive council. Lord Durham did not intend to do this, being aware of the thoroughly party character, and therefore present helplessness, of the late executive council; but the thing was very nearly done by an audacious attempt of the clerk of the council to surprise Lord Durham into swearing in the old members. To break up the notion that office in the council was for life. Lord Durham selected a few quiet new members, with whom he joined his three secretaries.

When he landed—on the 29th of May 1838—the British received him with eagerness, expecting from his hand the annihilation of the French party. The French were dumb and disaffected, sullenly withholding their confidence from their own priests, because the priests were well affected to the government. The late official body was quite odious and helpless. Upper Canada was in a most alarming state. Sir Francis Head, the governor, and others, had cruelly insulted the Americans; the American 'sympathisers' retaliated by attacking steam-boats, and keeping up a small war along the borders, which the government at Washington was wholly unable to control. From the bad state of municipal arrangements, the towns were in a barbarous condition as to police, paving, and lighting; and nothing could be worse than the state of public feeling about the administration of justice, both on a large and a small scale. From radical faults in the method of selling crown-lands, insuperable impediments existed to the proper settling of the country, and the distribution of emigrants westwards; a mischief as fatal to the prosperity of the colony as its political troubles. The canals, indispensable for commerce, which would otherwise find its way through the United States, were left unfinished; and no representations made

to government at home about the necessity of completing them obtained any attention. Some of the old tenures of land were vexatious and detrimental, and there was no registration of land. Education was in a backward state; though among the French population, virtuous efforts had been made for the instruction of their children. What the spirit of rancour was between the two races and political parties, there is no need to repeat.

Such was the state of things when Lord Durham landed at Quebec on the 29th of May. Within a few weeks there was a great change. It used to be said of Lord Durham in his foreign missions, that a week or so was spent first in making potentates understand that he meant exactly what he said, and nothing else; and that from that time business proceeded rapidly, smoothly, and safely. He used the same frankness now, and so did his coadjutors; and it was understood by everybody but the government at home. Colonel Grey went to Washington; and immediately all was well there. All danger of war was presently over; and the British and American forces were co-operating on the frontier. The French population, thus deprived of hope from the borderers, settled down in a kind of sullen resignation, and left off plotting rebellion. The British were annoyed that the French were kindly treated, and their loyalty became of a soberer kind. In Upper Canada, Lord Durham persuaded Sir George Arthur to give up all his plans of hanging rebels, and to publish a general amnesty, by which minds were set at rest. Before June was out, provision was made for paving and lighting, and furnishing a good police to Quebec and Montreal. By means of a land commission, a path was opened to colonists. and the most abundant of all sources of colonial prosperity was freely opened up. A good court of appeal was constituted of the judges, with two additional members. By imperial act, the new executive council was made the supreme appellate tribunal. A registry of land-titles was instituted, and a commutation of the feudal tenures of Montreal provided for, as a beginning of a general commutation. An education commission saw its way to the establishment of a general system of education by which the adverse races might be united in schools and colleges,

so that in another generation their present animosity might have become a tradition.

These were not small things to have done in the course of a few weeks; but there were two affairs-one more immediately embarrassing, the other more eminently important, than any of these-which still more deeply engaged the minds of the governor-general and his coadjutors. The permanently important subject was the scheme of constituting a federal union of the British North American provinces, for the two objects of securing good government for these colonies themselves, and of providing a counterbalance to the increasing power of the United States in the western hemisphere. This scheme appears to be one of those whose fulfilment is only a question of time. It has been suggested and re-suggested by statesmen, from Mr. Fox downwards-if not from an earlier date still. Mr. Roebuck introduced it, formally and completely, in the House of Commons, in April 1837; and Sir R. Peel, Lord Howick, Mr. Ellice, and others, declared their approval of it. Lord Durham began immediately to inquire and act-conceiving that no surer means of securing peace in the colonies could be found than uniting their legislation in matters of common interest to them all -such as the conduct of their defence in time of war, post-office and currency matters, and others-while their local affairs were ruled by a legislature in each colony. Sir Charles Grey, who had been one of Lord Gosford's commissioners, had proposed to divide the Canadas into three provinces, with their respective parliaments; by which plan he believed the adverse races would be so separated as to cease to annoy each other, while their representatives might meet in a central parliament, to legislate upon the navigation of the St. Lawrence, their commercial duties, their monetary system, their railroads, canals, and internal communications. Lord Durham was disposed in favour of the large federal system, and of also dividing the Canadas into three provinces-the westernmost of which would be exclusively British; the easternmost French, of a very quiet sort; and the intermediate one containing both populations, but the French in a small minority. The numbers in the two Canadas were at that time VOL. III. 2 G

950.000: of which 620.000 were British, and 330.000 were French. By some means or other, the process must be renewed by which the French had been fast becoming British when the act of 1791 separated the races again; and the present scheme appeared the most promising, by its operation in concentrating powers, and swamping dissensions, while it left laws and customs untouched. Lord Durham requested that the colonies under his government would send able persons to Quebec to discuss this subject with his council. On the 12th of September. some gentlemen arrived from Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island; and others soon followed from New Brunswick. These gentlemen were well chosen-intelligent, enlightened, and seriously disposed in favour of the scheme. But events were happening which put an end to their deliberations.

The other affair was that which Lord Durham and the ministers had agreed beforehand was 'by far the most difficult and dangerous '-the disposal of the rebel prisoners. Their fate ought to have been decided by Sir J. Colborne. and not left to be an insuperable embarrassment to the governor-general. But the thing had not been done; and it must be done now. It was a subject of deep thought and long deliberation. The case was this. The rebellion had been put down long ago; and it was universally understood that its outbreak was by a sort of accident, though its spread was but too well prepared for by the violence of previous agitation. The jails were full : and the choice of a method of clearing them was rendered infinitely more difficult by delay. To have military tribunals, now was out of the question, after such a lapse of time, and in the state of men's minds; and the civil tribunals could not have acted. Convictions could not have been obtained but by a packing of the juries by government-a course not to be thought of. Two members of the council suggested to Lord Durham to punish a few leaders lightly, but steadily, by means of an ex post facto law, made to meet the case. Lord Durham foresaw the outery that would be made; and declared that he would not think of it on any grounds less broad than the wish of the leading loyalists, and the petition of the prisoners

themselves. The leading men among the British made known their approval; and we have the petition of eight rebel leaders, dated from Montreal Jail, June 25, 1838, in which they exhibit their own view of the course which would be best for the peace of the country. 'We professed our willingness to plead guilty,' they say, 'whereby to avoid the necessity of a trial, and to give, as far as is in our power, tranquillity to the country. . . We again place ourselves at your lordship's discretion, and pray that the peace of the country may not be endangered by a trial.' Vice-Admiral Sir Charles Paget was at Quebec at the time; and with him the plan was discussed and agreed upon.

On the day of the queen's coronation, the 28th of June, an ordinance appeared, which declared that the eight rebel leaders in the jail of Montreal had acknowledged their guilt, and submitted themselves to her majesty's pleasure; that sixteen others, who were named, had fled; that it was hereby enacted, that the eight before-named culprits should be transported to Bermuda, to undergo there such restraints as should be thought fit; and that any of either class of culprits who should return and be found in the province without permission, should suffer death. It was to be in the power of any governor to permit any or all of these persons to return. Another clause excepted from mercy persons concerned in two murders connected with the rebellion. With this ordinance was published a proclamation of annesty for all political offences, for all persons but those designated in the ordinance.

The success of this measure was complete and immediate. Except that some of the British at Quebec were offended at its leniency, there was nothing but exultation on every hand. It produced a strong impression in the United States; and its instant effect in settling minds, and restoring social confidence in Canada, was very striking. None were better pleased than the prisoners themselves—as might have been expected. Lord Durham had fears throughout that censure would arise at home; but these fears were dissolved as soon as the mails could cross and recross the Atlantic, by the arrival of a dispatch from the colonial minister, and an autograph letter from the queen,

2 g 2

approving of the ordinance and proclamation in the strongest terms.

The worst seemed now over; the past appeared done with, and the way clear for the completion of the reforms Lord Durham's health, never good, was in progress. somewhat impaired by toil and anxiety; but he was now cheered, and had no doubt of finishing his great work. But the past was not done with; for he had omitted to send home to the government a statement full enough to produce in parliament, to meet the questionings and cavils of the uninformed and hostile. The ministers knew enough for their own satisfaction; and he relied on their pledges of cordial support, and on their consciousness of his ample powers—given by themselves; but he ought to have furnished them with such complete documentary exhibitions of the case as would have made them as strong with parliament as he believed himself to be with them. He did not; and it was a fatal omission. Some other matters had not gone smoothly. Lord Melbourne, with all his nonchalance and gaiety, had not spirit, activity, and courage to stand by an absent friend under attack in the House of Lords; and especially when the attack came from Lord Brougham, who now had power at any time to unnerve him. All the ministers were aware of Mr. Turton's intended appointment before he sailed ; yet Lord Melbourne gave it up to censure, as if it were a fact new to him, when questioned upon it, on the 2nd of July, by Lord Wharncliffe. Lord Durham did not conceal his feelings on this incident, when he next wrote home. Another attack was made in the Lower House, when Sir Edward Sugden objected to the small number of the governor general's council; and on this occasion, the arrangement was quietly vindicated by Lord John Russell and the attorney-general. The great attack was made on the 7th of August, by Lord Brougham, who not only offered objections which every member of the legislature had a perfect right, and might consider it his duty, to offer, but pursued his supposed rival in a manner mournful and surprising even to those who knew his temper, and the antecedent circumstances. About the illegality of that part of the ordinance which declared the culprits liable to

CHAP. XII.] LORD BROUGHAM'S DECLARATORY BILL. 453

death punishment if they returned without leave, there was a widely existing doubt-no trial having taken place; but Lord Brougham also denied that the principal of the eight prisoners had ever acknowledged himself guilty; he set forth a different policy for Canada as the one which he avouched to be right; and he brought in a bill to declare the meaning of the Canada Act, under which Lord Durham went out-proposing therein large limitations of the powers of the governor-general, and offering to indemnify, by act of parliament, all persons concerned in the issue of the ordinance of the 28th of June. Lord Brougham's own bill contained errors which exposed him to some retort; as when it declared the ordinance to be 'so much for the service of the public, that it ought to be justified by act of parliament,' while, in the same breath, Lord Brougham was vehement about its gross and intolerable injustice. The declaration in the bill was vindication enough of the ordinance in a moral point of view, as Lord Glenelg declared; and he avowed his intention of supporting the ordinance as legal in all its parts but one-meeting the consequences of that one, by instructing the governor of Bermuda not to detain the prisoners if they should choose to depart; which every one knew they would be careful not to attempt. Lord Glenelg also pointed out the novelty, in Lord Brougbam's bill, of proposing indemnity for a current transaction-that is, for acts future as well as finished. All the generous-minded men, of any politics, were of one mind about the temper shown in the treatment of Lord Durham, and the studious forgetfulness of the singular exigency of his position. Such men felt, that after having given Lord Durham powers almost unlimited for the management of a crisis almost unequalled, and encouraged him to rely on their 'cordial support,' or 'generous forbearance,' as the case might be, it could not be right to pass now-in regard to his very first act of mercy-a bill, called declaratory, but which should materially limit the powers they had so lately conferred. Such men were for rectifying the one supposed illegality of the ordinance, while supporting its intent, and upholding, wherever it was possible, the authority of the governor-general, till the organisation of Canadian affairs

should preclude all doubts as to the field of action for rulers, and release them from the present urgent necessity of support from home. But if the ministers fully understood the case, they did not show that they did. They could not, unfortunately, interest parliament by the production of any documentary narrative or reasoning from the Canadian government; and Lord Brougham's opposition was more than they had courage to stand. Though Lord Melbourne declared, on the 9th of August, that the House was suffering from the narrowing of the mind caused by the pursuit of the legal profession, and that if the Canadas were now lost, through the discrediting and fettering of those who should protect them, it would be by special pleading, he gave way in twenty-four hours. The second reading of Lord Brougham's bill was carried by a majority of 54 to 36. After this, all was in confusion. Lord Denman was disposed to believe that Lord Durham had the power of transporting the prisoners to the Bermudas, though everybody else had given up that point. It came out that Sir J. Colborne had passed ordinances of attainder more stringent than Lord Durham's, without any question from any quarter; and Lord Brougham now refused to declare whether he thought Sir J. Colborne had transcended his powers. Lord Brougham's bill was stripped of all its declaratory portions, and reduced to a mere enacting of indemnity, to which again Lord Denman objected, on the part of the prisoners, as a gross violation of the constitution. Amidst this confusion, absurd if it had not been about a matter so serious, the only party whose views and facts were not fully explained was Lord Durham. He and his position were sacrificed, while nothing was established.

On the 10th of August, Lord Melbourne announced that the queen's advisers had counselled the disallowance of the ordinance. 'I cannot but say,' he declared, 'that it is with the deepest regret and alarm that I have taken this course. I cannot but say that it is not without great apprehensions of the consequences that I have taken this course; and it is not without feeling the greatest pain and regret that I have come to the determination.' In the Commons, the debates on the subject were animated, and sometimes angry; and the ministers appeared even more weak than in the Lords. On Sir Charles Grey declaring that, while he disapproved of the ordinance in general. he was convinced of the legality of the provision for the transportation to Bermuda, Dr. Lushington observed that Lord Durham might have gone further astray if he had had more legal advice, since the lord chancellor, the lord chief-justice, Ex-chancellor Sugden, Sir William Follett, and Sir Charles Grey, all differed from one another as to the legality of his acts. It was now, however, too late to reconsider the matter. The pledge was given to disallow the ordinance: and it was done in such a hurry that the amnesty provision was not remembered; and it must now include all the parties named as excepted in the ordinance. The step which Lord Durham was compelled . instantly to take in consequence of this was converted into another charge against him, as will be seen. As Lord Glenelg had emphatically approved the ordinance, in a dispatch to the governor-general, it was thought necessary that he should retire when the annulling was decreed. He was got rid of, and was succeeded, as colonial secretary, in February 1839, by Lord Normanby.

It was on a fine September day, on returning from a merry drive, that Lord Durham and his family and advisers received the news of the disallowance of the ordinance. His friend and best helper, Mr. Charles Buller, knew before dinner-knew by his countenance more than by words, that all was over-that their great enterprise was ruined. When they sat down in consultation, that adviser and friend would fain have persuaded himself and others that all was not over. That this was the result of an intrigue was to them clear. The ministers and Lord Durham had a deadly enemy, who had given notice of what they might expect when he declared that he 'hurled defiance' at Lord Melbourne's head; and Lord Melbourne and his comrades dared not withstand this enemy even while the first lawyers in the empire disagreed as to whether the ordinance of Lord Durham was legal or illegal. What Sir J. Colborne had done was approved or passed over; and when, in a most critical difficulty which Sir J. Colborne should never have thrown upon him. Lord

Durham used powers which Sir J. Colborne had used without question, his watchful enemy seized his opportunity to scare his friends from supporting him, as they were pledged to do. Considering all this, and that Lord Durham was to blame in not having furnished the government at home with sufficient documentary material for his defence, Mr. Charles Buller earnestly desired to hold out, for the high prize of success in retrieving the colony, and forming a new and sound colonial system. But he soon saw that Lord Durham was right in proposing to return. The governor-general had not health for such a struggle as this must now have been. Energy and decision were not always to be commanded in the degree necessary under such unequalled difficulties; and death in the midst of the work was only too probable. Again, the colony was still in too restive and unsettled a state to be governed by an enfeebled hand; and while unsupported at home, Lord Durham was a less safe ruler than Sir J. Colborne, whom he would leave in his place. Again, it was now clear that the true battle-field on behalf of Canada was in parliament. With his present knowledge in his head, and his matured schemes in his hand, Lord Durham could do more for Canada in the House of Lords than he could do at Quebec, while the Lords made nightly attacks which drew rebuke even from the Duke of Wellington, and thwarted the policy which they did not understand. Thus, resignation was an act of sad and stern necessity; but, if not so, it was an act of clear fidelity to Canada. It was hastened by rumours of intended insurrection, which, under the circumstances, could be dealt with only by Sir J. Colborne.

And now again came the question, what was to be done with the prisoners? The case was at present this. They would return on Lord Durham's resignation. Were they to be tried or not? Having been already more or less punished, were they to be punished over again? The violent loyalists would have arrested them; and then would have ensued the very evils, with aggravation, that the ordinance was designed to obviate. The guilt would have followed, in the face of the evidence. There must have been—to avoid such a spectacle as this—a suspension of the habeas corpus.

or packed juries, or martial law; and if Lord Durham would not introduce such measures for the punishment of the rebels at an earlier date, he would not do it now, to repunish a few of them long after the rebellion had ceased. These men were as yet feeble and insignificant-the few against whom there was a sufficiency of evidence; but they would become abundantly formidable if it could once be said in the United States, and around their own homes, that they were persecuted by the British government. This would be made the pretext of the rebellion then brewing; which might otherwise be easily dealt with from its want of pretext. There was also no time to be lost; for the men might now arrive any day. Lord Durham was therefore advised to meet the difficulty half-wayto speak the first word-and to do it by inserting in his needful proclamation a declaration that there was now nothing to prevent the return of the prisoners. Lord Durham himself observed that this would be regarded at home as a freak of temper; but his council encouraged him to brave the imputation, and trust to the facts becoming understood in time. The act was called a freak of temper; and so was his determination to return; and so was his proclamation—which is considered by impartial observers one of the finest papers of its kind that our history can show. It was not a case in which there could be any concealment or shuffling. To enlist the colonists on the side of obedience and order, it was necessary to tell them simply why he must leave them-why the rebels whom he had punished were released by the home government-and how it was that the plans for the welfare of the colony were suddenly stopped. It was necessary, for the same purpose, to keep up their hope and trust in government—to show them that all might yet be well if he went home to explain their case—to lead them to rely on him still, as resolved in their cause. The proclamation was issued on the 9th of October; and its immediate effect was to soften the grief and wrath of the colony at losing him-to allay excessive agitation-and to prove that he had not miscalculated the resources of the colony, by bringing forward volunteers, in fresh confidence, for the defence of the province.

He did what he could to obviate to the colony the mischief done by friends and foes at home; and he did so much that he must ever be regarded as the originator of good government in the colonies. Rarely has a greater work been done in five months than the actual reforms he wrought in Canada; but he did much more by means of the report which he delivered after his return. By means of this celebrated report, free and large principles of colonial government are exhibited in action, and endowed with so communicable a character that there are none of our more thriving colonies that do not owe much of their special prosperity to him; and probably few of the least happy that would not have been in a worse condition if he had not gone to Canada. By the utmost diligence in the completion of his measures during the few weeks that remained-by every effort of self-control, and by the quiet operation of his magnanimity-he averted as much as he could of the mischief done at home; but one fatal consequence was beyond his power. His heart was broken. No malice, no indifference, no levity, can get rid of that fact ; and it is one which should not be hidden.

He held to his work to the last. On the night before his departure, a proclamation settled the rights of squatters on crown-lands. As he went down to the harbour, crowds stretched as far as the eye could see every head uncovered, and not a sound but of the carriages. This deep silence of sympathy moved him strongly; and he believed that this was his last sight of an assemblage of men; for he had no idea that he could reach England alive. As the frigatethe Inconstant-was slowly towed out of harbour, heavy snow-clouds seemed to sink and settle upon her, while over the water came the sound of the cannon which installed his successor. Those of his council who remained behind, to clear off arrears of business, were alarmed, during their sad and silent dinner, by a report of fire on board the frigate; and a fire there was, but it was presently extinguished. There was no intermission of storms up to the moment of the landing at Plymouth, on the 1st of While the ship was in harbour there, the December. weather was so boisterous that there was difficulty to the queen's messengers in finding any sea-goers who would

undertake to convey on board the *Inconstant* the packet of orders to land Lord Durham without the bonours. It was done by a boat being allowed to drive so that the packet could be thrown on board. He met honours in abundance, however, on his landing, and all the way to London crowded public meetings, addresses, escorts—every tokan of confidence and attachment that could cheer his heart. There was great joy throughout the Liberal party when his first words at the Devonport meeting were known. They referred to his 'declarations to the people of Scotland in 1834,' as his present creed. But he disappointed the Liberals by his magnanimous determination to devote himself to the retrieval of Canada, and to listen to nothing else till that was effected.

Lady Durham immediately on her return resigned her situation in the queen's household. Great efforts were made to bring about a reconciliation between Lord Durham and the Whig government; and his generosity aided the attempt. He could afford to do it; for he had never spoken evil of his enemies. Nothing had throughout been more touching to those who knew him than his slowness to give up hope in Lord Brougham, and his quickness in seizing on favourable explanations of doubtful conduct. He now required of his friends silence in both Houses about his quarrel; and he kept silence himself.* While the newspapers of all parties were commenting on the weakness of the Whigs, and declaring that they could not remain in power 'beyond Easter at furthest'-a curious hit as to date-Lord Durham devoted himself only the more to the support of a ministry which, with all its sins and weaknesses, professed a liberal policy. He was soon joined by his coadjutors from Canada; and they worked together at the celebrated report. There was more cavil about small circumstances on the publication of the report -worthy of mention only as showing how he was betrayed when he relied on the ' cordial support' of friends and the

• It will be evident to the readers of this chapter that it is written from private knowledge, as well as from public documents. After the above notice of Lord Durham's generous silence, it is hardly necessary to say that no statement of the circumstances of his Canada mission was ever made to me by himself or any of his family.

'generous forbearance' of opponents. Much of his time and labour was devoted to the instruction of his successor. Mr. C. Poulett Thomson (afterwards Lord Sydenham), who wisely resolved to adopt the Durham policy with the utmost completeness. Many hours every day were spent in consultation, and preparation of measures; and to good purpose. Not only were Lord Durham's plans all adopted by Lord Sydenham, but his own best measures were planned in Lord Durham's house in London, prepared for introduction in Canada, and the agents informed and These duties done, but few months of life instructed. remained to the baffled statesman. When he could give information about Canadian matters, or vindicate the principles of good government at home, or in the colonies, he was at his post in the House of Lords. But he was visibly sinking. In the summer of 1840, he was ordered to the south of Europe for his health; but he found himself so ill at Dover that he turned aside to Cowes, where he became too weak to leave his couch. Even then, and when he was unable to take any nourishment but a little fruit, there was so much life and animation in his countenance and conversation, that those who knew him best could not but believe that much work yet lay between him and the grave; but on the 28th of July he sank rapidly, and died in a few hours. He left his large estates and other property as much as possible at the disposal of his devoted wife-the eldest daughter of Earl Grey: but she followed him in a few months, leaving their young son to emulate the virtues of his parents as well as he might after the spectacle of their example was withdrawn.

Thus were the Liberal party in Great Britain deprived of the statesman whom they had hoped to make their head. It may be questioned whether his health or his temperament would have ever permitted him to hold a post in the cabinet for any length of time. He could not, under Lord Grey's premiership; but the shortcomings of that administration are quite enough to account for his secession. The halting reformers were no comrades for him; and his directness, frankness, faith, and courage were altogether overpowering to them. Magnanimous as his nature was,

he had faults of temper which excused some dislike and some ridicule, though that fault was much exaggerated by those who, being able to establish no other charge against him, made the most of that. He had much to bear from the loss of children, and his infirm health; but he never was wanting to the discharge of public duty. From the moment when the young John George Lambton fixed the attention of the best opposition men by his maiden speech, to that in which he provided for the establishment of responsible government in Canada, he was the trust and hope of the most highly principled Liberals in the country. He had good working ability -a clear head, an unprejudiced mind, a ceaseless desire to learn of all who had anything to tell, and a most conscientious industry. It has been said that he had a genius for truth : and so he had-both for the perception and the expression of it. He thought nothing of his own power of public speaking; but some of the best lawyers and literary people in England liked it as well as any election mob that he ever addressed. He died at the age of forty-eight, and left no political successor. If the advent of the Conservatives was before believed to be near. it became pretty certain from the time of Lord Durham's death. There was no longer anything in connection with the Whig administration worth contending for. Lord Durham had upheld it, and thereby enjoined the same conduct on his friends; but when he was gone, no further effort was possible, and the Melbourne ministry remained dependent on the mere favour of the queen.

It has been mentioned that Mr. Charles Buller was the nearest friend and adviser of Lord Durham in his Canadian enterprise. He was his chief-secretary and *member* of his council; and it is understood that the merit of the celebrated report is mainly ascribable to him. He was before a remarkable member of the House of Commons remarkable for high political promise, and for a manly amiability which engaged the friendly regard of every man within the four walls. He was one of the leaders of the radical reform party; but this did not render him an object of suspicion or dislike to the rankest Tory in the House—any more than his overflowing wit made him feared or avoided. He was but thirty-two when he finished his work at the Canadian report; and every one hoped and supposed that a long course of usefulness and honour lay before him. But in ten years he also was gone, after having risen much in the appreciation of those who knew him most and least. In the words of one who knew and has described him well: 'To a singular extent it can be said of him that he was a spontaneous, clear man. Very gentle, too, though full of fire; simple, brave, graceful. What he did and what he said came from him as light from a luminous body; and had thus always in it a high and rare merit, which any of the more discerning could appreciate fully. To many, for a long while, Mr. Buller passed merely for a man of wit; and certainly his beautiful natural gaiety of character, which by no means meant levity, was commonly thought to mean it, and did, for many years, hinder the recognition of his higher intrinsic qualities. Slowly it began to be discovered that, under all this many-coloured radiancy and coruscation, there burned a most steady light—a sound, penetrating intellect, full of adroit resources, and loyal by nature itself to all that was methodic, manful, true; in brief, a mildly resolute, chivalrous, and gallant character, capable of doing much serious service.'

When these men and their coadjutors were turned back from their 'serious service' in Canada, the work did not stop. Their successors—Lord Sydenham and his coadjutors—applied themselves with diligence and devotedness to carry out their policy and their projects. Lord Sydenham's health was no better than his predecessor's; and he died within two years of his arrival in Canada; but in that" brief time, and under that disability, he had done more than most men would in many years.

Mr. C. Poulett Thomson, as he still was, went out with the leading points of his mission well fixed in his mind-that the minority was no longer to govern: that the executive and the assembly were to be brought into harmony, in accordance with what are considered the first principles of government at home, and with what was called responsible government in Canada; and that such improvements as he contemplated, must be made, not by

means of organic changes in the constitution, but by administering the powers of the government in a just and liberal spirit, so as to attract the sympathies of all to the executive. He wished to do in Canada what Lord Normanby and his coadjutors had attempted in Ireland: and it remained to be seen how much resemblance there was between the 'Family Compact' in Canada and the 'Protestants' in Ireland-between the 'French' in Canada and the Catholics in Ireland. By his earliest declarations after his arrival in different colonies, it was seen that he held two points of doctrine in regard to his own conductthat, as the representative of the sovereign, he was responsible to the imperial authorities alone; and that his first obligation was so to form and conduct his government as to insure its harmony with the majority of the House of Assembly. The question was whether the doctrine was practicable. The proof must be the work of many years, and must include the trial of many governors. In his own short day, he did what he could. He had the inestimable advantage which was denied to his predecessor in the most critical moment of his probation-support from the government at home. The new colonial secretary, Lord J. Russell, was a sort of idol of his, and afforded him a full requital of support. He had no personal enemy in the House of Lords to scare his friends into desertion. He had every advantage: and he used his advantages well.

His chief aim was the legislative reunion of the two provinces, in order to undo, if possible, some of the mischief of their division, and promote the process of Anglicising the French. This project he announced in his speech to the legislature, at the end of 1839: and he witnessed the accomplishment of it in little more than a year. The legislative union of the two Canadas was proclaimed on the 10th of February 1841—the queen's first wedding-day, and the anniversary also of the conclusion of the treaty of 1763, which made Canada a British colony: and also of an act which it was less conciliatory to remember—the royal assent to the suspension of the constitution of Lower Canada. It needs not be said that the union was unacceptable to the French population. They struggled hard to return representatives who were opposed to the project; and there are still many, on both sides the water, who doubt whether the matter is settled yet. The elections were conducted with much riot and some loss of life, and the first proceedings of the united legislature were stormy; but, on the whole, matters went better than the governor expected; and in a private letter of the 27th of June, a fortnight after the opening, he declared himself at ease in regard to the great experiment. So sanguine was he, that he concluded his letter with the following prophecy in regard to a supposed successor: Such a man-not a soldier, but a statesman—will find no difficulties in his path that he cannot easily surmount; for everything will be in grooves, running of itself and only requiring general direction.' If this was too much to anticipate, it is certain that the improvements achieved in two years were very remarkable. Men's minds were calmed ; credit was re-established ; public works were in rapid progress; and confidence in the imperial rule, and hope from the colonial government, had, in a great degree, superseded hatred and fear.

Lord Sydenham's health was too much shaken by disease to permit him to sustain any shock of accident; and he died, in September 1841, from the consequences of his horse falling with him—by which his leg was broken. He gave his attention to public affairs to the last, with great calmness and fortitude. His age was only forty-two.

The first association with the name of Mr. C. Poulett Thomson always was, and is still, of a repeal of the corn-He was the son of a merchant; and no man in laws. England-not Mr. Huskisson himself-ever had a more thorough understanding of the soundness of the principle It was to advocate this principle-and of free-trade. especially in regard to corn-that Mr. Thomson was refurned by Manchester as her representative. For a time he did the duty well; and when he became a member of the Whig administration he stipulated for freedom to advocate a repeal of the corn-laws. But this soon grew a cold and formal affair; and we know by an extract from his private journal, written on his voyage to Canada, that he was conscious of having lost ground with the Liberal party, and as a speaker-in Manchester, and the House of Commons: 'Manchester and the House of Commons are

no longer what they were to me.' His office of chancellor of the exchequer was so disagreeable to him, that he would give up the cabinet and parliament to avoid it. He was glad to get away to Canada, and do there, by himself, the work that was pressing to be done. He and the political world seem to have been, at that time, in a state of mutual disappointment; and the reason appears to have been that he was not in himself lofty enough for the position assigned him. He was an able man-had a clear head, and a strong will, and much knowledge; but there was little morally noble in him but his strength of will-shown in his industry and his endurance of pain. He did many useful things at the Board of Trade; and he found his most favourable position when he went to Canada; but he neither entertained nor inspired political faith, nor drew towards himself any high respect or genial admiration. Though his last scene of action was his greatest and best, he was regarded, and is still, as one of the Whig failures-one of the ministers of a critical period, who, while possessed of considerable talents and some good political qualities, have done more than many worse men to shake a nation's faith-if not in the principles of politics, at least in those who are the most forward in the profession of them. The professions of Whig reformers while rehearsing the death-knell of abuses, have but too often reminded us of Dr. Johnson's knocking and summoning ghost; the conclusion in both cases being that-- ' nothing ensued.' What is due to Mr. C. Poulett Thomson's memory is, that he should be regarded and remembered as Lord Sydenham, who governed Canada for two years on the introduction of Lord Durham; and that, if too much selfregard mingled-as his journal shows-with his inducements to the work, he still bore in mind Lord Spencer's more generous suggestion, that Canada offered 'the finest field of exertion for any one, as affording the greatest power of doing the greatest good to one's fellow-creatures."

VOL. III.

2н

CHAPTER XIII.

Jamaica—The Planters—Imperial Agents—Lord Sligo—Sir Lionel Smith—Proposed Suspension of the Constitution—Weakness of Ministers—Their Resignation — Bedchamber Question—Sir. R. Peel summoned — Household Appointments — Restoration of the Whig Ministers—Election of a Speaker—New Jamaica Bill—Official Changes—Queen's Engagement—Her Marriage—Prince Albert's Annuity.

CANADA was not the only British colony which caused embarrassment to the ministry by hostility between the legislature and the executive. The affairs of the nation were brought to a crisis in the spring of 1839, by the doubt whether or not the constitution of Jamaica should be suspended.

It was then, and it will ever be, a matter of grateful surprise that such an event as the abolition of slavery should have taken place amidst such quietness as prevailed throughout the West Indies. The quietness continued in most of the settlements; and no reasonable person can read the records of the time without emotions of admiration at the temper of the negroes during the critical years which succeeded their emancipation. While their conduct was such as to need no excuse, that of their former masters ought to have every allowance. It is impossible for men-with a few exceptions-who have lived all their lives in the possession of power like that of the slave-owner, to enter at once into a state of fellow-citizenship with their former slaves, and to stand equal with them before the law, with a good grace. The Jamaica planters were now to decree in their assembly, and to live under, a whole set of new laws which had never been necessary when all other men in their island had been their property and not their neighbours; and it was most difficult for them, and the imperial government to agree upon those laws. Again, many practices towards their negroes, while still in a state of apprenticeship, which appeared to them necessary and

ordinary, could not be allowed under the new system ; and the whipping of women, the cruel use of the tread-mill, and many penal usages in prisons, were forbidden by imperial law, which appeared in the eyes of the planters mere favouritism to the negroes, and vexatious interference Again, they had been reared in a with themselves. temper of chartered self-will; and they could not in a moment be expected to feel and show the deference, moderation, and good manners usual among residents under a better social system than theirs. Their conduct was exactly what might have been expected-that of children in a combative mood. The members of assembly talked big, did provoking things, snubbed successive governors. used insolent language to the imperial government, endeavoured to trench upon the Abolition Act by provisions in bills of their own, drew upon themselves disallowance of their acts from home, and then refused to provide for the executive wants of the island, and even hustled, and turned out of their house, the officer who came to deliver the governor's message. After the completion of emancipation, a large proportion of the planters oppressed the patient negroes by arbitrary and illegal exactions of rent. by a misapplication of the vagrant law, and by all those harassing methods which suggest themselves to persons accustomed to despotism as a natural right, and thrown into ill-humour by a deprivation of that power. That such was the conduct of that section of society represented. by the assembly is established by a mass of documentary evidence, and by the testimony of all who went fresh to the scene-such as the stipendiary magistrates, the Bishop of Jamaica, and observers from various countries travelling in the island.

On the other hand, the governors and other agents of the imperial government could not be expected to preserve an immovable patience---to resist all provocation to antagonism---to see without some emotions of partiality the oppression of the negroes who were free by law, but not yet in fact----to hear with perfect composure the scolding which they incurred by encouraging the negro-women to decline hard field-work, and by putting the labourers in possession of their own case with regard to wages. It 2 H 2 might have been impossible for the officials to avoid collision with the planters; but there were faults on their side as well as on the other—as is always the case where quarrels exist. In 1836, Lord Sligo, the governor, violated the privileges of the assembly by sending down a message that he would not pass a bill unless it were amended as the other House proposed. For this he was rebuked by the home government; and it was necessary for him to apologise to the assembly. He did this on the 24th of May; but could not, after such a misadventure, remain in his post with any satisfaction; and he was succeeded, in the next autumn, by Sir Lionel Smith.

Sir Lionel Smith was popular at first; and during 1837, affairs proceeded with great smoothness. But the new governor was soon pronounced guilty of favouritism to the negroes, like everybody else who came from the mothercountry; and the insolence of the assembly became more ostentatious than ever. It was prorogued and then dissolved, under a stubborn refusal on its own part to pass the laws necessary for the transaction of the affairs of the colony. The new assembly paraded a similar refusal, as soon as it met—in December 1838. The especial cause of wrath at this time was the passage of a bill in the imperial parliament for the regulation of prisons in Jamaica; an act rendered highly necessary by the cruelties which were perpetrated there, under various licences and pretences which must be put an end to. Another method by which the planters evinced their wrath was by forcible ejectments of the negroes from their habitations, by which distress and serious discontent were occasioned. The governor reported to the authorities at home that the laws were not clear in regard to the relations between the employing and the labouring classes, and that a complete new system was required. Under these circumstances-with local legislation at a stand, and a large section of law requiring absolute renovation-Lord Melbourne's government determined to propose to parliament a suspension of the constitution of Jamaica for five years, during which a provisional government would administer its affairs, allowing time for an improvement in the temper of all the parties who were in a state of wrath.

CHAP. XIII.] PROPOSED SUSPENSION OF CONSTITUTION. 469.

The government miscalculated their strength. It must be a strong government which can carry a suspension of a constitution of 200 years old under any circumstances but those of an armed rebellion, like that of Canada ; and Lord Melbourne's government had for some time been the weakest of the weak. It had lost the support of the radical reform party, and was universally understood to be kept in power by the mere favour of the young queen ; and there were circumstances in the demeanour of the premier which made that favour more conspicuous than it ought to have been. By this time, it had become the custom of newspapers of various politics to record the visits of Lord Melbourne to the palace, and his attendance on the queen. in her drives and at her frequent parties. All reasonable persons saw how natural it was that a sovereign so young and inexperienced in her difficult duties should desire the daily attendance of a minister so qualified by years and abilities to be her instructor and guide; and how natural it was that a man of so much worldly experience and so kind a heart should be interested in the task of instruction. and guidance. But even the most sensible and genialminded saw how it was also reasonable that the public in general should be discontented at an appearance of pleasureseeking and idleness in the first minister of an empire, whose work must be such as ought to leave him little leisure for absence from his office during any but the evening hours which are all that busy men usually spare for relaxation. It was in the midst of a prevalent desire for a prime-minister who should appear sensible of the responsibility of his position, that the cabinet brought forward a measure which at least was very daring, and on which the most conscientious politicians might naturally entertain the gravest doubts.

When Mr. Labouchere brought forward the motion on the 9th of April 1839, it appeared that, though no one defended the conduct of the Jamaica assembly, men of all parties saw one way or another by which the dire necessity of suspending the constitution might be avoided. Some were for treating the assembly as passionate children, to whom a time for thought and a place for repentance should be permitted. Some hoped that the cure might be naturally

effected by means of the enlargement of the constituency of Jamaica, which must take place henceforth through the admission of black citizens to political rights. And there were many who objected to the assignment in the preamble of the bill of insufficient grounds, while the real and avowed reason was that the present was a good occasion for that renovation of the institutions of Jamaica which was a necessary consequence, sooner or later, of the great social changes introduced by the emancipation of the The affair was fully debated. Counsel were negroes. heard on behalf of the assembly; and most able and pertinacious was the pleading. The ministers strained every nerve to carry their measure; but when the decisive division took place, on the 6th of May, or rather on the morning of the 7th, their majority, in a full House, was only 5.

On the reassembling of the Houses, the ministers announced their resignation of office. The reason assigned was, that the assembly of Jamaica would believe that its insolence was countenanced by the British parliament, and the authority of the crown would be so much weakened in that and in other colonies, that Lord Melbourne's administration could not undertake to govern them. This avowal placed the Melbourne cabinet in a difficulty on its speedy return to office; but yet it was a fortunate avowal on the whole, for it saved the ministers from the very serious imputations which they deserved to incur, on its now appearing that they had brought their young and confiding sovereign, through her very confidence in them, into a position of great perplexity and humiliation. The time had now come for the fulfilment of the predictions of those who had given early warning about the formation of the queen's household. The Whig ministers, by surrounding the queen with their wives, sisters, and daughters, exposed her to be stripped of her accustomed attendants on a change of ministry, or forced her into an unconstitutional position. They now gave her unconstitutional advice, and upheld her in an unconstitutional position. She was gently dealt with by public opinion in this matter, on account of her youth and inexperience, and also because she was really the chief sufferer on the occasion; but the universal conviction was, that the ministers had been no true friends to their trusting sovereign. Their enemies concluded, wrongly but not unnaturally, that the whole affair was deliberately planned to give the Whigs a continued hold on office. It was as confuting this charge that Lord John Russell's avowal of inability to govern the colonies, after the late division, was useful to the reputation of the Melbourne ministry.

It was on the Tuesday night that the resignations were announced. On Wednesday, the 8th of May, at two o'clock, Sir R. Peel waited on the queen, in answer to her summons. The queen had sent for the Duke of Wellington in the first instance, and the duke had told her that the chief difficulties of a Conservative ministry would lie in the House of Commons: and he therefore advised her to send for Sir R. Peel. The remarkable truthfulness of the queen's character showed itself at once; a truthfulness which may occasionally annoy or discourage persons who had been accustomed to something different at court, but which is an inestimable security to her ministers by making always firm the ground under their feet. After the intrigue and untruthfulness of George IV., and the vacillating weakness and senile impressibility of William IV., which made their ministers feel the precariousness of the arrangements of every day, there was something so delightful to the queen's first set of ministers in her steady attachment and perfect ingenuousness, that no one can wonder if their discretion, and even their sense of political honour, were laid asleep. Exactly in the same proportion must the same qualities in the sovereign have been embarrassing to her new ministers on their first approach. As Sir R. Peel avowed to the House, the queen greeted him with a spontaneous intimation that she was much grieved to part with her late ministers, whose conduct she entirely approved. This was an awkward beginning; but the negotiation proceeded, and no difficulty arose as to the formation of the new cabinet. Nothing had thus far been said about the constitution of the household ; and so little was Sir R. Peel prepared with any complaint or any plan about this, that, as he said, he did not know of what in-

dividuals the household was composed, till, having to talk over the matter with his intended colleagues, he referred to the Red-book, and was struck with the completeness of the arrangements for surrounding the Queen with the nearest relations of the Whig ministers. For instancean instance adduced by Sir R. Peel in the House-the great difficulty of his government was Ireland, the Conservatives being in direct opposition to the policy of Lords Normanby and Morpeth; and on referring to the Redbook, he found that the two ladies in the closest attendance upon the queen were the wife of Lord Normanby and the sister of Lord Morpeth. Sir R. Peel told his intended colleagues what he meant to do. He should not propose any change in the offices below that of lady of the bedchamber. He trusted that the ladies who held the higher offices would voluntarily resign. If they did not, he must propose a change. This was not only reasonable. as requiring the most ordinary and indispensable token of the confidence of the sovereign, but it was a constitutional rizht. The highest authorities on constitutional points declared that the appointments of the household are state appointments, for which the minister is responsible. Neither the queen nor her ministers, however, knew this. Hitherto, there had been sufficient consideration for the dignity and the feelings of the sovereign to keep the constitutional question out of sight. Now that the Melbourne ministry had rashly brought it forward, it was found that Sir R. Peel was right. Though constitutionally right, it was, however, said at the time that he was politically wrong; and that he might have known that the ladies in question would certainly resign immediately, and their places be quietly filled up in a prudent manner with persons in a neutral position as to their political connections. That Sir R. Peel retired upon this difficulty was regarded as a sign that he was not ready for office; that not only was Ireland his 'difficulty,' as he said, but that it was so great a difficulty as to in-dispose him for office. If the Whigs now came in again, they would hold rule at his will and pleasure; and he could take their places at any time when they had fairly tried, and proved to the world, the issue of their Irish

policy. However this might be, what took place about the household appointments was made known to all the world—the queen having given permission to Sir R. Peel to tell his part of the story in parliament. The explanations of the Whig ministers, and the records of the daily news of the time, supply the rest.

When Sir R. Peel told the queen, on the Thursday, what he proposed to do, she misunderstood him, as was afterwards acknowledged, and supposed him to contemplate the removal of all her servants and household friends. This was certainly the impression she had given to the late ministers when they agreed in council on the mistaken advice which they gave the queen. The queen stopped Sir R. Peel in his statement of his wish to consult her predilections, by declaring that she would admit no change whatever in the female appointments of her household. She sent for Lord J. Russell, and expressly put the question to him whether she was not right in this. He replied that she was right; and she then naturally requested him to support her now, as she had before supported her ministers. She also appealed to Lord Melbourne, and stated her intentions to the Duke of Wellington. The duke was of opinion that Sir R. Peel must retire if the queen's mind was thus made up. Lord Melbourne called his colleagues together, and in council they advised the queen to send the following note to Sir R. Peel: 'The queen, having considered the proposal made to her yesterday by Sir R. Peel, to remove the ladies of her bedchamber, cannot consent to adopt a course which she conceives to be contrary to usage, and which is repugnant to her feelings.' Thus the Whig ministers formally assumed the responsibility of this act. No allusion is made to the constitutional principle of the case; and Lord John Russell's appeal throughout was to 'usage.' It is strange that he and his colleagues did not see how contrary to usage it was to place the sovereign in the position into which they had brought their queen.

• In two or three hours Sir R. Peel sent a letter to the queen, in which he carefully related the facts of the case —an act of justice to himself under the circumstances. He had been misapprehended in the highest quarter at

473

first; and already reports were flying abroad through Whig households of his having desired to separate the queen from all the friends of her childhood, and to impose upon her an unacceptable set of servants of Tory politics, and so forth. The queen gave him permission to read her note and his own letter in parliament, and to set himself right, as far as these went. He was so misrepresented, however, by some close connections of the Whig ministers -among others by the Hon. William Cowper, the nephew and private secretary of Lord Melbourne, in an address to the Hertford electors, for which he afterwards publicly apologised-that the popularity of the queen and her Whig ministers suddenly rose for a short time, at the expense of the reputation of the Duke of Wellington and Sir R. Peel for loyalty and good manners; and the Melbourne ministry were thus enabled to return to office with more apparent probability of being able to govern the country than had lately been seen. But mistakes fostered and spread by party-spirit, are not of long duration; and in a few weeks, the noisiest and busiest of agitators and journalists on the side of the Whigs were glad to drop all mention of the bedchamber question. By that time, her majesty's advisers had admitted that 'her majesty's position was untenable.'

How far their own restored position was tenable was now the question. What was to be done about Jamaica, which they could govern only by a suspension of the constitution, which parliament would not effectually support? Lord J. Russell had also declared, in resigning, that there were other serious affairs which the Melbourne ministry could not conduct without more of the confidence of parliament that they possessed. Sir R. Peel's statement of what his difficulties would have been, afford some insight into those of the restored Whigs: 'The state of India, the state of Jamaica, the state of Canada, would all require my immediate consideration; and with respect to some of them, the proposal of legislative measures. I considered the internal state of this country-I saw insurrection in the provinces-I saw the letter of the noble lord opposite [Lord J. Russell], inviting the respectable part of the population of this country to form themselves into armed

societies for resisting outrage... Let me take that particular question on which my chief difficulty would arise. Who can conceal from himself that my difficulties were not Canada; that my difficulties were not Jamaica; that my difficulties were Ireland?' Here was arduous work enough for any cabinet; but the most insuperable difficulty in the way of that of Lord Melbourne was the Jamaica question.

On the reconstruction of the ministry, the first business was to elect a new speaker of the Commons. Mr. Abercromby had before wished to resign, on the plea of health. The House was sorry to part with him, for he had discharged his duty well. Mr. Charles Shaw Lefevre was chosen to succeed him by a majority of 18 over Mr. Goulburn, who was proposed by the Conservatives. This election took place on the 27th of May; and on the 30th, Mr. Labouchere introduced a new Jamaica Bill. The opposition, under the circumstances, held the control of this measure, and it was amended in the Lords till it became what Sir R. Peel had proposed. It allowed time to the assembly to re-enact the annual laws without which the affairs of the island could not proceed; and invested the governor in council with power to renew those laws, at the expiration of two months after the assembly should have separated without re-enacting them. This measure, which the ministers declared to be, in their opinion, only better than none, passed its last parliamentary stage on the 9th of July.

After the close of the session, Lord J. Russell became colonial secretary in the place of Lord Normanby, who had held the office only since the preceding February. Lord Normanby went to the home office; and Mr. F. Baring became chancellor of the exchequer, in the place of Mr. Spring Rice, who entered the Upper House as Baron Montesgle. Lord Howick left the war-office, and was succeeded by Mr. Macaulay; and some changes took place in the minor functions of the administration.

• In the midst of such circumstances as have been exhibited, and of others which remain to'be detailed—in view of the colonial difficulties, the domestic distress which was now daily darkening over England, the violence of the Chartists, the critical state of Ireland, the sudden and portentous agitation against the corn-laws, the manifest feebleness of the ministry, and the no less manifest misguidance of the young sovereign by her paternal prime-minister-there was nothing that was more desired by the nation at large than to see their young queen married. Every one knew that her consort -be he who he might-would have no concern with politics. It was not that. It was that the domestic life of the sovereign might be naturally compacted, and that a happy domestic life might be the point of support of her public life. Some rabid Tory gentlemen had lately grown insolent, and taken insufferable liberties with the royal name. Some mistakes had been made, in both public and private relations; and the natural and the most desirable security against other such misadventures seemed to be the placing of the virtuous young sovereign under the sanctities of a genuine home. There had been a constant succession of royal visitors from the continent-a long array of young princes who were called in the newspapers 'the royal suitors;' but it was not till the beginning of 1839 that any general impression existed as to where the queen's preference rested, or whether she had any. At۰ last, however, it was no great surprise to anybody when the queen summoned her privy-council to meet on the 23rd of November, and then communicated her intention to ally herself in marriage with Prince Albert of Saxe-Coburg and Gotha. The council requested her majesty to allow the news to be made public; and the general satisfaction was all that she could have desired. It might have been wished that her intended husband should not have been ker cousin-german, and that he should have been five or seven years older than the queen, instead of three months younger; but there was everything in the reputation of the prince, and in the character of this thoughtful and informed mind, to encourage the hope that the connection would be one of permanent satisfaction to the nation.

During the winter, the aspect of public affairs darkened so much that it was the universal wish that the marriage should take place with the least possible delay. The

young pair had a far more thorough knowledge of each other than is usual in the case of lovers; they had been companions in childhood, and friends during their youth--there was nothing to wait for; and in a few weeks the young queen became & wife, to the great joy of those who most desired that her life should be serene and happy. The marriage took place on the 10th of February 1840, amidst fitting pomp and observance, in the palace of St. James's. It was precisely at a quarter before one o'clock that the firing of cannon announced to the inhabitants of London that the ring was placed on the finger of the bride; and a little before four, the queen and her husband set out for Windsor, leaving London to the gaiety for which it had little spirits on any meaner occasion of that dark year. For the day all forgot their anxieties and fears in banquets and illuminations.

A month before the marriage took place, the queen had declared to parliament in the royal speech her intention of taking Prince Albert for her husband, and her confidence that her subjects would enable her to provide for such an establishment as might appear suitable to the rank of the prince, and the dignity of the crown. These announcements, in themselves as formidably unusual for a young girl to make as could be conceived, were offered with a simplicity and dignity that won all hearts; and the subsequent awkward conclusion to the discussion on the prince's income was accepted by them both with the best possible grace.

On the 20th of January, three weeks before their marriage, a bill for the naturalisation of Prince Albert was introduced in the Lords, and passed rapidly, by the suspension of all the standing orders. The only stop in its progress was owing to the ordinary cause of delay in Whig measures—a mistake which could not be allowed to pass. Precedence next to the queen was provided without any safeguard; so that, in case of the queen's death without heirs, and the consequent accession of the King of Hanover, Pfince Albert would have precedence of the then heirapparent, the Prince of Wales. The ministers first amended their bill by proposing to give precedence next after any heir-apparent; but, again, in order to avoid delay, Lord

Melbourne declared his intention of omitting all that part of the bill which related to the subject of precedence. Thus reduced to a project of simple naturalisation, the bill passed both Houses as rapidly as possible. In discussing the address, some question had been made in both Houses about the omission of any declaration of Prince Albert being a Protestant-a scruple which was decided to be unnecessary, as, by the act of settlement, the Protestantism of the royal consort was an indispensable condition. All parties were eager to declare their conviction of the indisputable Protestantism of the prince, whose family were the first protectors of the Reformation. There were some who could perhaps have told how much of the family pride of the ducal family of Saxe-Coburg and Gotha was invested in its connection with Luther; and how in the prince's portfolio might be seen sketches of the old castle on its height, finished with the care which is given to the delineation of sacred places, because there Luther took refuge for a time, and therein are his apartments-his bedstead itself-preserved with reverential care. If the object had been to select for the queen the most Protestant of the Protestant-princes of Germany, the searchers should have gone first to Saxony; and when there, to the old castle of Coburg; and there, at Luther's table, or at the foot of Luther's worm-eaten pulpit, they would have found our Prince Albert.

As to the annuity to be voted to the prince-Lord J. Russell proposed that it should be, in accordance with precedents which he adduced, £50,000 to be granted out of the consolidated fund, to commence on the day of his marriage, and continue for life. After an adjournment from the 24th to the 27th of January, Mr. Hume moved that the amount should be £21,000. This proposal was voted down by a large majority. But it was clear that the times were unfavourable for a liberal grant. The distress of the manufacturing classes was becoming fearful -the price of wheat being at that time 81s., while the cotton-mills were working short time; and the prevalent suffering was shown by armed outbreaks of Chartism, and the rapid sinking of the revenue. The chancellor of the exchequer was announcing a deficit with every successive

CHAP. XIII.] PRINCE CONSORT'S ANNUITY.

budget. At the close of the session of 1838, parliament, following the lead of the ministers, had thought it right to refuse an augmentation of income to the Duke of Sussex, though the refusal compelled him to resign his office of president of the Royal Society; and had also, by a narrow majority, decided against indemnifying their speaker for the loss of his property by the fire which consumed the houses of parliament. The sanguine and complacent Whig ministry were now so truly alarmed at the aspect of affairs, that economy became naturally the ruling ides of the House of Commons. Yet, when the sum of £30,000 per annum was proposed by the opposition, instead of the £50,000 of the ministers, Lord J. Russell lost temper, and declared that the amendment was intended as a mark of disrespect to the queen. For this, he was duly rebuked by Sir J. Graham and Sir R. Peel, who showed reason enough for their advocacy of the smaller sum, independent of the distress of the country, which they did not conceive to be concerned in the question. The majority in favour of the smaller amount was 104, in a House of 420.

The prince took all in good part. Kind hearted and reasonable, he was perhaps really willing to bear his share of the pressure of the times, and ready to suppose that the House of Commons was the best judge of what his income ought to be. If not so, he was too sensible to show any discontent; and by his good-humour on the occasion he gained an esteem which was more worth having than any wealth that parliament could have given him.

CHAPTER XIV.

Dark Times—Successive Harvests—Grinding of Corn in Bond—Discontents—Trade Unions—Factory Question—Chartism—National Convention—National Petition—John Frost—Rising at Newport —Origin of the Anti-corn-law League—Delegates—The Ministers— Motion for Inquiry refused—Consequences—Attacks on the Queen— Dockyard Fires—Storms—Repeal Agitation—Troubles in the East —Birth of the Princess Royal.

ALLUSION has been made to the darkness of the times in 1839 and 1840. Since the peace, there had hardly been a season so gloomy in fact and in prospect. In looking for the causes of the misery and crime of this period, we find them, as usual, in the state of the crops. There were then, as usual, multitudes of people who did not understand; and the fact and their failure to understand it together were soon to bring about the greatest social, as parliamentary reform was the greatest political, event of the century. There were then, as usual, professional men, country gentlemen, and others by hundreds, who said with an air of superiority, that they took no interest in politics; and these were the men who concluded that the commotions and outrages of the period were owing to the unfortunate propensity of 'the lower classes' to concern themselves with politics. There were then, as usual, clergymen by hundreds, who said with a complacent smile, or an air of pious trust, that since England was England there had always been alarms of bad crops, but that it always ended in there being a harvest; these gentlemen not having the remotest idea of the differences between one group of years and another as to production of food, and never perceiving that it was their especial duty as clergymen to look closely into the causes of want, woe, They thought that the perverseness of the and crime. heart of man was explanation enough of any amount or capricious accession of guilt; and, as they could not stoop to politics or political economy, they remained unaware that the average of moral disease might be anticipated as

confidently as that of physical disease, from the estimate of the harvests of any group of years. It was no thanks to them that this miserable experiment is now no longer likely to be tried. It is no thanks to them that, by opening to our country an access to the harvests of the world, a prospect lies before us of a more equable supply and price of food, and a cessation of the fluctuations and cruel uncertainties which perilled the fortunes of the wellfed, and wore out the heart and hope of the multitudes who had to win their bread from day to day. There were still hundreds and thousands of men-and the leading politicians of both parties were among them-who thought that to attack the corn-laws was to attack the constitution of society; who would no more listen to evidence of the mischief of agricultural protection than they would listen to arguments against the institution of property. It is worth recording again here, that the prime-minister himself had volunteered his opinion on the matter in the House of Lords, saying that he had heard of many mad things in his life, but, before God, the idea of repealing the corn-laws was the maddest he had ever heard of. Thus it was with Lord Melbourne. Lord J. Russell_counselled the House to refuse to hear evidence on the operation of the corn-laws. Sir R. Peel was as yet pondering slidingscales, and destined to propose and try another before he should discover that this was a matter in which adjustments could be of no possible use, while they were pretty sure to do mischief. To set against all these classes of men, there was another-a little band at first, but soon . becoming a host—who understood the matter enough to be sure of attaining a thorough knowledge of it, as soon as they should combine to act upon what they knew. The darkening of the times in 1839 determined these men to aim at a repeal of the corn-laws as the first object to their own fortunes, to the actual preservation of the workingclasses, and to the welfare of the nation at large.

During the four years from 1832 to 1835 inclusive, more wheat was grown in Great Britain, it is believed than was ever known before. More wheat was sown: and the improvements in tillage were by that time so considerable as to produce clear results. But during those four years vol. III. 2 I also the winters had no undue frosts; the spring rains were enough, and not too much; and the summer suns were warm enough to harden and ripen the grain. They were four noble harvests, as far as wheat was concerned, though barley rose nearly to the price of wheat, and hay and pulse were dear. The farmers suffered, as they were apt to do, under a stringent corn-law which made them rich in bad seasons, and prepared for their impoverishment in abundant years. But while they were in such adversity as that royal speeches commiserated them, and parliament discussed their case, everybody else was prospering. The very cattle, sheep, and pigs, were eating wheat; brewers and distillers were making beer and spirits from it. The agricultural labourers, though receiving very low wages, were more comfortable than usual, from the cheapness of provisions. They found themselves in easier circumstances with 8s. per week, and wheat at 35s., than with 12s. per week, and wheat at 77s. As for all other working-classes of the kingdom, it was a time of high prosperity for them. All the mines and all the mills were busy, and the tradesmen of the towns were everywhere prosperous; for the largest classes of society were employed on full wages; and bread being cheap, they had money to spare for other objects of purchase. The houses of the operatives filled with furniture, and their chests with good clothes. The tradesmen rose in proportion from this increase of custom, and in their turn improved the condition of the manufacturers, who, in consequence, kept up or extended their manufacture, to the continued benefit of the operatives. Such was the happy state of things while we were blessed with good harvests; and the prosperity reached its height towards the close of 1835, when wheat was at 35s. 4d. Owing to its cheapness, less was now sown of wheat, and more of other things which had become dear.

In 1836, the spring was cold and dry, and the summer was ungenial in the north of England and Scotland; so that the harvest was not well got in. On the whole, there was a considerable falling off from preceding years; but still, more than enough was got in for the wants of the country till the harvest of 1837. The crop of 1837 was just sufficient for the wants of the country; but it was inferior to the production of any one of the five preceding seasons. The people were still eating abundantly, as the last few years had accustomed them to do. If now there had been a propitious season, everything might have gone on smoothly, though food prices were higher than they During the commercial difficulties of the had been. spring of 1837, which have been before exhibited, when credit was disturbed by foreign influences, the price of wheat, as of other things, had risen unduly; but at the end of 1837, it was 53s.; and at this price, manufactures, commerce, and the condition of the people might have gone on without deterioration. But the weather was now dreadful. In the middle of January an extraordinary frost set in, which lasted so long as to occasion serious fears for the wheat in the ground; and in February, the price rose to 55s. 3d. In March, it rose further; and again in May, when frosts recurred. In July, it was 68s. As harvest prospects did not improve, the price of wheat rose to 77s. in the third week in August. In September, all the bonded wheat in the kingdom was entered for home consumption. Prices fell as a large quantity of foreign corn was thrown into the market in September ; but by the next January, wheat was at 81s. 6d. The difference of quantity home-grown between 1834 and this date was above 7,000,000 of quarters. At the same time, and in strict connection with this deficiency, manufactures had fallen off, and the prices of articles in common use among the working-classes had risen ; so that those classes found themselves now receiving less wages, and compelled to pay dear for the necessaries of life. The distress was becoming formidable. Yet were hundreds of the clergy smiling over the usual alarms, as they called them, about the harvests; and the gentry who prided themselves on taking no interest in politics, discoursed upon the perverseness and wickedness of the human heart, which led men into discontent and rebellion, while living in the best country in the world. There was some increase in the wages of agricultural labour; and this was pointed out as a proof that high prices bring high wages; whereas the slight and temporary rise of agricultural wages fell far 212

short of the increased expenditure of the labourers for food.

In May 1839, there was snow by day, and frost of some continuance by night. So much foreign corn had been let in, that prices had fallen, wheat being at 67s. 10*d*. in July. More foreign corn was let out of bond; yet so bad were the prospects of the harvest, that by the middle of August wheat was again at 72*s*. 3*d*. More foreign wheat, dry and sound, was wanted to render our own damp and unripened grain fit for food; and instead of our importing largely from Ireland, it was necessary to import more dry foreign wheat into Ireland than we could obtain of her damp and unripened grain. There was every ground for apprehension that, while the working-classes were grievously underfed, there would still be a deficiency of 2,000,000 quarters or more, while waiting for the next harvest.

During this time, the 'landed interest' were watchful over their protecting law, suspecting reasonably enough that attempts would be made to relieve the suffering classes from its pressure. The closeness of their vigilance was shown by a curious incident which took place in Colonel Seale proposed in the House, that, March 1838 to save merchants engaged in foreign trade from the necessity of obtaining their ship-supplies of food from the ports of the Baltic, permission should be given to grind the corn held in bond in our own ports-security being afforded for the exportation of the flour. To many of the most Conservative members in the House, the case appeared so clearly harmless to the British cultivator, that the first reading of the bill was carried by a large majority; but the 'landed interest' made so great an outcry about touching the cors question at all, that on the second reading the bill was thrown out by a majority of 220 to 150.

The natural consequences of popular distress showed themselves exactly as might have been expected, and with increasing force from year to year. If the rulers of the country did not understand the causes of the adversity, it was no wonder that the uneducated sufferers did not. While professional men and other gentry ascribed the turbulence of the time to the ingratitude of the human heart, the government—the cabinet, and both Houses of

parliament-were sure of nothing so thoroughly as that the corn-laws had nothing to do with the distress, and therefore that their, repeal would not cure it; and the working-classes never doubted that the government could cure it if they would, and that the manufacturers oppressed them by appropriating an undue share of the proceeds of manufactures. Thus the clergy obtained no hold over the classes which most needed their counsel and consolations; or, if they got them into the churches preached to exasperated hearers, who said on week-days that they would not be put off with promises of bliss hereafter, from claiming the simple recompense of labour in this life. The government sat, in its deliberations, on the crust of a volcano; and amidst successive warnings, was not half conscious of its danger. When a spurt of flame or a jet of hot stones scared them now and then, they threw cold water into the particular crevice, or blocked it up with rubbish, and supposed the fire was put out. The Whig attorney-general, Sir John Campbell, declared at a public breakfast at Edinburgh, in the autumn of 1839, that Chartism was extinct-because Birmingham and Newcastle had been quieted. At the sames time, the trades-unions became formidable to the last degree. On the trial of some cotton-spinners at Glasgow, and on inquiry into the trade combinations of Dublin, facts came out which appalled all who heard of the evidence. On no occasion did Mr. O'Connell appear to more advantage than in his action on this subject. At the risk of much unpopularity, he denounced these combinations with his whole power of feeling and eloquence-combinations, not to obtain certain terms of recompense by fair association for an open object, but to ruin capitalists by Burning their mills, and to oppress fellow-labourers by forbidding them to work on terms which they were willing to accept. It came out that threatening letters were sent to masters, and premiums were offered for firing their mills; that working men were beaten, sent away to foreign countries, burned with vitriol, kept in fear of their lives; and as there was too much reason to believe, actually murdered. During this activity of the trades-unions, the impoverishing of the operatives went on at an increased rate; for they were short of the increased expenditure of the labourers for food.

In May 1839, there was snow by day, and frost of some continuance by night. So much foreign corn had been let in, that prices had fallen, wheat being at 67s. 10d. in July. More foreign corn was let out of bond; yet so bad were the prospects of the harvest, that by the middle of August wheat was again at 72s. 3d. More foreign wheat, dry and sound, was wanted to render our own damp and unripened grain fit for food; and instead of our importing largely from Ireland, it was necessary to import more dry foreign wheat into Ireland than we could obtain of her damp and unripened grain. There was every ground for apprehension that, while the working-classes were grievously underfed, there would still be a deficiency of 2,000,000 quarters or more, while waiting for the next harvest.

During this time, the 'landed interest' were watchful over their protecting law, suspecting reasonably enough that attempts would be made to relieve the suffering classes from its pressure. The closeness of their vigilance was shown by a curious incident which took place in March 1838 Colonel Seale proposed in the House, that, to save merchants engaged in foreign trade from the necessity of obtaining their ship-supplies of food from the ports of the Baltic, permission should be given to grind the corn held in bond in our own ports-security being afforded for the exportation of the flour. To many of the most Conservative members in the House, the case appeared so clearly harmless to the British cultivator, that the first reading of the bill was carried by a large majority; but the 'landed interest' made so great an outcry about touching the corn question at all, that on the second reading the bill was thrown out by a majority of 220 to 150.

The natural consequences of popular distress showed themselves exactly as might have been expected, and with increasing force from year to year. If the rulers of the country did not understand the causes of the adversity, it was no wonder that the uneducated sufferers did not. While professional men and other gentry ascribed the turbulence of the time to the ingratitude of the human heart, the government—the cabinet, and both Houses of

parliament-were sure of nothing so thoroughly as that the corn-laws had nothing to do with the distress, and therefore that their, repeal would not cure it; and the working-classes never doubted that the government could cure it if they would, and that the manufacturers oppressed them by appropriating an undue share of the proceeds of manufactures. Thus the clergy obtained no hold over the classes which most needed their counsel and consolations; or, if they got them into the churches preached to exasperated hearers, who said on week-days that they would not be put off with promises of bliss hereafter, from claiming the simple recompense of labour in this life. The government sat, in its deliberations, on the crust of a volcano; and amidst successive warnings, was not half conscious of its danger. When a spurt of flame or a jet of hot stones scared them now and then, they threw cold water into the particular crevice, or blocked it up with rubbish, and supposed the fire was put out. The Whig attorney-general, Sir John Campbell, declared at a public breakfast at Edinburgh, in the autumn of 1839, that Chartism was extinct-because Birmingham and Newcastle had been quieted. At the same time, the trades-unions became formidable to the last degree. On the trial of some cotton-spinners at Glasgow, and on inquiry into the trade combinations of Dublin, facts came out which appalled all who heard of the evidence. On no occasion did Mr. O'Connell appear to more advantage than in his action on this subject. At the risk of much unpopularity, he denounced these combinations with his whole power of feeling and eloquence-combinations, not to obtain certain terms of recompense by fair association for an open object, but to ruin capitalists by Burning their mills, and to oppress fellow-labourers by forbidding them to work on terms which they were willing to accept. It came out that threatening letters were sent to masters, and premiums were offered for firing their mills ; that working men were beaten, sent away to foreign countries, burned with vitriol, kept in fear of their lives; and as there was too much reason to believe, actually murdered. During this activity of the trades-unions, the impoverishing of the operatives went on at an increased rate; for they were

compelled to pay for the expenses of the combination while they had any funds left. The chancellor of the exchequer noticed in the House, in May 1838, the remarkable diminution of the deposits in savings-banks. This brought the operative class all the sooner upon the funds of the capitalists. From working the mills short time, in order to prolong the prospect of any work at all, the mill-owners were soon working even the short time at a loss, rather than turn the poor people adrift entirely; and their capital was melting away from week to weekgiven to feed the poor as truly as if it had been paid as poor-rate. Meantime Lord Ashley was regarding this class of men as oppressors who wrung their wealth out of the sinews of children, and every session renewed his motion for the protection of factory-children; while the ministers, who evidently did not understand the case, paltered with it in a way which drew on them a severe rebuke from Sir R. Peel: 'For the government to say,' were his words, 'session after session, that it would bring in a bill on the subject; for the government, session after session, to abandon the bills they introduce, without permitting others to be brought in by individuals in their stead-is like applying a perpetual blister to the sides of the country, and keeping up the fever and irritation of a dangerous sore.... It is because I cannot fail to perceive the competition with which this country is threatened---it is because I see that the interests of humanity, in the large view of the question, are likely to be less consulted by the shortsighted restriction of labour, than they are by its perfeot freedom-it is because the fact is unquestionable, that though you may exempt the child from fatigue, you also deprive it of prospective employment, by driving the manufacturers to seek elsewhere that protection which is denied them at home-it is for these reasons that 1 implore parliament to decide the question this night, whether it will legislate or not.' It was not decided that night, nor for some years afterwards. After that session Mr. Poulett Thomson, who understood the matter, abpeared no more in the House; and when he was gone, the other Whig ministers appeared unable to hold the convictions they occasionally expressed against legislative

interference with factory labour. Thus was the irritation of this 'perpetual blister' added to the many others ander which employers and labourers were suffering. The mill-owners resented this interference with the management of their affairs. which operated as a reduction of the value of the machinery which they had put up in the expectation of freedom in making their arrangements-seeing, all the time, how fruitless must be all attempts to legislate between parents and children, and how manufactures must droop under arbitrary restrictions imposed by the legislature. The operatives were kept in a state of agitation, whatever might be their opinions on the subject. Some fretted at the refusal of the legislature to let Lord Ashley take care of their children; while those of an opposite way of thinking declared it no time to be preventing their families from earning all they could, and resented this interference with their only possession, their labour, as the most flagrant attack yet attempted on the rights of the poor. All this did not tend to the tranquillisation of the country.

During the latter part of 1838, when Chartist meetings were held frequently, and with a formidable aspect throughout the north of England, the home secretary, Lord John Russell, had shown a humane anxiety to bring the ignorant crowd to their senses, and within the limits of order, without visiting their guilty leaders with any treatment which could be construed as persecution, and be made to yield the ordinary fruits of persecution. Many complaints were made of want of vigour in this method of proceeding; but there appears every reason to believe that the disorder of the time would have been more violent if severity had been used, instead of being extinguished. Under a Sidmouth rule at the home-office. we might have seen all the north of England in a blaze of rebellion before the end of 1838. As it was, matters grew too threatening to be left to take their course without check. Great allowance was to be made for the irritation of the Lancashire operatives, from suffering of body and mind; but in the month of November, the torch-light meetings became formidable enough to alarm the inhabitants at large, to whom protection was due. On the 22nd

of that month, the home secretary sent a letter to the Lancashire magistrates, requesting them to make public notification of the illegality of torch-light meetings of the kind then in fashion, and to declare their intention of preventing or dispersing such meetings. This was followed up, in the middle of December, by a royal proclamation, which enjoined all persons to desist from holding torchlight meetings. It was time to put some restraint on the leaders and orators of these meetings; for now the Rev. J. Stephens, the chief orator, had denounced a mill-owner at Ashton-under-Lyne as 'a devil's magistrate,' and had prophesied that 'his house would soon be too hot to hold him;' and this gentleman's factory was fired one night soon after, while Stephens was holding forth to a torchlight assemblage. Stephens was arrested before the end of the month, but admitted to bail, while awaiting his trial at the Liverpool assizes. While out on bail, he preached to crowded congregations, with a violence of language which looked like insam?. Some of the witnesses against him were respectable Wesleyans, who had sat under his father's ministry, and were most reluctant to appear against the agitator; but they knew so much of the sharpening of pikes and preparation of firearms, and were so alarmed and distressed at the spread of a spirit of murderous rebellion in a neighbourhood generally quiet, that they could not doubt their obligation to get Mr. Stephens silenced by the law. He was sentenced to an imprisonment of a year and a half in Knutsford Jail. far more respectable and reasonable man was chairman of some of the earlier meetings-among others, at the great Kersal Moor meeting at Manchester, when not fewer than 200,000 persons are said to have been congregated-Mr. Fielden, the member for Oldham-the great promoter, under Lord Ashley, of the ten-hour measure. Mr. Fielden was a man of great benevolence, and of a disinterestedness which gave him an influence among men better informed than himself, which he had not judgment or knowledge to command. He was too good for such work as the grosser kind of Chartist agitation, when he once saw what it was becoming; but his early sanction of torch-light meetings was a mistake to be regretted. The other leaders at this

period were Richard Oastler, of Leeds, whose complacent ignorance unfitted him for any task of political guidance: and Feargus O'Connor, whose only escape from a charge of cruel fraud on his followers for a course of years, is in an admission of such sonselessness and ignorance as have made him the worst enemy of those whom he professed to serve. It is very probable that from the moment when Feargus O'Connor first placed himself at the head of a Chartist procession to the last stoppage of his land scheme, he may have fancied himself a sort of saviour of the working-classes: but if so, he must bear the contempt and compassionate disapproval of all men of ordinary sense and knowledge, as the only alternative from their utter reprobation.

After 1839 came in, new leaders and new mobs arose, and also a more respectable association, which deserved better than to be connected in name and reputation with the Chartism of the Stephenses and Oastlers, and the torchbearers who fired factories. Delegates were sent from the working-classes to form a convention in London, for the promotion of the rights of the Commons of England, and especially for calling the Commons House to account for its neglect of the interests of the working-classes. This National Convention could not effect much, from the want of intellectual discipline, political knowledge, and business habits, among the members: but it was so clear in its reprobation of physical force for the attainment of its objects, so free from rapacity in its aims, and so earnest in its pursuit of rights and privileges which are legitimate. and virtuous objects of desire, that it was regarded with kindness by all good-hearted and unprejudiced men, however little hope or fear they might feel from its proceedings. This kindly feeling was very evident on the presentation of the national petition prepared by the convention, and carried into the House of Commons on the 14th of June. It was a wonderful document —'a cylinder of parchment about the diameter of a coach-wheel, literally rolled into the House'-and signed by upwards of 1,200,000 persons. The ordinary rule of permitting no speech on the presentation of a petition was disregarded on this occasion; and when a member desired, in insolent language, to stop the

business, he was resisted by the feeling of the House and the indulgent disposition of the speaker. So Mr. Attwood was allowed, by a listening House, to advocate the plea of the petitioners for the 'recovery of those ancient privileges' which were 'the original and constitutional rights of the Commons of England,' The temper of the House showed that the effort was not altogether in vain, though no legislative consequences could be expected to ensue. No persons in England better deserved a respectful hearing than this million of petitioners; and there is reason to believe that no persons in England more sincerely mourned the outbreaks of the physical-force Chartists during this year than the leaders of the National Convention. The petition occasioned a good deal of discussion in the House, when, on the 12th of July, a committee was moved for to consider the five points of the petition-universal suffrage, vote by ballot, annual parliaments, remuneration of members, and abolition of the property qualification-but the committee was refused by a majority of 189, in a House of 281.

The home secretary remained on the watch during the first half of the year-till assured by the attorney-general that Chartism was extinct. In February, he called to account a magistrate of the borough of Newport, in Monmouthshire, a Mr. Frost, for violent language at a public meeting. Mr. Frost's replies were insolent in the extreme; but, as there had been at the outset one of the ordinary Whig mistakes, in supposing him a magistrate of the county instead of the borough, and as Mr. Frost disclaimed a part of the charge, he was not at once removed. This was a stretch of forbearance much censured when the event showed Mr. Frost's unworthiness of it; but he soon provoked his removal; and it does not appear that the gentleness used towards him in the first instance had any effect in promoting the subsequent rebellion; while it was valuable as proving the disposition of the government to lenity in a time of popular suffering. In April, there was a Chartist riot at Devizes; or rather, a rising of the people of Devizes, under Tory leadership, against the Chartist assemblage of labourers who came, a thousand strong, armed with bludgeons, to hold a meeting in the

market-place. In July, Birmingham was kept in a state of disturbance for many days by Chartist turbulence. Sixty policemen were sent to Birmingham, on application from the authorities of the town; and a collision ensued between the police and the mob, which was ended only by the appearance of a troop of cavalry, after some stabs and many blows had been given. The interference was resented by some of the better order of Chartist leaders, in published resolutions, for the seditious character of which the authors suffered trial and imprisonment. The riot took place on Thursday, the 4th of July. On the Sunday evening, a mob stopped the service at St. Philip's Church. On Monday, the police and military again dispersed a meeting. On Tuesday, the Chartists, having been denied the use of the Town-hall, met in an open space. The Rifles were called to disperse the assemblage, but were so assailed that they were ordered to load and make ready. Before they fired, a troop of dragoons came down upon the mob, who then fled. The inhabitants hoped that the mischief was over; but on the 15th, a far worse outbreak took place. First, windows and street-lamps were smashed; then iron palisades were torn up; houses were forced. warehouses pillaged, and bonfires made of the contents; lights put out in the streets; and, finally, houses burned down. It was by the military that the outbreak was overcome at last; and it was some days before the orderly classes of the town could take any rest. By that time they were very weary and very wrathful; weary with patrolling the streets, and keeping watch against incendiary fires; and angry with that most painful sort of wrath which has in it a mixture of fear. Some of the best workmen in Birmingham were Chartists. Some of the most indispensable men in the town had become insufferably insolent to their employers, without the excuse of hunger, which was admissible in the case of too many of the Lancashire malcontents. Many of the Birmingham Chartists might have been ten-pound householders, and in possession of all the substantial comforts of life, if they had been capable of the prudence and self-denial which had raised some of their employers from a position like their own; and it was exasperating to their employers to

be insulted in their own manufactories, and their business put to hazard, by men whom they could not well dismiss, but by whom they were told that all capitalists were tyrants, born with a silver-spoon in their mouths, and so on. The evil here was clearly not political. It was social—the master-evil of popular ignorance, under which it appeared but too probable that society must be dissolved, sooner or later, if popular enlightenment could not be achieved. Yet Birmingham is one of the best of our towns in regard to means of popular instruction. Sheffield is another; but in Sheffield, matters were even worse. Besides the usual manœuvres of breaking windows, extinguishing the street lights, and pelting the soldiery, the malcontents planned the murder of some of the best and kindest-hearted gentlemen of the place. At Newcastleupon-Tyne, at Stockport, at Manchester, as well as in the neighbourhood of London, assemblages were attempted for purposes of intimidation, and dispersed with more or less of difficulty. One of the most painful incidents was the extortion of money or goods from shopkeepers, under intimidation; a practice which called forth a letter from the home-secretary to the magistrates of Manchester, encouraging them to use the most vigorous means to put down this method of pillage. Many who leaned towards the Chartists before, in sympathy if not in conviction, gave them up altogether on the appearance of this symptom of the agitation. One of the strange caprices of the malcontents was attending the cathedrals and other churches in overwhelming numbers, and wearing some sort of badge. Five hundred of them went in procession to St. Paul's, in August. At first, most of them insisted on wearing their hats; but they yielded the point to the verger, and behaved very quietly. On the next Sunday, Norwich Cathedral was crowded to the last foothold by the Chartists of the city ; to whom the bishop in his sermon offered a strong but kind remonstrance. At the Old Church at Manchester, there was a singular scene, if the record of the time be true. The Chartists guitted the church on the giving out of the text of the sermon; and the reason is said to be that, instead of accepting the Scripture verse prescribed beforehand by his Chartist hearers, the preacher

chose: 'My house is the house of prayer; but ye have made it a den of thieves.' For the preacher's sake, we must hope that the choice of his text had no reference to the Chartists. This node of action—by filling the churches —was soon given up, as it evidently did not aid the Chartist cause, and was wisely passed over in quietness; and it had ceased before the autumn, with those other demonstrations, whose discontinuance had persuaded the attorney-general himself that Chartism was extinct.

It was only a lull; and that Edinburgh declaration was mischievous during the ensuing weeks, as showing that the ministers were off their guard-to say nothing of its tone of triumph, which was anything but conciliatory. Mr. Frost was awake and active, and far from grateful for the leniency which had afforded him an opportunity for remaining in the magistracy at the beginning of the year. On the 3rd of November, which was on Sunday, his brother-magistrates at Newport had information that he was marching down large bodies of armed men from the hills upon the town. The attack upon the town was to have been made in the night; but the weather was bad; and the malcontents did not muster in sufficient force till the morning, when, at about ten o'clock, they entered the town. They attacked the hotel where the military were stationed, and provoked the destruction of more than twenty of their number. The magistrates acted with eminent discretion and courage; the mayor, especially, so distinguishing himself that he was afterwards knighted at Windsor Castle. Frost's followers amounted to upwards of 7000 when within the town, and there were very many more upon the hills.

The conspiracy, frustrated by bad weather, and the good conduct of the Newport authorities, was found to be a truly formidable one, from its orderly arrangements, the number of persons in the district involved in the scheme, and its connection with the Chartists of Birmingham and other places. Two other leaders, Jones and Williams, were arrested and tried with Frost. There could be no doubt of the enormity of their crime in feading this rebellion; and it was not easy to see on what plea their pardon could be asked. It was asked, however—even demanded, from time to time, for some years; but it was enough that their lives were spared. If their punishment of transportation were remitted, it is difficult to see who should be punished. Many who lamented the transportation of the Dorsetshire labourers could see no excuse for Frost, Williams, and Jones.

The state of things was very fearful. The great unsolved question of the rights of labour lay at the bottom of these perplexities and prevalent discontents; and nobody saw it-nobody who could obtain a hearing, or in any way exhibit the facts. Those who saw anything of the truth were precisely those to whom a hearing was denied—the more enlightened of the manufacturing and trading class who were turned back from the doors of the legislature when they asked the Commons to listen to proof of the disorganising tendency of the corn-laws. The Chartists understood nothing of the operation of the corn-laws against their interests; and they were so far from comprehending their own existing rights, while demanding others, that they permitted pretended friends to urge the legislature to take from them the command of their only possession-their labour. Tory agitators went among them to incite them to demand ten-hour bills, and to alienate them from asking a free supply of food. To obtain a free admission of food was only a part of the satisfaction of the great difficulty-of the rights of labour; but it was a very important part-at the time, the chief and most immediately pressing consideration: but the government did not see it; neither House of the legislature saw it, any more than the Chartists; and they believed that the men who had begun to agitate for it, were disturbing an old system-the radical policy of the empire-for the sake of enlarging the margin of manufacturing profits, and putting more money into their own pockets, without giving the operatives their share. A11 this was mournful blindness and folly; but the final action against the corn-laws had fairly begun, and those who were engaged in it knew that their end was secure. If the great labour question could remain a matter of controversy till the corn question should be settled, instead of becoming one of revolution, all might yet be well; and

to accomplish this, the anti-corn-law agitators set to work with a zeal, a knowledge, a pertinacity, and a spirit of self-sacrifice, probably unequalled in the history of peaceful agitation. When their work was done, and they looked back upon its beginning, they were surprised to find how little they themselves knew when they first devoted themselves to the cause. The deepest of them had scarcely an idea how closely the interests of the agricultural classes were involved in the establishment of a free-trade in food, and how society was injured through all its ramifications by an artificial restriction in the first article of human necessity; but what they did know was clear; as far as they reasoned, their reasoning was sound; and if one part of their view was more clear and sound than another, it was that of the implication of this question with the larger and deeper one of the rights of labour, which was elsewhere causing only that perilous agitation that must issue either in suppression by force on the one hand, or in revolution on the other. The anticorn-law agitators were, at this period, the only true Conservatives in the whole range of our society.

On the 18th of September 1838, a public dinner was given to Dr. Bowring at Manchester, when the persons present—between fifty and sixty—agreed to form themselves into an association for the promotion of the principles of free-trade. They soon organised their force, settled their scheme of public instruction and political movement, raised subscriptions, were sanctioned by the Manchester Chamber of commerce, and made known their existence to the large towns of England and Scotland by recommending similar associations in them all. This was the origin of the Anti-Corn-Law League.

At the beginning of 1839, we find assembled in London a large body of delegates from Manchester, Birmingham, and Glasgow, and the great manufacturing towns, whose business it was to examine and analyse the House of Commons, in regard to the corn-law question; to watch over its action on that question, and see how far professions were supported by knowledge and sincerity on either side; and to challenge the House, collectively and individually, by offering to prove at its bar all the allegations they had made against the operation of the corn-laws. We find the metropolitan boroughs holding meetings to appoint delegates on their own behalf, and passing resolutions of discontent at the omission of the topic of the corn-laws from the queen's speech. On the 7th of February, when Mr. Villiers had given notice of a motion that evidence on the operation of the corn-laws should be heard at the bar, Lord J. Russell made a little speech which caused a stronger sensation than some of the longest he had ever delivered. It was copied into the newspapers with a declaration that it made one's blood boil; and the universal impression, among men of all parties, seems to have been, that it proved him so unaware of the existing circumstances and temper of the nation as to injure his immediate reputation and influence, and to weaken him, unaccountably to himself, in every one of the various positions in regard to the corn-law question, in which he afterwards endeavoured to establish himself. He said 'the impression on his mind was that it would be his duty to oppose the motion as to hearing evidence at the bar. He had not as yet found sufficient reasons or precedents to induce him to adopt that course. At the same time he must say, that as there would be a great deal of discussion relating to facts, when a mode was proposed which he thought was conformable to precedent, and not inconvenient to the House, by which these facts could be ascertained, he should be willing, although not ready to propose it himself, to support a motion so to This might have been taken as a ascertain the facts.' matter of course from Sir R. Peel in those days-this speech about propriety and precedent, and the convenience of the House, in regard to a matter about which 3.000,000 of the best subjects in the empire had sent up representatives to London, and a message to parliament. Such a speech would have suited Sir R. Peel's then position and views with regard to the corn-laws. But Lord J. Russell had declared to his Stroud constituents that the existing corn-laws were indefensible; and he declared on this very night that he believed the time to be come for a change. The delegates who were analysing the House now knew where to place Lord J. Russell on their

lists. He disapproved the corn-laws in the abstract-just as the Carolina planters disapprove slavery in the abstract, In both cases, when an opportunity for acting from that disapprobation occurs, the action goes over to the other side. This was proved on the 18th of the same month, when, the cabinet being divided on Mr Villiers's motion, Lord J. Russell voted against it, with Lord Howick, Lord Palmerston, Mr. Spring Rice, and some minor officials, while Mr. Poulett Thomson, in this his last session in parliament, and Sir J. C. Hobhouse, voted for inquiry. Mr. Villiers's speech that night was not lost. It was a statement of singular force and clearness; and the occasion was destined to great celebrity. Of all the many weak and blind acts of the Whig ministers, none was more memorable than this refusal to hear evidence on a subject whose importance they professed to admit; and Mr. Villiers's position was conspicuous in proportion to their fall. On that night he assumed his post undisputed as the head authority in the legislature on the subject of the corn-laws; and from that night the Whig ministers who opposed his motion lost all chance of being generally trusted in any popular action on that subject. If they had understood this as others understood it, their exit from power two years afterwards would have been made in another manner than it was. The majority of the Commons against inquiry was 361 to 172. As for the peers, they would not entertain the subject at all. Lord Brougham laid the case before them in a strong and able statement; but they negatived it without a division.

The delegates met, and passed votes of thanks to Lord Brougham and Mr. Villiers. Among the hopeful speakers was Richard Cobden. There was no cause for despondency, he said, because the House over the way had refused to hear them. They were the representatives of three millions of people-they were the evidence that the great towns had banded themselves together, and their alliance would be a Hanseatic league against their feudal corn-law plunderers. The castles which crowned the rocks along the Rhine, the Danube, and the Elbe, had once been the stronghold of feudal oppressors: but they had been dismantled by a league; and they now only vot. III.

adorned the landscape as picturesque memorials of the past, while the people below had lost all fear of plunder, and tilled their vineyards in peace. A public dinner at one of the theatres was offered to the delegates; but they were leaving town. They made no secret of why they were leaving town: it was to meet again at Manchester. The upholders of the corn-laws were quite at ease when they no longer saw the train of delegates going down Yet there were not wanting voices of to the House. warning which told them that the matter was not over. While one register of the time tells, with easy satisfac tion, that the vote of the Commons 'had the effect of putting the question to rest, and no more was heard of it, during the remainder of the session,' another is found giving warning that the departure of the delegates was like the breaking up of a Mahratta camp-the war was not over, but only the mode of attack about to be changed. There was no secrecy about the new mode of attack. The delegates had offered to instruct the House; the House had refused to be instructed; the House must be instructed; and the way now contemplated was the grandest, and most unexceptionable and effectual-it was to be by instructing the nation. The delegates were to meet again at Manchester in a fortnight, to devise their method of general instruction, which, in its seven years' operation, approached more nearly to a genuine national education than any scheme elsewhere at work. By the Anti-Corn-Law League the people at large were better trained to thought and its communication, to the recognition of principles, the obtaining of facts, and the application of the same faculties and the same interest to their public as to their private affairs, than by any methods of intellectual development yet tried under the name of education.

The present was a time when minds were feverish, and disposed to undue alarm from any untoward circumstance; and the queen was made to bear her share of the uneasy excitement of the period. It was no wonder that, as all eminent persons are likely to occupy the visions of infirm minds, a young queen should be especially liable to the intrusions of the insane. It was no wonder to anybody that one lunatic, having crept up to the garden steps of Buckingham Palace, should threaten her majesty because no Protestant should occupy the throne of England: nor that another, having leaped the enclosures at Windsor, should derland admittance to the castle as King of England; and so forth. But there were worse alarms than these, for two or three years. At first, there really was terror when a pistol was fired near the royal carriage, in the course of the queen's drives. Her popularity was by no means what it had been. Sometimes silence, and sometimes disagreeable cries, in the streets and the theatres, indicated this. The disheartened and suffering people could not understand how the prime-minister could properly conduct the public business while seen daily with the queen, or heard of at her parties; nor how so much money could be properly spent upon the queen's banquets and balls, while so many poor were starving; nor how the queen could enjoy festivities for six days in the week, while there was so much mourning in the land. When one pistol-shot after another was directed at the queen's carriage within two or three years, it was clearly proved in each case that there was no conspiracy, and no immediate working of political discontent; yes the general impression was that the odious act might not have been attempted in a season of prosperity and satisfaction. The first case, which occurred on the 10th of June 1840, was a type of the rest, and may serve for a notice of them all. A youth of eighteen or nineteen, named Oxford, who was foolish, if not insane, fired two pistol-shots at the queen in her phaeton on Constitution Hill. He was poor and ignorant; and it was so impossible to find any cause for the act, that he was pronounced insane, and given over to a lunatic asylum for life. On this first occasion, the excitement was so strong-'members of parliament applying for locks of Oxford's hair when it was cut off'-the whole aristocratic crowd in the parks escorting the queen home with cheers, and the affair appearing in capital letters in the newspapers for weeks, that it is not surprising that an ignorant person here and there, with a morbid longing for notoriety, should try to get it by shooting at the queen. This became so well understood

after a time, and it was clear that the risk to the queen was, at the same time, so nearly nothing, that such affairs were treated as they should be-as nuisances which might best be put a stop to by contempt and an ignominious punishment; and, during the next period, an act passed by which such a prank was punished by whipping, accompanying imprisonment or transportation. The most abiding incident connected with this first attack is one which it is now—and was yet more at the time—pleasant to note. At the top of Constitution Hill, the queen spoke to her husband, and the carriage, at his order, turned from the Hyde Park entrance down Grosvenor Place. The queen had thought of her mother, and went to her, that the Duchess of Kent might see that her daughter was safe before any other notice of the attack reached her. Of such attacks, no more mention will be made. The queen has no enemies among her people. Sovereigns who lead innocent lives and have no political power have no enemies among their people; and the pointing of a pistol at the royal carriage-a pistol, now without a bullet, and now without a lock-by some poor creature who courts arrest, is an incident of which this cursory notice is sufficient. The first occurrence of the kind, however, certainly did not tend to relieve the depression of the period.

Some accidents went to increase the gloom. There were several dockyard fires happening so near together, and so mysteriously, as to excite fears of treachery; but one proved to be from spontaneous combustion, and another from an accident. The storms were severe and disastrous: and one in the winter of 1839 was more like a tropical hurricane than a mere winter storm in our own seas. Twenty persons were killed in Liverpool streets, and a hundred drowned on the neighbouring shores. Dublin was like a sacked city-some houses unroofed, and others burning from the flight of sparks and brands. The repeal agitation was advancing in Ireland so formidably, that the lord-lieutenant publicly declared at this time. that he should oppose to it the whole power of the government; and that all countenance of the government should be withheld from those who took part in it. There had been a new, though futile rebellion in Canada.

As for the east, it required some courage to look that way. What a thoughtful man had been saying for years, that we should be compelled to conquer China, was now coming true. In the next period of our history we shall have to tell of the Chinese war which was now beginning. In India, matters were in a more fearful state still. The blow had not fallen yet-the blow which annihilated an Indian army; but it was felt that something terrible was impending; and in fact some very bad news was on the Under such accumulated gloom, destined yet to way. deepen for some time, it was a thought of comfort to the nation that the queen was safe in the honour and repose of a home; and it was a matter of general rejoicing when the blessings of that home were enriched by the birth of a daughter on the 21st of November 1840.

END OF VOL. III.

2 L

LONDON :

PRINTED BY WILLIAM CLOWES AND SONS, STANFORD STREET AND CHABING CROSS.

COMPLETE CATALOGUE

07

BOHN'S LIBRARIES,

CONTAINING

STANDARD WORKS OF EUROPEAN LITERATURE IN THE ENGLIGE LANGUAGE, ON HISTORY, BIOGRAPHY, TOPOGRAPHY, ARCHEOLOGY, THEOLOGY, ANTIQUITIES, SCIENCE, PHILOSOPHY, NATURAL HISTORY POETRY, ART, FICTION, WITH DICTIONARIES, AND OTHER BOOKS OF REFERENCE. THE SERIES COMPRISES TRANSLATIONS FROM THE FRENCH GERMAN, ITALIAN, SPANISH, SCANDINAVIAN, ANGLO-SAXON, LATIN, AND GREEK. PRICE 35. 6d. OR 55. PER VOLUME (WITH EXCEPTIONS). A COMPLETE SET IN 661 VOLUMES, FRICE £146 145.

Catalogues sent Post-free on Application.

LONDON : GEORGE BELL AND SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN. 1884.

COMPLETE CATALOGUE OF LIBRARIES. BOHN'S

STANDARD LIBRARY.

A SERIES OF THE BEST ENGLISH AND FOBEIGN AUTHORS, PRINTED IN POST SVO.

286 Vols. at 3s. 6d. each, excepting those marked otherwise.

- Addison's Works. With the Notes of Bishop HURD, much additional matter, and upwards of 100 Unpublished Lettera. Edited by H. G. Bonn. Portrait and B Engravings on Steel. In 6 vols.
- Alfleri's Tragedies, including those published posthumously. Translated into English Verse, and edited with Notes and Introduction, by EDGAR A. BOWBING, C.B. 2 vola.
- Ascham's Scholemaster. By Prof. I. E. B. Mayor. In the press.
- Bacon's Essays, Apopathegms, Wisdom of the Ancients, New Atlantis, and Henry VII., with Introduction and Notes. Portrait
- Ballads and Songs of the Peasantry of England, Edited by ROBBET BELL.
- Beaumont and Fletcher, a popular
- Selection from. By LEIGH HUNT. Beckmann's History of Inventions, Discoveries, and Origins. Rev enlarged. Portraits. In 2 vols. Revised and
- Boswell's Johnson. NAPIER'S EDI-TION. With Tour in the Hebrides and Johnsoniana. 6 vols.
- Bremer's (Miss) Works. Translated by MARY HOWITT. Portrais. In 4 vols. Vol. 1. The Neighbours and other Takes Vol. 2. The President's Daughter. Vol. 3. The Home, and Strife and Pesce. Vol. 4. A Diary, the H-Family, Sc.

Brink's Early English Literature to Wiclif.

- British Poets, from Milton to Kirke WHITE. Cabinet Edition. In 4 vols.
- Browne's (Sir Thomas) Works. Edited by Simon WILKIN. In 3 vols.
- Burke's Works. In 6 Volumes.
 - Vol. 1. Vindication of Natural Society On the Sublime and Beautiful, and Political Miscellanies,

Vol. 2. French Revolution, &c.

- Vol. 3. A present new of the New 15 the Old Whigs; the Catholic Claims, ac, Vol. 4. On the Affairs of India, and Charge excites Warres Hastinga. Vol. 5. Conclusion of Charge against Hastings on a Pacific Revised State
- Hastings; on a Regiside Pase, in. Vol. 6. Miscellaneous Speeches, -4 With a General Index.

- Burke's Speeches on Warren Hastings; and Letters. With Index. In 2 vols. (forming vols, ? and 8 of the works).
- Life. By PRIOR. New and revised Edition. Portrait .
- Burns, Lockhart's Life of. By W. S. Douglas.
- Butler's (Bp.) Analogy of Beligion, and Sermons, with Notes. Portrait.
- Camoëns' Lusiad, Mickle's Translation, Edited by E. R. Honess,
- Cary's Translation of Dante's Heaven, Hell, and Purgatory. Copyright edition, being the only one containing Cary's last corrections and additions.
- Carafas (The) of Maddaloni: and Naples under Spanish Dominion. Trans-isted from the German of Alfred de Renmont.
- Carrel's Counter Revolution in England. Fox's History and Lonsdale's, Memoir of James IL Persrait.
- Cellini (Benvenuto), Memoirs of Translated by Rosson, Portrait.
- Cervantes' Galatea. Translated by GORDON GYLL.

Exemplary Novels. Trans-lated from the Spanish by W. K. KELLY.

- Don Quixote de la Mancha, 2 vols.
- Chaucer's Works. Edited by ROBERT BELL. New Edition, improved. With Introduction by W. W. SERAT. 4 vols.
- Classic Tales, containing Rasselas, Vicar of Wakefield, Gulliver's Travels, and Sentimental Journey.
- Coloridge's (S. T.) Friend. A Series of Essays on Morals, Politics, and Religion.
- (S. T.) Biographia Literaria, and two Lay Sermona.
- Aids to Reflection. By T. ASHE.
- Lectures on Shakespeare. By T. ASHE.
- Table Talk and Omniana. By T. AsHE.

- Condé's Dominion of the Arabs in Spain. Translated by Mrs. Fouras. In 8 vola
- Cowper's Complets Works. Edited where compress worms, Malved, with Memory of the Asthor, by Geserver, *Elisatuscia with 30 Energionae*, And volt Wils, 1 to 4. Memory and Correspondence, Volt 5 and 6. Poetical Works, *Plates*, Vol. 7, Homer's Linke, *Plates*,
- Coxe's Memoirs of the Duke of Mariborough. Poviraits. In 3 vais. *** An Atlas of the plans of Mariborough's
- campaigns, 4to. 10s. 6d.
- Austria. Perwatta. In 4 voia.
- Cunningham's Lives of Eminent British Painters, New Edition by Mrs. HEATON. 3 vols.
 - Defoe's Works. Edited by Sir WALTER Scorr. In 7 vols.
 - De Loime on the Constitution of Engmd. Edited, with Notes, by Jons MACOREGOR.
 - Emerson's Works. S vols.
 - Foster's (John) Life and Correspondence. Edited by J. E. RYLAND. In 2 vels.
 - Lectures at Broadmead Chapel. Edited by J. E. BYLAND, 'In 2 vola.
 - J. E. BYLAND. In 2 vols.
 - On Decision of Character. Sec. Sec.
 - Evils of Popular Ignorance, åc.
 - Fosteriana: Thoughts, Reflections, and Criticisms. (Nearly 600 poges). 5s.
 - Fuller's (Andrew) Principal Works. With Memoir. Portrait.
 - Gibbon's Roman Empire. Complete and Unabridged, with Notes ; including, these of Guizot, Wehck, Niebuhr, Huge, Meander. in 7 vola.
 - Goethe's Works, Translated into English. In 8 vols. Vols. 1. and 2. Antobiography, 20 Beoks ;
 - and Annals. Portrast. Vol. 3. Faust. Two Parts. By Miss
 - SWANWICK.
 - Vol. 4. Novels and Tales. Vol. 5. Wilhelm Meister's Apprentice-
 - ship. Vol. 6. Conversations with Eckermone
 - and Soret. Translated by JOHN OXENFORD.
 - Vol. 7. Poems and Ballads, including Hormann and Dorothes, Translated by B. A. BOWRDIG, C.B.

Goethe's Works-continued.

- Vol.4. Göts von Berlichingen, Tor-guate Tasse, Egmont, Ipbigenia Clavigo, Wayward Lover, and Fellow Culprits. By Sir Warres Scorr, Miss Swanwasz, and E. & Bowning C.B. With Engraving. Vol. 9. Wilhelm Meister's Travels. Vol. 10. Tour in Italy, 2 Parts, and
- Residence in Rome.
- Vol. 11. Miscellaneous Travels. Switzeriand, France, Mainz, and Rhine Tour. Vol. 12. Early Letters.
- -Correspondence with Schiller. See Schiller.
- Goldsmith's Works; 4 vols.
- Greene, Marlowe, and Ben Jonson, Poems of. Edited by Rosser Bell. With Biegraphies. In 1 vol.
- Gregory's (Dr.) Evidences, Doctrines, and Duties of the Christian Religion,
- Grimm's Gorman Tales. With the Original Notes and Preface by A. LANG. 2 vols.
- Guizet's Representative Government Translated by A. R. SCORLE.
- History of the English Revelution of 1640. Translated by WILLIAM HAZLITT. Portrait.
- History of Civilisation, Translated by W. HAZLITT. In vols. Portrait.
- Haglitt's Table Talk. A New Edition in one volume.
- Lectures on the Comic Writers, and on the English Poets.
- Lectures on the Literature of the Age of Elisabeth, and on Characters of Shakespear's Plays. Plain Speaker.

- Round Table; the Conversations of JAMES NORTHOOTE, B.A.; Charectoristics, &c.
- Sketches and Essays, and Winterslow (Essays Written there), New Edition. 🛛
- Hall's (Rev. Robert) Miscellaneous Works and Remains, with Memoir by Dr. Gangony, and an Essay on his Charactor by Jone Forman. Periodi. Hawthorne's Tales. In 2 vols.

- Vol. 1. Twice Told Tales, and the Snow Image,
- Vol. 2. Scarlet Letter, and the House with the seven Gables.
- Vol. 3, Transformation and Blithedale Romance.
- Heine's Poems, complete, from the German, by E. A. Bowaxes, C.E. Sc.
- Hungary: its History and Revelutions; with a Memoir of Ecsenah from new and authentic sources, Portrait.

19

Hutchinson (Colonel), Memoirs of with the Siege of Latham House.

Irving's (Washington) Life and Letters. By his Nephew, PIERRE E. IRVING. In 2 vols.

Complete Works. In 15 vols.
Vol. 1. Selmagundi and Knickerbocker
Portrait of the Author.

Vol. 2. Sketch Book and Life of Goldmith.

Vol. 3. Bracebridge Hall and Abbotaford and Newstead.

Vol. 4. Tales of a Traveller and the Albambra.

Vol. 5. Conquest of Granads and Conquest of Spain.

Vols. 6 and 7. Life of Columbus and Companions of Columbus, with a new Index. Fine Portrait.

Vol. 8. Astoria and Tour in the Prairies. Vol. 9. Mahomet and his Successors.

Vol. 10. Wolfert's Roost and Adventures of Captain Bonneville.

Vol. 11. Biographies and Miscellanies.
 Vols. 12-15. Life of Washington. Portrait.

For separate Works, see Cheap Series.

James's (G. P. B.) Richard Cour-de-Lion, King of England. Portraits. 2 vols. Louis XIV. Portraits. 2 vols.

Jameson's Shakespeare's Heroines: Characteristics of Women. Moral, Poetical, and Historical.

Junius's Letters, With Notes, Additions, and an Index. In 2 vols.

La Fontaine's Fables. Translated from the French by E. WRIGHT, Jun.

Lamartine's History of the Girondists. Portraits. In 3 vols.

Bestoration of the Monarchy,

with Index. Portraits. In 4 vols. ——— French Revolution of 1948, with a fine Frontispiece.

Lamb's (Charles) Elia and Eliana. Complete Edition.

------- Dramatic Poets of the Time of Elisabeth ; including his Solections from the Garrick Plays.

Lanzi's History of Painting. Translated by Roscon. Portraits. In 3 vols.

Lappenberg's Anglo-Saxon Kings. 2 vols.

Lessing's Dramatic Works. Complete, with Memoir by TELEN ZUMMERN. Portrait. 2 vols.

Locke's Philosophical Works, containing an Essay on the Human Understanding, &c., with Notes and Index by J. A. Sr. JOHN. Portrait. In 2 vols. 20 Locke's Life and Lefters, with Exstates from his Common-Place Books, by Lord King.

Luther's Table Talk. Translated by WILLIAM HAZLITT. Portrait.

Machiavelli's, History of Florence, The Prince, and other Works. Pottrait.

Martineau's, Harriet, History of England, from 1800-15.

History of the Peace, from 1815-1846. 4 vols.

Menzel's History of Germany. Portraits. In 3 vols.

Michelet's Life of Luther. Translated by WILLIAM HAZLITT.

dex. Frontispiece.

Mignet's French Revolution from 1789 to 1814. Portrait.

Milton's Prose Works, with Index. Portraits. In 5 vols.

- Mitford's (Mary R.) Our Village. Improved Ed., complete. Illustrated. 2 vols.
- Molière's Dramatic Works. Translated by C. H Wall. In 3 vols. Portrast.

Montesquieu's Spirit of the Laws. A new Edition revised and corrected. 2 vols. Portrait.

Meander's Church History. Translated: with General Indez. In 10 vola. ______ Life of Christ. Translated.

First Planting of Christianity, and Antiguostikua. Translated. In 2 vols.

Translated. In 2 vols.

------ Christian Life in the Karly and Middle Ages, including his 'Light in Dark Places.' Translated.

Ockley's History of the Saracens Revised and completed. Portrait.

Percy's Reliques of Ancient English Poetry. Reprinted from the Original Edition, and Edited by J. V. PRIORARD. In 2 vols.

- Philip de Commines, Memoirs of, containing the Histories of Louis XI and Charles VIII, and of Charles the Bold, Duke of Burgundy. To which is added, The Scandalous Chronicle, or Secret History of Louis XI. Perfection. In 2 vols.
- Plutarch's Lives. By G. Long and A. STEWART. 4 Vols.
- Poetry of America. Selections from roo American Poets, from 1776-1876. Edited by W. J. LINTON. Portrait.

Ranke's History of the Popes. Translated by E. FOSTER. In S vola.

- Servia and the Servian Revolution.

- Reynolds' (Sir Joshua) Literary Works. Portrait. In Syvola.
- Richter (Jean Paul Tr.) Levana and Autobiography. With Memoir.
- Pieces. A Novel.
- Roscoe's Life and Pontificate of Leo X., with the Copyright Notes, and an Index. Portraits. In 2 vola. Index.
- Life of Lorenzo de Medici, with the Copyright Notes, &c. Portrait.
- Russia, History of, by WALTER K-KELLY. Portraits, In 2 vols.
- Schiller's Works. Translated into English, In 6 vols.
- Ingunal, in 6 vois. Vol. 1. Thirty Years' War, and Revolt of the Netherlands. Vol. 2. Continuestion of the Revolt of the Netherlands; Wallenstein's Camp; the Piccolomin; the Death of Wallenstein; and William Tell. Vol. 8. Don Garlier Mart Math.
 - Vol. 8. Don Carlos, Mary Stuart, Maid of Orleans, and Bride of Messina.
 - Vol. 4. The Bobbers, Flesco, Love and
 - ol 5. Poems. Translated by EDGAB BOWERNG, C.B. Vol. 5. Poems.
 - Vol. 6. Philosophical Letters and Esthetical Essays.

- Correspondence with Goethe, translated by L. DORA SCHMITZ. 2 Vols.

- Schlegel's Philosophy of Life and of Language, translated by A. J. W. MOR-BISON.
- History of Literature, Ancient and Modern. Now first completely translated, with General Index.

Schlegel's Philosophy of History. Trausiated by J. B. ROBERTON, Portraft. - Dramatic Literature. Translated. Portrait.

- Modern History

- Esthetic and Miscellaneou Works.
- Sheridan's Dramatic Works and Life. Portrait.
- Sismondi's Literature of the South of Europe. Translated by Roscoe. Por-
- Smith's (Adam) Theory of the Moral Sentiments; with his Essay on the First Formation of Languages,
- Smyth's (Professor) Lectures or Modern History. In 2 vola.
- Lectures on the French Revolution. In 2 vols.
- Spinoza's Works. 2 vols. In the press.
- Sturm's Morning Communings with God, or Devotional Meditations for Every Day in the Year.
- Sully, Memoirs of the Duke of, Prime Minister to Henry the Great. Portraits In 4 vol
- Taylor's (Bishop Jeremy) Holy Living and Dying. Portrait.
- Thierry's Conquest of England by the Normans. Translated by WILLIAN HAZLITT. Portfait. In 2 vols.
- Ulrici (Dr.) Shakespeare's Dramatic Art. Translated by L. D. Schmits. 2 vols
- Vasari's Lives of the Painters Sculptors, and Architects. Translated by Mrs. FOSTER, 5 VOL
- Wesley's (John) Life. By ROBERI SOUTHEY. New and Complete Edition Double volume. With Portrait. 54.
- Wheatley on the Book of Common Prayer. Prontispiece.

HISTORICAL LIBRARY.

21 Vols. at 5s. each.

- Evelyn's Diary and Correspondence. Illustrated with numerous Portraits, do .. In 4 vols.
- Pepys' Diary and Correspondence. Edited by Lord BRAYBROOKE. With Notesimportant Additions, including numerous Letters. Mustrated with many Portraits. in 4 vols.
- Jesse's Memoirs of the Reign of the Stuarts, including the Protectorate. With General Index. Upwards of 40 Portraits. In 3 vola.
- Jesse's Memoirs of the Pretender and their Adherents. 6 Portraits. -
- Nugent's (Lord) Memorials a Hampden, his Party, and Times. 1 Portraits.
- .Strickland's (Agnes) Lives of th Queens of England, from the Norma Gonquest. From official records an authentic documents, private and public Revised Edition. In 6 vola.

- Life of Mary Queen of Scott 2 vols.

- Bonomi's Nineveh and its Palaces. New Edition, revised and considerably enlarged, both in matter and Plates. Dywards of 300 Engravings
- Butler's Hudibras. With Variorum. Notes, a Biography, and a General Index Edited by HEREY G. BOHR. Thirty beau Siful Mustrations.
- B2 Outline Portraits. In 2 vols. 10s.
- Cattermole's Evenings at Haddon Hall 24 exputities Engravings on Sieel, from designs by himself the Letterpress by the Banowsee Dz Carautila.
- China, Pictorial, Descriptive, and Historical, with some Account of Ava and the Burmese, Siam, and Anam. Nearly 100 Hustrations.
 - Craik's (G. L.) Pursuit of Knowledge under Difficulties, illustrated by Aneodotes and Memoirs. Revised Edition. With numerous Portraits.
 - Cruikshank's Three Courses and a Dessert. A Series of Tales, with 50 her morous Illustrations by Cruikshank.
 - ------ Punch and Judy. With 24 Illustrations. 52. With Coloured Plates. 73. 6d.
 - Dante. Translated by I.C. WEIGH1 M.A. New Edition, carefully revised. Portrait and 34 Illustrations on Steel, after Flumman
- Didron's History of Christian Art in the Middle Ages. From the French. Opwards of 150 outline Eng. avings.
- Dynards of 160 outline Sng. wrings. Dyer (T. H.) The History of Pompeii; its Buildings and Artiquities. An account of the City, with a full description of the Remains, and an litnerary for Visitors. Edited by T. H. Drnz, LLD, Husfracts with searby 800 Wood Empracings, a large Map, and a Plan of the Forum. A New Edition, revised and brought down to left. 1a. 6d.
- Gil Blas, The Adventures of. 24 Bugravings on Steel after Smirke, and 10 Stchingt by George Cruskshank. 62.
- Grimm's Gammer Grethel; or, German Pary Tales and Popu'ar Stories. Translated by EDGAB TATLOR. Numerous Woodcuts by Crusichark. 32. 6d.
- Holbein's Dance of Death, and Bible Onta. Droawds of 160 subjects, besuishuly engraned in fas-simile, with Introduction and Descriptions by the late FRANCE DOUCE and Dr. T. F. DIEDER. S vols. in 1. 75. ed.
- of the Stasons. Embodying the whole of Alken's Calendar of Nature. Upwards of 100 Engraverings.
- (Mary and William) Stories of English and Foreign Life. Toomby beau Muk Engravings.

- India, Pictorial, Descriptive, and Historical, from the Earliest Times. Opwards of 100 fine Engravings on Wood, and a Mapi
- Jesse's Anecdotes of Dogs. New Edition, with large additions. Numerous fine Woodcuts after Harvey, Bonnick, and others. ; or, with the addition of 34
- highly-finished Steel Engravings. 12. 6d. King's Natural History of Precious
- Stones, and of the Precious Metals, With memorous Illustrations. Price 6s.
- ------ Handbook of Engraved Gems. Finely Illustrated. 6.
- Kitto's Scripture Lands and Biblical Atlas. 24 Maps, beautifully sugressed on Stock, with a Consulting Index.
- -----; with the maps coloured, 7s. 6d.
- Krummacher's Parables. Translated from the German. Forty Hustrations by Oksyton, engraved by Dakiel, Lindsay's (Lord) Letters on Egypt,
- Lindsay's (Lord) Letters on Egypt, Edom, an't the Holy Land. New Edition, enlarged. Thirty-sis beautiful Engravings, and 2 Maps.
- Lodge's Portraits of Illustrious Personages of Great Britain, with Memoirs. Two Hundred and Porty Portraits, magraved on Skel, 8 vols.
- Longfellow's Poetical Works, Toonty-four page Ingravings, by Birket Foster and others, and a Portresit.
- , or, without illustrations, 32.6d. Prose Works. 16 page Engravings by Birket Poster, de.
- Loudon's (Mrs.) Entertaining Naturalist. Revised by W. S. DALLAS, F.L.S. With nearly 500 Woodcutz.
- Marryat's Masterman Ready; or, The Wreck of the Pacific. 93 Woodcuis. Sz. 6d.
- Poor Jack. With 16 Mustrations, after Designs by C. Stanfield, B.A. 33.6d.
- rice. (Written for Young People.) Iliustrated by Gilbert and Dairiel. 32. 6d.
- dred Years Ago. Bight Engravings on Stock, after Stothard. Ss. 6d.
- Edition. Ten fine Engravings by Gilbert and Dalsiel. 34 6d.

1

- Maxwell's Victories of Wellington and the British Armies. Steel, Engravings.
- Michael Angele and Raphael, their Lives and Works. By DUPFA and QUArangenas an QUERCE. With 13 Engracings on Sicel.
- Willer's History of the Angle-Sazons. Written in a popular Style, on the basis of Sharon Turner. Portrait of Alfred, Map of Samon Britain, and 12 claborate Engravings on Steel.
- Milton's Poetical Works. With a Memoir by James Morroswaw, Tom?s Verbal Index to all the Poema and Explanatory Notes. With 120 Engravings by Thompson and others, from Drawings by W. Harvey. 2 vols.
 - Vol. 1. Paradise Lest, complete, with Memoir, Notes, and Index.
 - Vol. 2. Paradise Regained, and other Poems, with Verbai Index to all the Poems.
- Mudie's British Birds. Revised by W. O. L. MARTIN, Fifty-two Figures and I Plates of Eggs. In 2 vols.

72. 6d. per vol.

- Waval and Military Heroes of Great Britain; or, Calendar of Victory. Being a Record of British Valour and Conquest by Sea and Land, on every day in the year, from the time of William the Conquerce to the Battle of Internann, By Major JOHNA, R.M., and Lieutenant P. H. NICOLAS, R.M., Thersty-four Pertensis. 6c.
- **Sicolini's History of the Jesuits:** their Origin, Progress, Doctrines, and De tigm. First Portraits of Loyols, Laines, Lavier, Boryda, Acquasius, Pere la Chaise, and Pope Ganganold.
- Petrarch's Sonnets, and other Poems. Translated into English Verse. By various hands. With a Life of the Poet, by THOMAS CAMPBUL. With 16 Ingravings.
- Pickering's History of the Races of Man, with an Analytical Synopsis of the Natural History of Man, By Dr. Hall, Hustrated by numerous Portrasite
- or, with the plates coloured, 7s.6d. a an excellent Edition of a work originally published at 24.84. by the American Government.
- Fistorial Handbook of Modern Geography, on a Popular Plan. St. 6d. Hiustrated by 150 Engravings and 51 Maps. 6s.
- Te ed.
- Pope's Poetical Works. Edited by ROBERT CARDYNERS, Numerous Engravings. 2 vola.

.

- Pope's Homer's Iliad. With Introduction and Notes by J. 8. WARNOR, M.A. Huutrated by the entire Series of Flammon's Designs, beautifully sugramed by Moses (in the full 800. size).
- Homer's Odyssoy, Hymns, ka, by other translators, including Chapman, and introduction and Notes by J. S. WARDOR, M.A. Flowma's Designs becautifully engraved by Moses.
- Life, Including many of his Letters. By ROBERT CAREVERSES. New Edition revised and enlarged. Histories Kons. The processing 5 vols. make 6 complete and elegant edition of Pope's Position Works and Translusions for 22s.
- Pottery and Porcelain, and other Objects of Vertu (a Guide to the Knowledge of). To which is added an Engraved List of Marks and Monograms. By HERET G. BOHN. Numerous Engraving.
- ____; or, coloured. 10s. 6d.
- Prout's (Father) Beliques. Revised Edition. Twenty-one spirited Etchings by Maclise. 55.
- Becreations in Shooting: By "CRAVEN." Now Edition, revised and enlarged. 62 Engravings on Wood, after Harvey, and 9 Engravings on Sicel, adofty after A. Cooper, E.A.
- Redding's History and Descriptions of Wines, Ancent and Modern, Tuenty beautyful Woodcuts.
- Bennie's Insect Architecture. New Bditton. Revised by the Rev. J. G. Wood, M.A.
- Robinson Grasos. With Illustrations by STOTHARD and HARVET. Twelve begutiful Engravings on Sizel, and 14 on Wood.
- ; or, without the Steel illustra-
- Rome in the Mineteenth Century. New Edition. Bevised by the Author. *Historical by 34 Steel Engravings*, 2 vols.
- Sharpe's History of Egypt, from the Earliest Times till the Conquest by the Araba, A.D. 640. By SANUEL SKAPE. With 2 Maps and upwards of 400 Illustrative Woodcuta. Sixth and Cheaper Edition. 2 vols.
- Southey's Life of Nelson. With Additional Notes. Iliustrated with 64 Engravings.
- Starling's (Miss) Noble Deeds of Women; or, Examples of Female Courage, Fortitade, and Virtue. Fouriess Illustrations.
- Stuart and Revett's Antiquities of Athens, and other Monuments of Greece, *Hustrated in 11 Steel Plates*, and normerous Woodcris.

- Tales of the Genil; or, the Delightful Lessons of Horam. Numerous Woodcuts, and 8 Steel Engravings, after Stothard.
- Tasso's Jerusalem Delivered. Translated into English Spenserian Verse, with a Life of the Author. By J. H. WIFFER. Bight Engravings on Siecl, and 24. on Wood, by Thurston.
- Walker's Manly Exercises. Con-, taining Stating, Riding, Driving, Hunding, Shooting, Saling, Rowing, Swimming, to. New Edition, revised by "CRAVES." "Forty-four Sidel Plates, and numerous Woodcusts.
- Walton's Complete Angler. Edited by Enwand Jacon, Ecq. Upwards of 208 Engravings.

- Walton's Lives of Donne, Hooker, &c. By A. H. FULLEN. Nine Steel Plates and numerous Woodcuts.
- Wellington, Life of. From the materials of Maxwell. Bightem Engravings,
- Westropp's Hendbook of Archaeology New Edition, revised. Journerous Illustrationa, W. 6d. White's Natural History of Sel-
- White's Natural History of Selborne. With Notes by Sir WILLIAM JAB-DINE and EDWARD JEER, Reg. Illustrated by 40 Engrammes.
- Ta. 64.
- Young; The, Lady's Book. A Masual of Elegant Recreations, Arta Sciences, and Accomplishments. Provine Hundred Woodcus Illustrations, and sourced Engravings one Sock 78, 04.
 - -----; or, sloth gilt, gilt edges, 9s,

CLASSICAL LIBRARY.

95 Yols, as 5s, each, encepting these marked etherwise.

Eschylus translated into English Verse by A. Swanwicz.

English Pross by an Oxonian. 3s. 6d.

, Appendix to. Containing the Readings gives in Hermann's posthumous Edition of ABchylin. By GRORAN BURGRS, M.A. 38.6d.

- Ammianus Marcellinus. History of Rome from Constantius to Valens. Translated by G. D. YONGE, B.A. Dble. vol., 7s. 6d.
- Antoninus. The Thoughts of the Emperor Marcus Aurelius. Translated by Gao, Long. M.A. Se. 6d.
- Apuleins, the Golden Ass; Death of Socrates; Florida; and Discourse on Magio. To which is added a Metrical Version of Oupld and Psyche; and Mrs. Tighe's Psycha. Providepicot.
- Aristophanes' Comediss. Literally Translated, with Notes and Extracts from-Frenc's and other Metrical Versions, by W. J. Hurstn. 2 vols.
 - Vol. J. Acharnians, Knights, Glouds, Wasps, Pesce, and Birda.
 - •Vol. 2. Lysistrata, Thesmophoriasuse, Frogs, Ecclesiasuse, and Plutus.
- Aristotle's Ethics. Literally Trans-Hed by Archdescon BROWNE, inte Classical Professor of King's Collage.

Translated by E. WALFORD, M.A.

Metaphysics. Literally Translated, with Notes, Analysis, Examination Questions, and Index, by the Rev. John H. M'Maros, M.A., and Gold Medallist in Metaphysics, T.G.D.

- Aristotle's History of Animals, In Ten Books. Translated, with Notes and Index, by Riceard Casseward, M.A.
- Urganon; or, Logical Treatizes. With Notes, Sc. By O.F. OWER, M.A. 3 vols., 3s. 6d. each.
- ------- Rhetoric and Postics. Literally Translated, with Examination Questions and Notes, by an Oxonian.
- Athenseus. The Deipnosophists; er, the Banquet of the Learnet. Translated by C. D. Yonga, B.A. 3 vols.
- **Gessar.** Complete, with the Alexandrian, African, and Spanish Wars. Literally Translated, with Notes.
- Gatulius, Tibulius, and the Vigil of Venus. A Literal Prose Translation. To which are added Metrical Ventions by LAME, GRAINGER, and others. Frontispiect.
- Cicero's Orations. Literally Translated by Q. D. YONGS, R.A. In 4 vols.
 - Vol. 1. Contains the Orations against Verres, &c. Portrait.
 - Vol. 2. Catiline, Archias, Agrarian Law, Rabirius, Murena, Sylla, &c.
 - Vol. 3. Orations for his House, Plancing, Sextins, Coelins, Milo, Ligarius, &o.
 - Vol. 4. Miscellaneous Orations, and Rhetorical Works; with General Index to the four volumes.*

on the Nature of the Gods, Divination, Fate, Laws, a Republic, &c. Translated by G. D. Yowas, B.A., and F. BARRAM.

Cicero's Academics, De Finibus, and Tusculan Questions. By C. D. YOFGE, B.A. With Sketch of the Greek Philosopher,

- Offices, Old Age, Friendship, Scipio's Dream, Paradoxés, An. Literaliy Translated, by R. EDMONDS. 58. 66.

- en Oratory and Drators, By J. B. WATSON, M.A.

Demosthence' Orations. Translated, with Notes, by Q. RANN KMENDY. In S സ്വിന്ദാക്കം.

Vel. 1. The Orghthiac, Philippic, and other Public Grations. 3z. 6d. Vol. 2. On the Grown and on the Em-

- becay.
- Vol. 3. Against Leptines, Midias, An-Vol. 5. Against Leptines, mining, drotries, and Aristocrates.
 Vol. 4. Private and other Orations.
 Vol. 5. Miscellaneous Orations.

Dictionary of Latin Quotations. Including Proverbs, Maxims, Mottoes, Law Terms, and Phrases; and a Collection of above 500 Greek Quotations. With all the quantities marked, & English Translations.

, with Index Verborum. 64. Index Verborum only. 14.

- Diogenes Laertins. Lives and Opinions of the Ancient Philosophers. Trans-lated, with Notes, by G. D. Yones.
- Epistetus. Discourses, with Enchei-ridion and Fragments. Translated with Notes, by GEORGE LONG, M.A.
- Euripides. Literally Translated, 2 vols, Vel. 1. Hecuba, Orestes, Modes, Hippo-lytus, Alcestia, Bacches, Herschide, Iphigenia in Aulide, and Iphigenia in Tauris.
 - Vol. 2. Hercules Purens, Troades, Ion Holes, Andremache, Suppliants, Electra, Cyclops, Rhesna.
- Greek Anthology. Literally Trans-lated. With Metrical Versions by various Authors
- Romances of Reliodorus, Longus, and Achilles Taylon.
- Herodotus. A New and Literal Translation, by HENEY CARY, M.A., of Worcester College, Oxford.
- Hesiod, Callimachus, and Theognis. Literally Translated, with Notes, by J. BANKS, M.A.
- Momer's Iliad. Literally Translated. raily Transisted. Lite-
- Literally Translated, by Horace, SMART. Garefully revised by an OXORIAN. 8s. 6d.
- Justin, Cornelius Nepos, and Eutro-pius. Literally Translated, with Notes and Index, by J. S. Warson, M.A.

- Juvenal, Persius, Sulpicia, and cilius. By L. Evans, M.A. With the Metrical Version by Gifford. Frontiepiece
- Livy. A new and Literal Translation. By Dr. SPILLAN and others. In 4 vols. Vol. 1, Contains Books 1-8.

 - Vol. 2. Books 9-26.

Vol. 3. Books 27-36.

- Vol. 4. Books 37 to the end ; and Index,
- Lucan's Pharsalia. Translated, with Notes, by H. T. BILEY.
- Lucretius, Literally Translated, with Notes, by the Rev. J. S. WATSON, M.A. And the Metrical Version by J. M. Geon.
- Martial's Kpigrams, complete. Lite-rally Translated. Each accompanied by one or more Verse Translations selected from the Works of kinglish Poets, and other sources. With a copious Index. Double volume (660 pages). 38, 6d.

Ovid's Works, complete. Literally Translated: 8 vols. Vol. 1. Fasti, Tristie, Epistles, &c.

Vol. 2. Metamorphoses. Vol. 8. Heroides, Art of Love, &c.

- Phalaris, Bentley's Dissertation on.
- Pindar. Literally Translated, by DAW-son W. TURNER, and the Metrical Version by ABRAHAN MOORE.
- Plato's Works. Translated by the
 - Hev. H. Carrand Chers. In S vols. Wol. 1. The Apology of Socrates, Critic, Phædo, Gorgias, Protagoras, Phædrus, Theætetus, Euthyphron, Lysis.
 - Vol. 2. The Republic, Timena, & Critias. Vol. 3. Meno, Euthydemus, The Sophist, Statesman, Cratylus, Parme-
 - nides, and the Banquet. Vol. 4. Philebus, Charmides, Laches, The Two Alcibiades, and Ten other Dialogues. Vol. 5. The Laws. Vol. 6. The Doubtful Works. With

 - General Index.

Dialogues, Analysis and Index to. With Bererences to the Translation in Bohn's Classical Library. By Dr. DAY.

- Plantus's Comedies. Literally Trans-lated, with Notes, by H. T. RILEY, B.A. In 2 wale.
- Pliny's Natural History. Translated, with Copions Notes, by the late JOHN BOSTOON, M.D., F.R.S., and H. T. BILEY, BA In & vola
- Pliny the Younger, The Letters of. MELMOTE'S Translation revised. By the Rev. F. C. T. BOSANQUET, M.A.
- Plutarch's Morals. By C. W. KING, MA.
- Propertius." Literally Translated and accompanied by Poetical Versions, from various sources.

- Quintilian's Institutes of Oratory. Literally Translated, with Notes, &c., by J. S. WATSON, M.A. In 2 vola.
- Sallust, Florus, and Velleius Paterculus. With Copious Notes, Biographical Notices, and Index, by J. S. WATSON.
- Sophoeles. The Oxford Translation revised.
- Standard Library Atlas of Classical Geography. Twenty-two large coloured Maps according to the latest authorities. With a complete Index (accentuated), giving the laitude and longitude of every place named in the Maps. Imp. 8vo. 7s. 6d.
- Strabo's Geography. Translated. with Copious Notes, by W. Falconza, M.A., and H. C. HARLING, Esq. With Indez, giving the Ancient and Modern Names. In 3 vols.
- Suctonius' Lives of the Twelve Gesans, and other Works. Thomson's Translation, revised, with Notes, by T. . FORESTER.

- Tacitus. Literally Translated, with Notes. In vols. Vol. 1. The Annals.
- Vol. 1. The Alustory, Germania, Agri-cola, &c. With Index. Terence and Pheedras. By H. T RILEY, B.A.
- Theocritus, & Bion, Moschus, and By J. BANKS, M.A. Tyrtæus. By J. BANKS, M.A. Metrical Versions of Chapman. With the
- Thucydifies. Literally Translated by Rev. H. DALE. In 2 vols. Ss. 6d. each.
- Virgil. LiterallyTranslated by DAVIDson. New Edition, carefully revised. 3s. 6d.
- Xenophon's Works. In 3 Vols. Vol. 1. The Anabasis and Memorabilia.
 - Translated, with Notes, by J. S. WARsow, M.A. And a Geographical Com-mentary, by W.F. Answorth, F.S.A., F.R.G.S., Sto.
 - Vol. 2. Cyropædia and Mellenics. By J. S. WATSON, M.A., and the Rev. H. DALE.
 - Vol. 3. The Minor Works. By J. S. WATBOH, M.A.

SCIENTIFIC LIBRARY.

57 Vols. at 52. each, excepting those marked stherwise.

- Agaasis and Gould's Comparative Physiology. Enlarged by Dr. WEIGHT Upwards of 400 Engravings.
- Bolley's Manual of Technical Analysia. A Guide for the Testing of Natural and Artificial Substances. By B. H. PAUL. 100 Wood Engravings.

BRIDGEWATER TREATISES.

- Bell on the Hand. Its Mechanism and Vital Endowments as evincing Design. Seventh Edition Revised.
- Kirby on the History, Habits, and Instincts of Animala. Edited, with Notes, by T. BYNEB JONES. Numerous Engravings, many of which are additional. In 2 vols.
- Kidd on the Adaptation of External Nature to the Physical Condition of Man. Sr. 6d.
- Whewell's Astronomy and General Physics, considered Swith refer-ence to Natural Theology. 38.6d.
- Chalmers on the Adaptation of External Nature to the Moral and Intellectual Constitution of Man.
- Prout's Treatise on Chemistry, Meteorology, and Digestion. Edited by Dr. J. W. GRIFFITH.

BRIDGEWATER TREATISES-cont.

- Buckland's Geology and Mineralogy. 2 vols. 15s.
- Roget's Animal and Vegetable Physiology, Illustrated. In 2 vols. 6s. each.
- Browne (A. J. Jukes). Handbook of Geology, Numerous Illustrations, 6s.
- Carpenter's (Dr. W. B.) Zoology. - A Systematic View of the Structure, Habita, Instincts, and Uses, of the principal Fami-lies of the Animal Kingdom, and of the chief forms of Fossil Remains. Revised by W. S. Dallas, F.L.S. *Restrated with* ny hundred Wood Engravings. In 2 yols, 6r. each.
- Mechanical Philosophy, Astronomy, and Horology. A Popular Exposition. 183 Mustrations
- Vegetable Physiology and Systematic Botany. A complete Intro-duction to the Knowledge of Plants. Revised, under arrangement with the Author, by E. LANKEFRE, M.D., Sco. Several hundred Alustrations on Wood, Ge.
- Animal Physiology. In part re-written by the Author. Upwards of 200 capital illustrations. 65.

²⁸

- **Shorroul on Colour.** Containing the Principles of Harmony and Contract of Colours, and their application to the Arts. Translated from the French by CHARLES MARTH. Only complete Stillond. Second Plates. Or, with an additional series of 16 Plates in Colours. 18 6d.
- Ennemoser's History of Magie. Translated by WILLIAM HOWNT. With an Appendix of the most remarkable and best antihenticated Stories of Apparitions. Dreams, Table-Turping, and Spirit-Repping. Ao. In 2 vol.
- Hogg's (Jabes) Elements of Experimental and Natural Philosophy. Containing Mechanics, Pneumatics, Hydrostatics, Hydraulics, Acoustics, Optics, Caloric, Electricity, Voltaism, and Magnetism. New Edition, enlarged, Upwords of 400 Woodcuts.
- Hind's Introduction to Astronomy. With a Vocabulary, containing an Explanation of all the Terms in present use. New Edition, enlarged. Numerous Engraphics, 32, 64.
- Humboldt's Cosmos; or, Sketch of a Physical Description of the Universe. 'Translated by E. G. Orrá and W. S. DALLAS, FL.S. Fine Portrait. In five

vola. 3s. 6d. each ; excepting Vol. V., 5s.

. In this edition the notes are placed beneath the text, Humboldt's analytical Summaries and the passages hitherto suppressed are included, and new and comprohensive indices are added.

- vola. Travels in America. In 8
 - Views of Nature; or, Contemplations of the Sublime Phenomena of Greation. Translated by E. C. OTTS and H. G. BORN. With a complete Index.
 - Hunt's (Robert) Poetry of Science; or, Studies of the Physical Phenomena of Nature. By Professor Husz. New Edition, emlarged.

Joyce's Scientific Dialogues. By Dr. GRIFFITH. Numerous Woodcuts.

- Introduction to the Arts and Sciences. With Examination Questions. St. 6d.
- Knight's (Chas.) Knowledge is Power. A Popular Manual of Political Economy.
- Loctures on Painting. By the Roy al Academicians. With Introductory Essay. and Notes by R. WORNUM, Esq. Portraits.

- Lilly's Introduction to Astrology. With numerous Emendations, by ZADETEL.
- Mantell's (Dr.) Geological Excursons through the Isle of Wight and Dorsetshire. New Edition, by T. RUFRET Jonns, Eq. Numerous beautifully emsuided Woodcuis, and a Geological Map.
- Medals of Creation; or, First Lessons in Geology and the Study of Organic Remains; including Geological Excursions. New Edition, revised. *Oo*loured Plates, and zeverol hundred beautiful Woodcuts. In 2 vols., 78. 64. each.
- Wonders of Geology; or, a Familiar Expection of Geological Phenomena. New Edition, augmented by T. HUTART JORNS, F.G.S. Coloured Geological Map of England, Plates, and nearly 200 beauliful Woodcuts. In 2008, 7,6 de each.
- Morphy's Games of Chess. Being the Matches and best Games played by the American Champion, with Explanstory and Analytical Notes, by J. Lowms-HAL Portruit and Memoir.

It contains by far the largest collection of games played by Mr. Morphy extant in any form, and has received his endorsement and co-operation.

- Schouw's Earth, Plants, and Man; and Kobell's Sketches from the Mineral Kingdom. Translated by A. Harrers, F.R.S. Coloured Map of the Geography of Plante.
- Smith's (Pye) Geology and Scripture; or, The Relation between the Holy Soriptures and Geological Science.
- Stanley's Classified Synopsis of the Principal Painters of the Dutch and Flomiah Schools.
- Staunton's Chess-player's Handbook. Numerous Diagrams.

Chess-player's Companion. Comprising a new Treatise on Odds, Collection of Match Games, and a Selection of Original Problems. Staunton's Chess Tournament of 1815. Numerous Illustrations.

- Stockhardt's Principles of Chemistry, exemplified in a series of simple experiments. Based upon the German work of Provessor Broossname, and Edited by C. W. HEATON, Professor of Chemistry at Charing Cross Hospital. Upwards of 210 Historicas.
- Ure's (Dr. A.) Cotton Manufacture of Great Lritain, systematically investigated; with an introductory view of its comperative state in Foreign Countries. New Edition, revised by P. L. Shamogres. One Aundread and fifty Educations. In 2 vols.

ECONOMICS AND FINANCE.

Gilbart's History, Principles, and Practice of Banking. New Edition. Revised to the Present Date by A. S. MICHIE, of the Royal Bank of Sootland, with Fortrait of Gilbart, 2 vols.

REFERENCE LIBRARY.

27 Vols. at various prices.

Bohn's Dictionary of Postical Quota-

- Buchanan's Dictionary of Science and Technical Terms. 65.
- Blair's Chronological Tables, Revised and Enlarged. Comprehending the Chronology and History of the World, from the carliest times. By J.WILLOUGHER Roses. Double Volume. 10s.; or, halfbound, 10s. 84.
- Clark's (Hugh) Introduction to Heraldry. With nearly 1000 Illustrations. 18th Edition. Revised and enlarged by J. R. PLANGHE, Rouge Croix. 5s. Or, with all the Illustrations coloured, 15s.
- Chronicles of the Tombs. A Collectica of Remarkable EpRaphs. By T. J. PETTIGLEW, F.R.S., F.S.A. 58.
- Handbook of Domestia Medicine, Popularly arranged, By Dr. HENRY DAVIES. 100 pages, With complete Index. 5s.
- Games. By various Amateurs and Professors. Edited by H. G. Bohn. Illustrated by numerous Diagrams. 5s.
- Ray's English Proverbs, Comprising all Ray's English Proverbs, with additions; his foreign Proverbs; and an Alphabetical Index. 5s.
- Humphrey's Coin Collector's Manual. A popular Introduction to the Study of Coins. Highly finished Engravings. In 2 vols. 10s.
 - 30 ·

- Index of Dates. Comprehending the principal Facts in the Chronology and History of the World, from the earliert time, alphabetically arranged. By J. W. Rossa. Dcuble volume, 10s.; or, halfbound, 10s 6d.
- Lowndes' Bibliographer's Manual of English Literature. New Edition, enlarged, by H. G. Boux. Parts I. to X. (A to Z.) St. 6d. each. Part XI. (the Appendix Volume). 5s. Or the 12 parts in 4 vols., balf morococ, 24, 3s.
- Polyglot of Foreign Proverbs. With English Translations, and a General Index, bringing the whole into parallels. By H. G. BOBN. 52.
- Political Cyclopædia. In 4 vols. 3s. 6s. each.
- Smith's (Archdeacon) Complete Collection of Synonyms and Antonyms. 55.
- The Epigrammatists. Selections from the Epigrammatic Literature of all Times. With Notes, and Introduction. By Rev. H. P. Dond, M.A. Enlarged Edition. 63.
- Wheeler's (W. A., M.A.) Dictionary of Noted Names of Fictitious Persons and Places. 5s.
- Wright's (T.) Dictionary of Obsolete and Provincial English. In 2 vols, 5s. each; or half bound in 1 vol., 10s. 6d.

e

NOVELISTS' LIBRARY.

10 Vols. at 3. 6d., excepting those marked otherwise.

Burney's Evelina, With an Introduction and Notes by A. R. ELLIS.

- Burney's Cecilia. Edited by A. R. ELLIS. 2 vols.
- Mansoni (Alessandro) The Betrothed (I promeasi Speel). The only semplete English Translation: With numerous Woodcuts. 5s. Woodcuts, 5s.

Uncle Tom's Cabiz. With Introductory Remarks by the Rev. J. SHERMAN. rinted in a large clear type. Illustrations. 38. 8d.

ARTISTS'

5 Vols. at various prices.

- Leonardo da Vinci's Treatise on Painting. Numerous Plates. New Edition, revised, 52.
- Planche's History of British Cos-tume. Third Edition. With numerous Woodcuts, 5s.
- Demmin's (A.) Illustrated History of Arms and Armour from the Earliest Period, With nearly 2,000 Illustrations. 7s. 6d.

BOHN'S CHEAP

- Boswell's Life of Johnson and Johnsoniana. Including his Tour to the Hebrides, Tour in Wales, &c. Edited by the Rt. Hon. J. W. CROKER. Upwards of 50 Engravings. In 5 vols., cloth, 20s.
- Carpenter's (Dr. W. B.) Physiology of Temperance and Total Abstinence, 1s.
- Franklin's (Benjamin) Genuine Autobiography. From the Original Manu-SCript. By JARED SPARKS. 18.
- Hawthorne's (Nathaniel) Twice Told Tales. First and Second Series. 2 vols. in one, 1s. 6d. Snow Image and other fales. 1s. Scarlet Letter, 1s. House with the Seven Gables. A Remance, 1s.
- Hazlitt's Table Talk. Parts 1, 2, Pand 3. 1s. each. Plain Speaker. Parts 1, 2 and 3. 1s. each. Lectures on the English Comic Writers. 1s. Lectures on the English Poets. 1s. Lectures on the Literature of the Age of Elizabeth. 1s. Lectures on the Characters of Shakespeare's Plays, 1s.

- Tom Jones; the History of a Found-ling. By HENRY FIFLDING. Roscoe's Edition, revised. With Illustrations by George Cruikshank. In 2 vols. 78.
- Joseph Andrews. By HENBY FIELD-ING. Roscoe's Edition, revised. , With Illustrations by George Oruikshank. In 1 vol. 3s. 6d.
- melia. By HENRY FIELDING. Roscoe's Edition, revised. With Cruik-shank's Illustrations. 58. Amelia.
- Grosse's Marco Visconti. Translated from the Italian by A. F. D.

LIBRARY.

- Flaxman's Lectures on Sculpture. Numerous Illustrations. 6s.
- The Anatomy and Philosophy of Expression as connected with the Fine Arts. By Siz Charles Bell, K.H. Seventh Edition, revised. With numerous Woodcuts and 20 Plates. 58.

SERLES

- Emerson's Twenty Essays. 1s., cloth 1s. 6d. English Characteristics, 1s. Orations and Lectures, 1s. Representative Men. Complete. 1s.; cloth 18. 6d.
- Irving's (Washington) Life of Mohammed. Portrait. 1s. Successors of Mohammed. 1s. Life of Goldsmith. 1s. Sketch Book, 1s.; cloth, 1s. Tales of a Traveller. 1s. Tour on the Prairies. 1s. Conquests of Granada and Spain, 2 vols. 1s. each. Life of Columbus, 2 vols. 1s. each. Companions of Columbus, 1s. Ad. ventures of Captain Bonneville. 1s. Knickerbocker's New York. 1s. Tales of the Alhambra. 1s. Conquest of Florida. 18. Abbotsford and Newstead. 18. Salmagundi. 1s. Bracebridge Hall. 1s. Astoria. 18. Wolfert's Roost, and other Tales. 18.
- Lamb's (Charles) Essays of Elia. 1s. Last Essays of Elia. 1s. Eliana, with Biographical Sketch. 1s. Marryat's Pirate and Three Cuttors. 18.

81 .